
 

 

 

22 March 2021 

At 2.00 pm 

 

Corporate, Finance, Properties and 
Tenders Committee 

 



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Investments Held as at 28 February 2021 

3.   Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management 

4.   Lease Approval - Basement, Ground Floor and Level 1, 295 Pitt Street, Sydney 

5.   Lease Variation - Former Haymarket Library - Museum of Chinese in Australia 

6.   Contract Variation - Green Square Town Centre Infrastructure - Head Design 
Consultant and Head Construction Contractor 

 



 

 

 
 

Disclaimer, Terms and Guidelines for 
Speakers at Council Committees 
As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to speak directly to Councillors during 
Committee meetings about items on the agenda. 

Webcast  

In accordance with the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice, Committee meetings are recorded and webcast 
live on the City of Sydney website at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au.  

Members of the public attending a council or committee meeting may have their image, voice and personal 
information (including name and address) recorded, publicly broadcast and archived for up to 12 months.  

Consent  

By attending a council or committee meeting, members of the public consent to this use of their image, voice and 
personal information.  

Disclaimer 

Statements made by individuals at a council or committee meeting, and which may be contained in a live stream 
or recording of the meeting are those of the individuals making them, and not of the City. To be clear, unless set 
out in a resolution of council, the City does not endorse or support such statements. 

The City does not accept any liability for statements made or actions taken by individuals during a Council or 
Committee meeting that may be contrary to law, including discriminatory, defamatory or offensive comments. Such 
statements or actions are not protected by privilege and may be the subject of legal proceedings and potential 
liability, for which the City takes no responsibility. 

Guidelines  

To enable the Committee to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time available, we 
encourage people interested in speaking at Committee to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Secretariat on 9265 9310 or emailing secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 
before 10.00am on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the Committee report before speaking, as it may address your concerns so 
that you just need to indicate your support for the recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker (with a warning bell at two minutes) and 
prepare your presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and information that the 
Committee may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to nominate three 
representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how many people they are representing. 

Committee meetings can continue until very late, particularly when there is a long agenda and a large number of 
speakers. This impacts on speakers who have to wait until very late, as well as City staff and Councillors who are 
required to remain focused and alert until very late. At the start of each Committee meeting, the Committee Chair 
may reorder agenda items so that those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

Committee reports are available at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:secretariat@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the City of Sydney Code of Meeting Practice and the City of 
Sydney Code of Conduct, Councillors are required to disclose pecuniary interests in any 
matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Councillors are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

1

Item 1.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Investments Held as at 28 February 2021 

File No: X020701 

Summary 

This report provides details of the City’s investment portfolio and performance to 28 
February 2021. 

The City’s total Investment and Cash position was $676.4M at 28 February 2021, with 
investments earning interest of $0.3M for the month. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has created significant uncertainty in financial markets. One of the 
measures the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) has used to respond to the crisis is to reduce 
the official cash rate downward. It was reduced first on 3 March 2020 to 0.50 per cent and 
again on 20 March 2020, when it was further reduced to 0.25 per cent. On 2 November 
2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, 
the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This facility, now in the order of $200 billion, 
has reduced the funding costs of Authorised Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs). The market 
has responded by reducing the rates on offer and the resultant lower investment yields 
continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's portfolio return. 

The City's cash inflows have also been negatively impacted as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic impact major revenue streams, including parking services, commercial 
property income and the timely payment of rates and annual charges. A greater focus on 
maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and increasingly limited 
opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will continue to affect the City's 
interest revenue. 

The majority of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally restricted 
($271.9M) or externally restricted ($67.9M) cash reserves, to satisfy the City’s legislative 
responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding commitments to the 
major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community Strategic Plan. 

Key commitments within the City’s Long Term Financial Plan include public domain works in 
the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban renewal area 
and future open space acquisitions. The balance of investment funds represents working 
capital and funding required for the City’s operating and capital expenditure commitments, 
including the Covid-19 relief grants program.  

The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.68 per cent for February, above the 30 
Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.01 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index (published by 
Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.46 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per 
cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment Strategy.  

  

1

Item 2.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

The City’s annual rolling return of 0.77 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.11 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 0.22 
per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.56 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed 
in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

The report includes graphs demonstrating that the City's liquidity profile continues to satisfy 
the requirements of the Policy, and charts that identify the distribution of the City's portfolio 
across credit ratings, investment product types and financial institutions. Separate charts 
depicting the City’s cumulative portfolio returns over and above both the 90 day Bloomberg 
AusBond and 30 day Bank Bill Rate benchmarks have also been included to provide further 
insight into the City’s total investment portfolio performance. 

The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative approach 
outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate for the current 
global and domestic economic conditions. The Policy and Strategy also maintain the City’s 
commitment to preference sustainable investments where returns and risks are equivalent, 
under the environmentally and socially responsible investment criteria. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that the Investment Report as at 28 February 2021 be received and noted. 

Attachments 

Attachment A. Register of Investments and Cash as at 28 February 2021 

Attachment B. Investment Performance as at 28 February 2021 

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. In accordance with the principles of financial management, cash that is surplus to the 
City's immediate requirements is invested within acceptable risk parameters to 
optimise interest income while ensuring the security of these funds. 

2. Surplus cash is only invested in authorised investments that comply with governing 
legislation and the City's Investment Policy and Strategy. 

3. The benchmark performance goal of the City's Investment Policy and Strategy is to 
surpass the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) by 45 basis points while performance also 
continues to be measured against the Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index. 

4. The City's total Investment and Cash position as at 28 February 2021 is $676.4M, an 
increase of approximately $30M from the $646.4M reported as at 31 January 2021, 
reflecting operating income and proceeds from property divestment, offset by capital 
works expenditure, property acquisition and other operational payments. A schedule 
detailing all of the City's investments as at the end of February is provided at 
Attachment A. 

5. A substantial portion of the City’s cash and investments portfolio is held as internally 
restricted ($271.9M) or externally restricted ($67.9M) cash reserves, to satisfy the 
City’s legislative responsibilities and to set aside specific funds for Council’s funding 
commitments to the major initiatives within the Sustainable Sydney 2030 Community 
Strategic Plan. 

6. Key commitments within the City's Long Term Financial Plan include public domain 
works in the CBD, infrastructure and community facilities in the Green Square urban 
renewal area and the future acquisition of open space. The balance of investment 
funds represents working capital and funding required for the City's operating and 
other capital expenditure commitments. 

7. The City achieved an annualised monthly return of 0.68 per cent for February, above 
the 30 Day Bank Bill Rate (BBR) of 0.01 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index 
(published by Bloomberg) of 0.00 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.46 per 
cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as endorsed in October 2020 as part of the Investment 
Strategy.  

8. The City’s annual rolling return of 0.77 per cent also continues to exceed the 12 month 
average 30 Day Bank Bill Rate of 0.11 per cent, the latest AusBond Bank Bill Index of 
0.22 per cent and the enhanced benchmark of 0.56 per cent (BBR + 0.45 per cent) as 
endorsed in the Investment Strategy in October 2020.  

9. In response to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 
adjusted the official cash rate on 3 March 2020, and again on 20 March 2020 to 0.25 
per cent. On 2 November 2020, the RBA announced a further drop in the official cash 
rate to 0.10 per cent. In addition, the RBA launched its Term Funding Facility. This 
facility, now in the order of $200 billion, has reduced the funding costs of Authorised 
Deposit-Taking Institutions (ADIs), in turn helping to reduce the interest rates for 
borrowers. The market is responding by reducing the rates on offer, and the resultant 
lower investment yields continue to have a sustained adverse impact on the City's 
portfolio return. The low interest rates are anticipated to continue for the foreseeable 
future given the current challenging economic conditions. 

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

10. The City's cash inflows, whilst reasonably resilient and showing signs of recovery, 
have been negatively impacted for a prolonged period, as the economic consequences 
of the pandemic continue to affect major revenue streams, including parking services, 
commercial property income and timely payment of rates and annual charges. A 
greater focus on maintaining adequate liquidity with shorter investment maturities, and 
increasingly limited opportunities to invest funds at adequate rates of return will also 
continue to affect the City's interest revenue. 

11. The report includes graphs depicting that the City’s cumulative portfolio returns over 
and above both the 90 day Bloomberg AusBond, and 30 day Bank Bill Rate 
benchmarks have also been included to provide further insight into the City’s total 
investment portfolio performance. 

12. The structure of the City's investment portfolio continues to reflect the conservative 
approach outlined in the Investment Policy and Strategy, which remains appropriate 
for the current global and domestic economic conditions. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

13. The City's investments accord with all legislative and policy requirements, as detailed 
below, and continue to achieve returns above minimum benchmark rates. 

Financial Implications 

14. The City’s investments earned interest of $0.3M for the month of February 2021 
against budgeted earnings of $0.5M. While the 2020/21 interest revenue budget 
anticipated a lower interest rate environment over the financial year, the extent of rate 
reductions and the impact of the RBA Term Funding Facility on investment returns has 
exceeded predictions. Diminished investment returns were partly offset by a higher 
than forecast cash balance for the month. For the same month in 2020, the City 
earned interest of $0.9M on a slightly higher cash balance. 

Economic 

15. The extent of the local and global economic impact resulting from Covid-19 has 
created significant uncertainty in financial markets. Many Governments and central 
banks, including the Australian Government and the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), 
are implementing large scale responses to the economic crisis, including coordinated 
stimulus measures involving significant increases in government spending and 
borrowing combined with large scale buying of bonds by central banks. 

16. The RBA reduced the official cash rate downward twice in March 2020. It was reduced 
first on 3 March 2020, to 0.50 per cent, and again on 20 March 2020, when it was 
further reduced to 0.25 per cent. RBA further dropped the cash rate to 0.10 per cent on 
2 November 2020. 

17. The RBA has continued to indicate that the 0.10 per cent official cash rate is unlikely to 
be lifted until it is confident the economy has recovered sufficiently to lift annual 
inflation inside its target 2 per cent to 3 per cent range.   

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

18. Historically, returns on cash (i.e. "at call" accounts) and short term investments have 
been quite strong. However, with the low official cash rate, market variability in monthly 
returns may mean the short to medium term investment returns could be flat or 
potentially slightly negative. The capacity for City staff to invest in a manner that meets 
liquidity requirements whilst achieving the "enhanced" benchmark returns (as detailed 
in the Investment Policy) is increasingly limited. However, the best available returns 
are still actively sought when surplus funds are invested. 

19. On occasion, financial institutions will not offer term deposit rates as their own liquidity 
requirements are already satisfied. Since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, this 
has occurred with increased frequency, further limiting the available range of 
institutions able to offer adequate returns at an acceptable credit risk under the City's 
Investment Policy. 

Relevant Legislation 

20. Council is authorised to invest its surplus cash under Section 625 of the Local 
Government Act 1993. 

21. The Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 (Clause 212) requires the City to 
provide a written monthly report of all monies invested, under Section 625 of the Act. 

22. The Investment Policy and Strategy was last revised in October 2020, maintaining 
Council's commitment to give preference to sustainable investments where returns and 
risks are equivalent to other investments. The revision also maintained the broadened 
definition of environmentally harmful activities to include specific reference to coal, gas 
and oil. 

23. The City's investments accord with the Minister's Investment Order, the Office of Local 
Government's Investment Policy Guidelines, and the City's own Investment Policy and 
Strategy as adopted by Council on 28 October 2020. 

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

24. A monthly investment report must be submitted for Council's information and review 
within the following month. 

Public Consultation 

25. Consultation is regularly undertaken with a number of financial institutions and 
investment advisers to consider options and ensure the City continues to maximise its 
investment return within appropriate risk parameters. 

26. City staff meet regularly with representatives of each of the 'Big 4' banks and NSW 
TCorp. At these meetings City staff actively advocate for Socially Responsible 
Investment (SRI) opportunities. 

27. The banks acknowledge the appetite in the market for these products and they 
continue to investigate the development of suitable products, however it has been 
challenging to match the level of funds to available Socially Responsible Investment 
opportunities that meet the credit risk and maturity profile requirements of the City.  

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

28. As noted in previous Investment Reports, Westpac were able to bring a Green 
Tailored Deposit product to market, which delivers a comparable return while 
achieving the City's preferred outcomes. Since November 2018, the City has invested 
$85M in thirteen tranches with this Green Tailored deposit.  

29. In December 2019, the City invested $5M in a Floating Rate Note (FRN) / 
Sustainability Bond issued by Bank Australia, based on an investment framework that 
meets the main guidelines for issuance of Green, Social and Sustainability Bonds in 
the global capital markets. This Socially Responsible investment opportunity met both 
the credit risk and maturity profile requirement of the City. 

30. Since March 2020, the City has invested in sixteen tranches, totalling $95M, in Climate 
Bond-certified Green Term Deposits with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA), 
whilst also meeting the City's risk / return profile.  

31. It is evident from these opportunities that the market is endeavouring to respond to 
demand and meet investors need to satisfy their financial risk / return requirements, 
while at the same time promoting their preferred investment profile outcomes. 

BILL CARTER 

Chief Financial Officer 

6



Attachment A 

Register of Investments and Cash 
as at 28 February 2021

7



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity Date
Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Call Account

Westpac Bank AA 2,830,182                  2,830,182               0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1-Jan-21 22-May-12 0

Commonwealth Bank AA 57,125,101                57,125,101             0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 11-Jun-20 0
Macquarie Bank Ltd AA 6,033,706                  6,033,706               0.03% 0.35% 0.35% 1-Jan-21 21-Sep-20 0

Total 65,988,989 65,988,989 0.03% 0.33% 0.33%

Term Deposits (TD)

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 2-Mar-21 31-Aug-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 26-Mar-21 27-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.66% 0.66% 29-Mar-21 28-Aug-20 7

ANZ Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 6-Apr-21 31-Aug-20 7

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 4-May-21 8-Sep-20 8

ME Bank A 2,000,000.00             2,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-May-21 16-Nov-20 6

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 18-May-21 16-Oct-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 4-Jun-21 8-Sep-20 9

ME Bank A 7,000,000.00             7,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Jun-21 6-Nov-20 7

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 11-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 25-Jun-21 29-Sep-20 9

Credit Union Australia A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 29-Jun-21 7-Dec-20 7

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 9-Jul-21 13-Oct-20 9

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Jul-21 21-Dec-20 7

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 23-Jul-21 4-Dec-20 8

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 30-Jul-21 30-Nov-20 8

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 3-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 6-Aug-21 1-Dec-20 8

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 10-Aug-21 4-Nov-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Aug-21 14-Aug-20 12

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.45% 0.45% 17-Aug-21 16-Feb-21 6

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 7-Sep-21 11-Nov-20 10

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Sep-21 21-Dec-20 9

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 24-Sep-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 1-Oct-21 1-Dec-20 10

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 8-Oct-21 9-Dec-20 10

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.64% 0.64% 14-Oct-21 14-Oct-20 12

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.40% 0.40% 15-Oct-21 12-Jan-21 9

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 19-Oct-21 20-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.57% 0.57% 26-Oct-21 27-Oct-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 11-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 12-Nov-21 9-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 16-Nov-21 11-Nov-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 19-Nov-21 13-Nov-20 12

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.65% 0.65% 23-Nov-21 22-Dec-20 11

Commonwealth Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.52% 0.52% 1-Dec-21 1-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 10-Dec-21 11-Dec-20 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 14-Dec-21 15-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.60% 0.60% 17-Dec-21 18-Dec-20 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 27-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 28-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 29-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Dec-21 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 3-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 4-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 5-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 6-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 7-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 10-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 10-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 11-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 11-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 12-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 12-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 13-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Bank of Queensland A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.42% 0.42% 14-Jan-22 15-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 14-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 17-Jan-22 11-Jan-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 17-Jan-22 8-Jan-21 12

National Aust Bank AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.41% 0.41% 28-Jan-22 25-Jan-21 12

ME Bank A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 7-Feb-22 9-Feb-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 16-Feb-22 16-Feb-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 17-Feb-22 17-Feb-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 18-Feb-22 18-Feb-21 12

Macquarie Bank A 1,000,000.00             1,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 21-Feb-22 19-Feb-21 12

Northern Territory Treasury Corporation- Fixed Rate Bond- Annual AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.90% 0.90% 15-Jun-25 5-Feb-21 52

Northern Territory Treasury Corporation- Fixed Rate Bond- Annual AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.90% 0.90% 15-Jun-25 9-Feb-21 52

Westpac Bank (3 months BBSW + 88 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.89% 1.09% 14-May-21 16-May-19 24

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 3 Months  BBSW + 82 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 1.03% 21-Sep-21 21-Sep-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.90% Fixed 2 years & 3 Months  BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.05% 11-Oct-21 12-Oct-17 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.94% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 2.25% 8-Nov-21 6-Nov-18 36

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & 3 Months  BBSW + 133 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.35% 1.56% 15-Dec-21 15-Dec-16 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (3% Fixed 2 years & RBA cash rate + 126 points 3 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.11% 1.28% 1.58% 31-Aug-22 31-Aug-17 60

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.80% Fixed 1 year & 3 Months  BBSW + 85 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.87% 1.01% 27-Sep-22 28-Sep-18 48

Westpac Banking Corporation (2.98% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 82 points 2 years) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.84% 2.27% 21-Nov-22 21-Nov-18 48

Register of Investments and Cash for February 2021 period 

8



Institution
Rating Face Value $

Amortised Value 

$

Monthly 

Net 

Returns

Monthly Net 

Return 

Annualised

Net Returns 

Rolling 12 

Months

Maturity Date
Investment 

Date

Term 

(months)

Register of Investments and Cash for February 2021 period 

Term Deposits (TD) 'Green Tailored Deposits'

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.62% 0.62% 9-Mar-21 9-Sep-20 6

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Jun-21 21-Aug-20 10

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.63% 0.63% 6-Jul-21 7-Oct-20 9

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit- Quaterly payments AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.83% 0.83% 13-Jul-21 13-Jul-20 12

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.75% 0.75% 16-Jul-21 19-Aug-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.67% 0.67% 27-Jul-21 1-Oct-20 10

Westpac Bank - Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 20-Aug-21 22-Sep-20 11

Westpac Banking Corporation- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 27-Aug-21 27-Aug-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.73% 0.73% 2-Sep-21 2-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.71% 0.71% 17-Sep-21 22-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.69% 0.69% 28-Sep-21 28-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 30-Sep-21 30-Sep-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.06% 0.70% 0.70% 1-Oct-21 1-Oct-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.53% 0.53% 29-Oct-21 27-Nov-20 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.05% 0.55% 0.55% 18-Nov-21 18-Nov-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.03% 0.38% 0.38% 17-Dec-21 17-Feb-21 10

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.46% 0.46% 23-Dec-21 23-Dec-20 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.03% 0.41% 0.41% 24-Dec-21 25-Jan-21 11

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.42% 0.42% 14-Jan-22 15-Jan-21 12

Commonwealth Bank- Green Tailored Deposit AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.43% 0.43% 25-Jan-22 25-Jan-21 12

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.50% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 47 points for year 1)AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 21-Dec-22 21-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (0.47% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 45 points for year 2)AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.04% 0.47% 0.47% 23-Dec-22 23-Dec-20 24

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3 Months BBSW + 93 points) AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.08% 0.96% 1.13% 27-Nov-23 26-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.97% Fixed 2 years & 3 months BBSW + 93 points 3 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.95% 2.63% 29-Nov-23 30-Nov-18 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (3.00% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 105 points 4 years)AA 10,000,000.00          10,000,000.00        0.09% 1.06% 1.19% 24-Jan-24 25-Jan-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.85% Fixed 1 years & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.10% 1.18% 28-Feb-24 1-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.75% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.38% 11-Mar-24 13-Mar-19 60

Westpac Banking Corporation - Green Tailored Deposit (2.65% Fixed 1 year & 3 months BBSW + 100 points 4 years)AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.02% 1.21% 22-Mar-24 25-Mar-19 60

Total 462,000,000 462,000,000 0.05% 0.66% 0.73%

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 

Heritage Bank (90 days BBSW + 123 points) BBB 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.43% 29-Dec-20 29-Mar-18 33

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 118 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.10% 1.20% 1.36% 7-Jan-21 7-Apr-16 57

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 138 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.39% 1.55% 12-Jan-21 12-Apr-16 57

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 127 points) BBB 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.11% 1.28% 1.43% 18-Jan-21 17-Apr-18 33

Bendigo & Adelaide Bank  (90 days BBSW + 146 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.12% 1.47% 1.60% 20-Jan-21 20-Apr-16 57

Bank of China - Sydney Branch (90 days BBSW + 103 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.23% 15-Feb-21 15-Nov-18 27

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 85 points) AAA 4,600,000.00             4,600,000.00          0.07% 0.86% 1.06% 17-Feb-21 17-Nov-16 51

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.07% 0.89% 1.09% 8-Feb-21 8-Feb-19 24

Credit Union Australia (90 days BBSW + 123 points) A 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.10% 1.25% 1.43% 4-Dec-20 4-Mar-19 21

ME Bank (90 days BBSW + 98 points) BBB 3,000,000.00             3,000,000.00          0.08% 0.99% 1.13% 18-Jan-21 18-Jul-19 18

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 2,500,000.00             2,500,000.00          0.08% 0.98% 1.18% 16-Nov-20 16-Aug-17 39

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 97 points) A 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.08% 1.00% 1.18% 16-Nov-20 31-Oct-18 24

Bank of Queensland (90 days BBSW + 105 points) BBB 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.06% 1.26% 3-Feb-21 5-Feb-18 36

Credit Union Australia (3 monts BBSW + 90 bps) BBB 2,800,000.00             2,800,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.10% 22-Feb-21 21-Feb-20 12

Westpac Bank (90 days BBSW + 83 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.85% 1.04% 7-Dec-20 6-Mar-18 33

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.91% 1.11% 9-Feb-21 9-May-18 33

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 90 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.94% 1.12% 16-Feb-21 16-May-18 33

Commonwealth Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.94% 1.14% 16-Feb-21 16-Aug-18 30

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) A 4,500,000.00             4,500,000.00          0.07% 0.79% 1.01% 14-Dec-20 13-Sep-18 27

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 93 points) AA 3,500,000.00             3,500,000.00          0.08% 0.95% 1.14% 29-Dec-20 26-Sep-18 27

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 103 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.09% 1.05% 1.24% 7-Dec-20 6-Dec-18 24

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 104 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.09% 1.07% 1.24% 26-Nov-20 26-Feb-19 21

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 3,200,000.00             3,200,000.00          0.08% 0.93% 1.15% 21-Dec-20 20-Jun-19 18

Westpac Banking Corporation (90 days BBSW + 88 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.07% 0.89% 1.09% 16-Feb-21 16-May-19 21

ANZ Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 4,000,000.00             4,000,000.00          0.07% 0.86% 0.98% 30-Nov-20 29-Aug-19 15

National Australia Bank (90 days BBSW + 77 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.78% 0.92% 21-Jan-21 21-Jan-20 12

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 84 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.07% 0.85% 1.05% 12-Feb-21 12-Feb-20 12

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 112 points) AAA 1,500,000.00             1,500,000.00          0.09% 1.13% 1.20% 25-Jan-21 27-Apr-20 9

Macquarie Bank (3 months BBSW + 48 points) A 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.04% 0.50% 0.50% 9-Dec-20 9-Dec-20 0

Suncorp Bank (90 days BBSW + 45 points) A 2,100,000.00             2,100,000.00          0.04% 0.46% 0.46% 24-Feb-21 24-Feb-21 0

Floating Rate Notes (FRN) 'Green/Climate Bonds/Sustainability Bond'

Commonwealth Bank Climate Bond (90 days BBSW + 92 points) AA 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.94% 1.18% 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-17 60

Bank Australia - Sustainability Bond (3months BBSW + 90 points) BBB 5,000,000.00             5,000,000.00          0.08% 0.92% 1.17% 2-Dec-22 2-Dec-19 36

Total 127,200,000 127,200,000 0.08% 0.97% 1.15%

Total Investments 655,188,989 655,188,989 0.06% 0.68% 0.77%

Benchmark:  30 Day Bank Bill  Index 0.00% 0.01% 0.11%

Benchmark:  Bloomberg AusBond Bank Bill Index 0.00% 0.00% 0.22%

City of Sydney's available bank balance as at 28 February 2021 21,219,425          21,219,425

TOTAL INVESTMENTS & CASH 676,408,413 676,408,413

9



Financial Institution
Fund 

Rating
Commentary

General Fund

Westpac Bank
AA

15,000,000
February closing balance is higher compared to January, due to high volume of rates 

receipts.

Call Account

Westpac Bank AA (20,000,000)
Commonwealth Bank AA 23,000,000

Macquarie Bank Ltd A (4,000,000)

Funds redeemed from Westpac  Call Account and invested in CBA call account as CBA 

Call Account provided better rate. Funds redeemed from Macquarie Call account and 

placed in higher yielding Term Deposits

Term Deposits (TDs)

ANZ Bank AA (5,000,000)

Westpac Banking Corporation
AA

(5,000,000)
Redemption of matured Term Deposits, utilised for operational use or reinvested with 

higher yielding products.

Commonwealth Bank AA 10,000,000
Macquarie Bank Ltd A 4,000,000 Redeemed matured investments and placed in higher yielding Term Deposits.
Northern Territory Treasury Corporation AA 10,000,000

Floating Rate Note (FRN)

Commonwealth Bank AA 2,100,000 Redeemed matured investments and placed in higher yielding Floating Rate Note

Summary of Net Investment Movements - February 2021

Net

Invest/(Recall) Amount $

10



Attachment B 

Investment Performance 
as at 28 February 2021 

 

11



 

 

 

-0.50%

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21

Portfolio Monthly Return Strategic 45 point enhanced monthly return

AusBond Monthly Return 30 Day BBR Monthly Return

Monthly Results
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

February 2021

-0.50%

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21

Portfolio 12 Month Rolling Return Strategic 45 point enhanced rolling return

AusBond 12 Month Rolling Avg 30 Day BBR 12 Month Rolling Return

12 Month Rolling Averages
Actual Portfolio vs Strategic Enhanced Benchmark vs AusBond Benchmark vs 30 Day BBR Benchmark

February  2021

12



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

1Mth 2-12Mth 1-3Yr 3-5Yr >5Yr

Max % of Portfolio Actual % of Portfolio

Portfolio Liquidity - Maximum Allowances as at 28 February 2021

%

0

20

40

60

80

100

1Mth 2-12Mth 1-3Yr 3-5Yr >5Yr

Cum Min % of Portfolio Cum Actual % of Portfolio

Portfolio Liquidity - Minimum Allocations as at 28 February 2021

%%

13



 

 

 

 

AAA
0.9%

AA
68.1%

A
26.8%

BBB
4.2%

Risk Profile as at 28 February 2021

Term Deposits
70.5%

Floating Rate Notes
19.4%

Funds at Call
10.1%

Investment Product Profile as at 28 February 2021

14



INVESTMENT AND CASH DISTRIBUTION BY FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTION        
AS AT 28 February 
2021         

     

Institution Category Financial Institution 
Amount 

$M 
Financial Inst. 

% 

Institution 
Cat. 

% 

Australian Big 4 Bank ANZ Bank 38.0 5.8   
(and related 
institutions) Commonwealth Bank-related: 195.2 29.8   

  National Aust Bank 136.8 20.9   

  Westpac Banking Corporation 70.7 10.8   

Big 4 Total   440.8   67.3 

Other Australian ADIs Bank Australia Limited 5.0 0.8   
and Australian 
subsidiaries Bank of China 4.5 0.7   

of foreign institutions Bank of Queensland 44.0 6.7   

  Bendigo & Adelaide Bank 15.0 2.3   

  Credit Union Australia Ltd 14.3 2.2   

  Heritage Bank 3.5 0.5   

  Macquarie Bank Ltd 49.0 7.5   

  ME Bank 49.5 7.6   

  Suncorp Bank 19.6 3.0   

  
Northern Territory Treasury 
Corporation 10.0 1.5   

Other ADI Total   214.4   32.7 

Grand Total   655.2 100.0 100.0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15



 

 

 

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

$
M

Cumulative Outperformance over AusBond Benchmark - 2015-2021

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

$
M

Cumulative Outperformance over 30 Day BBR Benchmark - 2015-2021

16



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management 

File No: X030693 

Summary 

On 1 July 2018, the Crown Land Management Act 2016 (CLM Act) came into effect, 
introducing a new framework for Crown land management in New South Wales, and 
abolishing the original Reserve Trust regime. Under this framework, all dedicated and 
reserved Crown land previously entrusted to the City of Sydney (the City), is now to be 
managed as community classified land under the Local Government Act 1993, requiring a 
plan of management. 

The City is responsible for the care, control and management of forty-six Crown reserves. As 
a requirement of the Crown Land Management Act 2016, the City must have a plan of 
management adopted for these Crown reserves by 30 June 2021. 

A plan of management is an overarching document that guides the use and management of 
community land. It outlines what the community values about the space, its current and 
future uses and how it will be managed, maintained and improved. 

An integral part of developing plans of management is the undertaking of community 
engagement. The City conducted consultation from 10 November to 15 December 2020 to 
inform the development of the draft plans of management. This enabled an understanding of 
the community’s vision for the Crown reserves; how the community uses the land now; and 
how they would like to use it in the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program was to recognise the important relationship 
First Nations communities have to these places and strengthen the relationship with the First 
Nations community. The plans of management provide an opportunity to further develop and 
foster custodianship, living culture and connection to these places.  

The City has developed fourteen specific draft plans of management and three generic draft 
plans of management which are detailed herein and attached to this report. Specific plans of 
management are suitable for large and/or iconic spaces with unique features and/or 
diversified uses such as Hyde Park and Martin Place, whilst generic plans group multiple 
places that share common characteristics, such as location, e.g. Millers Point Precinct.  

This report seeks Council’s endorsement to publicly exhibit the draft Crown Land Plans of 
Management for a period of 29 days with a further report to Council on the outcomes of that 
process.  

  

1

Item 3.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that Council: 

(A) approve the public exhibition of the draft Crown Land Plans of Management for a 
period of 29 days; 

(B) note that prior to public exhibition the draft plans will be submitted to the Crown for 
verification and confirmation to proceed to public exhibition; 

(C) note that, prior to public exhibition, the Chief Executive Officer may authorise 
amendments to the draft Plans of Management; and 

(D) note the outcomes of the public exhibition period will be the subject of a further report 
to Council.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Identification Plan - Local Government Area 

Attachment B. Identification Plan - Warrane Crown Lands Map 

Draft Generic Plans of Management 

Attachment C. CBD Civic Spaces 

Attachment D. Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves 

Attachment E. General Crown Reserves 

Draft Specific Plans of Management  

Attachment F. Belmore Park 

Attachment G. Cook and Phillip Park 

Attachment H. Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve 

Attachment I. Hyde Park 

Attachment J. Johnstons Creek Parklands 

Attachment K. Martin Place 

Attachment L. Observatory Hill 

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Attachment M. Perry Park 

Attachment N. Prince Alfred Park 

Attachment O. Rushcutters Bay Park 

Attachment P. Victoria Park 

Attachment Q. Waterloo Oval  

Attachment R. Wentworth Park 

Attachment S. Wynyard Park  

 

Attachment T. Summary of Past Consultations - Stage 1 Engagement Plan 

Attachment U. Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report February 2021 

  

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. In 2012, the NSW Government began the first major review of Crown land in 25 years, 
prompting a comprehensive consultation process with community and other interested 
parties about the future management of Crown land.  

2. This extensive review process culminated in the NSW Parliament passing the Crown 
Land Management Act 2016 in November 2016 and the Crown Land Legislation 
Amendment Act in May 2017.  

3. The objective of the legislation is to ensure Crown estate is managed efficiently and 
effectively and continues to support and generate social, environmental and cultural 
benefits for the people of NSW.  

4. The new legislation commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a new framework in which 
all dedicated and reserved land that has been entrusted to the City, is now to be 
managed as community classified under the Local Government Act 1993, abolishing 
the original reserve trust regime. 

5. The legislation requires the City, as the Crown land manager, to: 

(a) appoint a dedicated native title manager; 

(b) categorise the Crown reserves under the Local Government Act 1993; 

(c) develop and adopt plans of management under the Local Government Act 1993   

(i) no later than 30 June 2021, being the three-year transition period from 1 
July 2018; and  

(d) manage the Crown reserves under interim arrangements until the plans of 
management are adopted. 

6. A plan of management is an overarching document that guides the use and 
management of community land. It outlines what the community values about the 
place, its current and future uses and how it will be managed, maintained and 
improved in the short to medium-term. 

7. To develop these draft plans of management the City's internal project delivery team 
was complemented by a team of experienced consultants in key disciplines including 
Park Management and Development, Crown Land and Native Title, Indigenous Culture 
and Heritage. 

8. The draft Crown Land Plans of Management provide an overview of the City’s 
objectives and management strategies for this land in the short to medium-term. Each 
plan facilitates the responsible management of the assets in light of present needs. 

  

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

9. The draft Crown Land Plans of Management do not address the longer-term 
development needs of these Crown reserves or how they will meet the objectives for 
changing community needs throughout the area. The City of Sydney Open Space and 
Recreational Needs Strategy (and any associated updates) is intended to provide a 
longer-term overview and assist in addressing the future needs in a balanced way. 

Land Categorisation 

10. The application of categorisations in whole or part must be consistent with the public 
purpose of the Crown reserve.  

11. There are five categorisations set out in section 36(4) of the Local Government Act 
1993: 

(a) a park; 

(b) a sportsground; 

(c) general community use; 

(d) an area of cultural significance; or  

(e) a natural area.  

12. The categorisation of Crown reserves is applied in the same way as they have been 
applied for City-owned community classified land.  

13. The City has ensured interpretative consistency with the adopted categorisations in its 
current plans of management for City-owned community land with the categorisations 
adopted for the Crown Reserves covered by these draft plans of management. As 
such The City has applied the park, sportsground and general community use 
categorisations to the Crown reserves.  

14. The categories of a natural area or an area of cultural significance, as defined, within 
the Local Government Area do not apply to City-owned community land nor Crown 
reserve land.  

15. In accordance with the requirements of the Crown Land Management Act 2016, Crown 
Lands has approved the categorisations adopted in the draft plans of management.  

10. All current uses, upgrades and/or development projects on Crown reserve land within 
these draft plans of management are aligned with the category objectives. 

Draft Plans of Management for Crown Reserves  

16. The City has developed fourteen specific draft plans of management and three generic 
draft plans of management, which are detailed herein and attached to this report.  

17. Consistent with local government practises, specific plans are suitable for large and/or 
iconic parks with unique features and/or diversified uses, such as Hyde Park and 
Martin Place, whilst generic plans of management are grouped by common 
characteristics such as location, e.g. Millers Point Precinct.  

  

5



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

18. The three generic draft plans of management for the Crown reserves include:  

(a) CBD Civic Spaces (Attachment C) includes: 

(i) Customs House Square, Farrer Place, Lang Park, Macquarie Place Park 
and Queens Square;  

(b) Millers Point Precinct (Attachment D) includes: 

(i) the Millers Point Recreation and Community Centre, Clyne Reserve, Munn 
Reserve, Dawes Point Fountain Garden, Argyle Place Park and Watson 
Road Public Toilets; and 

(c) General Crown Reserves (Attachment E) includes: 

(i) Shannon Reserve, Surry Hills; 

(ii) Hollis Park, Newtown;  

(iii) Glebe Foreshore Walk East, Glebe; 

(iv) Green Park, Darlinghurst; 

(v) Franklyn Park Community Space, Glebe; 

(vi) Robyn Kemmis Reserve, Glebe; 

(vii) Beare Park and Kings Cross Rotary Park, Elizabeth Bay;  

(viii) Dr HJ Foley Park, Glebe; and 

(ix) Andrew (Boy) Charlton Reserve (land adjoining the pool), Sydney. 

19. The specific draft plans of management for the Crown reserves include: 

(a) Belmore Park, Haymarket (Attachment F); 

(b) Cook and Phillip Park, Sydney (Attachment G); 

(c) Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve, Erskineville (Attachment H); 

(d) Hyde Park, Sydney (Attachment I); 

(e) Johnstons Creek Parklands, Glebe (including Federal Parks 1 and 2, 
Bicentennial Parks 1 and 2, Pope Paul VI Reserve, Jubilee Oval, Harold Park 
and Tram Stop Reserve) (Attachment J); 

(f) Martin Place, Sydney (Attachment K); 

(g) Observatory Hill, Millers Point (also includes Kent Street Tennis Centre and 
Watson Road Reserve) (Attachment L); 

(h) Perry Park, Alexandria (Attachment M); 

(i) Prince Alfred Park, Surry Hills (Attachment N); 

6



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(j) Rushcutters Bay Park, Rushcutters Bay (Attachment O); 

(k) Victoria Park, Camperdown (Attachment P); 

(l) Waterloo Park, Waterloo (Attachment Q); 

(m) Wentworth Park, Glebe (Attachment R); and 

(n) Wynyard Park, Sydney (Attachment S). 

Updating Plans of Management 

20. Neither the Crown Land Management Act 2016 nor the Local Government Act 1993 
state when plans of management should be reviewed. The City will conduct an annual 
internal review to monitor the plans of management to ensure they are adequately 
achieving their objectives and are revised as appropriate.  

Community Consultation 

21. Over many years, the City has commissioned and undertaken extensive community 
consultation developing a significant understanding of how the community values open 
space. 

22. Attachment T provides a summary of Stage 1 of the Engagement Plan for the Crown 
Lands Plan of Management included an analysis of past consultations occurring on 
Crown reserves associated with master planning exercises, park renewals, new 
playgrounds and public domain plans. This also included a review of park intercept 
user surveys and the Sustainable Sydney 2050 Community Insights Report.   

23. The review detailed what the community told us about these places in the past - how 
they use them and what they value about them. It also identified what action the City 
had taken in response to the community feedback, and any potential opportunities or 
areas of concern.  

24. This analysis formed the basis of the community engagement and informed the 
sections of the plans that document: 

(a) what the community values about the site; 

(b) the community and cultural history of the site; 

(c) how it is currently used; and 

(d) aspirations for future uses. 

25. Across all the reviewed consultation documents there were common themes including:  

(a) Green and Open Spaces: 

(i) The consultations consistently mentioned the desire for a “green city”, a 
“city for the people” that is “sustainable” and “environmentally conscious”. 
And one that allows for “open spaces” that provides room for recreation, 
relaxation, exercise and sporting activities; 

  

7



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(b) Preservation of Heritage: 

(i) Feedback was consistently given around preserving, celebrating and 
displaying information around the historical significance of the parks; 

(c) Safety; 

(d) Improved amenities and maintenance; 

(e) Public transport;  

(f) Imaginative Spaces; 

(g) Inclusive; and 

(h) Balancing different uses. 

Community Engagement  

26. The purpose of the community engagement was to understand the community’s vision 
for the Crown reserves, how the community use these places now and how they would 
like to use them in the future.  

27. The Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report February 2021 is 

Attachment U.  

28. An important aspect of the engagement program was to recognise the important 
relationship First Nations People have with these spaces, strengthen the relationship 
with the First Nations community and use the plans of management as an opportunity 
to further develop and foster custodianship, living culture and connection to these 
places. 

29. The opportunity to participate in the engagement program from 10 November to 15 
December was communicated to the community via: 

(a) a letter to residents who live in the vicinity of the Crown reserves from the Lord 
Mayor; 

(b) Sydney Your Say web page; 

(c) notification signs in parks; 

(d) decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, reserves and civic spaces; and 

(e) E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder list. 

30. The engagement program consisted of an online survey, intercept surveys and pop-
ups at some of the Crown reserves, a conversation guide and online conversations 
with community groups and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community members.  

31. The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather statistical data around community 
values and uses of the Crown reserves, and the workshops provided an opportunity for 
more in-depth discussions around Crown land in different locations across the city, and 
specifically with the First Nations community.  

  

8



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

32. The key themes identified through the community engagement include:  

(a) Strong support for the recognition and practice of First Nations People's 
continuous connection to country and their important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these places. 

(b) Public open spaces are important for mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all. 

(c) Open, green and natural public spaces in the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing population. 

(d) Accessible, safe and inclusive open spaces are important for everyone to enjoy. 

(e) Diverse and unique open spaces that manage our shared spaces fairly. 

(f) Open spaces that support wildlife and biodiversity. 

(g) Preserving our open spaces and safeguarding their history for the future. 

(h) Improving amenities in our open spaces to increase accessibility and support 
community use. 

33. The City of Sydney recognises that the development of these plans of management 
are an important opportunity for a conversation with the community about Aboriginal 
people's continuous connection to Country and custodianship of these places in 
Sydney. 

34. As part of setting the context for the community for this engagement, the City of 
Sydney commissioned a video from Brett Leavy of Virtual Songlines that depicted an 
imagining of Gadigal land before colonisation. The video (along with a map of Warrane 
- Attachment B) was available to view on the Sydney Your Say website and was 
played at the start of each First Nations, community and internal staff workshop. 

Engagement with First Nations people  

35. Three online conversations were held with 13 First Nations community members, 
including Elders, a representative of the Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council, 
residents, business owners and academics. These sessions were facilitated 
conversations.  

36. A number of principles for the management of Crown land in Sydney were proposed 
during the conversations.: 

37. These principles are embodied in each draft plan of management.  

  

9



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

38. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report on the draft Crown 
Land Plans of Management aligns with the following strategic directions and 
objectives: 

(a) Direction 1 - A Globally Competitive and Innovative City - the draft plans of 
management support the activation of open space and facilities, further providing 
the mechanisms to enable greater economic outcomes to be achieved, e.g. 
Alfresco City in Martin Place. 

(b) Direction 2 provides a road map for the City to become A Leading Environmental 
Performer - The draft plans of management demonstrate the City's leadership in 
environmental performance through environmental management systems, 
capital projects, asset management, procurement and contract management. 

(c) Objective 2.1 Greenhouse gas emissions are reduced across the city. 

(i) The draft plans of management enable the implementation of initiatives to 
support increased energy efficiency and renewable energy across the 
City's parks and open space. 

(d) Objective 2.2 Waste from the city is managed as a valuable resource and the 
environmental impacts of its generation and disposal are minimised.  

(i) The draft plans of management support the: 

a. monitoring, reporting and verification of waste data in City facilities 
within parks; and 

b. facilitates resource innovation and the reduction of waste 
management impacts. 

(e) Objective 2.3 Across the city, potable water use is reduced through efficiency 
and recycling and gross pollutant loads to waterways are reduced.  

(i) The draft plans of management enable the identification and maximisation 
of opportunities for use of alternative water sources which will contribute to 
a reduction in potable water consumption in the City's parks and open 
space. 

(f) Objective 2.5 The City of Sydney’s operations and activities demonstrate 
leadership in environmental performance. The draft plans of management 
embody: 

(i) the City's continuous improvement of its environmental performance 
through management processes across Council operations;   

(ii) the integration of environmental criteria into design and construction of City 
assets to support the City’s ability to lead by example; 

(iii) implementing a continuous improvement program for the environmental 
performance of the City’s own assets; and  

10



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(iv) integrating environmental criteria into relevant procurement, grant 
assessment and contract management activities. 

(g) Objective 2.6 The extent and quality of urban canopy cover, landscaping and city 
greening is maximised.   

(i) The draft plans of management support:   

a. the expansion and protection of tree canopy in all parks and open 
space; 

b. the enhancement and expansion of habitat sites; 
c. protecting biodiversity; and 
d. implementation of the Greening Sydney Plan to improve the quality 

of the City's urban landscape, parks and open space. 

(h) Direction 4 - A City for Walking and Cycling.  

(i) Objective 4.3 the number of people who choose to walk and cycle 
continues to increase. 

a. The draft plans of management help to promote activities in open 
spaces and to increase the mode of walking and cycling for leisure 
and recreation. 

(i) Direction 5 - A Lively and Engaging City Centre.  

(i) Objective 5.1 The city centre has safe and attractive public spaces for 
people to meet, rest and walk through at all times of the day or night; with 
George Street as a distinctive spine.  

a. The draft plans of management that encompass the Sydney CBD will 
integrate with the City's public domain plans that guide and enhance 
public realm design and development in the city centre.  

(ii) Objective 5.2 The city centre provides diversity of built form, uses and 
experiences.  

a. The draft plans of management that encompass the Sydney CBD 
recognise the important role each space plays in activating individual 
precincts. This has been recognised through the realisation of public 
domain plans, further exploring opportunities associated with 
adjoining development and increasing a greater recognition of built 
heritage form.  

(iii) Objective 5.4 The city centre is a place for cultural activity, creative 
expression and participation  

a. The draft plans of management support and facilitate the growth of 
creative and cultural activities in the city centre and seek to identify 
opportunities to collaborate with local cultural and educational 
institutions to increase activation of these spaces.  

  

11



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(j) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies. 

(i) Objective 6.1 Our city comprises many unique places – a ‘city of villages’ – 
for communities to live, meet, shop, study, create, play, discover, learn and 
work.  

a. The draft plans of management seek to identify and increase the 
visibility of local histories and stories that improve the experience of 
the City's local areas.  

(ii) 6.4 There is equitable access to community facilities and places, parks and 
recreational facilities to support wellbeing in daily life.  

a. The draft plans of management enable parks and community 
facilities within parks to support the quality of life, wellbeing and 
personal development of our community, ensuring that local needs 
are met through services and programs provided.  

(k) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City.  

(i) Objective 7.1 Creativity is a consistent and visible feature of the public 
domain and there are distinctive cultural precincts in the city and its 
villages. 

a. The draft plans of management recognise that all parks and open 
space are capable of playing a role in increasing places and 
precincts of cultural and creative activation.  

(ii) Objective 7.4 The continuous living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities is visible and celebrated in our city. 

a. The draft plans of management contribute to bringing new focus to 
the understanding, recognition and celebration of First Nations living 
culture and connection to Country. The draft plans will strengthen 
relationships with the First Nations community through their 
development and implementation, further providing respect and 
opportunities. 

(l) Direction 9 - Sustainable Development, Renewal and Design.  

(i) Objective 9.3 There are great public buildings, streets, squares and parks 
for everyone to use and enjoy. 

a. These draft plans of management reflect the plans and policies that 
define public space requirements including buildings, streets, 
squares and parks. Each plan emphasises the importance of 
maintaining and renewing all aspects of assets so they are fit for 
purpose and enable greater community enjoyment. 

  

12



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

(ii) Objective 9.5 The urban environment promotes health and wellbeing. 

a. The outcomes of the community engagement have reinforced that 
the community values parks and open space as a place of respite 
and social wellbeing. The draft plans of management seek to 
enhance these qualities by the creation of more opportunities to 
enjoy these spaces. 

(m) Direction 10 - Implementation through Effective Governance and Partnerships. 

(i) Objective 10.5 The community is engaged and active in shaping the future 
of the city - 

a. The community has been engaged at every level in the development 
of these draft plans of management based on the City's community 
engagement framework to enable all members of our community to 
participate in decisions that shape the city.  

Organisational Impact 

39. The appointment of the Crown Land Manager and development and implementation of 
these draft Crown Land Plans of Management address the City’s legislative 
obligations. There has been no significant impact on the City’s resources in developing 
the plans of management nor is there expected to be any organisational impact in the 
operational aspects following public exhibition and adoption by Council.  

40. The development of specific and generic plans of management for Crown reserves will 
improve the City’s measurement of key achievement against its performance 
indicators.  

Social / Cultural / Community 

41. The draft plans of management have been prepared to ensure the associated parks 
and open spaces are conserved and enhanced, remain accessible to the community 
and further enable future enjoyment, maintain social wellbeing and increase the 
cultural appreciation of each space. 

Environmental 

42. The draft plans of management emphasise the importance of preserving and 
increasing green space within the local government area, as a valued quality of the 
community. Individual management targets and strategies have been identified to 
ensure urban ecology, vegetation and tree canopy is preserved, maintained and 
enhanced in all spaces. 

43. Each draft plan of management addresses the importance of water, energy and waste 
management, further providing the means to implement necessary infrastructure and 
measures to ensure these spaces are more efficient and can contribute to the City's 
environmental targets. 

  

13



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Financial Implications 

44. Funding for the development and adoption of Crown Land Plans of Management has 
been budgeted in the 2020/21 operational budget.   

45. To ensure the City will be able to meet these requirements and obtain compliance 
under the Crown Land Management Act 2016, the Office of Local Government has 
provided a funding agreement of $30,000. 

46. There are no financial implications in the implementation of the plans of management 
once they are adopted. Individual project budgets that are identified as a result of 
these plans, will seek any future funding requirements and approvals during 
subsequent budgeting periods. 

Relevant Legislation 

47. The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (CLM Act) including: 

(a) Section 3.23(6) Council Crown land managers are required to prepare and adopt 
a plan of management in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993. 

(b) Section 3.23(7)(a)states a Council Crown land manager must adopt the first plan 
of management as soon as practicable, within the interim period. 

(c) Section 8.7(1)(d) states that a Council Crown land manager cannot submit a plan 
of management for approval without receiving prior Native Title Manager advice. 

48. Native Title Act 1993. 

49. Local Government Act 1993 (LG Act) including: 

(a) Sections 25 and 26 require every council to classify all public land as either 
community or operational.  

(b) Section 36 requires every council to prepare a plan of management for 
community land and sets the framework for those plans. 

(c) Section 36(4) requires a draft plan of management for community land to 
categorise the land by reference to one or more of the following categories: 

(i) a natural area; 

(ii) a sportsground; 

(iii) a park; 

(iv) an area of cultural significance; and 

(v) general community use. 

(d) Section 38 requires a draft plan of management to be publicly exhibited for not 
less than 28 days, with a period of not less than 42 days from the 
commencement date of public exhibition during which submissions may be made 
to Council.    

14



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

50. The Crown Land Management Act 2016 does not require a public hearing under 
Section 40A and Section 47G to be conducted in respect of the draft plans of 
management.  

51. It is noted that the plans of management do not override planning instruments such as 
Local Environmental Plans.  

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

52. The City must adopt the Crown Land Plans of Management by 30 June 2021 to 
achieve compliance with the Crown Land Management Act 2016.  

Public Exhibition 

53. In accordance with the Local Government Act 1993, as amended, the draft plans of 
management must be publicly exhibited for a period of 29 days with a period of not 
less than 42 days from the commencement date of public exhibition during which 
submissions may be made to Council.    

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Cailin Martin, Crown Lands Manager 

15



Attachment A

Identification Plan –  
Local Government Area   

16



17



Attachment B

Identification Plan –  
Warrane Crown Lands Map      

18



19



Attachment C 

CBD Civic Spaces      

 

 

 

20



li  

CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 21



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 20 

4. Strategic context 23 

5. Community guiding principles 26 

6. Basis for Management 28 

7. Review of the plan 36 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 37 

8. General requirements 38 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 44 

10. Park category - authorisations 49 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 53 

12. Appendices 57 

 

22



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

 
 
Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces 15 

Figure 3. Summary land information 16 

Figure 4. Community land categorisation table 32 

Figure 5. Community land categories by reserve 33 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 49 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 50 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 53 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 55 

 

 

23



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

24



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

25



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

This Generic Plan addresses a series of Crown 
reserves that provide Civic Spaces within the 
central Sydney CBD. A Generic Plan is 
applicable to these spaces as they are small in 
footprint and exhibit similar characteristics and 
management requirements as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land  

– state the purposes for which the land will be 
used 

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

26



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

27



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

28



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

29



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City to take on the hard 

issues and use position to influence other 
organisations including other councils and 
government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– barriers to the practice of living culture 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

30



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to the CBD Civic Spaces 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject reserves. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

32



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for CBD Civic Spaces through past 
master planning (City North Public Domain Plan 
2015) and city-wide strategic planning (Open 
Space, Sports and Recreation Study 2016). This 
PoM references the City North Public Domain 
Plan as the current planning direction for the 
reserves. 

Location and description  
The CBD Civic Spaces are located within the 
central business district of Sydney bounded by 
Circular Quay in the north, Hyde Park to the 

south, York Street to the west and Macquarie 
Street and the Botanic Gardens to the east.   

These spaces serve the commercial core of the 
city and are heavily used for movement around 
the CBD in addition to respite from the urban 
environment.  

The study area includes some of Sydney’s oldest 
streets, including Bridge and Bent Street, as well 
as the traces of the Tank Stream at Macquarie 
Place. 

Refer to Figure 2 Site Plan. 

Figure 3 summarises key land information for the 
subject sites. 

 

 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces

  

2. Land description 

35



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Figure 3. Summary land information 
name res 

No. 
purpose lot DP zoning overall 

area 
category  notes 

Customs 
House 
Square 

49305 Access 7001 93667 RE1 807.91m2 General 
Community 
Use 

Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Farrer 
Place 

500445 Public 
Recreation 

7020 93666 RE1 124.75m2 General 
Community 
Use 

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Lang Park 500434 Public 
Recreation 

7304 1157738 RE1 2709.27m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Macquarie 
Place Park 

500036 Public 
Recreation 

7048 

1 / 48 

1 

93668 

758942 

838060 

RE1 3077.49m2 General 
Community 
Use / Park 

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Queens 
Square 

95486 Access 3 588101 RE1 59.92m2 General 
Community 
Use 

Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Queens 
Square 

95499 Public 
Recreation 

2 588101 RE1 2120.55m2 General 
Community 
Use 

Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

         

 
  

36



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Heritage and culture 
Overview 

The CBD Civic Spaces comprises of five public 
spaces managed by the City of Sydney:  

– Customs House Square 

– Farrer Place 

– Lang Park 

– Macquarie Park Place 

– Queens Square 

The Sydney basin area supported the Eora 
nation, comprised of more than 30 separate 
clans woven together across the region. 

When the eleven ships of the First Fleet with one 
thousand or so people stepped ashore and set 
up camp in Sydney Cove in January 1788—
having relocated from Botany Bay—it was the 
Gadigal people that they first encountered.  

The Gadigal initially confronted and made efforts 
to understand the colonisers and their intentions 
on Country. These exchanges are described in 
the surviving colonial accounts.  

Many places around the harbour remained 
important hunting, fishing and camping grounds 
long after settlement, and continue to be 
culturally significant today. 

Despite the impacts of first contact, Gadigal 
people and their ways of life and culture 
survived. As the town of Sydney developed into 
a city, the Gadigal were joined by other 
Aboriginal people from around NSW to live, work 
and forge relationships with the urban Aboriginal 
community. 

The CBD Civic Spaces evolved in different ways 
and at different times in the development of the 
city from Colonial times. 

Some of these open spaces were accidents of 
planning, such as the irregular street alignment 
around Farrer Place forming a former street and 
triangular park. Yet others were intentional 
spaces such as Lang Park, Queens Square, 
Customs House Square and Macquarie Place 
Park. 

Pocket parks within the City of Sydney provided 
open spaces for City residents and workers to 
get fresh air, contact with nature, exercise, rest 
and relaxation.  

 

 

Macquarie Park, dedicated in 1818, 
foreshadows efforts by the City Council to 
provide public reserves to mitigate the 
overcrowded and noxious conditions existing in 
the growing Victorian City.  

Following the 1909 Royal Commission for the 
Improvement of the City of Sydney and its 
Suburbs, the City Council embarked on a city 
beautification scheme which advocated street 
planting and the refurbishment of parks.  

The Council also addressed the grouping of 
royal statues at the entrance to Hyde Park 
including the statue of Queen Victoria which 
forms the centrepiece of Queens Square today. 

Each place has significant heritage values and is 
important to the people of Sydney.  Many of 
these parks have historic associations, aesthetic 
values and landmark qualities evidenced 
through design and various plantings and 
monuments. 

 

Overall Significance 
The five CBD Civic spaces comprising of 
Customs House Square, Farrer Place, Lang 
Park, Macquarie Park Place and Queens Square 
have collective significance as they evidence 
various attitudes towards public space and town 
planning and development within the City of 
Sydney.  

The various civic spaces illustrate the 
importance of dedicated public places and the 
continued evolution and achievements in the 
planning, services, design, construction, industry 
and growth of Sydney since Colonial times. 

Each site embodies its own unique historical 
significance and social significance for the 
people of Sydney as well as landmark qualities 
through various plantings and monuments. 

Farrer Place, Macquarie Place Park, Lang Park, 
and Queens Square all contain locally listed 
heritage items, City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (“LEP”). 

 

 
  

37



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Environment and landscape  
Following is an overview of the general 
characteristics of the CBD Civic Spaces.  
Specific reserve information sheets are included 
in the Appendix with more specific commentary 
on individual reserves. 

Four of the reserves subject to this PoM fall 
within the City North Public Domain precinct 
defined by the City of Sydney’s “City of Villages” 
– and based around key community main streets 
and centres of business activity. Lang Park is 
west of City North and is within the Western 
Corridor precinct. 

The study area includes some of Sydney’s oldest 
streets, including Bridge and Bent Street, as well 
as the traces of the Tank Stream at Macquarie 
Place. This area comprises the commercial core 
of the city and is characterised by large office 
buildings providing premium office space. 

Topography within the spaces is reflective of the 
surrounding landscape and ranges from flat at 
Customs House Square to steeply sloping at 
Lang Park and Farrer Place. Level changes in 
Macquarie Place Park and Queens Square are 
overcome by steps and low walls. 

Given their limited scale the character and 
amenity of the parks is strongly influenced by the 
adjoining streetscapes. Planting themes in the 
spaces are typical of the City of Sydney’s parks. 
Macquarie Place and Lang Park have retained 
some trees from 19th century plantings. The 
other spaces have tree plantings set within 
raised planters or tree pits. Supplementary 
planting is provided by the City of Sydney’s 
Living colour planter boxes which are changed 
seasonally. 

Reserve development 
The five CBD Civic Spaces comprising of 
Customs House Square, Farrer Place, Lang 
Park, Macquarie Park Place and Queens Square 
have evolved on diverse pathways within the 
city’s structure and fabric. 
Regardless the significance of these spaces to 
the function and amenity of the CBD has never 
been greater. 
In recent years the number of Development 
Applications for residential apartment buildings 

within the study area has increased, resulting in 
a growing residential population.  
This growth will result in increasing demand on 
the CBD’s limited open space resources (streets, 
parks and squares) for both recreational and 
movement purposes. 
Capital Works upgrades: 
Current planned upgrades as part of the City of 
Sydney’s 10 year capital works program include: 

– upgrade and renewal of Lang Park  

– upgrade and renewal of Queens Square  

 
Past studies and plans: 
– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 

Study 2016 

– City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

– Harbour Village North Public Domain Study 
2012 

– Gehl Architects Public Spaces Public Life 
2007 highlighted the need to improve City 
Centre public spaces to encourage use and 
activation 

– Macquarie Place Park Plan of Management 
1990 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 
The public purpose for the CBD Civic Spaces 
include: 

Public 
Recreation 

- Farrer Place 
- Lang Park 
- Macquarie Place Park 
- Queens Square 

Access - Customs House Square 
- Queens Square 

38



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Community usage 
The CBD Civic Spaces provide a variety of 
facilities and spaces for movement and informal 
uses which serve the local workforce, visitors 
and residents. 
A review of usage in the City North Public 
Domain Study, 2015 identified that the streets 
and public spaces are well-used in morning and 
afternoon peaks, and at lunchtime. The majority 
of workers within thee area move from transport 
hubs at Circular Quay and Wynyard and use the 
few small parks and plazas in the area for 
lunchtime and breaks.  
The growing residential population will 
progressively increase usage of these spaces 
outside of traditional workday peak times.  In 
addition, there is a growing demand for uses 
such as outdoor dining during the evenings and 
at weekends.  
Youth also represent an important user group, 
with Martin Place a popular destination for 
meeting and activities such as skateboarding.  
Located near key tourist destinations, such as 
The Rocks, Circular Quay and the Botanic 
Gardens, visitors are a common presence in the 
area and through the subject spaces 
Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
that the most popular activities undertaken in the 
CBD Civic spaces (by almost half of the 
respondents) were: 
– sitting and relaxing 
– eat lunch 
– walk through to get somewhere else 
followed by: 
– walking or running for exercise  
– sight-seeing/ enjoying the views  

– meeting with friends 

The majority (54%) of survey respondents were 
likely to work in the area followed by respondents 
who live nearby and visit the area (31%). 
Respondents were more likely to visit the spaces 

on a daily and weekly basis with the most 
popular time being in the afternoon (12pm-4pm). 
Morning and afternoon/evening were also noted 
as high usage times. 

Event use of spaces 
Many major events occur within the study area, 
with Circular Quay (including Customs House 
Square) one of the City of Sydney’s most sought-
after event locations. Smaller commercial and 
cultural events occur year-round, with major 
events such as New Year’s Eve and Vivid 
festival attracting large crowds and international 
attention. 

The following spaces have recorded use for 
events: 

– Customs House Square - has hosted 
exhibitions, charitable fundraising, 
promotional events, live performance, live 
site, festivals, ceremony, community 
consultation, and workshops. The City of 
Sydney registered a total of 25 events 
between 2016-19. Attendance levels are up 
to 2.5M visitors. The square hosts a number 
of major recurring events - Vivid and Bastille 
Festival: Food, Wine, Art, Revolution. 

– Farrer place – has hosted promotional 
events in the past. 

– Macquarie Place Park - has hosted 
community consultation, promotional events, 
and festivals. The City of Sydney registered 
a total 3 events in 2018 with no recurring 
events. Attendance have levels ranged from 
200-500. 

– Queens Square – has hosted festivals, 
Commemoration, and Live Performance 
events. The City of Sydney registered a total 
of 4 events between 2015-19. Attendance 
levels has ranged up to 1,000 people. 

The adjoining streets to the reserves are highly 
trafficked by pedestrians during major city 
events. 

  

39



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

Ownership and management 
The CBD Civic Spaces are Crown reserves 
owned by the State of New South Wales. The 
City of Sydney is the Crown land manager 
responsible for management of the reserves.  
Refer to Section 2, page 16 for further property 
details. 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– what type of development is exempt or 
complying development 

Of relevance to the CBD Civic Spaces is Clause 
65 that specifies that development for any 
purpose may be carried out without consent if 
the development is for the purposes of 
implementing an adopted PoM. The clause also 
lists a range of ancillary developments permitted 
without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

40



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

The CBD Civic Spaces are zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– the undertaking of major earthworks 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

41



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local, State and National heritage listings. 

 

42



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

43



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 
old people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

− Macleay Street – Woolloomooloo will have an 
increase in other families, followed by one 
parent families 

− Oxford Street will have an increase in other 
families, followed by lone person households 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 

Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− work related business 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

 
 

 

44



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 
  

45



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

The City of Sydney 
acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

46



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

47



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Values and roles of the CBD 
Civic spaces 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the civic spaces that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- Places which signpost and celebrate local, 
natural, and cultural history 

- Small scale retreats for the city 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- Places connected to the CBD and its public 
domain 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and 
use 

- Places that are clear, easy and safe to 
move around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- City spaces accessible from public 
transport 

- Spaces that are not compromised by 
parking and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- Places of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Places providing outdoor dining 

- Spaces and facilities that support youth use 
of the places 

- Places that recognise and celebrate First 
Nations living culture 

- Places for city events 

- Places that are open and usable by all 
members of community 

- Safe spaces to visit day and night 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Heritage toilet structures 

- Kiosks 

- Urban elements support the use of spaces 
and create an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are cool, calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to 
the park setting and habitat 

- Places exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- Places exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- Places exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- Places that strengthen First Nations people 
and living culture 

6. Basis for 
Management 

48



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

- Places which are a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- Places that provide the community access 
to cultural expression and awareness 
through arts and culture 

- Places that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- Places that provide a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- Spaces that recognise and address their 
future urban context 

- To provide well-maintained civic spaces 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 
  

49



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Open space classification and 
rationale for this plan 
The Crown reserves subject to this PoM form a 
diverse but complimentary group of open spaces 
within the City North Public Domain area within 
the CBD. 

The reserves are also generally classified as 
“Neighbourhood” spaces under the City of 
Sydney’s Open Space Sports Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 – Volume 5 appendices - “Open 
Space Hierarchy Classifications”.   

The exception is Queens Square which is 
classified as “Local”. 

The geographic clustering of the spaces 
provides a strong rationale for their grouping 
under this Generic Plan.   

This is reinforced by the desirability of managing 
these spaces in a coordinated and cohesive 
manner given their interaction and inter-reliance 
from a usage and public domain perspective. 

 
Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purposes for the subject Crown 
reserves are Public Recreation and Access. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

The table (figure 5, page 33) identifies 
community land categorisations in the context of 
the Crown reserves. 

 

Current / existing use 
Council has established initial categorisations for 
the CBD Civic Spaces in accordance with Crown 
Land requirements.  The Council Crown Land 
Manager Fact Sheet identifies that Councils 
should apply initial categorisation based on 
existing/current use of the reserve only. The 
initial categorisation cannot be based on 
proposed or future use.  These initial 
categorisations for the CBD Civic Spaces have 
been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For the CBD Civic Spaces there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For CBD Civic Spaces, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

 

50



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 4) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
CBD Civic Spaces. Under the guidelines for 
each category, their interpretation and 
application to CBD Civic Spaces is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

51



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

Figure 4. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to CBD Civic Spaces 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities providing for social 
recreational and community uses 

 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

  

52



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Figure 5. Community land categories by reserve 
name res 

No. 
purpose overall area category  

Customs House 
Square 

49305 Access 807.91m2 General Community Use 

Farrer Place 500445 Public Recreation 124.75m2 General Community Use 

Lang Park 500434 Public Recreation 2709.27m2 Park 

Macquarie Place 
Park 

500036 Public Recreation 3077.49m2 General Community Use / Park 

Queens Square 95486 Access 59.92m2 General Community Use 

Queens Square 95499 Public Recreation 2120.55m2 General Community Use 

     

 

 

 
  

53



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for the CBD Civic Spaces through 
past master planning (City North Public Domain 
Plan 2015) and city-wide strategic planning 
(Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study).  

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of the CBD Civic Spaces as defined through 
these planning and design directions. 

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 – 
Guiding Directions (relevant to the spaces 
within this PoM) 

Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability. 
– Creating clear, legible and clutter-free routes 

along the City of Sydney’s north-south 
streets will contribute to the walkability of the 
city and allow improved access to public 
spaces and transport interchange.  

– Enhancing the strong north-south corridors 
with finer-grain, meandering east-west 
streets and lanes creates a connected and 
permeable network. 

Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified square 
from the building edge to the water 
– One of the keys aims of Sydney’s 2030 vision 

is to establish Circular Quay as one of the 
City of Sydney’s premier public spaces, 
linking the city to the water. The long-term 
vision of a unified Circular Quay underpins 
this plan. 

Create a linked series of park and garden 
spaces and upgrade existing open spaces 
– Preserving and upgrading our existing parks 

will help them cater to the increased usage 
that will come with the growing city 
population.  

– In City North there is the opportunity to link 
existing pockets of green space with 
avenues of street tree planting, in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s Street 
Tree Master Plan, creating a high-quality 
green network. 

Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain. 
– Active building uses that spill out into the 

public domain can help activate currently 
underused areas and can provide places for 
people to stop and enjoy the city.  

– These uses are important to increase 
amenity in open spaces, near parks and to 
provide services near transport hubs.  

– High quality active edges are important to 
define the character of significant places 
such as Circular Quay and Martin Place. 

Site specific objectives: 
– Customs House Square  

Create a cohesive and robust public domain 
backdrop to one of Sydney’s most important 
historic, cultural, and social interchanges. 
Critically the objective is to link Alfred Street 
to a wider vision of the “Water Square” tying 
Alfred Street and its associated spaces with 
Circular Quay. 

– Farrar Place  
Enliven and activate Farrer Place to make it 
more comfortable and inviting and allow free 
pedestrian movement. 

City North Streetscapes and Spaces - 
Concept Design Masterplan 
The following concept design information for the 
City North Streetscape and Spaces is 
referenced as further guiding direction for key 
spaces. 

The Concept Vision aims to celebrate the unique 
location through ‘the water mark’, a notional line 
that defines the historic demarcation of the water 
from the city.  

Using this as a guiding vision the project refines 
these key city spaces and street into an 
uncluttered, legible and world class civic space. 

The Master Plan - Clear Legible Poetic 
A.  Clearly defined spaces, that encourage 

ease of movement and activation. 

B.  Clear north-south views and pedestrian 
movement and a more meandering east-
west movement through immersive, green 
and engaging spaces. 

54



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

C.  Revealing and celebrating the poetics of the 
place. 

Concepts relevant to this PoM include: 

– Custom Square: Creation of “Water Square” 
through consistent paving, de-cluttering, and 
consolidation of tree planting.  

– Macquarie Place Park: Upgrade of 
Macquarie Place, celebrating and revealing 
Sydney’s first public space.  

– Farrar Place: Beautification of Farrer Place 
through replanting, bespoke kiosks, and 
paving treatments.  

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 
2016 
Small Parks Upgrade Program 
These parks are an important component of the 
network providing convenient short stay 
recreation opportunities within a 10 minute walk 
from most residences.  

The range of capital improvements undertaken 
in this program include replacement and 
upgrade of play equipment, softfall, park 
furniture, shade structures, paths, lighting, 
tree/landscape planting and turf works.  

Works currently listed under the small parks 
upgrade program include:  

– Lang Park – Master Plan to be prepared. 
Park Renewal for improved use, connectivity 
and activation as part of the City of Sydney’s 
10 year capital works program. 

City Centre Public Space Upgrade Program 
The City Centre Public Domain Plan will direct 
the improvement activation and provision of 
public spaces for social activities and better 
pedestrian amenity. In addition, spaces for 
people to undertake lunch time sport and 
children to play also need to be key strategic 
outcomes. Improvements to existing spaces 
were identified within the series of public domain 
plans. 

Key Directions/Projects include: 

– Queens Square implementation of the 
above. 

 

  

55



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– new opportunities for future upgrades 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 
  

7. Review of the plan 

56



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

57



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within CBD Civic Spaces and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of the CBD Civic Spaces. The 
outcomes seek to conserve and enhance the 
values of the CBD Civic Spaces and address 
management challenges and opportunities 
identified by the community and City. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 
structures and spaces at the CBD Civic Spaces 

will be considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

58



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of the CBD Civic Spaces. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– the inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 

consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at the CBD Civic Spaces may 
also be prohibited by the applicable land use 
zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 
activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 
be communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at the CBD Civic 
Spaces must consider the needs of and impacts 
on residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at the 
CBD Civic Spaces which may attract high 
numbers of people including one-off community 
events and performances. 

59



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across the CBD Civic Spaces and 
settings (such as playgrounds, fitness stations 
and park seating) will be determined by the 
community use of the site but will be managed to 
avoid undue impacts on park fabric and 
environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures; 
and 

– Maintenance and management of the 
reserves. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the reserves need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 

projects may be partly funded through NSW 
Government grant allocations, which may 
involve matching funding from Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Reserve revenue – income from the reserve 
is generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the reserves. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land, 
such as the CBD Civic Spaces is authorised by 
section 3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

60



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– if development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993) 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– be in accordance with all Council policies and 
procedures governing the use of open space 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
the CBD Civic Spaces. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

61



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical requirements and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

62



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City to use a sports field, oval or court and 
comply with the City’s Terms and Conditions 
of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this Plan 
of Management, and shall be subject to the 
following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  
 
An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.  

63



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for the CBD Civic Spaces, 
including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the 
City of Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning 
and description that 
reflects connection to 
place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description 

1.2 Places which signpost 
and celebrate local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 Small scale retreats for 
the city 

• To ensure CBD Civic 
Spaces offer a diverse 
experience of retreat / 
respite 

Conserve and maintain the 
capacity of the spaces to provide 
retreats from the adjoining street  

Targeted user surveys 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 Places connected to the 
CBD and its public 
domain 

• To improve pedestrian 
connectivity 

Review opportunities to improve 
connectivity between the civic 
spaces and adjoining precincts 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
reserve access. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage for 
park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of 
park, measured by 
observation 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.3 Places that are clear, 
easy and safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes 
and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 
Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance 
with Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate 
lighting to support desired 
night access, recreational 
and leisurely use of open 
space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.5 City spaces accessible 
from public transport 

• To limit impacts of public 
transport infrastructure on 
amenity and character 

Review opportunities to reduce 
impacts of transport on quality and 
safety of spaces   

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
transport and safety. 
Regularly review of register 
to guide future directions 
 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

64



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.6 Spaces that are not 
compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Ensure that the use of vehicles, 
when permitted in parks are 
regulated and do not affect the 
normal functioning of these 
spaces for community use 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 
Where feasible, investigate and 
implement appropriate access 
control infrastructure in 
accordance with Australia’s 
Strategy for Protecting Crowded 
Places from Terrorism (Customs 
House Square) 

Reduced pedestrian, 
cyclist and vehicle 
conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 Places of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible 
and informal use spaces 
that are attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community 
benefit 
 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Places providing 
outdoor dining 

• To provide flexible and 
adaptable activation of 
spaces through small-scale 
outdoor dining opportunities 
compliments the individual 
spaces 

Provide flexible multi-purpose 
spaces for outdoor dining in 
appropriate locations 
Review existing agreements at 
expiry to determine most effective 
outdoor dining approach and 
infrastructure for future use of 
space 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of licences 
Sustained relationship with 
City Planning 
 
 

3.3 Spaces and facilities 
that support youth use 
of the places 

• To sustainably respond to 
youth needs for gathering 
and activity spaces 

Investigate opportunities to support 
youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth 
participation measured by 
survey and observation 

3.4 Places that recognise 
and celebrate First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies 
and procedures  
 

3.5 Places for city events • To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural and 
community outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of civic 
spaces and in consideration of 
other uses 
Develop new and maintain existing 
guidelines for event use of civic 
spaces defining: 
- usable area and capacity 
- other specific event 

management approval 
requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 
Developed guidelines 
Ongoing review and 
compliance 
 

3.6 Places that are open 
and usable by all 
members of community 

• That the civic spaces are 
managed as part of a 
coordinated compassionate 
approach across the city to 
assisting homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regular review of register 
to guide future directions 

65



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.7 Safe spaces to visit day 
and night 

• To ensure the reserves 
provide a safe place to visit 
and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of 
facilities and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in reserves 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 
Sustained relationship with 
local police 
 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Built Structures 

4.1 Heritage toilet structures • To provide a sustainable 
future for heritage toilets 
contributing to community 
activity and use in area 

Investigate the viability of an 
adaptive reuse for the Rotunda that 
activates the eastern portion of the 
park  
  

Completed study on 
adaptive reuse 

4.2 Kiosks  • To provide kiosk activations 
that seamlessly contribute 
to the space and mitigate 
impacts on access and 
other uses 

Where feasible, investigate the 
relocation of kiosks to more 
appropriate locations to enable 
greater reserve activation 

Increased use of civic 
spaces measured through 
observation 
 

Urban furniture 

4.3 Urban elements support 
the use of spaces and 
create an attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of reserves while 
avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew reserve 
furniture and other elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

Underground infrastructure 

4.4 Underground 
infrastructure  

• To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements 
are effectively integrated 
into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use 
and facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Maintained relationship 
with authorities 
Limited disruption to 
reserve usage 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management & urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 
Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 
Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects the 
original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground  

Monitoring of natural 
habitat 

66



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and participation in 
the preservation of greenspace 
and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open space 
works 
Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 Places that are cool, 
calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to create 
new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum 
health for their safe and 
practical lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment 
of new trees as measured 
by arborist’s survey  
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.7 Places exhibiting water 
sensitive urban design 

• To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  

 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 
 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 Places exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.9 Places exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away 
from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 Places that strengthen 
First Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 Places which are a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

67



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.3 Places that provide the 
community access to 
cultural expression and 
awareness through arts 
and culture 

• To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic and 
creative expression that is 
sustainable in the context 
of existing character and 
use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 
Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public 
art. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
direction 
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

6.4 Places that connects the 
community to the city’s 
past and present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the site and 
add to the experience and 
use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 
 
 
 

Places that provide a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
park setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Spaces that recognise 
and address their future 
urban context 

• To ensure that the CBD 
Civic Spaces leverage 
adjoining development 
positively for the benefit of 
the space and its users 

Monitor adjoining developments to 
ensure that the integrity of the civic 
spaces are conserved and 
enhanced  
Monitor opportunities to enhance 
activation to civic spaces through 
complimentary uses to adjoining 
developments (e.g. food and 
beverage), art, interpretation, and 
greening 

Sustained relationship with 
City Planning Teams 

7.2 To provide well-
maintained civic spaces 

• To provide well-maintained 
open space 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.3 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits  

7.4 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

 

 
 

68



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 6 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the CBD Civic Spaces 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

69

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 7 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the CBD Civic Spaces in accordance 
with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

70



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

71

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this plan of management in Introduction 
to Part B for criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 
 
 
  

72



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 8 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the CBD Civic Spaces 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

73

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

  

74



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 9 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the  CBD Civic 
Spaces in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

75

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
  

76



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures 

 

 
  

12. Appendices 

77



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

References 
 

– City North Public Domain Plan 2015  

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

78



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Reserve Information Sheets 
 

 

 
  

79



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

CUSTOM HOUSE SQUARE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 31A Alfred Street, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R49305, Access, 1/10/1913 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 807.91m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7001 DP 93667 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
General Community Use 

Buildings Shade structures 

Leases / licences  
 
 
 

Outdoor Dining Licence 
Quay Bar, 5 years expiry 
31/03/2016 (holdover) 

heritage and cultural values 
First Nations significance: 
• Associated with place of first contact 
• Camping place for First Nations people up until 1880s 
• Place for commerce and trade 
• Connection to fresh water and harbour 

 
Key Heritage elements: 
• Forecourt position to the former customs house 
• Ground inlay interpretation of shoreline.  
• 14 London Plane Trees (not listed om the City of Sydney 

Significant Tree register  
• Historical archaeological potential  

Note – little original fabric relating to the development of 
this area appears to remain above ground. Its significance 
as a reserve stems from its association with early town 
planning, with little physical evidence remaining due to 
many redevelopments and upgrades of the public domain 
across the wider Circular Quay and Alfred Street area. 

 
environmental and landscape values 
• Customs House Square is the forecourt to one of Sydney’s 

most significant heritage buildings  

 

 

• It is currently separated from surrounding spaces by roads 
to the east and west, and by a stepdown to a closed portion 
of Alfred Street to the north.  

• The square is defined by rows of Chinese Elms and large 
outdoor bar/ cafe tenancies flanking the east and west 
sides of the space.  
 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1913 
•  

facilities  use condition 

Shade 
Structures 

General Public Fair to Good 

Plaza Furniture 
– seating  

General Public Fair to Good 

Plaza Furniture 
– Lighting 

General Public Fair to Good 

reserve usage 

• Seating, walk through (pedestrian and cycling access) 
• important public gathering and events space in its own 

right 
• Events (Exhibition, charitable fundraising, promotional 

event, live performance, live site, festival, ceremony, 
community consultation, launch, workshop) 

• Major recurring events - Vivid and Bastille Festival, Food, 
Wine, Art, Revolution 

 

80



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

FARRER PLACE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Bent Street cnr Young, 
Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500445, Public Recreation, 
21/12/1866 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 124.75m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7020 DP 93666 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
General Community Use 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

Short-term licence for access 
in negotiation for Built Pty Ltd 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• 3 Washington Palms (listed on the City of Sydney 

Significant Tree Register) 
• 1 London Plane Tree  
• 3 circular raised garden beds with concrete plinths. 

Garden beds also contain several Cabbage Palms. 
These add to the landscaping of the otherwise 
hardscaped area however are not of historical 
significance to the park.  

• Area of historical archaeological potential (City of Sydney 
Archaeological Zoning Plan) 

environmental and landscape values 
• Farrer Place is a triangular public space bordered by 

Bent Street, Governor Macquarie Tower and the 
Education Department building.  

• Steeply sloping predominantly hard paved plaza space.  
• The palm plantings are significant in terms of their visual, 

aesthetic and historic values.  
• An Energy Australia substation is located beneath Farrer 

Place. 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1866 

 
 

facilities  use condition 

Hardstand with 
3x concrete 
planter features 
with seating 

General Public Fair to good 

Kiosk (in road 
reserve) 

General Public Fair to Good 

   

reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Seating, walk through (pedestrian and cycling access) 
• Small events (promotional events) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

81



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

LANG PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 1 Lang Street, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500434, Public Recreation, 
24/12/1866 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 2709.27m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7304 DP 1157738 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
Park 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• St Phillips Church Plaque (installed by RAHS 1942) 
• First Methodist Church plaque 
• Replicated Gas Light, 125th anniversary of the first 

lighting by gas on 24 May 1841 (installed 24 May 1966) 
• Sandstone fountain and bronze plaque to Alderman 

Patrick Nolan (installed 1904) 
• 3 Moreton Bay Figs 
• 1 Hoop Pine 
• 1 Cliff Date Palm 
• 1 White Oak 
• Area of historical archaeological potential (City of Sydney 

Archaeological Zoning Plan) 

 

environmental and landscape values 
• Triangular shaped reserve at junction of busy inner city 

street network 
• A steeply sloping landform reflective of the adjacent 

natural topography, challenging to achieve universal 
access/gradients within the park 

• Mature tree plantings – Ficus and Plane trees 
• Lang Park has a mixture of monuments/ memorials 

scattered around park 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1866 

 

facilities  use condition 

Public Toilets 
(kiosk) 

General Public Average (3) 

Nolan Memorial 
fountain 

n/a Good (2) 

Park Furniture – 
Seating  

General Public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture –
Lighting 

General Public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture –
Signage 

General Public Fair to Good 

Pavements General Public Fair to Good 

reserve usage 

• Place to sit, eat lunch, relax 
• Walk through 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

82



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

MACQUARIE PLACE PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 36 Bridge Street, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500036, Public Recreation, 
5/10/1866 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 3077.49m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7048 DP 93668 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
General Community Use/ 
Park 

Buildings Heritage toilets (closed) 

Leases / licences  
 

Outdoor Dining Licences: 
Cellar Management 
3 years, expiry 23/08/19 
(holdover) 
Little Dragon Trust 
7.58 years, expiry 26/06/25 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• Macquarie Obelisk 
• Anchor and cannon from HMS ‘Sirius’ 
• Statue of TS Mort 
• Canopy drinking fountain 
• Former Men’s lavatory / under Ground Conveniences 

(filled in) 
• Sandstone gate piers and curbing on Bridge Street 
• Small bronze sculpture by Gerald Lewers 
• 2 Moreton Bay Figs 
• 3 London Planes 
• 1 Holm Oak 
• 1 Cliff Date Palm 
• 1 Hills Weeping Fig 
• Area of historical archaeological potential (City of Sydney 

Archaeological Zoning Plan) 

 
environmental and landscape values 
• In spite of its difficult geometry, shaded environment and 

predominance of memorials, is well used as a break-out 
space by surrounding office workers. 

• Level changes are overcome by steps and low walls 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1866 

 

facilities  use condition 

Heritage public 
Toilets (closed) 

General Public Very Poor (5) 

Permanent public art (x6)  

The Distance of 
Your Heart – 
Macquarie Pl 

n/a Excellent (1) 

Obelisk of 
Distances 

n/a Good (2) 

Sirius Anchor n/a Average (3) 

Sirius Canon n/a Average (3) 

John Christie 
Wright Memorial 

n/a Good (2) 

Canopy 
Fountain 

n/a Average (3) 

Water feature n/a Fair to Good 

reserve usage 

• Place to sit, eat lunch, walk through 
• Events - Community consultation, promotional events, 

festivals  

83



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

QUEENS SQUARE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 243 Macquarie Street, 
Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R95486, Access, 3/7/1981 
R95499, Public Recreation 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 59.92m2, 2120.55m2 

Lot & DP Lot 3 DP 588101 
Lot 2 DP 588101 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
General Community Use 
 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Near important ceremonial location for Aboriginal 

peoples 
Key Heritage elements: 
• Queen Victoria Statue 
• Area of historical archaeological potential (City of Sydney 

Archaeological Zoning Plan) 
• Part of the cultural landscape of Hyde Park, Hyde Park 

Barracks and St Mary’s Cathedral and visually connected 
to these elements 

environmental and landscape values 
• Predominantly hard paved plaza space as forecourt to 

Law Courts and church 
• Level changes Queens Square are overcome by steps 

and low walls 
• Tree plantings set tree pits. Supplementary planting is 

provided by the City’s Living colour planter boxes which 
are changed seasonally 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1981 

 

facilities  use condition 

Entrance to 
Museum Station 

General Public Fair to Good 

Hardstand General Public Fair to Good 

Public Art 
(statues) 

n/a Fair to Good 

Kiosk (road 
reserve) 

General Public Fair to Good 

Substation 
(located on 
adjoining 
roadway)   

General Public  

Park Furniture - 
Seating 

General Public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - 
Lighting 

General Public Fair to Good 

reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Place to site, walk through 
• Events - Festival, Commemoration, Live Performance. 

 

 

84



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Heritage summary information for CBD Civic Spaces 
 
name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

Customs House Square • Sydney’s Customs 
House opened on 17 
April 1845 and was home 
to the Australian Customs 
Service for 145 years. It 
dominated the waterfront 
as a symbol of British 
power over sea and 
trade. 

• The present site of 
Customs House and 
Customs House Square, 
on reclaimed land 
straddling the original 
high-water mark, and 
bounded by the First 
Government House 
gardens to the rear, was 
selected in the early 
1840s. Customs House 
was prominently sited to 
take advantage of the 
shipping at Circular Quay 

• After Federation in 1901, 
the Customs department 
and Customs House 
came under federal 
government control. 

• Customs House became 
separated from its natural 
relationship with the 
harbour when the 
Circular Quay Railway 
Station and Cahill 
Expressway was built in 
the 1950s. 

The forecourt was a paved 
space in front of Customs 
House for many years. A 
former tram/ bus shelter was 
also located in this area. 

Customs House Square has 
historic value and likely to be 
of social significance to 
Sydneysiders.  
Customs House Square 
occupies a commanding 
position at a major civic and 
maritime gateway. It was 
formerly associated with the 
Landing Place of the First 
Fleet.  The square is 
associated with Customs 
House which is a physical 
reminder of the importance 
of Circular Quay as the 
original maritime and civic 
centre for the colony.  
Customs House Square 
provides evidence of early 
town planning and land 
reclamation. The square 
has a longstanding history 
as a public place of 
gathering and likely to have 
social significance for the 
people of Sydney.  
The open square allows for 
views to Customs House 
and surrounding heritage 
items including AMP Tower 
and Circular Quay Station.   

The potential archaeological 
resource is significant due to 
its ability to provide physical 
evidence relating to the 
history of European 
settlement with respect to 
evolution, association, 
research potential and 
rarity. This would include 
evidence of structures and 
environmental conditions 
relating to the first 
settlement of the colony, its 
use as part of the 
Government Domain 
(Macquarie wall), landmark 
qualities and early town 
planning. The construction 
and use of the 1844 Lewis 
Customs House and later 
Barnet rebuilding 
demonstrate the importance 
and evolution of the 
Customs department. The 
potential to identify and 
record aboriginal cultural 

• Forecourt position to the 
former customs house 

• Ground inlay 
interpretation of 
shoreline.  

• 14 London Plane Trees 
(not listed om the City of 
Sydney Significant Tree 
register  

• Historical archaeological 
potential  

Note – little original fabric 
relating to the development 
of this area appears to 
remain above ground. Its 
significance as a reserve 
stems from its association 
with early town planning, 
with little physical evidence 
remaining due to many 
redevelopments and 
upgrades of the public 
domain across the wider 
Circular Quay and Alfred 
Street area. 

85



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

material is rare and of high 
research and social 
significance. 

Farrer Place • A drinking fountain was 
erected near this site in 
1816 by Governor 
Macquarie (Bent Street 
Fountain). It was 
removed in 1905 to make 
way for electric trams. 

• The triangular parcel of 
land was formalised in 
1866 and Fountain Street 
formed. The roadway 
was renamed Raphael 
Street in c1880 after 
Joseph Raphael, an 
alderman in the 1860's 
and 1870's, MLA and 
philanthropist. A fountain 
was erected in this 
location by the early 
1900s. 

Raphael Street was 
renamed Farrer Place in 
1935 to honour William 
Farrer, the pioneer wheat 
breeder, and its proximity to 
the Department of 
Agriculture Building 

Farrer Place contains a 
group of three Washington 
Palms (Washingtonia 
robusta). The park forms an 
important part of the City’s 
public open space and is 
scheduled in the City of 
Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 
and Sydney City Heritage 
Study. The palms are 
significant in terms of their 
visual, aesthetic and historic 
values. 

• 3 Washington Palms 
(listed on the City of 
Sydney Significant Tree 
Register) 

• 1 London Plane Trees  
• 3 circular raised garden 

beds with concrete 
plinths. Garden beds 
contain several Cabbage 
Palms.  These add to the 
landscaping of the 
otherwise hardscaped 
area however are not of 
historical significance to 
the park.  

Area of historical 
archaeological potential 
(City of Sydney 
Archaeological Zoning Plan) 

Lang Park • Site of Sydney's first 
clock tower 1797-1802 
incorporated with St 
Phillips Church from 
1798.  

• St Phillips Church 
completed in 1807 under 
Governor Bligh's 
direction.  

• Church dismantled in 
1857.  

Dedicated as a park in 1866 
prior to which the land was 
known as ‘Lang's Triangle’ 
because of Rev Lang’s 
association with the earlier 
Scots Church. 

Lang Park has local 
significance for its historic, 
social, aesthetic, and 
associative values.  
Lang Park derives its 
significance from its 
dedication as one of the 
early urban parks in 1866 
and its association with the 
earlier Scot’s Church. The 
park is named after Rev 
John Dunmore Lang, the 
first Presbyterian minister in 
Australia who laid the 
foundation stone for Scots 
Church opposite the park. 
The park is considered as a 
northern gateway to Central 
Sydney and provides a 
visual relief in this highly 
developed area. 

The Park is an important 
space within the public 
domain and fabric of Central 
Sydney. The Park is of a 
Victorian layout and 
features several plaques 
and monuments 

• St Phillips Church Plaque 
(installed by RAHS 1942) 

• First Methodist Church 
plaque 

• Replicated Gas Light, 
125th anniversary of the 
first lighting by gas on 24 
May 1841 (installed 24 
May 1966) 

• Sandstone fountain and 
bronze plaque to 
Alderman Patrick Nolan 
(installed 1904) 

• 3 Moreton Bay Figs 
• 1 Hoop Pine 
• 1 Cliff Date Palm 
• 1 White Oak 

Area of historical 
archaeological potential 
(City of Sydney 
Archaeological Zoning Plan) 

Macquarie Place Park Macquarie Place was 
formalised as open space 
by Governor Macquarie in 

Macquarie Place represents 
one of the most historically 
significant urban spaces in 

• Macquarie Obelisk 
• Anchor and cannon from 

HMS ‘Sirius’ 

86



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

1818 when he erected an 
obelisk erected to measure 
distances in colony. A 
sandstone Doric fountain 
was erected in 1819. 
Sandstone gate piers and 
curbing in Bridge Street 
were erected in 1869. 
The HMS ‘Sirius’ anchor 
and cannon were erected in 
the park in 1907. The 
following year a men’s 
lavatory was built 
underground here. 
The Statue of TS Mort by 
Pierce Francis Connelly was 
installed in Macquarie Place 
in 1883. 
Two Plane Trees were 
planted in the Loftus/Hunter 
Street corner of the park by 
Queen Elizabeth II and 
Duke of Edinburgh in 1954 
to mark the start of 
Remembrance Driveway 
from Sydney to Canberra. 
Gerald Lewers sculpted a 
small bronze fountain in 
honour of sculptor John 
Christie Wright in 1960. 

The Park was enlarged in 
1970s by the closure of 
Macquarie Place (Street). 
About the same time the 
canopy drinking fountain 
was relocated here. 

Sydney and Australia, which 
was first established less 
than 25 years after the 
arrival of the First Fleet. The 
1810 park and its later 
monuments outline the 
development of Sydney 
since its colonial foundation. 
Macquarie Place was the 
first and main town square 
of colonial Sydney and is a 
surviving remnant of the first 
town centre of Sydney 
beside First Government 
House (now demolished) 
and on the original 
foreshores of Sydney Cove 
before the shoreline was 
extended. The Obelisk, 
erected in Macquarie Place 
in 1818, is the geographic 
centre point of nineteenth 
century Sydney, the Colony, 
and the network of 
nineteenth century roads 
throughout NSW. It was 
erected in this location by 
Governor Macquarie to 
mark the place from where 
all public roads were to be 
measured and has 
continued to perform this 
function over most of the 
history of European 
settlement in Australia, for 
over 190 years. The park 
and monument were well 
recognised landmarks of 
colonial Sydney and 
appeared in many 
nineteenth century artist 
views, including paintings by 
Conrad Martens. 
Although the original 
importance of Macquarie 
Place as the main town 
square of Sydney, the 
geographic and symbolic 
centre of the Colony, the 
setting to First Government 
House and the landmark 
qualities of Obelisk are now 
less apparent than in 
Colonial times due to the 
level of surrounding 
changes, the park and its 
monuments remain one of 
the few tangible links to this 
first Colonial town centre 
and thereby part of the 
earliest history of European 
settlement in Australia. It is 
also possibly the only 
remnant of the natural 
landform of the original 
foreshores of Sydney Cove 

• Statue of TS Mort 
• Canopy drinking fountain 
• Former Men’s lavatory / 

under Ground 
Conveniences (filled in) 

• Sandstone gate piers and 
curbing on Bridge Street 

• Small bronze sculpture 
by Gerald Lewers 

• 2 Moreton Bay Figs 
• 3 London Planes 
• 1 Holm Oak 
• 1 Cliff Date Palm 
• 1 Hills Weeping Fig 
• Area of historical 

archaeological potential 
(City of Sydney 
Archaeological Zoning 
Plan) 

 

87



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

which has survived 
relatively unchanged over 
two centuries of European 
settlement and can 
therefore symbolise the first 
place of meeting between 
Aboriginal people of the 
Eora Country and British 
settlers at Sydney Cove in 
1788. 
Macquarie Place represents 
the oldest planned town 
square in Australia. 
Together with Hyde Park, it 
is also the oldest urban park 
in Australia, and has been in 
continuous use as a public 
space for at least 195 years, 
possibly operating as a 
public place of gathering 
from as early as 1791. The 
Obelisk is the oldest 
milestone for measuring of 
roads in Australia and the 
second oldest known 
European monument in 
Australia. The inscriptions 
on the Obelisk provide 
evidence of the extent of the 
small colony in 1818 when 
the colony was first 
expanding into the interior of 
New South Wales. The 
Obelisk was also the 
'symbolic peg' indicating the 
far extent of the British 
Empire in the early 1800s. 
Macquarie Place and the 
Obelisk are rare surviving 
evidence of the transition of 
the Colony from a rough 
penal settlement to a 
planned town during the 
early 1800s under the 
direction of Governor 
Macquarie. This transition is 
demonstrated by the 
function of the Obelisk in the 
expansion of the Colony, by 
the establishment of a 
formal centre to the Colony, 
by the first formal layout of 
public space, and by the 
quality and design of the 
park and monument. The 
Obelisk and Macquarie 
Place are fine examples of 
the layout and 
ornamentation of Sydney 
town and its public spaces in 
the Georgian style, and rare 
surviving remnants of 
Macquarie's Georgian town 
plan for Sydney, together 
with the Hyde Park 
Barracks, St James Church, 

88



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

and First Government 
House Stables (now the 
Conservatorium). The 
Obelisk was designed by 
one of the most celebrated 
architects of the Colonial 
period, Francis Greenway, 
and was built by 
stonemason, Edward 
Cureton, with convict labour. 
These qualities of the 
Obelisk and Macquarie 
Place symbolise 
Macquarie's vision for a 
permanent planned 
settlement, which provided 
the genesis for the 
development of the nation, 
and which far exceeded the 
views of the British 
Government of the Colony 
as simply a penal 
settlement. When the 
Obelisk was first erected in 
Macquarie Place, 
Commissioner Bigge, 
representing the British 
Government, found even 
this simple monument too 
grand for a penal colony. 
Governor Macquarie 
defended the expense and 
design of the monument 
with indignation as a "little 
unadorned 
Obelisk...rendered at a 
trifling expense, somewhat 
ornamental to the Town" 
which in his view did not 
"merit any censure". It was 
this difference of opinion 
that contributed to the 
resignation of a disillusioned 
Governor Macquarie and 
meant that many of his plans 
and Greenway's designs for 
an elegant Georgian 
township were not realised. 
The "Sirius" cannon and 
anchor mounted in 
Macquarie Place are rare 
relics of the first defences of 
the Colony by the man-of-
war flagship of the First 
Fleet that arrived in Sydney 
Cove in 1788. Both the 
cannon and anchor have 
been mounted in Macquarie 
Place for over a century 
after the canon and anchor 
were salvaged from the 
wreck of the vessel in 1791 
and 1905 respectively and 
mounted at Macquarie 
Place in the 1880s and 
1907. Macquarie Place is 

89



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

also the site of the first 
constructed defences of 
Sydney Cove when the First 
Redoubt was built at its 
northern end as the first 
fortification of Sydney from 
1788-1791. 

Later public monuments and 
structures constructed in 
Macquarie Place illustrate 
the continued civic 
importance of the park and 
demonstrate the continued 
evolution and achievements 
in the civic planning, 
services, design, 
construction, industry and 
growth of Sydney since 
Colonial times. 

Queens Square • Queens Square was the 
former site of Chancery 
Square (1888). King 
Street once ran through 
the current square to 
Macquarie Street. Square 
formed in the early 19th 
century as the formal 
space between the two 
Greenway buildings; 
Hyde Park Barracks and 
St James Church. The 
Statue of Queen Victoria 
was installed on main 
axis in 1888.  

• In 1908 the Queen 
Victoria Statue was 
vested in Council and 
moved 26 yards from its 
original position to the 
centre of Queens Square. 

• In 1911 the Council 
negotiated with St James 
Church to acquire 
sufficient property at the 
corner of the church to 
provide a better sweep to 
the roadway from the 
direction of the Comrie 
Fountain towards Phillips 
Street where a 
dangerous turn has to be 
made by the traffic at 
Queens Square. 

• King Street trams 
terminated at Queens 
Square in 1950 and a 
tramway balloon loop 
encircled the statue. A 
pedestrian subway was 
built below St James 
Road between Hyde Park 
and Queens Square in 
1952. 

Queens Square is of 
historic, aesthetic, and 
cultural significance for the 
City of Sydney.  
The square has historical 
significance as one of the 
earliest examples of formal 
urban design in central 
Sydney in the 19th century.  
The site represents changes 
in town planning and civic 
use through its various 
iterations including the 
selection of the site by 
Lachlan Macquarie as a 
public square, its use as a 
tram terminus and later 
pedestrian link.   
The square has landmark 
qualities due to its 
prominent location at the 
centre of Hyde Park, St 
James Church, Hyde Park 
Barracks, the Mint and the 
former Registrar Generals 
(Land Titles) Office and for 
its statue of Queen Victoria. 

• Queen Victoria Statue 
• Area of historical 

archaeological potential 
(City of Sydney 
Archaeological Zoning 
Plan) 

• Part of the cultural 
landscape of Hyde Park, 
Hyde Park Barracks and 
St Mary’s Cathedral and 
visually connected to 
these elements 

90



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

name Key Development history  significance Key elements 

The statue was moved 
again in 1975 to a temporary 
location to allow the 
remodelling of Queen 
Square. Further work took 
place to improve the space 
as a pedestrian link in 1975 
when King Street was 
closed from Phillip Street to 
Macquarie Street in 
conjunction with 
construction of the State 
Law Courts tower. 

 

  

91



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

City of Sydney Policy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an 
extensive range of policies which provide 
guidance to decision-making. A number of 
these influence planning and management 
decision making for open space. In some 
cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management 
having regard for the reserve purpose and 
core objectives of the community land 
category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

92



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, considering existing amenities 
nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

93



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

94



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

95



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

96



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

97



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

98



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

99



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

100



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

101



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

102



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

103



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

104



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

105



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

106



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

107



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

108



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

109



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– The CBD Civic Spaces, Alexandria - 

removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

110



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

111



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 
 
  

112



CBD Civic Spaces 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

93 

  

 

 

 

 

 

113



Attachment D 

Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves      

 

 

 

114



 

Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves Draft Plan of 
Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 115



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 20 

4. Strategic context 23 

5. Community guiding principles 26 

6. Basis for Management 28 

7. Review of the plan 35 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 36 

8. General requirements 37 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 43 

10. Park category - authorisations 49 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 53 

12. Appendices 57 

 

116



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

3 

 
 
Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces 14 

Figure 3. Summary land information 15 

Figure 4. Guidelines for categorisation and core objectives 32 

Figure 5. Community land categories by reserve 33 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 49 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 50 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 53 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 54 

 

 

117



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

118



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

119



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
Plan of Management in place for the associated 
land. Further, the changes to the CLM Act also 
require that a council Crown land manager must 
ensure that the first PoM applicable to the land 
is adopted as soon as practicable. 

This Generic Plan addresses Crown reserves 
located within the Millers Point Precinct. A 
Generic Plan is applicable to these spaces as 
they are small in footprint and exhibit similar 
characteristics and management requirements 
as outlined in Section 6 of this plan. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land  

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

120



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 
  

121



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

122



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

123



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

10 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park. 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City support 
addressing the issue of underpayment of 
NSW Aboriginal Land Rights fund of $500 
Million in perpetuity for all Freehold, 
Leasehold, Pastoral, National Parks, State 
Forests, Reserves and Parks as well as 
mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles.  

124



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

11 

Specific feedback related to Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves  
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject sites. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

125



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

126



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

127



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for the Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves through past master planning 
(Harbour Village North Public Domain Study – 
2012). This PoM references the Harbour Village 
North Public Domain Study 2012 as the current 
planning direction for the reserves. 

Location and description  
The Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves are 
located within the suburb of Millers Point, 
situated on the north-western edge of Sydney 
central business district. The suburb lies on the 
southern shore of Sydney Harbour between The 
Rocks and Barangaroo.   

Refer to Figure 2 Location plan of subject 
spaces below. 

The table on the following page summarises key 
land information for the subject sites. 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces
 

 

 

2. Land description 

128



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

15 

Figure 3. Summary land information 
name res 

No. 
purpose lot DP zoning overall 

area 
category  notes 

Argyle 
Place Park 

500042 Public 
Recreation 

7300 1163733 RE1 1281.15m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Milers 
Point 
Recreation 
and 
Community 
Reserve 

500254 Community 
Purposes; 
Public 
Recreation 

7301 1163733 R1 2138.74m2 General 
Community 
Use 

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Miscellaneous: Lot 1 
DP1175372 – Nita 
McCrae Park 
(adjoining TfNSW-
land maintained by 
City under licence 
agreement - in 
holdover) 

Watson 
Road 
Public 
Toilets 

752063 Future 
Public 
Purposes 

1 1164047 RE1   Reserve Type: 
Unreserved 

 

Clyne 
Reserve 

96178 Public 
Recreation 

2 

15 

13 

912271 

773848 

823998 

R1 2677.23m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

City Owned: 

Lots 13 & 14 DP 
773848  

Munn 
Reserve 

96178 Public 
Recreation 

7 

7 

43776 

869022 

RE1 
(SSEP 
2005) 

Part not 
Crown - 
R1 (Syd 
LEP 
2012) 

1546m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Miscellaneous: Road 
Reserve managed 
by City of Sydney as 
Roads Authority 

Dawes 
Point 
Fountain 
Garden 

1037568 Drinking 
Fountain 
and 
Latrines 

1 911126 R1 362.83 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

         

 

Crown land defined by Section 3.1(2) of the Crown Land Management Act 2016 is controlled by 
the State of New South Wales until such time as it is dedicated or reserved, and a Crown land 
manager appointed. The City of Sydney has made a formal request to create a new reserve for the 
Watson Road Public Toilets and appointment as the Crown land manager. This Plan of 
Management includes that land now under Section 39 of the Local Government Act 1993 and will 
continue to include the land should the appointment be forthcoming.  
 
 

129



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

16 

Heritage and culture 
Overview 

The Sydney area supported the Eora nation, 
comprised of more than 30 separate clans of 
Australia’s First nations people woven together 
across the region. 

It was people from the Sydney Aboriginal groups 
concentrated around Sydney Cove and the 
Harbour who initially confronted and made 
efforts to understand the colonising Europeans 
and their intentions on Country. 

The Gadigal were the first people dispossessed 
by colonists and it is this dispossession that 
underpins the foundation and growth of the city. 
In 1789, the smallpox epidemic devastated the 
Aboriginal population and disrupted clan 
boundaries in Sydney.  Aboriginal people came 
together in new communities and locations. 

In present day Cumberland Street, The Rocks, 
archaeological excavations revealed where 
Gadigal people shared a meal of snapper, rock 
oyster, mussel and other shellfish over a fire, 300 
years prior to European invasion. Later the 
discarded shards of Chinese porcelain found 
between Cumberland and Gloucester Streets 
reveal they were flaked at the edge by Aboriginal 
hands, suggesting an exchange of material 
culture but also adaptation of materials in a 
rapidly changing country. As the landscape 
shifted and featured new built forms, Aboriginal 
people incorporated these changes into their 
daily lives; on one occasion the new Tank 
Stream bridge became the backdrop for a battle 
between tribes 

Glimpses of individual Aboriginal lives in The 
Rocks and Dawes Point were recorded by non-
Aboriginal people during the early post-contact 
phase and show the diversity of experiences and 
complex interactions that occurred. Adaptation 
to the new colonial economy saw Aboriginal 
people exchanging goods and services that 
demonstrated their sophisticated and superior 
knowledge of Country.  They were ‘employed’ for 
fishing and hunting expeditions, or as hired 
trackers in ventures such as settler Edward Wills’ 
search in Cockle Bay for stolen goods. Other 
records trace the lives of individuals such as the 
orphaned Aboriginal boy called James, who was 
raised in The Rocks by non-Aboriginal foster 
parents.    

Sadly, he died of dysentery aged 15. He was 
known as part of this new community and the 
Sydney Gazette described him paternalistically 
as ‘docile, grateful, even affable. 

The Millers Point precinct has direct 
associations with Observatory Hill and its likely 
use as lookout and association with records of 
first contact with First Nations people 
(archaeological findings within the Rocks area 
and traces of Aboriginal campsites (Lilyvale 
site). 

The Aboriginal name for the peninsula on the 
western side of Sydney Cove is Tar-Ra. It is 
also known as Dawes Point because it was the 
site of an observatory built in April 1788 by 
Lieutenant William Dawes of the First Fleet. He 
lived and worked here, and with a young 
Aboriginal woman Patyegarang, compiled the 
first dictionary of the local Aboriginal language 
of Sydney. 

Nearby sites which had large flat rocks at the tip 
of the peninsula, directly underneath the 
southern approach of the Sydney Harbour 
Bridge, were said to have been used by local 
Aboriginal people as a place to cook fish. These 
same rocks also contained Aboriginal rock 
engravings. Rock engravings were carved by 
Aboriginal people onto level sandstone 
platforms, ledges or small rock exposures. They 
often show fish or land animals, ancestral 
beings, human figures, weapons, and other 
motifs. Engraving sites can be made up of one 
single figure or many figures. The engravings 
have not survived. 
(https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/dawes-
point-tar-ra/) 

Most physical traces of early Aboriginal 
occupation in the Millers Point area, along with 
elements of the original landform, have been 
removed by two centuries of sandstone 
quarrying, reclamation works and the building of 
wharves and warehouses along the waterfront of 
Walsh Bay wrought across the landscape by 
colonial enterprise 

The Millers Point precinct today is a significant 
cultural landscape, valued by local residents and 
the people of NSW for its cultural heritage. The 
significance of the area is embodied in such 
characteristics as: 

– the natural rocky terrain 

– the elevated and largely undeveloped 
outcrop of Observatory Hi 

130

http://dictionaryofsydney.org/entry/archaeological_evidence_of_aboriginal_life_in_sydney


Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

17 

– the low-rise village character of Millers Point 

– the central ‘green’ of Argyle Place 

– connections between the land and the water 
vistas and glimpses of the harbour along 
streets and roofscapes 

– long history of maritime labour and industry 

– Extensive Indigenous and colonial 
archaeology. 

Located on a sandstone peninsula in Sydney 
Harbour, between Cockle Bay and Sydney Cove 
(Now Circular Quay and The Rocks), the natural 
rocky terrain, despite much modification, 
remains a dominant physical influence in this 
significant urban landscape.  The result is a 
unique urban setting in which land and water, 
nature and culture are intimately connected 
historically, socially, visually and functionally. 

The location of Millers Point and relationship to 
the waterfront, was ideally suited for shipping 
purposes and the village of Millers Point became 
a definitive one in the early 1830s, as maritime 
and other related enterprises began to radiate 
outwards from Sydney Cove, bringing with it 
residential and commercial facilities. The village 
played an integral role in supporting the maritime 
industrial labour force engaged coastal and 
international trade and shipping.   

Access to Millers Point was via a set of rough-
cut steps from the Rocks. Those who chose to 
live in the area comprised both the successful 
wharf-owners and employees, labourers, and 
artisans.  Despite high mobility on the part of the 
population, Millers Point was able a self-
contained village from the 1840s; this 
characteristic was enhanced by its continuing 
topographical isolation from the town of Sydney. 

(Source: NSW State Heritage Inventory ‘Millers 
Point and Dawes Point Village Precinct’) 

The crown land reserves within the Millers Point 
Precinct have evolved as the area was 
influenced by different public works 
improvement schemes and political responses 
to public health and sanitation, (including the 
resumption of The Rocks), public infrastructure 
such as the construction of the Harbour Bridge 
and provision of community spaces for Millers 
Point Residents.  

The reserves represent the historic development 
of the area over time and are likely held in high 
regard for the community for the open space and 
public amenity available in the high-density 
urban landscape. 

Environment and landscape 
Following is an overview of the general 
characteristics of the precinct.  Specific reserve 
Information sheets are included in the Appendix 
with more specific commentary on individual 
reserves. 
The reserves subject to this this plan of 
management all lie within the Harbour Village 
North area defined by the City of Sydney’s “City 
of Villages” – and based around key community 
main streets and centres of business activity 
This Harbour Village North precinct is defined by 
the harbour foreshore and other natural and 
man-made barriers.  It is a village within the city 
centre, typified by a human scale and special 
character of strong topographic features, 
exposed stone cliffs and harbour views. 
It includes the diverse localities of Millers Point, 
Dawes Point, Walsh Bay, The Rocks, and 
Barangaroo - the largest urban renewal site in 
Sydney.  The precinct is characterised by lower 
rise development at the northern end of the 
greater Harbour Village area. 

The Harbour Village North Public Domain Study 
– 2012 analysed the natural and public domain 
qualities of the precinct and identified as series 
of recommendations for public domain 
enhancement.  The study noted that the 
Barangaroo development provides major 
opportunities for new connections into adjacent 
parkland, integration of additional mixed-use 
development and opening of additional 
foreshore open space areas.  

Of the subject open spaces, Munn Reserve is 
the only surviving remnant of the original 
landscape form on the western end of Millers 
Point. The other spaces have been considerably 
modified in evolution of their current 
arrangement and in accommodating built 
facilities. 

Argyle Place similarly is the only of the subject 
spaces truly reflecting the early Victorian period 
and is an example of early civic park planning 
with the city.  The space forms part of Argyle 

131



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

18 

Square and is the open space heart of the Millers 
Point Precinct 

Given their limited scale the character and 
amenity of the parks is strongly influenced by 
adjoining streetscapes.  Plantings within the 
parks range from naturalistic layouts focussed 
on use of native Australian plants, such as in 
Munn and Clyne Reserves. More formal 
plantings are found in Argyle Place (Moreton Bay 
Figs) and Dawes Point Fountain Garden 
(plantings of various Palm species). 

Reserve development 
Argyle Place is the only surviving park from the 
early Victorian period.  The public amenities at 
Dawes Point Fountain Garden represent 
surviving examples of the provision of sanitary 
conveniences in the City of Sydney.  These were 
implemented in response to public health 
concerns in the late 19th century and early 20th 
century. 

The other open spaces subject to this plan of 
management have evolved as part of the early 
development pattern of the precinct and in many 
cases represent ‘leftover’ pieces of land. At 
different points some of these land parcels have 
been resumed by government authorities which 
has enabled the later development of the park. 

Capital Works upgrades: 
Recent works in the precinct include: 

– Recent improvements to the Millers 
community facility/ Nita McCrae park, 
upgrade of and expanding the park frontage 
by removal of bus layby area 

– Clyne Reserve – refurbish play and reserve, 
improve boundary fencing and seating, plans 
approved 2019 

– Dawes Point – Toilet and façade upgrade 
works currently ongoing (January 2021). 

Past studies and plans: 
– Harbour Village North Public Domain Study 

– 2012 

Projects under this public domain study provide 
opportunities to improve connections between 
heritage items in Observatory Hill Park, to 
reduce visual clutter in parks and streetscapes 
and improve the setting to heritage items and 
improve the interpretation of the place’s history 

and heritage significance. The recommended 
approach for the development and 
implementation of projects is to retain existing 
significant fabric and sensitively extend public 
domain infrastructure where appropriate - 
utilising a palette of materials, furniture, and 
fixtures appropriate to the heritage context. 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purposes for the Millers Point 
Precinct Crown Reserves include: 

Public Park - Argyle Place Park 

Community 
Purposes 

- Millers Point Recreation 
and Community Centre  

Public Recreation - Millers Point Recreation 
and Community Centre  

- Clyne Reserve 
- Munn Reserve 

Drinking Fountain 
and Latrines 

- Dawes Point Fountain 
Garden 

Future Public 
Purposes 

- Watson Road Toilets 

Community usage 
The Crown reserves provide a variety of 
opportunities for active and passive recreation 
which serve the local community, workers and 
the many visitors to the area. 

Millers Point/Harbour Village North has an active 
residential community consisting of public 
tenants, private owners and leaseholders in a 
range of building types. This mixed community is 
greatly valued, and Council’s Millers Point 
Recreation and Community Centre provides a 
heart to this community life 

Recent improvements to the community facility/ 
Nita McCrae park allow access to play facilities 
outside opening hours and additional green 

132



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

19 

space facilitated by the expansion of the park 
frontage and removal of a bus layby area. 
Part of the building known as Abraham Mott Hall 
is leased for community activities. The Harry 
Jensen Community Centre provides for a range 
of formal and informal social activities, 
gatherings and space for exhibitions. 

Open space areas to all parks are well used and 
in particular green areas of lawn and planting are 
valued by the community. Park furniture is well 
used for seating and small gatherings. Most of 
the parks provide a through access role, in 
particular Clyne Reserve and Munn Reserve 
which link Millers Point to the foreshore 

Off-leash dog access is limited to specific parks 
as defined by the City of Sydney’s adopted 
Companion Animals policy and is available at 
Munn Reserve. 

Users 
Recent user intercept surveys indicate that the 
most popular activities undertaken in the reserve 
spaces are: 

– walking 

– running for exercise 

– walking through to get somewhere else 

– Sitting and relaxing and watching the world 
go by.  

Other activities undertaken within the precinct 
include attending the community garden, yoga 
classes at the Abraham Mott Hall, and functions 
and cultural activities at the community centre. 

Over half of the survey respondents live within or 
nearby the precinct and were likely to visit the 
precinct on and daily and weekly basis. The peak 
time for visiting was in the afternoon followed by 
early morning before 9am. 

Event use  
Nita McCrae Park (located in front of the Millers 
Point Recreation Centre) hosts a number of 
community focused events throughout the year 
catering to a diverse range of needs within the 
local community. The centre has a room that is 
suitable for meetings, training programs and 
discussion groups. 

Munn Reserve and Clyne Reserve cater to major 
pedestrian movement during major events. 

The adjoining streets to the reserves are highly 
trafficked by pedestrians as the neighbouring 
precincts, The Rocks, Walsh Bay and 

Barangaroo host many city-wide events such as 
Vivid and New Year festivities. 

 

  

133



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

20 

Ownership and management 
The Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves are 
owned by the State of New South Wales. The 
City of Sydney is the Crown land manager 
responsible for the management of the reserves. 
Refer to Section 2, page 15 for further property 
details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to the Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves is Clause 65 that specifies that 
development for any purpose may be carried out 
without consent if the development is for the 
purposes of implementing an adopted PoM. The 
clause also lists a range of ancillary 
developments permitted without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

134



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

21 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to section 2 for zoning information. 

Generally, the subject reserves are zoned RE1 
Public Recreation under the City of Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012 (“LEP”), with 
the exception of: 

Munn 
Reserve 

RE1 under SSEP 2005 
(Barangaroo) 
Part of park (within road reserve) 
not on Crown Land – R1 General 
Residential  

Clyne 
Reserve 

R1 General Residential under 
Syd LEP 2012  

1 Objectives of zone  
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes 

– To provide links between open space areas 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 

Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

135



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

22 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 
to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

 

 

 
  

136



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

23 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high-
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

137



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

24 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 

− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

138



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

25 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

139



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

26 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

140



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

27 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

141



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

28 

Values and roles of the Millers 
Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parks and facilities that 
the community wishes to protect conserve and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

 
1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the Place 

– A meaning of the place that resonates with Country 

– A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

– A place of diverse landform affording important 
visual connections between the land, water and 
across the precinct 

– A place enriched by the fabric of natural rocky 
terrain, retaining walls, and stairs  

– A significant destination for social and cultural 
activities 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

– A place providing important connections between 
Circular Quay, Barangaroo and Darling Harbour 

– A place of narrow lanes and stairways  

– Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

– Spaces that are clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

– An appropriately lit environment 

– A community destination accessible from the cycle 
network 

– Places that are not compromised by parking and 
vehicle access 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

– Places of respite for users and adjacent residents 

– Places for daily fitness activities 

– Spaces and facilities that support youth use of the 
places 

– Places for dog walking and exercise 

– Places that recognise and celebrate First Nations 
living culture 

– Places for events 

– Places that are open and usable by all members of 
community 

– Safe places to visit day and night 

– Places that provide access to public amenities 

– A place that provides access to community venues 
 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

– Play facilities for the local community 

– Park elements that support park use and create an 
attractive character 

– Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

– Resilient landscaping to future-proof our green 
spaces 

– Landscaping and planting that reflects the original 
natural environment 

– A place of diverse habitats 

– Places that are connected to support biodiversity 

– Places that are cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

– Established plantings which contribute to the park 
setting and habitat 

– Places exhibiting water sensitive urban design 

– Places exhibiting sustainable energy management 

– Places exhibiting sustainable waste management 
practices 
 

6.0  Culture and Heritage    

– Places that strengthen First Nations people and 
living culture 

6. Basis for 
Management 

142



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

29 

– Places which are a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

– Places that provide the community access to 
cultural expression and awareness through arts 
and culture 

– Places that connect the community to the city’s 
past and present  

– Places that provide a canvas for arts and culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

– Holistic management of the precinct 

– Places that are clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

– Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

– Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
  

143



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

30 

Open space classification and 
rationale for this plan 
The Crown reserves subject to this PoM form a 
diverse but complimentary group of open spaces 
within the Millers Point neighbourhood of the 
Harbour Village North Village. 

The reserves are also generally classified as 
“Neighbourhood” spaces under the City of 
Sydney’s Open Space Sports Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 – Volume 5 appendices - “Open 
Space Hierarchy Classifications”.   

The exception is the Dawes Point Fountain 
Garden which is classified as “Small 
Neighbourhood. 

The geographic clustering of the spaces 
provides a strong rationale for their grouping 
under this Generic Plan. This is reinforced by the 
desirability of managing these spaces in a 
coordinated and cohesive manner given their 
interaction and inter-reliance from a usage and 
public domain perspective. 

 
Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purposes for the subject Crown 
reserves are Public Recreation; Community 
Purposes, Drinking Fountain and Latrines, 
and Future Public Purposes. 
The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 5 identifies the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserves. 

Current / existing use 
Council has established initial categorisations for 
the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves in 
accordance with Crown Land requirements.  The 
Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
identifies that Councils should apply initial 
categorisation based on existing/current use of 
the reserve only. The initial categorisation 
cannot be based on proposed or future use.  
These initial categorisations for the General 
Crown Reserves have been approved by Crown 
Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves 
there are no site characteristics that would justify 
Natural Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves, 
Section 2 describes the heritage characteristics 
of the land, and the applicable listings and 
controls. These will be considered in all 
management decisions related to the land. The 
additional layer of Area of Cultural Significance 
categorisation is not deemed to be required. 

144



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

31 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 4) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves. 
Under the guidelines for each category, their 
interpretation and application to Millers Point 
Precinct Crown Reserves are explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

145



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

32 

Figure 4. Guidelines for categorisation and core objectives 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Millers Point Precinct 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informally used green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide for social, 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

In accordance with the guidelines above, the 
table following outlines the community land 
categories applicable to the reserves subject to 
this PoM. 
  

146



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

33 

Figure 5. Community land categories by reserve 
name res 

No. 
purpose overall area category  

Argyle Place Park 500042 Public Park 1281.15m2 Park 

Millers Point 
Recreation and 
Community Reserve 

500254 Community Purposes; Public 
Recreation 

2138.74m2 General Community Use 

Watson Road Public 
Toilets 

 Unreserved Crown land 25.30m2 General Community Use 

Clyne Reserve 96178 Public Recreation 2677.23m2 Park  

(includes City-owned land) 

Munn Reserve 96178 Public Recreation 1546m2 Park 

Dawes Point 
Fountain Garden 

1037568 Drinking Fountain and 
Latrines 

362.83 m2 Park 

 

 

 
  

147



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

34 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for the Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves through past master planning in 
particular the Harbour Village North Public 
Domain Study – 2012. 

This PoM references the above framework as 
the current planning direction for the reserve. 
The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for planning and management of 
the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves. 

Harbour Village North Public Domain Study - 
2012 
The study identifies six guiding directions for 
long term improvements in Harbour Village North 
that seek to:  

– strengthen its character as a special 
destination 

– improve connections to surrounding areas 

– Enrich community life.  

The directions have emerged from preliminary 
consultation and site analysis and are based on 
the existing unique characteristics of Harbour 
Village North. The directions include: 

1. Improve access, connectivity and wayfinding 

2. Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

3. Respect and celebrate heritage 

4. Celebrate landform and harbour views 

5. Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
improve Cultural Ribbon connections 

6. Strengthen local communities and support 
local economies 

The following Priority Projects outlined in the 
public domain study are relevant to this plan of 
management: 

Argyle Street upgrade to Munn Reserve – 
works completed 2015 

– To cater for a significant increase in 
pedestrian traffic as Argyle Street serves as 
the main pedestrian access point to 
Barangaroo Reserve (Munn Reserve, Argyle 
Place and in front of the community 
centre/Nita McCrae Park) 

Community Playground upgrade – Argyle 
Street (Millers Point Community Centre) - 
works completed 2017/18 

– This project addressed the afterhours access 
to the existing play equipment at the Millers 
Point Community Centre which was 
locked/gated outside opening hours, limiting 
accessibility. The bus layover space 
detracted from the public domain and 
provided a poor street address for the 
community centre site. 

Council Strategies:  
The following Council strategies have strong 
relevance to the Crown reserves subject to this 
plan of management, and should be referred in 
any future planning for the precinct: 

– The Rocks Wayfinding Strategy 

– The Eora Journey 

– The Walsh Bay Cultural Ribbon 

 

 

 

  

148



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

35 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values  

– project priorities 

– funding resources  

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 
  

7. Review of the plan 

149



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

36 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

150



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

37 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves 
and is applicable to all community land 
categories, as outlined in Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of the Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves. The outcomes seek to conserve and 
enhance the values of the Millers Point Precinct 
Crown Reserves and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 

structures and spaces at the Millers Point 
Precinct Crown Reserves will be considered on 
merit and benefits to the community and 
balanced against physical constraints, the 
amenity of adjoining residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

151



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

38 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of the Millers Point Precinct 
Crown Reserves. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 

consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at the Millers Point Precinct 
Crown Reserves may also be prohibited by the 
applicable land use zoning. The City of Sydney 
may prohibit certain activities from time to time. 
Prohibited uses will be communicated via City 
bookings, lease, and licence agreements, or 
otherwise communicated where prohibited 
activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at the Millers Point 
Precinct Crown Reserves must consider the 
needs of and impacts on residents, workers and 
adjoining land uses in terms of accessibility, 
noise, lighting, traffic and parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at the 
Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves which 
may attract high numbers of people including 
one-off community events and performances. 

152



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

39 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across the Millers Point Precinct Crown 
Reserves and settings (such as playgrounds, 
fitness stations and park seating) will be 
determined by the community use of the site but 
will be managed to avoid undue impacts on park 
fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the 
reserves. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the reserves need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through NSW 

Government grant allocations, which may 
involve matching funding from Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Reserve revenue – income from the reserves 
is generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the reserves. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licences for different users 
can apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves 
is authorised by section 3.22 of the CLM Act, 
which requires the preparation of a community 
land PoM, adopted by Council, to authorise an 
occupancy or use agreement. 

153



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

40 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

154



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

41 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

155



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

42 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this Plan 
of Management, and shall be subject to the 
following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  
 
An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

156



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

43 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for the Millers Point Precinct 
Crown Reserves, including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and 
review by the City of Sydney. 
Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 
Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that resonates 
with Country 

• To implement a meaning 
and description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

Increased visibility of park identity 

1.3 A place of diverse 
landform affording 
important visual 
connections between 
the land, water and 
across the precinct 

• To conserve and enhance 
the experience of landform 
and harbour views 

Conserve and protect harbour 
views, vistas and visual 
connections through planning 
design and management of open 
space 
 

Monitoring of views and vistas 
Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 
 

1.4 A place enriched by 
the fabric of natural 
rocky terrain, 
retaining walls, and 
stairs  
 

• To conserve natural 
landform and rock outcrops  

• To conserve and enhance 
the contribution of stone 
retaining walls and stairs 
within the public domain  

Conserve and protect landform and 
built elements through all planning 
design and management of open 
space 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

1.5 A significant 
destination for social 
and cultural activities 

• To support the Walsh Bay 
cultural precinct and 
improve Cultural Ribbon 
connections 

Where possible, improve Cultural 
Ribbon connections through and 
adjoining open spaces 

Increased use of spaces 
measured by surveys and 
observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A place providing 
important 
connections between 
Circular Quay. 
Barangaroo and 
Darling Harbour 

• To conserve and improve 
the linkages across and 
along the headland  

Investigate opportunities to 
increase connectivity within reserve 
areas to adjoining precincts  

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to Harbour 
North linkages. Regularly review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 A place of narrow 
lanes and stairways  

• To improve the public 
domain while conserving 
heritage character and 
significance 

Maintain and renew public domain 
elements in accordance with asset 
management plan, considering 
heritage conservation requirements 

Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.3 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage for 
park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 
 
 

Increased local use of spaces, 
measured by observation 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

157



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

44 

Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.4 Spaces that are 
clear, easy and safe 
to move around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes 
and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 
Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in spaces 

Path and pavements managed in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 
 

2.5 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate 
lighting to support desired 
night access, recreational 
and leisurely use of open 
space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.6 
 
 

 

A community 
destination 
accessible from the 
cycle network  

• To enable parks to be 
effectively accessed from 
cycle network and 
encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of park 
access to adjoining and potential 
future cycle corridors 
Where required, integrate cycle 
facilities into park improvements 
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as require 

Increased local use of precinct 
by cyclists, measured by surveys 
and observation 

 

2.7 Places that are not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

• To provide a balanced 
approach to parking 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access 
mitigating adverse impacts 
on park and uses 

• Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Manage existing off-street parking 
to ensure efficiency and equity 
Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist and 
vehicle conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures carried 
out 
 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 Places of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible 
and informal use spaces 
that are attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 
 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Places for daily 
fitness activities 

• To maintain and enhance 
the role of fitness and 
exercise activities 
compatible with other 
reserve values 

Support the role of the park for 
fitness activities in accordance with 
the City’s Outdoor Fitness Training 
Code of Conduct 
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as require 

Effective implementation of the 
Outdoor Fitness Training Code of 
Conduct 

3.3 Spaces and facilities 
that support youth 
use of the places 

• To sustainably respond to 
youth needs for gathering 
and activity spaces 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by observation 

3.4 Places for dog 
walking and exercise 

• To provide for effective 
dog exercise in 
accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 
Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.5 Places that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

158



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

45 

Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.6 Places for events • To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural and 
community outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 
Develop guidelines for event use of 
spaces defining: 
- usable area and capacity 
- other specific event 

management and approval 
requirements 

Increased use of park for events 
appropriate to scale and intensity 
Developed guidelines 
Ongoing review and compliance 

3.7 Places that are open 
and usable by all 
members of 
community 

• That the reserves are 
managed as part of a 
coordinated compassionate 
approach across the city to 
assisting homeless 
persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

3.8 Safe places to visit 
day and night 

• To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and pass 
through, appropriate to 
intended (and varied) 
usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 
Sustained relationship with local 
police 
 

3.9 Places that provide 
access to public and 
accessible amenities  

• Maintain access and 
provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to toilet 
facilities. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

Millers Point Community Centre 

3.10 A place that provides 
access to community 
venues 

• To conserve and enhance 
the community venues at 
the Millers Point 
Community Centre  

• To strengthen the role of 
this important focal and 
gathering point for the 
precinct. 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
community venues at the Millers 
Point Community Centre 
Assess opportunities to increase 
activation and use of the individual 
venues 
 

Venue bookings 
 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Play spaces 

4.1 Play facilities for the 
local community 

• To provide play 
environments that 
encourage activity and 
support family use of park 

Plan and implement refurbishment 
of Clyne Reserve playground, 
surfacing and other park elements 
 

Refurbished playground and park 
elements at Clyne Reserve 
Measured against contract KPIs 

Park furniture 

4.2 Park elements that 
support park use and 
create an attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of open space 
while avoiding proliferation 
of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 
 
 
 

Measured against contract KPIs 
Inspections and audits 
 

159



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

46 

Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Underground infrastructure 

4.3 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements 
are effectively integrated 
into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 
 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 
Measurement and monitoring of 
vegetation 
Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat value 
of natural and built features 

• To protect and improve 
existing habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  
Maintain and manage areas of 
bush restoration in accordance with 
Bush Restoration Service Levels 
Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat values 
Compliance with bush restoration 
service levels 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community understanding 
and participation in the preservation 
of greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal participation in 
open space works 
Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are 
connected to support 
biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the site 
and surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key sites 
and species, as identified in the 
biodiversity corridor 
Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park Service 
Levels 

Monitoring of habitat values 
Compliance with Landscape 
Code and Park Service Levels 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 Places that are cool, 
calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to create 
new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased shade 
cover 
Increased use of park measured 
by observation 

5.7 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the park 
setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum 
health for their safe and 
practical lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program  

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of new 
trees as measured by arborist’s 
survey  
Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Implemented succession planting  

Water management 

5.8 Places exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

• To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  

•  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water demand 
for park 
Improved water quality 

160



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

47 

Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Energy management 

5.9 Places exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in energy 
consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event activities 

Waste management 

5.10 Places exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away 
from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and audits 
 

  

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 Places that 
strengthen First 
Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the local 
area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of processes 

6.2 Places which are a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

• To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 Places that provide 
the community 
access to cultural 
expression and 
awareness through 
arts and culture 

• To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic and 
creative expression that is 
sustainable in the context 
of existing character and 
use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park. 
Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public art 
Measured against contract KPIs 
Inspections and audits 

6.4 Places that connect 
the community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the site and 
add to the experience and 
use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 
 

Adoption of supporting framework 

6.5 Places that provides 
a canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
space setting and adds to 
the range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in reserves 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Holistic management 
of the precinct 

• To ensure that the integrity 
of these spaces are 
conserved  

Monitor proposals within the 
precinct to ensure that these 
spaces aren’t adversely impacted  

Sustained relationship with 
authorities  

7.2 Places which are 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
open space 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 
 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

161



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

48 

Ref VALUES /roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.4 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible community 
access to open space and 
are orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural and 
social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and compliance 
of leases and licences  
 

 

 

 

 
  

162



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

49 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 6 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the Millers Point 
Precinct Crown reserves categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

163

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

50 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Hiring of equipment 

– Management and operation of community 
gardens 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 7 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use or 
occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves 
in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

164



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

51 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Hiring of equipment 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

165

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

52 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
  

166



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

53 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 8 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the Millers Point 
Precinct Crown Reserves categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney 
assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community 
facilities (e.g. social enterprise, health-related 
services) 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

167

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

54 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Management and operation of community 
facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 9 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use. Licences and statutory approvals for short-
term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the Millers Point Precinct 
Crown Reserves in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 
2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

168



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

55 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. physiotherapist, dietician, social enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. physiotherapist, dietician, social enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. concerts, dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community of facility 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

169

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

56 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 

170



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

57 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 

 
  

12. Appendices 

171



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

58 

References 
 

– Harbour Village North Public Domain 
Strategy, City of Sydney 2012 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 
  

172



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

59 

Reserve Information Sheets 
 

 

 
  

173



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

60 

ARGYLE PLACE PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 15 Argyle Place, Millers Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500042, Public Park 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 1281.15m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7300 DP 1163733 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
Park 

Buildings/structures Dwarf sandstone perimeter 
wall 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 

• Three (3) Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla) and 1 
Queensland Lacebark (Brachychiton discolour) listed on 
Significant Tree Register 

• Sandstone stairs 
• Remains of the old palisade fence 
• Remains of dwarf sandstone wall to perimeter of the 

reserve 
• Three (3) gas lamps 
• Sandstone drinking fountain 

environmental and landscape values 

• Original landform has been modified. The park forms a 
narrow flat linear open space, raised above street level, 
surrounded by a low stone wall 

• Situated below Observatory Hill and forms part of 
Argyle Square 

• Features mature Moreton Bay Figs set within an open 
grassed area  

reserve development 

• Argyle Park was vested in the City Council and 
dedicated as a reserve for public recreation in 1867 

• The park is the only surviving park from the early 
Victorian period. 

 

 

 

facilities  date condition 

Low Boundary 
walls 

 Fair to Good 

Monument/Public 
Art - Walter 
Renny sandstone 
drinking fountain 

1869 Good (2) 

Ref: SOM208FN 

Park Furniture - 
Seating 

 Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - 
Bins 

 Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - 
Lighting 

 Fair to Good 

 
reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Low intensity use, general passive recreation. 
• Place to sit and relax, eat lunch 
• Fitness groups 

 

 

 

 

174



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

61 

CLYNE RESERVE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Merriman Street, Millers Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales), City-owned 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R96178, Public Recreation 

Zoning R1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 4223.23m2 

Lot & DP Lot 2 DP 912271 
(unregistered), Lot 15 DP 
773848, Lot 13 DP 823998 
City-owned Lots 13 & 14 DP 
773848 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
Park 

Buildings/ Structures Sandstone Retaining walls 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• Playground equipment (adventure playground) 
• Barbecue and picnic areas 
• Native plants and grasses 
• Boundary fence 
• Seating, bins and a bubbler 
• Sandstone retaining wall built onto sandstone 

outcropping near Rodens Lane 
• Moderate level of historical archaeological potential 

relating to the former structures and land use of the site 
starting from 1833.  

environmental and landscape values 
• Remnants of the original landform present, sandstone 

outcrops within the park 
• Park edges are highly modified with high stone walls 

constructed 
• Accessed at specific points – from Merrimen Street, or 

via stepped access to Barangaroo Headland Park 
• Mix of native Australian plantings in an informal 

composition and open grass areas 

reserve development 
• 1950 children’s playground established in park 
• Land acquired in 1978 by Maritime Service Board  
• Park handed back to Council in 1981 

 

 

facilities  date condition 

Playspace Upgrade in 
development 2021 

Good (2) 

Park furniture - 
seating 

 Fair to Good 

Fencing  Fair to Good 

BBQ/Picnic 
tables 

 Fair to Good 

Stone Wall  Fair to Good 

   

 
reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Moderate use - passive recreation: 
• children's playground; BBQ/picnic; fitness training 

groups; pedestrian access 
• Utilised for end of year activities and fireworks displays - 

no indication of attendance figures. 

 

175



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

62 

DAWES POINT FOUNTAIN 
GARDEN 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location George Street North, Millers 
Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D1037568, Drinking Fountain 
and Latrines 

Zoning R1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 362.83m2 

Lot & DP Lot 1 DP 911126 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
Park 

Buildings Heritage Toilets 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 

• Three (3) Queen Palm (Syagrus romanzoffiana), One 
(1) Washington Palm (Washingtonia robusta) and One 
(1) American Cotton Palm (Washingtonia filifera) listed 
on Significant Tree Register 

• Cast iron urinal 
• Public toilets, dating from 1916 
• Obelisk 
• Sandstone balustrade to Cumberland Street, seating 

nooks with decorative balustrade, lookout platform and 
set of stairs between Cumberland Street and George 
Street North 

environmental and landscape values 
• Highly modified landscape with steps, balustrades, 

walls integrated into existing topography 
• Planting scheme reflective of species popular at times 

of refurbishment i.e. the various palm species. 
reserve development 
• Scheme designed in 1915 and works completed in 1916 
• Public facilities currently being upgraded and 

refurbished 2020-21. 
 
 
 

 

facilities  date condition 

Heritage public 
toilets (pissoir) 

 Average (3) 

Upgrade / 
Refurbishment to 
toilets & stone 
façade, 2020 

Part public 
toilets (residual 
toilets owned by 
Place 
Management 
NSW) 

 Fair to Good 

Upgrade / 
Refurbishment to 
toilets & stone 
façade, 2020 

Walling, steps 
and handrails  

 Fair to Good 

   

 
reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Access to public amenities 
• Seating 
• Walk through 

 

 

176



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

63 

MILLERS POINT 
RECREATION & 
COMMUNITY RESERVE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Argyle Street, Millers Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 
Additional Purpose 

D500254, Community 
Purposes; Public Recreation 
Government Purposes 

Zoning R1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 2138.74m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7301 DP 1163733 
Lot 1 DP1175372 – Nita 
McCrae Park (adj. TfNSW-
land maintained by City) 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing  
General Community Use 

Buildings Abraham Mott Hall, 
Community Centre 

Leases / licences  AGP Licence  
Sydney School of Arts & 
humanities (holdover) 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements 
• The buildings are of various ages of construction, the 

original pre-1943 structure which has been modified 
and extended over the following decades.  

• Grassed area provides connection to Argyle Place Park 
• Palisade fencing on low sandstone wall—likely 

reinstated from another property, however, matches the 
surrounding streetscape characteristics. 

environmental and landscape values 
• Reserve is largely made up of the built structures of the 

community facilities 
• A mature plane tree contributes to shade within the 

space and visual amenity of the adjoining streetscape. 
• Small refurbished park and play space located on the 

west side of the space, open grassed area 
• Newly landscaped frontage to reserve with stone kerbs, 

a level grassed area, extended footpath to community 
centre and new tree planting 

 
reserve development 
• The buildings are of various ages of construction, 

including the original pre-1943 structure.  
• The Abraham Mott Hall was previously used by the 

Coal Lumpers Union before handed over to the council 
as a community facility 

• Nita McCrae Park officially opened on Saturday 28 
November 2017; it replaced / extended an existing 
play/park area. 

facilities  date condition 

Harry Jensen 
Centre 

 Average (3) 

Abraham Mott 
Hall 

 Average (3) 

Abraham Mott 
Youth Centre 

 Average (3) 

Nita McCrae 
Park Playground 

 Excellent (1) 

Palisade 
Fencing/wall 

 Fair to Good 

Drinking 
fountain 

 Fair to Good 

reserve usage 
• Access to community facilities which serve a variety of 

functions for the local community 
• Access to children’s play space and equipment 
• Place to sit, relax 

 

177



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

64 

 MUNN RESERVE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Munn Street, Millers Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R96178, Public Recreation 

Zoning RE1 (SEPP 2005 
Barangaroo LZN) 
Part not Crown – R1 (LEP) 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area  

Lot & DP Lot 7 DP 43776, Lot 7 DP 
869022 
Road Reserve managed by 
City of Sydney as Roads 
Authority 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
Park 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements 
• Portion of Munn street palisade fence 
• Sandstone fence pillars and hobb/ base with fence 
• Sandstone retaining wall and stairs to adjacent 1910s 

workers houses and the Palisade hotel 

environmental and landscape values 
• Reserve is a remnant of the former landscape on the 

western end of Millers Point 
• A highly modified landscape with walls, steps and 

ramps integrated to overcome level changes, allow 
access through from adjacent streets, Barangaroo 
Headland Park, a small amphitheatre type space and 
entry space to adjacent building frontage. 

• Informal tree planting and mass plantings of Australian 
native plants over landscape terraces and an open 
grassed area 

reserve development 
• Land was part of a former land grant. Reserve was 

reshaped in early 1900s as part for the rebuilding of 
Millers Point and port area. 

• Major modifications as part of the Barangaroo Headland 
Park development opened in 2016. 

 

facilities  date condition 

Drinking 
fountain 

 Fair to Good 

Stairs & 
Handrails 

 Good 

Sandstone 
walling 

 Good 

Portion of Munn 
St palisade 
Fence 

 Fair to Good 

Fencing  Fair to Good 

Lighting  Good 

   

reserve usage 

• Walk through 
• Passive recreation, a place to sit and relax 

 
 

 

178



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

65 

WATSON ROAD PUBLIC 
TOILETS 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location 15 Argyle Place, Millers Point  

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 
 

R752063, Future Public 
Purposes (unreserved) 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area  

Lot & DP Lot 1 DP 1164047 

Community land 
categorisation 

Proposed  
General Community Use 

Buildings Public Toilets 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• No significant elements to the toilets which were 

constructed c1950s 
• Toilets may represent the ongoing upgrades to public 

facilities as changing public health regulations were 
implemented. 

environmental and landscape values 
• Small reserve made up of the built structure of the toilet 

building which are set within the highly modified 
landscape below Observatory Hill 

reserve development 
• Toilets were erected in 1956 for men and women 
• Toilets have recently been refurbished relatively 

recently in 2017 

 

 

facilities  date condition 

Public Toilets C1950s Good (2) 

   

reserve usage 

• Access to public toilets 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

179



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

66 

Heritage Summary information 
for General Crown Reserves 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

Argyle Place Park Following the completion 
of the Argyle Cut in 
1859, the northern face 
of Observatory Hill was 
terraced, with the steps 
and retaining walls 
completed in 1866. 
Argyle Park was vested 
in the City Council and 
dedicated as a reserve 
for public recreation in 
1867. The reserve was 
landscaped at this time 
and included planting of 
many native and exotic 
trees, construction of a 
sandstone plinth with a 
palisade fence and two 
sets of stairs. In the 
1940s a public drinking 
fountain was dedicated 
by the then Mayor, 
Walter Rennie. The 
palisade fence was 
removed relatively early 
in its history. In 1970 the 
Australian Gas Light 
Company presented 
three gas lamps to the 
City of Sydney to 
commemorate the 
Captain Cook 
Bicentenary which were 
installed in the reserve. 

Argyle Place Park is of 
local historical and 
aesthetic significance as 
the only surviving park 
from the early Victorian 
period that retains its 
scale and atmosphere. It 
is an excellent example 
of early civic park 
planning with its 
enclosure formed by 
buildings and natural 
land forms. It contains 
major remnants of 
Victorian street furniture. 
The Park forms part of 
Argyle square area 
which is significant as 
the core of the Millers 
Point precinct. The 
unique form of the 
central park flanked by 
early houses and the 
church, the Argyle cut 
and the landscape of 
Observatory Hill provide 
one of the iconic heritage 
sites in the city. 

• Three (3) Moreton Bay 
Figs (Ficus 
macrophylla) and 1 
Queensland Lacebark 
(Brachychiton 
discolour) listed on 
Significant Tree 
Register 

• Sandstone stairs 
• Remains of the old 

palisade fence 
• Remains of dwarf 

sandstone wall to 
perimeter of the 
reserve 

• Three (3) gas lamps 
• Sandstone drinking 

fountain. 

Clyne Reserve A children’s playground 
was established on 13 
June 1950 at the corner 
of Dibbs and Merriman 
streets on a site leased 
from the Maritime 
Services Board. In 1952 
the playground was 
named Clyne Reserve in 
honour of Hon Daniel 
Clyne MLA, ‘in 
recognition of the major 
part played by Mr Clyne 
in the negotiations for 
the lease of the land by 
Council from the 
Maritime Services 
Board’. Clyne, a railway 
worker and union official, 
was MP for the seat of 

Clyne Reserve is 
representative of the 
early development 
pattern of the and has 
historical archaeological 
potential associated with 
the former dwellings 
located on the site, 
which was part of the 
early settlement of the 
site by Europeans. 

• Playground equipment 
(adventure 
playground) 

• Barbecue and picnic 
areas 

• Native plants and 
grasses 

• Boundary fence 
• Seating, bins and a 

bubbler 
• Sandstone retaining 

wall built onto 
sandstone outcropping 
near Rodens Lane 

• Moderate level of 
historical 
archaeological 
potential relating to the 

180



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

67 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

King from 1927 to 1956. 
The land was acquired in 
1978 by the Maritime 
Services Board for 
excavation and building 
works to redevelop 
Darling Harbour as a 
container port. Following 
completion of the works 
in April 1981 the site was 
landscaped by the MSB 
and the remaining area 
handed back to the 
council in September 
1981. 4 teams of 
stonemasons worked for 
6 months to construct 
420m of stone walls 
around Clyne Reserve. 
The board used local 
sandstone it had 
preserved from the 
excavations for number 
3 Darling Harbour and 
about 80m of pre-World 
War 1 wrought-iron 
fencing. 

former structures and 
land use of the site 
starting from 1833.  

 

Dawes Point Fountain 
Garden 

In 1915, the Housing 
Board's architect William 
Henry Foggitt designed a 
scheme to integrate the 
newly realigned northern 
end of Cumberland 
Street with George 
Street north. This 
scheme, designed in the 
Inter War Free Classical 
style, included a set of 
concrete stairs / steps 
with sandstone 
balustrades, a public 
toilet convenience for 
men, retaining walls, 
lighting, seating and 
landscaping. Completed 
in 1916, it was part of a 
larger public works 
program carried out 
between 1912 and 1919 
to realign Cumberland 
Street. The southern 
approach of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge was built 
above it in the 1920s. 
Following the completion 
of the Sydney Harbour 
Bridge, the nearby 
Dawes Point Reserve 
and Park was replanted 

Dawes Point Fountain 
Garden (also referred to 
as 23a George Street 
North) is evidence of the 
work of the NSW 
Housing Board in the 
development of The 
Rocks after resumption 
in 1900. Initial 
investigation suggests it 
may be a rare example 
of civic design 
incorporating public 
amenity undertaken by 
the Board.23a George 
Street North has some 
historically significant as 
surviving evidence of the 
early provision of 
sanitary conveniences in 
the City of Sydney. The 
initial endeavours to 
provide sanitary 
amenities for the general 
public took place in the 
1880s with the purchase 
of cast iron pissoirs, one 
of which now stands 
near 23a George Street 
North and is listed as a 
heritage item. In 
response to public health 

• Three (3) Queen Palm 
(Syagrus 
romanzoffiana), One 
(1) Washington Palm 
(Washingtonia 
robusta) and One (1) 
American Cotton Palm 
(Washingtonia filifera) 
listed on Significant 
Tree Register 

• Cast iron urinal 
• Public toilets, dating 

from 1916 
• Obelisk 

Sandstone balustrade to 
Cumberland Street, 
seating nooks with 
decorative balustrade, 
lookout platform and set 
of stairs between 
Cumberland Street and 
George Street North 

181



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

68 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

during the 1930s and 
1940s and are 
representative of the 
palms popularised by 
Joseph Maiden, Director 
of the Botanic Gardens 
(1897-1924). 
Landscaping and garden 
work undertaken in 1937 
in George Street North 
as evidenced by a 
photograph in the City of 
Sydney Archives 
Collection 

concerns following the 
outbreak of bubonic 
plague in Sydney in 
1900, Sydney Municipal 
Council undertook to 
build one underground 
public convenience per 
year between 1901 and 
1911. These were 
overwhelmingly male 
facilities. A contract for 
the first ladies' above-
ground public lavatory 
was finally entered into 
in September 
1910.Underground 
conveniences were 
expensive to build and to 
maintain and as the 
twentieth century 
progressed the council 
revert to building more 
utilitarian above-ground 
toilets. Many have been 
demolished or rendered 
unusable. Although 
constructed by the NSW 
Housing Board rather 
than the City of Sydney, 
23a George Street 
demonstrates a broader 
awareness by a 
governing authority of 
the need for public 
amenity in the city. 
Another example is the 
public toilet at Circular 
Quay East, a free-
standing above ground 
facility constructed in 
1910. The Trust may 
also have built a 
convenience in Day 
Street, near Pyrmont 
Bridge (since 
demolished). 
Dawes Point Fountain 
Garden and the 
associated stair, 
balustrades and other 
works is a good example 
of the Inter war Free 
Classical style applied to 
a civic development. It 
presages the civic 
beautification works 
undertaken in 
metropolitan Sydney 
during the 1920s such as 

182



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

69 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

the retaining wall and 
balustrades at the 
intersection of New 
South Head Road and 
Darling Point Road (circa 
1928), the Campbell 
Parade realignment and 
bridges associated with 
the Bondi Pavilion 
(1930), the Rose Bay 
Sea Wall and 
promenade (1926), a 
bathing pavilion band 
rotunda and  promenade 
at Balmoral Beach(1929-
1930) and  the 
promenade  and  
terraced  platforms  
alongside part of the 
harbour foreshores at 
NielsenPark.23a George 
Street is contemporary 
with the rather more 
utilitarian steps and 
retaining walls in the 
Darling Harbour 
Resumption area, 
including Hickson  Steps  
(1912-1914)  Windmill  
Steps  (Circa  1912)  and  
the impressively 
engineered High Street 
retaining wall and steps 
(1909-1911). None of 
these items incorporate 
public sanitary facilities. 
The overall works 
associated with 23a 
George Street, including 
balustrades, stairs and 
seating, demonstrate a 
higher standard of 
architectural design. 

It is representative of the 
early initiatives providing 
public conveniences in 
Central Sydney during 
the first two decades of 
the twentieth century. 
Originally a male toilet, it 
was modified in the 
1970s to accommodate 
female toilets as well. 

Nita McCrae Park 
(Millers Point 
Recreation & 
Community Centre) 

Small grassed reserve 
and children’s 
playground in front of 
Abraham Mott Hall and 
Harry Jensen 

The Nita McCrae Park is 
likely to be of social 
significance as a 
community centre 
providing a gathering 

• The buildings on this 
reserve are of various 
ages of construction, 
including the original 
pre-1943 structure 

183



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

70 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

Community Centre. Nita 
McCrae Park was 
officially opened on 
Saturday 28 November 
2017. Nita McCrae was 
a community activist and 
campaigned alongside 
Jack Mundey against the 
state government's plans 
to relocate residents and 
redevelop The Rocks 
and Millers Point in the 
1970s. She enlisted the 
assistance of the 
Builders' Labourers' 
Federation to impose a 
green ban on the 
precinct and bring works 
to a halt. Council 
endorsed the name of 
the new pocket park 

place for the community 
of Millers point. It may be 
of historical significance 
for its association with 
the early subdivision of 
the rocks and the 
formation of the Millers 
point precinct. It also 
contributes to the setting 
and streetscape of 
Millers point and the 
Argyle Place park setting 
to which its serves as a 
backdrop across the 
road. This is subject to a 
detailed heritage 
significance assessment. 

which has been 
modified and extended 
over the following 
decades. This is of low 
contribution to the 
area 

• Grassed area provides 
connection to Argyle 
Place Park 

• Palisade fencing on 
low sandstone wall—
likely reinstated from 
another property, 
however, matches the 
surround streetscape 
characteristics 

 

Watson Road Public 
Toilets 

In c1956 the City Council 
erected public toilets in 
Watson Road for men 
and women. It replaced 
an early cast iron men’s 
urinal near the corner of 
Watson Road and Argyle 
Place in Millers Point 
which was located close 
to the wharves at Darling 
Harbour and Walsh Bay 

The Watson Road public 
toilets may be of 
historical significance as 
part of the public works 
and sanitation provisions 
provided by the NSW 
government for the 
Millers Point community. 
It is also associated with 
the development of the 
Observatory Hill park.  
The existing facilities and 
structure constructed in 
the c1950s is unlikely to 
be significant heritage 
fabric but instead 
represents the ongoing 
upgrades to public 
facilities as changing 
public health rationale 
were implement.  

The above statement is 
subject to a detailed 
heritage significance 
assessment. 

No significant elements 
to the toilets which were 
constructed c1950s and 
not considered to be of 
technical, aesthetic or 
historical significance. 

Munn Street Reserve In 1975 the Maritime 
Services Board acquired 
the Munn Street Reserve 
land to allow excavation 
and building works for 
the continuing 
redevelopment of Darling 
Harbour as a container 
port. The board then 
handed it back to the 

Munn Street Reserve set 
beside the Palisade 
Hotel is remnant of the 
1843 land grant to 
James Munn, who 
operated a shipbuilding 
yard nearby. This 
reserve is also a 
remnant of the former 
landscape on the 
western end of Millers 

• Portion of Munn street 
palisade fence 

• Sandstone fence 
pillars and hobb/ base 
with replicated (?) 
fence 

• Sandstone retaining 
wall and stairs to 
adjacent 1910s 

184



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

71 

name Key Development 
history  

significance Key elements 

council in September 
1981. 

Point, which was one of 
many areas which was 
reshaped in the early 
1900s as the Sydney 
Harbour Trust rebuild 
Millers point and the port 
of Sydney following 1901 

workers houses and 
the Palisade hotel 

 

185



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

72 

City of Sydney Policy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

186



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

187



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

188



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

189



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

190



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

191



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10-kilometre radius must be 
avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

192



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

79 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

.  

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

193



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 
– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 

(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

194



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

   

195



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 
– Creating better buildings and places to 

reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

196



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   
10. Substantially increase the number of 

existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

197



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

198



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 
– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right to access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 
4. Leadership and advocacy 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 
Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 

199



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 
– Employ water sensitive urban design 

techniques 
– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

200



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 
– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 

easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

201



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

202



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

203



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 
– Increase the distribution and abundance 

of priority fauna species across the LGA 
Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

   

204



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

205



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

 

 

 
 
  

206



Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves Draft Plan of Management 

93 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

207



Attachment E 

General Crown Reserves      

 

 

 

208



 

General Crown Reserves 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 209



General Crown Reserves 
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 32 

3. Legislative context 39 

4. Strategic context 42 

5. Community guiding principles 45 

6. Basis for Management 47 

7. Review of the plan 54 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 55 

8. General requirements 56 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 62 

10. Park category - authorisations 68 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 72 

12. Appendices 77 

 

210



General Crown Reserves 
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

 
 
Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces 32 

Figure 3. Summary land information 33 

Figure 4. Community land categorisation table 51 

Figure 5. Proposed categorisations by park 52 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 68 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 69 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 72 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 74 

 

 

211



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

212



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

213



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

This Generic Plan addresses various Crown 
Reserves across the Local Government Area 
(“LGA”). A Generic Plan is applicable to these 
spaces as they are small in footprint and exhibit 
similar characteristics and management 
requirements as outlined in Section 6 of this 
plan. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

214



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

215



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

216



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

217



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event). 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces  

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 
  

218



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to City of Sydney General Crown Reserves 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject sites. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

219



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

220



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

221



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

222



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

223



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

224



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

225



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

226



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

227



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

228



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

229



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

230



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

231



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

232



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

233



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

234



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

235



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

236



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

237



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

238



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

239



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for General Crown Reserves 
through past master planning and city-wide 
strategic planning (Open Space, Sports and 
Recreation Needs Study 2016).  

This PoM references the Open Space, Sports 
and Recreation Needs Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”) 
as the current planning direction for the reserves. 

 

Location and description  
The General Crown Reserves are located 
across the City of Sydney Local Government 
Area (“LGA”). These spaces are predominantly 
small in size and focus on providing active and 
passive recreation opportunities for the local 
communities in close proximity. 

Refer to Figure 2 Site Plan below for locations. 

The table on the following page summarises key 
land information for the subject sites. 

 

Figure 2. Location plan of subject spaces
 

 

 

2. Land description 

240



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Figure 3. Summary land information 
name res No. purpose lot DP zoning overall 

area 
category notes 

Andrew 
(Boy) 
Charlton 
Pool 

500250 Public 
Recreation 

31 39586 RE1 206.4m2 General 
Community 
Use   

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Beare Park 500161 Public 
Recreation 

1 

 

 

3 &4 

1 

A & B 

136079 

 

 

68974 

79117 

88740 

RE1 

 

 

RE1 

 

RE1 

2321.35 m2 

 

 

1707.00 m2 

 

2167.65 m2 

Park 

 

 

Park 

 

Park 

 

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

City-owned:  
Kings Cross 
Rotary Park –  

 

Beare Park  

Dr H J 
Foley Rest 
Park 

88997 Public 
Recreation 

665 729285 RE1 5010.3 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

 1000257 Baby Clinic 521 752049 RE1 881.14 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Franklyn 
Park 
Community 
Space 

1011329 Community 
Purposes; 
Public 
Recreation 

101 1086782 RE1 247.2 m2 General 
Community 
Use/Park 

Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Glebe 
Foreshore 
Walk East 

100039 Public 
Recreation 

626 752049 RE1 192.52m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

 1000258 Municipal 
Purposes; 
Wharfage 

291 752049 RE1 192.51m2 General 
Community 
Use/Park 

Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

   591 752049 RE1   Reserve Type: 
Unreserved 

   2 

106 

874134 

1076596 

RE1  Park City-owned 

Green Park  500436 Public 
Recreation 

640 752011 RE1 1432.67 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

 500439 Public 
Recreation 

1 668227 RE1 3877.47 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

Hollis Park 500165 Public 
Recreation 

33-36 4656 RE1 2041.08 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Public Park 

 500301 Public 
Recreation 

1 135315 RE1 2644.07 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

241



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

name res No. purpose lot DP zoning overall 
area 

category notes 

Robyn 
Kemmis 
Reserve 

1003888 Public 
Recreation 

102 1086782 RE1 1117.06 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Reserve 

Shannon 
Reserve 

500275 Public 
Recreation 

7069 93609 RE1 2660.92 m2 Park Reserve Type: 
Dedication 

 

Crown land defined by Section 3.1(2) of the Crown Land Management Act 2016 is controlled by 
the State of New South Wales until such time as it is dedicated or reserved, and a Crown land 
manager appointed. The City of Sydney has made a formal request to create a new reserve for the 
unreserved Crown land located in Glebe Foreshore Walk East and appointment as the Crown land 
manager. This Plan of Management includes that land now under Section 39 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 and will continue to include the land should the appointment be forthcoming.  
  

242



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Heritage and culture 
Overview 

The General Crown Reserves addresses the 
following 9 small parks and reserves which are 
Crown land under the care, control and 
management of the City of Sydney:  

– Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool, Sydney 
– Beare Park, Elizabeth Bay 
– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park, Glebe  
– Franklyn Park Community Space, Glebe 
– Glebe Foreshore Walk East, Glebe 
– Green Park, Darlinghurst 
– Hollis Park, Newtown 
– Robyn Kemmis Reserve, Glebe 
– Shannon Reserve, Surry Hills 

The parks are situated on the traditional lands of 
the Gadigal people. Many of the parks and 
adjacent areas have been associated with First 
Nations and the ongoing social history within 
Sydney.   

Several of the parks are the result of the City of 
Sydney’s commitment to providing public space 
for the local community combined with the 
growth and development of the city, that has 
seen industrial activities relocated out of the city. 
For example, Hollis Park represents the 
culmination of Council’s attempts over many 
years to secure public open space in a densely 
populated inner-city suburb. Shannon Reserve 
and Glebe Foreshore Walk East emerged out of 
agreements with Council to create additional 
public space as industry left the city. 

The age and origin of the parks varies widely. 
Hollis Park and Green Park were formally 
designed and dedicated over 100 years ago, 
whilst Glebe Foreshore Walk East was formed in 
2005, following the closure of the Council depot.  

Some of the parks are held in high esteem for 
their amenity values such as Shannon Reserve 
and Robyn Kemmis Reserve, whilst others such 
as Green Park, Beare Park, Dr HJ Foley Rest 
Park, and the Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool have 
deeper social, historical, and associative values 
for the people of Sydney. 

The parks represent various phases in historic 
development of the urban pattern and form 
within the City of Sydney, combined with 
changing attitudes and patterns of public 
recreation, leisure and use.  Individually and 
collectively, the spaces are held in high regard 

by the community for their open space and public 
amenity values. 

History 
By the end of the 1890s inner-city suburbs such 
as Glebe, Surry Hills, Newtown and Darlinghurst 
had become densely populated. While they had 
a mix of housing types and allotment sizes, there 
was a paucity of open space. The untrammelled 
subdivision and housing development of the 
nineteenth century was characterised by 
speculative development. Housing in inner-city 
suburbs were characterised by narrow streets 
and tight rows of terrace housing with small rear 
yards and poor sanitation. The working-class 
residential population had little or no access to 
green space in their neighbourhoods. 

Following the outbreak of the bubonic plaque in 
1900, resumptions, cleansing operations, 
demolition and civic improvement programs 
were initiated. By 1909 when the Royal 
Commission for the Improvement of the City of 
Sydney and its Suburbs was published, the 
housing ’problem' was characterised as a 
problem of overcrowding in certain areas and 
associated with the lack of open space and 
residential amenity. Consequently, the Council 
set about addressing the lack of parkland in parts 
of the Local Government Area (“LGA”). Hence, 
some of the City of Sydney’s new parks were 
borne from ‘slum clearance’ works. 
Progressively during the twentieth century, the 
Council acquired land from private owners and 
government departments.  

Overall Significance 
The nine small parks and reserves individually 
and collectively demonstrate historical phases of 
inner-city urban development and planning 
combined with social shaping processes, 
including the changing standards and 
aspirations for public health, recreation and 
leisure through the provision of public open 
space. 

Each place has significant heritage values and is 
likely to be important to the people of Sydney. 
Many of these parks have historical value and 
social associations, aesthetic values and 
landmark qualities evidenced through design, 
various plantings and monuments. 

 

 
  

243



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Environment and landscape  
The following is an overview of the general 
characteristics of the General Crown Reserves.  
Specific reserve information sheets are included 
in the Appendix with more detailed commentary 
on individual reserves. 

The parks can be grouped as determined by 
their geographical location, function and use. 

Foreshore Parks 
Typical of Sydney’s foreshore parks to reclaimed 
low lying land, providing level grassed open 
areas bounded by a stone seawall on the 
harbours edge.  

The Andrew (Boy) Charlton Reserve provides a 
glimpse of the pre-colonisation natural 
landscape with its rocky intertidal foreshore zone 
and mix foreshore vegetation.  

This parks provides the opportunity to access the 
harbour and water’s edge.  

Village Green/Squares 
Characterised by their strong heritage identities 
and reflected in the park’s layout, fabric, mature 
tree canopy and species selection.  

These spaces are also characterised by 
adjoining public domain and active village street 
frontages.  

The park edges vary between formalised 
walling, raised kerbs, planted embankments and 
are responsive to the surrounding topography.  

Often the parks are elevated from street level 
requiring steps or ramps up into the park. 

Neighbourhood Parks 
These spaces provide small neighbourhood play 
and green spaces for the local community. The 
spaces are generally adjoining high density 
residential areas.  

The spaces provide areas of open grass, tree 
canopy coverage with limited understorey 
plantings to the periphery and opportunities for 
children’s play.  

Generally, the parks can all be accessed from 
the surrounding street network.  

Some of the reserves will connect directly with 
broader access systems such as the Glebe 
Foreshore and Andrew (Boy) Charlton Reserve 
to the Botanic Garden/The Domain. 

The internal circulation path networks are 
generally accessible although many path edges 
and surfacing could be upgraded and/or 
refurbished to overcome maintenance issues 
and to better cater for increased usage. 

Reserve development 
The nine General Crown Reserves comprising of 
Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool, Beare Park, Dr HJ 
Foley Rest Park, Franklyn Park Community 
Space, Glebe Foreshore Walk East, Green Park, 
Hollis Park, Shannon Reserve and Robyn 
Kemmis Reserve have evolved over extended 
periods.  

Capital Works upgrades: 
Upgrades and park renewals as part of the City 
of Sydney’s capital works program in the last 15 
years have included: 

– Shannon Reserve 
– Beare Park 
– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park 
– Hollis Park play space upgrades due for 

completion 2021 

Past studies and plans: 
– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 

Study 2016 

– Beare Park Plan of Management 2006 

– Glebe Foreshore Walk East Plan of 
Management 2006 

– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park Plan of Management 
2005 

– Hollis Park Plan of Management 1990 

 

 

  

244



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for the General Crown 
Reserves include: 

Public 
Recreation 

- Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool 
- Beare Park 
- Dr HJ Foley Rest Park 
- Franklyn Park Community 

Space 
- Glebe Foreshore Walk East 
- Green Park 
- Hollis Park 
- Shannon Reserve 
- Robyn Kemmis Reserve 

Baby Clinic - Dr HJ Foley Rest Park 

Community 
Purposes 

- Franklyn Park Community 
Space 

Municipal 
Purposes; 
Wharfage 

- Glebe Foreshore Walk East 

Community usage 
The General Crown Reserves provide a variety 
of opportunities for active and passive recreation 
which serve the local community, and local 
workers.  The exception to this the Andrew (Boy) 
Charlton Pool Crown reserve which is locked to 
public access from the Domain foreshore. 

Due to the nature of this reserve (rocky 
foreshore), it is not suitable for public access and 
use. 

Usage levels across the reserves ranges from 
low to moderate, to intensive and reflects the 
size and facilities available within the spaces. 

Common activities include pedestrian and 
cycling access; pedestrian and small and 
boating access to Sydney Harbour; BBQs and 
picnics; fitness training groups and access to 
play spaces. 

Some reserves provide opportunities for off-
leash dog walking (Beare Park, Glebe Foreshore 
Walk East and Hollis Park). 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicated that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by almost half of the 
respondents were: 

– Enjoying nature 

– Walking or running for exercise 

– Walking through to get somewhere else 

– Watching the world go by 

– Sitting and relaxing 

– Meeting with friends 

– Walking the dog 

– Sights seeing/enjoying the views 

– Playing with the kids 

– Cycle, scoot or skate 

The majority of survey respondents were likely 
to live nearby the reserves and would visit the 
parks on a daily basis. Popular times to visit were 
across the day with low visitation during the 
afternoon/evening time period (6pm-9pm). 

Event use of spaces 
Most reserves have hosted community focused 
events varying in scale and attendance levels 
with the exception of the Andrew (Boy) Charlton 
Pool Crown reserve.  

The following reserves have held registered 
events: 

Beare Park Occasional events including 
NYE; picnics. The park has 
previously been booked for site 
inspections, workshops and 
community information sessions 
(3 events between 2015-17). 
Attendance ranges up to 500 
people 

Dr HJ Foley 
Rest Park 

Has hosted special markets 
days 

Franklyn 
Park 
Community 

Offers a small space for hire 

245



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Hollis Park Has hosted festivals and low 
impact filming. Attendance has 
ranged up to 200 people. The 
City of Sydney registered 2 
events between 2015-18 

Shannon 
Reserve 

Has hosted markets, 
promotional events, 
commemoration, festivals, 
charitable fundraising. 
Attendance has ranged up 
50,000 people. The City of 
Sydney registered 20 events 
between 2015-19. Shannon 
Reserve also hosts the following 
recurring events:  Homeless 
Memorial Service, Super Furry 
Festival and Surry Hills Festival 

 

 
  

246



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Ownership and management 
The General Crown Reserves are Crown 
reserves owned by the State of New South 
Wales. The City of Sydney is the Crown land 
manager responsible for the management of 
the reserves.  Refer to Section 2, pages 33-34 
for further property details. 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to the General Crown Reserves is 
Clause 65 that specifies that development for 
any purpose may be carried out without consent 
if the development is for the purposes of 
implementing an adopted PoM. The clause also 
lists a range of ancillary developments permitted 
without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

247



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Generally, the subject reserves are zoned RE1 
Public Recreation under City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (“LEP”), with the 
exception of: 

Franklyn 
Park 
Community 
Space 

R1 General Residential under 
Sydney LEP 2012 

Glebe 
Foreshore 
Park East 
 

R1 General Residential under 
Syd LEP 2012  
(only applies to part Lot 626 
DP752049 which encroaches 
into car park) 

1 Objectives of RE1 Public Recreation zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes 

– To provide links between open space areas 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 

and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

248



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 
to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local, State and National heritage listings. 

 

 

 
  

249



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

250



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

− Glebe point road will have an increase in lone 
person households and a decrease in group 
households 

− King Street will have a high increase in other 
families, group households and couples 
without dependants 

− Macleay Street – Woolloomooloo will have an 
increase in other families, followed by one 
parent families 

− Oxford Street will have an increase in other 
families, followed by lone person households 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

251



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

252



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

253



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

254



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Values and roles of the 
General Crown Reserve open 
spaces 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parks that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0 Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- Places which signpost and celebrate local, 
natural and cultural history 

- Places with a strong character and identity 

- Valued green spaces 

 

2.0 Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- Well-connected spaces to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and 
use 

- Places that are clear, easy and safe to 
move around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- Places that are not compromised by 
parking and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- Places of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Amenities that enable community 
interaction 

- Spaces and facilities that support youth 
use of the parks 

- Places for dog walking and exercise 

- Places that recognise and celebrate First 
Nations living culture 

- Places for events 

- Places that provide access to community 
venues 

- Places that are open and usable by all 
members of community 

- Safe places to visit day and night 

- Places that provide access to public 
amenities 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Park elements that support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Play facilities for the local community 

- Underground infrastructure 
  

 5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- Places of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support 
biodiversity 

- Places that are cool, calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to 
the park setting and habitat 

- Places exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

6. Basis for 
Management 

255



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

- Places exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- Places exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- Places that strengthen First Nations People 
and living culture 

- Places which are a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- Places that provide the community access 
to cultural expression and awareness 
through arts and culture 

- Places that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- Places which are clean, well-maintained 
and carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 
 
  

256



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Open space classification and 
rationale for this plan 
The General Crown Reserves subject to this 
PoM form a diverse but complimentary group of 
open spaces within the City of Sydney Local 
Government Area. 

The majority of reserves are generally classified 
as “Neighbourhood” spaces under the City of 
Sydney’s Open Space Sports Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 – Volume 5 appendices - “Open 
Space Hierarchy Classifications”.   

The exceptions are: 

– Green Park - is classified as “Local”  

– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park - is classified “Local” 

– Glebe Foreshore Walk East – is classified 
“Small Neighbourhood” 

The reserves can be further considered under 
their individual settings and related roles: 

Foreshore spaces 
– Beare Park 

– Glebe Foreshore Walk East 

– Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool foreshore 

Village Green / Squares 
– Green Park 

– Hollis Park 

– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park 

– Shannon Reserve 

Neighbourhood parks 
– Robyn Kemmis Reserve and Franklyn Park 

Community Space 

 
Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for the subject Crown 
reserves are Public Recreation, Community 

Purposes, Municipal Purposes, Wharfage 
and Baby Clinic. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 5 identifies the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserves. 

Current / existing use 
Council has established initial categorisations for 
the General Crown Reserves in accordance with 
Crown Land requirements.  The Council Crown 
Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
Councils should apply initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use.  These initial 
categorisations for the General Crown Reserves 
have been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For the General Crown Reserves there are no 
site characteristics that would justify Natural 
Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 

257



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For the General Crown Reserves, Section 2 
describes the heritage characteristics of the 
land, and the applicable listings and controls.  
These will be considered in all management 
decisions related to the land. The additional layer 
of Area of Cultural Significance categorisation is 
not deemed to be required. 

 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 4) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
the General Crown Reserves. Under the 
guidelines for each category, their interpretation 
and application to General Crown Reserves are 
explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

258



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Figure 4. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to the General Crown 
Reserves 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

In accordance with the guidelines above, the 
following table outlines the community land 
categories applicable to the reserves subject to 
this PoM. 
  

259



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Figure 5. Proposed categorisations by park 
name res 

No. 
purpose overall area category 

Andrew (Boy) 
Charlton Pool 

500250 Public Recreation 206.4 General Community Use   

Beare Park 500161 Public Recreation 2321.35 Park 

    Park (City-owned land) 

Dr H J Foley Rest 
Park 

88997 Public Recreation 5010.3 Park 

Dr H J Foley Rest 
Park 

1000257 Baby Clinic 881.14 Park 

Franklyn Park 
Community Space 

1011329 Community Purposes; Public 
Recreation 

247.2 General Community 
Use/Park 

Glebe Foreshore 
Walk East 

100039 Public Recreation 192.52 Park 

 1000258 Municipal Purposes; 
Wharfage 

192.51 General Community 
Use/Park 

  Unreserved Crown land  Park (proposed) 

    Park (City-owned land) 

Green Park (Part) 500436 Public Recreation 1432.67 Park 

Green Park (Part) 500439 Public Recreation 3877.47 Park 

Hollis Park 500165 Public Recreation 2041.08 Park 

Hollis Park 500301 Public Recreation 2644.07 Park 

Robyn Kemmis 
Reserve 

1003888 Public Recreation 1117.06 Park 

Shannon Reserve 500275 Public Recreation 2660.92 Park 

 
  

260



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for the General Crown Reserves 
through past master planning and city-wide 
strategic planning in particular the Open Space, 
Sports and Recreation Needs Study 2016 
(“OSSRNS”). 
This PoM references the OSSRNS 2016 as a 
current strategic planning direction for the 
reserves.  Summarised following are the guiding 
strategic directions for planning and 
management of the General Crown Reserves as 
defined by the OSSRNS 2016. 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 
2016 - 27 Small Parks Upgrade Program 
The study notes that small parks are an 
important component of the open space network 
providing convenient short stay recreation 
opportunities within a 10 minute walk from most 
residences.  

The program aims to deliver park renewal that 
delivers:  

– New Playground equipment and park 
furniture  

– Lighting upgrade if required  

– Access improvements if required  

– Facilities and general landscape 
embellishments 

– Shade structures if required  

– Habitat creation  

– Support Biodiversity where appropriate  

– Environmental performance to contribute to 
the City of Sydney’s environmental targets. 

The range of capital improvements 
recommended by this this program includes: 

– replacement and upgrade of play equipment,  

– replacement and upgrade of play softfall,  

– park furniture 

– shade structures 

– paths 

– lighting 

– tree / landscape planting and turf works.  

 

Completed Small Parks Projects to date include:  

– Shannon Reserve 
– Beare Park 
– Dr H J Foley Rest Park 
– Robyn Kemmis Reserve & Franklyn Park 

Community Space 
– Hollis Park play space and park renewal 

works are due for completion 2021 

 

 
  

261



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation  

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

 
  

7. Review of the plan 

262



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

263



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within the General Crown Reserves and is 
applicable to all community land categories, as 
outlined in Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of the General Crown Reserves. 
The outcomes seek to conserve and enhance 
the values of the General Crown Reserves and 
address management challenges and 
opportunities identified by the community and 
City. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 

structures and spaces at the General Crown 
Reserves will be considered on merit and 
benefits to the community and balanced 
against physical constraints, the amenity of 
adjoining residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

264



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of the General Crown 
Reserves. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at the General Crown 
Reserves may also be prohibited by the 
applicable land use zoning. The City of Sydney 
may prohibit certain activities from time to time. 
Prohibited uses will be communicated via City 
bookings, lease and licence agreements, or 
otherwise communicated where prohibited 
activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at the General 
Crown Reserves must consider the needs of and 
impacts on residents, workers and adjoining land 
uses in terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, 
traffic and parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at the 
General Crown Reserves which may attract 

265



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

high numbers of people including one-off 
community events and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across the General Crown Reserves 
and settings (such as playgrounds, fitness 
stations and park seating) will be determined by 
the community use of the site but will be 
managed to avoid undue impacts on park fabric 
and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the 
reserves. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the reserves need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 

construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through NSW 
Government grant allocations, which may 
involve matching funding from Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the parks is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the parks. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licences for different users 
can apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as General Crown Reserves is authorised 
by section 3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires 
the preparation of a community land PoM, 
adopted by Council, to authorise an occupancy 
or use agreement. 

266



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence  

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainabl 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
the General Crown Reserves. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

267



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with City of 
Sydney’s technical requirements, and where 
required, the relevant standards identified 
within the State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

268



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City to use a sports field, oval or court and 
comply with the City’s Terms and Conditions 
of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this Plan 
of Management, and shall be subject to the 
following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  
 
An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.

269



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for the General Crown 
Reserves, including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review 
by the City of Sydney. 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 Places which signpost 
and celebrate local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 
 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 Places with a strong 
character and identity 

• To conserve the strong, 
physical, cultural and social 
identities of the parks 

Management has regard for the 
complex and diverse influences 
on park character and identity 
and seeks to conserve and 
enhance 

Targeted user surveys 

1.4 Valued green spaces  • To maintain and enhance the 
green character of the parks  

Maintain the green qualities of 
each park 

Increased use of parks 
measured by surveys and 
observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 Well-connected spaces 
to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to 
district and regional 
users 

• To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to 
the park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work 
towards improving local access 
routes for workplace precincts 
and adjoining residential areas 

Targeted user surveys 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective wayfinding 
and signage for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade 
wayfinding and signage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of 
park, measured by 
observation 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

2.3 Places that are clear, 
easy and safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, attractive 
and compliant internal 
circulation routes and path 
networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with 
park service levels 
Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance 
with Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate lighting to 
support desired night access, 
recreational and leisurely use of 
open space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with 
Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

270



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 Places that are not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

• To provide a balanced approach 
to parking  

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing off-street 
parking to ensure efficiency and 
equity  
Ensure that the use of vehicles, 
when permitted in parks are 
regulated and do not affect the 
normal functioning of these 
spaces for community use 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, 
cyclist and vehicle 
conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 Places of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park provides 
a range of flexible and informal 
use spaces that are attractive 
and comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community 
benefit 
 

Increased local use of 
park measured by survey 
and observation 

3.2 Amenities that enable 
community interaction 

• To provide social opportunities 
for the community 

Investigate opportunities to 
activate the park spaces (e.g. 
café at Green Park) 

Increased local use of 
parks measured by and 
observation 

3.3 Spaces and facilities 
that support youth use 
of the parks 

• To sustainably respond to youth 
needs for gathering and activity 
spaces 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and 
activity 

Increased youth 
participation measured by 
observation 

3.4 Places for dog walking 
and exercise 

• To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy 
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained  
Reports of conflicts 
between dogs and other 
park users 

3.5 Places that recognise 
and celebrate First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First 
Nations community to understand 
the processes and procedures 
required to enhance access to 
spaces and facilities 

Review existing policies 
and procedures  
 

3.6 Places for events • To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 
 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses  
Develop guidelines for event use 
of parks defining: 
- Usable area and capacity 
- Other specific event 

management and approval 
requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to 
scale and intensity 
Developed guidelines 
Ongoing review and 
compliance 

3.7 Places that provide 
access to community 
venues 

• To activate the role of 
community venues 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
community venues  
 

Venue bookings 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

271



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.8 Places that are open 
and usable by all 
members of community 

• That the parks are managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach across 
the city to assisting homeless 
persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs 
to be in accordance with the City 
of Sydney’s policy on 
homelessness in public spaces, 
which ‘recognises the right of 
everyone in the community to 
use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 
2019) and aims to ensure that 
public space can be accessed 
and enjoyed by everyone, 
including people who are 
homeless 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regularly review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

3.9 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

• To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and 
access in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
- Where improvements are 

proposed, ensure that they 
are designed and 
maintained in accordance 
with Crime Prevention 
through Environmental 
Design principles 

Percentage of people 
who feel safe in these 
spaces 
Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 
Sustained relationship 
with local police 
 

3.10 Places that provide 
access to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and provision 
of public toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
public toilet. Regular 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Park elements 

4.1 Park elements that 
support park use and 
create an attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of open space 
while avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against 
contract KPIs 
Inspections and audits 
 

Play spaces 

4.2 Play facilities for the 
local community 

• To provide play environments 
that encourage activity and 
support family use of park 

Maintain and renew play spaces 
and related landscape settings in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against 
contract KPIs 
Inspections and audits 
 

Underground infrastructure 

4.3 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements 
are effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with 
services authorities to identify 
amplification and renewal works 
that may impact spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use 
and facilitate effective make good 
/ integration 
 
 
 
 

Sustained relationship 
with authorities 
 

272



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping 
to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green landscape 
for continued community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 
Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 
Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 
 
 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 Places of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

• To protect and improve 
existing habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground and cliff surfaces 
Maintain and manage areas of 
bush restoration in accordance 
with Bush Restoration Service 
Levels 
Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 
 

Monitoring of habitat 
values 
Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
priorities in open space 

Maintain and enhance urban 
ecology advisory role for 
proposed works associated with 
open space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and participation 
in the preservation of greenspace 
and the importance of ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open 
space works 
Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are 
connected to support 
biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the site and 
surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key 
sites and species, as identified in 
the biodiversity corridor 
Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park 
Service Levels 

Monitoring of habitat 
values 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 Places that are cool, 
calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to selectively 
extend to create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing 
tree canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree 
canopy shade in suitable 
locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
of shade cover 
Targeted user surveys 

5.7 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health 
for their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal 
of trees and replacement planting 
in accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program  
To parks with mature tree canopy 
plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 
(where required) 
 
 
 
 

Improved health of trees 
and successful 
establishment of new 
trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan (where 
required) 

273



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Water management 

5.8 Places exhibiting water 
sensitive urban design 

• To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  

 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative 
water sources and install 
metering to effectively manage 
water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve 
waterway quality 

Increased savings in 
water consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.9 Places exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement 
energy management initiatives, 
renewable energy, investigate 
alternatives to temporary 
generators and install metering 
as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 Places exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste 
measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 Places that strengthen 
First Nations people 
and living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values 
in ongoing planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 Places which are a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of heritage 
significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or 
fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 Places that provide the 
community access to 
cultural expression and 
awareness through arts 
and culture 

• To provide a canvas for public 
art and artistic and creative 
expression that is sustainable 
in the context of existing 
character and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for 
their ongoing role and fit within 
the park. 
Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public 
art. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 
Measured against 
contract KPIs 
Inspections and audits 

6.4 Places that provide a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
space setting and adds to the 
range of experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, 
where appropriate 

Increased representation 
of public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Places which are 
clean, well-maintained 
and carefully managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
parks 

Maintenance programs carried 
out in accordance with City of 
Sydney Parks Maintenance 
Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 
 

274



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.2 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 

7.3 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the 
Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown 
Land Management Act 2016 and 
Native Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 
  

275



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Figure 6. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 6 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the General Crown 
Reserves categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

276

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

 

Figure 7. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be 
expressly authorised by a PoM. Figure 7 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted 
on community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual 
use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the General Crown Reserves in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

277



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

278

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public 
utilities in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the 
connection of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council 
or other public utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this plan of management in Introduction 
to Part B for criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 
 
 
  

279



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Figure 8. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 8 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the General Crown 
Reserves categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals 
and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

280

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Management and operation of community 
facility 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

  

281



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Figure 9. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 9 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the City of 
Sydney General Crown Reserves in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) 
Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Any lease or licence proposal will be individually assessed and considered, 
including the community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of 
the area to support the activity. 

Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. concerts, dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community use) 

282



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public 
utilities in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the 

283

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

connection of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council 
or other public utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this plan of management in Introduction 
to Part B for criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

284



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Glossary of terms 
Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 
  

12. Appendices 

285



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

References 
 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 

– Beare Park Plan of Management 2006 

– Glebe Foreshore Walk East Plan of 
Management 2006 

– Dr HJ Foley Rest Park Plan of Management 
2005 

– Hollis Park Plan of Management 1990 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
  

286



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Reserve Information Sheets 
 

 

 
  

287



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

ANDREW (BOY) CHARLTON 
POOL (Crown reserve) 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Mrs Macquarie’s Road, 
Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500250, Public Recreation 
28/10/1955 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 206.4m2 

Lot & DP Lot 31 DP 39586 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing  
General Community Use 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Associated with Woolloomooloo Bay which was 

frequented by Aboriginal people to camp, fish, hunt 
and conduct ceremony up until the 1860 

• Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool - located immediately 
adjacent to the Governors Domain and Civic Precinct, 
National Heritage Place 

Key Heritage elements: 
• Rocky intertidal foreshore below sandstone seawall 
• Remnant of pre-colonisation landscape 

 

environmental and landscape values 
• Rocky intertidal foreshore below sandstone seawall 
• Mixed foreshore vegetation and weeds 
• Partly modified / natural character 
• Reserve adjoins the Andrew (Boy) Charlton Pool 

complex 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated for public recreation in 

1955 
•  

facilities  usage condition 

Steps part of 
pool access 

Council 
maintenance 

Average to Good 

Part Old 
sandstone block 
seawall 

n/a Average to Good 

   

 
reserve usage 

• No day to day public foreshore access and use – locked 
gate at sea wall 

 

 
  

288



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

BEARE PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Esplanade Road, Elizabeth 
Bay 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales), City-owned 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500161, Public Recreation, 
25/8/1909 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 2321.35m2 

Lot & DP 
Crown Reserve: 
City-owned community 
land: 
 

 
Lot 1 DP 136079 
Kings Cross Rotary Park - 
Lots 3 & 4 DP 68974, Lot 1 
DP 79117 
Beare Park - Lots A & B 
88740 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
Park 

Buildings Gardeners Shed/ Toilets 

Leases / licences  
 

Lease - Sydney Water 
Corporation 
21 years expiry 31/05/19 
(holdover) 

heritage and cultural values 
• Place of an aboriginal Settlement, Elizabeth Town / 

“Garrajin” from 1820-1824 
• SLEP Elizabeth and Rushcutters Bays Conservation 

Area C20 

Key Heritage elements: 

• Canopy fountain, Spray fountain, Brick paving and 
Lion’s head drinking fountain, Seawall, Partially fenced 
children’s playground, Significant trees  

Interpretive opportunities: 
• Dual Names - Elizabeth Bay and Elizabeth Point have 

both been officially dual named: 
Elizabeth Bay / Gurrajin 
Elizabeth Point / Jerrowan 

environmental and landscape values 
• Heritage foreshore setting. 
• Typical Sydney foreshore park situated on reclaimed 

land with sandstone seawall  

• Carparking and marina punctuate the overall open 
space 

• Integrated with Community land to form larger open 
space 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated for public recreation in 

1955 
• Park refurbishment upgrades 2006 

facilities  use condition 

Public Toilets General Public Good (2) 

Play equipment General Public Good (2) 

Public Art 

- Canopy 
Fountain 

Specimen Jar 

Bear Park 
Fountain 

Partially 
interactive to 
general public 

 

Good (2) 

 

Good (2) 

Good (2) 

Gardener’s 
Shed (Rotary 
Park) 

Substation  Average (3) 

Seawall n/a Average to Good 

Park Furniture General Public Average to Good 

Footpaths General Public Average to Good 

reserve usage 

• Place to sit, relax, off-leash dog walking 
• Access to children’s playspace and public toilets 
• Pedestrian Foreshore /Harbour water Access 
• Occasional Events – NYE, picnics 

289



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

DR H J FOLEY REST PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Glebe Point Road cnr Bridge 
Road, Glebe 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R88997, Public Recreation, 
31/8/1973 
R1000257, Baby Clinic, 
5/4/1946 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 5010.3m2, 881.14 m2 

Lot & DP Lot 665 DP 729285 
Lot 521 DP 752049 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
Park 

Buildings Wireless radio Shack, Public 
Toilets 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Dr HJ Foley Rest Park, Glebe: SLEP Foley Park I725, 

Glebe War Memorial I724, Glebe Point Road 
Conservation Area C29 

Key Heritage elements: 
• Wireless radio shack 
• Glebe War Memorial 
• Significant trees 

environmental and landscape values 
• Centre of Glebe Village 
• Strong heritage identity 
• Mature Fig canopy contributes to park character and 

shade provision 
• Diversity of understorey plantings to park periphery 

providing a strong green character to park 
• Level grassed spaces 
• Playspace 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated for public recreation in 

1973 
• Major park refurbishment works completed in 

2008/2009 

 

 

 

facilities  usage condition 

Small Store & 
Wireless Radio 
Shack 

n/a Good (2) 

Public Toilets General Public Good (2) 

Glebe War 
Memorial 

Veterans Groups Good (2) 

Playground General Public Good (2) 

Park Furniture General Public Average to Good 

Pergola 
Structures 

General Public  

Footpaths General Public Average to Good 

 
reserve usage 
• Seating, walk through, dog walking, picnics 
• Access to children’s play space and equipment 
• Access to public toilet facilities 
• War memorial commemoration events 

 

290



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

FRANKYLN PARK 
COMMUNITY SPACE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Franklyn Street, Glebe 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R1011329, Community 
Purposes; Public Recreation, 
17/2/2006 

Zoning R1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 247.2m2 

Lot & DP Lot 101 DP 1086782 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
General Community 
Use/Park 

Buildings Community Space 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 

• Repurposed building with frontage onto Robyn 
Kemmis 

 

environmental and landscape values 
• Repurposed building with frontage onto Robyn 

Kemmis Reserve and Glebe Street 

 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 2006 

 
 

facilities  usage condition 

Community 
Space 

Community use Good (2) 

 
reserve usage 

• Hireable space for private and community focused 
events 

 

 

 

 
  

291



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

GLEBE FORESHORE WALK 
EAST 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Forsyth Street, Glebe 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales), City-owned 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R100039, Public Recreation, 
20/2/1987 
D1000258, Municipal 
Purposes; Wharfage, 
6/1/1933 
Unreserved 

Zoning RE1 & part R1(carpark) 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 195.52m2, 192.51 m2 

Lot & DP 
 
Untenured Crown land 
City Owned: 

Lot 626 DP 752049 
Lot 291 DP752049 
Lot 591 DP 752049 
Lot 2 DP 874134, Lot 106 DP 
1076596 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing: 
Park 
General Community 
Use/Park 
Park(proposed) 

Buildings WBG Incinerator 

Leases / licences  Short-term licence 
Indigitek Ltd 
6 months, expiry 19/08/20 
(holdover) 

heritage and cultural values 
• Glebe Foreshore Walk East: SLEP I683 “Former 

Incinerator and Semi-Circular Stone Shed”  
Key Heritage elements: 
• Walter Burley Griffin designed Incinerator 
• Shed Structures 
• Associated with Blackwattle Creek/Swamp 

environmental and landscape values 
• Heritage foreshore setting 
• Typical Sydney foreshore park situated on reclaimed 

land with sandstone seawall  
• Is Integrated with Community land to form larger open 

space and connected to foreshore path network 

• Part of Small Carpark area is situated within crown 
reserve 

• Plantings of native Australian trees and some mass 
planting areas of grasses/sedges (Lomandra).  

• Very open and exposed landscape setting 

 

reserve development 
• The larger reserve was dedicated in 1933 and smaller 

area in 1987 

facilities  usage condition 

Part Carpark General public Average to Good 

WBG Incinerator Community use Good (2) 

Shed Structures General public Good (2) 

Strides Yard 
Winch 

n/a Good (2) 

Footpaths General public Average to Good 

Park Furniture – 
Lighting  

General public Average to Good 

Park Furniture – 
Seating 

General public Average to Good 

Park Furniture – 
Drinking 
Fountains 

General public Average to Good 

reserve usage 

• Place to sit, relax, walk through, view the harbour 
• Access to harbours edge 
• Group fitness and exercise 

292



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

GREEN PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Victoria Street cnr Burton Sts 
& Darlinghurst Rd, 
Darlinghurst 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500436, Public Recreation, 
15/8/1871 
D500439, Public Recreation, 
31/8/1875 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 1432.67m2, 3877.47m2 

Lot & DP Lot 640 DP 752011 
Lot 1 DP 668227 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing: 
Park 

Buildings Bandstand/Rotunda 

Leases / licences  n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Green Park: SLEP I490 and Darlinghurst Ridge 

Conservation Area C12 

Key Heritage elements: 
• Victorian era park layout 
• Bandstand/Rotunda 
• Memorials  

 

environmental and landscape values 
• Moderately sloping landform which can be challenging 

to accessible access across park 
• Pathways are typically edged with raised kerbs  
• Victorian park character 
• Active village street frontages 
• Expansive grassed slopes 
• Mature Fig canopy 

 

reserve development 
• The reserves were dedicated in 1871 and 1875 

 

 

facilities  usage condition 

Bandstand/Rotunda n/a Very Poor (5) 

Gay & Lesbian 
Holocaust Memorial 

n/a Excellent (1) 

AIDS Memorial n/a Proposed 

Canopy Fountain n/a Good (2) 

Park furniture - 
Seating 

General public Fair to Good 

Park furniture – 
Lighting 

General public Fair to Good 

Footpaths General public Fair to Good 

 
reserve usage 

• Place to sit, relax, eat lunch, meet with friends,  
• Walk through 

 

 

  

293



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

HOLLIS PARK 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Wilson Street, Newtown 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales), City as Roads 
Authority 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

P500165, Public Recreation, 
4/6/1913 
D500301, Public Recreation, 
8/4/1914 

Zoning RE1  
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 2041.08m2, 2644.07m2 

Lot & DP Lots 33-36 DP 4656 
Lot 1 DP 135315 
Road Reserve 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
Park 

Miscellaneous land Road Reserve (managed by 
City as Roads Authority) 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Associated with 1972 establishment of Murawina 

(meaning black woman) Aboriginal nutrition and 
childcare facilities, education nutrition serving inner-city 
Aboriginal community  

• Hollis Park, Newtown: SLEP I1041 

Key Heritage elements: 
• Early 20th Century Victorian park layout 
• Warren Ball obelisk 
• Significant trees 
• Lamps - replicated gas lighting 

 

environmental and landscape values 
• Early 20th Century Victorian park character 
• Moderately sloping landform with built edges to park 

boundaries 
• Accessible access is challenging 
• Mature Fig canopy 
• Playspace with diverse range of equipment 

 

 
 
reserve development 
• The reserves were dedicated in 1913 and 1914 

 

facilities  usage condition 

Playground General public Excellent (1) 

Hollis Park 
Obelisk 

n/a Average (3) 

Drinking 
Fountain 

General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture General public Fair to Good 

Footpaths General public Fair to Good 

 
reserve usage 

• Seating, and open grass areas for picnics, relaxation 
• Walk through 
• Access to Play equipment  
• Small community events 

 

 

 

  

294



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

ROBYN KEMMIS RESERVE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Franklyn Street, Glebe 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

R1003888, Public 
Recreation, 17/2/2006 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 1117.06m2  

Lot & DP Lot 102 DP 1086782 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing Proposed 
Park 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
Key Heritage elements: 
• Named in honour of Councillor Robyn Kemmis 

environmental and landscape values 
• Neighbourhood play space and green space 
• A triangular shaped reserve with park frontage onto 

Franklyn Street.  
• Other park boundaries are enclosed by the rear of 

adjoining residential properties. 
• Small reserve with level open grassed areas, softfall 

surfacing for playspace and mix of tree planting 
providing a shady space. Small areas of understorey 
planting to the western boundary. 

 

reserve development 
• The reserves were dedicated in 2006 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

facilities  usage condition 

Playground General public Good (2) 

Park furniture - 
seating 

General public Fair to Good 

Park furniture – 
Lighting 

General public Fair to Good 

Park furniture - 
signage 

General public Fair to Good 

 
reserve usage 
Informal community activities: 

• Place to sit, relax  
• Access to fenced Playspace for children of all ages 
• Access to community building 

 

 

 

  

295



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

SHANNON RESERVE 
park details at a glance 

item description 

Location Crown Street, Surrey Hills 

Ownership Crown (The State of New 
South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. and 
purpose 

D500275, Public Recreation, 
6/5/1949 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable 
uses 

Area 2660.92m2 

Lot & DP Lot 7069 DP 93609 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
Park 

Buildings n/a 

Leases / licences  
 

n/a 

heritage and cultural values 
• Shannon Reserve, Surry Hills: SLEP Moore Park 

Conservation Area C60  

Key Heritage elements: 
• Shannon Reserve Dedication Stone and plaque  
• Low brick wall and perimeter hedging (post 1943) 
• London Plane Trees   
• Axial pathways 
• Ground inlay / interpretation 
• Possible archaeological remains associated with the 

air raid shelters constructed during WWII 
 
environmental and landscape values 
• Village green / square open space with three distinct 

character areas – hardscape square at the southern 
end, central activity are with new playspace, open 
grassed zone to the north and western boundary 

• A broadly level surface, slopes to the east, fringed by 
formal planting beds, clipped hedges. 

• Boundaries are defined by low brick walls 
• Mix of deciduous tree species are dispersed 

throughout the open lawn areas 
• Path network on desire lines through the park 

reserve development 
• The reserve was dedicated in 1949 
• Park upgraded in1994 
• Recent playspace refurbishment completed 2020 

 
 

facilities  usage condition 

Playground General public Excellent (1) 

Public Art n/a Average to good 

Park Furniture - 
Seating 

General public Average to good 

Park Furniture - 
Lighting 

General public Average to good 

Hardstand 
pavement 

General public Average to good 

Footpaths General public Average to good 

Boundary walls n/a Average to good 

 
reserve usage 

• Access to children’s play space and equipment 
• Place to sit, relax, eat lunch 
• Community events, Surrey Hills Markets and festivals 

 

 

  

296



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

− Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

− Sustainable environmental performance 

− Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

− Long-term financial plans s 

− up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

− Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

− Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

− Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

− Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

297



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

298



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

299



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

300



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

93 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

301



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

94 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

302



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

95 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

 

303



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

96 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

304



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

97 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

305



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

98 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

306



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

99 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

307



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

100 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

308



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

101 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

309



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

102 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

310



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

103 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

311



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

104 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

312



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

105 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

313



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

106 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

314



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

107 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– The General Crown Reserves, 

Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

315



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

108 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

316



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

109 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

317



General Crown Reserve 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

110 

  

 

 

 

 

 

318



Attachment F 

Belmore Park      

 

 

 

319



 

Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 320



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 25 

4. Strategic context 28 

5. Community guiding principles 31 

6. Basis for Management 33 

7. Review of the plan 40 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 41 

8. General requirements 42 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 48 

10. Park category - authorisations 54 

11. Appendices 58 

 

  

321



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 16 

Figure 4. Heritage sensitivity mapping of Belmore Park 20 

Figure 5. Condition of facilities and improvements 24 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 24 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 36 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map 37 

Figure 9. Master Plan 39 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 54 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses, and other estates – Park Category 55 

 

 

322



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity, and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

323



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

324



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control, and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved, and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Belmore Park (Crown Reserve 1039471 - Lot 1 
DP 1172740, Lot 2 DP 868829, and Lot 2 DP 
267889) is classified as “community land” under 
the LG Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation. 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land. 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets. 

– specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings, or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan. 

– describe the use of the land. 

– state the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

325



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney. 

– Sydney Your Say web page. 

– notification signs in parks. 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves, and civic spaces; and 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

326



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green, and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe, and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

327



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, 
plants, and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices, and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

328



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning, etc. 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing, and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state, and 
federal levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– barriers to the practice of living culture 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

329



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Belmore Park 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

330



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

331



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

332



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Belmore Park through past 
master planning - the Chinatown & City South 
Public Domain Plan 2015, citywide strategic 
documents (Open Space, Sports and Recreation 
Needs Study 2016) and plans of management 
(Belmore Park Draft PoM 1993). This PoM 
references the Chinatown & City South Public 
Domain Plan 2015and Open Space, Sports and 
Recreation Needs Study 2016 as the current 
planning direction for the park and supersedes 
the PoM 1993. 

 

Location and description  
Belmore Park is a 2.1-hectare public open 
space, located on the eastern edge of 
Chinatown. Located directly opposite Central 
Station on Eddy Avenue, the park is bounded on 
its eastern and western edges by high 
embankments that support road, light rail, and 
heavy rail. The park offers extensive grass 
areas, wide shaded tree-lined paths, and ample 
seating near the heart of the city and close to 
Central Station. 
 
Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Belmore Park (East & West) 

Address Hay Street, Haymarket 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose, and gazetted 
date  

1039471 Public Park, Public Park, 30/12/1908  

 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 22983.12 m2 (Belmore Park West) 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 1 DP 1172740 Belmore Park (East) 

Lot 2 DP 868829 Belmore Park (West) 

Lot 2 DP 267889 (Men’s lavatories) 

Other Community land n/a 

Restrictions / 
easements 

Easement for Railway purposes 

2. Land description 

333



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

item description 

Community land 
categorisation 

Park 

 

 

Condition of land  
 

refer to Figure 5 for Condition Summary 

 
 
 

  

334



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 
  

 

335



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  
The land on which Belmore Park lies is within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. 

Belmore Park was dedicated for public 
recreation on 19 May 1868, making it the sixth 
gazetted park in Sydney. However, the current 
park layout dates to the early 1900s following the 
development of Central Railway Station.  

Belmore Park has a longstanding historical and 
cultural relationship with Chinatown, commerce, 
and trade. Markets, including the cattle, hay, and 
corn markets, were in the area from the 1820s. 
In the late 1860s the Belmore Produce Markets 
were established on the northern side of Hay 
Street opposite Belmore Park. The markets 
brought an influx of Chinese merchants and 
other businesses to the area, creating a 
Chinatown – which was originally centred 
around Goulburn, Pitt, and Campbell Streets. 
The markets subsequently moved several times, 
firstly to the Capitol Theatre site in 1892 (the 
Capitol Theatre was originally the New Belmore 
Markets building) and then to the current 
Paddy’s Market building in 1914. The nucleus of 
Chinatown also moved west over time, following 
the markets. 

Due to its proximity to Central Railway Station, 
Belmore Park is regularly used for public rallies, 
either within the park or as a meeting point for 
marches. The park is also a regular venue for 
organised events, particularly the Chinese New 
Year Festival in keeping with its historical 
associations with Chinatown.  

The park’s significant layout and plantings are 
typical of the approach of Charles Moore and 
Joseph Maiden, the esteemed directors of the 
Royal Botanic Gardens in the late nineteenth 
and early twentieth centuries. The park’s two 
most defining and memorable elements are the 
large bandstand, which has fallen into disrepair 
and is closed off from public access, and the 
wide western pathway with its spectacular 
London Plane (Platanus x acerifolia) avenue 
planted down the centre. 

Source: Adapted from the Chinatown and City 
South Public Domain 2015 

 

 

Heritage Context 
Listed heritage item: 

Sydney LEP # I1655— ‘Belmore Park grounds, 
landscaping and Bandstand’.  

In the vicinity of multiple SHR and SLEP 2012 
items including: 

– Sydney Terminal and Central Railway 
Station group (SHR No.01255) 

– Capitol Theatre (SHR No. 00391) 
– Municipal Building (SHR No. 00693) 
– Former Manning Building (No. I859) 
– Former Presbyterian Manse (No. I860) 
– Former Fire Engine House (No. I861) 
– Former Australian Gaslight Co (No. I862) 
– Former Daking House (No. I863) 

History 

The original Aboriginal inhabitants of the Sydney 
area are the Gadigal people. The territory of the 
Gadigal people stretched along the southern 
side of Port Jackson (Sydney Harbour) from 
South Head to around what is now known as 
Petersham. Their southern boundary is the area 
that now forms the Alexandra Canal and Cooks 
River. 

There are about 30 clan groups of the Sydney 
metropolitan area referred to collectively as the 
Eora Nation. The ‘Eora people’ was the name 
given to the coastal Aboriginal peoples around 
Sydney. The Gadigal are one of the clans of the 
Eora Nation. 

Following the arrival of the First Fleet in 1788, 
the British encountered Aboriginal people 
around the coves and bays of Port Jackson. 
Many places around the harbour remained 
important hunting, fishing, and camping grounds 
long after settlement, and continue to be 
culturally significant today. Despite the impacts 
of first contact, Gadigal people and their ways of 
life and culture survived. As the town of Sydney 
developed into a city, the Gadigal were joined by 
other Aboriginal people from around NSW to live, 
work and forge relationships with the urban 
Aboriginal community. Sydney’s inner suburbs 
have long been home to Aboriginal peoples 
seeking employment, housing and connections 
with community and family. 

336

http://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/aboriginal-people-and-place
http://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/aboriginal-people-and-place


Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

During the early years of settlement in Sydney 
the area around Belmore Park was located 
outside of the Sydney town limits in an area 
known as the Brickfields. Early European 
observers wrote that Aboriginal people living in 
the Sydney Cove settlement would regularly 
settle disputes around Brickfields. Brickfields 
was also sometimes referred to as Brickfield 
Village and this was due to the numerous 
buildings surrounding the clay brick fields.  

Records recount a known ceremonial contest 
ground described as lying between the road to 
Botany Bay and the Brickfields.  It is believed 
that this was probably near Hyde Park South.  
Until the mid-1820s, Aboriginal people travelled 
from all over Sydney, and as far away as the 
Hunter and the Illawarra, to gather at a 
ceremonial contest ground to the south of the 
city.  Consultation for this PoM in 2020 also 
noted stories of a site near Central Station that 
is the first burial ground post-invasion 

By the 1830s the area surrounding Belmore Park 
lay at the southern extremities of Sydney Town 
between the cattle and corn markets and the 
burial ground (Devonshire Street Cemetery). 
This area was part of the crown land containing 
the Police Barracks and residence, Devonshire 
Street Cemetery, Female Refuge of the Good 
Samaritan, Benevolent Asylum and a common. 
Belmore Park was known as the Police Paddock, 
as it was located adjacent to the Police Barracks.  

The area has long been associated with 
markets. In the late 1860s Belmore Produce 
Markets and Paddy’s Markets were built in the 
area opposite the current Belmore Park.  

During the 1860s Belmore Park was according 
to one writer, ‘a receptacle for all the rubbish and 
street sweepings of Sydney. Running from 
Gipps Street across the park towards 
Haymarket, an open gutter was supposed to 
carry off stormwater from Surry Hills, but didn’t, 
as it lay in the gutter stagnant and noisome. In 
the summer the plague of flies was something 
terrible, yet the spot was the only “lung” in Surry 
Hills that youngsters could use as a playground.’  

On 19 May 1868 Belmore Park was dedicated 
for public recreation. The Park was named after 
the Governor of NSW, the Rt Hon Somerset 
Richard Lowry-Corry, fourth Earl of Belmore in 
Ireland, who arrived in the colony in January 
1868. Belmore Park of the 1880s and 1890s had 
a strong diagonal path system with an avenue of 

trees along its axis. A fountain was located with 
the pathway at the centre of park and the 
entrances were marked by stone pillars.  

In 1901 the whole area including Hay St 
Presbyterian church and manse and crown land 
including the cemetery, Belmore Park, the Police 
Barracks, the female refuge, and the Benevolent 
Asylum was resumed for the construction of the 
Sydney’s Central Railway Station from 1900 to 
1906. The majority of earth fill (80,000 cubic 
yards) from the railway station excavations was 
placed on Belmore Park, burying the original 
layout.  

From 1900 to 1906 the park was bare earth with 
a few trees and the site was rented for circus 
performances. It is believed the three Moreton 
Bay figs on the Eddy Avenue frontage are 
survivors of the original park. The Park was 
returned to Council management in 1907 and 
replanted with one of the city’s most impressive 
single row plantations of London plane trees. In 
1909 Belmore Park featured in the Report of the 
Royal Commission for the Improvement of 
Sydney and its Suburbs. The Commission was 
focussed on civic beautification, improved 
sanitation, transport planning and housing for 
the future development of the city. In responding 
to the transport issues of the day, architect, John 
Sulman’s scheme for the treatment of Belmore 
Park fronting Central Station imagines a grand 
classical colonnade framing a circular park with 
radiating pathways terminating centrally with 
Beaux Arts inspired statuary. Sulman’s scheme 
was never realised, though perhaps it inspired 
the bandstand that was built in 1910.  

A further area of the park was resumed in 1923 
to build the city circle rail system. The eastern 
tramway approach to the railway was relocated 
and a portion of the park along Elizabeth Street 
permanently separated from the rest of the park.  

Belmore Park’s proximity to Central Railway 
makes it a convenient starting point for rallies on 
public issues and cultural events such as the 
annual Mardi Gras festival. Likewise, in 2000 it 
was an Olympic Live site. During 2015, Belmore 
Park attracted considerable media attention as it 
became home to many homeless people that 
were sleeping rough. At its height, there were 
around 58 people living in Belmore Park until 
people were relocated by the NSW government 
in 2017.   

337



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Statement of Significance 

Located on Gadigal Country, as one of Sydney’s 
earliest parks dedicated for public recreation, 
Belmore Park has historical significance for the 
evidence it provides of the historical development 
of the public open space in Sydney and the 
development of the local area from the early 
years of the colony to the present.  

Belmore Park has been in the City of Sydney 
Council’s ownership over the past 170 years and 
much of its history, its maintenance and 
promotion, and changes to its design and layout 
have been the work of the Council. The history of 
Belmore Park expresses the varying attitudes to 
public open space and recreation planning.  

Belmore Park has historical significance for its 
association with the design and construction and 
subsequent expansions of Central Station and 
the city railway system, which have shaped its 
form and purpose. The park’s current form 
demonstrates the maturation of and technological 
advances in the city railway system, realised 
through the construction of Central Station and 
the City Underground Railway.   

While affected by changes to its size and layout 
wrought by those advances, Belmore Park 
provides evidence of the key characteristics of 
park design in the early part of the twentieth 
century, many of these as espoused by JH 
Maiden, former director of the Royal Botanic 
Gardens. The park has a number of elements 
characteristic of this era, including a loosely 
formal layout, a bandstand, tree avenues, and 
expanses of lawn, as well as a men’s 
convenience near Hay Street’s well-detailed 
sandstone building that contributes to the 
aesthetic significance of the park. Belmore Park 
contributes to the aesthetic qualities of Central 
Station by providing a landscaped forecourt to 
the prominent sandstone terminus.  

Belmore park in more recent history has played 
an important role as a starting place or end point 
for social and cultural events. It likely to be of 
significance to a wide range of communities 
within the Greater Sydney area that have 
participated in cultural activities or seen social 
issues highlighted as part of gatherings or rallies 
for climate change, Black Lives Matter and Hong 
Kong pro-democracy supporters. It has been a 
prominent focal point for other social welfare 
issues including homelessness following its 
prolonged use as a homeless camp.  

Archaeological remains associated with the 
Carters Barracks are likely to survive at the site. 
These elements, if they survive, may have high 
archaeological significance at a State level. 
Archaeological remains associated with the Pitt 
Street Presbyterian manse and school and 
deeper evidence relating to the air raid shelters 
are likely to survive intact. These elements, if 
they survive, may have moderate archaeological 
significance at a Local level. Other archaeological 
elements associated with the development of the 
park from the 1870s would have low 
archaeological significance.  

 

Key heritage features 

Belmore Park provides evidence of the key 
characteristics of park design in the early part of 
the twentieth century, many of these as 
espoused by JH Maiden. The park has several 
elements characteristic of this era, including a 
loosely formal layout, a bandstand, tree 
avenues, and expanses of lawn. 

Significant elements are largely associated with 
the post-central station era of park development.  

The current form and layout of the park dates 
from 1906 and 1917, identified through the 
system of curved paths following the main desire 
lines through the space.  

Early or reused sandstone kerbing remains.  

Views to the sandstone terminus of Central 
Station to the south provides a backdrop to the 
trees, views to the east and west are 
predominantly of the two railway viaducts, now 
with the tops of buildings peaking over as the city 
was built up around the park.  

The park contains several trees listed on the City 
of Sydney’s Significant Trees Register: 

• 4 Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla) 
• 1 Holm Oak (Quercus ilex) 
• 2 Seem trees (Meryta denhamii) 
• 14 London planes (Platanus x acerifolia) 
• 4 Hackberry (Celtis occidentalis) 
• 5 Washington Palms (Washingtonia 

robusta) 
• 1 American Cotton Palm (Washingtonia 

filifera)

338



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

 

Figure 4. Heritage sensitivity mapping of Belmore Park  

  
(Source: GML) 

 
  

339



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Environment and landscape 
The following descriptions have been derived 
from the Chinatown and City South Public 
Domain Plan (2015) and Heritage (2012) report. 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 
The site has been heavily modified since 1788. 
It would have formed part of a natural low point 
in the surrounding topography as it fell towards 
what is now Darling Harbour. 

Physical Characteristics: 
Landform, soils, and drainage 
The majority of earth fill from the Central Railway 
Station excavations in the early 1900’s was 
placed in Belmore Park, burying the original 
layout, most of the plantings and raising the 
general level of the park. Soil profile testing 
undertaken for the 1993 PoM identified an 
artificial soil profile of mixed fill to a depth of a 
least 1,200mm below ground level. Where 
greater depth of fill was required for construction 
of ramps, sand appears to have been used as a 
base and covered with a medium clay. A sandy 
loam to loamy sand has been installed as topsoil. 
Compaction has previously been identified as an 
issue over a large percentage of the park. 
Establishment and maintenance of turf cover is 
difficult and growth and long-term vigour of trees 
can be comprised by soil compaction. The 
presence of clay in the subsoil profile also effects 
subsoil drainage and can exacerbate the 
compaction problems. 

The topography of the park gradually falls from 
Eddy Avenue down to Hay Street, responding to 
the elevational difference of about 4 metres 
between the two streets. 

Planting and Layout 
The park is notable for what the City of Sydney’s 
Register of Significant Trees (2013) describes as 
‘one of the city’s most spectacular single row 
plantations of London Planes’. These trees are 
located along the park’s western avenue, the 
primary path through the park and one of the key 
pedestrian routes from Central Station to 
Chinatown. 

Other notable plantings include the park’s four 
large Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla), 
three located near the Eddy Avenue frontage 
and one on the Hay Street frontage. The figs are 
the oldest surviving plantings in the park and are 

likely to be remnants of its original nineteenth 
century layout, pre-dating the development of 
Central Station (1900). All four figs are 
substantial specimens and are memorable for 
the sense of drama and grand scale that they 
impart to the park’s street frontages. 

The historically and botanically significant 
planting palette also includes: 

• a collection of Washingtonia palms that may 
also date from the earlier Belmore Park 
plantings 

• two extremely rare Seem trees (Meryta 
denhamii) – the only other known 
specimens are in the Royal Botanic 
Gardens and were sourced by Charles 
Moore 

• a collection of Hackberry (Celtis 
occidentalis), including one of the largest 
specimens in the City of Sydney at 18 
metres high and 25 metres wide 

• one Holm Oak (Quercus ilex) 

Belmore Park’s collection of mid-to-late 
nineteenth century and early twentieth century 
planting is scheduled in the City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012, Sydney City Heritage 
Study and classified by the National Trust of 
Australia (NSW). The trees are considered to 
have group significance in terms of visual, 
historic, and botanic values. 

Belmore Park (East) consists of a small sliver of 
residual land which was part of the main park up 
until the railway viaduct was built. The area now 
contains a shared footpath which is separated 
from Elizabeth Street by a wide planting bed 
containing an avenue of mature Plane Trees set 
back from Elizabeth Street. The shared footpath 
is well used by commuters walking to and from 
Central Station to the central business district. 

Landscape and visual character 
As one of the oldest parks in Sydney, Belmore 
Park is a mature landscape with an informal 
configuration that is fundamental to its character. 
The park layout has a strong north-south 
emphasis due to its topography and the 
presence of large embankments along its 
eastern and western edges, which limit park 
access to Eddy Avenue and Hay Street only. 
Views into the park from the surrounding 
streetscape is limited by this topography and the 
transport infrastructure either side. Although 
some of the best views over the park can be 

340



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

obtained from the light rail route or the City Circle 
line. The Hay street frontage offers the best long 
views into and of the park from street level. The 
parks mature landscape and expanses of green 
grass provides a strong ‘green’ character to both 
Eddy Avenue and Hay Street. 

Access and Circulation 
The park is bounded on its eastern and western 
edges by high embankments that support road, 
light rail, and heavy rail, which create significant 
barriers for park access. 

There are currently four entrances to the park: 
two at the eastern and western corners of the 
Hay Street frontage, and two dividing the Eddy 
Avenue frontage into thirds. The path network 
within the park has an informal character that 
facilitates the key pedestrian desire lines through 
the park.  

The path system consists of two avenues 
running north-south through the park, connected 
by three diagonal paths.  

The primary pedestrian route runs diagonally 
between the north-west and south-east corners 
of the park, with a secondary route along the 
eastern side of the park.  

Both routes highlight the importance of the 
connection from Central Station, which has an 
entrance to the suburban train concourse 
located opposite the south-eastern corner of the 
park. Currently access into the park is not 
possible from Railway Colonnade Drive due to a 
combination of factors including the light rail 
route adjacent the boundary, no path 
connections or fence openings are available.  

 

Reserve development 
Parks such as Belmore Park were born out of 
Nineteenth Century Parks Movement in the City 
of Sydney. Key milestones in the park’s 
development include: 

Pre 1900 
- Belmore Park was dedicated for public 

recreation on 19 May 1868 

- Its original development with paths and 
plantings occurred from this time till 1900 

- The pre-1900 park provided a strong 
diagonal path system with an avenue of 
trees along its axis 

- A fountain was located at the centre of park 
and the entrances were marked by stone 
pillars  

1900 -1920 
- In 1901 the area was resumed for the 

construction of the Sydney’s Central 
Railway Station from 1900 to 1906  

- The majority of earth fill (80,000 cubic yards) 
from the railway station excavations was 
placed on Belmore Park, burying the original 
layout 

- The park’s four large Moreton Bay Fig trees 
are believed to be survivors from the earlier 
nineteenth century park  

- Subsequent development of the City Circle 
railway line in the 1920s significantly 
modified the park’s eastern edge and 
reduced the size of the park, causing a park 
remnant along Elizabeth Street to be 
permanently separated from the rest of the 
park 

1920-2000 
- Since the 1920’s Belmore Park experienced 

little change in form or layout. 

- Most significant change was for the 2000 
Sydney Olympics, which saw an upgrade of 
Central Station and it surrounds, including 
the introduction of a light rail line that reused 
the original tramways along the eastern and 
western edges of the park. 

- During the Olympics, Belmore Park was a 
‘Live Site’ for the event  

Past studies and plans: 
– Opens Space, Sports Recreation Needs 

Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”) 

– Chinatown and City South Public Domain 
2015 (“CCSPD”) 

– Belmore Park Heritage Study 2012 

– Belmore Park Draft POM 1993 

 

 

  

341



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Belmore Park is Public 
Park. 

Community usage 
The primary uses of Belmore Park in the recent 
past have related to the day to day life of the city 
and the parks proximity to Central Station. 

These include: 

- Walk through access  
- Cycle through access 
- Informal passive recreation  
- Fitness training 
- Events 
- Rallies 

Based on the findings of the Belmore Park 
Intercept Study 2012, the park has two main user 
groups: people who use the park as a 
thoroughfare between the station and 
Haymarket; and people who use the park for 
relaxing or socialising. Belmore Park East is 
used primarily as an access route for 
commuters. 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– Walk through to get somewhere else 

– Sitting and relaxing 

– Enjoying nature 

– Watching the world go by 

Within the park, other activities survey 
respondents participated in include providing a 
food service for people experiencing 
homelessness. 

The majority of the survey respondents were 
more likely to be visitors to the area and a 
quarter would visit the park on a weekly or 
monthly basis. 

Belmore has also long been a place where 
people sleep rough. The population of homeless 
people sleeping in the park has varied in recent 
years with the NSW government relocating many 
people in 2017. 

Event use of the park  
Due to its proximity to Central Railway Station, 
Belmore Park is regularly used for public rallies, 
either within the park or as a meeting point for 
marches.  

The park is also a regular venue for organised 
events, particularly the Chinese New Year 
Festival in keeping with its historical 
associations with Chinatown.  

The park has been a location for promotional 
events, public assemblies, charitable 
fundraising, festivals, ceremonies, memorial 
services, live performances, community 
consultation, and markets. 

Attendance for these events has typically ranged 
up to 20,000 people. The City of Sydney 
registered a total of 46 events between 2015-19. 

Future role in the context of city evolution 
and development 
Chinatown and its surrounds will continue to 
experience dramatic urban changes that are 
also likely to significantly affect Belmore Park.  

The development of the Sydney and South East 
Light Rail and the introduction of the light rail line 
along Eddy Avenue, resulted in Belmore Park 
being surrounded by light rail on all four sides.  

Critically, the redevelopment of the 
Entertainment Centre site as Darling Square 
brought 5,000 new residents to Chinatown, a 
dramatic increase of about 30% over the current 
estimated population of Chinatown and City 
South (Chinatown and CBD South Village 
Community Profile, 2011).  

In 2020, the Central Station precinct master plan 
established a vision for development covering 24 
hectares over the railway corridor which will 
significantly increase the local residential 
population in addition to bringing additional 
commercial and retail activities to the area and 
increasing the level of activity in all surrounding 
public domain areas. 
These influences place additional pressure on 
Belmore Park as a green open space for the 
local community.  

342



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

A coordinated plan for the upgrading of Belmore 
Park is required in order to ensure that it can 
sustainably cater for local recreational and open 
space needs while conserving its important 
natural and cultural heritage. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5. Condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Bandstand/ Rotunda No current usage Very Poor (5)  

Men’s Toilets building No current usage Poor (4)  

Footpaths General public Average 

Shared path (Belmore 
Park – East) 

General public Average 

Park furniture - lighting General public Average to Good 

Park furniture – seating, 
bins 

General public Average to Good 

Park furniture - fencing n/a Average to Good 

Park furniture – water 
bubbler 

General public Average to Good 

Park furniture - signage General public Average to Good 

(#) City of Sydney asset assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 
Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

No current leases / 
licences 

   

343



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Ownership and management 
Belmore Park is a Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales. The City of Sydney 
is the Crown land manager responsible for 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 14 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW. 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land. 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land. 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair, and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW. 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural, and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land; and 

– provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken. 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’). 

what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’); and 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Belmore Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

344



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Belmore Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– to enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– to provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– to protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– to provide links between open space areas; 
and 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands, and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– the undertaking of major earthworks 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements, or rights of way over the 
land. 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged. 

c. imposes, requires, or agrees to covenants, 
conditions, or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land. 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

345



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings.  

346



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high-
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural, and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South, and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

347



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 
old people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families. 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown, and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney 

 experiences 680,000 daily and overnight 
visitors for range of purposes and services 
including: 

− shopping. 
− health and education. 
− recreation and entertainment. 
− accommodation. 
− personal business; and 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019). 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

348



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

 
City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   
 
 
 
 
  

349



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

350



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

351



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Values and roles of Belmore 
Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the park that the community 
wishes to protect, conserve, and enhance.  
These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

– A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

– A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural, and cultural history 

– A village green for the 
Central/Chinatown/Haymarket precincts 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

– A well-connected space to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

– Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

– A place that is clear, easy, and safe to move 
around 

– An appropriately lit environment 

– A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

– A place that is not compromised by parking and 
vehicle access 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

– A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

– Spaces and facilities that support youth use of 
the park 

– A place for dog walking and exercise 

– A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

– A place for events 

– A place that is open and usable by all members 
of community 

– A safe place to visit day and night 

– A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

– The heritage rotunda provides a well-known 
landmark 

– Men’s Toilet Building adjoining railway viaduct 
is of heritage significance 

– Park elements that support park use and create 
an attractive character 

– Railcorp infrastructure 

– Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

– Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

– Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

– A place of diverse habitats 

– A place that is cool, calm, and comfortable in 
summer heat 

– Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

6. Basis for 
Management 

352



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

– A place exhibiting water sensitive urban design 

– A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

– A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

6.0  Culture and Heritage    

– A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

– A place which is a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

– A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present  

– A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

– A place with a coordinated plan for future 
improvement and management 

– Potential future integration with Central Precinct 
Renewal Program 

– A place which is clean, well-maintained, and 
carefully managed 

– Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

– Appropriate leases and licences 

 

  

353



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Belmore Park is Public 
Park. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 8 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Belmore Park in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Belmore Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system, or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Belmore Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Belmore Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 7) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Belmore Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Belmore Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

354



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Belmore Park 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informally use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social, and educational pastimes and 
activities, and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

 

 

355



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

356



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Belmore Park through past 
planning (The Chinatown & City South Public 
Domain Plan 2015, “CCSPDP”), citywide 
strategic document (Open Space, Sports and 
Recreation Needs Study 2016, “OSSRNS”) and 
the historic PoM (1993). This PoM references 
the CCSPDP 2015 and OSSRNS 2016 as the 
current planning directions for the reserve and 
supersedes the PoM 1993. 

The following summaries are the guiding 
strategic directions for planning and 
management of Belmore Park, as reflected in 
these documents.  Refer also to the Strategic 
Directions Master Plan (refer Figure 9 page 39) 
as derived from the 2016 OSSRNS. 

Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016: 
Master Plan for Belmore Park  
Develop a master plan for Belmore Park that:  

– revitalises the park as an important CBD 
park that provides a safe welcoming place 
that encourages people to stay and use. 

– provides infrastructure and amenity to 
facilitate events and community gatherings. 

The design is to retain the character and 
sympathetically edit the park to improve 
recreation opportunities, environmental 
performance and create a cohesive and elegant 
landscape.  

Recommended design principles are:  
a)  retain and enhance the existing park 

character.  

b)  respect and reveal the parks heritage.  

c)  improve access and permeability.  

d)  activate the open space and increase 
recreation opportunities.  

e)  improve sightlines and passive 
surveillance.  

f)  use simple, robust, and high-quality 
materials.  

g)  facilitate event uses and meet resident, 
worker, and visitor needs; and 

h)    Improve the parks environmental 
performance and sustainability.  

Potential scope for consideration in 
developing the master plan is to include:  
– restoration of the Bandstand, lowering and 

reinstate public access.  
– removal of the western boundary fence, 

understorey and upgrade the surface.  
– improve the north western Hay Street 

entrance and street frontage (including 
removal of the flag poles).  

– improve the south-western Eddy Avenue 
entry to improve access.  

– open sightlines and views through, into the 
middle of the park to improve safety with 
selective tree removals.  

– establish a Central Spine and associated 
recreation opportunities.  

– general landscape upgrade and planting.  
– lighting & hydraulic upgrade.  
– rationalise the bus shelters and improve the 

Eddy Avenue footpath.  
– removal of redundant path network.  
– adaptive Reuse of the Men’s Convenience; 

and 
– environmental performance initiatives to 

contribute to the City of Sydney’s 
environmental targets.  

CCSPDP 2015 objectives  

In July 2015, Council endorsed the Chinatown & 
City South Public Domain Plan for public 
exhibition. The CCSPDP recommends a range 
of improvement works in the Chinatown & South 
CBD precinct including Belmore Park.  
The primary objectives relevant to management 
of the park include: 
– to improve the integration of the park with the 

nearby Surry Hills and Chinatown 
communities, and enhance its role as a local 
green public open space. 

– to ensure that the park continues to balance 
its functions as both an urban thoroughfare 
and a place of relaxation and socialisation. 

– to encourage further activation of the park for 
passive recreation and cultural events; and 

– to ensure that the park’s significant heritage 
landscape values and elements are 
preserved for future generations to enjoy. 

357



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Figure 9. Master Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

358



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– new opportunities for future upgrades 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 
  

7. Review of the plan 

359



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

360



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Belmore Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Belmore Park. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Belmore Park and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Belmore 

Park will be considered on merit and benefits 
to the community and balanced against 
physical constraints, the amenity of adjoining 
residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of the City of Sydney’s assets, and 
their development, will consider the policy 
framework at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

361



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Belmore Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– the inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown land 
where Native Title is not extinguished, prior to 
approval, the City of Sydney will notify and give 
an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease. 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 

for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Belmore Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Belmore Park 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic, and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve, and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Belmore Park which may attract high numbers 
of people including one-off community events 
and performances. 

362



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Belmore Park and settings will 
be determined by the community use of the site 
but will be managed to avoid undue impacts on 
park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures; 
and 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 

which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events; and 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Belmore Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

363



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– if development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993) 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– be in accordance with all Council policies and 
procedures governing the use of open space 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use, 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Section 10 details 
the specific authorisations and purposes for 
which tenure may be granted in accordance with 
the individual community land categories for 
Belmore Park. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

364



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– the City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney. 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– the City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical requirements and where 
required, the relevant standards identified 
within the State Environmental Planning 
Policy (Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– the City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies, and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

365



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– addressing safety and security requirements 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational, and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies, and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, wellbeing, 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups. 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher; and 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed 

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.

366



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Belmore Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 
 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that resonates 
with Country 

• To implement a 
meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural, and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the 
spaces historical identity and 
natural character 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A village green for the 
Central / Chinatown / 
Haymarket precincts 
 

• To conserve the 
“green” and natural 
character of the park 

Management has regard for 
conserving green and natural 
character of the park 

Increased use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
space to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and 
to district and regional 
users 

• To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible 
and safe routes to the 
park from adjoining 
areas  

Review, monitor and work 
towards improving local 
access routes for workplace 
precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and 
signage for park users 
and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade 
wayfinding and signage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Where required, implement 
new wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 
Routine surveys, audits, and 
inspections 
 

2.3 A place that is clear, 
easy, and safe to 
move around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive, and 
compliant internal 
circulation routes and 
path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths 
and pavements in accordance 
with park service levels 
Where required, implement 
new pathways to create 
greater connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance with 
Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits, and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate 
lighting to support 
desired night access, 
recreational and 
leisurely use of open 
space 

 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting 
issues and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits, and 
inspections 
 

     

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

367



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 
 
 

 

A community 
destination accessible 
from the cycle network  

• To enable park to be 
effectively accessed 
from cycle network 
and encourage cycle 
use 

Investigate the integration of 
park access to adjoining and 
potential future cycle corridors 
Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities 
into park improvements  

Increased local use of park 
by cyclists, measured by 
surveys and observation 
 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
vehicle access 

• To provide and 
manage functional 
maintenance and 
emergency access 
mitigating adverse 
impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated 
and do not affect community 
use of space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space 
areas 
Incorporate educational 
activities into ongoing 
management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist, 
and vehicle conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

  

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the 
park provides a range 
of flexible and informal 
use spaces that are 
attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use 
of spaces for broad community 
benefit 
 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Spaces and facilities 
that support youth use 
of the park 

• To sustainably 
respond to youth 
needs for gathering 
and activity spaces 

Investigate opportunities to 
support youth gathering and 
activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.3 A place for dog 
walking and exercise 

• To provide for effective 
dog exercise in 
accordance with 
Companion Animals 
Act 

Manage off leash dog access 
to spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  
Monitor to identify 
management issues and 
address as required 

Dog access maintained 
Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.4 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First 
Nations heritage and 
living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising 
living culture’, work with the 
First Nations community to 
understand the processes and 
procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  
 

3.5 A place for events • To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event 
use that is appropriate to scale 
of spaces and in consideration 
of other park uses 
Manage events in accordance 
with event’s guidelines for 
Belmore Park 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 
Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

3.6 A place that is open 
and usable by all 
members of 
community 

• That the park is 
managed as part of a 
coordinated 
compassionate 
approach across the 
city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of 
people sleeping rough in the 
park in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s policy on 
homelessness in public 
spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the 
community to use public 
spaces’ (Homelessness Action 
Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be 
accessed and enjoyed by 
everyone, including people 
who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions 

368



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.7 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

• To ensure the park 
and park facilities 
provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to 
intended (and varied) 
usage times of 
facilities and access 
routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and 
access in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety 
issues 
Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime 
Prevention through 
Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 
Sustained relationship with 
local police 
 

3.8 A place that provides 
access to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and 
provision of public 
toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify 
management issues for public 
toilet facilities, address as 
required 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
public toilets. Regular review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Rotunda 

4.1 The heritage rotunda 
provides a well-known 
landmark 

• To provide a 
sustainable future for 
rotunda structure 
contributing to park 
character and use 

Investigate the viability of an 
adaptive reuse for the Rotunda 
that activates the eastern 
portion of the park  

  

Completed study on adaptive 
reuse 

Men’s toilet building 

4.2 Men’s Toilet Building 
adjoining railway 
viaduct is of heritage 
significance 

• To provide a 
sustainable future for 
toilet building 
contributing to 
community activity and 
use in area 

Investigate the viability of an 
adaptive reuse for the Men’s 
Toilet building that is 
appropriate to the park and 
local area  
 

Completed study on adaptive 
reuse 

Park elements 

4.3 Park elements that 
support park use and 
create an attractive 
character 

• To support 
recreational and 
leisure use of park 
while avoiding 
proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park 
furniture and other park 
elements in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits, and 
inspections 
 
 

Underground and adjoining infrastructure 

4.4 Railcorp infrastructure • To ensure that 
transport infrastructure 
is accommodated 
sympathetically to the 
park and with clear 
maintenance 
requirements and 
responsibilities 

Monitor and manage RailCorp 
access to enable maintenance 
and renewal of their assets 
Monitor to identify 
management issues and 
address as required 

Sustained relationship with 
RailCorp 
 

4.5 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated 
into planning and 
design 

Liaise and coordinate with 
services authorities to identify 
amplification and renewal 
works that may impact park 
Manage to limit impacts on use 
and facilitate effective make 
good / integration 
 
 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 

369



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping 
to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green 
landscape for 
continued community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew 
horticulture, grass cover and 
plantings in accordance with 
park service levels and City 
guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 
Measurement and monitoring 
of vegetation 
Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment  

• To increase 
indigenous plantings 
within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate 
the planting of indigenous 
species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat 
value of natural and 
built features 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values 
through areas of built form and 
natural ground  

Monitoring of natural habitat 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open 
space 

Maintain urban ecology 
advisory role for proposed 
works associated with open 
space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and 
participation in the preservation 
of greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal participation 
in open space works 
Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is cool, 
calm, and comfortable 
in summer heat 

• To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy 
and to selectively 
extend to create new 
shade 

Maintain and manage existing 
tree canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree 
canopy shade in suitable 
locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

• To effectively maintain 
and manage the 
existing tree resources 
at optimum health for 
their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or 
removal of trees and 
replacement planting in 
accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a 
succession planting program in 
accordance with tree 
management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  
Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive urban 
design 

• To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement 
water saving initiatives, 
alternative water sources and 
install metering to effectively 
manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive 
urban design to minimise 
environmental degradation and 
improve waterway quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

370



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Waste management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that 
maximises the 
diversion of waste 
away from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People and 
living culture 

• To identify and 
interpret First Nations 
cultural heritage 
values of the local 
area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage 
values in ongoing planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately 
manage and conserve 
elements of heritage 
significance 

• To guide management 
and design decision 
making to achieve 
optimum heritage 
management 
outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or 
fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 A place that connects 
the community to the 
city’s past and present 

• To enable park users 
to understand the rich 
and complex layering 
of natural and cultural 
values represented on 
the site and add to the 
experience and use of 
the park 

Develop a cohesive framework 
that recognises Strategies 6.1-
6.2 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.4 
 
 
 

A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art 
in temporary and 
permanent forms that 
compliments the park 
setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, 
where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in park 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place with a 
coordinated plan for 
future improvement 
and management 

• To provide a clear 
coordinated direction 
for ongoing 
improvement of the 
park 

Develop an integrated master 
plan that addresses all targets 
and strategies and 
incorporates the influences of 
the Central Station 
redevelopment 
 

Adoption of master plan 

7.2 Potential future 
integration with 
Central Precinct 
Renewal Program 

• To optimise the 
benefits of the Central 
Station precinct 
redevelopment for 
Belmore Park and the 
community 

Monitor and participate in 
ongoing planning for the 
Central Station precinct 
 

Sustained relationship with 
TfNSW and State 
Government regarding 
Central Precinct Renewal 
Program 

7.3 A park which is clean, 
well-maintained, and 
carefully managed 

• To provide well-
maintained parklands 

Maintenance programs carried 
out in accordance with City of 
Sydney Parks Maintenance 
Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 
 

7.4 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet 
the community's needs 

• To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

371



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

 Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.5 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

• To ensure that tenure 
and permitted use 
arrangements allow 
the widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, 
educational, cultural, 
and social activities 

All future leases and licences 
to meet the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 
1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016, and 
Native Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

 

372



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 10 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Belmore Park 
categorised as Park subject to City assessment, approvals, and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response, and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational, and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity, and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

373

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational, and 
social uses, and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars, and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics, and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation, and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses, and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence, or other estates over community land must be 
expressly authorised by a PoM. Figure 11 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be 
granted on community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Belmore Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

374



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Other community, cultural, educational, and social uses, and activities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response, and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational, and social uses, and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response, and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational, and social uses, and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

375

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars, and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics, and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 

 
 
 
  

376



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach, and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups.  

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space  

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed, or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction, or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths, and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 
  

11. Appendices 

377



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

References 
 

– The Chinatown & City South Public Domain 
Plan City of Sydney 2015 

– Belmore Park Draft Plan of Management 
1993 

– City of Sydney Open Space Sports 
Recreation Needs Study 2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 
  

378



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss. 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental, and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

379



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships, and learn about 
sustainability. 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures, and criteria. 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites. 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved. 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership. 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents. 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic, and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables, and fruit. 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

380



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals. 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses; and 

– Consult the community about new 
Market Proposals by providing 
consultation opportunities for the 
community to comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places. 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses. 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity. 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect. 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and. 

– Considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city. 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city. 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

381



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts, or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users. 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; and 

– Consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous, and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural, and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

382



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments, and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond, and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history, and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation, 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers, 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

383



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management, and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population. 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides. 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover. 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, 
social, and ecological criteria. 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers, and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape; and 

– Enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places, and 
buildings that are owned, 
operated, or managed by the City 
of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear, 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community, or landscape. 
Names should not refer to or reflect 
current commercial businesses in 
that location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

384



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10-kilometre radius must be 
avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar, and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

385



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

386



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient, and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors, and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies: and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence. 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians. 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs, and websites. 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

387



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance, and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity, and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories, and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

388



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global, and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social, and cultural 
goals arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services, and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

389



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable, and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions, and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects, and 
service delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services, and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise, and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

390



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work, and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport, and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture, and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

391



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions, and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural, 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change, and supporting 
economic development. 

– Initiative, experimentation, and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

392



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

393



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value, and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping, 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

394



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve, and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous, and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

395



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures, and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures, and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations, and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

396



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand, and improve condition 

of naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

397



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework, and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil, and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks, and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

398



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks. 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre. 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites. 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years. 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part). 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project. 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 
  

399



Belmore Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

 

 

 

 

 

400



Attachment G 

Cook and Phillip Park      

 

 

 

401



 

Cook and Phillip Park  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021 

 
 

402



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 29 

4. Strategic context 32 

5. Community guiding principles 35 

6. Basis for Management 37 

7. Review of the plan 45 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 46 

8. General requirements 47 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 54 

10. Park category- authorisations 60 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 64 

12. Appendices 67 

 

  

403



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 15 

Figure 3. Site Plan 17 

Figure 4. Crown Reserve Location Plan 18 

Figure 5. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 26 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 27 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 40 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map 41 

Figure 9. Master Plan 44 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park 

Category 60 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-

term uses and other estates – Park Category 61 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – General 

Community Use Category 64 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-

term uses and other estates – General Community Use 

Category 65 

 

 

404



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

405



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

406



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 

which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 

short and long-term management of a parcel of 

community land owned by Council or Crown 

Land under Council’s care, control and 

management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 

will be used, improved and managed in the 

future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 

for the land, and establishes the overall direction 

for its planning, resource management and 

maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 

Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 

consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 

govern the management of Crown Land in New 

South Wales, further implementing reforms 

identified through the comprehensive review of 

Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 

the management of Crown land by councils. 

Specifically, councils are now required to 

manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 

it were public land under the Local Government 

Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 

outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 

Councils. 

Cook and Philip Park (Crown Reserves: 500453, 

500910, 500448, 500929, 1002936, 1001018, 

and 1001019 – for Lots and DP refer Figure 2) 

is classified as “community land” under the LG 

Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 

PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 

the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 

council Crown land manager must ensure that 

the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 

as soon as practicable. 

 

 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 

1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 

legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 

for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 

proposes to achieve the objectives and 

performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 

and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 

1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 

buildings or other improvements on the land 

as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 

used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 

the community land other than that authorised by 

this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 

area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 

of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 

and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 

Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 

process for preparing the PoM that has been 

undertaken by the City of Sydney.  

The process has integrated extensive 

consultation with the general community, First 

Nations stakeholders and other authority 

stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

407



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 

to understand the community’s vision for Crown 

land spaces, how the community use the land 

now and how they would like to use the land in 

the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 

was to recognise the important relationship that 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 

have to these spaces, strengthen the 

relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 

opportunity to further recognise and foster 

Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 

and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 

program was communicated to the community 

via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 

Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 

reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 

list. 
  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management

- Legislative context

- Strategic Context

- First nations guiding 

principles

- Values and roles

-	Influ

e

nces 	on	management

Draft Plan of Management

-	Management	Targets

-	Management	Strategies	/	

Actions 

- Authorisations 

 -  use 

	-	development

 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 

Stakeholder Consultation

-City wide survey

-Discussion Guides

Internal Staff Workshops

-On site pop-ups

-Intercept Surveys

Interviews

-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

408



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 

survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 

of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 

and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 

statistical data around community values and 

uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 

provided an opportunity for more in depth 

discussions around Crown lands within different 

locations across the city and specifically with the 

First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 

in the area and provided an opportunity for 

children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 

are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 

Plan of Management Engagement Report 

February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 

following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 

practice of First Nations people’s 

continuous connection to Country and 

important role as caretakers and 

knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 

mental health, wellbeing and provide a 

place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 

the city are highly valued and should 

accommodate the needs of the growing 

population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 

spaces are important for everyone to 

enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 

manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 

biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 

safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 

to increase accessibility and support 

community use 
  

Engagement 

tools to 

inform 

specific

 

plans of 

management 

Engagement 

tools to 

inform 

general 

plans of 

management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 

community values and visions for their 

open spaces (informs both generic and 

specific

 

Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 

on general issues in addition to specific

 

parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-

ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 

at specific

 

time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 

will conduct interviews with key external 

stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 

for regular user groups (e.g schools, 

sporting clubs) to map values, and places 

of signific

a

nce.

Work in partnership with local First 

Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 

with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 

for regular user groups (e.g schools, 

sporting clubs) to map values, and places 

of signific

a

nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 

of Sydney staff workshop 

409



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 

of First Nations input into management of Crown 

Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 

during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 

the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 

and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 

ways that these principles can be followed 

through by Council and others were also 

discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 

is real and permanent, not just digital (in 

response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 

include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-

invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 

water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 

and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 

(including maintenance, planting, holistic 

understanding of Country, etc.) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 

waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 

and are an historical link that have been 

covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 

participants referred to the work of the State 

Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 

geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 

descriptions will help the community better 

understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 

place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 

‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 

culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 

artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 

Indigenous culture, practices and 

perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 

when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 

notification to acknowledge/welcome to 

country, when you are close to a sacred site 

or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 

that enlivens and engages - not just 

commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 

and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 

Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 

critical place for truth-telling and healing 

trauma  

410



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 

diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-

telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 

supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 

interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 

events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 

culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 

and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 

at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 

management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 

opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 

should be able to be practiced somewhere 

permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 

shared arrangements with State 

Government (DPIE) who work with 

Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 

on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 

Council sought that the City of Sydney 

provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 

business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 

Council asked that the City of Sydney 

support addressing the issue of 

underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 

Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 

all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 

Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 

well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City to take on the hard 

issues and use position to influence other 

organisations including other councils and 

government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 

ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 

levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 

people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 

were raised that the community want to see 

resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 

spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City continue to engage 

with the First Nations community to explore 

avenues to pursue the above principles and 

actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 

“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 

that ongoing management of Crown and 

community land pursue these principles.  

411



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Cook and Phillip Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

412



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

413



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

414



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

415



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 

established for Cook and Phillip Park through 

past master planning and plans of management 

(Cook and Phillip Park – Draft PoM 1997) and 

recent City-wide strategic planning (Open 

Space, Sports and Recreation Needs Study 

2016). This PoM references both documents as 

the current planning direction for the reserve. 

 

 

 

Location and description  
Cook and Phillip Park is located adjacent to and 
on the east side of Hyde Park. The park is 
bounded by College, Cathedral and Park/William 
Streets. Yurong Parkway divides the park into 
two areas. 

The park is further split into the 3 distinct 

character areas through its current land use; the 

Aquatic and Fitness Centre with underground 

carpark; the park which includes a number of 

water features, green space and mature trees 

and the outdoor sports courts to the east of 

Yurong Parkway with children’s playground and 

community facilities. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 

information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Cook and Phillip Park 

Address Corner College Street and William Street, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. 

purpose and gazetted 

date 

500453 Dedication, Public Recreation, 18/3/1927 

500910 Dedication, Public Recreation, 3/5/1878 

500448 Dedication, Public Recreation, 3/5/1878 

500929 Dedication, Public Recreation, 8/1/1932 

1002936 Reserve, Community Purposes / Public Recreation, 

5/5/2000 

1001018 Reserve, Urban Services, 28/11/1997 

1001019 Reserve, Public Recreation, 28/11/1997 

Zoning RE1 Public Recreation 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area  

(Crown Reserves) 

Cook and Phillip Park – 1,036.12 m2 

Cook Park – 6,664.64 m2 

Phillip Park – 6,224.44 m2 

2. Land description 

416



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

item description 

Phillip Park (Part) – 2,335.51 m2 

Phillip Park East – 3,858.05 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Land part Lot 8 DP 873273 (Cook and Phillip Park) 

part Lot 8 DP 873273, Lot 31 DP 1007439 (Phillip Park) 

part Lot 1 DP 873273, Lot 22 DP 1082638 (Phillip Park – leased 

area) 

part Lot 1 DP 873273, Lots 21-22 DP 1082638 (Cook Park – leased 

area) 

Lot 5 DP 873273, Lot 23 1082638 (Cook Park) 

Lot 31 DP 1007439 (Phillip Park – Part) 

Lot 33 DP 1007439 (Phillip Park East) 

Miscellaneous land Lot 1 DP1000281 (unregistered) - Road Reserve managed by City of 

Sydney as Roads Authority 

Restrictions / 

easements 

n/a 

Community land 

categorisation 

Existing  

Cook and Phillip Park Park  

Cook Park Parcels leased to Council are not categorised 

Phillip Park Park   

Phillip Park (Part) Park  

Phillip Park East General Community Use/Park  

(Cook Park) Parcels leased to Council are not categorised 

(Phillip Park) Park  

(Parcels leased to Council are not 

categorised) 

 

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 5 for Condition Summary 

 
 

  

417



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

 

C
o
ll
e
g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

William Street

Y
ur

on
g 
P
ar

kw
ay

St Marys Rd
Cathedral St

B
o
o

m
e

ra
n

g
 P

l

CATEGORY

General Community Use

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

N

1 / DP873273

8 / DP873273

1 / DP1000281

31 / DP1007439

32 / DP 
1007439

33 / DP1007439

23 / DP1082638

21 / DP1082638 22 / DP 

1082638

6/ DP 
873273

4/ DP 

873273

33 / DP 1007439

5/ DP 

873273

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 
1082638

C
o
ll
e
g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

William Street

Y
ur

on
g 
P
ar

kw
ay

St Marys Rd
Cathedral St

YURONG
WATER

GARDEN

AQUATIC &
FITNESS
CENTRE

UNDERGROUND
PARKING

PLAYSPACE

CHILDCARE
CENTRE

OUTDOOR
COURTS

B
o
o

m
e

ra
n

g
 P

l

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

Crown Land parcel  -
managed by Council as Lessee
Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

418



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Figure 4. Crown Reserve Location Plan 
 

 

  

C
o
lle

g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

William Street

Y
ur

on
g 

P
ar

kw
ay

St Marys Rd
Cathedral St

B
o
o

m
e

ra
n

g
 P

l

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary
N

1 / DP873273

8 / DP873273

1 / DP1000281

31 / DP1007439

32 / DP 
1007439

33 / DP1007439

23 / DP1082638

21 / DP1082638 22 / DP 

1082638

6/ DP 
873273

4/ DP 

873273

33 / DP 1007439

5/ DP 

873273

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 
1082638

C
o
lle

g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

William Street

Y
ur

on
g 

P
ar

kw
ay

St Marys Rd
Cathedral St

B
o
o

m
e

ra
n

g
 P

l

R. 1001019 *
(PHILLIP PARK)

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

D. 500448 ~
PHILLIP PARK

D. 500453
COOK AND

PHILLIP PARK

R. 1002936
PHILLIP PARK EAST

D. 500929
PHILLIP PARK

(PART)

D. 500910^
COOK PARK

*

^

^

~

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

Crown Land parcel  -
managed by Council as Lessee

419



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

Cook and Phillip Park is one of the City of 

Sydney’s earliest public parks and forms an 

important part of the city’s public open space. 

Prior to European arrival the land formed part of 

the Gadigal people’s traditional lands. The parks 

proximity to Hyde Park which was known as a 

meeting place and ceremonial contest ground 

for First Nations people from all over Sydney, its 

proximity to Woolloomooloo and Rushcutters 

Bay and importance to the Gadigal people as a 

hunting and sedentary residential space is 

referred to in various early records. 

The land Cook and Phillip Park is now situated 

on was on the outskirts of the early town of 

Sydney and its first recorded use post European 

arrival was in 1819 after the completion of Hyde 

Park Barracks when it was cleared to create a 

convict garden. 

The area was dedicated as a park in 1878 when 

Boomerang Street was constructed along the 

line of an old walking track. There were two 

separate parks divided by Boomerang Street: 

Cook Park on the south-west side and Phillip 

Park on the north-east. They were named after 

British navigator Captain James Cook, and the 

colony’s first governor Captain Arthur Phillip. 

As Sydney’s transport evolved, Boomerang 

Street became the main bus and tram route to 

the eastern suburbs. 

As the city evolved the park has had various 

recreation facilities including a bowling club, play 

space and fragrance garden. Adjacent sites 

have also had varying civic and community roles 

which influence how the park has been used.  

Cook and Phillip Park saw major redevelopment 

in 1997 which saw the removal of the bowling 

club, Boomerang Street and Haig Avenue, and 

construction of a modern swimming pool 

complex and grey paved concourse in front of 

the cathedral. 

Heritage Context 

Listed heritage item: 

Sydney LEP # I1655— ‘Cook and Phillip Park’  

In the vicinity of multiple SHR items including: 

– St Mary’s Catholic Cathedral and Chapter 

House (SHR No. 01709) 

– Hyde Park (SHR No 01871) 

– St James Railway Station (SHR No. 01248) 

– Australian Museum (SHR No. 00805) 

– Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain (SHR 

No. 01070). 

History  

The continued Aboriginal occupation of Sydney 
can be traced through the archaeological 
records to at least 22,000 years ago, with some 
estimates extending towards 35,000 years. The 
occupation of the Sydney Basin extended 
beyond the current shorelines as lower sea 
levels meant the coast was between 12 and 20 
km further east than today. Sydney Harbour 
formed a vast valley with a central river. Some 
1000 years ago – at the end of the last great ice 
age – rising sea levels inundated the broad 
coastal plain forcing the retreat of coastal people 
over a few generations. The flooding of the 
county is estimated to have taken up to 1100 
square km of land on the coast and 45 square 
kilometres within the harbour area itself. This 
resulted in the addition of 250 kilometres of 
shoreline shaping Sydney Harbour as it more or 
less sits today.   

The Sydney area supported the Eora nation, 
comprised of more than 30 separate clans 
woven together across the region. Is it recorded 
that most clans took their names from their 
Country, such as the Gadigal along the harbour’s 
southern shore, or the Wangal from Wanne, the 
lower reaches of Parramatta River, or the 
Kamaygal from Kamay, Botany Bay). Others, 
like the Cammeragal from the harbour’s northern 
shore, may have been named for their role in 
ceremony and law.  

It was people from the Sydney Aboriginal groups 
concentrated around Sydney Cove and the 
Harbour who initially confronted and made 
efforts to understand the colonisers and their 
intentions on Country. It is these Aboriginal 
people who are described in the surviving 
colonial accounts. When the eleven ships of the 
First Fleet with one thousand or so people 
stepped ashore and set up camp in Sydney 
Cove in January 1788 having relocated from 
Botany Bay—it was the people of the Gadigal 
that they first encountered. The Gadigal were the 
first people dispossessed by colonists and it is 
this dispossession that underpins the foundation 
and growth of the city. In 1789, the smallpox 
epidemic devastated the Aboriginal population 
and disrupted clan boundaries in Sydney.   

420



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

Aboriginal people came together in new 
communities and locations.  Aboriginal people 
were still living on lands where the colonisers 
endorsed or tolerated it and were frequently 
observed in Sydney. In 1997, an Aboriginal 
campsite was discovered at Junction Lane in 
Woolloomooloo during archaeological 
excavations ahead of the construction of the 
Eastern Distributor motorway. The campsite 
would likely to have been located on what was 
originally mudflats along the eastern bank of 
Yurong Creek, above Woolloomooloo Bay.  

Until the mid-1820s, First Nations people 

travelled from all over Sydney, and as far away 

as the Hunter and the Illawarra, to gather at a 

ceremonial contest ground to the south of the 

city. The exact location of this site of ritualised 

conflict settlement and resistance is unclear. 

Described as lying between the road to Botany 

Bay and the Brickfields, it was probably near 

Hyde Park South, not far from Cook and Philip 

Park 

Bloody fist fights involving up to 100 people, 

spearings and beatings were used to resolve 

conflicts at the Brickfields contest ground. These 

were observed and recorded by visiting Russian 

sailors in 1814, and again 10 years later by the 

French explorers Dumont d’Urville and Rene 

Lesson. (Source: City of Sydney - Barani) 

The first European occupation of the site 
occurred in 1819 when twelve acres of land was 
cleared east of Hyde Park for a convict garden 
and encompassed land from the present-day 
Australian Museum and Sydney Grammar 
School to St Marys Cathedral. The garden was 
abandoned by 1831 and the land lay vacant. 
There were rumours in the late 1820s suggested 
the land would be subdivided and allocated to 
private individuals; the latter never eventuated. 
By the 1830s a number of paths had been 
formed from College Street to the Domain and 
William Street also to the Domain. William and 
College Streets were formed in 1834 and 1832 
respectively. A foot track from Hyde Park to 
Woolloomooloo was surveyed and initially name 
Woolloomooloo Street later renamed Cathedral 
Street.  It is likely that many of these tracks 
mirrored those walked by Aboriginal people.  
Records describe nearby Hyde Park being used 
by Aboriginal people for ritual combat in the early 
colonial period.  

College Street was built in 1832 dividing the 
site of Cook and Phillip Park from Hyde Park. 
To the north of the former convict garden 

Sydney’s first Catholic chapel was built 
between 1832 and 1864, before burning down 
and replaced by the current St Mary’s Cathedral. 
By 1840 some parts of the College Street 
frontage had been enclosed with a post and rail 
fence. In the 1850s a part of Cook Park was 
known as Bell’s Paddock, named for Mr Bell, a 
city butcher who used the land for agisting cattle. 
It remained in use for agistment until late into the 
nineteenth century. The area of Phillip Park was 
referred to as ‘no-man’s land’. Under the Public 
Parks Act of 1854 Cook+ Phillip Park came 
under the remit of Hyde Park. 

In 1878 Phillip and Cook Parks were 
dedicated under the Crown Lands Act as 
separated identities and a board of trustees 
appointed. At this time land was already excised 
from the parks for the Blind Asylum and another 
piece was reserved for a watch house. It was 
found at the time of creating a legal identity for 
the parks that despite Phillip’s reservation of this 
land for the Crown in 1788 it had never been a 
legal identity.  

At this time the two parks were separated by the 
construction of Boomerang Street. Cook Park 
was named after British navigator Captain 
James Cook, while Phillip Park honours the 
colony’s first governor Captain Arthur Philip. The 
new Trustees spent little money on the new 
parks with the majority of their budget expended 
on Hyde Park. Cook and Phillip Parks were 
allocated money for works including new gas 
lighting and the employment of a constable to 
patrol the parks. 

Australia’s first public bowling club was 
opened in Cook Park in March 1881. A further 
three clubhouses were erected and demolished 
during the 1900s. In the late 1880s a 
Watchhouse was erected in the north-east 
corner of the park. An article in 1895 described 
Cook Park as the reserve of bowlers and horses 
and Phillip Park as that for footballers and cows 
and both parks were generally run down. 
Meanwhile Phillip Park remained underutilised 
and used as a dumping ground. Phillip Park was 
cleared thoroughly in April 1887 to make way for 
a major public entertainment event ‘The Last 
Days of Pompeii’. The management of the parks 
by Trustees also came in for criticism at the end 
of the nineteenth century. In 1903 it was 
described as an anachronism.  

The parks were placed under the control of 
the City Council in 1904, rather than a board of 
trustees. Shortly after, a code of instructions for 

421



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

the management of the parks was issued by 
Council and by-laws for Phillip, Cook and Hyde 
Parks were approved in May 1905. Following the 
handover, the Council oversaw the construction 
a playground in 1907, which was later enlarged 
to become the Phillip Park Recreation Centre. 
The council nursery moved here from Hyde Park 
in 1910. This coincided with a money allocated 
by the Town Clerk to beautify the park. At the 
same time the Council constructed numerous 
rockeries in the parks. 

In the 1920s and 1930s changes were made 
to streets including the realignment of Cathedral 
Street which resulted in the change in 
boundaries to parts of the parks. Haig Avenue 
was formed in 1912 Haig Avenue at right angles 
to Boomerang Street to provide tram lines for 
workers to Woolloomooloo and Garden Island. 
As well new additions were made including a 
children’s playground in Phillip Park while the 
land that had been granted as a drill hall site was 
revoked and added back to the parks. In 1937 
13-17 Riley Street were resumed for park 
purposes, specifically to create a cleansing 
depot for street sweeping. Cook Park remained 
the preserve largely of the Bowling Club; Council 
reluctantly renewed its lease. A new pavilion 
was built for the club in 1913. Some of the 
earlier excisions for the watch house and drill hall 
were revoked in this period. During WW2 air raid 
shelters in the form of five trenches were created 
by the Department of Public Works and a brick 
shelter was built for the staff of the cleansing 
department.  

Following the diverse range recreational 
initiatives within the Park including a children’s 
library, craft centre and an open-air theatre a 
significant experiential play sculpture titled, 
‘Earth Mother’, was installed around 1952 
designed by artist Anita Aarons. The work 
demonstrated the City of Sydney’s ongoing 
commitment and advancement of children’s 
education through recreation and culture.  The 
initiative also marked an early foray by the city 
into public art.     

In 1962 a fragrance garden was added to 
Phillip Park which catered for the workers at the 
Industrial Blind Institute which had been built in 
1878. The institute was demolished in 1971 
and became the site of Park Lane Towers 
apartments. The bowling club continued to 
operate in Cook Park. The children’s 
playground was extensively remodelled in 
the 1970s. In 1990 a landscape master plan was 
prepared for the parks. Other works included 

improvements to the Phillip Park playground and 
the provision of public toilets. The bowling club 
continued to occupy the majority of Cook Park. 

A memorial was erected in the park in 1989 in 
honour of Police Constable Allan McQueen who 
was shot nearby on 24 April 1989 and died 
several days later.  

Cook + Phillip Park underwent a major 
redevelopment in 1997 including demolition of 
the bowling club, Boomerang Street and Haig 
Avenue to make was for the construction of a 
modern swimming pool complex and grey paved 
concourse in front of the cathedral. The two 
parks were merged at this date. The aquatic 
and fitness centre were opened in 1999-2000. 
Designed by Lawrence Neild from Bligh Voller 
Neild (BVN) in conjunction with Michael 
Spackman from Spackman Mossop Michaels 
(SMM) landscape architects, the development 
won the Royal Institute of Architects (NSW) Civic 
Deign Award in 2001 and also the first prize in 
the Urban Design Awards of the same year. It 
includes a significant mural by artist, Wendy 
Sharpe. The recreational facility was refurbished 
in 2020. 

Statement of Significance 

‘Cook and Philip Park remain part of the original open 

space network of Sydney. It was originally linked to 

Hyde Park and the Domain but was sub-divided into 

two parks (with a total of four sub-divided parklands) 

during the 19th and early 20th century’. 

Key Features 

The landscape of Cook and Philip Park has been 

highly modified and there is little evidence of the 

built and landscape features of the site prior to 

the 1990s.  

Evidence of the former landscape is 

predominantly represented through the mature 

trees and cultural plantings within the park.  

The park contains several trees listed on the 

Coty of Sydney’s Significant Trees Register: 

• 15 Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla) 

• 1 small-leaved fog (Ficus obliqua) 

• 5 London planes (Platanus x acerifolia) 

• 3 Canary Island date palms (Phoenix x canariensis) 

• 5 Washington palms (Washingtonia robusta) 

• 1 Dragon’s blood tree (Dracaena Draco)  

• 5 Port Jackson figs (Ficus rubiginosa). 

422



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Some (low) archaeological potential for evidence 

of WWII air raid trenches / shelters. 

Some (moderate) archaeological potential for 

remains of 1920s tram tracks (not likely to meet 

threshold for locally significant historical 

archaeological remains.  

Additionally, Earth Mother Play Sculpture (Anita 

Aarons) has been identified by the City of 

Sydney as having local significance for its 

historical, associative, technical, rarity and 

representative values. 

 

Environment and landscape 
Cook and Phillip Park is in close proximity to the 

city centre and forms part of the network of open 

spaces on the eastern side of the city. It is 

surrounded by some of the city’s major cultural 

institutions. The park contains approximately 1.8 

hectares of parkland and offers a diversity of 

recreational opportunities.  

Since the previous 1997 PoM was prepared, 

many significant alterations to the layout and 

facilities have been undertaken in response to 

the PoM and master planning. 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics 

In broad landscape terms, the park occupies a 

portion of the eastern slopes of the 

Woolloomooloo Bay catchment grading down 

from the central Sydney ridge extending through 

Hyde Park, to the Woolloomooloo valley. 

The underlying geology of the site marked an 

area of transition from the Ashfield Shales on the 

upper ridge, to the Hawkesbury Sandstone on 

the lower slopes. The landform was defined by 

gentle slopes of the ridge top, shale soils 

overlying the sandstone geology with exposed 

boulders found in and along creek lines. As well 

as the structure of rock, soils and vegetation this 

area included a small creek or gully. This 

ephemeral watercourse known as, Yurong 

Creek, commenced at a point that is now in front 

of St Mary’s Cathedral and ran down the slope 

towards the south-east. It joined other creeks 

and the combined waterway then emptied into 

Rushcutters Bay. Woolloomooloo Bay, the head 

of which was originally much further south than 

it is currently, ended close to Crown Street also 

had a creek or gully that ran into the land at the 

bottom of the slope on which the parks would be 

developed in the future.  

Confined by a forested ridgeline the valley would 

have been protected from harsh westerly and 

southerly winds and open to the milder northerly 

and easterly winds. 

The park area would originally have featured 

flora associated with Sydney Coastal Dry 

Sclerophyll Forests. The vegetation would have 

been relatively diverse, reflective of the changing 

geology and range of drainage conditions across 

the site.  

The vegetation would have provided habitats for 

a range of native fauna, food and raw materials 

for First Nations people. 

Existing Physical Characteristics: 

Landform, Soil, Drainage  

The current topography has been extensively 

altered from that of the natural landscape. Large 

areas have been retained by terracing, rock and 

concrete retaining walls. The park contains 

some significant levels changes with the change 

in elevation on the William Street frontage, at the 

corner of College Street to Boomerang 

Place/Yurong Parkway, approximately 10m. 

The open grass areas within the park are 

generally sloping areas with benching of the 

landform at regular intervals to overcome the 

steep slope. 

A combination of introduced fill and bulk 

excavations have significantly altered the natural 

soil profile of the original landscape. 

Soil investigations carried out in the 1990s found 

considerable evidence of fill across the whole 

site burying or replacing the pre-existing profiles. 

Surface soils were found to be severely 

compacted and resistant to water absorption, 

extensive areas of clay fill and sandy fill and 

evidence of perched water tables. 

Microclimates  

The existing microclimate conditions within the 

park are influenced by the surrounding built form, 

site topography and mature tree plantings within 

the park. Surrounding buildings and roads can 

modify local wind patterns and increase 

temperatures but the relatively mature tree 

canopy and plantings within the park mitigates 

these impacts providing a cooler and protected 

environment.  

 

 

423



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Vegetation 

The existing planting in the park is a mix of 

Australian and exotic plant material and 

reflective of the different periods of the park 

development. The central row of Moreton Bay 

figs is likely the original planting from the late 

1870s and are a dominant feature within the 

park. 

There is a mix of plantings themes in the 

understory planting of native and exotic species, 

shrub and groundcover species. 

 
Landscape and Visual Character  

The park forms part of a fragmented network of 

open space that links the city centre with the 

harbour’s edge. 

The park today can be described as having 3 
main character areas: 

– Plaza, Aquatic Centre, Carpark 

– Parkland Area 

– East of Yurong Parkway 
 
The plaza provides provide a unique setting 
within the city for events and a place to view the 
cityscape. The space is split into two zones by 
the stepped entry down to the lower level of the 
park and facilities. The northern zone provides a 
hard-landscaped plaza space with a tiered 
seating platform which serves a dual purpose as 
a light well for the active spaces below. The 
southern zone is largely made up of two 
rectangular shaped water features. A raised 
boardwalk over water feature provides an 
alternative north-south route and for interaction 
with the water jets. There is limited shade 
coverage to the plaza which can be hot and 
uncomfortable during the day in summer 
months. The tree canopy within the park on the 
eastern side provides a backdrop to the space. 
 
The parkland area is split into two zones by the 
central diagonal pathway. The area is 
characterised by the sloping grassed 
embankments and terraces, and mature tree 
plantings largely to the periphery of the spaces. 
The canopy coverage and tree structure on 
Yurong Parkway provides a green and leafy 
edge to this side of the space. Although the 
parkland area is quite enclosed, due to the 
topography and plantings so long views are 
limited, some interesting views to the cityscape 
are possible.  

 
The space to the East of Yurong Parkway is 
characterised largely through its use – the 
childcare centre, outdoor basketball courts and 
children’s playspace. The land is set down and 
slopes away from Yurong Parkway to the east. A 
fence is positioned along the street boundary 
with a number of openings along the length. The 
tree planting within the space contributes to the  
 
Access and Circulation 

Access to the park - The park is surrounded by 
busy city roads with signalised crossings at the 
intersections. The park can be entered from 
various points on all boundaries from the 
adjacent street network and public footpaths. 
There are bus stops on William Street and it’s a 
short walk to access city train stations in Hyde 
Park. 

The overpass of St Mary’s Road provides a 

grassed link to the Domain and Cook and Phillip 

Park on the north side of the park. 

The shared path route from the path entry on 

Yurong Parkway across to St Mary’s Road 

provides an important link to the city cycle 

network. 

Circulation within the park – The site is steeply 
sloping with many level changes. Entries and 
access routes to the external landscape areas 
are dictated by level changes and slopes. 
There is varied availability of access to all areas 
of the park. Ramped access is available from the 
plaza level down to the Café/restaurant and 
Pool/recreation entrance level of the park.  
 
The key path for users passing through the park 
is the diagonal route from Boomerang Place to 
the underground carpark entry area. 
There are limited connections between the park 
facilities on the west and east side of Boomerang 
Place/ Yurong Parkway. The entry to the 
underground carpark is although pedestrian 
friendly, vehicle focussed in character. 

 
Reserve development 
The park has a rich and complex development 

history. Park use and layout has changed 

several times since European settlement with 

the last major redevelopment in the late 1990s. 

The following description has been summarised 

from the Draft Plan of Management 1997. 

424



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Upon European settlement the area was quickly 

denuded to make way for and provide materials 

for the settlement. The city/town was formally 

laid out in 1792 with the area of the park 

straddling the boundary. The ‘fringe’ location has 

been an important factor in the development of 

the park’s identity. 

A convict garden was established in the site in 

1819 and survived until at least the 1930s. There 

were several periods of abandonment, 

development and redevelopment prior to the 

area becoming a park. 

The area was dedicated as a park in 1878 when 

Boomerang Street was constructed along the 

line of an old walking track. There were 2 

separate parks divided by Boomerang Street: 

Cook Park on the south-west side and Phillip 

Park on the north-east. Some major tree 

plantings were established at this time. 

The original area of the park was reduced over 

the years by a number of excisions and leases 

and roads including a community and the City 

Bowling Club on western side of the park 

adjacent College Street. By 1912 the park had 

been divided into four discrete land parcels 

losing any sense of common identity as a major 

urban park. 

Various elements were added in the early 1900s 

including rockeries and walling. A more 

gardenesque approach developed in the 1920s 

with the addition of flowering trees and garden 

beds. By 1997 the park still retained many of the 

early twentieth century design approaches. 

In 1997, a major redevelopment was undertaken 

to construct the Cook and Phillip Park Aquatic 

centre complex and paved concourse. At this 

time roads were removed and re-aligned to the 

current layout allowing the park to become more 

unified. 

In 1999 the Yurong Water Gardens were 

installed with the concept developed to follow the 

original alignment of a creekline at the site. 

Capital works upgrades: 

– Upgrade works to the aquatic centre facilities 

have been undertaken in 2019/2020 to 

improve reception areas and access, fittings 

and fixtures, repairs, upgrade ventilation and 

new seating 

– Energy Services - Co/Trigeneration system 

under upgrade/installation works in 2020 

– Pool Control Board system upgrade 2020 

– Concepts for the new city centre playground 

have been developed and consulted on for a 

new playspace in the southern portion of the 

park adjacent the aquatic centre at the time 

of writing this plan of management. 

Proposed City Centre Playground  

The City of Sydney proposes to undertake a 

major renewal of play facilities in Cook and 

Phillip Park. The proposal will enliven an existing 

green open space providing a new inclusive 

destination play environment that responds to 

the established park character, connects with 

adjacent cultural and educational institutions and 

set within a garden that inspires and connects 

children with nature in the heart of the city. 

The playground will be large enough to cater for 

local children, families and visitors to the city and 

shall include:  

– removal of adjacent existing playground 

– a unique range of diverse play experiences - 

dynamic, exploratory, social and imaginative 

through the use of proprietary, bespoke and 

interactive environmental play elements 

– inclusive play spaces that caters for a range 

of ages and be all inclusive 

– safe and compliant play spaces to meet 

Australian Standards 

– links to unstructured play spaces and 

retained turf areas 

– shade to play equipment 

– target carbon neutral outcomes, solar to 

supply power, data meters link to City’s 

reporting system 

– water supply – implement non-potable water 

solution for toilet flushing 

– associated facilities and furniture for children 

and carers including seating, bubblers, bins 

and tables 

– hard and soft landscaping, earthworks, walls, 

fencing, drainage, pathways, lighting, 

signage, water points and planting to embed 

the new playground into the existing park 

fabric and landscape setting 

– improved passive surveillance, entry 

thresholds and interfaces with Cook and 

Phillip Pool forecourt 

425



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

– proximity to food and beverage offerings 

– drop off zone to facilitate equal access 

– Public amenities. 

The proposed core play area will be 

approximately 2400m2 and will cater for 

approximately 300 children at any one time with 

adjacent social spaces (900m2) and incidental 

spaces (200m2) to compliment the space. 

Past studies and master plans: 

– New City Centre Playground Concept Cook 

and Phillip 2020 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 

2016 

– Cook and Phillip Park - Draft Plan of 

Management - May 1997 

– Cook and Phillip Cogeneration Project - 

Aboriginal Heritage Due Diligence - 2017 

– Cook and Phillip Park - Heritage 

Assessment – 1997 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 

for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 

uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 

uses are consistent with the original purpose of 

the reserve. 

The public purposes for Cook and Phillip Park 

Crown reserves are Public Recreation, 

Community Purposes and Urban Services. 

Community usage 

Cook and Phillip Park offers a variety of active 

and passive recreation opportunities for the 

community. A mix of open space and built 

facilities attracts local residents, workers and 

visitors from further afield to the park. 

Cook and Phillip Park Pool is a high-quality 

swimming and fitness facility. The aquatic centre 

is open all year round and features full access 

for people with disability. The centre has a café 

and adjacent public car park. 

The centre includes a 50m pool, a dedicated 

leisure pool with wave machine and a 

hydrotherapy pool. All pools are indoor and 

heated. 

Other recreation facilities and activities the park 

provides for include: 

– children's playground  

– basketball court 

– fitness groups 

– pedestrian and cycling access  

– off-leash dog walking 

– occasional community and commercial 

events (winter wonderland; Xmas displays; 

living colour displays) 

– outdoor dining (cafe with licensed outdoor 

dining area. 

The park also contains a number of public art 

pieces of which a number are interactive 

including the Yurong Water Garden, unique play 

sculpture in the eastern play space and the 

aquatic centre poolside sculpture. 

Park surveys carried out in 2009, 2015, 2017 

indicated that the park is mostly used as a 

thoroughfare, for meal breaks, dog walking, and 

exercising (fitness training groups are common). 

More than half of users visited the park weekly 

or more frequently including 24% who visit daily. 

The majority of visitors spend less than 30 

minutes to 1.5 hours at the park.  

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 

Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 

indicate that the most popular activities 

undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– walking through to get somewhere else 

– walking or running for exercise 

– walking the dog 

– meet with friends 

At the park, other activities that survey 

respondents participated in included swimming, 

using the playground and visiting for school 

excursions. 

Three quarters of the survey respondents were 

more likely to be live nearby to Cook and Phillip 

Park. This was followed by a third who work 

nearby and a small proportion who are visitors to 

the area. Over half the respondents visit the park 

on a daily basis during the daytime. 

426



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Past surveys and the 2020 survey indicated 

there was low evening visitation and use of the 

park. 

Event use of the park 

Cook and Phillip Park is used for events 

(community and commercial) on an occasional 

basis. Due to the location and types of spaces 

available within the park the type of event can 

range from small community events to larger 

scale concerts, festivals, seasonal events 

attracting visitors from across the city. The plaza 

area above the underground carpark/sports 

facilities provides a unique space within the city 

for these types of larger events to take place. 

Other types of events have included media calls, 

casual sporting event, community consultation, 

commemoration/ memorial services, low impact 

filming. 

Figure 5. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Cook and Phillip Park   

Aquatic Centre including 

Café with outdoor 

dining/plaza 

Public use General Asset Condition – Average (3)  

Fitness Centre (within 

Aquatic centre) 

Public use 
General Asset Condition – Average (3)  

Public Art within Aquatic 

Centre: 

– Coral’s Poolside Cocktail 

Monster 

- Annette Kellerman Mural 

n/a 
 
 
 
Completed 1999, Ref: SOM138SC 
 
 

Aquatic Centre co-

generation system 

n/a Installed 2020 

Carpark Public use General Asset Condition – Good (2)  

Park water features – 

Yurong Water Garden 

(Public Art) 

n/a Installation 1999 (A. Glesta reg.doc. 

Sydney Museum Register, SOM139FN) 

‘City Centre’ Playground  n/a New playground in design development 

stages 

Park furniture – seating, bins Public use Fair to Good 

Park furniture - lighting Public use Fair to Good 

Community and children’s 

centre (KU) 

Public use General Asset Condition – Good (2)  

427



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Public Art “Earth Mother” 

Play sculpture 

n/a Reinforced concrete with granite and 

marble dust to permit polished finish 

(Installed 1952) 

Good condition (Attachment C9 - Cook and 

Phillip Park Earth Mother Play 

Sculpture.pdf – OEH Inventory, SOM 

number SOM029SC) 

Children’s playground Public use General Asset Condition – Fair (3)  

Outdoor recreational courts Public use General Asset Condition – Average (3)  

Public Art – Phillip Park Fish 

Community artwork 

(Australian Youth Mosaic) 

n/a 

 

Wall mosaic, Installed 2003, SOM number:    

SOM205MC 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Ground-Lease  

Cook and Phillip Park 

Aquatic and Leisure 

Centre  

City of Sydney 50 years, 19/12/1997 

Expiry 18/12/2047 

Recreation and Urban 

Services 

Sub-Lease 

Cathedral Street Car 

Park 

Enacon Parking Pty Ltd 25 years, 1/2/2000 

Expiry 31/01/2025 

Carpark  

 

Sub-License 

Rooftop - Cook and 

Phillip Park Aquatic and 

Leisure Centre 

Climate & Atmospheric 

Science as part of the 

Department of Planning, 

Industry and 

Environment 

1 year, 24/1/2020 

Expiry 24/1/2021 

(holdover) 

Air Monitoring 

Retail Sub-Lease  Bodhi Restaurant 5 years, 14/09/2017 

Expiry 13/09/2022 

Restaurant  

AGP Licence 

 

KU Phillip Park 3 years, 01/07/2018 

Expiry 30/06/2021 

Childcare Centre 

428



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

AGP Licence The Trustees of the 

Roman Catholic Church 

8 years, 01/07/2013 

Expiry 30/06/2021 

Community Room 

 

429



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Ownership and management 
Cook and Phillip Park is a Crown reserve owned 

by the State of New South Wales.  The City of 

Sydney is the Crown land manager responsible 

for the management of the reserves.  Refer to 

Section 2, pages 15-16 for further property 

details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 

Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 

Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 

managers (previously recognised under former 

legislations) and provided for the appointment of 

local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 

managers’ in respect of land which was 

previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 

Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 

management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 

to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 

heritage and economic considerations to be 

considered in decision-making about Crown 

land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 

transparent management of Crown land for 

the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 

Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 

spiritual, social, cultural and economic 

importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 

where appropriate, to enable the co-

management of dedicated or reserved 

Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 

having regard to the principles of Crown land 

management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 

Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 

(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 

the effective delivery of infrastructure across 

NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 

government and the communities they support 

by simplifying the process for providing essential 

infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 

development controls for 25 types of 

infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 

emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 

and other public reserves and 

telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 

works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 

be approved by a public authority under Part 

5 of the Environmental Planning and 

Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 

environmental assessment (known as 

‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 

by the relevant local council, Minister for 

Planning or Department of Planning under 

Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 

‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 

complying development. 

Of relevance to Cook and Phillip Park is Clause 

65 that specifies that development for any 

purpose may be carried out without consent if 

the development is for the purposes of 

implementing an adopted PoM. The clause also 

lists a range of ancillary developments permitted 

without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 

developments within a public reserve such as 

the construction, maintenance and repair of 

walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 

seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

430



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 

planning tools that set controls over 

development in the area to which they apply and 

are one of the main instruments for implementing 

the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 

well as controls for heritage conservation areas 

and protected areas, amongst other matters.  

Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Cook and Philip Park is zoned RE1 – Public 

Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– to enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes 

– to provide a range of recreational settings 

and activities and compatible land uses 

– to protect and enhance the natural 

environment for recreational purposes 

– to provide links between open space areas  

– To retain and promote access by members 

of the public to areas in the public domain 

including recreation facilities and waterways 

and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 

Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-

based child care facilities; Community facilities; 

Electricity generating works; Emergency 

services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 

and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 

and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 

Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 

(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 

facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 

stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 

Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 

structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 

supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 

must be considered unless Native Title has been 

extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 

court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 

extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 

Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 

with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 

The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 

followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 

Title on Crown land managed by the City of 

Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 

facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 

tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 

buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 

powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 

City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 

Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 

invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 

2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 

advice is required before a council Crown land 

manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 

rights, easements or rights of way over the 

land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 

mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 

conditions or other restrictions on use (or 

removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 

release, covenants, conditions, or other 

restrictions on use) in connection with 

dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 

management for the land that authorises or 

permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

431



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 

Native Title Manager advice must be 

obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 

for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 

in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 

licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 

under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 

been and will continue to be consulted in all 

relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 

land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 

Local, State and National heritage listings. 

 

432



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 

reviewed the demographic and recreational 

context of the subject reserve which provides 

useful background to ongoing planning and 

management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 

population and density will result in more use 

and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 

space network, particularly the larger parks that 

offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 

accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 

This trend will continue over the next 10-15 

years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 

opportunities to increase the open space and 

recreation facility network provision and provide 

linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 

workforce population and visitors the quality of 

public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 

socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 

lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 

important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 

liveability of higher density urban areas by 

supporting community well-being, physical 

activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 

within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 

to live close to the city centre and lone person 

households’ places importance on the 

distribution of the open space network to ensure 

people have convenient access to a park that 

serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 

space planning and management is an important 

component of the liveability and quality of high-

density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 

of families with young children, young adults, 

and older people are expected to be heavy users 

of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 

will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 

group has high participation rates in active sports 

and recreation, and many reside in new high-

density urban renewal areas which suggests 

higher density communities could potential be 

very active communities and will require 

opportunities for physical activity and social 

interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 

provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 

cultural and creative activities and facilities to 

cater for various age, cultural and income 

groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 

people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 

be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 

Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 

villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 

old people 

While the working age population will remain the 

largest demographic group to 2041, the 

proportion of this age group decreases across 

the LGA. The villages with the most significant 

change in this age group proportion will be King 

Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 

Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-

4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

433



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 

people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 

84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 

While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 

old people is consistent across all villages within 

the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 

year old people varies. The villages with the 

highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 

old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 

Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 

(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 

and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 

forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 

will see the highest increase in number of 

households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 

City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 

CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 

number of Crown lands will cater to an 

increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 

increase in households with one parent families 

and group households. However, there are 

variations in forecast household type across the 

villages including those within this PoM study 

area: 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 

Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 

increase in one parent families 

− Macleay Street – Woolloomooloo will have an 

increase in other families, followed by one 

parent families 

− Oxford Street will have an increase in other 

families, followed by lone person households 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 

metropolitan core that contains regional and 

village level services including retail to health, 

education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 

and surrounds are also attractive places for 

tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 

visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 

Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 

Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 

Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 

via short term rental accommodation as well as 

through traditional hotel and hostel services.  

The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 

and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 

services including: 

− shopping 

− health and education 

− recreation and entertainment 

− accommodation 

− personal business 

− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 

860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 

Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  

(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 

overseas with top countries of birth being China, 

United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 

with highest born overseas rates include 

Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 

(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 

(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 

language other than English with top languages 

being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 

areas with highest percentage of other language 

speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 

(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 

and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 

characterised as low-income households. 

Village areas with highest percentage of low-

income households include Redfern Street 

(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 

and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  

(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 

areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 

Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 

Street (970.2)

434



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 

range of policies which provide guidance to 

Council decision-making. A number of these 

influence planning and management decision-

making for open space and must be referred to 

in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 

of strategies focused on specific issues. While 

strategies are high-level guideline documents 

and usually carry less influence than policies, 

they can provide important references for 

planning and management decision-making for 

open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 

specific issues shall take precedence where no 

guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 

provided in the individual policies. However, all 

decision-making, and ongoing management 

must also have regard for conservation of the 

specific park values and application of the core 

objectives of the applicable community land 

category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 

provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 

strategy development should also inform specific 

aspects of reserve planning and management as 

applicable.   

 

 

  

435



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

The City of Sydney 
acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 

caretaker of these places. We will consciously 

consider these principles in the decisions we 

make for the Crown and community land we are 

responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 

change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 

understanding of Country in the worldview of the 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

This understanding of Country includes the 

landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 

animals, and the relationship between these. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

responsibility for care of Country and the 

continuation of these relationships. Country has 

existed in this place for thousands of 

generations. Country precedes the colonial 

boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 

acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 

People have in the carriage of their living 

cultures including access to land for practising 

culture. Crown and community land should bring 

social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 

Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

436



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 

the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 

Country, we recognise the significance of this 

land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 

places with honesty and acknowledge the 

negative impacts caused to Country and to the 

people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 

to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 

hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 

approach to managing Crown and community 

land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 

we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 

and respite in an intensely urban environment. 

These places have cultural and community 

significance to many people. They are places of 

shared identity and pride, of community 

connection and celebration, and of protest and 

social transformation. They must be welcoming 

to all people and will provide equity of access to 

all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 

between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 

for thousands of generations. We respect the 

natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 

species. We work to heal places that have 

suffered degradation. We support these places 

to play their role in the health of the whole 

environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 

places. These places must benefit the 

community now and in the future. As we face a 

changing climate and growing population, we 

make decisions that prepare these places and 

ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 

Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 

Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

437



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Values and roles of Cook and 
Phillip Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 

development of the PoM. Values are the 

qualities and roles of the park that the community 

wishes to protect, conserve, and enhance.  

These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 

and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- site appraisal 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

- A place that forms a strategic open space 
connection between Hyde Park, The Domain 
and major cultural attractions (Australian 
Museum, Art Gallery of NSW) 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A park that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A recreation destination desirable to be 
accessed by cycle 

- A place that is not compromised by vehicle 
access 
 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Spaces and facilities that support youth use of 
the park 

- Outdoor courts that facilitate recreation and 
fitness 

- A place for dog walking and exercise 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- Important aquatic facilities for the city centre 

- Café facilities that compliment and add to the 
park amenity 

- Parking to support recreational uses and 
events  

- A valued childcare centre 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

- A play destination for locals and visitors 

- Park elements that support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A modified landscape 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

6. Basis for 
Management 

438



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access to 
cultural expression and awareness through 
arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 
 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

  

439



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 

for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 

uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 

uses are consistent with the original purpose of 

the reserve and the use does not impact on 

Native Title rights and interests under the Native 

Title Act 1993. 

The public purposes for Cook and Phillip Park   

Crown reserves include Public Recreation, 

Community Purposes and Urban Services. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 

developed by Department Planning, Industry 

and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 

Council should consider the Crown reserve 

purpose when assigning categories under the 

LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 

application of community land categories would 

ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 

which it was originally set aside by its dedication 

or reservation. 

Figure 8 maps out the community land 

categorisations in the context of the Crown 

reserves. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 

categorisations for Cook and Phillip Park in 

accordance with Crown Land requirements. The 

Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 

identifies that councils should apply the initial 

categorisation based on existing/current use of 

the reserve only. The initial categorisation 

cannot be based on proposed or future use. The 

initial categorisations for Cook and Phillip Park 

have been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 

support a future use should be altered via the 

PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 

considered in applying community land 

categorisations. Land that possesses a 

significant geological feature, geomorphological 

feature, landform, representative system or 

other natural feature should be considered for 

categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 

describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Cook and Phillip Park there are no site 

characteristics that would justify Natural Area 

categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 

heritage significance Council should consider 

whether Area of Cultural Significance is 

applicable. This should consider whether there 

are heritage listings or controls on the land that 

address heritage conservation. Where such 

protections are not afforded and a site warrants 

heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 

Significance category may be applicable. 

For Cook and Phillip Park, Section 2 describes 

the heritage characteristics of the land, and the 

applicable listings and controls. These will be 

considered in all management decisions related 

to the land. The additional layer of Area of 

Cultural Significance categorisation is not 

deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 7) outlines the 

Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 

Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 

Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 

community land for the applicable categories to 

Cook and Phillip Park. Under the guidelines for 

each category, their interpretation and 

application to Cook and Phillip Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 

outlined in the Local Government Act 

Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

440



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 

application to Cook and Phillip Park 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 

section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 

proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 

gardens or the provision of non-sporting 

equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 

passive or active recreational, social, educational 

and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 

the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 

land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 

cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 

and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 

pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 

and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 

objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 

community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 

the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 

purpose for which community land may be used, 

whether by the public at large or by specific 

sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 

area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 

does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 

102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 

sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 

significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 

recreational and community uses 

 

The core objectives for management of community 

land categorised as general community use are to 

promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 

land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 

current and future needs of the local community and of 

the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 

cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 

of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 

other estate may be granted in respect of the land 

(other than the provision of public utilities and works 

associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

 

 

441



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

N

1 / DP873273

8 / DP873273

1 / DP1000281

31 / DP1007439

32 / DP 
1007439

33 / DP1007439

23 / DP1082638

21 / DP1082638 22 / DP 

1082638

6/ DP 
873273

4/ DP 

873273

33 / DP 1007439

5/ DP 

873273

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 

1082638

22 / DP 
1082638

C
o
lle

g
e
 S

tr
e
e
t

William Street

Y
ur

on
g 

P
ar

kw
ay

B
o
o

m
e

ra
n

g
 P

l

CATEGORY

Sportsground

Park

General Community Use

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

Crown Land parcel  -
managed by Council as Lessee
Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

442



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 

established for Cook and Phillip Park through 

past master planning and plans of management 

(Cook and Phillip Park – Draft Plan of 

Management May 1997) and recent city-wide 

strategic planning (Open Space, Sports and 

Recreation Needs Study 2016). This PoM 

references both documents as the current 

planning direction for the reserve. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 

summarised for the planning and management 

of Cook and Phillip Park as reflected in the 

Master Plan (refer Figure 9, page 44) and this 

PoM. 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 

2016 

Section 3.0 Improve the Provision and Diversity 

of Sport and Recreation Facilities 

– Improve the status of the City of Sydney as a 

“Child Friendly City” - Provide a unique City 

Centre play environment that caters for all 

abilities and is a destination venue for both 

local children and visitors to the city  

– Upgrade Existing Indoor Court / Recreation 

Facilities – upgrade indoor court 

City Centre Playground development 

The proposal will enliven an existing green open 
space at Cook and Phillip Park providing a new 
inclusive destination play environment that 
responds to the established park character and 
connects with adjacent cultural and educational 
institutions and set in a garden that inspires and 
connects children with nature in the heart of the 
city. The playground will be large enough to cater 
for local children, families and visitors to the city. 

Playspace Design principles: 

Social and Inclusive - the new playground will be 
a place for everyone to come together through 
play. It will be an inclusive space for children to 
get active, take risks, and learn from each other 
in large or small groups. 

Sustainable - the playground will be a place for 

children to be excited and curious about nature, 

encouraging the next generation of advocates 

for the environment.  

 

New and retained plants and trees, as well as 

water sensitive urban design principles, will 

improve the ecological value of the existing park. 

Educational - opportunities for formal and 

informal learning experiences will be scattered 

throughout. A variety of themes are explored, 

from indigenous heritage, ecological and 

geological themes as well as colonial history. 

Sustains interest - the playground will include a 
range of equipment-based play elements and 
less structured play spaces, creating 
opportunities for a wide variety of games and 
experiences to occur within the playground. This 
will ensure that children are excited about 
returning to the playground again and again. 

Design Principles from 1997 POM  

The 1997 PoM identified a series of design 
strategies for the park and a set of design 
principles to guide the development of the 
landscape design.  

These principles are summarised as follows and 
are relevant to any future park development: 

– Unification - designing the consolidated 

parkland to read as an integrated whole. 

– Urban Responsiveness - responding to the 

surrounding urban form, such as the 

buildings. the city grids, the streets and the 

open space network. 

– Urban Oasis – providing the park with a 

unique identity. 

– Expressing the Topography – respecting 

the pre-existing landform, while using it to 

enrich the park, enhance its spatial 

organisation and generate strong links to the 

surrounding open spaces. 

– Access – establishing and integrated 

network of access routes that caters for the 

hierarchy of pedestrian movement to provide 

choice, variety and legibility. 

– Valuing existing planting – minimising loss 

of significant trees and undertaking 

measures to enhance the health of the 

existing vegetation. Using existing trees as 

key components in the design of the park. 

– Enriching the experience – enriching the 

experience through artworks, the 

interpretation of the parks’ history, the use of 

dynamic and changing elements and the use 

of a rich palette of materials. 

443



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

– Conservation planning – maintaining Cook 

and Phillip Parks as open space, retaining 

the elements of the original land form that are 

still visible in the parks, and retain the line of 

the original town boundary, record items, 

retain items as far as possible and prepare 

an interpretation plan. 

– Active Recreation – siting strategy of 

facilities to reduce the scale and bulk of 

buildings, minimise visual impact of built 

forms on neighbouring sites. Facilities to 

provide for a variety of aquatic facilities, 

recreation facility to be multi-purpose space 

sports and associated retail and food and 

beverage outlets. 

Figure 9 on the following page is the proposed 

plan for the City Play Space Master Plan for 

Cook and Phillip Park prepared in 2020. 

 

444



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

Figure 9. Master Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

445



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 

essential that its implementation is reviewed on 

a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 

are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 

include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values  

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 

requirements change over time, this plan also 

needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 

changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 

the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 

values based on revised 

analysis, issues and 

amended planning 

legislation 

review outcomes against 

survey information, 

photographic record and 

register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 

where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 

proposed that is not represented in the 

authorised uses and developments listings, the 

PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 

the PoM will require amendment and the need to 

undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

446



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

447



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

This section sets out the specific requirements 

for the individual management areas located 

within Cook and Phillip Park and is applicable to 

all community land categories, as outlined in 

Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 

Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-

making framework for future management of the 

reserves and addresses the requirements of 

section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 

that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 

management of Cook and Phillip Park. The 

outcomes seek to conserve and enhance the 

values of Cook and Phillip Park and address 

management challenges and opportunities 

identified by the community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 

implementation define recommended strategies 

to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 

identified management targets is provided for 

ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 

expressly authorise any proposed uses and 

developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 

buildings, structures and spaces at Cook and 

Phillip Park will be considered on merit and 

benefits to the community and balanced 

against physical constraints, the amenity of 

adjoining residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 

activities that may be permitted on the land, in 

accordance with the relevant zoning and 

associated objectives. Several uses are also set 

out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 

community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 

community land must be consistent with the 

guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 

of each category, and any other additional 

objectives that Council proposes to place on the 

community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 

of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 

goals and strategies outlined in these 

documents have been used to guide the 

outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 

develop after the preparation of this PoM. 

Management of Council assets, and their 

development will consider the policy framework 

at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 

of new buildings, structures and civil 

infrastructure, and the 

redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

448



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 

the desired use of Cook and Phillip Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 

will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 

apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 

plans and any subsequent detailed design 

plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 

Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 

also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 

Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 

measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 

public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 

land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 

to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 

give an opportunity for comment from any 

representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 

bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 

and registered Native Title claimants in relation 

to the land or waters covered by the reservation 

or lease as required under the Native Title Act 

1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 

support for activities, uses and developments 

consistent with the objectives for land 

categorisation to proceed to development 

assessment under the Environmental Planning 

and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 

for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 

consistent with this PoM must still be referred 

for development consent and where required, 

be advertised widely for information and 

invitation to comment. Any subsequent 

application for development consent would be 

supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 

reserve purpose or core objectives associated 

with the applicable community land category are 

prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Cook and Phillip Park may 

also be prohibited by the applicable land use 

zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 

activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 

be communicated via City of Sydney bookings, 

lease and licence agreements, or otherwise 

communicated where prohibited activities may 

be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Cook and Phillip 

Park must consider the needs of and impacts on 

residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 

terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 

parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 

activities on Crown and community land is to be 

generally compatible with the scale and 

anticipated use of the park, reserve and 

associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 

consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 

and any master plan or development consent 

relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 

Cook and Phillip Park which may attract high 

numbers of people including organised sport 

449



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

activities and training, school sport 

competitions, commercial activities and one-off 

community events and performances. 

The allocation of Cook and Phillip Park for 

organised sport and school sport will comply with 

City of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 

assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 

Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 

managed by City’s booking process and 

associated conditions of use. 

High Intensity use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 

Cook and Phillip Park which may attract high 

numbers of people including one-off community 

events and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 

assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 

Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 

managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 

process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 

activities across Cook and Phillip Park and 

settings (such as playgrounds, fitness stations 

and park seating) will be determined by the 

community use of the site but will be managed to 

avoid undue impacts on park fabric and 

environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 

kiosks that support and encourage community 

use of the open space, and/or address a 

community need are to be assessed based on 

the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 

authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 

and the core objectives of the applicable land 

category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 

management targets identified with this PoM and 

is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 

development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 

through its linkage with Council’s management 

plan, operational budget, and capital works 

program. 

Council currently funds management and 

maintenance costs through its annual budget 

allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 

contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 

address recurrent costs of management and 

maintenance, together with capital costs for new 

facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 

construction of new facilities is generally through 

the annual budgeting process, but special 

projects may be partly funded through New 

South Wales Government grant allocations, 

which may involve matching funding from 

Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 

landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 

to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 

develop further partnerships with residents 

and interested people in relation to park 

improvements and ongoing management, 

such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 

generated by lease and licence fees, and 

from applicants for approved functions and 

events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 

government grants are available to assist 

with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 

and community land by groups such as sporting 

clubs, community groups and schools, or by 

commercial organisations and individuals 

providing facilities or services for public use. The 

occupation of Crown and community land not 

only applies to the surface of the land but also 

includes the airspace above and subsurface 

below. 

450



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 

an area. A licence may be required where 

intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 

part of the park, or associated facilities are 

proposed. Several licence for different users can 

apply to the same area at the same time, 

provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 

Crown reserves managed as community land 

such as Cook and Phillip Park is authorised by 

section 3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 

preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 

by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 

agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-

exclusive uses to any organisation for any 

compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 

on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 

licence may only be granted for a maximum term 

of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 

for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 

only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 

organisation. All leases and licence must be 

publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 

reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 

council Crown land manager must always 

consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 

category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 

policies and guidelines including zoning 

under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 

activities to be permitted by the lease or 

licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 

the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 

proposed lease or licence  

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 

been obtained (and other consents under the 

EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 

authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 

or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 

heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 

unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 

activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 

with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 

required vehicular access implications are 

considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 

and procedures governing the use of open 

space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 

or other estate) on Crown land may impact 

Native Title rights and interests. A use 

agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 

in accordance with future act provisions of the 

Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 

Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 

extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 

excluded land, this will require written advice 

from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 

complies with any applicable provisions of the 

Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 

applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 

detail the specific authorisations and purposes 

for which tenure may be granted in accordance 

with the individual community land categories for 

Cook and Phillip Park. 

451



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 

including for construction or maintenance 

purposes  

Access across community land shall be 

authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 

limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 

require access and it is associated with an 

adjoining property, proponents must clearly 

demonstrate that there are no alternative 

means of access available to avoid access 

through community land to undertake the 

required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 

land may be deemed as exempt development if 

the proposed activity can be authorised under 

the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 

12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 

activities including for construction or 

maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 

licence for the placement of temporary building-

related structures provided that (but not limited 

to): 

– the use of community land is within the 

prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 

are associated with an adjoining property, 

proponents must clearly demonstrate that 

there are no alternative means of placement 

available to avoid use of community land to 

undertake the required development or 

maintenance works including satisfying any 

safety requirements under the Work, Health 

and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 

City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 

Sydney documents as a technical guide for 

temporary structures until such time as they are 

revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 

2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 

Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-

term licence for these activities, applicants 

should consider an application under the 

provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 

Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 

temporary event structures shall be authorised 

under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 

prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 

Sydney’s technical requirements and where 

required, the relevant standards identified 

within the State Environmental Planning 

Policy (Exempt and Complying Development 

Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

452



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 

assessed and approved in accordance with City 

of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 

and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 

policies and legislative requirements, both 

locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 

provides guidance on how temporary events and 

activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 

compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 

production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 

requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 

indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-

term or hourly basis that service the community 

enabling cultural, recreational and social 

outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 

assessed and approved in accordance with 

City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 

with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 

legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 

adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 

promote events and activities which are of public 

interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 

approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 

Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 

outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 

and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 

its community to use parks and open space 

responsibly in meeting their health, wellbeing 

and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 

use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 

fitness training as it does not wish to create a 

barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 

not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 

area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 

Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 

its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 

exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 

a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 

City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 

court and comply with the City’s Terms and 

Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 

for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 

conduits or other connections under the surface 

of the ground, for the connection of premises 

adjoining the community land to a facility on the 

community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 

and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 

to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 

an easement and/or a restriction on the 

future development potential of the property, 

compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 

(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 

permanent structure, and the structure does not 

significantly interfere with the functioning of the 

reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 

creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 

applicant is to be responsible for all costs 

453



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

incurred by the City of Sydney in the creation of 

the easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 

expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 

of a “public road” where the provision of that road 

is consistent with the core objectives stated 

herein and where the road is necessary for the 

enjoyment of that land.

454



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Cook and Phillip Park, 

including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the 

City of Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A place that forms 
a strategic 
connection 
between Hyde 
Park, The Domain 
and major cultural 
attractions  

• To conserve and enhance 
the green space and access 
connection role to other 
major precincts 

Planning, design and management 
of the park has regard for 
conservation of green linkage and 
access connection role 

 

Targeted user surveys 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district and 
regional users 

• To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and safe 
routes to the park from 
adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage for 
park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes 
and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate lighting 
to support desired night 
access, recreational and 
leisurely use of open space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

455



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 A recreation 
destination 
desirable to be 
accessed by cycle 

• To provide an appropriate 
level of cycle infrastructure 
to support and encourage 
cycle use 

Review current cycle provisions  

Identify gaps and needs in cycle 
infrastructure  

 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to cycle 
provisions. Regularly review of 
register to guide future 
directions  

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
vehicle access 

• To effectively cater for 
vehicular and pedestrian 
movement to and from 
carpark mitigating impacts 
on other park values 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access 
mitigating adverse impacts 
on park and uses 

• Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Monitor and review access to 
carpark. Implement opportunities to 
improve function and safety, where 
required 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures carried 
out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible 
and informal use spaces 
that are attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community 
benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Spaces and 
facilities that 
support youth use 
of the park 

• To sustainably respond to 
youth needs for gathering 
and activity spaces 

Investigate opportunities to support 
youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.3 Outdoor courts that 
facilitate recreation 
and fitness 

• To maintain and enhance 
role of outdoor courts in 
providing fitness and leisure 
for workforce and residents 

Enhance role of courts for a 
diverse range of uses 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Increased local use of courts 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.4 A place for dog 
walking and 
exercise 

• To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.5 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.6 A place for events • To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural and 
community outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 

Develop guidelines for event use of 
parklands defining: 

- usable area and capacity 
- other specific event 

management and approval 
requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale and 
intensity 

Developed guidelines 

Ongoing review and 
compliance 

   
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

456



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.7 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members of 
community 

• That the park is managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.8 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

• To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe 
place to visit and pass 
through, appropriate to 
intended (and varied) usage 
times of facilities and access 
routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 

Sustained relationship with 
local police 

 

Cook and Phillip Aquatic Centre 

3.9 Important aquatic 
facilities for the city 
centre 

• To maintain and enhance 
the value and role of the 
Aquatic Centre for the 
residential and workforce 
community 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
Cook and Phillip Aquatic Centre 

Regularly monitor for improvements 
to centre services and operations 

Usage and visitation of aquatic 
centre, measured by bookings 

Centre user satisfaction 
surveys 

3.10 Café facilities that 
compliment and 
add to the park 
amenity 

• To maintain and enhance 
the role of café facilities 
which compliment recreation 
and leisurely use 

Ensure operations and offerings 
integrate with and compliment 
ongoing park usage 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

3.11 Parking to support 
recreational uses 
and events  

• To manage parking facility 
in complement to other park 
roles and values, to 
contribute to city parking 
resource 

Regularly monitor carpark services 
and operations under lease 
agreement 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease  

 

Phillip Park Community and Children’s Centre 

3.12 A valued childcare 
centre 

• To maintain and enhance 
the childcare role for the 
locality compatible with 
other park values 

Regularly monitor services and 
management under lease 
agreement 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease  

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

4.1 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

• Provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park users 

Plan and implement new amenities 
block within main park area 

 

Operational amenities block 

 

Play spaces 

4.2 A play destination 
for locals and 
visitors 

• To provide a play space to 
meet community needs and 
compliment adjoining uses 

Plan and implement “City 
Playground” within main park area 
adjoining pool access 

Operational play space 

 

Park elements 

4.3 Park elements that 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while 
avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

 

457



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Underground infrastructure 

4.4 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements 
are effectively integrated 
into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 

 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 

Measurement and monitoring 
of vegetation 

Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the original 
natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A modified 
landscape 

• To effectively manage site 
contamination issues 

Remediation Action Plan to be 
prepared to guide the design 
development, construction and 
ongoing management of the 
playground and other activities 

Site remediated 

5.4 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground  

Monitoring of habitat values 

5.5  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 

Investigate opportunities to 
increase community understanding 
and participation in the 
preservation of greenspace and 
ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation 
in open space works 

Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 A place that is cool, 
calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to create 
new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.7 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health 
for their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree management 
plan 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

458



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Water management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

• To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  

•  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away 
from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

• To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that 
provides the 
community access 
to cultural 
expression and 
awareness through 
arts and culture 

• To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic and 
creative expression that is 
sustainable in the context of 
existing character and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 

Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public art. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

6.4 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the site and 
add to the experience and 
use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
park setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

 

 

 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in park 

459



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means 

 (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.2 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.3 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

460



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 10 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Cook and Philip Park 

categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 

subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 

building activities associated with adjoining 

property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 

or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 

tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 

both live performances and film (cinema and 

TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 

session or filming (as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 

fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 

preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 

(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 

launches, film releases, balls, and similar 

activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 

and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 

educational, recreational and social activities, 

including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 

for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 

enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 

structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 

rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 

by the community (e.g. storage and change 

rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 

permissible uses and activities (e.g. 

grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 

playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 

facilities, amenity and the visual character of 

the general community area (e.g. fountains, 

pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 

landscaped areas) 

10. Park category- 
authorisations 

461

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 

social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 

or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 

seminars and presentations, including 

educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Recreational and sporting activities consistent 

with an outdoor recreational facility, for 

example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 

badminton and netball) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 

community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 

building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 

efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 

systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 

and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 

memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 

or events related) 

 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 

authorised by a PoM. Figure 11 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 

community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 

or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Cook and Philip Park in accordance 

with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 

community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 

merit. 

462



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 

months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 

film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 

Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 

shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 

similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 

balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

463

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 

including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 

provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 

in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 

conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 

utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 

licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 

criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

464



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 12 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Cook and Philip Park 

categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 

booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 

subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 

building activities associated with adjoining 

property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 

day care, pre-school, occasional care and 

outside school hours care) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 

session and filming (as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 

preparedness, response and recovery 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 

libraries) 

– Management and operation of community 

facilities 

– Meetings, workshops, seminars and 

presentations, including educational programs 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 

social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 

and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 

educational, recreational and social activities, 

including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 

enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 

toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 

permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 

facilities, amenity and the visual character of 

the general community area (e.g. fountains, 

pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 

landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 

and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 

storage, waste rooms and change 

rooms/showers) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 

efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations  

465

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 

community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 

building/construction or events related) 

 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 

and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 

memorials and public art) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 

or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 

authorised by a PoM. Figure 13 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 

community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 

short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Cook and Philip 

Park in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 

community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 

merit. 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

466



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Management and operation of community facility 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 

months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 

the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, including educational 

programs 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Signage 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 

provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 

in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 

conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 

utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 

licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 

criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 
 
 
 

 

467

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 

Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 

requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 

Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 

accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 

program that provides food and material support, social 

contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 

homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 

other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 

‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 

and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 

excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 

site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 

work platforms and other constructed-related 

temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 

and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 

tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 

temporary structures 

 

 

  

12. Appendices 

468



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

References 
 

– City Centre Playground Concept Cook and 

Phillip 2020 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 

2016 

– Cook and Phillip Park Draft Plan of 

Management 1997 

– Cook and Phillip Cogeneration Project - 

Aboriginal Heritage Due Diligence 2017 

– Cook and Phillip Park - Heritage Assessment 

1997 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 

Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 

this Appendix. 

  

 

  

469



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 

range of policies which provide guidance to 

decision-making. A number of these influence 

planning and management decision making for 

open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 

guide reserve planning and management having 

regard for the reserve purpose and core 

objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 

relationship to open space planning and 

management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 

elements. 

470



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

471



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

472



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

473



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 

Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

474



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

475



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10-kilometre radius must be 
avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

  

476



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 

of strategies focused on specific issues and 

open space considerations relevant to open 

space planning and management. While 

strategies are high-level guideline documents 

and usually carry less influence than policies, 

they can provide important references for 

planning and management decision making for 

open space. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

477



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

   

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 

likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

478



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

   

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

479



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

480



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

481



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   
10. Substantially increase the number of 

existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 

482



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 

– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 
the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 

Foundation principles 

– Culture and creativity are central to all 
our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 

of innovation and industry growth. 

community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 

Priorities Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 

483



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 
4. Leadership and advocacy 

apply the actions of the Cycle 
Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

484



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

485



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

486



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

487



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

488



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

489



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

  

490



Cook and Phillip Park  

Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

 

 

 

 

 

491



Attachment H 

Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve      

 

 

 

492



 

Erskineville Oval 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021 

 
 

493



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 26 

4. Strategic context 29 

5. Community guiding principles 32 

6. Basis for Management 34 

7. Review of the plan 41 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 42 

8. General requirements 43 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 49 

10. Park category - authorisations 55 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 59 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 62 

13. Appendices 66 

 

494



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 15 

Figure 3. Site Plan 17 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 24 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 25 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 37 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 38 

Figure 8. Master Plan 40 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 

Category 55 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-

term uses and other estates – Park Category 56 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 

Sportsground Category 59 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-

term uses and other Estates – Sportsground Category 60 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 

Community Use Category 62 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-

term uses and other estates – General Community Use 

Category 63 

 

 

495



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

496



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

497



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 

which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 

short and long-term management of a parcel of 

community land owned by Council or Crown 

Land under Council’s care, control and 

management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 

will be used, improved and managed in the 

future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 

for the land, and establishes the overall direction 

for its planning, resource management and 

maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 

Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 

consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 

govern the management of Crown Land in New 

South Wales, further implementing reforms 

identified through the comprehensive review of 

Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 

the management of Crown land by councils. 

Specifically, councils are now required to 

manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 

it were public land under the Local Government 

Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 

outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 

Councils. 

Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve 

(Crown Reserve 500429 - Lot 10 DP 1163738) 

is classified as “community land” under the LG 

Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 

PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 

the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 

council Crown land manager must ensure that 

the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 

as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 

1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 

legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 

for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 

proposes to achieve the objectives and 

performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 

and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 

1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 

buildings or other improvements on the land 

as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 

used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 

the community land other than that authorised by 

this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 

area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 

of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 

and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 

Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 

process for preparing the PoM that has been 

undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 

consultation with the general community, First 

Nations stakeholders and other authority 

stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

498



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 

to understand the community’s vision for Crown 

land spaces, how the community use the land 

now and how they would like to use the land in 

the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 

was to recognise the important relationship that 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 

have to these spaces, strengthen the 

relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 

opportunity to further recognise and foster 

Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 

and connection to these places. 

. 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 

program was communicated to the community 

via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 

Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 

reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 

list. 
  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management

- Legislative context

- Strategic Context

- First nations guiding 

principles

- Values and roles

-	Influ

e

nces 	on	management

Draft Plan of Management

-	Management	Targets

-	Management	Strategies	/	

Actions 

- Authorisations 

 -  use 

	-	development

 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 

Stakeholder Consultation

-City wide survey

-Discussion Guides

Internal Staff Workshops

-On site pop-ups

-Intercept Surveys

Interviews

-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

499



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 

survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 

of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 

and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 

statistical data around community values and 

uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 

provided an opportunity for more in depth 

discussions around Crown lands within different 

locations across the city and specifically with the 

First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 

in the area and provided an opportunity for 

children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 

are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 

Plan of Management Engagement Report 

February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 

following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 

practice of First Nations people’s 

continuous connection to Country and 

important role as caretakers and 

knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 

mental health, wellbeing and provide a 

place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 

the city are highly valued and should 

accommodate the needs of the growing 

population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 

spaces are important for everyone to 

enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 

manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 

biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 

safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 

to increase accessibility and support 

community use 
  

Engagement 

tools to 

inform 

specific

 

plans of 

management 

Engagement 

tools to 

inform 

general 

plans of 

management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 

community values and visions for their 

open spaces (informs both generic and 

specific

 

Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 

on general issues in addition to specific

 

parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-

ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 

at specific

 

time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 

will conduct interviews with key external 

stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 

for regular user groups (e.g schools, 

sporting clubs) to map values, and places 

of signific

a

nce.

Work in partnership with local First 

Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 

with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 

for regular user groups (e.g schools, 

sporting clubs) to map values, and places 

of signific

a

nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 

of Sydney staff workshop 

500



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 

of First Nations input into management of Crown 

Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 

during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 

the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 

and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 

ways that these principles can be followed 

through by Council and others were also 

discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 

is real and permanent, not just digital (in 

response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 

include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-

invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 

water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 

and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 

(including maintenance, planting, holistic 

understanding of Country, etc.) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 

waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 

and are an historical link that have been 

covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 

participants referred to the work of the State 

Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 

geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 

descriptions will help the community better 

understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 

place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 

‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 

culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 

artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 

Indigenous culture, practices and 

perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 

when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 

notification to acknowledge/welcome to 

country, when you are close to a sacred site 

or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 

that enlivens and engages - not just 

commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 

and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 

Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 

critical place for truth-telling and healing 

trauma  

501



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 

diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-

telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 

supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 

interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 

events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 

culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 

and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 

at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 

management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 

opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 

should be able to be practiced somewhere 

permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 

shared arrangements with State 

Government (DPIE) who work with 

Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 

on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 

Council sought that the City of Sydney 

provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 

business. 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 

Council asked that the City of Sydney 

support addressing the issue of 

underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 

Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 

all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 

Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 

well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 

other organisations including other councils 

and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 

ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 

levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 

people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 

were raised that the community want to see 

resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 

spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 

engage with the First Nations community to 

explore avenues to pursue the above principles 

and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 

“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 

that ongoing management of Crown and 

community land pursue these principles.  

502



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Erskineville Oval 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

503



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

  

504



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

505



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

506



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 

established for Erskineville Oval including Harry 

Noble Reserve through past master planning 

and plans of management (Draft PoM 1992). 

This PoM references the Open Space Sports 

Recreation Needs Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”), as 

the current planning direction for the reserve and 

supersedes the PoM 1992. 

 

Location and description  
Erskineville Oval including Harry Noble Reserve 

is located on Fox Avenue, Erskineville. The 

precinct is bordered by the collector roads of 

Mitchell Street, Copeland/Swanson Street and 

Ashmore Street. The two separate areas of open 

space 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 

information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Erskineville Oval including Harry Noble Reserve 

Address 149 Mitchell Road, Erskineville 

 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 

purpose and gazetted 

date  

500429 Public Park, Public Park, 18/11/1942 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) Erskineville Oval – 29997.94m2 

Harry Noble Reserve – 10800m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 10 DP 1163738 (Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve) 

Miscellaneous Land  Lot 11 DP 1163738 – Erskineville Oval (Land and Housing) 

(Erskineville Oval) 

Lot 12 DP 1163738 and Lot 2 DP 529823 – Harry Noble Reserve 

(Land and Housing)  

Restrictions / 

easements 

N/A 

2. Land description 

507



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

item description 

Community land 

categorisation 

Existing 

 

 

Erskineville Oval General Community 

Use/Park/Sportsground 

 

Harry Noble Reserve Park  

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

 
 
 

  

508



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

  

10/ DP1163738

10/ DP1163738

2/ 
DP529823

11/ DP 
1163738

12/ DP 

1163738

2/ DP529823

Swanson St

ERSKINEVILLE
OVAL

E
lli

o
tt

 A
v
e

HARRY NOBLE
RESERVE

PLAY SPACE
Fov 

Ave
nu

e

C
opeland S

t

Ashmore St

M
itc

he
ll 

R
d

ALEXANDRIA
ERSKINEVILLE
BOWLING CLUB

N

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

Railcorp owned land

Crown Land parcel  -
managed by Council as Lessee

Land and Housing 
owned land

Sydney Water owned 
land

509



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

The land Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble 

Reserve are situated upon was lies on the 

Gadigal peoples traditional lands.  

Post colonisation the site was part of land grants 

to Nicholas Divine in 1794 and John Thomas 

Campbell in 1825, and later sold to William 

Hutchinson in 1829. The land remained 

undeveloped due to protracted lawsuits until in 

1885, 22 acres bounded by Ashmore, Binning, 

Swanson and Copeland streets and Mitchell 

Road was proclaimed as Macdonaldtown Park. 

The name was changed to Erskineville Park 

when the municipality name changed in 1892. 

A sports ground for cricket and football was built 

in the park, and the football ground was later 

enlarged for Australian Rules matches. It was 

the home ground for the Newtown rugby league 

team from 1913 to 1954.  

In 1937 the park was taken over to build model 

housing, which was known as the Erskineville 

Housing Scheme. 16 blocks of flats and the Lady 

Gowrie child care centre were built on part of the 

park and the sports oval was reconstructed in its 

current position. The child centre was an integral 

part of the progressive new housing estate, 

designed to provide families with young children 

better living conditions. 

On completion of the housing scheme the 

residual land, the remaining 2 acres of the 

original 22 acre park were handed back to 

Council, with the formation of Harry Noble 

Reserve to the West to add to the Erskineville 

Oval precinct. 

Harry Noble Reserve was named after a local 

Alderman and state politician. 

The park and oval have had a long-standing 

association with community use, providing 

important recreational green space in the suburb 

with few open parks and spaces for the many 

residents of the surrounding Erskineville area. 

The park is also located in proximity to Newtown 

and Redfern/Waterloo and has an ongoing 

association with the development of Aboriginal 

sports and social history within the areas. 

Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve 

provide a civic focus and are of high local 

aesthetic and social significance as an active 

and passive open space in the area and is 

integral to the surrounding streetscape. 

Heritage Context 

Erskineville Park and Harry Noble Reserve are 
not identified on Schedule 7 Environmental 
Heritage of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan (LEP) 2012. They are located within the 
boundaries of Erskineville Estate—HCA 22, and 
in the vicinity of the following places: 

– Malcom Estate—HCA 24 

– Electrical Substation (1A Ashmore Street)—

SLEP # I1603 

– St Mary’s Church Group including buildings 

and their interiors and fencing (21-23 

Swanson Street)—SLEP #I1627 

– Terrace group including interiors (30-33 

Copeland Street)—SLEP #I13 

History 

The two parks spaces are located on part of 
grants to Nicholas Divine in 1794 and John 
Thomas Campbell in 1825, sold to William 
Hutchinson in 1829. The land remained 
undeveloped due to protracted lawsuits until in 
1885, when 22 acres bounded by Ashmore, 
Binning, Swanson and Copeland streets and 
Mitchell Road was proclaimed as 
Macdonaldtown Park. The name was 
changed to Erskineville Park when the 
municipality name changed in 1892. 

In the 1930s part of Erskineville Park was 
recycled for an experiment in public housing, 
which saw the construction of seven blocks of 
dwellings by 1938. The NSW Government’s 
Erskineville Rehousing Scheme set an example 
to encourage councils to replace slums with low-
cost housing. Previous housing in the area had 
been described as badly built and poorly 
ventilated, with ‘crude sanitary arrangements’. 
Over half the old houses had no bathroom or 
laundry. Few of the kitchens had running water 
and most of the buildings were dilapidated. 

Instead of clearing the slum houses, however, 
the new dwellings were built on part of 
Erskineville Park. The Erskineville Rehousing 
Scheme area is now bounded by Elliott Avenue, 
Swanson, Binning and Ashmore streets. Another 
part of the park was taken over for the Lady 
Gowrie Childcare Centre, completed in 1940. 
The centre was part of a national program of the 

510



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Commonwealth Government aimed at improving 
the poor health and nutrition of many inner-city 
children. It was named after Lady Gowrie, the 
wife of Baron Gowrie who was Australia’s 
Governor-General in 1936–1945. 

The residue of just over 2 acres was returned 
to Council in 1955 and the bowling club was 
built in 1956. This reserve was named in 1960 
after Harry Noble, an Alexandria alderman from 
1928 to 1932 and state MP for Redfern from 
1947 until his death in 1949 at the age of 58. 
Harry was born in Darlington in 1891 and trained 
as a gasfitter with the railways where he was 
employed from 1908 until his election to 
Parliament. He was an active member of the 
ALP and served on Bill McKell’s campaign 
committee for 21 years until he succeeded him 
in the seat. His son Cliff Noble was a City Council 
alderman from 1959 to 1965. 

In 2006 a major upgrade was carried out to 
provide training facilities for the South Sydney 
Rabbitohs rugby league club during the 
complete redevelopment of Redfern Oval. 

Statement of Significance 

The following Statement of Significance has 
been taken from the Erskineville Estate Heritage 
Conservation Area inventory sheet.  

The Conservation Area is of local historical 
significance for being dedicated as Macdonaldtown 
Park in 1885 and for the later development of the 
western section of the park for the Erskineville 
Housing Scheme. The housing scheme was in 
response to the Housing Improvement Act of 1936 
and 1937 and was an important precursor to work 
undertaken later by the NSW Housing Commission in 
the post World War II period. The housing scheme is 
rare example of public housing erected during the 
inter - war period and the only major scheme to have 
been built by the Housing Improvement Board.  

The Erskineville Housing Scheme has important 
associations with two prominent and influential 
architects William Ronald Richardson and Morton 
Herman, while its planning and design of the 
individual buildings demonstrate the influence of 
advanced European thinking on public housing. The 
clean simple lines of the Erskineville Public Housing 
Scheme reflect the austerity of the times and the 
influence of European functionalism on architecture 
of the Inter - war period.  

The buildings and open space that make up the 
Scheme are generally intact and provide important 

evidence of inter - war attitudes to social issues and 
concepts of appropriate responses to "slum" 
clearance. 

The Lady Gowrie Child Centre, which has close visual 
and historical connections with the Erskineville 
Scheme, remains as Sydney's example of the six 
centres built in the Australia's six capitals in the 
1930s. Designed by prominent architectural practice 
of Fowell, McConnell and Mansfield, it provides 
evidence of the attitudes towards the care of children 
in the inter-war period.  

Erskineville Park has high local aesthetic and social 

significance as an active and passive open space in 

the area and is integral to the surrounding 

streetscape. It also provides a civic focus. 

Key Heritage features 

The following elements within the reserve are 
key features contributing to the signifies and 
character of Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble 
Park.  

Erskineville Oval: 

– Oval, including the sandstone retailing wall 

and edging 

– Grandstand 

– Grassed areas around the perimeter of the 

oval  

– Mature plantings to the perimeter of the site, 

including Eucalyptus trees planted on the 

boundaries of the oval and a band of 

Lombardy Poplars which form a strong end 

to the north-east corner of the Oval, 

accentuating the broadly banked landform. 

Harry Noble Reserve: 

– Open grassed areas 

– Stone retaining wall to the perimeter of the 

park 

– There are a number of Eucalypts on the 

western edge of the reserve and Peppermint 

Trees on the eastern edge which contribute 

to the setting of the park and tie into the 

streetscape of the heritage conservation 

area.  

Note: the plantings within these two spaces are 
not identified on the City of Sydney however are 
considered significant to the character and 
setting of the heritage conservation area and 
setting of the reserves and adjacent streets. 

 

  

511



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

Environment and landscape 
Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve 

(separated by Fox Avenue) have played a major 

role in the provision of sporting and informal 

open space within the inner city suburbs of 

Erskineville, Alexandria and neighbouring areas. 

Physical Characteristics 

Landform, Soil, Drainage 

The Erskineville / Alexandria district is located on 

the side of a valley in the form of a broad 

amphitheatre. It is possible to view the whole 

district from Sydney Park. Erskineville Oval lies 

on a relatively flat, low point of this valley and is 

approximately 10 metres above sea level.  

The precinct was established on old swamp 

lands as these were considered unsafe for any 

other type of development.  

The major soil characteristic consists of fine to 

medium grained, well sorted marine quartz sand, 

with a high soil permeability and a very low 

fertility. The precinct lies in the extensive dune 

system of the Botany Lowlands 

Erskineville Oval has an established a reputation 

as a reliable ‘wet weather’ sporting venue as 

excellent drainage exists on all grassed 

surfaces. This is enhanced by the soil’s drainage 

capabilities, and the concrete dish drain with 

stormwater sumps which encircles the Oval and 

removes excess surface water. 

Microclimate 

The surrounding topography and vegetation 

contribute little to protecting the precinct from 

harsh winds. The precinct is particularly prone to 

the southerly winds that start on Botany Bay and 

pick up momentum moving along the lowlands 

towards the valley that contains the Erskineville 

Oval precinct. This can affect levels of comfort 

for users within the precinct. 

Landscape Character and visual amenity 

Upgrades over the last 20 years have enhanced 

the overall landscape identity and improved the 

visual relationship of the open space with the 

streetscapes. The tree lined streets on the north, 

south and east side boundaries contribute to the 

overall setting of both park and oval.  

The visual amenity of the precinct has been 

greatly improved since 2004 with upgrades to 

boundary edge treatments – walls and fences 

(materials and location) to both Harry Noble 

Reserve and the Oval. Entries to both spaces 

have been made apparent with entry features 

and improved signage. 

The lack of street tree planting on the west side 

of Fox Avenue and parking detracts from the 

overall setting. A more continuous tree canopy 

would help to soften, green and provide a 

shaded route along this edge. 

The precinct is visually linked with its immediate 

neighbourhood, particularly through views along 

the adjacent streets while vantage points within 

the Precinct also allow certain distant views 

including those to Sydney’s Central business 

district. 

The sloping grassed banks to the oval enable 

long views over the oval with the streetscape/ 

boundary tree planting providing a pleasant 

green backdrop to the space.  

The new 6-7 storey residential development on 

Ashmore Street overlooking the oval, has 

replaced the large format warehouse/light 

industrial buildings and a sense of enclosure on 

the southern edge of the oval.  

Harry Noble Reserve is characterised by its large 

central open grassed areas with mature shade 

trees to the periphery. Park furniture, seating and 

picnic settings are located around the central 

grassed area. A shaded playground is located on 

the southern boundary between the park and 

adjacent bowling club. 

Views in and out of the park are possible on the 

north, east and west sides. The southern 

boundary is bordered by the child care centre 

and bowling club. The park boundaries are 

defined by a low sandstone block wall to 3 sides 

with defined entries into the park at each corner 

and on Swanson Street at the intersection with 

Park Street. 

Planting and Layout 

The existing vegetation structure consists of 

introduced Australian native plants, primarily 

Eucalypt species supplemented by plantings of 

exotic trees. The native plantings are generally 

located on the perimeter of Erskineville Oval and 

Harry Noble Reserve, while the exotic species 

act as a specimen or street tree plantings. 

Erskineville Oval has a band of Lombardy 

Populars (Populus nigra ‘Italica’) which form a 

strong edge to the north-east corner of the Oval, 

accentuating the broadly banked landform. 

512



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

The street tree plantings are important 

streetscape elements while also linking spaces 

for similar land use. The trees contribute to the 

character of the street and adjacent open 

spaces. There is very understorey planting in the 

park with some small planted areas around the 

play space in Harry Noble Reserve. 

Access and Circulation 

Access to the park – The park is easily accessed 

from the surrounding street network. 

There is no parking available within the open 

space, but unrestricted parking is available on 

the surrounding streets and Fox Avenue. Fox 

Avenue has unrestricted parking both sides of 

the street with car spaces in constant use.  

The park can be easily accessed from public 

transport with bus stops available on Mitchell 

Road and Swanson/ Copeland St. The park is 

also within walking distance of Erskineville 

Station. 

Shared paths on three sides of Erskineville Oval 

provide connections to the local city cycle 

networks and connections to Erskineville Station 

and Sydney Park. 

The park/oval can be entered from various points 

on all boundaries. The Main access point to the 

oval and facilities is from Fox Avenue, on the 

north side of the grandstand. 

Pathways within the Harry Noble Reserve are 

situated on key desire lines from Fox Avenue to 

Elliot Avenue and Swanson Street. 

Reserve development 
Erskineville Oval has had major renovations. 

The first was the NSW Government's 

Erskineville Rehousing Scheme which took 

place in 1937. The second occurred in 2006. 

This was in the anticipation of the South Sydney 

Rabbitohs' temporary use of the oval. 

The following is summary of the key milestones 

in the development of the open spaces: 

– 22 acres bounded by Ashmore, Binning, 

Swanson and Copeland streets and Mitchell 

Road proclaimed as Macdonaldtown Park in 

1885 

– name was changed to Erskineville Park 

when the municipality name changed in 1892 

– part of Erskineville Park was recycled for an 

experiment in public housing in the 1930s 

– oval was reconstructed in 1940s in its current 

position, and Fox Avenue constructed 

bisecting the space 

– 2 acres of land was returned to Council in 

1955 from the public housing project,  

– Harry Noble reserve named in 1960 

– major upgrades to Erskineville Oval in 2006 

2006 upgrade works: 

In 2006, Erskineville Oval received facility 

upgrades in preparation for its temporary use by 

the South Sydney Rabbitohs as a training 

ground. This upgrade was done in consultation 

between the City of Sydney and the South 

Sydney Rugby League club.  Works included: 

– Improve the oval playing surface e.g. top 

dressing and turf grass improvements 

– Install an oval perimeter fence (one metre 

high) 

– Repair and paint timber bench seats in 

stadium and open air seating area 

– Provide a pedestrian path between Ashmore 

Street and Fox Avenue 

– Improve and upgrade the pedestrian access 

onto the oval from Ashmore Street 

– Undertake arborist review/ maintenance 

works on existing trees 

– Provide some new tree plantings 

– General audit of existing building conditions 

and minor building repairs, including painting 

and gutter replacement 

– Upgrade oval training lights (replace 

luminaries) 

– Upgrade public toilet facilities. 

Capital Works Upgrades: 

Council also has foreshadowed in its forward 

capital works planning the following projects: 

1. Water Re-Use Project  

– Re-instatement of the bore pump onsite 

which pumps into existing storage tank 

(35kL) 

– Potential to add another tank for increased 

reliability and for treated water ready for 

irrigation (not in sketch below, but to be part 

of next revision) 

513



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

– Configuration of grandstand and adjacent 

buildings downpipes for rainwater capture 

and gravity feeding into the storage tanks 

– Potable water top-up of storage and/or 

irrigation tank with EC meter 

– Install new treatment processes including 

screen filters, UV filter to treat the water prior 

to use (within storage rooms onsite) 

– Utilise existing irrigation system in 

Erskineville Oval 

2. Potential Small Parks Upgrade - 

Playground replacement during the period 

2020-2023. 

Past studies and master plans: 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 

2016 

– Draft Plan of Management and Master Plan 

1992 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 

for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 

uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 

uses are consistent with the original purpose of 

the reserve. 

The public purpose for Erskineville Oval and 

Harry Noble Reserve Crown reserve is Public 

Park. 

Community usage 

The precinct accommodates a variety of uses 

and activities, providing and essential amenity to 

the Erskineville / Alexandria district. The oval 

and park space both attract intense usage for 

active and passive recreation. Harry Noble 

Reserve is popular for keeping active and getting 

together with family and friends.  

Types of activities include team ball sports 

(football codes and cricket); fitness training 

groups; school groups; children’s play; informal 

netball; social ball games, off-leash dog walking; 

pedestrian and cycling access; picnic and BBQ; 

sitting and rest, and occasional community 

events. 

The precinct is regularly used as a pedestrian 

through route linking the surrounding 

neighbourhoods to Erskineville Station. Local 

school groups are major precinct users with 

school sports activities on the oval. 

The oval is predominantly used for organised 

spectator sporting events and is in high demand 

on weekends and evenings during the week from 

late January to September. 

– Winter use: Rugby League, Rugby Union, 

Soccer and AFL 

– Summer use: cricket uses the oval on 

weekends from January to end of March 

Conflicts between sporting codes can occur in 

the changeover between the two seasons. 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 

Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 

indicate that the most popular activities 

undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– Walking to get somewhere else 

– Walking or running for exercise 

– Sitting and relaxing 

– Walking the dog 

The majority of the survey respondents were 
more likely to live nearby the area. 
Approximately one third of survey respondents 
visit the park on a weekly basis with the most 
popular time to visit being in the afternoon / 
evening (6pm-9pm).  

Facilities 

Harry Noble Reserve  

– Path network, the reserve is used as 

thoroughfare to link the districts amenities 

and facilities with the neighbourhood, as well 

as being used by locals as an open space for 

various activities. 

The Reserve is easily accessed and is more 

or less in constant use either as a 

recreational or transitional / accessway 

space. Its location near to commercial 

activity on Swanson / Copeland Street and 

higher density residential areas strengthens 

its importance as a much needed public 

open space, providing a ‘village green’ 

atmosphere. 

– Play space, a large fenced playground with 

shade sail catering for children of all ages. 

Includes swing, slide and climbing play 

514



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

equipment. A basketball practice hoop, 

Netball practice area is adjacent the 

playspace 

– Bitumen cricket pitch 

– Picnic tables, shade shelters and barbecue 

area 

– Dog off-leash at all times. 

Erskineville Oval 

– Access to public toilets 

– Spectator grandstand 

– Changing rooms and team sports facilities 

– Ancillary areas (open space areas outside of 

formal oval) used for sitting, relaxing, 

exercising and moving through the reserve. 

Event use of the oval/reserve 

The oval and grandstand facilities are used by 

sporting codes throughout the year for sporting 

fixtures for social, club and school sports. 

Harry Noble Reserve has hosted small 

community focused events i.e. community 

consultation, community gatherings. 

The City of Sydney registered a total of 17 

events registered between 2015-19. Attendance 

ranges from 40-500. No recurring events are 

currently registered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

515



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

  

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Erskineville Oval   

Grandstand with Toilets, 
Changerooms 

Organised sports users 

General public (toilets) 

Average (3) 

Sports Oval Organised sports Users 

General public  

Average 

Bus shelter General public Very Poor (5) 

Old timber style 

Water reuse/irrigation n/a Average 

Public Toilets + Kiosk 
building 

Organised sports Users 

General public 

Average 

Footpaths General public Average 

Oval fence, Perimeter 
fence 

n/a Average 

Harry Noble Reserve   

Playground Includes 
swing, slide and climbing 
play equipment. 

General public Good (2) 

Basketball/Netball practice 
area 

General public Average 

Picnic Shelters General public Average 

BBQ General public Average 

Park Furniture - Seats General public Average 

Park Furniture - Bins General public Average 

Park Furniture - Lighting n/a Average 

Park Furniture – Signage 
(CoS) 

General public Average 

Park Entry & 
Arbor/Pergola 

General public Average 

Footpaths  Average 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

516



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Licence agreement – 

Erskineville Oval 

South Sydney District 

Junior Football Club 

Holdover Currently in negotiation 

for new Licence 

Agreement. The Club 

occupies the entire site 

including grand stand 

and change rooms. 

Usage, playing of 

Rugby League Football 

games and training. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

517



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Ownership and management 
Erskineville Oval is Crown reserve owned by the 

State of New South Wales.  The City of Sydney 

is the Crown land manager responsible for 

management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 

page 15 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 

Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 

Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 

managers (previously recognised under former 

legislations) and provided for the appointment of 

local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 

managers’ in respect of land which was 

previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 

Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 

management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 

to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 

heritage and economic considerations to be 

considered in decision-making about Crown 

land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 

transparent management of Crown land for 

the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 

Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 

spiritual, social, cultural and economic 

importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 

where appropriate, to enable the co-

management of dedicated or reserved 

Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 

having regard to the principles of Crown land 

management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 

Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 

(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 

the effective delivery of infrastructure across 

NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 

government and the communities they support 

by simplifying the process for providing essential 

infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 

development controls for 25 types of 

infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 

emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 

and other public reserves and 

telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 

works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 

be approved by a public authority under Part 

5 of the Environmental Planning and 

Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 

environmental assessment (known as 

‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 

by the relevant local council, Minister for 

Planning or Department of Planning under 

Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 

‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 

complying development. 

Of relevance to Erskineville Oval is Clause 65 

that specifies that development for any purpose 

may be carried out without consent if the 

development is for the purposes of implementing 

an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 

of ancillary developments permitted without 

consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 

developments within a public reserve such as 

the construction, maintenance and repair of 

walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 

seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

518



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Applicable planning controls for 
the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 

Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 

planning tools that set controls over 

development in the area to which they apply and 

are one of the main instruments for implementing 

the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 

well as controls for heritage conservation areas 

and protected areas, amongst other matters.  

Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Erskineville Oval is zoned RE1 – Public 

Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 

and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 

environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 

of the public to areas in the public domain 

including recreation facilities and waterways 

and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 

Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-

based child care facilities; Community facilities; 

Electricity generating works; Emergency 

services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 

and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 

and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 

Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 

(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 

facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 

stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 

Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 

structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 

supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 

must be considered unless Native Title has been 

extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 

court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 

extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 

Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 

with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 

The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 

followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 

Title on Crown land managed by the City of 

Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 

facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 

tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 

buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 

powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 

City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 

Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 

invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 

2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 

advice is required before a council Crown land 

manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 

rights, easements or rights of way over the 

land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 

mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 

conditions or other restrictions on use (or 

removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 

release, covenants, conditions, or other 

restrictions on use) in connection with 

dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 

management for the land that authorises or 

permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

519



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 

Native Title Manager advice must be 

obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 

for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 

in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 

licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 

under that plan. 

The City of Sydney Native Title Manager has 

been and will continue to be consulted in all 

relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 

land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 

Local and State heritage listings. 

 

520



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 

reviewed the demographic and recreational 

context of the subject reserve which provides 

useful background to ongoing planning and 

management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 

population and density will result in more use 

and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 

space network, particularly the larger parks that 

offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 

accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 

This trend will continue over the next 10-15 

years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 

opportunities to increase the open space and 

recreation facility network provision and provide 

linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 

workforce population and visitors the quality of 

public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 

socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 

lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 

important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 

liveability of higher density urban areas by 

supporting community well-being, physical 

activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 

within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 

to live close to the city centre and lone person 

households places importance on the 

distribution of the open space network to ensure 

people have convenient access to a park that 

serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 

space planning and management is an important 

component of the liveability and quality of high 

density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 

of families with young children, young adults, 

and older people are expected to be heavy users 

of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 

will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 

group has high participation rates in active sports 

and recreation, and many reside in new high 

density urban renewal areas which suggests 

higher density communities could potential be 

very active communities and will require 

opportunities for physical activity and social 

interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 

provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 

cultural and creative activities and facilities to 

cater for various age, cultural and income 

groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 

people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 

be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 

Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 

villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 

old people 

While the working age population will remain the 

largest demographic group to 2041, the 

proportion of this age group decreases across 

the LGA. The villages with the most significant 

change in this age group proportion will be King 

Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 

Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-

4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

521



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 

old people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 

84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 

While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 

old people is consistent across all villages within 

the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 

year old people varies. The villages with the 

highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 

old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 

Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 

(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 

and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 

forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 

will see the highest increase in number of 

households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 

City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 

CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 

number of Crown lands will cater to an 

increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 

increase in households with one parent families 

and group households. However, there are 

variations in forecast household type across the 

villages including those within this PoM study 

area: 

− CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 

steep increase in one parent families 

− King Street will have a high increase in other 

families, group households and couples 

without dependants 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 

metropolitan core that contains regional and 

village level services including retail to health, 

education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 

and surrounds are also attractive places for 

tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 

visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 

Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 

Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 

Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 

via short term rental accommodation as well as 

through traditional hotel and hostel services.  

The City of Sydney’s experiences 680,000 daily 

and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 

services including: 

− shopping 

− health and education 

− recreation and entertainment 

− accommodation 

− personal business 

− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 

860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 

Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  

(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 

overseas with top countries of birth being China, 

United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 

with highest born overseas rates include 

Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 

(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 

(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 

language other than English with top languages 

being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 

areas with highest percentage of other language 

speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 

(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 

and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 

characterised as low-income households. 

Village areas with highest percentage of low-

income households include Redfern Street 

(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 

and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  

(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 

areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 

Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 

Street (970.2).

522



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 

range of policies which provide guidance to 

Council decision-making. A number of these 

influence planning and management decision-

making for open space and must be referred to 

in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 

of strategies focused on specific issues. While 

strategies are high-level guideline documents 

and usually carry less influence than policies, 

they can provide important references for 

planning and management decision-making for 

open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 

specific issues shall take precedence where no 

guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 

provided in the individual policies. However, all 

decision-making, and ongoing management 

must also have regard for conservation of the 

specific park values and application of the core 

objectives of the applicable community land 

category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 

provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 

strategy development should also inform specific 

aspects of reserve planning and management as 

applicable.   

 

 

  

523



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 

caretaker of these places. We will consciously 

consider these principles in the decisions we 

make for the Crown and community land we are 

responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 

change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 

understanding of Country in the worldview of the 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

This understanding of Country includes the 

landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 

animals, and the relationship between these. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

responsibility for care of Country and the 

continuation of these relationships. Country has 

existed in this place for thousands of 

generations. Country precedes the colonial 

boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 

acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 

People have in the carriage of their living 

cultures including access to land for practising 

culture. Crown and community land should bring 

social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 

Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

524



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 

the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 

Country, we recognise the significance of this 

land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 

places with honesty and acknowledge the 

negative impacts caused to Country and to the 

people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 

to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 

hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 

approach to managing Crown and community 

land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 

we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 

and respite in an intensely urban environment. 

These places have cultural and community 

significance to many people. They are places of 

shared identity and pride, of community 

connection and celebration, and of protest and 

social transformation. They must be welcoming 

to all people and will provide equity of access to 

all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 

between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 

for thousands of generations. We respect the 

natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 

species. We work to heal places that have 

suffered degradation. We support these places 

to play their role in the health of the whole 

environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 

places. These places must benefit the 

community now and in the future. As we face a 

changing climate and growing population, we 

make decisions that prepare these places and 

ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 

Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 

Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

525



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Values and roles of 
Erskineville Oval  
Community values and roles have guided the 

development of the PoM. Values are the 

qualities and roles of the park that the community 

wishes to protect, conserve, and enhance.  

These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 

and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- site appraisal 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- A ‘Village Green’ to a high-density residential 
area 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Spaces and facilities that support youth use 
of the park 

- A place for daily fitness 

- Access to dog off leash areas 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

- A place for organised sports 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A heritage bus shelter 

- Play facilities for the local community 

- Court facilities for the general community  

- Park elements that support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
green spaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support 
biodiversity 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

6.  Basis for 
Management 

526



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- To provide a holistic approach to park 
planning 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

  

527



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 

for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 

uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 

uses are consistent with the original purpose of 

the reserve and the use does not impact on 

Native Title rights and interests under the Native 

Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Erskineville Oval and 

Harry Noble Crown reserve is Public Park. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 

developed by Department Planning, Industry 

and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 

Council should consider the Crown reserve 

purpose when assigning categories under the 

LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 

application of community land categories would 

ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 

which it was originally set aside by its dedication 

or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 

categorisations in the context of the Crown 

reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 

categorisations for Erskineville Oval in 

accordance with Crown Land requirements. The 

Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 

identifies that councils should apply the initial 

categorisation based on existing/current use of 

the reserve only. The initial categorisation 

cannot be based on proposed or future use. The 

initial categorisations for Erskineville Oval have 

been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 

support a future use should be altered via the 

PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 

considered in applying community land 

categorisations. Land that possesses a 

significant geological feature, geomorphological 

feature, landform, representative system or 

other natural feature should be considered for 

categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 

describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Erskineville Oval there are no site 

characteristics that would justify Natural Area 

categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 

heritage significance Council should consider 

whether Area of Cultural Significance is 

applicable. This should consider whether there 

are heritage listings or controls on the land that 

address heritage conservation. Where such 

protections are not afforded and a site warrants 

heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 

Significance category may be applicable. 

For Erskineville Oval, Section 2 describes the 

heritage characteristics of the land, and the 

applicable listings and controls. These will be 

considered in all management decisions related 

to the land. The additional layer of Area of 

Cultural Significance categorisation is not 

deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 

Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 

Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 

Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 

community land for the applicable categories to 

Erskineville Oval. Under the guidelines for each 

category, their interpretation and application to 

Erskineville Oval is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 

outlined in the Local Government Act 

Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

528



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 

application to Erskineville Oval 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 

under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 

or proposed to be used primarily for active 

recreation involving organised sports or the 

playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports field areas  

The core objectives for management of community 

land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 

pursuits in the community involving organised and 

informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 

regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 

section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 

proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 

gardens or the provision of non-sporting 

equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 

passive or active recreational, social, educational 

and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 

the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 

land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 

cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 

and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 

pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 

and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 

objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 

community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 

the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 

purpose for which community land may be used, 

whether by the public at large or by specific 

sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 

area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 

does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 

102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 

sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 

significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 

recreational and community uses 

 

The core objectives for management of community 

land categorised as general community use are to 

promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 

land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 

current and future needs of the local community and of 

the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 

cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 

of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 

other estate may be granted in respect of the land 

(other than the provision of public utilities and works 

associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

529



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

10/ DP1163738

10/ DP1163738

2/ 
DP529823

11/ DP 
1163738

12/ DP 

1163738

2/ DP529823

Swanson St

E
lli

o
tt

 A
v
e

Fov 
Ave

nu
e

C
opeland S

t

Ashmore St

M
itc

he
ll 

R
d

N
CATEGORY

Sportsground

Park

General Community Use

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

R. 1001018
(COOK PARK)

Crown Reserve Type, 
Number and Name

Railcorp owned land

Crown Land parcel  -
managed by Council as Lessee

Land and Housing 
owned land

530



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 

established for Erskineville Oval including Harry 

Noble Reserve through past master planning 

and plans of management (Draft 1992).  

This PoM references the Open Space Sports 

Recreation Needs Study 2016 as the current 

planning direction for the reserve and 

supersedes the PoM 1992. 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 

Study 2016 

The following Strategic Direction are items 

specific to Erskineville Oval and Harry Noble 

Reserve as outlined in the above document: 

8.  Looking After Our Parks, Sport and 

Recreation Facilities: Efficient and 

effective planning, management and 

maintenance of our resources. 

Directions: 

8.1  Continue the preparation of Plans of 

Management and Master Plans to provide 

long term strategic directions and ensure 

that decision-making takes a coordinated 

approach. 

– Prepare and update specific plans of 

management. 

– Update and revise park master plans - 

Erskineville Oval / Harry Noble Reserve.  

 

City of Sydney Strategies 

– The City of Sydney’s Liveable Green 

Network Open Space / Recreation Facility 

Linkages 

 

Key Directions/Projects: 

– Erskineville Oval/Harry Noble Reserve – 

Master Plan Review, update, and revise. 

– Sydney Water - Epsom to Bourke Road 

Easement - Creation of open space link to 

provide connections to Perry Park, Green 

Square, Erskineville Oval  

 

 

 

Draft PoM and Master Plan 1992 

The following summary from the PoM and 

Master Plan 1992 has been included here for 

reference as an effective guiding vision: 

The main focus of the Master Plan is to re-

establish the Erskineville Oval Precinct as one 

complete element by linking Erskineville Oval 

with Harry Noble Reserve, establishing clear 

entry / arrival points into the precinct, creating a 

Precinct character through the original park 

plantings and developing a ‘family’ of individual 

park furniture. 

Many of the strategies outlined within the Master 

Plan 1992 have been implemented. 

 

Figure 8 on the following page is the Master 

Plan for from the Draft PoM prepared in 1992. 

 

531



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
 Plan of Management Master Plan 1992 

 

532



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 

essential that its implementation is reviewed on 

a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 

are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 

include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 

requirements change over time, this plan also 

needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 

changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 

the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 

values based on revised 

analysis, issues and 

amended planning 

legislation 

review outcomes against 

survey information, 

photographic record and 

register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 

where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 

proposed that is not represented in the 

authorised uses and developments listings, the 

PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 

the PoM will require amendment and the need to 

undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

  

7. Review of the plan 

533



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

534



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

This section sets out the specific requirements 

for the individual management areas located 

within Erskineville Oval and is applicable to all 

community land categories, as outlined in 

Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 

Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-

making framework for the future management of 

the reserves and addresses the requirements of 

section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 

that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 

management of Erskineville Oval. The outcomes 

seek to conserve and enhance the values of 

Erskineville Oval and address management 

challenges and opportunities identified by the 

community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 

implementation define recommended strategies 

to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 

identified management targets is provided for 

ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 

expressly authorise any proposed uses and 

developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 

buildings, structures and spaces at Erskineville 

Oval will be considered on merit and benefits 

to the community and balanced against 

physical constraints, the amenity of adjoining 

residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 

activities that may be permitted on the land, in 

accordance with the relevant zoning and 

associated objectives. Several uses are also set 

out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 

community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 

community land must be consistent with the 

guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 

of each category, and any other additional 

objectives that Council proposes to place on the 

community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 

of adoption of this plan are identified in the 

Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 

in these documents have been used to guide the 

outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 

develop after the preparation of this PoM. 

Management of Council assets, and their 

development will consider the policy framework 

at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 

of new buildings, structures and civil 

infrastructure, and the 

redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

535



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 

the desired use of Erskineville Oval. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 

will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 

apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 

plans and any subsequent detailed design 

plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 

Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 

also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 

Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 

measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 

public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 

land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 

to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 

give an opportunity for comment from any 

representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 

bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 

and registered Native Title claimants in relation 

to the land or waters covered by the reservation 

or lease as required under the Native Title Act 

1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 

support for activities, uses and developments 

consistent with the objectives for land 

categorisation to proceed to development 

assessment under the Environmental Planning 

and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 

for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 

consistent with this PoM must still be referred 

for development consent and where required, 

be advertised widely for information and 

invitation to comment. Any subsequent 

application for development consent would be 

supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 

reserve purpose or core objectives associated 

with the applicable community land category are 

prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Erskineville Oval may also 

be prohibited by the applicable land use 

zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 

activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 

be communicated via City bookings, lease, and 

licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 

where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Erskineville Oval 

must consider the needs of and impacts on 

residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 

terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 

parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 

activities on Crown and community land is to be 

generally compatible with the scale and 

anticipated use of the park, reserve and 

associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 

consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 

and any master plan or development consent 

relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 

Erskineville Oval which may attract high 

numbers of people including organised sport 

activities and training, school sport 

536



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

competitions, commercial activities and one-off 

community events and performances. 

The allocation of Erskineville Oval for organised 

sport and school sport will comply with the City 

of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 

assessed on a case-by-case basis by Outdoor 

Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 

managed by City’s booking process and 

associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 

activities across Erskineville Oval and settings 

(such as playgrounds, fitness stations and park 

seating) will be determined by the community 

use of the site but will be managed to avoid 

undue impacts on park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 

kiosks that support and encourage community 

use of the open space, and/or address a 

community need are to be assessed based on 

the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 

authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 

and the core objectives of the applicable land 

category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 

management targets identified with this PoM and 

is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 

development of new facilities and structures; 

and 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 

through its linkage with Council’s management 

plan, operational budget, and capital works 

program. 

Council currently funds management and 

maintenance costs through its annual budget 

allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 

contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 

address recurrent costs of management and 

maintenance, together with capital costs for new 

facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 

construction of new facilities is generally through 

the annual budgeting process, but special 

projects may be partly funded through New 

South Wales Government grant allocations, 

which may involve matching funding from 

Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 

landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 

to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 

develop further partnerships with residents 

and interested people in relation to park 

improvements and ongoing management, 

such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 

generated by lease and licence fees, and 

from applicants for approved functions and 

events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 

government grants are available to assist 

with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 

and community land by groups such as sporting 

clubs, community groups and schools, or by 

commercial organisations and individuals 

providing facilities or services for public use. The 

occupation of Crown and community land not 

only applies to the surface of the land but also 

includes the airspace above and subsurface 

below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 

an area. A licence may be required where 

intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 

part of the park, or associated facilities are 

proposed. Several licence for different users can 

apply to the same area at the same time, 

provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 

Crown reserves managed as community land 

such as Erskineville Oval is authorised by 

section 3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 

preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 

by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 

agreement. 

537



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-

exclusive uses to any organisation for any 

compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 

on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 

licence may only be granted for a maximum term 

of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 

for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 

only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 

organisation. All leases and licence must be 

publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 

reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 

council Crown land manager must always 

consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 

category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 

policies and guidelines including zoning 

under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 

activities to be permitted by the lease or 

licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 

the lease or licence  

– land capability of the reserve to support the 

proposed lease or licence  

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 

been obtained (and other consents under the 

EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 

authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 

or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 

heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 

unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 

activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 

with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 

required vehicular access implications are 

considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 

and procedures governing the use of open 

space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 

or other estate) on Crown land may impact 

Native Title rights and interests. A use 

agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 

in accordance with future act provisions of the 

Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 

Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 

extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 

excluded land, this will require written advice 

from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 

complies with any applicable provisions of the 

Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 

applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 

detail the specific authorisations and purposes 

for which tenure may be granted in accordance 

with the individual community land categories for 

Erskineville Oval. 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 

including for construction or maintenance 

purposes  

Access across community land shall be 

authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 

limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 

require access and it is associated with an 

adjoining property, proponents must clearly 

demonstrate that there are no alternative 

means of access available to avoid access 

538



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

through community land to undertake the 

required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 

land may be deemed as exempt development if 

the proposed activity can be authorised under 

the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 

12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 

activities including for construction or 

maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 

licence for the placement of temporary building-

related structures provided that (but not limited 

to): 

– the use of community land is within the 

prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 

are associated with an adjoining property, 

proponents must clearly demonstrate that 

there are no alternative means of placement 

available to avoid use of community land to 

undertake the required development or 

maintenance works including satisfying any 

safety requirements under the Work, Health 

and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 

City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 

Sydney documents as a technical guide for 

temporary structures until such time as they are 

revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 

2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 

Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-

term licence for these activities, applicants 

should consider an application under the 

provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 

Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 

temporary event structures shall be authorised 

under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 

prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 

Sydney’s technical specifications and where 

required, relevant standards identified within 

the State Environmental Planning Policy 

(Exempt and Complying Development 

Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 

Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 

respect of potential damage to City assets is 

lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 

suitable insurances including public liability 

insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 

assessed and approved in accordance with City 

of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 

and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 

policies and legislative requirements, both 

locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 

provides guidance on how temporary events and 

activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 

compatibility with the relevant land 

539



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 

production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 

requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 

indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-

term or hourly basis that service the community 

enabling cultural, recreational and social 

outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 

assessed and approved in accordance with 

City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 

with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 

legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 

adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 

promote events and activities which are of public 

interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 

approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 

Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 

outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 

and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 

its community to use parks and open space 

responsibly in meeting their health, wellbeing 

and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 

use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 

fitness training as it does not wish to create a 

barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 

not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 

area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 

Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 

its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 

exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 

a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 

City to use a sports field, oval or court and 

comply with the City of Sydney’s Terms and 

Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 

for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 

conduits or other connections under the surface 

of the ground, for the connection of premises 

adjoining the community land to a facility on the 

community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 

and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 

to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 

an easement and/or a restriction on the 

future development potential of the property, 

compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 

(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 

permanent structure, and the structure does not 

significantly interfere with the functioning of the 

reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 

creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 

applicant is to be responsible for all costs 

incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 

easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 

expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 

of a “public road” where the provision of that road 

is consistent with the core objectives stated 

herein and where the road is necessary for the 

enjoyment of that land. 

 
 
 

 
 

540



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Erskineville Oval, 

including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the 

City of Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the 
spaces historical identity and 
natural character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A ‘Village Green’ to a 
high-density residential 
area 

• To maintain the park’s dual 
roles for organised sports 
and informal recreation 

Management to recognise the 
parks varied roles and have 
regard for an effective 
balance 

Targeted user surveys  

 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to 
district and regional 
users 

• To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and safe 
routes to the park from 
adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work 
towards improving local 
access routes for workplace 
precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage for 
park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade 
wayfinding and signage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Where required, implement 
new wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is clear, 
easy and safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes and 
path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths 
and pavements in accordance 
with park service levels 

Where required, implement 
new pathways to create 
greater connectivity in park 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate lighting 
to support desired night 
access, recreational and 
leisurely use of open space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor to identify lighting 
issues and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

     

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

541



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 

 

 

 

A community 
destination accessible 
from the cycle network  

• To enable park to be 
effectively accessed from 
cycle network and encourage 
cycle use 

Investigate the integration of 
park access to potential future 
cycle corridors 

Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities 
into park improvements  

Increased local use of park by 
cyclists, measured by surveys 
and observations 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

• To provide a balanced 
approach to parking  

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing off-street 
parking to ensure efficiency 
and equity 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated 
and do not affect community 
use of space 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space 
areas 

Incorporate educational 
activities into ongoing 
management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures carried 
out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible 
and informal use spaces that 
are attractive and comfortable 
to be in 

Ensure that park planning, 
and management maintains 
and enhances flexible informal 
use of spaces for broad 
community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Spaces and facilities 
that support youth use 
of the park 

• To sustainably respond to 
youth needs for gathering and 
activity spaces 

Manage spaces and facilities 
to support youth gathering and 
activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.3 A place for daily fitness • To support and manage a 
sustainable level of fitness 
activity in the park 

Support the role of the park for 
fitness activities in accordance 
with Council’s policy 
framework 

Assess suitability for 
implementation of fitness 
equipment 

Monitor to identify 
management issues and 
address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to fitness 
activities. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

3.4 Access to dog off leash 
areas 

• To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access 
to spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify 
management issues and 
address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.5 A place that recognises 
and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising 
living culture’, work with the 
First Nations community to 
understand the processes and 
procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces 
and facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

542



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.6 A place for events • To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local activation 
and cultural and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event 
use that is appropriate to 
scale of spaces and in 
consideration of other park 
uses 

Develop guidelines for event 
use of parklands defining: 

- Usable area and capacity 
- Other specific event 

management and 
approval requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale and 
intensity 

Developed guidelines 

Ongoing review and 
compliance 

3.7 A place that is open 
and usable by all 
members of community 

• That the park is managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of 
people sleeping rough in the 
park needs to be in 
accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on 
homelessness in public 
spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the 
community to use public 
spaces’ (Homelessness 
Action Plan 2019) and aims to 
ensure that public space can 
be accessed and enjoyed by 
everyone, including people 
who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.8 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

• To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place 
to visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of 
facilities and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and 
access in park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety 
issues 

Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they 
are designed and maintained 
in accordance with Crime 
Prevention through 
Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 

Sustained relationship with 
local police 

 

3.9 A place that provides 
access to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and provision 
of public toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify 
management issues for public 
toilet facilities, address as 
required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to toilets. 
Regularly review of register to 
guide future directions 

Erskineville Oval 

3.10 A place for organised 
sports 

• To ensure that management 
of access to designated sports 
use areas is clear and 
unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of 
adequate venue management 
services to facilitate bookings 
of oval 

 

Venue bookings 

 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Heritage bus shelter 

4.1 A heritage bus shelter • To provide a functioning bus 
shelter 

Plan and implement a renewal 
of the bus shelter maintaining 
its heritage fabric 

Renewed bus shelter 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Play spaces 

4.2 Play facilities for the 
local community 

• To provide play environments 
that encourage activity and 
support family use of park 

Plan and implement a new 
play space and related 
landscape settings 

 

 

  

Updated play space 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

543



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Court facilities 

4.3 Court facilities for the 
general community  

• To maintain and manage 
courts and related fixtures to 
meet community needs and 
optimise useful and 
sustainable lifespan 

Plan and implement a new 
basketball half-court 

 

Updated outdoor courts 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

 

Park elements 

4.4 Park elements that 
support park use and 
create an attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while 
avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park 
furniture and other park 
elements in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new 
improvements, where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

Underground infrastructure 

4.5 Underground 
infrastructure 

To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements are 
effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with 
services authorities to identify 
amplification and renewal 
works that may impact spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on 
use and facilitate effective 
make good / integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 

 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping 
to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green landscape 
for continued community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew 
horticulture, grass cover and 
plantings in accordance with 
park service levels and City 
guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 

Measurement and monitoring 
of vegetation 

Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate 
the planting of indigenous 
species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

• To protect and improve 
existing habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values 
through areas of built form 
and natural ground  

Maintain and manage areas of 
bush restoration in 
accordance with Bush 
Restoration Service Levels 

Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat values 

Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology 
advisory role for proposed 
works associated with open 
space 

Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and 
participation in the 
preservation of greenspace 
and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation 
in open space works 

Increased community 
participation  

544



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.5 Places that are 
connected to support 
biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the site 
and surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key 
sites and species, as identified 
in the biodiversity corridor 

Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park 
Service Levels 

Monitoring of habitat values 

Compliance with landscape 
code and park service levels 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 A place that is cool, 
calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to create 
new shade 

Maintain and manage existing 
tree canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree 
canopy shade in suitable 
locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.7 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health 
for their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or 
removal of trees and 
replacement planting in 
accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a 
succession planting program  

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting  

Water management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive urban 
design 

• To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement 
water saving initiatives, 
alternative water sources and 
install metering to effectively 
manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive 
urban design to minimise 
environmental degradation 
and improve waterway quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement 
energy management 
initiatives, renewable energy, 
investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and 
install metering as appropriate 
to effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret 
and integrate cultural heritage 
values in ongoing planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or 
fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

     

545



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.3 A place that connects 
the community to the 
city’s past and present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the site and 
add to the experience and 
use of the park 

Develop a cohesive 
framework that recognises 
Strategies 6.1-6.2 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.4 

 

 

 

A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
park setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, 
where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in park 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 To provide a holistic 
approach to park 
planning 

• To provide an effective 
direction for park 
improvements 

Update and revise master 
plan for Erskineville Oval and 
Harry Noble Reserve 

 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park. 
Regularly review of register to 
guide future directions 

7.2 A place which is clean, 
well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried 
out in accordance with City of 
Sydney Parks Maintenance 
Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

 

7.3 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities 
in accordance with asset 
management plans 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.4 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences 
to meet the requirements of 
the Local Government Act 
1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and 
Native Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

546



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Erskineville Oval 

categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 

subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 

building activities associated with adjoining 

property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 

or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 

tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 

both live performances and film (cinema and 

TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 

session or filming (as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 

fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 

preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 

(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 

launches, film releases, balls, and similar 

activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 

and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 

educational, recreational and social activities, 

including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 

for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 

enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 

structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 

rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 

by the community (e.g. storage and change 

rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 

permissible uses and activities (e.g. 

grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 

playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 

facilities, amenity and the visual character of 

the general community area (e.g. fountains, 

pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 

landscaped areas) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 

efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

547

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 

social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 

or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 

seminars and presentations, including 

educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Recreational and sporting activities consistent 

with an outdoor recreational facility, for 

example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 

badminton and netball) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 

community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 

building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 

systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 

and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 

memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Naturalisation works including ongoing 

management (e.g. wetlands, dredging of salt 

marsh)  

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 

or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 

authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 

community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 

or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Erskineville Oval in accordance with 

Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 

community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 

merit. 

 

548



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 

months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 

film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 

Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 

shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 

similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 

balls, and similar activities) 

– Hiring of equipment 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

549

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 

including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 

provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 

in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 

conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 

utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 

licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 

criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

 

 
 
  

550



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Erskineville Oval 

categorised as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire 

systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 

subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 

building activities associated with adjoining 

property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 

facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 

Australian rules, track and field athletics, 

hockey, baseball, softball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 

(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 

opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 

squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 

uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 

meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 

session or filming (as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 

preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 

facilities  

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 

and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 

enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 

facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 

drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 

facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 

professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 

access including disability access and facilities, 

amenity and the visual character of the 

recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 

landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 

landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 

support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 

sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 

screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 

efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 

water reticulation systems) 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

551

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 

(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 

edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 

recreational uses, community events or 

gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 

associated with path around perimeter of 

playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 

building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 

promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 

fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 

juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 

and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 

recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 

or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other Estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 

authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 

community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 

casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Erskineville Oval in 

accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 

community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 

merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

552



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 

months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 

cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 

and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 

Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 

events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 

groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 

meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the City of Sydney to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for 

the provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public 

utilities in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 

conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 

utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 

licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 

criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

553

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Erskineville Oval 

categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 

booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 

subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 

building activities associated with adjoining 

property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 

concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 

tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 

indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 

recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-

related services) 

– Concerts and other performances, including 

both live performances and film (cinema and 

TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 

session and filming (as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 

fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 

preparedness, response and recovery 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 

and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 

educational, recreational and social activities, 

including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 

enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 

toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 

permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 

facilities, amenity and the visual character of 

the general community area (e.g. fountains, 

pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 

landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 

and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 

storage, waste rooms and change 

rooms/showers) 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

554

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 

(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 

launches, film releases, balls, and similar 

activities) 

– Management and operation of community 

facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 

social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 

or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 

seminars and presentations, including 

educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 

gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 

community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 

building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 

efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 

and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 

memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 

wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 

or events related) 

 

 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 

authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 

community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 

short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Erskineville 

Oval in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 

community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 

The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 

merit. 

555



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 

(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 

(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 

months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 

with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 

film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 

the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 

shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 

similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 

balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

556

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Type of tenure 

arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 

events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 

including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 

provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 

in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 

conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 

utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 

licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 

criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

557



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 

Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 

requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 

Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 

accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 

program that provides food and material support, social 

contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 

homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 

other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 

‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 

and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 

excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 

site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 

work platforms and other constructed-related 

temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 

and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 

tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 

temporary structures  

 

 

  

13. Appendices 

558



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

References 
 

– Draft Plan of Management and Master Plan 

1992 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 

2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 

Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 

this Appendix. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

559



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 

range of policies which provide guidance to 

decision making.  A number of these influence 

planning and management decision making for 

open space.   

In some cases, these documents should guide 

reserve planning and management at all times 

having regard for the reserve purpose and core 

objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 

relationship to open space planning and 

management follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 

elements. 

560



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
playspaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

561



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

562



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

563



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 

Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

564



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(eg poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

565



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

 

566



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 

of strategies focussed on specific issues and 

open space considerations relevant to open 

space planning and management.  While 

strategies are higher level guideline documents 

and usually carry less influence than policies, 

they can provide important references for 

planning and management decision making for 

open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

567



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 

likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – ie. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

568



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the Citys 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

569



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

570



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

571



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

572



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 

– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 
the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 

Foundation principles 

– Culture and creativity are central to all 
our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 

of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

573



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

574



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

575



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

576



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

577



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan/ 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

578



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

579



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 

of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrima Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

  

580



Erskineville Oval 

Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

 

 

 

 

 

581



Attachment I 

Hyde Park      

 

 

 

582



 

Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 583



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 16 

3. Legislative context 30 

4. Strategic context 33 

5. Community guiding principles 36 

6. Basis for Management 38 

7. Review of the plan 47 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 48 

8. General requirements 49 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 55 

10. Park category - authorisations 61 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 65 

12. Appendices 69 

 

  

584



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 16 

Figure 3. Site Plan 18 

Figure 4. Heritage analysis mapping of Hyde Park 22 

Figure 5. Condition of facilities and improvements 27 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licence 29 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 42 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map 43 

Figure 9. Master Plan 46 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 61 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 62 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 65 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 66 

 

 

585



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

586



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

587



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Hyde Park (Crown Reserve 500450 - Lot 7303 
DP 1167657 and Lot 200 DP 1230973) is 
classified as “community land” under the LG Act 
and managed accordingly. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

588



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

589



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

590



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of 
invasion and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

591



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business. 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

592



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Hyde Park 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

593



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

594



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

  

595



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

596



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

   

597



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Hyde Park through past master 
planning (Refined Master Plan 2013) and plans 
of management (Hyde Park Plan of 
Management and Master Plan 2006 and Hyde 
Park Plan of Management and Master Plan 
Amendment - Anzac Memorial Centenary 
Project 2015). This PoM references each of the 
documents as the current planning direction for 
the reserve. 

Location and description  
Hyde Park offers 16 hectares of wide-open 
space in the heart of central Sydney.  

The park is located within the centre of the city 
and bordered by Elizabeth and College Streets,  

 

adjoining the city CBD, The Domain and Cook 
and Phillip Park. Park Street divides the park into 
two portions – Hyde Park South and Hyde Park 
North. The Anzac War Memorial, Archibald 
Fountain and Sandringham Gardens are the 
major built features within the park. 

Majority of the park is bounded by commercial 
uses along its northern and western sides, with 
a mix of commercial and high-density residential 
use on its southern boundary and a combination 
of open space, religious and educational 
institutions and commercial uses bordering its 
eastern boundary. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

 

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Hyde Park 

Address 110 and 120 Elizabeth Street, SYDNEY, 2000 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

500450 Dedication, Public Recreation, 3/5/1878 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 159,996.88 m2   

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 7303 DP 1167657 (Hyde Park North) 

Lot 200 DP1230973 (Hyde Park South) 

Other Community land n/a 

2. Land description 

598



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

item description 

Miscellaneous Land 
schedule 

n/a 

Restrictions / 
easements 

Easement for Railway purposes 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

Park 

General Community Use 

 

Condition of land  refer to Figure 5 for Condition Summary 

 
 
 

  

599



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 
  

600



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  
The land on which the park lies is within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. 

Hyde Park, gazetted by Governor Lachlan 
Macquarie in 1810, is the oldest public park in 
Australia.  The park has a rich history of public 
building, landscaping and embellishment and 
contains an outstanding collection of significant 
trees.  

The following descriptions have been sourced 
from the 2006 Plan of Management and Master 
Plan – Section 3 A Brief History, Anzac Memorial 
Centenary Project, the PoM Amendment 2015 
and additional sources as noted. 

Heritage Context 
Hyde Park is scheduled on the State Heritage 
Register, in the City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012, Sydney City Heritage 
Study and classified by the National Trust of 
Australia (NSW). 

History 
The continued Aboriginal occupation of Sydney 
can be traced through the archaeological 
records to at least 22,000 years ago, with some 
estimates extending towards 35,000 years. The 
occupation of the Sydney Basin extended 
beyond the current shorelines as lower sea 
levels meant the coast was between 12 and 20 
km further east than today. Sydney Harbour 
formed a vast valley with a central river. Some 
1000 years ago – at the end of the last great ice 
age – rising sea levels inundated the broad 
coastal plain forcing the retreat of coastal people 
over a few generations. The flooding is 
estimated to have taken up to 1100 square km 
of land on the coast and 45 square kilometres 
within the harbour area itself. This resulted in the 
addition of 250 kilometres of shoreline shaping 
Sydney Harbour as it more or less sits today.   
The Sydney area supported the Eora nation, 
comprised of more than 30 separate clans 
woven together across the region. It is recorded 
that most clans took their names from their 
Country, such as the Gadigal along the harbour’s 
southern shore, or the Wangal from Wanne, the 
lower reaches of Parramatta River, or the 
Kamaygal from Kamay, Botany Bay). Others, 
like the Cammeragal from the harbour’s northern 
shore, may have been named for their role in 
ceremony and law.  

It was people from the Sydney Aboriginal groups 
concentrated around Sydney Cove and the 
Harbour who initially confronted and made 
efforts to understand the colonisers and their 
intentions on Country. It is these First Nations 
people who are described in the surviving 
colonial accounts. When the eleven ships of the 
First Fleet with one thousand or so people 
stepped ashore and set up camp in Sydney 
Cove in January 1788—having relocated from 
Botany Bay—it was the people of the Gadigal 
that they first encountered. The Gadigal were the 
first people dispossessed by colonists and it is 
this dispossession that underpins the foundation 
and growth of the city. In 1789, the smallpox 
epidemic devastated the Aboriginal population 
and disrupted clan boundaries in Sydney.  
Aboriginal people came together in new 
communities and locations.  Aboriginal people 
were still living on lands where the colonisers 
endorsed or tolerated it and were frequently 
observed in Sydney. (GML 2021) 

Until the mid-1820s, First Nations people 
travelled from all over Sydney, and as far away 
as the Hunter and the Illawarra, to gather at a 
ceremonial contest ground to the south of the 
city. The exact location of this site of ritualised 
conflict settlement and resistance is unclear. 
Described as lying between the road to Botany 
Bay and the Brickfields, it was probably near 
Hyde Park South. 

Bloody fist fights involving up to 100 people, 
spearings and beatings were used to resolve 
conflicts at the Brickfields contest ground. These 
were observed and recorded by visiting Russian 
sailors in 1814, and again 10 years later by the 
French explorers Dumont d’Urville and Rene 
Lesson. (Source: 
https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/hyde-
park-south). 
To this time there has been no detailed First 
Nations investigations done on the Hyde Park 
site.  A draft Archaeological zoning plan 
undertaken in 2015 should be reviewed and 
updated (refer Draft plan in Appendix).  In 
addition, a thorough Aboriginal cultural heritage 
values assessment for the site in collaboration 
with the First Nations people is required to inform 
decision making and planning. 

Since the Park was gazetted in 1810, it has 
evolved to become one of Sydney’s most 

601

https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/hyde-park-south
https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/hyde-park-south


Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

significant cultural elements. The history of Hyde 
Park has been well documented in a number of 
sources. This summary does not attempt to 
rewrite its history but draws from and highlights 
in a concise form Hyde Park’s history through a 
number of themes. 

Public Common 
An area of land was set side by Governor Phillip 
for a public common, which encompassed the 
present extent of Hyde Park. This far sighted 
action has had the effect of preserving the Park 
in perpetuity and thus it has played a significant 
role in influencing the form and layout of the city. 
It eventually developed into a public park typical 
of the Victorian period and still is a setting for city 
buildings along Elizabeth Street with boundary 
fences and introduced planting. 

Civic Space 
In 1810 Governor Macquarie proclaimed Hyde 
Park setting it aside in perpetuity for the people 
of Sydney and securing its area, which has 
survived except for reduction of the margins for 
road widenings in the 20th century.  

At various times the park declined in condition 
and the standard of upkeep. Early in the 
twentieth century, public safety became an issue 
as the park was frequented by disreputable 
elements of Sydney’s society. 

World War I 
The achievement of Federation and the 
experience of World War I developed Australia’s 
nationalist spirit, which influenced the way many 
civic places were used and appreciated. Public 
parks and squares were chosen as places for 
monuments and memorials to Australia’s service 
personnel. Hyde Park as Sydney’s pre-eminent 
civic space was to house the State’s main war 
memorial and other monuments associated with 
the war. 

Railway Plans 
An underground railway was planned in 1916 but 
did not proceed until 1922. Excavation for the 
railway created a period of major upheaval in the 
park. 

Competition 
Following concern about the park’s future 
development, after the disruption of the railway 
construction, a competition was held in 1926 for 
the design of a new Hyde Park Plan. 

The competition was won by Norman Weekes 
after which the assessors, including Sir John 
Sulman, amended the plan. Part of the vision 
was to place major monuments at each end of 
the main vista aligned with Macquarie Street, 
which ultimately saw the Anzac Memorial, 
designed by Bruce Dellit, positioned at the south 
end of the vista and the Archibald Memorial 
Fountain terminating the vista to the north. The 
avenue of fig trees has matured over the 
intervening years to reinforce the vista. 

Much of the work undertaken in the park in the 
1930s was the subject of unemployment relief 
programmes. 
Depression Relief Fund Program 
The construction of Hyde Park was assisted with 
labour employed as part of the Depression Relief 
Fund Programme; the program was also 
responsible for the construction of the Anzac 
Pool of Remembrance. 

Role of Women and Children in Society 
In the 1950s Hyde Park saw the introduction of 
the Long Day Childcare and the Women’s Rest 
Centre conveniences for women and their 
children visiting the city. 

Planning and Conservation 
In the late 1980s the City Council saw a need to 
re-assess the Park and improve the condition of 
its various components: plantings, paths, walls 
and monuments. A draft Plan of Management 
and Master plan was produced in 1989. Through 
the early 1990s a works programme was 
implemented to upgrade pathways, conserve 
monuments and stone walls and to build new 
stone walls along College Street in Hyde Park 
South. The Works Depot was removed from the 
eastern side of the main avenue of Hyde Park 
north during this period. 
  

602



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Statement of Significance 

The park has a statutory heritage listing under the 
City of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2000 and is 
listed as a place of cultural significance by the 
National Trust. 

In acknowledgement of its unique history and 
significance, Hyde Park has been included on the 
New South Wales Heritage Council’s Register of 
State significant heritage items. The summary 
statement of significance from the State Heritage 
Register listing is as follows: 

Hyde Park has State significance as public land (the 
Australian colony’s first common) that has influenced 
the development of Sydney’s layout from as early as 
1789, occupying approximately the same area since 
that time. Proclaimed by Governor Macquarie, it is 
Australia’s oldest designated public parkland (1810), 
and since 1788 has been in continuous use as public 
open space for recreation, remembrance, celebration 
and leisure. 

Hyde Park has contributed to the cultural 
development of the city as a recreational space 
encapsulating the principles of a formal Victorian 
parkland using a designed hierarchy of pathways and 
the strategic siting of monuments, statues and built 
items. 

The Park is considered of State Significance as a 
demonstration of the international spread of the 
English style public parks movement began in the 
mid-19th century. It provides evidence of the 
influence of transport infrastructure on urbanisation 
by its upheaval and adaptation after construction of 
the city’s underground railway system in the 1920s. 

It was the site of some of Australia’s first sporting 
events and remains the prime open space in Sydney 
for special events, gathering points and festivals as it 
has been since 1810. The Park holds several 
monuments and sculptures including war memorials 
and significant art works marking key events and 
historic personages in the history of the State. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

603



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Figure 4. Heritage analysis mapping of Hyde Park  
A Culturally Significant Landscape – Analysis Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Source: Plan of Management and Master Plan 2006) 

 

 
  

604



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Environment and landscape 
Being a key part of Sydney’s built environment 
Hyde Park is highly valued as a green oasis, 
providing a space for relaxation in a calm 
landscape setting away from the hustle and 
bustle of the modern metropolis. 

The following descriptions has been derived 
from past master planning (Refined Master Plan 
2013) and plans of management (Hyde Park 
Plan of Management and Master Plan 2006). 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 
Topography - Hyde Park is located on a broad 
and relatively flat ridgetop forming the watershed 
of the Tank Stream (to the west) and the stream 
which formerly flowed through the Domain and 
Botanic Gardens into Farm Cove. The 
headwaters of Blackwattle Creek are also 
located immediately southwest of the park. The 
embayment’s of these creeks and their valleys 
(the Tank Stream) have been modified and/or 
filled to their present form. Although the park has 
been highly altered over the last century, its 
current contours, situated at about 30m AHD 
(Australian Height Datum), are considered likely 
to approximate its original topography.  

Geology - Hyde Park and the surrounding area 
is underlain by Triassic Period Hawkesbury 
Sandstone, which outcrops around the foreshore 
of the harbour to the north. Geological mapping 
suggests that Ashfield Shale of the Wianamatta 
Group caps sandstone bedrock within the 
ridgetop location of Hyde Park. The area is 
characterised by residual soils which are formed 
from decomposing bedrock. 

Vegetation - The original vegetation of Hyde 
Park is likely to have consisted of Blackbutt 
(Eucalyptus pilularis) and Smooth Barked Apple 
(Angophora costata) woodland with a mixed 
shrubby understorey. However, swamp 
woodland was present immediately west at the 
headwaters of the Tank Stream and mixed 
eucalypt woodland along the creek valleys to the 
east and northwest. 

At the time of arrival of the First Fleet in 1788, 
the area that was to be later designated as Hyde 
Park was part of the expanse of bushland and 
forest that surrounded Sydney Cove 

Source – Refined Master Plan Appendices - 
Hyde Park Archaeological Management Plan—
Draft Report, 16 December 2012 

Landform, soils and drainage: 
Hyde Park is in the City of Sydney's south-
centre, lying broadly on the ridge that runs 
south–north to Bennelong Point and forming the 
city's eastern "edge". The park is broadly flat, 
though sloping slightly east and west to the 
adjacent streets (College & Elizabeth Streets). 

Landscape and visual character: 
Hyde Park provides a strong contrast to the CBD 
which surrounds it, such that the very context of 
the park is a key element in its character. The 
imposing scale of the surrounding high-rise 
buildings and towers provides a consistent 
silhouette and backdrop to the high canopy trees 
and vegetation in the park. The vegetation itself 
helps to humanise the scale of the city by acting 
as a foreground frame and foil. The city frames 
and visually defines the boundaries of the park, 
it also provides the activity and bustle which is a 
contrast to the park as a place for escape and 
relaxation. In a physical sense, the city 
surrounds (and divides) the park, it activates 
every boundary, making Hyde Park a popular 
and central part of the city’s pedestrian network. 

Spatial layout – axial geometry and Avenue: 
The principal geometry of the park is laid out 
along axes running north to south and east to 
west creating cruciform’s focused on the 
alignment with Macquarie Street, key buildings 
at its boundaries (e.g. St Mary’s Cathedral) and 
the two major icons within the park, the Archibald 
Memorial Fountain and the Anzac Memorial. 

Reflecting the principles of the City Beautiful 
Movement, combining Victorian heritage with Art 
Deco styles, Hyde Park is characterised by a 
highly structured geometrical layout defined by 
the pathway networks, tree plantings, garden 
beds, monuments, fountains and pools, grassed 
open spaces, formalised entrances and 
boundary walls to the adjoining pedestrian and 
road networks. Clear internal and external views 
and vistas are defined by avenues of tall fig 
trees. 

Planting: 
The park contains several notable scheduled 
significant trees on the City of Sydney’s register. 

A grand avenue of Hill’s Weeping Figs extends 
from St James Road to Park Street (Hyde Park 
North) and continues to the Pool of Reflection 
(Hyde Park South). 

605



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Many of the older figs and Araucarias dating 
from the mid- to latter part of the nineteenth 
century have individual as well as broader group 
significance at the City/Local Government Area 
(“LGA”) level in terms of their visual, historic and 
social values. 

Apart from the scheduled significant trees, the 
park has a variety of trees that contribute to its 
character and unique qualities. Many of these 
are trees that date to early periods or are 
botanically interesting but are not considered 
significant. 

Hyde Park also contains a vast range of 
individual specimen planting which is scattered 
throughout the open spaces. Most of the palm 
components date from the late nineteenth 
century to the early twentieth century (including 
the Inter-War period). They are integral 
components of the broader collection of 
significant trees 

The grand avenue of Hill’s Weeping Figs trees 
creates a memorable landscape quality with 
massive, arching and interlocking canopies over 
the pedestrian pathway. The figs, standing 
between 18-22 metres in height, visually 
dominate this central formal axis of the park and 
provide a dramatic backdrop to the city’s skyline. 

Unfortunately, a number of these trees are now 
in decline. Over recent years, a number of these 
figs have been removed following investigations 
which revealed the presence of soil-borne 
disease-causing root rot. Fungi including 
Phytophthra cinnamomi, Armillaria luteobubalina 
and Phellinus sp. have been identified in the soil. 
The trees are currently being monitored and 
removed as necessary, and a program of block 
removal and subsequent replacement with the 
same species has begun. 

Access and Circulation: 
An essential character of Hyde Park is the 
hierarchical path network of formal geometry 
and axial symmetry. The discernible hierarchy 
that is established in the circulation system 
enhances the clarity of the Park layout and 
legibility. The high quality of the materials used, 
the design of the kerbs and the decoration and 
patterning at key locations (such as around the 
fountain and the brass inlays on the main 
avenue) also indicate the important profile of the 
park. 

Access to the park is currently defined by well-
established entry points around its perimeter, 
providing access from adjacent footpaths. 

Formal entrance ways to the park’s path system 
are announced with larger columns, stairways 
and steps, all with the familiar sandstone capped 
design detail. The consistency of the language 
provides pedestrians with clear cues about 
access and direction. The park boundaries are 
demarcated by sandstone low walls with 
entrances steps generally raked to follow the 
street topography. 

There is provision for a vehicle entry point at the 
south-eastern corner of the park, off the Oxford 
Street and College Street intersection to be used 
during public events. provision is allowed for an 
access point off Liverpool Street, with potential 
for a drop-off and pick-up zone to be located 
along that street frontage.  

Day-to-day vehicle access to the Anzac 
Memorial is presently limited to maintenance, 
security and emergency vehicles. There is a 
small vehicle layover space immediately north of 
Entry 12 and the City of Sydney permits 
authorised parking south of the Memorial and on 
the southwest diagonal path from the Memorial. 
 

  

606



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Reserve development 
For a detailed Timeline Date Description of 
Hyde Park please refer to the Appendix to 
this PoM. The detailed timeline provides an 
outline of the evolution of the site and 
monuments and other object within Hyde Park 
which are important to the park and its assessed 
significance. 
Key Milestones within the park’s 
development: 
– In 1810 Governor Macquarie proclaimed 

Hyde Park – Australia’s first Public Park 

– 1837 first major planting in the park by Alan 
Cunningham of the Sydney Botanic Gardens 

– Reserves formally gazetted for Public 
Recreation in 1878 

– Underground railway excavations 1922 and 
major upheaval in the park 

– Norman Weekes revised 1927 winning 
design and plan to position major 
monuments at each end of main vista 

– work undertaken in the Park in the 1930s 
was the subject of unemployment relief 
programmes 

– 1950s saw introduction of the Long Day 
Childcare and the Women’s Rest Centre 
conveniences 

– 1980s the City Council saw a need to re-
assess the Park and improve the condition of 
its various components: plantings, paths, 
walls and monuments – leading to 
development of the 1989 Draft PoM and 
subsequent upgrades including conservation 
of monuments 

– Hyde Park has been awarded a Green Flag 
in 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively. 
The Green Flag Award is an internationally 
recognized hallmark of excellence for public 
parks that meet defined high standards of 
management and maintenance.  

 

10-year capital works program upgrades: 
– Hyde Park South - Pool of Reflection 

refurbishment 2016 

– Hyde Park North Paths and Entries upgrades 
2018 

– Anzac Memorial Cascade/Liverpool Street 
entry project 2020 

– Museum Station Café refurbishment project 
2021  

Past studies and plans: 
– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 

2016 

– Draft Archaeological Zoning Plan 2015 
– Hyde Park - Plan of Management and Master 

Plan Amendment - Anzac Memorial 
Centenary Project 2015 

– Refined Master Plan - Scoping Strategy 
2013 

– Draft Refined Master Plan 2008 

– Hyde Park - Plan of Management and Master 
Plan 2006 

– Hyde Park Plan of Management and Master 
Plan 1989 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

607



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Hyde Park Crown reserve 
is Public Recreation.  

Community usage 
The park’s 16 hectares is intensively visited and 
used throughout the year by some 3 million local, 
interstate and international visitors, whether as a 
restful and green retreat from the hustle and 
bustle of the city, a place in the sun or shade for 
lunch, a pleasant route to and from work or a 
venue for major cultural events, this historic and 
popular park retains broad visitor appeal. 

The park is a popular attraction, workers and 
tourists who congregate throughout the year to 
enjoy the varied sights and sounds of this green 
iconic and central public space. 

The primary uses of Hyde Park relate to the day 
to day life of the city and the park’s proximity to 
key city destinations - cultural and transport 
related. 

These include: 

– walk through access  

– cycle through access 

– informal passive recreation  

– fitness training 

– outdoor dining (2 cafes in park) 

– board games(chess) 

– picnics 

– regular program of community and 
commercial events 

– major events 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– walk through Hyde Park to get somewhere 
else 

– sitting and relaxing 

– enjoying nature 

– walking or running for exercise  

– and to eat lunch 

Other park activities the survey respondents 
participated in included visiting as part of school 
excursions (lunch) while visiting the Australian 
Museum and going to cafes. 

The majority (57%) of survey respondents were 
more likely to work nearby to the park followed 
by those who visit the area (47%) and live nearby 
(43%). More than a third of respondents would 
visit the park daily. The most popular time to visit 
the park is in the afternoon (12pm-4pm) followed 
by the morning (9am-12pm) and 
afternoon/evening periods (6pm-9pm). 

Event use of the park  
The park plays host to several cultural events 
throughout the year including ceremony, 
charitable fundraising, commemoration 
/memorial services, community consultation, 
exhibitions, festivals, launch, live performances, 
media call, promotional events, public assembly, 
sporting events - casual, street parades. The 
City of Sydney registered a total of 118 events 
between 2015-19. Attendance has ranged up to 
500,000 people. 

The park hosts a number of recurring major 
events: Anzac Day BBQ, Indigenous Veterans 
Ceremony, Art & About Exhibitions, Blackmores 
Sydney Running Festival, NAIDOC in the City, 
Night Noodle Markets, RSL and Schools ANZAC 
Commemoration events, Sydney Easter Parade 
and Family Day, Sydney Festival, The Sun 
Herald City2Surf and The Sydney Morning 
Herald Half Marathon. 

 

 
  

608



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Figure 5. Condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

St James Café General Public Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Museum Station Cafe General Public Under Construction 

Hyde Park North Bus 
Shelter Café (Stand A) 

General Public Asset Condition Rating (3) Average 

Public toilets (north)  General Public Asset Condition Rating (3) Average 

Public toilet (south) General Public Asset Condition Rating (3) Average 

Anzac Memorial General Public Main building managed externally 

Water features   

Pool of Reflection n/a Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Archibald Fountain 
Memorial 

n/a Asset Condition Rating (4) Poor 

John Baptist Fountain n/a Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

Busby's Bore Fountain n/a Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Frazer Fountain n/a Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Anzac Memorial Water 
Feature (Cascade) 

n/a Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

Park elements   

Footpaths, pavements General Public Good 

Steps and ramps General Public Good 

Stone Walling n/a Good 

Park furniture - lighting General Public Good 

Park furniture – seating, 
bins 

General Public Good 

Park furniture - fencing n/a Good 

Park furniture – water 
bubbler 

General Public Good 

Park furniture - signage General Public Good 

609



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Public Art   

Monuments/Memorials: 

William Bede Dalley 

Oddfellows Memorial 

Sandringham Memorial 
Gates 

Sandringham Memorial 
Garden 

FJ Walker Memorial 

Nagoya Gardens 

Macquarie Statue 

Captain Cook 

Emden Gun 

Fort Macquarie Canon 

Hyde Park Sundial 

Yininmadyemi Thou 
Didst Let Fall 

  

Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

 

Asset Condition Rating (4) Poor 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (2) Good 

Asset Condition Rating (1) Excellent 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

  

610



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licence 
Lease / licence Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

Retail Lease 

Hyde Park North Bus 
Shelter Café (Stand A) 

The Grumpy Baker Pty 
Ltd 

5 Years, 01/02/2021 

Expiry 31/01/2026 

Café/Bakery 

Retail Lease 

Museum Station Cafe 

Arthur Choi Awaiting execution Café/Restaurant 

Retail Lease 

St James Cafe 

La Brasserie Pty Ltd 5 Years, 03/09/2019 

Expiry 2/9/2024 

Café/Restaurant 

Access Licence Anzac Memorial Trust 1 year, 17/02/2020 
Expiry 12/03/2021 

Cascade lighting works 

    

611



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Ownership and management 
Hyde Park is a Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales.  The City of Sydney 
is the Crown Land manager responsible for the 
management of the reserve. Refer to Section 2, 
page 16 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Hyde Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

612



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Hyde Park is zoned RE1 – Public Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licence, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

613



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local, State and National heritage listings. 
  

614



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

Most of the population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high-
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

615



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

616



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   
 
 
 
 
  

617



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

The City of Sydney 
acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

618



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

619



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Values and roles of Hyde Park 
 

Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the park that the community 
wishes to protect, conserve, and enhance.  
These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

This PoM has considered the values frameworks 
of the previous PoM and master plans.  The table 
below outlines the relationship of these to the 
formatting of values and related management 
targets in this PoM. 

 

2021 PoM 
Values 

2006 PoM 
Values/Theme Headings 

2015 PoM Amendment 
Values 

1.0 Identity Character and 
Experiencing the Place 

 7. A Formal Landscape 
 

 

2.0 Access, Connections and 
Accessibility 

8. A Place for Recreation 
 - Access and Circulation 

Access and Circulation  
 

3.0 Community Use and 
Activation 

 

8. A Place for Recreation 
 - Park Usage 
     - Amenities 

Events Management 
 

4.0 Facilities and Built 
Infrastructure 

 

 Landscape 
 - Paving, Steps, Walls 
 - Furniture & Fixtures 
 - Stormwater 
 - Public Art & Memorials 
 - Lighting 

5.0 Environment and 
Sustainability 

        Vegetation management and 
urban ecology 

 Water management 
   Energy management 
        Waste management 

9. A Natural Environment & 
Garden 

 

Landscape 
 - Tree Loss & Retention 
 - Shrubs & Lawns 
 

6.0 Culture and Heritage 
 
 

6. A Culturally Significant 
Landscape 

Heritage 
 

7.0 Management and 
Maintenance 

10. A Custodial Responsibility Planning 
Management and Maintenance 

6. Basis for 
Management 

620



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

The identified values for Hyde Park are 
summarised below: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

- A green oasis adjacent CBD 

- An iconic cultural landscape 

- A place of attractive vistas and views to 
natural and built features 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected parkland to adjoining public 
domain and to district and regional users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- The site of the iconic Anzac Memorial 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Spaces and facilities support youth use of the 
park 

- Café/kiosk facilities that compliment and add 
to the park amenity  

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Park elements that support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Archibald Memorial Fountain 

- Cascade Fountain 

- Metro station entries 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our green 
spaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0 Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access to 
cultural expression and awareness through 
arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

621



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

 

7.0 Management and Maintenance 

- Cohesive management of a significant park 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

622



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Hyde Park Crown reserve 
is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 8 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Hyde Park in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Hyde Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case, the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Hyde Park there are no site characteristics 
that would justify Natural Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Hyde Park, Section 2 describes the heritage 
characteristics of the land, and the applicable 
listings and controls. These will be considered in 
all management decisions related to the land. 
The additional layer of Area of Cultural 
Significance categorisation is not deemed to be 
required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 7) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Hyde Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Hyde Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

623



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Hyde Park 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use  

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social, 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

 

 

624



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map
  

625



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Hyde Park through past planning 
(Hyde Park Refined Master Plan 2013) and Plan 
of Management 2006. This PoM references the 
Refined Master Plan 2013 as the current 
planning direction for the reserve and the Plan of 
Management 2006. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for planning and management of 
Hyde Park as reflected in the Refined Master 
Plan 2013 (refer Figure 9 on page 46) and this 
PoM. 

Also listed are the guiding directions from the 
Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016, and the City of Sydney’s 10 Year 
Capital Works Program – planned upgrades for 
Hyde Park, some of which have been recently 
implemented. 

Entries, Paths and Circulation 
Improving the legibility and street address of the 
park; refinement of paths and circulation that 
more coherently reflect the geometry and 
character of the Weekes Plan; enhancing 
visibility to improve personal safety of park 
users; more structured vehicle access to the 
park for maintenance, security and events and 
upgraded universal access across the park. 

Paving, Walls and Fences 
Establishing greater coherency, carrying 
capacity and legibility of the path hierarchy by 
rationalising path widths and materials; 
extending and refining perimeter walls as core 
elements of the park’s design language and as 
informal seating; rationalising locations of 
fencing to improve safety and contextual design. 

Planting Concept 
Replacing the Central Avenue trees to a staged 
program and in a manner that ensures a long life, 
optimal growth and re-establishment of the 
cathedral-like form of the current avenue 
canopy; creating a planting framework through 
the park that better reflects the Weekes Plan and 
which defines boundaries and spaces, provides 
both sun and shade, offers seasonal diversity 
and celebrates garden spaces within the park. 

Lighting Concept 
Redesigning lighting in the park to enhance the 
night time park experience and character; better 
celebrating landmark features such as the 
Central Avenue, Anzac Memorial and Archibald 
Fountain; encouraging more night time use of 
the park by upgraded lighting to paths; 
establishing a lighting framework and associated 
power access to accommodate special event 
lighting; enhancing lighting of garden spaces at 
Sandringham and Nagoya Gardens. 

Stormwater, Water Harvesting and Irrigation 
Rationalising the park’s stormwater network for 
improved functionality, optimising water 
harvesting for reuse and connectivity with the 
City of Sydney’s centralised water plan; 
upgrading of the park’s irrigation system. 

Services and Infrastructure 
Establishing a simpler, more effective and 
sustainable underground services network that 
is more closely aligned to the park’s upgraded 
layout and use; rationalising the network layout 
to minimise duplication, optimise access for 
maintenance and servicing, avoid damage to 
tree roots, prevent damage to reticulation by 
vehicle movement in the park. 

Archaeology and Historic Monuments 
Protecting and interpreting the Aboriginal 
heritage of the site on which the park stands by; 
ensuring that all monuments are relevant to the 
park’s history and located appropriately; 
establishing landscape settings, lighting and 
interpretation that best conveys their 
significance and story to all park visitors. 

Buildings and Facilities 
Improving the street address and access to the 
park at the station’s railway entries on the park’s 
boundaries (Museum and St James Stations); 
upgrading and adaptive re-use of existing 
buildings for increased public appeal and access 
(e.g. cafés) and to encourage evening use of the 
park; and upgrading visibility for safe use of the 
park’s toilets. 

626



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Events Infrastructure 
Creating integrated event infrastructure in the 
park that meets the needs of events held 
throughout the year for which the park is best 
suited, and which conserves its significance and 
day to day use; establishing event infrastructure 
that is flexible, of low visual profile and which 
minimises damage to the park or lengthy 
recovery periods after events. 

Wayfinding, Interpretation and Public Art 
Extending the wayfinding system recently 
implemented within the park to improve visitor 
orientation and provide better legibility; 
integrating interpretive material within that 
system and in the park’s buildings; minimising 
signage structures within the park with a discrete 
and coherent design suite; and locating a public 
art installation that celebrates and interprets the 
Eora people, culture and journey. 

Sustainable Design 
Employing sustainability and safety principles 
and strategies in the planning, design and 
management of the park, including stormwater 
harvesting and reuse; reducing waste by, 
employing materials with long life cycles; 
designing landform to minimise the need for 
retaining walls; sourcing materials that are 
recycled or available locally wherever practical; 
and minimising water demand by considering 
planting design allowing lower levels of 
maintenance. 

Safe Design 
Addressing safety in design by adopting Crime 
Prevention Through Design principles and 
following codes and standards relating to public 
safety. 

Management and Maintenance 
Integrating design, planning and management 
upgrades of the park such that park maintenance 
precincts best reflect day-to-day use; varying 
usage intensities; and focus of maintenance and 
special event management. 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 – guiding directions 
Recreation will be environmentally sustainable – 
sustainable water management projects at Hyde 
Park. 

City’s 10 Year Capital Works Program – 
planned upgrades for Hyde Park 
New program of works to improve and maintain 
Hyde Park. Note many of these have now been 
implemented or are works in progress: 

– Central avenue and Archibald Fountain tree 
replacement  

– Upgrade key entries into the park  

– Upgrade of secondary paths  

– Restoration of historic walls  

– Upgrade with energy efficient lighting and 
negotiate asset transfer with Ausgrid  

– Installation of permanent infrastructure for 
events  

– Upgrade and refurbishment of pool of 
reflection  

– Upgrade of planting and general landscape 
improvements  

– General and disabled accessibility 
improvements  

– Integration of the Water Reuse Project  

– Interpretation and signage  

– St James Cafe amenity upgrade  

Events Infrastructure:  

– Permanent infrastructure for events within 
the park including new water, power and 
sewer supply points in Hyde Park North and 
Hyde Park South  

– Rationalising of existing lighting for event 
mode including new mast type lighting to 
grass areas in Hyde Park North, replacing 
the excess of existing light poles  

Other Works:  

– Museum Station access upgrade  

– War Memorial Upgrade (by others)  

– Environmental performance initiatives to 
contribute to the City of Sydney’s 
environmental targets.  

627



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Figure 9. Master Plan 
Plan from Open Space, Sports and Recreation 
Needs Study 2016 (from Refined Master Plan) 

 

 

 

 

628



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 
  

7. Review of the plan 

629



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

630



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Hyde Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Hyde Park. The outcomes seek 
to conserve and enhance the values of Hyde 
Park and address management challenges and 
opportunities identified by the community and 
City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Hyde Park 

will be considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

631



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Hyde Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Hyde Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Hyde Park must 
consider the needs of and impacts on residents, 
workers and adjoining land uses in terms of 
accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Hyde Park which may attract high numbers of 
people including one-off community events and 
performances. 

632



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Hyde Park and settings will be 
determined by the community use of the site but 
will be managed to avoid undue impacts on park 
fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the park, and/or address a community 
need are to be assessed based on the proposed 
scale and intensity of use and are authorised 
subject to compatibility with the LEP, and the 
core objectives of the applicable land category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures. 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Hyde Park is authorised by section 3.22 
of the CLM Act, which requires the preparation 
of a community land PoM, adopted by Council, 
to authorise an occupancy or use agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 

633



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 
1979 and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Hyde Park. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

634



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 

temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney temporary’s event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

635



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising; and 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, wellbeing 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this Plan 
of Management, and shall be subject to the 
following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement. In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  
An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

636



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Hyde Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 
 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and 
cultural history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 
 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A green oasis 
adjacent to the 
CBD 
 

• To conserve the “green” and 
natural character of the park  

Management has regard for 
conserving green and natural 
character of the park 

Increased use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

1.4 An iconic cultural 
landscape 

• To achieve a sensitive and 
balanced approach to park 
design that mediates between 
historic integrity and 
contemporary use  

Continued adherence to the design 
principles outlined in the 1927 
Amended Assessors Report for the 
Norman Weekes Design and 
updated in the 1989 Plan of 
Management to ensure the 
formality of the park is retained 

Monitor planning decision 
making 

1.5 A place of 
attractive vistas 
and views to 
natural and built 
features 

• To conserve and enhance the 
visual relationships between 
the park and adjoining public 
domain 

Investigate improved physical and 
visual connections between the 
park and its surrounds, in 
particular with the iconic and 
historic buildings that mark the 
park’s boundaries and 
development 

Monitoring of important visual 
links and relationships 
Implementation of 
improvement measures 

  

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district 
and regional 
users 

• To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to 
the park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

• To provide effective wayfinding 
and signage for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 
 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 

• To provide functional, attractive 
and compliant internal 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

637



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

safe to move 
around 

circulation routes and path 
networks 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately 
lit environment 

• To provide adequate lighting 
to support desired night 
access, recreational and 
leisurely use of open space 

 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 
 

2.5 
 
 

 

A community 
destination 
accessible from 
the cycle network  

• To enable park to be effectively 
accessed from cycle network 
and encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of park 
access to adjoining and potential 
future cycle corridors 
Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities into 
park improvements  
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Increased local use of park by 
cyclists, measured by surveys 
and observation 
 

2.6 A place that is 
not compromised 
by vehicle 
access 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 
Investigate and implement 
appropriate access control 
infrastructure in accordance with 
Australia’s Strategy for Protecting 
Crowded Places from Terrorism 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 The site of the 
iconic Anzac 
Memorial 

• To conserve the cultural values 
of the Anzac Memorial   

Ongoing preservation of the 
Memorial and surrounds as a place 
of reflection 
Monitor and manage the 
appropriateness of activities 
occurring in proximity to the 
Memorial 

Reports of issues and conflicts 
Sustained relationship with 
Anzac Memorial Trust 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible and 
informal use spaces that are 
attractive and comfortable to 
be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community 
benefit 
 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.4 Spaces and 
facilities support 
youth use of the 
park 

• To sustainably respond to 
youth needs for gathering and 
activity spaces  

Investigate opportunities to support 
youth gathering and activity within 
the park 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.5 Café/kiosk 
facilities that 
compliment and 
add to the park 
amenity  

• To maintain and enhance the 
role of café/kiosk facilities 
which compliment recreation 
and leisurely use 

Maintain café/kiosks using current 
footprint  
Ensure operations and offerings 
integrate with and compliment 
ongoing park usage  

Monitor extent of café and 
kiosk use including outdoor 
seating 
Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases 
 

3.7 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  
 

638



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.5 A place for 
events 

• To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local activation 
and cultural and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 
Manage events in accordance with 
event’s guidelines for Hyde Park 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale and 
intensity 
Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

3.6 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members 
of community 

• That the park is managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Strategy, 2007) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.7 A safe place to 
visit day and 
night 

• To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design 
principles 
 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 
Sustained relationship with 
local police 
 

3.8 A place that 
provides access 
to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and provision 
of public toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor provision and availability of 
public toilet facilities, address 
issued as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to public 
toilets. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Park elements 

4.1 Park elements 
that support park 
use and create 
an attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while 
avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Water elements 

4.2 Archibald 
Memorial 
Fountain 

• To conserve and enhance 
significant water elements in 
the park 

Undertake operational upgrades to 
minimise water loss and 
conservation works to the Archibald 
Memorial Fountain 
Maintain and renew in accordance 
with asset management plan and 
heritage requirements 

Completed asset renewal 
works 
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

4.3 Cascade 
Fountain 

• To enable the community to 
enjoy the Water Cascade at 
the Anzac Memorial   

Coordinate with the Anzac 
Memorial Trust to finalise all 
rectification works for the Water 
Cascade  

Completion of rectification 
works 
Sustained relationship with 
Anzac Memorial Trust 

Railcorp infrastructure 

4.4 Metro station 
entries 

• To cater for Railcorp 
requirements without undue 
impact on park use or 
character 

Monitor operational and access 
issues related to Metro station 
entries  

Sustained relationship with 
Railcorp 

639



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

4.5 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements are 
effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green landscape 
for continued community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 
Measurement and monitoring 
of vegetation 
Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the 
original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of 
diverse habitats 

• To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground  

Monitoring of natural habitat 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community understanding 
and participation in the 
preservation of greenspace and 
ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation 
in open space works 
Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is 
cool, calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to selectively 
extend to create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health 
for their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  
Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree management 
plan 

Water management 

5.7 A place 
exhibiting water 
sensitive urban 
design 

• To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  

•  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 
 
 
 
 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

640



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Energy management 

5.8 A place 
exhibiting 
sustainable 
energy 
management 

• To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in energy 
consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.9 A place 
exhibiting 
sustainable 
waste 
management 
practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations people 
and living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is 
a conservatory of 
natural and 
cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of heritage 
significance 

• To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 A place that 
provides the 
community 
access to cultural 
expression and 
awareness 
through arts and 
culture 

• To provide a canvas for public 
art and artistic and creative 
expression that is sustainable 
in the context of existing 
character and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 
Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public art. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions  
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Inspections and audits 

6.4 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural and 
cultural values represented on 
the site and add to the 
experience and use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 A place that 
provides a 
canvas for arts 
and culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
park setting and adds to the 
range of experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Cohesive 
management of a 
significant park 

• To collaborate with the Anzac 
Memorial Trust to optimise the 
relationship and function of the 
Memorial to the park 

Liaise with the Anzac Memorial 
Trust to continue a collaborative 
and coordinated approach to park 
management 

Sustained relationship with the 
Anzac Memorial Trust 
 

7.2 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully 
managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 
 

641



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to 
service and meet 
the community's 
needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.4 Appropriate 
leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

 

 

 

  

642



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 10 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Hyde Park 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

643

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 11 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals fo r  short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Hyde Park in accordance with Clause 
116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

644



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

645

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
  

646



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 12 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Hyde Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

647

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 
 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 13 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Hyde Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

648



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

649

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 

650



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 
  

12. Appendices 

651



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

References 
 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
2016 

– Draft Archaeological Zoning Plan 2015 
– Hyde Park Plan of Management and Master 

plan Amendment - Anzac Memorial 
Centenary Project 2015 

– Refined Master Plan - Scoping Strategy 
2013 

– Draft Refined Master Plan 2008 

– Hyde Park - Plan of Management and Master 
Plan 2006 

– Hyde Park Plan of Management and Master 
Plan 1989 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 
  

652



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

History – Time Line Date 
Description 
Source: 2006 Plan of Management and Master 
Plan – Section 3 A Brief History 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

653



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

654



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, considering existing amenities 
nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

655



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

656



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

657



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

658



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

659



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

 

660



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

 
 
 
 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

661



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

 

 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

662



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

663



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 
– Strengthen north-south streets and 

encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

664



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

665



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

666



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

667



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan, particularly regarding 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

668



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

669



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP providing a 
voice for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people in Crown 
reserve management 

 

670



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

671



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

672



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
family, 30% for any genus, and 10% for 
any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

673



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of several tools for managing water use, 
and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 
  

674



Hyde Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

93 

 

 

 

 

 

675



Attachment J 

Johnstons Creek Parklands 

 

 

 

676



 

Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 677



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 35 

4. Strategic context 38 

5. Community guiding principles 41 

6. Basis for Management 43 

7. Review of the plan 53 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 54 

8. General requirements 55 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 62 

10. Park category - authorisations 69 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 73 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 76 

13. Appendices 80 

 

678



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 15 

Figure 3. Site Plan 18 

Figure 4. Timeline of reserve development 27 

Figure 5. Reserve development 28 

Figure 6. Location of Crown Reserves 29 

Figure 7. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 31 

Figure 8. Existing leases and licences 33 

Figure 9. Community land categorisation table 46 

Figure 10. Community land categorisation map 47 

Figure 11. Master Plan Concepts 50 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 69 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 70 

Figure 14. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 73 

Figure 15. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 74 

Figure 16. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 76 

Figure 17. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 77 

 

 

679



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

680



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

681



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

The Johnstons Creek Parklands (Crown 
Reserves 43132, 43133, 44050 and 100127 - 
refer Figure 2 for Lot and DP information) is 
classified as “community land” under the LG Act 
and managed accordingly  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

682



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

683



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

684



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

685



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces  

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles.  

686



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Johnstons Creek Parklands 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject sites. 

 

687



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 
 
  

688



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 
 

689



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 
 

690



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Johnstons Creek Parklands 
through past master planning (Johnstons Creek 
Parklands Master Plan 2013). This PoM 
references the adopted Master Plan 2013 as the 
current planning direction for the reserve. 

Location and description  
The Johnstons Creek Parklands is the name 
given to a group of parks located on the western 
foreshore of Rozelle Bay, bordering the suburbs 
of Glebe, Annandale and Forest Lodge. The 
parklands include Bicentennial Park, Federal 
Park, Jubilee Park, Pope John VI Reserve, Tram 

Stop Reserve and newer spaces – The Crescent 
Lands and Harold Park. 

The parklands are an important open space and 
recreational asset for the City of Sydney and 
resource for the community and are well used for 
a range of active and passive recreational 
pursuits. The parklands have a district profile as 
an open space asset because they offer parking, 
playgrounds, off- leash dog areas, walking and 
cycling paths and form part of a larger foreshore 
recreation trail connecting Blackwattle Bay to the 
Sydney Fish Markets.  

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

 

 

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Johnstons Creek Parklands  

Address Western foreshore of Rozelle Bay, east of The Crescent and 
bordering suburbs of Glebe, Forest Lodge and Annandale 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales), Multiple Ownership  

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date 

43132 Reserve, Public Recreation, 23/9/1908 

43133 Reserve, Public Recreation, 23/9/1908 

44050 Reserve, Public Recreation, 30/6/1909 

100127 Reserve, Public Recreation, 24/12/1987 

Zoning RE1 Public Recreation 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) Bicentennial Park – 41272.40m2 

Federal Park – 15573.57m2 

Jubilee Park – 50443.04m2 

Pope Paul VI Reserve – 4,354.13m2 

Tram Stop Reserve – 273m2 

Federal Park (unreserved) – 4500m2 

2. Land description 

691



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

item description 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 1 DP 624729, Lot 673 DP 729296 (Bicentennial Park) 

Lot 670 DP 729294, Lot 671 DP 729294, Lot 1 DP 852638 (Federal 
Park 1) 

Lot 668 DP 729291, Lot 387 DP 752049, Lot 7391 DP 1179946 
(Jubilee Park) 

Lot 672 DP 729295, Lot 270 DP 752049 (Pope Paul VI Reserve) 

Lot 669 DP 729291 (Tram Stop Reserve) 

City-owned community 
land 

Lot 1 DP 616528 (Bicentennial Park 2) 

Lot 1 DP 590808 (Federal Park 2) 

Lot 104 DP 1179442, Lot 2 DP1207279 (Harold Park) 

Lot 1-6 DP 120209 (Jubilee Park) 

Miscellaneous land  City-owned operational land (The Crescent Lands): 
Lot 5 DP 1108302, Lots 6-7 DP 5117, Lot 8 DP 1098065, Lots 14-19 
DP 5117, Lot 6 DP 1033147 and Lot 7 DP 1033147  

City of Sydney as Roads Authority: 
Road Reserve – Bicentennial Parks 1 and 2, Jubilee Park 

Marine Ministerial Holding Corporation: 
Lot 5 DP 873379 – Bicentennial Park 2 

RailCorp: 
Lot 30 DP 1055559 – Light Rail Corridor  

Sydney Water Corporation: 
Johnstons Creek Stormwater Channel  

Lot 1 DP 577642 and Lot 2 DP 616528 – Bicentennial Park 2  

Lot 1 DP 852638, Lot 52 DP 1225089, Lot 1 DP 179865, Lot 2 DP 
180911, Lot 2 DP 179865, Lot 1 DP 181675 and Lot 1 DP 80141 – 
Federal Park 2  

Lot 1 DP 176336 and Lot 2 DP 176336 – The Crescent Lands 

Crown land controlled by State of New South Wales 
(unreserved): 
Lot 7040 DP 93653 – Bicentennial Park 1 

Lots 7037-7039 DP 1059866 – Jubilee Park  

Lot 10 DP 1210203, Lot 3 DP 852638, Lots 713-721 DP 47216 – 
Federal Park 2 

Restrictions / 
easements 

RailCorp 

692



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

item description 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing   

Bicentennial Park 1 & 2 Park  

Federal Park Park/Sportsground  

Federal Park 2  Park  

Harold Park Park/General Community Use  

Jubilee Park General Community 
Use/Park/ Sportsground 

 

Pope Paul VI Reserve Park  

Tram Stop Reserve Park  

Condition of land  
 

refer to Figure 7 for Condition Summary 

 

Crown land defined by Section 3.1(2) of the Crown Land Management Act 2016 is controlled by 
the State of New South Wales until such time as it is dedicated or reserved, and a Crown land 
manager appointed. The City of Sydney has made a formal request to create a new reserve for the 
unreserved Crown land located in Federal Park 2 and appointment as the Crown land manager. 
This Plan of Management includes that land now under Section 39 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and will continue to include the land should the appointment be forthcoming.  

  

693



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Figure 3. Site Plan

694



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  
The land on which the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands lie is within the traditional lands of the 
Gadigal people.  The site is predominantly 
situated on low lying foreshore that was 
reclaimed in the 1890s at the head of Johnstons 
Creek.  

Federal Park was the first area dedicated as a 
park in 1899.  Over the following century other 
parcels were added to the parklands as industry 
on the waterfront was relocated. More recently 
Harold Park and The Crescent Lands have been 
added to help meet the recreational and open 
space needs of adjacent growing communities.  

The layout, plantings and built fabric of each 
precinct is reflective of the period the space was 
dedicated and developed within. 

The Johnstons Creek Parklands is of heritage 
significance as evidence of the continued 
importance and council led development of 
public open space and recreation facilities in the 
area over the last 120 years. 
Heritage Context 
The Parklands are not listed as a heritage item 
or HCA, however, there are multiple listed items 
within the boundaries in the vicinity.  

This includes:  

– I30 (Federal Park including landscaping  

– I32 (Railway viaduct)  

– SHR Item 01034 - Glebe and Wentworth 
Park Railway Viaducts  

– I630 (Johnstons Creek including canal and 
bridge) 

– I648 (Jubilee Park and Oval including cricket 
pavilion, oval with picket fence and 
landscaping)  

– I669 (Avenue of fig trees, adjacent to tram 
sheds)  

– I815 (Allan truss bridge, former Federal 
Road Bridge)  

– C29 - Glebe Point Road Conservation Area 
(Local)  

 

 

History 

Johnstons Creek is located within the land of the 
Gadigal people who occupied much of the 
southern shores of Sydney Harbour from South 
Head to around Petersham.  

The surrounding landscape contains rolling rises 
and low hills in Hawkesbury Sandstone, with 
Johnstons Creek flowing into Rozelle Bay. This 
estuary was once dominated by mangroves and 
mudflats, interspersed with dry sclerophyll and 
open woodlands and an open Sydney turpentine 
iron bark forest. This natural environment would 
have provided a rich and varied food source for 
the First Nations people who lived and traversed 
the area. The estuary would have provided foods 
such as shellfish and crustaceans, while the 
adjacent forests would have provided habitat for 
other food, water and materials used by the First 
Nations people.  

In 1789, the smallpox epidemic devastated the 
First Nations population and disrupted clan 
boundaries in Sydney. However, the Aboriginal 
people did not vanish or die. They adapted their 
lifeways and culture to the profoundly different 
circumstances balancing new ways with 
traditional practices in locations of refuge. They 
formed alliances and cross-cultural relationships 
with colonialists where they could and rebuilt 
their communities actively contributing to the life 
of the city.  

As settlement began to spread out from Sydney 
Cove, foreshore land around central Sydney 
Harbour was granted in large parcels to military, 
wealthy merchants and civilian administrators. 
George Johnston was granted 100 acres (40 ha) 
in the District of Petersham Hill in May 1791. His 
Annandale Farm lay westward of Johnstons 
Creek and extended from Rozelle Bay to 
Parramatta Road and present-day Leichhardt. 
On the other side of Johnstons Creek lay Toxteth 
Park, a 90-acre (36.42 ha) property acquired by 
George Allen by 1831 and extending from the 
waterfront at Rozelle Bay and Blackwattle Bay to 
St Johns Road, Glebe.  

During the second half of the 19th century 
Johnstons Creek was heavily polluted as local 
residents were using it as a sewer. The situation 
was mirrored across the city with many small, 
natural watercourses draining into the harbour 
and foreshores polluted by sewerage, domestic 
and industrial waste, posing a serious health 
hazard.  

695



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

In September 1890 the Secretary for Public 
Works, Mr Bruce Smith, MLA, directed the 
Department to commence of program of 
improvement to stormwater drainage throughout 
the city. Reclamation of 48 acres of land at the 
head of Johnstons Creek was initiated in 1892 
and as a first step, a stone dike (a substantial 
ballast retaining wall with an opening to the bay) 
was erected from Glebe Point to Johnston Street 
in 1893-1894. Between 1895 and 1900 the 
swampy ground at the head of Johnstons Creek 
was gradually filled up with sand dredged up in 
other parts of the harbour and the Johnstons 
Creek stormwater channel and trunk drainage 
system was constructed.  

To offset the cost of the reclamation works and 
construction of the stormwater channel, the 
government leased land on the Annandale and 
Glebe foreshores and The Crescent to various 
light industrial firms such as timber merchants, 
cabinet and joinery works, cabinet makers and 
suppliers, furniture factory and contractors. By 
the 1930s the waterfront was home to various 
businesses including timber merchants and 
joinery works. The residue of reclaimed land 
was dedicated as park in 1899, and in 1902 
was named Federal Park to commemorate the 
federation of the Australian colonies in 1901. A 
new road was formed across the park linking 
Glebe Point and Chapman roads, which was 
named Federal Road. The road was closed in 
the 1980s and its route is now marked by paving 
and the replica Allan Truss pedestrian bridge 
across the stormwater canal. In 1908 the park 
was split between the municipalities of 
Annandale to the west of the creek, 3 acres, and 
Glebe to the east, 12 acres. Glebe’s section was 
renamed Jubilee Park in 1909 to mark 50 years 
of the municipality.  

Jubilee Park was originally planted with Canary 
Island date palms and Moreton Bay fig trees. 
There was also a cricket oval and pavilion for the 
Glebe Cricket Club.  

Bicentennial Park was formed on the reclaimed 
land extending along the waterfront in front of 
Federal and Jubilee Parks to mark the 200th 
anniversary of European settlement in 1988. It 
was formed owned by the Maritime Services 
Board and leased to timber companies including 
Vanderfield and Reid, Steetley Industries, 
National Plywood, Sydney Sawmilling and 
Standen Brothers. As these industries declined 
during the 1970s the community campaigned for 

waterfront parks and foreshore walkways. Stage 
1 of Bicentennial Park, east of the canal, was 
opened in 1988 and stage 2, west of the canal, 
opened in 1995.  

Pope Paul VI Reserve was named to 
commemorate the first papal visit to Australia in 
December 1970. It marked the site of a former 
wharf at the end of Glebe Point Road which had 
been was replaced by others nearby. Pope Paul 
alighted from a launch at this site during his 
historic visit, which was described as an 
enormous success both as a demonstration of 
catholicity and in the warmth of the general 
public’s response. 

At the confluence of the Johnstons and Orphan 
School Creeks, the wetlands was reclaimed with 
material dredged from Rozelle bay and 
stormwater channels constructed to divert creek 
and stormwater. An athletics and pony racing 
track was established on this land in 1889.  Lillie 
Bridge was shut down in 1899. The racecourse 
was then known as Forest Lodge Racing Club 
and Epping Racecourse. In 1927 it was renamed 
Harold Park when greyhound racing and trotting 
began at the site. The last race at Harold Park 
took place on 17 December 2010. Mirvac turned 
the area into a new park in conjunction with the 
residential and commercial redevelopment of the 
former paceway and tram sheds.  

Statement of Significance 

Johnstons Creek is on the Country of the Gadigal 
people who occupied much of the southern shores of 
Sydney Harbour from South Head to around 
Petersham. Their practices and traditions combined 
with knowledge and values contribute to the 
understanding of land and water and enrich cultural 
life in the City of Sydney. 

The Johnstons Creek Parklands is of heritage 
significance as evidence of the continued importance 
and council led development of public open space 
and recreation facilities in the area over the 120 
years. This can be seen through the evolution of the 
site from marshy estuary, Federal Park and adjacent 
heavy industry to the gradual reclamation of the 
surrounding from both natural conditions and reuse of 
former industrial land to meet the needs of the Glebe 
Community for open parks. 

Jubilee Park has local history, aesthetic and social 
significance. It was set aside as a commemorative 
park for the municipal jubilee of Glebe Council in 1909 
and has social significance as a public place of 
recreation since its inception. 

696



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

The Jubilee park pavilion and oval is a prominent and 
recognisable feature within the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands, also having historical and associate 
significance with the glebe district cricket club and 
other local sporting clubs since its construction. 

The Johnstons Creek stormwater channel was 
constructed predominantly in 1898 as part of public 
health initiative in order to help alleviate poor water 
conditions of natural water courses across Sydney, 
such as Johnstons Creek. It is associated with Bruce 
Smith and the Public Works department and 
represents one of the earliest purpose-built 
stormwaters drains to be constructed in Sydney.  

The 28-span Jubilee Park Viaduct is significant as the 
longest section of brick arch viaduct on the NSW 
system. The elegant curved structure is integral parts 
of the parklands in which it stand and remain as an 
important landmark along the Glebe foreshore. The 
structures (including the matching viaduct in 
Wentworth park) are both major engineering works 
and are historically significant as important elements 
in the development of the Darling Harbour Goods 
Line in the early 20th century, and as one of the first 
major infrastructure projects to use bricks from the 
State Brickworks at Homebush, with more than 3 
million bricks used in their construction.  

 

Key Features 

The Johnstons Creek Parklands, a series of 
reserves and parks part owned and largely 
managed by the City of Sydney, contain several 
important cultural heritage elements. 

These elements, have been identified as 
significant in past heritage inventory 
investigations and as part of the heritage review 
for this PoM, and include: 

– Expansive open grass areas linking the 
various reserves / parks within the 
landscape,  

– Formal circulation routes and paths following 
or reinforcing the former road alignment prior 
to the reclamation of the industrial land to the 
northern section of the site along the 
waterfront. This does not include path or 
road surfacing unless specifically identified 
however reflects the alignment of the roads 
and paths etc.  

– Range of plantings including mature 
historical plantings such as Moreton Bay 
Figs, Weeping Willows, Willow Canary, 
Island Palms, Brush Box, Norfolk Island 
pines 

– The Jubilee Park Viaduct which transects the 
southern part of the site 

– Sandstone edging / retaining wall to Eglinton 
Road  

– Skate park in Federal Park and Children’s 
play equipment in Jubilee Park, Federal 
Park/Glebe Foreshore parks 

– Jubilee oval and pavilion (constructed in 
1910) associated ancillary buildings and 
seating area.  

– Potential archaeological resources, including 
former WWII air raid trenches 

It is noted that no listed Aboriginal sites or places 
have been recorded within the site on the 
Aboriginal Heritage Information Management 
System. 
 

 

  

697



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Environment and landscape 
The parklands provide an expansive area of 
green space within a densely populated area. 

The Johnstons Creek Parklands comprises of a 
series of well-established parks and a number of 
new open space that contributes to a unique 
foreshore parkland.  

The foreshore is a prized asset that defines and 
characterises the parklands. The Johnstons 
Creek Canal, which gives its name to the open 
space, runs through the centre of the parklands 
carrying stormwater to Sydney Harbour. Other 
features that define the site include the heritage-
listed viaduct, a light rail station in the centre of 
the park, the former Tramsheds, important 
habitat and trees and a range of well-used 
amenities and facilities. 
The Johnstons Creek Master Plan 2013 site 
analysis involved rigorous investigation and 
research into current conditions, and a review of 
many background and technical studies which 
has been summarised below.  

Pre-Existing Natural Characteristics: 
Topography - The parklands are located in a 
highly disturbed landscape. The area has been 
levelled for industrial and residential purposes 
whilst the sides and base of Johnstons Creek 
have been constructed with sandstone, bricks 
and cement to form the present canal. The canal 
construction has realigned the Johnstons Creek 
and formalised the creek bank with landscaped 
gardens and pathways. The landscape is one of 
undulating to rolling rises and low hills on 
Hawkesbury Sandstone with Johnston Creek 
flowing into Rozelle Bay. 

Geology - The underlying geology of study area 
is Hawkesbury Sandstone. Surrounding the 
study area is the Liverpool sub-group of the 
Wianamatta Group of shales consisting of a 
lower formation of Ashfield Shale, which grades 
upwards into a fine sandstone siltstone laminate 
(Minchinbury sandstone) culminating in the 
overlying Bringelly Shale (Sydney 1:100,000 
geological map). 

Vegetation - The vegetation surrounding the 
study area would once have consisted mainly of 
dry sclerophyll or open woodland on the higher 
sections where the soils are sandy and well 
drained, whilst the slopes would have supported 
an open Sydney Turpentine Ironbark forest. The 

alluvial soils would have supported a river-flat 
forest, including various Eucalypt species and 
Angophoras. The open woodland species would 
have included Eucalyptus siberi (Silvertop Ash), 
Eucalyptus piperita (Sydney Peppermint), 
Eucalyptus sclerophyllia (Scribbly Gum), plus 
Corymbia with an understorey of Banksia serrata 
(Old Man Banksia), Banksia spinulosa (Hairpin 
Banksia), Banksia integrifolia (Coast Banksia) 
and various Acacia spp., including Acacia 
longifolia. Flowering shrubs would have included 
Telopea speciosissima (Waratah) and Boronia 
serrulate (Native Rose), whilst groundcover 
species would have included Grevillia laurfolia 
and Persoonia chamaepitys. Clumps of 
Lomandra longifolia would also have grown on 
headland areas. In addition, various heathland 
communities would have existed along coastal 
areas (Baker 1986). 

The urbanisation of Sydney has ensured that the 
landscape and its vegetation has been 
dramatically altered and no longer resembles the 
pre-contact landscape. 

Existing Physical Characteristics: 
Water and Drainage 
Areas around Johnstons Creek canal, Jubilee 
Oval, Federal Park and parts of the foreshore are 
all regularly affected by flooding. Flood records 
show rainfall intensities as low as the two-year 
ARI (average recurrence interval) storm cause 
flooding at many points in the catchment. Large 
areas of Bicentennial and Jubilee Park flood 
during a five-year ARI storm. 
 
Significant flooding affects the amenity and 
usability of the park, especially for active sports. 
This is due to several issues, including elevation 
above sea level, compacted and poor soil 
quality, and aging infrastructure. This is 
particularly evident in Federal Park, where 
recovery times after rain are delayed by poor 
drainage. 
 
The Master Plan 2013 identified opportunities to 
reveal the story of water throughout the 
parklands, to create an educational and 
functional environmental asset. The topography 
and the location at the end point of the 
catchment area provide great opportunities for 
the parklands to serve an important ecological 
function in treating stormwater. The parklands 
also offer a great opportunity to extend the 

698



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

estuarine habitat that existed before the bay was 
filled. 
Since the master plan was adopted, water 
quality treatment works in the adjoining Harold 
Park development have been completed and 
has provided the opportunity to allow for 
stormwater treatment and additional aquatic 
habitat within the parklands. These opportunities 
to collect, treat and recycle water on site must be 
balanced with the open space recreation 
pressures. The Johnstons Creek Naturalisation 
Project by Sydney Water is currently in 
construction with works proposed for completion 
by 2023. The project consists of renewing and 
naturalising a 600m section of the existing 
concrete-lined stormwater channel on Johnstons 
Creek situated between Bicentennial Parks, 
Federal Parks and Jubilee Park. 

Vegetation and Habitat 
The parklands provide a habitat corridor 
between Forest Lodge and the Glebe foreshore. 
This habitat is predominantly found in small 
pockets of native vegetation and the established 
tree canopy. 

Habitat opportunities in the parklands also 
include a range of features and interfaces that 
are unusual in a highly urbanised environment. 

These include an estuary, a tidal watercourse, a 
rocky outcrop, land areas containing planted 
native vegetation (volunteer “bush regeneration” 
sites) and (potentially) sources of fresh water. 

Features within the parklands important to local 
biodiversity include: 

– Coastal Saltmarsh, which is an endangered 
ecological community 

– Estuarine mangroves 

– Several bush rehabilitation sites 

– Food resources (mainly fig trees) for the 
grey-headed flying-fox, a threatened species 

– Foraging area for waders at the mouth of the 
canal  

– Rock crevices in the outcrop and some 
constructed stone walls which provide 
shelter for small reptiles. 

An area of Jubilee Park referred to as The Hill on 
the south side of the tram stop is a residual area 
of filled land with very steep grades, presently 
inaccessible. It has over time been colonised 
primarily by self-sown Portuguese Elms (Celtis 
sinensis) and canary Island Date palms 

(Phoenix canariensis). On the southern a row of 
significant Moreton Bay Figs borders the Tram 
Sheds. The Hill could be considered to provide 
biodiversity in its current state.  
The Johnstons Creek Master Plan 2013 
identified opportunities to increase biodiversity 
with connected tree canopies, additional dense 
understorey planting, and optimisation of rock 
features for habitat provision, including the cliff 
area at Harold Park.  

Character and visual amenity 
The Johnstons Creek Parklands are an 
amalgamation of local parks, divided by the 
Johnstons Creek Canal and the impressive 
arched features of the viaduct. Each of the park 
precincts illustrates a discrete character, which 
reflects the gradual evolution of the parklands. 
There exists an identifiable formal character in 
Bicentennial Park, which consists of expansive 
managed lawn areas and fig tree plantings. 
By contrast, Federal Park expresses a more 
naturalistic and organic planting character 
defining areas of active and passive recreation. 
The canal introduces a hardscape infrastructure 
quality, synonymous with mid-late 20th Century 
stormwater treatment interventions.  
The 2013 Masterplan identified opportunities to 
embellish these qualities and knit together the 
newer areas with unifying design measures such 
as paths, lighting and planting. Newer areas 
provide opportunity to create more informal and 
natural character to balance the existing more 
formal foreshore park areas and to provide a 
broad range of experiences.  
The north-south orientation of the parklands, 
extending into the concentrated residential areas 
of Glebe and Annandale, provides good access 
and links between these urban areas and the 
amenity provided by the open spaces and the 
foreshore.  
A light rail link also services the parklands, 
widening the catchment to include Lilyfield, 
Pyrmont and the Sydney CBD. Johnstons Creek 
Parklands is also readily accessible from the City 
West Link and is a visible feature from the Anzac 
Bridge. 

699



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Transport, Access and Circulation 
Getting to the parks: The parklands are well-
serviced by public transport. The Jubilee Park 
light rail stop is located in the south-eastern 
corner of the parklands and the Rozelle Bay light 
rail stop is located about 300 metres from the 
entry on The Crescent near Johnston Street. 
Buses run along the east and west boundaries 
with various stops along the periphery. 
There are two entries on The Crescent, but the 
parklands cannot be seen from them. By 
contrast, the connection on Federal and 
Northcote Roads boasts an identifiable parkland 
quality. 
Along the Crescent, vehicle and pedestrian 
access to the site is limited by traffic conditions. 
Pedestrian access from the adjoining public 
footpath will be improved with the removal of 
buildings, fences, and land uses at The Crescent 
which previously created a significant pedestrian 
barrier to entering the parklands. 
The Johnston Street entrance straddles two 
remnant foreshore industries. On the right, The 
Crescent Timber and Hardware are one of the 
last remaining elements of the timber industry 
that once used much of the foreshore and the 
marine focused businesses on the left-hand 
side.  
Since the development of the 2013 Master Plan 
many of the buildings and businesses previously 
blocking views into the park from The Crescent 
have been removed. Excluded from the site is 
number 1 the Crescent, which has a 99-year 
lease and is occupied by Webbers Carpets, and 
a Pet O Barn (previously was Lawson’s Auction 
House). 
Chapman Road forms the edge to the Crescent 
Land parcels and has car parking both sides of 
the road. 
Parking: Parking areas are available at either 
end of Chapman Road adjacent The Crescent 
Lands or Federal/Bicentennial Parks with a two-
hour time limit between the hours of 8am-6pm. 
On-street parking is also available on the east 
side of the park on the adjacent residential 
streets which now are also restricted to two 
hours between 8am-6pm. The Tramsheds offer 
a surface car park and undercover parking area 
with the first two hours free. 

The Master Plan 2013 background studies 
revealed that parking is an issue when structured 
sporting programs are in operation. Past 
consultation feedback indicated that unrestricted 
parking areas are used mainly by commuters 
accessing the light rail station. At the time this 
PoM was being developed consideration was 
underway for the removal of parking on 
Chapman Road (south of viaduct) to 
accommodate the construction of the new sports 
field. 

 

Reserve development 
The Johnstons Creek Parklands has evolved 
over an extended period with designs and 
strategies developed over this time to address 
the different components and elements.  A 
summary of key milestones follows. 

– After being reserved for public recreation in 
1899 following land reclamation Federal 
Park was named in 1902 and gazetted in 
1908. 

– First trees were planted in the area of Jubilee 
Park in 1908 and after municipalities were 
split the portion of park east of the channel 
were renamed Jubilee Park in 1909. 

– Bicentennial Park was developed in two 
stages on former industrial waterfront lands. 
Stage 1 was completed in 1988 and Stage 2 
developed in 1995. 

– The Glebe Foreshore redevelopment project 
2003-2005 included works to a create a 
continuous and universally accessible 
foreshore promenade around the Glebe 
peninsula. The project included works to 
Pope Paul VI Reserve to connect to 
Bicentennial Park, upgrades to Bicentennial 
Park and Jubilee Park. 

– The Johnstons Canal Shared Path project in 
2011 included upgrades to paths on both 
side of the canal within Federal Park and 
Jubilee Park. 

– In 2011 the Sydney Development Control 
Plan (Harold Park) was adopted providing 
detail on the nature and size of open spaces 
for Harold Park which includes open spaces 
areas related to the Tramsheds. Harold Park 
was officially opened in 2018. 

– Jubilee Park Playground was refurbished 
and upgraded in 2013/14 

700



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

– The master plan for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands was developed and adopted in 
2013 

– The Crescent Lands area added (2016) 

– The Federal Park/Bicentennial Park 
playspace is currently being replaced and 
extended, including the addition of a skate 
park and synthetic field in The Crescent 
Lands 

– Johnstons Creek Naturalisation project by 
Sydney Water, construction works are 
underway and anticipated for completion 
2023 

– Future projects include the replacement of 
the pedestrian footbridge aligning with 
Chapman Road. 

Across the evolution of the parklands, several 
master plans and designs have been prepared 
for varied areas and precincts. In 1988, the 
former industrial foreshore was given back to the 
community with a park design by prominent 
Australian Landscape Architect Bruce 
Mackenzie.  

In 1994, a Community Master Plan was prepared 
for Bicentennial Park Stage 2 and Rozelle Bay 
Parklands on the western side of the canal, and 
a linking bridge, connecting pathways and 
playground was built. 

In 2003-2005, the Glebe Foreshore Project for 
the area along the Rozelle and Blackwattle Bay 
foreshore linking to the Boatshed in Glebe 
created a popular foreshore promenade. 
Improvements were also made to Bicentennial 
Park and Federal Park.  

The City of Sydney has also recently completed 
improvements on the linear parklands along 
Johnstons Creek and Orphan School Creek to 
the south. 

Now, with redevelopment of The Crescent on the 
western edge of the site and the addition of a 
southern corridor next to new residential 
development on the Harold Park Paceway land 
and Rozelle Tram Depot, a new era for the 
consolidated parklands begins. 

Future Capital Works upgrades by the City of 
Sydney: 
Federal Park/The Crescent Lands at 
Johnstons Creek  

This project brings together several existing well-
loved parks with new land areas including a new 
area of open space with frontage to The 
Crescent. 

It will create a consolidated and more usable 
parkland with expanded and improved facilities 
for community recreation 

The project includes works to six key features 
over an area of approximately 1.5 hectares.  Key 
works are outlined following: 

1.  A new recreational open space below and to 
the west of the Glebe Railway Viaduct 

2.  A new skate park over existing concrete 
pavement with a mini skate ramp adjacent 

3.  New playground, fitness station and picnic 
areas  

4.  Heritage conservation works to the Glebe 
Railway Viaduct 

5.  Drainage works and an overland swale 

6.  Minor works to the internal road, Chapman 
Road south and north 

The project will integrate with Replacement of 
Concrete Pedestrian Bridge across Sydney 
Water land – Creek Channel (complete 2021). 

Jubilee Park  
Public toilets and amenities future upgrade or 
extension of existing, review underway. 

Works by other Authorities: 
Works by other authorities of relevance to 
planning and management of the parklands are 
also listed following: 

Johnstons Creek Naturalisation project by 
Sydney Water. (Bicentennial Park & Federal 
Parks) 

The Sydney Water proposal for the renewal and 
naturalisation of a 600 m section of an existing 
concrete-lined stormwater channel at Johnstons 
Creek, located in Annandale and Glebe.  

Previous condition assessments identified 
structural defects with the stormwater channel. 
Sydney Water determined that these defects are 
in need of renewal to prevent a potential failure 
of the asset. The scope of works includes: 

– channel widening with formed voids and a 
porous rock weir for saltmarsh establishment 

701



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

– replacement of the existing concrete channel 
walls and batter with stabilised rock bank 
layback and indigenous planting 

– replacement of damaged concrete channel 
base with a winding centreline along the 
base of the channel using sandstone blocks 
at varying heights 

– minor earthworks throughout the creek in the 
form of bank modification to reduce bank 
slope to a stable limit 

– construction of lookout and seating areas 
with signage on the western side of the 
channel 

– construction of paved and unpaved 
pedestrian paths including a path from the 
southern end of the proposal at The 
Crescent, extending north along the western 
bank of the creek 

– provision of an elevated boardwalk over an 
area of proposed saltmarsh on the western 
side of the creek 

– demolition and removal of existing fencing, 
and provision of safety fencing where 
required on eastern side of the channel 

 
 
 

Past Studies and master plans: 
Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 2016 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands Master Plan 
2013 

– Johnstons Creek - Aboriginal Archaeological 
& Cultural Heritage Report – 2011 for Shared 
Pathway Project 

– Federal Park 1 -The Crescent 
Archaeological Assessment – 2016 

– Glebe Railway Viaduct Statement of 
Heritage Impact part 1 and part 2 – 2016 

– Johnstons Creek - Glebe Foreshore - 
Heritage Impact Statement – 2004 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

702



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Figure 4. Timeline of reserve development 
 

 

 

 

703



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Figure 5. Reserve development 
 

 

704



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Figure 6. Location of Crown Reserves 

 
 

 
 

705



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands Crown reserves is Public 
Recreation. 

Community usage 
The parklands are a much-valued area for active 
and passive recreation, including organised 
sports, dog walking, jogging, cycling, kayaking, 
picnicking, play and casual ball sports. 

The expansive parklands offer both recreation 
and community facilities and accommodate a 
broad range of user groups. Currently, the field 
areas in Federal and Bicentennial Parks, and 
Jubilee Oval accommodate sporting programs, 
such as AFL, cricket, hockey, soccer and 
informal ball games.  

These active precincts are complemented by 
unstructured areas for informal kick-about and 
passive recreation along the foreshore and The 
Crescent. 

The internal footpath network provides circuits 
for strolling or running. The shady areas along 
the foreshore are popular for picnickers and 
quiet contemplation. 

These land based recreation options are 
supplemented by water based recreation 
opportunities. Small craft launch, water taxi 
access and a temporary access pontoon are 
each currently available. 

Bicentennial Park and Federal Park are 
particularly busy with boot campers and 
personal fitness groups. As this is one of the 
main off-leash areas, there are also lots of dogs. 
The beach is a popular place to congregate, and 
is used for canoe and kayak launching, as well 
as dog walking. The jetty is used for boat 
pickups. 

Federal Park is used for active sport and training, 
although poor drainage can restrict this use after 
rain. 

There are a range of community buildings on site 
including the Jubilee Oval pavilion, numerous 
amenity buildings, and the operational spaces 
under the viaduct.  

These buildings support recreational activity and 
provide a community service element in the 
parklands. 

In addition, the Hilda Booler Childcare Centre is 
located in Jubilee Park accessed off Eglington 
Street. 

Several of the viaduct spaces are enclosed and 
accommodate, amongst other things, music 
practice, maintenance machinery storage and a 
sporting team kiosk. 

The Federal Park play space is currently 
undergoing refurbishment and expansion works. 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– Walking or running for exercise 

– Walking the dog 

– Meet with friends 

– Enjoying nature 
The majority of the survey respondents (75%) 
were more likely to live nearby the parklands. 
Other relationships respondents have with the 
park include workers nearby, used to live/work in 
the area, or they are a member of the Glebe 
Greyhounds, JAFC and they care about the 
park. The majority of respondents (75%) visit the 
park on a daily basis with the peak times for 
visiting in the early morning (before 9am) and 
afternoon/evening (6pm-9pm). 

Event use of the park  
The parklands are a popular place for a variety 
of events and are used on regular basis for a mix 
of commercial and community events – 
community and club sports; sports carnivals; 
bookable open space for parties and 
ceremonies; community bush care group and 
Mens Shed community group.  

Bicentennial Park has hosted the So Frenchy, 
So Chick on an annual basis.  

706



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Attendance at events has ranged up to 5000 
people. The City of Sydney registered a total of 
12 events between 2015-19. 

Figure 7. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Bicentennial Park 1 & 2 

Shelter/rotunda General public Average (3) 

Drinking fountains General public Average to Good 

Playground General public Under refurbishment and expansion 
2020 

Water access Steps General public Good 

Seawall n/a Good 

Footpaths General public Good 

Park Furniture General public Good 

Public Art – Earth V Sky Interactive Electronics, lights, cam, wind turbine 
(installed 2012) 

Public Art – Time Rings Interactive Stone rings with engraved text. 
Lifespan 100 years (installed 1998) 

Good (2) 

Federal Park   

Sportsfield Organised sports users 

General public 

Average to Good 

Fitness Station 
equipment 

General public Excellent (1) 

Public Toilet  General public Good 

Footpaths General public Good 

Public BBQ General public Good 

Park furniture - Drinking 
fountain 

General public Good 

Perimeter Fencing to 
wetland 

n/a Good 

707



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Saltmarsh Habitat Good 

Federal Park 2   

Future Perimeter 
Fencing to wetland 

n/a Under consideration – future 
construction 

Future Wetlands Habitat Under consideration – future 
construction 

Skate – Mini Ramp General public Average condition  

Jubilee Park   

Sports oval Organised sports users 

General public 

Average to Good 

Grandstand Organised sports users Good (2) 

Clubroom Closed to public Very poor (5) 

Public Toilets General public Average (3) 

Children’s playground General public Good (2) 

Hilda Booler Childcare 
Centre 

Under lease as childcare  Good (2) 

Viaduct Rooms Managed under lease Average (3) 

Footpaths General public Average to Good 

Park Furniture - Drinking 
fountains 

General public Average to Good 

Pope Paul VI Reserve   

Seawall n/a Average to Good 

Footpaths General public Average to Good 

Public Art – Earth V Sky  Interactive Poor (4) 

Tram Stop Reserve  (adjoins reserve which is entry point 
for light rail) 

Park furniture – bench 
seats 

General public Fair to Good 

Harold Park   

708



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Harold Park Community 
Space (strata) 

General public Excellent (1) 

Children’s playground General public Excellent (1) 

Footpaths General public Excellent (1) 

Park Furniture General public Excellent (1) 

Crescent Lands    

Skatepark  General public Under construction 

Synthetic Field  Organised sports users 

General public 

Under construction 

Park Bridges  General public Average to Good 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 8. Existing leases and licences 
Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

Head-Lease 
Jubilee Park - Viaduct 
Rooms 

City of Sydney 30 years, 1/10/2007 
Expiry 30/09/2037 

Community Use 

Licence 
Viaduct Rooms - 
Archways 1 & 2 

The Pyrmont Ultimo 
Glebe Mens Shed 

5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Woodwork and metalwork 
workshop and other 
activities as normally 
conducted by the Mens 
Shed 

Licence 
Viaduct Rooms - 
Archway 4 

Big Fag Press 5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Artist-Run Printing 
Collective 

Licence 
Viaduct Rooms - 
Archway 5 

Glebe District Hockey 
Club 

5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Sporting Club 

Licence 
Viaduct Rooms - 
Archway 6 

Glebe Junior AFL Club 5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Sporting Club 

709



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Lease / license Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

Licence 
Viaduct Rooms - 
Archway 7 

Geoff Holmes 5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Community Use 

710



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Ownership and management 
The Johnstons Creek Parklands Crown reserves 
are owned by the State of New South Wales.  
The City of Sydney is the Crown land manager 
responsible for the management of the reserves.  
Refer to Section 2, pages 15-17 for further 
property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to the Johnstons Creek Parklands 
is Clause 65 that specifies that development for 
any purpose may be carried out without consent 
if the development is for the purposes of 
implementing an adopted PoM. The clause also 
lists a range of ancillary developments permitted 
without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

711



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Applicable planning controls for 
the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Johnstons Creek Parklands is zoned RE1 – 
Public Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

712



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

 
  

713



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

714



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− Glebe point road will have an increase in lone 
person households and a decrease in group 
households 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

715



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

716



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

The City of Sydney 
acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

717



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

718



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

Values and roles of Johnstons 
Creek Parklands 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

- A place which responds to its natural 
environment 

- A place of diverse character and identity 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- Well-connected parklands to adjoining 
neighbourhoods 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- A place for daily fitness 

- Spaces and facilities that cater for youth 

- A place for organised sports 

- A place for dog walking and exercise 

- A valued childcare facility 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 
 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A multi-purpose field 

- Youth facilities to serve local area and district 

- Heritage Viaducts are a distinct feature of 
northern precinct 

- Play facilities for the local community 

- Facilities that encourage fitness 

- Park elements support park use and create an 
attractive character 

- Johnstons Creek Canal 

- Underground infrastructure 
 
5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our green 
spaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support 
biodiversity 

- A unique saltmarsh area 

- A place of rehabilitation of past impacts 

6. Basis for 
Management 

719



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- Presence of past natural creek drainage 
systems 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access to 
cultural expression and awareness through 
arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present  

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place that recognises and addresses its 
future urban context 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

  

720



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands Crown reserves is Public 
Recreation. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 10 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserves. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands in accordance with Crown Land 
requirements. The Council Crown Land 
Manager Fact Sheet identifies that councils 
should apply the initial categorisation based on 
existing/current use of the reserve only. The 
initial categorisation cannot be based on 
proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands have been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For the Johnstons Creek Parklands there are no 
site characteristics that would justify Natural 
Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For the Johnstons Creek Parklands, Section 2 
describes the heritage characteristics of the 
land, and the applicable listings and controls. 
These will be considered in all management 
decisions related to the land. The additional layer 
of Area of Cultural Significance categorisation is 
not deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 9) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
the Johnstons Creek Parklands. Under the 
guidelines for each category, their interpretation 
and application to the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

721



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Figure 9. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Johnstons Creek 
Parklands 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To playing field and other facilities catering for 
organised sports use 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

722



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Figure 10. Community land categorisation map
 

 

723



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Johnstons Creek Parklands 
through past master planning (Johnstons Creek 
Parklands Master Plan 2013) and the Open 
Space, Sports and Recreation Needs Study 
2016. This PoM references the Master Plan 
2013 as the current planning direction for the 
reserves. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of Johnstons Creek Parklands as reflected in the 
Master Plan and this PoM. 

Master Plan – The Vision  
(reference Master Plan 2013, page 22) 
This evolution of the parklands incorporates new 
public spaces to create a place with life and 
purpose for the community, encompassing an 
expanded range of recreation and cultural 
experiences and based on sound ecological 
principles. 

Beyond its local watercourse, open space and 
Rozelle Bay foreshore, Johnstons Creek 
Parklands belong to Sydney’s city-wide network 
of harbour bays, rivers and tributary creeks. The 
parklands form part of the larger urban design 
vision and planning framework established by 
the Government for Sharing Sydney Harbour, 
the City of Sydney’s defining asset recognised in 
the Regional Action Plan as “a natural asset 
belonging to future generations” and intended to 
be shared by the community in balance with all 
human activities. 

One core value of the harbour to be shared is the 
creation of a healthy environment over the water 
and land resources of the whole harbour 
catchment. It is evident that the quality of water 
draining through urban creeks and into the 
harbour will determine the quality and popularity 
of the surrounding parkland.  

Johnstons Creek Parklands, an important 
harbour tributary and large public open space 
system for the inner west, is well placed to be a 
leading example in environmental design and 
management.  

Catchment identification, water sensitive urban 
design (WSUD) treatments, constructed 
wetlands, soil remediation and planting 
programs, interpretation strategies, education 
and arts initiatives will all contribute to 

maintaining a natural harbour and the 
sustainability of the local parklands. 

Master Plan principles:  
Environment  
Principles: 

– Provide habitat for local fauna 

– Improve the ecological integrity of the 
parklands 

– Maximise opportunity to link habitat and 
introduce new habitat areas within the park. 

Water 
The parklands are largely built over estuarine 
intertidal wetlands. The central channelised 
stormwater canal, which drains the creek’s 500 
hectare catchment, rises and falls with daily tidal 
movements. Water is at the heart of the park 
character, and the Master Plan elevates it to a 
more visible component and manages it as a 
valuable resource in a sustainable way. 

Principles: 

– Improve water quality in the park, the canal, 
and the water entering the Harbour 

– Harvest water to use in the park 

– Improve active recreation areas’ ability to 
withstand heavy rain and flooding 

– Use water to unite the individual parks as 
one, foreshore parkland. 

Heritage and culture 
Principles: 

– Make the layered history of the site clear to 
users and visitors. 

The site’s pre-history, its natural systems 
and the interaction of the Cadigal people with 
this environment; The story of timber and the 
development of timber industries on the site; 
The story of the trams - state-of-the art early 
20th century industrial achievement; The 
story of the Harold Park Paceway as a 
reflection of its social contribution during its 
rise and decline; The story of water as a 
linking element through the parklands; The 
story of community activism. 

– Tell the varied stories of use and 
development through interpretation and 
public art. 

724



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

– Retain and enhance all heritage items and 
heritage landscapes. 

Recreation and community facilities 
The parklands are a much-valued area for active 
and passive recreation, including sport, dog 
walking, jogging, cycling, kayaking, picnicking, 
play and casual ball sports. The Master Plan 
encourages continuation of these in harmony 
with new facilities for niche activities and cultural 
needs. 

Principles: 

– Ensure that all spaces are flexible to suit a 
broad range of user groups 

– Identify areas for active and passive 
recreation 

– Integrate community and cultural activity 

– Balance recreation with ecological integrity 

– Ensure active recreation areas are designed 
to operate at efficient levels of use 

– Consider retaining some buildings on The 
Crescent for re-use as a flexible community 
space 

– Provide accessible toilet blocks near play 
equipment and other facilities where 
possible, and generally within 400 metres of 
any place in the park. 

Transport, Access and circulation 
Principles: 

– Encourage visits by public transport 

– Provide universal access to and between key 
destination points and facilities 

– Provide adequate opportunity for visitor 
parking 

– Establish a hierarchy of entries to the 
parklands 

– Establish a hierarchy of routes into the 
parklands. 

Character and visual Amenity 
Principles: 

– Recognise the value in the varied landscape 
characters and respect the landscape types 

– Use landscape to create a sense of arrival at 
key entrances to the Park 

– Provide the right balance of wild spaces for 
exploration or habitat protection and more 

formal spaces for recreation, play, eating and 
gathering 

– Integrate a common design language that 
knits the park together 

– Recognise the park’s high level of visibility 
from the water and beyond 

– Ensure that the Harold Park open space is 
integrated with the parklands and has a clear 
public character 

– Tell the varied stories of use and 
development through interpretation and 
public art. 

Figure 11 on the following pages is the approved 
master plan for Johnstons Creek Parklands, 
prepared in 2013. 

 

 

725



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Figure 11. Master Plan Concepts 
 

Bicentennial Parklands Master Plan 2013 

726



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

 

 

 

The Crescent New Open Space – Refined Concept plan 

727



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

 

 

 

Johnstons Creek tidal open Channel Renewal Project (Sydney Water) - Site Plan 

728



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 
  

7. Review of the plan 

729



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

730



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within the Johnstons Creek Parklands and is 
applicable to all community land categories, as 
outlined in Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of the Johnstons Creek Parklands. 
The outcomes seek to conserve and enhance 
the values of the Johnstons Creek Parklands and 
address management challenges and 
opportunities identified by the community and 
City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land. Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 

structures and spaces at the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands will be considered on merit and 
benefits to the community and balanced 
against physical constraints, the amenity of 
adjoining residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

731



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands may also be prohibited by the 
applicable land use zoning. The City of Sydney 
may prohibit certain activities from time to time. 
Prohibited uses will be communicated via City 
bookings, lease, and licence agreements, or 
otherwise communicated where prohibited 
activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at the Johnstons 
Creek Parklands must consider the needs of and 
impacts on residents, workers and adjoining land 
uses in terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, 
traffic and parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

732



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Organised sports use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at the 
Johnstons Creek Parklands which may attract 
high numbers of people including organised 
sport activities and training, school sport 
competitions, commercial activities and one-off 
community events and performances. 

The allocation of the Johnstons Creek Parklands 
for organised sport and school sport will comply 
with the City of Sydney’s seasonal allocations 
process. Applications for permissible activities 
will be assessed on a case-by- case basis by 
Outdoor Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at the 
Johnstons Creek Parklands which may attract 
high numbers of people including one-off 
community events and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across the Johnstons Creek Parklands 
and settings (such as playgrounds, fitness 
stations and park seating) will be determined by 
the community use of the site but will be 
managed to avoid undue impacts on park fabric 
and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the parks. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the parks need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the parks is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the parks. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 

733



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as the Johnstons Creek Parklands is 
authorised by section 3.22 of the CLM Act, which 
requires the preparation of a community land 
PoM, adopted by Council, to authorise an 
occupancy or use agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 

734



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
the Johnstons Creek Parklands. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City is unable to approve short-term licence 
for these activities, applicants should consider 
an application under the provisions of the Access 
to Neighbouring Lands Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specification and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

735



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 

interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

736



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

 

737



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands, including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review 
by the City of Sydney. 
 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a 
meaning and description 
that reflects connection 
to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and description 
that captures the place’s connection 
to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which signposts 
and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

• To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A place which responds 
to its natural 
environment 

• To conserve and 
enhance the natural 
environmental qualities 
of the parklands 

Management to focus on retaining 
and enhancing the natural context 
of the parklands including the 
protection of foreshore views and 
vistas 

Targeted user surveys 
 

1.4 A place of diverse 
character and identify 

• To maintain a balance 
between passive and 
active recreational areas 

Management to maintain balance 
between sports precincts and 
passive recreation 

Increased use of parklands 
measured by survey and 
observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 Well-connected 
parklands to adjoining 
neighbourhoods, 

• To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and 
safe routes to the park 
from adjoining areas  

• To maintain pedestrian 
safety in accessing the 
parklands 

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
public transport, workplace 
precincts and adjoining residential 
areas  
Investigate improved road crossing 
safety at key entries into parklands 

Targeted user surveys 
Sustained relationship with RMS 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage 
for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.3 A place that is clear, 
easy and safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation 
routes and path 
networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 
Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate 
lighting to support 
desired night access, 
recreational and 
leisurely use of open 
space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

738



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 
 
 

 

A community 
destination accessible 
from the cycle network  

• To enable park to be 
effectively accessed 
from cycle network and 
encourage cycle use 

Monitor and manage use of 
cycleways and shared pedestrian 
pathways 
Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities into 
park improvements  

Increased local use of park by 
cyclists, measured by surveys 
and observation 
 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by vehicle 
access 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance 
and emergency access 
mitigating adverse 
impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist and 
vehicle conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures carried 
out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park 
provides a range of 
flexible and informal 
use spaces that are 
attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 
 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 A place for daily fitness  • To support and manage 
a sustainable level of 
fitness activity in the 
park 

Support the role of the park for 
fitness activities in accordance with 
Council’s policy  
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to fitness 
activities. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

3.3 Spaces and facilities 
that cater for youth 

• To sustainably respond 
to youth needs for 
gathering and activity 
spaces  

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.4 A place for organised 
sports 

• To ensure that 
management of access 
to designated sports use 
areas is clear and 
unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of adequate 
venue management services to 
facilitate bookings of sports fields 
and ovals 
 

Venue bookings 
 

3.5 A place for dog walking 
and exercise 

• To provide for effective 
dog exercise in 
accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 
Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.6 A valued childcare 
facility 
 

• To maintain and 
enhance the childcare 
role for the locality 
compatible with other 
park values 

Regularly monitor for improvements 
and refinements to services and 
management 

Centre user satisfaction surveys 
 

3.7 A place that recognises 
and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First 
Nations heritage and 
living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  
 

3.8 A place for events • To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 
Manage events in accordance with 
event’s guidelines for the parklands 
 
 

Increased use of park for events 
appropriate to scale and 
intensity 
Ongoing review and compliance 
of guidelines 

739



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.9 A place that is open and 
usable by all members 
of community 

• That the park is 
managed as part of a 
coordinated 
compassionate 
approach across the city 
to assisting homeless 
persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness in 
public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

3.10 A safe place to visit day 
and night 

• To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and 
pass through, 
appropriate to intended 
(and varied) usage 
times of facilities and 
access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with 
Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 
Sustained relationship with local 
police 
 

3.11 A place that provide 
access to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and 
provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park 
users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 
Investigate opportunities to improve 
amenities, where feasible 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to public 
toilets. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

The Crescent Open Space 

4.1 A multi-purpose field • To provide a multi-
purpose field surface 
that meets community 
needs and compliments 
park character 

Plan and implement a synthetic 
sports field including associated 
sports infrastructure 
Maintain and renew in accordance 
with Park Service Levels and asset 
management plan 

Operational synthetic field and 
infrastructure 
Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Federal Park skatepark 

4.2 Youth facilities to serve 
local area and district 

• Youth facilities that 
cater for skateboarders 
of all ages and abilities 

•  

Finalise construction of skatepark 
Maintain and renew in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Operational skatepark 
Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Viaducts 

4.3 Heritage Viaducts are a 
distinct feature of 
northern precinct 

• To conserve and 
maintain heritage 
structure and visual 
curtilage and 
relationships 

Coordinate with Railcorp the 
undertaking of maintenance and 
renewal works in line with heritage 
requirements 
Investigate opportunities to create 
greater activation and interface with 
the Viaducts 

Sustained relationship with 
RailCorp 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Play spaces 

4.4 Play facilities for the 
local community 

• To provide play 
environments that 
encourage activity and 
support family use of 
park 

Maintain and renew play spaces 
and related landscape settings in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 
Investigate opportunities to further 
integrate new play spaces, where 
appropriate 
 
 
 

Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 
 

740



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Fitness facilities 

4.5 Facilities that encourage 
fitness 

• To support and manage 
a sustainable level of 
fitness activity in the 
park 

Maintain and renew fixed fitness 
facilities in accordance with asset 
management plan 
Investigate opportunities to further 
integrate fitness equipment, where 
appropriate 

Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Park elements 

4.6 Park elements support 
park use and create an 
attractive character 

• To support recreational 
and leisure use of park 
while avoiding 
proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 
 
 

Sydney Water Infrastructure 

4.7 Johnstons Creek Canal • To cater for Sydney 
Water requirements 
without undue impact 
on park use or 
character 

Monitor operational and access 
issues related to facility  

Sustained relationship with 
Sydney Water 

Underground infrastructure 

4.8 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated 
into planning and 
design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 
Measurement and monitoring of 
vegetation 
Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects the 
original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the 
park landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.4 A place of diverse 
habitats 

• To increase habitat 
value of natural and 
built features 

• To protect and improve 
existing habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form, natural ground and cliff faces  
Maintain and manage areas of bush 
restoration in accordance with Bush 
Restoration Service Levels 
Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Measurement and monitoring of 
habitat values 
Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels  
 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open 
space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 
Investigate opportunities to increase 
community understanding and 
participation in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal participation in 
open space works 
Increased community 
participation  

741



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.5 Places that are 
connected to support 
biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the 
site and surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key sites 
and species, as identified in the 
biodiversity corridor 
Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park Service 
Levels 

Monitoring of habitat values 
Compliance with Landscape 
Code and Park Service Levels 

5.6 A unique saltmarsh area • To protect and enhance 
the saltmarsh  

Maintain and manage in 
accordance with best practice 
guidelines and bush restoration 
service levels 

Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels  
 

5.7 A place of rehabilitation 
of past impacts 

• To investigate the 
remediation of “the Hill” 
to enable integration 
with the parklands 

Where feasible, investigate ways to 
progress contamination 
recommendations for The Hill  

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

Shade and temperature management 

5.8 A place that is cool, 
calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy and 
to selectively extend to 
create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased shade 
cover 
Increased use of park measured 
by observation 

5.9 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain 
and manage the 
existing tree resources 
at optimum health for 
their safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of new 
trees as measured by arborist’s 
survey  
Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree management 
plan 

Water management 

5.10 Presence of past natural 
creek drainage systems 

• To naturalise Johnstons 
Creek Canal through 
the parklands to 
increase natural 
habitats and improve 
water management 
entering Rozelle Bay  

Sydney Water to implement 
proposed channel naturalisation 
project including adjoining wetland 
environments – in coordination with 
adjoining park improvement 
projects by City of Sydney 

Naturalisation works completed 

5.11 A place exhibiting water 
sensitive urban design 

• To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  

•  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water demand 
for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.12 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in energy 
consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.13 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away 
from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and audits 

   
 
 

  

742



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that strengthens 
First Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the 
local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately 
manage and conserve 
elements of heritage 
significance 

• To guide management 
and design decision 
making to achieve 
optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 A place that provides 
the community access 
to cultural expression 
and awareness through 
arts and culture 

• To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic 
and creative expression 
that is sustainable in 
the context of existing 
character and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 
Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public art. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions 
Measured against contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

6.4 A place that connects 
the community to the 
city’s past and present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of 
natural and cultural 
values represented on 
the site and add to the 
experience and use of 
the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 
 
 
 

A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and 
permanent forms that 
compliments the park 
setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place that recognises 
and addresses its future 
urban context 

• To improve and 
manage the parklands 
to have regard for the 
built and community 
context of surrounding 
suburbs 

•  

Management of the parklands 
including management of uses and 
the provision/upgrading of 
permanent facilities will 
appropriately consider the 
influences and needs of adjoining 
suburbs 

Targeted user surveys  
Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
parklands. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 
 

7.2 A place which is clean, 
well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

• To provide well-
maintained parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 
 

7.3 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 
 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 
Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

   
 
 
 
 

  

743



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.4 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure 
and permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural 
and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and compliance 
of leases and licences  
 

 
  

744



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 12 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the Johnstons 
Creek Parklands categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

745

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Naturalisation works including ongoing 
management (e.g. wetlands, dredging of salt 
marsh)  

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 13 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the Johnstons Creek Parklands in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

746



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

747

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
 
  

748



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Figure 14. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 14 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands categorised as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 
Australian rules, track and field athletics, 
hockey, baseball, softball) 

o Skate facilities (skateboarding, scootering, 
roller skating/blading)  

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

749

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 15. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 15 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

750



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the City to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 

751

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Figure 16. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 16 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of the Johnstons Creek 
Parklands categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals 
and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

752

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Management and operation of community and 
recreational facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 17. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 17 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for the Johnstons 
Creek Parklands in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 
2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

753



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

754

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 

755



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures 

 

 
  

13. Appendices 

756



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

References 
 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 
2016 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands Master Plan 
2013 

– Johnstons Creek - Aboriginal Archaeological 
& Cultural Heritage Report – 2011 for Shared 
Pathway Project 

– Federal Park 1 The Crescent Archaeological 
Assessment – 2016 

– Glebe Railway Viaduct Statement of 
Heritage Impact part 1 and part 2 2016 

– Johnstons Creek - Glebe Foreshore - 
Heritage Impact Statement  

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

757



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

758



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

759



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

760



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

761



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

762



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

763



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

764



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focussed on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management.  While 
strategies are higher level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

765



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

766



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

767



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

768



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

93 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

769



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

94 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

770



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

95 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

771



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

96 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

772



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

97 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

773



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

98 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

774



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

99 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

775



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

100 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

776



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

101 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

777



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

102 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 
  

778



Johnstons Creek Parklands  
Draft Plan of Management 

 

103 

 

 

 

 

 

779



Attachment K 

Martin Place 

 

 

 

780



 

Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 781



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 25 

4. Strategic context 28 

5. Community guiding principles 31 

6. Basis for Management 33 

7. Review of the plan 42 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 43 

8. General requirements 44 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 50 

10. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 55 

11. Appendices 59 

 

  

782



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 15 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 23 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 24 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 36 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 37 

Figure 8. Master Plan 40 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 55 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 56 

 

 

783



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

784



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

785



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Martin Place (Crown Reserve 88056 - Lot 7006 
DP 1120394, Lot 7005 DP 1120403, Part Lot 5 
DP 984182, Lot 7002 DP 98084 and unidentified 
Crown land) is classified as “community land” 
under the LG Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

786



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

787



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open 
spaces to increase accessibility and 
support community use 

  

788



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

789



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture  

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park. 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City support 
addressing the issue of underpayment of 
NSW Aboriginal Land Rights fund of $500 
Million in perpetuity for all Freehold, 
Leasehold, Pastoral, National Parks, State 
Forests, Reserves and Parks as well as 
mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

790



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Martin Place 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

791



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

792



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

793



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Martin Place through past master 
planning (City North Public Domain Plan 2015). 
This PoM references the City North Public 
Domain Plan as the current planning direction for 
the reserve. 

Location and description  
Martin Place is located in the Sydney central 
business district between George Street and 
Macquarie Street. Martin Place is arguably 
Sydney’s most important urban plaza. It holds 

both civic and ceremonial significance as home 
to the GPO and the Cenotaph. It provides an 
important east west connection between George 
street and Macquarie Street, and beyond to the 
Domain. It is one of few urban spaces in Sydney 
able to host significant events.  

Many of the buildings lining Martin Place are 
subject to current and planned upgrades 
reinforcing the high architectural quality of the 
place. The public domain was last upgraded 
prior to the Sydney Olympics in 2000.  

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site:

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Martin Place 

Address Martin Place, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted date  

88056 Reserve, Public Recreation, 18/12/1970 

Zoning RE1 
Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 7236.63 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 7006 DP 1120394, Lot 7005 DP 1120403, Part Lot 5 DP 
984182, Lot 7002 DP 98084 and unidentified Crown land 

 

City-owned community land n/a 

Miscellaneous land Stratum land, not at ground level within DP 623821 and DP 
1188588 remain part of Reserve 88056 

Restrictions / easements Parts of Martin Place are affected by stratum subdivisions above 
and below ground level 

2. Land description 

794



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

item description 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 
General Community Use 

 

Condition of land  refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 
  

795



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  
Martin Place is an iconic Sydney public space 
that provides a key civic focus for the CBD. 
Martin Place was dedicated for Public 
Recreation in 1970 prior to pedestrianisation of 
the street corridor. 

The lands Martin Place is located on are the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. Prior to 
European arrival the land formed part of the 
Tank Stream valley with the undulating landform 
still visible in Central Sydney’s topography. The 
Tank Stream now runs in a tunnel underneath 
the city past the George Street end of Martin 
Place. The stream was significant to the Gadigal 
as a source of drinking water and for the 
resources that grew along it. Some evidence of 
this use has survived two centuries of urban 
development, demonstrating the continued use 
of the Sydney landscape, particularly in and 
around Tank Stream valley, by First Nations 
people. 

Martin Place has contemporary significance for 
Aboriginal peoples as an annual protest event 
was inaugurated following the Day of Mourning 
demonstration at Australian Hall in 1938. Known 
as Aborigines Day, it was held each Sunday 
before Australia Day. In 1955 it was decided to 
move this commemoration day to July as a way 
of also celebrating Aboriginal culture and 
heritage. Martin Place was the site for rallies 
and events as part of this event from the early 
1960s. National Aborigines Day was the 
forerunner of National Aboriginal and Islander 
Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC) Week, 
which continues to be held annually across 
Australia in the first week of July. (Source: Barani 
Barrabugu yesterday tomorrow Sydney’s 
Aboriginal History booklet) 

Following European occupation of Sydney Cove, 
Martin Place began life as a narrow lane running 
between George Street and Pitt Street. One of 
the first major buildings to be erected in the 
street was the General Post Office (GPO). 

Moore Street (between Pitt and Castlereagh 
streets) was widened and renamed Martin Place 
in 1921. Sydney Municipal Council resolved to 
extend Martin Place eastwards in 1923 which 
required extensive demolition of properties in the 
way of the line of the street. Opposition to the 
proposed plan and legal action delayed the 

project for many years. The extension of Martin 
Place from Castlereagh Street to Macquarie 
Street was not completed until 1935. 
Pedestrianisation of Martin Place was initiated in 
1968 with the first stage between Pitt and 
George Street opened in 1971. The remaining 
pedestrianised sections were opened in stages 
between 1976 and 1979. 

Martin Place has developed over time as the 
civic and ceremonial heart of the city. It serves 
as a significant gathering place for celebrations 
and commemorations. People gathered here to 
celebrate the end of World War II, services are 
now held annually at the cenotaph each Anzac 
Day, while the annual Lord Mayor’s Christmas 
tree attracts visitors and families to the heart of 
Sydney. The amphitheatre hosts numerous 
events throughout the year. 

Martin Place is also the location of a range of 
public art pieces and memorials. 
Significant aspects of Martin Place include the 
layout which reflects aspects of early town 
planning in Sydney and is represented through 
the grid street and building layout (which has 
been largely maintained).  

The open public thoroughfare with its stepped 
topography rising to the north and the views 
connecting George Street to Macquarie street 
are important aspects of Martin Place’s identity 
and significance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

796



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Heritage Context 
Listed heritage item: 

Sydney LEP # I1889— ‘Martin Place’. 

In the vicinity of multiple SHR and SLEP2012 
items including: 

– ANZ Bank (former)—SHR 00085 
– Cenotaph—SHR 01799 
– Martin Place Railway Station—SHR 

01187 and No. I1891 
– Tank Stream—SHR00636 
– Archaeological Item—Martin Place  
– Commercial Building “Challis House” 

including Interior—No. I1892 
– Commonwealth Bank of Australia 

including Interior—No. I1895 
– Former “Colonial Mutual Life Building” 

Façade—No. I1893 
– Former “MLC Building” including 

Interior—No. I1894 
– Former Australian Provincial Assurance 

APA Building including Interiors—No. 
I1896 

– Former Bank of Australasia including 
Interiors—No. I1772 

– Former Sydney General Post Office 
including Interior—No. I1890 

– Reserve Bank including Interior—No. 
I1897 

History 

What is now Martin Place was once the rolling 
hills of the Tank Stream valley, with the dips and 
valley still visible in Central Sydney’s 
topography. This area formed part of the 
traditional lands of the Cadi-gal. i   Cadi-gal refers 
to ‘the people of Cadi’; ‘-gal’ translates as 
‘men/people belonging to’ (a particular area of 
land).  The lands of the Cadi-gal (also now 
commonly referred to as Gadigal) were known 
as Cadi and stretched along the southern shore 
of Sydney Harbour from South Head to Cockle 
Bay/Darling Harbour (west of which was Wann-
gal land). Across the harbour were the Gamara-
gal.   

The higher lands near Martin Place and Hyde 
park was likely likely to have consisted of 
Blackbutt (Eucalyptus pilularis) and Smooth 
Barked Apple (Angophora costata) woodland 
with a mixed shrubby understorey. ii  However, 
swamp woodland was present immediately west 
at the headwaters of the Tank Stream and mixed 
eucalypt woodland along the creek valleys to the 

east and northwest.  Together with the proximity 
to freshwater, the mudflats of Darling Harbour 
(Cockle Bay) and Farm Cove and the rocky 
shore of the harbour, a range of raw materials 
such as bark for shelters, canoes, containers 
and fishing line, wood for fires and containers 
were available to Aboriginal people as well as a 
variety of medicinal and food plants, land 
mammals, reptiles, birds, fish shellfish and 
crustaceans 

Tank Stream now runs underneath the city, 
along one end of Martin Place, near George 
Street. Formerly an open running stream, its 
offer of fresh water was one of the main reasons 
why Europeans set up camp in Sydney Cove in 
1788. The stream drained swampy areas that 
existed around what is now Hyde Park, and 
flowed north into Sydney Cove (Circular Quay). 
If you travel west from Macquarie Street down 
any of Sydney’s streets you can still see how the 
streets dip down to where the Tank Stream 
flowed, before rising up again towards George 
Street. The Aboriginal name of the stream is not 
known, but it was significant to Aboriginal people 
as a source of drinking water and for the 
resources that grew along it. Some evidence of 
this use has survived two centuries of urban 
development, demonstrating the continued use 
of the Sydney landscape, particularly in and 
around tank stream valley, by the Aboriginal 
people.  

The best documented Aboriginal site along the 
Tank Stream was found during archaeological 
excavations in the late 1990s, ahead of the 
redevelopment of Angel Place, north of Martin 
Place between Pitt and George 
Streets. Archaeologists investigating European 
colonial remains noticed that a small patch of soil 
had survived which appeared to date to before 
the arrival of Europeans. They excavated it and 
found 54 stone artefacts made from a number of 
different types of stone. Most of the artefacts 
were small (less than 2cm in size) and were the 
waste material from the production of stone 
tools. This waste material shows that Aboriginal 
people sat just metres from the Tank Stream and 
manufactured stone artefacts. A small number of 
stone artefacts were also found recently a little 
further down the Tank Stream to the north of 
Angel Place along George Street during the 
redevelopment of the Ivy Nightclub. 

Following European occupation of Sydney Cove, 
Martin Place began life as a narrow lane running 

797



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

between George Street and Pitt Street. The 
stretch between Pitt to Castlereagh Street was 
known as 'Foxlow Place' after the maiden name 
of the wife of Mr Hosking, the first elected Mayor 
of Sydney, in office between 1842 and 1843.  

One of the first major buildings to be erected in 
the street was the General Post Office (GPO). 
The land was purchased in 1863. The Post 
Office was constructed in two stages to the 
design of James Barnet. The first stage was 
completed in 1874 and the second in 1887. The 
tower clock was not completed until September 
1891. 

Prior to completion of the clock tower, a fire 
broke out on the east side of Moore Street on 1 
October 1890 completely destroying a block of 
buildings between Hosking Place and Moore 
Street and from Pitt Street to Castlereagh Street. 
This led to an Act of Parliament to permit the 
Council to acquire sufficient land to widen Moore 
Street from George to Pitt streets. It was officially 
opened in September 1892 and named after the 
Chief Justice, James Martin, a former New South 
Wales Attorney-General and Premier. The 
residue of land not required for Martin Place was 
subdivided and advertised for auction sale. 

Moore Street (between Pitt and Castlereagh 
streets) was widened and renamed Martin Place 
in 1921. Sydney Municipal Council resolved to 
extend Martin Place in 1923 which required 
extensive demolition of properties in the way of 
the line of the street. Opposition to the proposed 
plan and legal action delayed the project for 
many years. The extension of Martin Place from 
Castlereagh Street to Macquarie Street was not 
completed until 1935.  

Following the opening of the extension, the City 
Council promoted Martin Place as the 'financial 
and insurance centre' of Sydney and 'the hub of 
the city'. Prime building sites fronting the newly 
extended Martin Place were auctioned by 
Council, and many were purchased by major 
banking and insurance companies such as the 
Rural Bank of NSW, Australian Provincial 
Assurance Company Ltd (APA), Reserve Bank 
of Australia and Bank of NSW. 

Plans to pedestrianise Martin Place between Pitt 
and George streets were submitted to Sydney 
City Council in September 1968. A trial closure 
of the street to traffic in 1970 was judged a 
success and approval was granted in December 
that year to proceed to Stage 1 of the pedestrian 

plaza. It was officially opened on 10 September 
1971. The Council approved the extension of the 
pedestrian plaza from Pitt to Macquarie Streets 
in June 1972, coinciding with the construction of 
the Martin Place Railway Station and MLC 
Development. The plaza was opened in stages 
between 1976 and 1979. 

Martin Place was added to the Australian 
Heritage Commission's list in 1989.  

Martin Place has developed over time as the 
civic and ceremonial heart of the city. It serves 
as a significant gathering place for celebrations 
and commemorations. People gathered here to 
celebrate the end of World War II, services are 
held annually at the cenotaph each Anzac Day, 
while the annual Lord Mayor’s Christmas tree 
attracts visitors and families to the heart of 
Sydney. The amphitheatre hosts numerous 
events throughout the year.  

Martin Place is also the location of public art 
pieces and memorials including the Lloyd Rees 
Fountain (1976), ‘Commando Memorial Seat’ 
(1982), Passage’ (2005) and ‘Reflection’ Lindt 
Café Siege (2015). 

 

Statement of Significance 

Martin Place has Historic and Aesthetic Significance 
for ability to evidence the development of Victorian 
and Interwar Sydney as a prestige address for 
institutional buildings. Ability to reflect the status of 
Sydney because of its relationship with Institutional 
Buildings. It is significant for its ability to contribute to 
understanding the nineteenth and twentieth century 
town planning intention. It has ability to evidence key 
period of building activity during the Victorian period 
and later the interwar period and post war period in 
direct response to the Height of Building controls. 
Martin Place has Historic Association Significance for 
its association with Sir James Martin, premier and 
Chief Justice of NSW. 

  

798

https://dictionaryofsydney.org/person/martin_james_1820-1886


Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Key heritage features 

Key elements of Martin Place include the layout 
and aspects of early town planning in Sydney, 
this is represented through the grid street and 
building layout which has been largely 
maintained. The open public thoroughfare with 
its stepped topography rising to the north and the 
views connecting George Street to Macquarie 
street are key to interpreting the significance of 
the reserve.  

While the plaza has been refinished over the 
past several decades, items which denote 
significant phases in both the reserve and 
Sydney; s history remain.  

These key significant elements within the 
reserve include: 

– Cenotaph  

– Lloyd Rees Fountain  

– ‘Passage’ sculpture 

– Amphitheatre 

– Commando Memorial Seat 

– Two (2) White Poplar (Populus alba var. 
pyramidalis) flank the Cenotaph and are 
listed on the Significant Tree Register. 

Environment and landscape 
Martin Place is one of many important public 
spaces in Sydney's CBD. However, Martin Place 
is significant as one of the few urban spaces that 
hosts larger events and has a central location to 
various modes of transport. 

The City North Public Domain Plan and Martin 
Place Urban Design Study 2015 (Gehl) provided 
detailed analysis of the public space and a series 
of key recommendations for its future. 

A summary of these recommendations are 
provided below. 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 
What is now Martin Place was once the rolling 
hills of the Tank Stream valley, with the dips and 
valley still visible in Central Sydney’s 
topography. 

The higher lands near east end of Martin Place 
and Hyde Park was likely to have consisted of 
Blackbutt (Eucalyptus pilularis) and Smooth 
Barked Apple (Angophora costata) woodland 

with a mixed shrubby understorey. However, 
swamp woodland was present immediately west 
at the headwaters of the Tank Stream and mixed 
eucalypt woodland along the creek valleys to the 
east and northwest.   

The Tank Stream now runs underneath the city 
in drain/tunnel, along one end of Martin Place, 
near George Street. 

Existing physical characteristics: 
Topography 
– Substantial topographical change from west 

to east. (18m between Pitt Street and 
Macquarie Street) 

– Western plaza contains the most even 
surface 

– Eastern plaza has future potential for 
increased usage in terms of its even surface 
at the upper level 

– The current fountain occupies a large area 
that is relatively flat 

– Visual continuity of Martin Place is 
interrupted by the bitumen surface of the 
many cross streets 

Underground 
– Substantial underground system beneath 

Martin Place 

– Station located at the far east end 

– Irrational movement to go up and down to 
access and exit the station 

– Entries take up space and create inflexible 
usage at ground level 

– Activity is drawn away from Martin Place 

– Safety issues at night around entries 

– Martin Place Station is up for future 
redevelopment 

Layout/Crossings 
– Martin Place is divided into 5 separate 

sections by crossing traffic. At every 
crossing street there is a signalled 
pedestrian crossing 

– Lack of pedestrian priority 

– Clutter related to crossings 

– Waiting time 

– Martin Place is not experienced as one 
grand place 

799



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

– Relatively few accidents 

Built Edge 
– Large scale formal buildings lacking 

interaction with the place 

– Heritage buildings with limited possibilities 
for adaptation to other uses 

– Set back frontages, large lobbies, etc. 

– Materiality. Many fine sandstone buildings, 
but also slick granite facades 

– The functions of the numerous banks 
located on the street limit the potential to 
open building facades to the place 

Microclimate 
– At 2pm in winter (June 21) all of Martin Place 

is shaded 

– Sunny most of the day in Summer. On an 
east-west axis and enclosed by tall buildings 
Martin Place does receive a large amount of 
sunlight throughout summer 

– Sunny patches along the southern facades 
in spring and Autumn 

– The effects of wind tunnelling can impact the 
level of comfort for users of the spaces and 
the operation of water features to prevent 
wetting of pedestrians 

Noise 
– Traffic and general city noise can impact 

level of comfort for users 

Landscape elements 
37 trees, primarily plane trees. 

– 2 trees of different species at the cenotaph. 
These are the only trees planted in the 
median 

– Large sections without trees and shade 

– Limitations to supplement existing tree 
planting due to underground services and 
facilities 

Kiosks 
– Overload of kiosks in Martin Place 

– Lack of diversity in products offered 

– Inflexible use 

– Only one coffee outlet with no seating 
options nearby 

– Lease with JC Decaux expires in 2018. 
Kiosks will remain until then. Tenants cannot 
be swapped within lease period 

Lighting 
– Lighting consists of smartpoles placed along 

the full length of Martin Place. Spacing 
varies along the different sections 

– The smartpoles are tall with two light 
sources at the very top and have banners, 
some signage, and a speaker system 
attached 

– The smartpoles are fitted with cool LED 
luminaries (Martin Place Lighting Plan) 

– Current lighting within Martin Place is highly 
utilitarian (Martin Place Lighting Plan) 

– Martin Place also has facade lighting to 
some areas 

Public seating 
– Few benches 

– Benches placed in north/south direction due 
to topographic conditions 

– Benches located quite far apart which is 
appropriate for sitting alone or side by side, 
however very few seating options are 
available for larger groups 

– Benches lack anchoring to other urban 
elements and feel uncomfortable due to 
their exposed nature 

– Large amounts of secondary seating (e.g. 
people sitting on stairs or ledges) imply a 
need for more frequent benches 

– 30% of visitors come to Martin Place in order 
to sit, relax, eat, and socialise. 18% rated 
'more benches' as the priority for future 
additions to the space. (Martin Place 
Intercept Survey 2014) 

Outdoor dining & cafes 
– Very few outdoor café seats 

– Mixed quality furniture 

– Too dispersed to create a destination 

– Surrounds are difficult - noise & cars moving 
through 

– Martin Place is currently not a weekend 
destination (limited trade) 

– The place feels formal 

800



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Fountains 
– There are three existing water features in 

Martin Place today. In general, there are 
very few water features in Sydney, so this is 
a quality in itself 

– The fountain at Pitt Street is outdated and 
acts as a visual and physical barrier 

– The splashing bowls at Macquarie Street 
have a good sensory quality 

– Make sure water installations work 
practically, in windy weather, etc. 

– The water installation closest to Macquarie 
Street (entitled 'Passage' by Anne Graham) 
operates subject to wind conditions to 
prevent wetting pedestrians in windy 
weather 

Memorials 
– There are two existing memorials at either 

end of Martin Place. The Cenotaph 
commemorates WWI and the Commando 
Memorial commemorates WWII 

– Events on Memorial Day and on Anzac Day 
occur at the Cenotaph, which has significant 
conservation status 

– The recent guard railing around the 
Cenotaph has been introduced to deter 
passers-by from lingering around the 
memorial, however the visual appearance of 
the railings is far from a desired outcome 

– The siege in Martin Place is remembered 
with a plaque recently installed 

 

Character and Identity  
The following key characteristics define Martin 
Place today: 

– Formal  
– Event space  
– Thoroughfare  
– Public transport node 
– Financial district 
– High level brands 
– Ceremonial 
– Lunchtime plaza  
– Place for respite 
 

Key summary values: 
– Central; in the retail core of the CBD 

– Accessible; many points of entry 

– Connected; a pedestrian link connecting 
transport modes 

– Destination; Sydney's gathering space 

– Topography; interesting views and 
experience 

– History; heritage buildings of fine quality 

– Quiet pockets; no vehicular access east-
west 

– Change is in the air; new developments 
are on the way 

– Good access to sunny spaces (as 
opposed to most locations in Sydney CBD) 

Reserve development 
Martin Place, including the adjacent grid street 
and building layout are the legacy of town 
planning in Sydney and key periods of building 
activity during the Victorian period, the interwar 
period and post war.  

This includes: 

– The realisation of the street network 
connecting George Street to Macquarie 
Street (completed by 1935) 

– Dedication of Martin Place for Public 
Recreation (1970) 

– The vision to pedestrianise the east west 
corridor which was initiated in 1968 with the 
first stage between Pitt and George Street 
opened in 1971 

– Pedestrianisation of the remaining sections 
were opened in stages between 1976 and 
1979 

Planned future and ongoing projects 
affecting Martin Place: 
– Sydney Metro (2024). A new metro rail 

station will be constructed underground at 
Martin Place to interchange with the existing 
heavy rail station 

– Martin Place train station upgrade. In 
coordination with the metro project, the 

801



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

existing underground station will be 
upgraded in the future 

– Significant existing and future private 
redevelopments on adjacent sites 

Past studies or master plan / design 
references: 
– Open Space, Sports and Recreational 

Needs Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”) 

– City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

– Gehl Architect’s ‘Martin Place Urban Design 
Study’ 2015 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Martin Place Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 
Martin Place is intensively used as a place for 
passive recreation; pedestrian and cycling 
access; outdoor dining; commercial retail kiosks; 
and regular commercial and community events 
of varying scale. 

The amphitheatre located between Pitt and 
Castlereagh Streets is hireable from the City of 
Sydney with a capacity for 2000 people. 

The site has hosted film festivals, concerts, 
charity fundraisers and even marathons, brand 
activations and marketing. 

Users  
Recent user intercept surveys (Crown Reserves 
Community Engagement 2020) indicates the 
most popular activities in the plaza are: 
– place to walk through on the way to 

somewhere else 
– sitting 
– Eating lunch and watching the world go by. 
Other activities include providing support to 
vulnerable community members. 

Survey respondents were more likely to work 
nearby the area with approximately a third 
visiting the space on a weekly basis. 

Previous intercept surveys (Gehl Urban Design 
Study 2015) have indicated 39% survey 
respondents had visited Martin Place for an 
event. 

Key Stakeholders for the public space include 

– RSL and Veterans groups (Cenotaph) 
– Kiosk tenants 
– Railcorp 
– Channel 7; retail businesses and shopping 

centres 

– Sydney Hospital. 

Martin Place as an event space 
Martin Place is used throughout the year for 
events ranging in scale and visitor numbers. 

These events range in type and significance – 
from major recurring state and community 
significant/commemorative events, Anzac Day 
and Remembrance Day, to more city-focused 
local events such as City of Sydney Christmas 
Tree, exhibitions, festivals and public gatherings.  

The space has also been hired for private events 
such as trade shows and promotional events. 

– During 2014, up to 20 different events 
occurred per month in Martin Place. 

– The events are spread throughout the year, 
with July - October being the busiest. 
Sometimes two events take place at 
different places. 

– The events range in scale and visitor 
numbers. 

– The events vary greatly with promotional 
events mixed with fundraising, awareness-
raising, and entertainment of different types. 

– Studies show that cultural events are 
favoured both by the owner’s group and the 
public. 

– Visitors prefer more markets, performances, 
and commemorative events. 

– Noise and visual clutter can be an issue 
during events. 

 

 

802



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

(Stage 1) George to Pitt St zone 

Monument - Cenotaph Memorial Excellent (1) 

SOM025MR, Installed 21/02/1929 

(Stage 2) Pitt St to Castlereagh St zone 

Stage and Services Rooms Venue for hire Average (3) 

Amphitheatre Venue for hire Average (3) 

Public Toilets General Public Very Poor (5) 

Lloyd Reese Fountain General Public Good (2) 

Unveiled December 1976 - A black 
marble water fountain integrated 
within the streetscape of Martin 
Place 

(Stage 5) Philip St to Macquarie St zone 

Passage (Fountain) 

 

Interactive  Average (3) 

SOM127FN, 25th Feb 2000 - Agreed 
lifespan over 30 years. Three Bronze 
Bowls, mist generating system, fibre 
optic lighting, drains 

Commando Memorial Seat Memorial Good (2) 

Dedicated and handed over to City of 
Sydney 31st January 1982. Polished 
stone mounted on black marble 
base, plaque 

James Martin Monument 
(not owned by City) 

Memorial Good 

General   

6 x Mobile Kiosks with 
scrolling/static advertising 
(licenced/vacant) 

General Public Good 

Plaza Furniture - Seating General Public Good 

Plaza Furniture - 
Lighting 

General Public Good 

803



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Plaza Furniture - Bins General Public Good 

Entries to Martin Place 
Station 

General Public Average 

Public Art   

Reflection  Interactive Good 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 
Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

Access Licence Tesla Motors Australia 
Pty Ltd 

5 years, 16/03/2016 
Expiry 16/03/2021 

Access 

Licence Place Management 
NSW 

19/02/2020 Art installation – 
licenced issued by 
Crown Lands 

Street Vending 
Licence 

Christodoulos Toulos 2.5 years, 13/05/2016 
Expiry 30/12/2018 
(holdover) 

Kiosk selling news 
items 

 

 

 

 

 

804



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Ownership and management 
Martin Place is a Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales. The City of Sydney 
is the Crown Land manager responsible for 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 14 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Martin Place is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

805



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Martin Place is zoned RE1 – Public Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

806



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

807



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

808



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

− Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 

and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

809



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

810



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

811



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

812



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Values and roles of Martin 
Place  
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the civic space that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

 
1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 

Place 
- A meaning of the place that resonates with 

Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 

local, natural and cultural history 

- A lively urban environment 

- A place of contemporary cultural significance 

- A presence of water that calms and cools 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A place connected to the CBD and its public 

domain 

- A place of level changes 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place where lighting and overhead 

elements enhance the character and use of 

the space 

- A city destination easily accessible from 

public transport 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 

and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A lively urban space 

- A place that is a key city destination for 

outdoor dining 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 

Nations living culture 

- An iconic place for major city events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 

members of community 

- A safe space to visit day and night 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Kiosks that play an important role in space 

activation 

- Plaza furniture that enables and encourages 

a diverse range of use of the space 

- Services infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Greenery that enhances the amenity 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 

original natural environment 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 

summer heat 

- Established mature plantings which 

contribute to character and amenity 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 

design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 

management 

6. Basis for 
Management 

813



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 

management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 

and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 

and cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access 

to cultural expression and awareness 

through arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 

city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 

culture 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A well-maintained civic space 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 

the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

814



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Martin Place Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Martin Place in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Martin Place have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 

categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Martin Place there are no site characteristics 
that would justify Natural Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Martin Place, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Martin Place. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Martin Place is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

815



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Martin Place 

Core objectives for management 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

Urban square and built facilities that provide city 
centre movement, eating and drinking, events, 
and community gathering uses 

 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

 

 

816



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

  

817



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Martin Place through past master 
planning (City North Public Domain Plan 2015.). 
This PoM references the City North Public 
Domain Plan 2015 as the current planning 
direction for the reserve. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of Martin Place, as reflected in the Urban Design 
Study (refer Figure 8 on pages 41-42) and this 
PoM. 

City North Public Domain Plan 2015:  
The following proposals are identified in the 
North Public Domain Plan 2015 and integrate the 
‘Martin Place Urban Design Study’ 2015 
undertaken by Gehl Architects: 

Guiding Directions: 
Martin Place is home to some of the Sydney’s 
finest architecture and most significant civic 
monuments. It is one of the few ‘planned’ public 
spaces within Central Sydney.  

A strategy to better connect the blocks of Martin 
Place, and increase the usability of the space, 
will help reinforce Martin Place as a destination 
rather than a thoroughfare: 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City of 
Sydney’s premier civic and public space 

– From a sequence of spaces …to a unified 
space 

– From streets separating Martin Place …. To 
streets arriving at a square 

The Martin Place Urban Design Study seeks to 
leverage the positive qualities of Martin Place 
and improve the experience of the space as a 
destination in its own right.  This relies on 
adjoining built form contributing to an active 
place, and urban elements providing a high-
quality setting and experience. 

Short term directions: 
Landscape 
– introduce a coherent avenue of deciduous 

trees to soften the formal feeling of the 
space and provide shading in summer 

– plant trees in the ground wherever possible. 
In blocks with underground infrastructure 

this may not be possible until redevelopment 
occurs. In the short-medium term, planters 
can be used to introduce soft landscaping to 
these blocks. Low level planting can be 
provided in planters where soil depth for a 
tree cannot be achieved 

Public seating 
– provide a large number of benches, located 

within the tree planting zones to maximise 
usability of open areas 

– provide flexible (moveable) seating in 
central areas, this can be removed for larger 
events 

– provide seating integrated with planters 
(where trees cannot be planted in ground) 

Outdoor dining 
– amend outdoor dining policy to allow 

outdoor dining where appropriate in Martin 
Place 

– establish guidelines for quality, look and feel 
of outdoor dining 

Paving infill and crossings 
– repair and clean existing paving as required 

– investigate flush continuous paving across 
intersecting streets (for example using a 
detail similar to streets crossing the George 
Street pedestrianised area) 

– improve pedestrian priority at crossings by 
increasing crossing time and decreasing 
waiting time 

Kiosk Strategy 
– reduce the number of kiosks and distribute 

them evenly throughout the space  

– locate coffee/snack outlets in connection 
with moveable seating 

– locate kiosks in line with trees to maintain 
clear central corridor 

– investigate a new kiosk design to suit the 
siting and character 

Events guidelines 
Develop event guidelines for Martin Place in 
keeping with the following principles: 

– focus events in Blocks 1, 2 and 5, contained 
within the footprints indicated below and on 
detailed plans  

818



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

– ensure that all events provide a contribution 
to the cultural life of the city 

– ensure that events are consistent with the 
character of Martin Place and their specific 
location 

– encourage more curated events 

– offer events for a wide audience – ensure 
variety. Offer more events for children and 
younger audiences 

– ensure that event infrastructure is high 
quality, including barriers, signage, 
temporary structures etc. 

– minimise the visual impact of signage and 
branding 

– consider the acoustic impact of events on 
surrounding buildings and uses 

– increase wayfinding and legibility to the 
Domain to encourage more and larger 
events there, reducing pressure on Martin 
Place 

Mid Term directions: 
Water Feature Refinement/renewal 
Layout & module, Flexibility, Subterranean 
plantroom – sizing & access, Maintenance 
regime, Water usage & recycling 

– maintain the importance of water elements 
in Martin Place and review the design of the 
Lloyd Rees fountain 

– introduce an interactive water feature that 
invites children to play 

– provide a water feature that is flexible and 
does not create a barrier, and can be turned 
off to extend useable space during special 
events and gatherings 

Steps and topography works 
– remove amphitheatre in coordination with 

the revised fountain design, and extend 
paving and steps in Block 2 

– introduce new terraced steps in blocks 3 and 
4 in coordination after the removal of 
underground entries (long term) 

– maximise even surfaces for events and 
seating/dining opportunities, providing 
maximum flexibility for the space 

Lighting 
– upgrade lighting to celebrate the grand 

facades of the heritage buildings and 
support a perception of safety throughout 
Martin Place 

– removal of banners in line with the 
recommendations of Martin Place Urban 
Design Study 2015, ‘due to their visual 
dominance over the space’ 

Long Term directions: 
Relocation of entries to station and 
underground retail 
– integrate all station entries within 

development to increase space for 
pedestrian use at surface level. Entry portals 
at surface within Martin Place to be 
minimised. 

– provide access to existing underground 
retail via new station entries. Where not 
possible, staircases to underground retail 
should be minimised and no additional 
infrastructure added at surface level. 

– provide input to the design of the Martin 
Place Metro station and revised train station, 
to increase soil areas for more trees, and 
increased activity at ground level. 

Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016: 
Short term directions:  

– Improve seating layout and provision 

– Tree planting and landscape treatments 

– Paving infill at cross intersections 

– Kiosk strategy 

– Outdoor dining guidelines 

– Event strategy and guidelines  
Medium term directions  

– Lighting upgrade  

– Fountain renewal  

Long term directions  

– Relocation of train station and underground 
retail entrance 

 

 

819



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
Short term proposals 
 

 

 
 

820



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Medium term proposals 

 
Long Term proposals 
 

821



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation  

– changes in community values  

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 
  

7. Review of the plan 

822



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

823



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Martin Place and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Martin Place. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Martin Place and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land. Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 
structures and spaces at Martin Place will be 
considered on merit and benefits to the 

community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 
structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Martin Place. 

8. General 
requirements 

824



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plan 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 

be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Martin Place may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Martin Place 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Martin Place which may attract high numbers 
of people including one-off community events 
and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

825



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Martin Place and settings will be 
determined by the community use of the site but 
will be managed to avoid undue impacts on park 
fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the 
reserve. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the reserve need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Reserve revenue – income from the reserve 
is generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the reserve. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Martin Place is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

826



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claim 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Section 10 details 
the specific authorisations and purposes for 
which tenure may be granted in accordance with 
the individual community land categories for 
Martin Place. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

827



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtaine 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

828



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 

Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

829



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Martin Place, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning 
and description that 
reflects connection to 
place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and description 
that captures the place’s connection 
to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which signposts 
and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

• To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive elements 
that reflect the spaces historical 
identity and natural character 
 

Increased visibility of 
space’s identity 

1.3 A lively urban environment • To activate edges of 
plaza at building 
frontages  

• Reinforce Martin Place 
as the premier civic and 
public space in the city  

Monitor opportunities from adjoining 
developments to rejuvenate and 
activate Martin Place 
 
 

Liaison with City Planning 
Increased usage of space 
measured by observation 

1.4 A place of contemporary 
cultural significance 

• To conserve and 
enhance Martin Place’s 
cultural and heritage 
fabric  

Conserve the cultural integrity of 
Martin Place whilst enhancing the 
identity of each block 

Targeted user surveys 

1.5 A presence of water that 
calms and cools  

• To enhance the 
character and use of 
Martin Place through 
well-designed water 
presence and contact 

Maintain and enhance the value of 
water elements in Martin Place 
Investigate the redesign of the Lloyd 
Rees Fountain and the removal of 
the amphitheatre to incorporate a 
flexible water feature that creates 
greater activation of the space 

Increased use of space 
measured by observation  

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A place connected to the 
CBD and its public domain 

• To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
movement corridors 
along and across the 
plaza 
 

Investigate pavement treatments of 
road crossings to extend plaza 
character  
Maintain and renew pavement and 
surfaces in accordance with asset 
management plan  
Monitor opportunities to improve 
pedestrian safety as users navigate 
through each block 

Pavements and surfaces 
managed in accordance 
with Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.2 A place of level changes • Simplify landform and 
level changes to 
enhance access and 
increase usable space 

Where feasible, maximise even 
surfaces for events and 
seating/dining opportunities 
Monitor user accessibility and 
manage, where required 

Increased use of space 
measured by observation 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

830



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.3 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide subtle and 
seamless wayfinding  

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of 
park, measured by surveys 
and observation 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.4 A place where lighting and 
overhead elements 
enhance the character 
and use of the space 

• To provide beautiful 
ambient lighting that 
provides for safe 
movement and 
encourages night use 
and activity 

Investigate an upgrade of lighting 
and the removal of banners to 
celebrate the grand facades of the 
heritage buildings  
Maintain and renew in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.5 A city destination easily 
accessible from public 
transport 

• To optimise the benefits 
of Metro to the plaza 
and minimise adverse 
effects 

Investigate the integration of all 
station entries within development to 
increase space for pedestrian use at 
surface level 
Monitor ongoing operational and 
access issues  

Sustained relationship with 
Sydney Metro 
 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by vehicle 
access 

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance 
and emergency access 
mitigating adverse 
impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Ensure that permitted use of vehicles 
in park are regulated and do not 
affect community use of space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities into 
ongoing management 
Where feasible, investigate and 
implement appropriate access control 
infrastructure in accordance with 
Australia’s Strategy for Protecting 
Crowded Places from Terrorism 

Reduced pedestrian, 
cyclist and vehicle conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A lively urban space  
 

• To provide increased 
opportunities to enjoy 
Martin Place 

Investigate opportunities to integrate 
a combination of mobile and fixed 
seating across the plaza that 
supports activation and interaction 
Establish storage strategy for mobile 
seating 

Increased use of space 
measured by observation 
Adopted storage strategy 

3.2 A place that is a key city 
destination for outdoor 
dining 

• To provide a great 
space and destination 
for dining 
 

Amend outdoor dining policy to allow 
outdoor dining where appropriate in 
Martin Place  
Establish guidelines for quality, look 
and feel of outdoor dining 

Adopted outdoor dining 
policy and guidelines 
 

3.3 A place that recognises 
and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First 
Nations heritage and 
living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies 
and procedures  
 

3.4 An iconic place for major 
city events 

• To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use that 
is appropriate to scale of spaces and 
in consideration of other park uses 
Manage events in accordance with 
event’s guidelines for Martin Place 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 
Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

   
 
 
 
 
 

  

831



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.5 A place that is open and 
usable by all members of 
community 

• That the space is 
managed as part of a 
coordinated 
compassionate 
approach across the city 
to assisting homeless 
persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in Martin Place needs 
to be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness in 
public spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the community to 
use public spaces’ (Homelessness 
Action Plan 2019) and aims to 
ensure that public space can be 
accessed and enjoyed by everyone, 
including people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regularly review of register 
to guide future directions 

3.7 A safe place to visit day 
and night 

• To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and 
pass through, 
appropriate to intended 
(and varied) usage 
times of facilities and 
access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access to 
civic space and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 
Sustained relationship with 
local police 
 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Kiosks 

4.1 Kiosks play an important 
role in space activation  

To refresh and renew the 
kiosks in Martin Place  

Investigate the reduction and 
relocation of kiosks in line with trees 
to maintain clear central corridor 
 
Investigate a new kiosk design to 
suit the siting and character 

Reactivated kiosks 
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
 

Plaza elements 

4.2 Plaza furniture that 
enables and encourages a 
diverse range of use of 
the space 

• To support recreational 
and leisure use of the 
space while avoiding 
proliferation of elements 

Plan and implement new plaza 
furniture 
Maintain and renew plaza furniture 
and other elements in accordance 
with asset management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Replaced plaza furniture 
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

Services infrastructure 

4.3 Services infrastructure • To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated 
into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 
 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Greenery that enhances 
the amenity 

• To sustain a resilient, 
green landscape for 
continued community 
enjoyment 

Investigate the implementation of 
planters to introduce soft landscaping 
to the blocks where soil depth for 
trees cannot be achieved 
Maintain and renew horticulture and 
plantings in accordance with park 
service levels and City guidelines 

Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
 

5.2 Landscaping and planting 
that reflects the original 
natural environment  

• To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 
 
 
 
 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

832



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Shade and temperature management 

5.3 A place that is cool, calm 
and comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy and 
to selectively extend to 
create new shade  

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
 
Introduce a coherent avenue of 
deciduous trees to soften the 
formal feeling of the space  
 
 
 
 
 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.4 Established mature 
plantings which contribute 
to character and amenity  

• To effectively maintain 
and manage the existing 
tree resources at 
optimum health for their 
safe and practical 
lifespans 

• To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program 

Improved health of trees 
and successful 
establishment of new trees 
as measured by arborist’s 
survey  
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting 

Water management 

5.5 A place exhibiting water 
sensitive urban design 

• To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.6 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that maximises 
the diversion of waste 
away from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and support 
of best practice waste management 
activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that strengthens 
First Nations people and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the 
local area 

Consult with the First Nations People 
on how to interpret and integrate 
cultural heritage values in ongoing 
planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements 
of heritage significance 

• To guide management 
and design decision 
making to achieve 
optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

 
 
 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

833



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.3 A place that provides the 
community access to 
cultural expression and 
awareness through arts 
and culture 

• To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic 
and creative expression 
that is sustainable in the 
context of existing 
character and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 
Conserve and manage in accordance 
with Asset Management Plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public 
art. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions  
Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

6.4 A place that connects the 
community to the city’s 
past and present 

• To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of 
natural and cultural 
values represented on 
the site and add to the 
experience and use of 
the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 
 
 
 

A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and 
permanent forms that 
compliments the park 
setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A well-maintained space • To provide well-
maintained space 

Maintenance programs carried out in 
accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks and Infrastructure 
Maintenance Technical 
Specifications  
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 
 

7.2 Facilities that continue to 
service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.3 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure 
and permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural and 
social activities 

All future leases and licences to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

 

 
  

834



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Martin Place 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

10. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

835

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 
 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Martin Place 
in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

836



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Alfresco dining 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

837

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
  

838



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures 

 

 

 
  

11. Appendices 

839



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

References 
 

– City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

– Gehl Architect’s ‘Martin Place Urban Design 
Study’ 2015 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

  

 

 
  

840



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. A 
summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

841



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

842



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

843



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

844



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

845



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

846



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

847



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

848



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

849



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

850



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

851



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

852



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

853



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

854



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

855



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

856



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

857



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

858



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Martin Place, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

859



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

860



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 
 
  

861



Martin Place   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

 

 

 

 

 

i  Also, Cadigal or Gadi-gal. 
ii  Benson, D and Howell, J 1995, Taken for Granted, The Bushland of Sydney and its Suburbs, Kangaroo Press; Sydney, p42-45. 
 

 

 

 

 

862



Attachment L 

Observatory Hill 

 

 

 

863



 

Observatory Hill 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

864



Observatory Hill 
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 25 

4. Strategic context 28 

5. Community guiding principles 31 

6. Basis for Management 33 

7. Review of the plan 42 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 43 

8. General requirements 44 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 50 

10. Park category - authorisations 55 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 59 

12. Appendices 62 

 

865



Observatory Hill 
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

 
 
Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 16 

Figure 5. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 23 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 24 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 36 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map 37 

Figure 9. Master Plan 40 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 55 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 56 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 59 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 60 

 

 

866



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

867



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

868



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Observatory Park (Crown Reserve 500044 – Lot 
7003 DP 1071940 and Lot 7302 DP 1163733) is 
classified as “community land” under the LG Act 
and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

869



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

870



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

871



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

872



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture, and  

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City support 
addressing the issue of underpayment of 
NSW Aboriginal Land Rights fund of $500 
Million in perpetuity for all Freehold, 
Leasehold, Pastoral, National Parks, State 
Forests, Reserves and Parks as well as 
mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

873



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Observatory Hill 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject sites. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

874



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

875



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

876



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Observatory Hill through past 
master planning (Master Plan 2012) and plans of 
management (Draft PoM 1997). This PoM 
references the Observatory Hill Master Plan 
2012 as the current planning direction for the 
reserve and supersedes the PoM 1997. 

Location and description  
Observatory Hill is located on Upper Fort Street, 
Millers Point. Situated within the park is The 
Sydney Observatory, while the Fort Street 
School and the National Trust SH Erwin Gallery  

are located to the south of the park. This PoM 
also includes the Kent Street Tennis Centre, on 
the south-west corner of the Park, and Watson 
Road Reserve, an area to the north and below 
Observatory Hill separated by Watson Road. 

The park is an iconic destination providing 
expansive views over Millers Point to Sydney 
Harbour. It is well used for both active and 
passive recreation by local resident and CBD 
north worker populations and is a popular 
destination for tourists and wedding parties. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

 

 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Observatory Hill (including the Kent Street Tennis Centre and Watson 
Road Reserve) 

Address Observatory Park – 1001 Upper Fort Street, Millers Point 

Kent Street Tennis Centre - 96-108 Kent Street, Millers Point 

Watson Road Reserve - 3 Watson Road, Millers Point 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

500044 Dedication, Public Recreation, 29/4/1884 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 18939.99 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 7003 DP 1071940 (Observatory Park) 

Lot 7003 DP 1071940 (Kent Street Tennis Centre) 

Lot 7302 DP 1163733 (Watson Road Reserve) 

2. Land description 

877



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

15 

item description 

City-owned community 
land 

Lot 8863 DP 12179782, Lot 1 DP 55195, Lot 1 DP 53540,  

Lot 2 DP 909499 

Miscellaneous land Road Reserve managed by the City of Sydney as Roads Authority 

Restrictions / 
easements 

n/a 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing  

Observatory Hill Park  

Kent Street Tennis 
Centre 

Sportsground  

Watson Road Reserve Park  

City-owned land Park  

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 5 for Condition Summary 

 
 

  

878



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

16 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

  

N

Watson Road

K
e

n
t S

t ree
t

W
es

te
rn

 D
is

tri
bu

te
r/

 B
ra

df
ie

ld
 H

w
y

U
pp

er
 F

or
t S

tre
et

Cahill Expy

Argyle Street

7003 / DP 1071940

7302 / DP1163733

8863 / 
DP1219782

1/ 
DP53540

1/ 
DP55195

2/ 
DP909499

1 / DP 
244444

Watson Road

K
e

n
t S

t ree
t

W
es

te
rn

 D
is

tri
bu

te
r/

 B
ra

df
ie

ld
 H

w
y

U
pp

er
 F

or
t S

tre
et

Cahill Expy

Argyle Street

FORT STREET
PUBLIC SCHOOL

SYDNEY
OBSERVATORY

ROTUNDA

TENNIS
COURTS

AGAR
STEPS

NATIONAL
TRUST (NSW)

FITNESS
AREA

WATSON ROAD
RESERVE

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

879



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

17 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

Observatory Hill was dedicated for Public 
Recreation in 1884 and became officially known 
as Observatory Hill Park in 1887. 

From its elevated position it offers one of the 
most spectacular vantage points in Sydney 
Harbour.  

The land on which park lies is within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. Prior to 
European arrival the location is thought to have 
been used for its prominent position as a lookout 
or as a communication point across the harbour 
and its headlands may have had cultural and 
practical significance. Diary records of the 
colonists provide insights into early encounters, 
between First Nations people and the first fleet 
arrivals in the vicinity of the park. These records 
remain an important source for the revival of 
Sydney Aboriginal language and cultural 
material.  

Subsequent to European occupation of Sydney 
Cove in 1788, Observatory Hill has had 
significant and ongoing roles in the development 
of the new colony and city. It represents one of 
the most important government and / or civic 
precincts in the city.  

From the latter years of the nineteenth century, 
Observatory Hill has been a focus for recreation, 
a green part of the city highly valued for its 
environment and views by both residents and 
visitors. 

Key elements of the park include a number of 
Moreton Bay Fig trees that remain from planting 
schemes of the 1880s and the Agar Steps, built 
in 1892. The Rotunda dates from 1912 and has 
been used as model for park improvements in 
other locations in NSW. 

A second phase of park planting occurred in the 
1930s after the completion of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge. Observatory Hill contains many 
buildings which have been adapted for re-use 
over the decades, along with archaeological 
sites dating back to the beginnings of European 
settlement.  

The park is of outstanding historical significance 
and the heart and soul of the Observatory Hill 
precinct. 

 

Heritage Context 

Listed heritage item: 

Sydney LEP # I935— ‘Observatory Park 
including Boer War Memorial, Bandstand, 
fences and landscaping’.  

There are multiple SHR and SLEP items in the 
vicinity of the subject site including: 

– Millers Point and Dawes Point Village 
Precinct (SHR 01682) 

– Millers Point Conservation Area (SHR 
00884) 

– Millers Point Heritage Conservation Area 
(C35) 

– Sydney Observatory Group including 
buildings and their interiors and grounds (No 
I934) 

– Bureau of Meteorology including interior (No 
I936)  

– Messenger’s Cottage for Sydney 
Observatory including interior (No I937) 

– Fort Street Primary School site including 
buildings their interiors, fig trees and grounds 
(No I938) 

– National Trust Centre (No I876). 

History 

The continued Aboriginal occupation of Sydney 
can be traced through the archaeological 
records to at least 22,000 years ago, with some 
estimates extending towards 35,000 years. The 
occupation of the Sydney Basin extended 
beyond the current shorelines as lower sea 
levels meant the coast was between 12 and 20 
km further east than today. Sydney Harbour 
formed a vast valley with a central river. Some 
1000 years ago – at the end of the last great ice 
age – rising sea levels inundated the broad 
coastal plain forcing the retreat of coastal people 
over a few generations. The flooding is 
estimated to have taken up to 1100 square km 
of land on the coast and 45 square kilometres 
within the harbour area itself. This resulted in the 
addition of 250 kilometres of shoreline shaping 
Sydney Harbour as it more or less sits today.   

The Sydney area supported the Eora nation, 
comprised of more than 30 separate clans 
across the region. It is recorded that most clans 

880



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

18 

took their names from their Country, such as the 
Gadigal along the harbour’s southern shore, or 
the Wangal from Wanne, the lower reaches of 
Parramatta River, or the Kamaygal from Kamay, 
Botany Bay). Others, like the Cammeragal from 
the harbour’s northern shore, may have been 
named for their role in ceremony and law.  

It was people from the Sydney Aboriginal groups 
concentrated around Sydney Cove and the 
Harbour who initially confronted and made 
efforts to understand the colonisers and their 
intentions on Country. It is these Aboriginal 
people who are described in the surviving 
colonial accounts. When the eleven ships of the 
First Fleet with one thousand or so people 
stepped ashore and set up camp in Sydney 
Cove in January 1788—having relocated from 
Botany Bay—it was the people of the Gadigal 
that they first encountered. The Gadigal were the 
first people dispossessed by colonists and it is 
this dispossession that underpins the foundation 
and growth of the city. In 1789, the smallpox 
epidemic devastated the Aboriginal population 
and disrupted clan boundaries in Sydney.  
Aboriginal people came together in new 
communities and locations.  

The specific cultural attachments and 
associations that Aboriginal people had over 
generations with Observatory Hill are not well 
documented or researched. Yet its elevated and 
prominent position as a lookout or as a 
communication point across the harbour and its 
headlands may have had cultural and practical 
significance. 

Traces of an Aboriginal campsite have been 
found near the intersection of Cumberland and 
Essex streets (approximately 100 metres from 
Observatory Hill). The campsite was discovered 
next to the historic Lilyvale Cottage during 
archaeological excavations carried out in 1989 
ahead of the construction of the Shangri-La 
Hotel. During the excavation some shells 
became visible, which were found to represent 
an Aboriginal midden. Radiocarbon dates from 
the midden show that the campsite at Lilyvale 
was used fairly recently, about 340 years before 
the First Fleet arrived in Sydney in 1788. 
(https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/campsi
te-lilyvale/) 

Some of the most poignant encounters in the 
immediate vicinity are those documented 
between lieutenant William Dawes and Eora 
woman Pattyegarang at the observatory that 

was established at ‘Tarra; now Dawes Point. 
Pattyegarang worked with Dawes as he learnt 
and transcribed her language, correcting his 
pronunciation and the definitions he recorded. It 
was Aboriginal women such as Pattyegarang 
who were the intermediaries between their 
people and the colonists, creating pidgin forms 
of communication essential to the interactions 
that played out between the two worlds. 
Pattyegarang patiently explained the anger felt 
by Aboriginal people at the arrival of the 
colonists—the reasons behind why Aboriginal 
men had wounded the new settlers; the rituals of 
play, food and fishing.  

Dawes’ notebooks reveal the way in which Eora 
women were negotiating the demands of a new 
society and forming mutually beneficial 
friendships with convict women and men as well 
as officers and their wives’. The notebooks made 
by Dawes and Pattyegarang provides insight 
into the early contact but also remain an 
important source for the revival of Sydney 
Aboriginal language and cultural material today.  

The earliest colonial development on 
Observatory Hill was the construction of a 
windmill by Irish convict John Davis in 1796. 
The windmill was a stone tower fitted with 
machinery to grind wheat to make bread. This 
windmill subsided in 1800 and lost its sails in a 
storm in 1805. By then another windmill had 
been built in timber to the south. These early 
structures gave rise to the name Windmill Hill, 
and the district still bears the name Millers Point. 

As the highest hill overlooking the settlement of 
Sydney, this area was the site of Fort Phillip 
built in 1800 and named after the colony’s first 
Governor. The fort was armed with four 6-
pounder cannons and a gunpowder magazine. 
The powder magazine was moved to Goat Island 
in 1833, and Fort Phillip was partially 
demolished in 1840. Upper Fort Street 
commemorates Fort Phillip. 

With the growth in shipping the elevated site was 
used as a signal station from 1825, using flags 
and semaphore to communicate with ships from 
the east parapet of the fort. This gave the area 
the new name of Flagstaff Hill, and it was still 
referred to by locals as The Flaggie until well into 
the second half of the 20th century. In 1847 a 2-
storey Telegraph House was built to meet 
increased demands of maritime activity in the 
port. 

881



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

19 

In 1825 the colony’s second hospital was 
built on the site, and after it was closed in 1848 
it was converted into the Fort Street Model 
School, famous for its innovative teaching 
methods. At first it was co-educational, but the 
boys moved to a new site at Taverner’s Hill, 
Petersham in 1916, where the high school (once 
again co-educational) still operates. Fort Street 
Public School remains at Observatory Hill. 

The southern hemisphere was regarded as an 
important site for astronomical observations so 
the first observatory was built in Sydney in 1788. 
The observatory and astronomer’s residence 
were built in 1857 to 1859, incorporating a time 
ball which signalled the time to shipping in the 
harbour each day. Due to increasing light and 
pollution the observatory closed in 1982 and is 
now a public museum which is within the care, 
control and management of the Museum of 
Applied Arts and Sciences (MAAS).  

The 1880s Flagstaff planting scheme featured 
Moreton Bay fig trees many of which remain. The 
Agar stairs named after Thomas Agars (1810-
1862), a local merchant were built in 1892. The 
Park was formerly dedicated as a public 
recreation reserve in 1884 and became officially 
known as Observatory Hill Park in 1887. 

The Rotunda within the Park dates from 1912 
and it was frequently used for musical 
performances. The Rotunda served as 
something of a model for park improvements in 
other locations. The Lord Mayor of Lismore left 
Sydney with plans of the Observatory Hill 
rotunda in 1913 following a visit. In 2017 artist, 
Anri Sala installed his musical work ‘The Last 
Resort’ comprised of custom built snare drums 
in the Rotunda as part of the 33rd Kaldor Public 
Art Project. The Rotunda is regularly used as a 
venue for functions and events.   

A second phase of planting occurred in c1932 
coinciding with the opening of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge, including a grove of palm trees 
next to its stairs. Observatory Hill contains many 
buildings which have been adapted for re-use 
over the decades, along with archaeological 
sites dating back to the beginnings of European 
settlement. From its elevated position it also 
offers one of the most spectacular vantage 
points in Sydney. A South African War Memorial 
1899-1902 was installed in the park in 1937 
commemorating the citizens of NSW who 
responded to the Empire’s call. The stones in the 
memorial are at least 133 years old. They came 

from the old demolished Governor Macquarie 
stores building at Circular Quay. Manning River 
Times and Advocate for the Northern Coast 
Districts of New South Wales (Taree, NSW), Sat 
8 June 1940.  

In 1992, five (5) Moreton Bay Fig trees were 
planted near the Rotunda on the northeast 
corner of the Observatory boundary to 
commemorate the visit by Japan Junior 
Chamber Inc. to promote “The Age of Global 
Citizenship”. 

 

Statement of Significance 

The Observatory Park is within the traditional 
Country of the Gadigal people and carries their 
ancestors stories and values. Given the hill boasts 
the highest elevation in Sydney Harbour the 
Gadigal may have used the hill as a 
communication point and to look across and along 
the harbour.  

As a colonial landscape, the park is of outstanding 
historical significance and a major component of 
the Observatory Hill precinct. The Observatory is 
of exceptional significance. Its prominent location 
and significant uses beside and above the port 
town and, later, City of Sydney made it a place for 
a range of changing uses, all of which were 
important to, and reflected, stages in the growth 
and development of the colony. These uses 
included: milling (the first windmill); defence (the 
first, and still extant, fort fabric); communications 
(the flagstaff’s, first semaphore and first electric 
telegraph connection); astronomy, meteorology 
and time keeping.  

The surviving structures of the Observatory Hill 
precinct, both above and below ground, evidence 
195 years of changing use, technical development 
and ways of living. As such they are a continuing 
resource for investigation and public 
interpretation.  

Observatory Hill has an association with an 
extensive array of historical figures most of whom 
have helped shape its fabric. These include: 
colonial Governors Hunter, Bligh, Macquarie & 
Denison; military officers and engineers Barrallier; 
Bellasis and Minchin; convicts: the as yet 
unnamed constructors of the mill and fort; 
architects: Greenway (also a convict), Lewis, 
Blacket, Weaver, Dawson and Barnet; signallers 
and telegraphists such as Jones and the family 

882



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

20 

Moffitt; astronomers: particularly PP King, Scott, 
Smalley, Russell, Cooke and Wood.  

The picturesque Italianate character and stylistic 
interest of the Observatory and residence building, 
together with the high level of competence of the 
masonry (brick and stone) of all major structures 
on the site, combine to create a precinct of 
unusual quality.  

Finally, the continued use of the observatory for 
astronomical observations and the survival of 
astronomical instruments, equipment and some 
early furniture although temporarily dispersed, and 
the retention of most interior spaces, joinery, 
plasterwork, fireplaces, and supports ensure that 
the observatory can remain the most intact and 
longest serving early scientific building in the State 
(Kerr 1991: 39). The site is also of significance for 
the relationship of Commonwealth and State 
powers. It is the site of the first intercolonial 
conference on meteorology and astronomy. 
(Pearson et al 1999)  

The building is an excellent example of a Colonial 
building erected for scientific purposes and 
continuing to perform its function at the present 
time. The structure makes an imposing 
composition atop the historic hill originally known 
as Flagstaff Hill and occupies the historic Fort 
Phillip site (1804-45). It was designed by the 
colonial architect Alexander Dawson and built in 
1858. 

The elevation of the park, with its harbour and city 
views and vistas framed by mature Moreton Bay 
fig (Ficus macrophylla) trees of the surrounding 
park, make it one of the most pleasant and 
spectacular locations in Sydney. For locals and 
visitors alike, the park is a popular spot for passive 
and active recreation and is a premier location due 
to its spectacular views of Sydney Harbour. 

 

Key heritage features 

Significant elements of the park:  

– Boer War Memorial 

– Agar Steps 

– Bandstand Rotunda 

– Panoramic views of Sydney Harbour 

– Connection to the Sydney Observatory 
precinct. 

The park contains several items listed on the City 
of Sydney’s Significant Tree Register including: 

– Nineteen (19) Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus 
macrophylla)  

– One (1) Port Jackson Fig (Ficus 
Glabrescens) and 2 Port Jackson Fig (fFicus 
Rubiginosa) at Agar Steps 

 

Environment and landscape 
The following description has been derived from 
the Master Plan 2012 and Draft PoM 1997. 

Pre-existing Physical Characteristics: 

The natural topography of the site consisted of a 
steep rise with several prominent rocky 
sandstone outcrops and a series of undulating 
ridges culminating in a peak. 

The vegetation types likely to have been found 
in this area prior to European settlement include: 

– Eastern Aspect: Open forest to woodland 

– Northern Aspect: Woodland and Scrub 

– Western Aspect: Open woodland and scrub 

– Typical species being Eucalypts, Angophora, 
Blackbutt, Banksias, Acacias and Tea Trees. 

– The lower slopes are likely to have supported 
woodland of Scribbly Gum with an open low 
shrubby understorey comprising banksias, 
acacias and tea trees. 

Existing Physical Characteristics: 

Landform, Soil, Drainage 

At over 40 metres above sea level, Observatory 
Hill is the most elevated point in the Sydney 
CBD. It is located at the crest of the rocky ridge 
that separates Sydney Cove to the east and 
Darling Harbour to the west. Its highest point is 
located near the Observatory at 44.38m. The 
eastern boundary of the park stops abruptly at 
the retaining wall of the Bradfield Highway. The 
western borders of the park slope off sharply and 
are terminated by a wrought iron fence at the top 
of sandstone retaining walls. From these areas 
a panoramic view is afforded of Sydney Harbour. 

The southern border is terminated by the Cahill 
Expressway and the Agar Steps. Beyond this 
point the landform continues to gradually slope 
down towards the Natural Trust Centre. 

The large areas of cutting associated with the 
Argyle steps and the Cahill Expressway have 
dramatically altered the topography of the site 

883



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

21 

alongg its Eastern edge, isolating the 
educational buildings from the rest of the 
precinct and impacting on its park like character 
and usable recreational areas. 

The sites soils are typical of the Gymea 
Landscape Group as identified in the Soil 
Landscapes of Sydney (1:100,000 sheet). Soils 
are derived from the Hawkesbury Sandstone 
and typically shallow, discontinuous, and 
generally sandy and very low in nutrient status 
and water holding capacity. In 2007 some soil 
testing was undertaken on site surrounding the 
mature Fig trees and the soils were found to 
consist of a high Magnesium and Calcium ratio 
which was likely to adversely affect soil 
compaction and tree phosphorus levels. 
Recommendations were outlined to rectify 
nutrient levels. 

Drainage is a problem in some areas of the park 
due to its thin soils over rock and steeply sloping 
turfed areas along the western and northern 
areas which have high pedestrian traffic 
resulting in soil erosion and ‘goat tracks’ in the 
lawn, this is especially evident between the 
Argyle Steps to the Rotunda. 

Microclimates 

The exposed nature of the hill has resulted in 
long term exposure to prevailing winds. The 
downside of this exposure is the adverse 
impacts of prevailing south-westerly winter 
winds which adversely affect visitor amenity and 
can impact on some plant species. Some 
protection from is winds is provided by the 
structures and plantings throughout the park.  

There is little overshadowing from surrounding 
areas and as a result the park (areas not 
impacted by tree shading) is generally exposed 
to full sunlight throughout the day. 

Vegetation 

Tree plantings are typical of Sydney’s urban 
parks of the 19th and 20th centuries. Most plants 
have significance either due to their age, their 
unique characteristics, their rarity or be being 
representative of an era of park plantings. 

Many of the remnant figs, being of large mature 
proportions are registered as significant trees 
(2004) by the City of Sydney. The tree plantings 
form an integral component of the city’s cultural 
heritage of civic planting schemes dating from 
the Victorian era and are a significant part of the 
Millers Point landscape. 

The 19 Moreton Bay figs across the park are 
grouped in four separate and distinctive clusters, 
they are the most prominent plantings on the Hill. 
They are clearly visible from many vantage 
points, including from distant parts of Sydney, 
including the suburbs of Birchgrove, and North 
Sydney across the harbour. 

The Observatory Hill Tree Management Plan 
was prepared for the City of Sydney in 2008 as 
part of a suite of tree management plan for 
Sydney’s iconic 19th Century parks. While the 
plan identifies relevant heritage, environmental 
and arboriculturally data of all the existing trees 
at the time the report was written, only limited 
information was included which identifies 
specific species and some recommendations for 
new species planting. 

Landscape Character: 

The broader Observatory Hill site consists of 
several distinct zones, these include: 

– The Parkland to the north 

– The Observatory which sits nestled into the 
Parkland 

– The central educational zone currently cut off 
from the site by the Cahill Expressway 
Cutting (not part of this PoM) 

– The National Trust Centre which sits to the 
southern end of the Hill, is somewhat 
isolated from other parts of the site and has 
only limited pedestrian access from adjoining 
streets (not part of this PoM).  

The Kent Street tennis courts lie below the 
western edge of the ridge and are physically 
separated from the ridgetop park. 

The overall landscape character of the ridgetop 
parkland derives strongly from the heritage 
elements and built form present. Juxtaposed to 
this are the adjoining views to the roadways and 
CBD buildings to the east and south. Also, the 
newer educational buildings of the Fort Street 
Primary School and the Fanny Cohen Hall, sit in 
contrast to the general Victorian character of the 
Hill notwithstanding some previously expressed 
architectural significance of the school building. 

Visual Amenity 

The Park’s views to Central Sydney, the 
Harbour, North Sydney, Darling Harbour and the 
inner west suburbs are its prominent feature and 
would be one of the main reasons people come 
to use the park. From its many vantage points, 

884



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

22 

visitors can view a panorama that sweeps from 
the Glebe Island Bridge around to Cockatoo 
Island, North Sydney, Millers Point and Walsh 
Bay around to the Sydney Harbour Bridge. The 
Observatory provides an opportunity to promote 
those views and their historic significance. The 
placement of trees and the ground clearance of 
the canopies has an effect on the sight lines from 
the Observatory. Clear sight lines to North Head 
in the east and to peninsulas along the 
foreshores of Parramatta River to the west are 
still required. 

Views of the park are gained from as far away as 
the Falcon Street, Crows Nest entrance to 
Bradfield Highway. The grassed slopes to the 
parks northern slopes can be seen from this 
distance. Crossing the Bridge, the park is 
increasingly visible from vehicles, however travel 
speeds precludes appreciation of the parks form 
and provides no clues as to how to access it from 
the Bridge. Because of its elevated position and 
adjoining buildings, the park is often not visible 
from the surrounding neighbourhood below or 
from the neighbouring Rocks precinct. 

Access and Circulation 

A key issue identified in previous studies has 
been the dangerous mixing of access on Lower 
Fort Street where the Harbour Bridge cycle path 
exists. The Park is located at a gateway into the 
city for cycling, with the south exit of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge located along its eastern edge. 

This cycleway carries large volumes of cyclist 
traffic in the peak. The current shared path/on-
street configuration generates conflicts and 
safety issues for cyclists, pedestrians, vehicle 
drivers and residents adjacent the precinct. 

Fundamentally the road and parking system on 
the Hill is inefficient and poorly legible. The 
splitting of road access at the Cahill Cutting 
between the Educational precinct and the 
National Trust is unnecessary and requires a 
road to the narrow space to the west of the Cahill 
Cutting, limiting pedestrian and user amenity in 
this area of potentially high amenity. 

Wayfinding and signage both to the precinct and 
within it are inadequate and sometimes 
misleading. 

Wayfinding and signage both to the precinct and 
within it are inadequate and sometimes 
misleading. 

The Observatory Hill has been identified for 
capital works upgrades due to the current 
condition of the pathways across the site, conflict 
between pedestrian and vehicular activity and 
the need to consider the ongoing management 
of the significant trees on the site. 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Observatory Hill Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 

The Observatory Hill site provides one of the 
most spectacular vantage points in Sydney to 
overlook the Sydney Harbour Bridge, enjoying 
uninterrupted views to the North and Western 
parts of Sydney. As such it is a much sought-
after passive recreation destination for both local 
and international visitors, as well as local 
residents. Many visitors are drawn to the site as 
a wedding venue or for photo opportunities. 

The park currently has a diverse user group 
including tourists, school children, wedding 
parties, local residents, fitness groups and city 
workers on lunch break. Additional groups 
frequent the park to visit the National Trust and 
Sydney Observatory.  

An Observation survey was undertaken by the 
City of Sydney in 2012 to ascertain the actual 
usage numbers and times of use impacting on 
the site over a seven-day period. Outcomes of 
the 2012 observation study were: 

Key recreational uses include: 

– Wedding / formal party  
– Relaxing on grass 
– Photography 
– Sitting on benches 
– Children playing  
– Fitness / training 
– Dog exercising  
– Standing / looking at views 
– Using Rotunda  
– Picnicking 

885



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

23 

Key recreational use observations include: 

– heavy emphasis on weekday fitness training 
use 

– peak weekday usage from 12.00pm - 
1.00pm 

– Saturday use heavier in afternoon - with 
wedding / photography 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– Enjoy sightseeing and the views 
– Sitting and relaxing 
– Walking or running for exercise 
– Enjoying nature and 
– Walking through to get somewhere else 
– Other activities include playing tennis 

Nearly half of the survey respondents were likely 
to live nearby or visit the area with nearly a third 
visiting the park on a daily basis. The most 
popular time to visit was in the afternoon (12pm-
4pm) followed by afternoon/evening (6pm-9pm). 

User amenities 

Generally, facilities to the site are not over 
proliferated and in the case of park furniture, 

generally appear to meet user needs. It is 
important that the range of elements from 
bollards to fences is consolidated and applied in 
a unified manner. Public toilets closest to 
Observatory Hill are currently located on the 
lower end of Watson Road and are used 
regularly by taxis and bus drivers in the area both 
day and night. These toilets have been upgraded 
in recent years. Currently most users to the Hill 
use The Observatory toilets inside their grounds. 
With the high number of visitors to the park, this 
has an increasing pressure and cost for 
maintenance. 

Event use of the park 

Observatory Hill has been a venue for a variety 
of events from small scale community focused 
events to larger scale ceremonial/ memorial 
services and festivals. The park is also a popular 
spot for larger community events such as the 
New Year’s Eve Fireworks. Other events have 
included exhibitions, filming, launch and 
promotional events, live performances, media 
calls, sporting events and wedding ceremonies. 
Recorded attendances have ranged up to 
15,000 people. The City of Sydney registered a 
total of 23 events between 2015-19. 

 

Figure 5. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Observatory Park:   

Rotunda General Public Use 

Bookings required for event / 
gathering purposes 

Good (2) 

Permanent public art 

- Hans Christian 
Anderson bust 

 Bronze bust, vertically textured, 
elliptical sandstone plinth. 

Good (2) 

Monument / Memorial – 
South African War 
Memorial 

South African War 1899-1902 
Volunteers memorial; Boer War 
Memorial 

Sandstone square cairn with curved 
arms and paved enclosed semicircle 
with artillery gun 

Average (3) 

Footpaths/pavements General Public Use Average to Good 

Fitness area General Public Use 

Fitness group use 

Poor (4) 

886



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

24 

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Park Furniture - seating General Public Use Average 

Park Furniture – water 
bubblers 

General Public Use Average 

Park Furniture - lighting General Public Use Average 

Park Furniture - fencing General Public Use Average 

Tennis Centre:    

Courts Pay for use by booking Good (2) 

Fencing n/a Good (2) 

Watson Road 
Reserve: 

  

Park Furniture - seating General Public Use Average to Good 

Sandstone steps/walling n/a Good 

Fencing on walling n/a Good 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 6. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / license Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Retail Lease  G. E. Hotels Pty Ltd 5 years, 08/08/2017 
Expiry 07/08/2022 

Tennis court for public 
hire 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

887



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

25 

Ownership and management 
Observatory Hill is a Crown reserve owned by 
the State of New South Wales. The City of 
Sydney is the Crown land manager responsible 
for management of the reserve.  Refer to 
Section 2, pages 14-15 for further property 
details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Observatory Hill is Clause 65 
that specifies that development for any purpose 
may be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

888



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

26 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Observatory Hill is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

889



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

27 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City’s Native Title Manager has been and 
will continue to be consulted in all relevant 
aspects of Native Title pertaining to the land that 
is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

890



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

28 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this Local Government Area 
(“LGA”). The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

891



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

29 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

 CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

892



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

30 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform 
specific aspects of reserve 

  

893



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

31 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

894



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

32 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

895



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

33 

Values and roles of 
Observatory Hill  
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parks that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0 Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- The highest point in the Sydney CBD  

- A peaceful place providing respite from the 
CBD 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A park that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 
 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- A place for daily fitness 

- A place for dog walking and exercise 

- Tennis courts that provide an active heart to 
the park 

- An iconic tourist destination 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture  

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 
 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

- Park elements support park use and create 
an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
green spaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

6. Basis for 
Management 

896



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

34 

- A place that strengthens First Nations people 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access 
to cultural expression and awareness 
through arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- Cohesive management of a significant 
precinct 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

  

897



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

35 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Observatory Hill Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 8 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Observatory Hill in 
accordance with Crown Land requirements. The 
Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
identifies that councils should apply the initial 
categorisation based on existing/current use of 
the reserve only. The initial categorisation 
cannot be based on proposed or future use. The 
initial categorisations for Observatory Hill have 
been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Observatory Hill there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Observatory Hill, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 7) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Observatory Hill. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Observatory Hill is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

898



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

36 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Observatory Hill 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports court areas available for pay for use 
bookings 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

 

 

899



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

Watson Road

K
e

n
t S

t ree
t

W
es

te
rn

 D
is

tri
bu

te
r/

 B
ra

df
ie

ld
 H

w
y

U
pp

er
 F

or
t S

tr
ee

t
Cahill Expy

Argyle Street

7003 / DP 1071940

7302 / DP1163733

8863 / 
DP1219782

1/ 
DP53540

1/ 
DP55195

2/ 
DP909499

1 / DP 
244444

Watson Road

K
e

n
t S

t ree
t

W
es

te
rn

 D
is

tri
bu

te
r/

 B
ra

df
ie

ld
 H

w
y

U
pp

er
 F

or
t S

tr
ee

t
Cahill Expy

Argyle Street

N

Sportsground

Park

CATEGORYLEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

900



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

38 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Observatory Hill through past 
master planning (2012 and 2019 upgrade 
concepts) and plans of management (Draft Plan 
of Management 1997). This PoM references the 
Master Plan 2012 as the current overall planning 
direction for the reserve supplemented by the 
Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”). 

Summarised following are the guiding strategic 
directions for planning and management of 
Observatory Hill: 

2012 Observatory Hill Master Plan  

Key principles:  

Restoration - Restore park edges whittled away 
over the years by the encroachment of transport 
infrastructure. 

– Reclaim surplus road area and bus layover 
detracting from pedestrian environment to 
frontages of Abraham Mott Hall and Harry 
Jensen Activity Centre for recreation/ event 
space and improved playground. 

– Improve connections between Educational 
and Cultural buildings currently separated 
from open space parkland. 

– Reclaim Bradfield Highway area freed up by 
removal of disused toll booths. 

 
Green Mantle - Maximise and consolidate the 
‘Green Mantle’ open space areas across the 
precinct. Consideration should be given to views 
and vistas to the precinct. 

– Reduce noise and traffic impacts from 
Bradfield Highway edge which detract from 
enjoyment of the park. 

– Improve usability of the park - Consider 
options to bridge Cahill Expressway cutting 
and minimise fencing clutter. 

– Buffer the Bradfield Highway along park’s 
eastern edge.  

– Long term vision for preserving significant 
views to and from Observatory Hill. 

– Maximise garden bed and turf areas. 
 
 
 

Connections - Consolidate vehicular access 
and parking to undesirable eastern edge. 

– Rationalised and pedestrian, cycle and 
vehicular routes. 

– Improved visual access and wayfinding to 
and within Observatory Hill. 

– Improved connectivity with surrounding area 
at locations limited by topography and the 
Bradfield Highway. 

– Potential new access point to the National 
Trust & Observatory Hill from Kent Street. 

– Long term linkage opportunities to 
surrounding areas e.g. Barangaroo, The 
Rocks. 

Open space, sports and recreation needs 
strategy 2016  

Strategic directions: 

The report notes Observatory Hill is one of the 
City of Sydney’s best vantage points for 
unobstructed Harbour views, yet the park is 
fragmented and underused due to poor 
pedestrian access brought about by busy roads 
and topography.  

Barangaroo is bringing more people into the 
precinct and will generate additional demand for 
connections to Observatory Hill.  

Key directions highlighted include: 

– New toilet facilities  

– Refurbishment of Rotunda  

– Enhance physical and visual connections 
between Observatory Hill, Millers Point, 
Barangaroo  

– Investigate the feasibility of unifying the park 
by restore Observatory Hill by providing 
connections / cover over the Cahill 
expressway cutting  

– Access: east – investigate feasibility of 
pedestrian bridge over Western Distributor/ 
lift access from Argyle Street  

– Investigate feasibility lift access at key 
access points to the park 

– Connection through High Street, form a 
larger connection from the park to 
Barangaroo edge – Agar Steps  

901



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

39 

– Improve cycle access along eastern side of 
park from Harbour Bridge to Kent Street 
underpass.  

Other recommended Works to include: 

– Argyle Street and Kent Street underpass 
upgrades which will improve access and 
connectivity to Observatory Hill  

Current Project status of upgrades: 

– New toilet facility - design development 
underway 

– Design assessment of cycle link completed 

– Refurbishment of Rotunda completed  

 
Harbour Village North Public Domain Study – 
2012 
The study identifies six guiding directions for 
long term improvements in Harbour Village North 
that will strengthen its character as a special 
destination while improving connections to 
surrounding areas and enriching community life. 
The following directions directly relate to 
Observatory Hill: 
 
Improve access, connectivity and wayfinding 

– Improving wayfinding throughout the area, 
including carefully designed signs, pointers, 
guides and information will help with 
navigation and encourage more people to 
walk the route. 

 
Network of linked open spaces 

– Long term opportunities to consolidate green 
space at Observatory Hill should also be 
considered. 

– Upgrading and ‘greening’ the existing spaces 
of the Kent Street underpass would improve 
the amenity of these areas and connecting 
Observatory Hill to Lang Park. 

Respect and celebrate Heritage,  

– At Observatory Hill, opportunities to restore 
the park space after numerous infrastructure 
encroachments, and improve the setting and 
interpretation of heritage elements can be 
explored 

Natural environment and Views 

– Significant and historic panoramic views 
from Observatory Hill to Sydney Harbour are 
important and must be protected. 

– The retention of wide harbour views from 
existing streets and public domain areas 
should be maximised with the development 
of Barangaroo and framed with carefully 
considered landscape and built form 
elements. 

Strengthen local communities, facilities and 
recreation 

– Harbour Village North has a strong 
residential community consisting of public 
tenants, private owners and leaseholders in 
a range of building types. 

– Observatory Hill and King George V Centre 
provide popular recreation destinations for 
workers and residents 

Figure 9 on the following page is the approved 
master plan for Observatory Hill prepared in 
2016 for the Open Space Sports Recreation 
Needs Study (Volume 1 The Strategy). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

902



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 9. Master Plan 
 

 

 

  

903



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

41 

 

 

 

 

City of Sydney Reference Design Plan for access. upgrades, 2019 

 

 

 

904



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

42 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

905



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

43 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

906



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

44 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Observatory Hill and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series Observatory Hill. The 
outcomes seek to conserve and enhance the 
values of Observatory Hill and address 
management challenges and opportunities 
identified by the community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Observatory 

Hill will be considered on merit and benefits to 
the community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

907



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

45 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Observatory Hill. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Observatory Hill may also 
be prohibited by the applicable land use 
zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 
activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 
be communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Observatory Hill 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Observatory Hill which may attract high 
numbers of people including one-off community 
events and performances. 

908



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

46 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Observatory Hill and settings 
(such as playgrounds, fitness stations and park 
seating) will be determined by the community 
use of the site but will be managed to avoid 
undue impacts on park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 

which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the parks is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the parks. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Observatory Hill is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

909



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

47 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Observatory Hill. 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

910



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

48 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained  

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

911



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

49 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– There is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– There is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  

In all cases, the applicant is to be responsible for 
all costs incurred by the City of Sydney in the 
creation of the easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

912



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

50 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Observatory Hill, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

 To implement a meaning 
and description that 
reflects connection to place 

Work with the community to establish 
a meaning and description that 
captures the place’s connection to 
Country  

Consultation completed 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

 To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive elements 
that reflect the spaces historical 
identity and natural character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 The highest point 
in the Sydney CBD 

To conserve and enhance 
views and vistas to the 
Harbour and surrounds 

Ensure view corridors both to and 
from Observatory Hill are maintained 
including consideration of distant 
vistas especially from the Harbour, 
Balmain and North Sydney 

Monitoring of activities that 
may inhibit views and vistas 

 

1.4 A peaceful place 
providing respite 
from the CBD 

 To reinstate some of the 
open space’s peaceful 
beauty and character 
 

Investigate opportunities to enhance 
amenity in park 

Where appropriate, liaise with 
adjoining landowners and authorities  

Targeted user surveys 

Sustained relationship with 
adjoining landowners and 
authorities 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district and 
regional users 

 To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and 
safe routes to the park 
from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

 To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage for 
park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes 
and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance with 
Australian Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate 
lighting to support desired 
night access, recreational 
and leisurely use of open 
space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues and 
address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

913



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 

 

 

 

A community 
destination 
accessible from the 
cycle network  

 To enable park to be 
effectively accessed from 
cycle network and 
encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of park 
access to adjoining and potential 
future cycle corridors 

Where required, integrate enhanced 
cycle facilities into park improvements  

Increased local use of park 
by cyclists, measured by 
surveys and observation 

 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
vehicle access 

 To provide a balanced 
approach to parking 

 To provide and manage 
functional maintenance 
and emergency access 
mitigating adverse impacts 
on park and uses 

 Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Manage existing on and off-street 
parking to ensure efficiency and 
equity 

Ensure that permitted use of vehicles 
in park are regulated and do not affect 
community use of space 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities into 
ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent residents 

 To ensure that the park 
provides a range of 
flexible and informal use 
spaces that are attractive 
and comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 A place for daily 
fitness  

 To support and manage a 
sustainable level of 
fitness activity in the park 

Support the role of the park for fitness 
activities in accordance with Council’s 
policy framework 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
fitness activities. Regular 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.3 A place for dog 
walking and 
exercise 

 To provide for effective 
dog exercise in 
accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.4 Tennis courts that 
provide an active 
heart to the park 

 To maintain and enhance 
the role of the tennis 
courts for the residential, 
school and workforce 
community 

Maintain and enhance role of tennis 
courts 

Regularly monitor services and 
management under lease agreement 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

3.5 An iconic tourist 
destination 

 To support the important 
ongoing role of the park 
as a destination for a high 
volume of tourists 

Consider the role of the park for 
tourist visitation and activities 
undertaken in provision of facilities 
and the balanced management of all 
uses 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
tourism. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
direction 

3.6 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

 

 To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.7 A place for events  To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community outcomes 

 To facilitate the ongoing 
destination role of the 
park for weddings and 
wedding photography 

To facilitate temporary event use that 
is appropriate to scale of spaces and 
in consideration of other park uses 

Manage park events and weddings in 
accordance with Observatory Hill 
guidelines  

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

   
 
 
 

  

914



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.8 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members of 
community 

 That the park is managed 
as part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to 
assisting homeless 
persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness in 
public spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the community to 
use public spaces’ (Homelessness 
Action Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be accessed 
and enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regularly review of register 
to guide future directions 

3.9 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

 To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and 
pass through, appropriate 
to intended (and varied) 
usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access in 
park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to identify 
and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 

Sustained relationship with 
local police 

 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

4.1 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

 Provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park users 

Investigate opportunities to implement 
new toilet facilities 

Increased use measured by 
survey and observation 

Park elements 

4.2 Park elements 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive character 

 To support recreational 
and leisure use of park 
while avoiding proliferation 
of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture and 
other park elements in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

Underground Infrastructure 

4.3 Underground 
infrastructure 

 To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 

 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 

Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 

Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the original 
natural 
environment  

 To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat value 
of natural and built 
features 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  

 

Monitoring of habitat values 

915



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.4   To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory role 
for proposed works associated with 
open space 

Investigate opportunities to increase 
community understanding and 
participation in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open space 
works 

Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is 
cool, calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

 To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to 
create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively maintain 
and manage the existing 
tree resources at optimum 
health for their safe and 
practical lifespans 

 To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance with 
tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

 To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  

  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

 To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and support 
of best practice waste management 
activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations people and 
living culture 

 To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the local 
area 

Consult with the First Nations People 
on how to interpret and integrate 
cultural heritage values in ongoing 
planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

 To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

 To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

 

 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

916



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means (strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.3 A place that 
provides the 
community access 
to cultural 
expression and 
awareness through 
arts and culture 

 To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic and 
creative expression that is 
sustainable in the context 
of existing character and 
use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 

Conserve and manage in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public 
art. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Inspections and audits 

6.4 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

 To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of 
natural and cultural values 
represented on the site 
and add to the experience 
and use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and culture 

 To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments 
the park setting and adds 
to the range of 
experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Cohesive 
management of a 
significant precinct 

 To encourage ongoing 
coordinated management 
between all landowners 
and managers within the 
precinct 

Liaise with adjoining landowners and 
authorities to pursue a collaborative 
and coordinated approach to precinct 
management 

Sustained relationship with 
adjoining landowners and 
authorities 

 

7.2 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

 To provide well-
maintained parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out in 
accordance with City of Sydney Parks 
Maintenance Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

 To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.4 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

 To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated 
to mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social 
activities 

All future leases and licences to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 

 

  

917



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

55 

Figure 10. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 10 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Observatory Hill 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

918



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

56 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

Figure 11. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 11 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Observatory Hill in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

919



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

57 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

920



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

58 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

 
 
  

921



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

59 

Figure 12. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 12 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Observatory Hill 
categorised as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton, tennis and netball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

922



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

60 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

Figure 13. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 13 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences or statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Observatory Hill in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

923



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

61 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Management and operation of recreational facility  

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

924



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

62 

Glossary of terms 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures  

 

 

 

  

12. Appendices 

925



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

63 

References 
 

– Observatory Hill Plan of Management 1997 

– Harbour Village North Public Domain 
Strategy 2012 

– Observatory Hill Master Plan 2012 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

  

926



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

64 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

927



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

65 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

928



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

929



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

67 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

930



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

68 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

931



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

932



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

respected as such. 
 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

933



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

71 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

934



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

935



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

936



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

937



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

938



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

939



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right to access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

940



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

941



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

942



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

943



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

944



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

945



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

946



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

  

947



Observatory Hill 
Specific Plan of Management 

 

85 

 

 

 

 

 

948



Attachment M 

Perry Park 

 

 

 

949



 

Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 950



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 13 

3. Legislative context 21 

4. Strategic context 24 

5. Community guiding principles 27 

6. Basis for management 29 

7. Review of the plan 36 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 37 

8. General requirements 38 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 44 

10. Park category - authorisations 50 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 54 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 57 

13. Appendices 61 

 

951



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 13 

Figure 3. Site Plan 14 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 19 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 20 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 32 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 33 

Figure 8. Master Plan – Sports Field Precinct 35 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 50 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 51 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 54 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 55 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 57 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 58 

 

 

952



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

953



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

954



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Perry Park (Crown Reserve 80135 - Lot 7057 
DP 1060577) is classified as “community land” 
under the LG Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

955



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

956



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

957



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

958



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 

hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles.  

959



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Perry Park 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

960



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

961



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Perry Park through past master 
planning (Feasibility Study 2008) and city-wide 
strategic planning documents (Open Space, 
Sports and Recreation Study 2016, 
“OSSRNS”). This PoM references the OSSRNS 
as the current planning direction for the reserve. 

 

Location and description  
Perry Park is located on the corner of Bourke 
Road and Maddox Street and is surrounded by 
industrial and commercial land-uses. 

The park is 500m from Green Square Station 
and next to the Bourke Road cycleway making it 
perfectly positioned to cater for future community 
needs. At approximately 2.4 hectares, Perry 
Park is one of the larger open spaces in the 
Alexandria and Green Square area. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Perry Park 

Address 1B Maddox Street, Alexandria  

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted date  

80135 Reserve, Public Recreation, 15/11/1957 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 22281.63 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 7057 DP 1060577 

Restrictions / easements n/a 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

General Community 
Use/Park/Sportsground 

 

Condition of land  refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

2. Land description 

962



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 
  

963



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  
The site of Perry Park has been in public 
ownership since 1935. Its history since that time 
reflects the changing requirements and interests 
of local government and the recreational needs 
of the local community. 

The land was part of the Gadigal people’s 
traditional lands and is associated with the tidal 
creek now known as Shea’s Creek. The area 
prior to European arrival formed one of the 
coastal saltwater inlets of the Cooks River and 
Botany Bay and would have supported 
mangroves, low scrubby ground and mudflats. 

The area of flat land along Shea’s Creek was 
used for market gardens during the 19th century 
when a substantial Chinese community grew 
vegetables for the Sydney Produce Markets. In 
the 20th century the district infilled with factories 
and engineering works.  By 1943 there were 550 
companies based in the area which produced 
goods ranging from bricks to aeroplanes. 

The land was reserved for Public Recreation in 
1956 and the City of Sydney Council was 
appointed Trustee of Perry Park in November 
1957. Notwithstanding, the park was not 
developed for recreational purposes until the 
latter half of the 1970s. Prior to this, it had been 
left as an area of grass over landfill material 
since tipping operations ceased in the early 
1950s.  

The park was named after Arthur Reginald 
Horatio Perry JP, who was a local political figure 
and Mayor of Alexandria in the 1930s. 

The park has been associated with amateur 
basketball in inner-Sydney for over 50 years. 
Today, the City of Sydney Basketball 
Association has a perpetual lease of a portion of 
Perry Park, housing the Alexandria Basketball 
Stadium. This facility provides 2 basketball 
courts and associated facilities situated on the 
west side of the park (not associated to this 
PoM).  

In 2019, a new multi-purpose recreational centre 
was developed with further planned 
improvements to the playing field surface aiming 
to consolidate the park’s role as a key organised 
sports facility. 

 
 

Heritage Context 
Perry Park is in the vicinity of three items listed 
on Schedule 7 of the City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (“LEP”), as follows: 

– I2234—eastern part of former Alexandria 
Spinning Mills including internal structure 
(20-30 Maddox Street) 

– I2233—western part of former Alexandria 
Spinning Mills including internal structure 
(58-68 Euston Road) 

– I20—industrial building “Frank G Spurway” 
including interior (20-30 Maddox Street) 

History 

Prior to colonisation, Shea’s creek meandered 
its way through mangroves, mud flats and low 
scrubby ground eventually draining into the 
Cooks River. The creek was tidal and much of 
the area was alluvial and blown sand. Local First 
Nations people moved freely through this 
landscape prior to colonisation accessing this 
and other coastal saltwater inlets of the Cooks 
River and Botany Bay. The middens of First 
Nations settlements were sought out by colonial 
builders, with discarded oyster shells providing a 
vital ingredient for lime mortar.  

In 1935 Alexandria Council bought seven 
acres of land nearby from the NSW government 
to create a park. It was initially used as a site for 
garbage disposal in the 1930s and 1940s. The 
site passed to the control of the Cleansing 
Department of the City of Sydney in 1949. 
Tipping operations at the site ceased in April 
1950 through illegal dumping continued in the 
1950s.  

The surface of the site was covered with soil and 
grassed after 1950. The Council prepared plans 
for a park in 1956 but this did not happen. 
Council prepared more than one plan for the 
park between 1950 and 1956, but none of these 
eventuated.  

Council set aside approximately 3 acres of the 
park for transhipment of local produce, leaving 
the residue to be used for women’s sports and a 
rest area.  

City of Sydney Council was appointed 
Trustees of Perry Park in November 1957. 
There was still limited action on formalising the 

964



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

park and the site was occupied by squatters 
living in shanties on the grounds. 

In 1964, the Council granted a lease of the 
south-west portion of the park in perpetuity to 
the Amateur Basketball Association of NSW 
and this area was first used in 1967. The rest of 
land was set aside for sports but once again, at 
least three plans were developed in 1961 and 
1962 but never implemented. 

The site passed to the control of South Sydney 
Council in 1968 following changes to local 
government boundaries.  

Multiple sporting bodies applied to use the 
grounds, but the site was not suitable for sporting 
use. Further plans were drawn up to develop the 
park as a sportsground in 1971, and yet again 
did not progress. South Sydney Council drew up 
new plans in 1977 which were implemented and 
provided for mounding (berm) at the south-east 
and north-east corners, a brick amenity block 
and a small car park. A softball diamond pitch 
and combined league and soccer goal posts 
were also provided. 

The park was progressed during 1977 and 
1978 including new plantings along the northern 
edge of the park. The dark brick amenities 
building was under construction in February 
1978. 

The new multi-purpose sports centre opened 
on 30 March 2019. 

The park’s name commemorates a local political 
figure.  It was named after Alderman Arthur 
Reginald Horatio Perry JP who was president of 
the Alexandria branch of the ALP and mayor of 
Alexandria in the 1930s. 

 

 

 

Statement of Significance 

Perry Park reflects the dramatic pattern of 
modification and development from the natural 
landscapes managed and maintained by the Cadigal 
to the ownership and subdivision of land for industrial 
and commercial uses.   

In public ownership since 1935, the history of Perry 
Park since then reflects the changing requirements 
and interests of local government and the recreational 
needs of the local community.  The Park has been 
associated with amateur basketball in inner city 
Sydney for over 50 years and provides valued 
community recreational space.   

The park is fringed by mature street tree planting 
which has streetscape appeal and provides a sense 
of containment within the park. 

 

Key heritage features 

Key elements within the reserve include: 

– Practice cricket pitch 

– Play equipment 

– Amenities block 

– Scattered seating 

– Picnic shelters  

– A row of Hills Figs along the Bourke Road 
frontage. These are of some significance for 
their contribution to the streetscape and 
character of the park.  

Note, no trees within the reserve are listed on the 
City of Sydney’s Significant tree register. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

965



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Environment and landscape 
Perry Park is located on the corner of Bourke 
Road and Maddox Street, Alexandria and is 
surrounded by industrial and commercial land-
uses. At approximately 2.4 hectares, Perry Park 
is one of the larger open spaces in the 
Alexandria and Green Square area.  

The park is strategically located to serve an 
evolving and growing population. In addition, it is 
located 500m from the Green Square train 
station and adjacent to the Bourke Road 
cycleway, positioning the park well to cater for 
district and regional sporting use.  

A feasibility study was carried out in 2008 that 
looked at ways to improve the park and optimise 
this location. 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 
– The area prior to European arrival formed 

one of the coastal saltwater inlets of the 
Cooks River and Botany Bay and would have 
supported mangroves, low scrubby ground 
and mudflats 

– The area is associated with the tidal creek 
now known as Shea’s Creek. The tidal creek 
and much of the area was alluvial and blown 
sand 

Physical Characteristics: 
Landform, Soil, Drainage 
– The site has been heavily modified from its 

pre-European settlement landscape. 

– Filling operations with rubbish and the 
subsequent development of the park 
facilities and service infrastructure beneath 
the park will have modified the original soil 
profile 

– The current landform is characterised by a 
low berm / mounded landform which 
provides a level playing surface to the top 

Plantings 
– A mix of semi mature trees species within 

park 

– Street trees (Melaleuca, Hills Figs) contribute 
to the park character, visual amenity of the 
park frontages and shade coverage on 
adjoining public footpaths 

– There is very little understorey planting within 
the park 

– The site has been noted as a supporting 
habitat site in the Urban Ecology Strategic 
Action Plan. Small bird species recorded 
along nearby Sheas Creek - potential for 
improvement to garden beds for habitat 
outcomes within the park 

Access and Circulation 
Access to the park - Perry Park is very 
accessible via public transport.  

– It is located approximately 500m from the 
Green Square Train Station. 

– Bus Route no. 370 passes along McEvoy St 
from Central Station to Coogee. 

– Bus stop on Maddox Street adjacent the park 
(305 route at morning am and evening peak 
only to Redfern Station) 

– Additional bus services can be accessed 
near at Green Square Station and on 
McEvoy St, both approximately 500m from 
the site 

– The Park is within 850m of Sydney Park and 
1km of Erskineville Oval 

– Existing dedicated cycleway adjacent Park 
on Bourke Road provides direct access to 
the park and links to local area and beyond 
(links Mascot to Green Square) 

Access within the park: 

– Path network to primary routes to facilities 

– Formal pedestrian entry on Maddox Street 
and Bourke Street 

– Small carpark and turning area on the north 
side of the sports field, entry via Bourke 
Street 

 

Reserve development 
Key Milestones: 
– Rubbish tipping operations seized in early 

1950s, left as an area of grass over fill, 
rubbish material 

– The land was reserved for Public Recreation 
in 1956 

– 1964 the Council granted a lease of the 
south-west portion of the park in perpetuity to 
the Amateur Basketball Association 

966



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

– South Sydney Council drew up new plans in 
1977  

– The park was formed during 1977 and 1978 
including new plantings along the northern 
edge of the park 

– The dark brick amenities building was under 
construction in February 1978 

– A new multipurpose sports centre opened on 
30 March 2019 

Capital works upgrades: 
Current proposal for Perry Park includes:  

– a new FIFA sized synthetic sports field  
– a new amenity pavilion 
– a new share way and parking 
– new park lighting and seating 
– welcoming park entries and better access in 

and around the park 
– New native plants and trees.  

Before the new sports field can be built, 60 trees 
need to be removed. Council proposals include 
the replacement of canopy with 30 to 40 large 
canopy shade trees as part of this upgrade. 
(Source: From City of Sydney Website) 

Past studies and plans include: 
Previous studies and strategic directions 
included development of an indoor multi-
purpose courts and upgrade of the playing field 
to a synthetic surface with supporting amenities. 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 

– Feasibility Study 2008 

 
Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Perry Park Crown reserve 
is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 
Perry Park has been used for basketball since 
the late 1960s and the new recreation centre is 
next to the existing dual-court Alexandria 
basketball stadium (City of Sydney Basketball 
Association). 

The Perry Park Recreation Centre opened in 
March 2019, consists of 2 indoor and 2 outdoor 
multipurpose courts for sports such as netball, 
basketball, volleyball badminton and futsal. It 
caters for adult and children's sports 
competitions and offers court hire.  

The centre also features a kiosk, staff 
administration area, change rooms and an 
external terrace.  

Perry Park Recreation Centre is 500-700m from 
Green Square train station and next to the 
Bourke Road cycleway, making it perfectly 
positioned to cater for future community needs. 

The new centre supports the inner city’s need for 
diverse and accessible recreational facilities. 

At the time of preparation of this PoM, upgrade 
works were in progress to extend the recreation 
centre and are due for completion in 2021. 
These works include enclosing and redesigning 
the 2 outdoor courts so they can be used in all 
weather conditions and cater for a greater 
number of sports. When works are completed, 
the centre will provide 4 indoor multi-purpose 
courts for sports including netball, basketball, 
volleyball, badminton and futsal.  

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– participating in formal team sports and 
attending sporting events  

followed by: 

– sitting and relaxing 

– playing with kids 

– informal games and sports 

– sightseeing/enjoying the view 

– enjoying nature 

– Walking through to get somewhere else. 

The survey respondents were likely to live 
nearby the park or visit the area and 40% of 

967

https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/community-centres/perry-park-recreation-centre


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

respondents would visit the park on a weekly or 
occasional basis. 

Facilities 
– recreation centre (4 indoor courts on 

completion of phase 2) 

– extensive cycle parking facilities are 
provided at entry to recreation centre 

– sports field (planning in development) 

– supporting user amenities (planning in 
development) 

– spectator seating and picnic facilities 

– Dog off-leash. 

Event use of the park 
Perry Park and its facilities have hosted small 
community event day and gatherings including 
meetings, small festivals, community 
consultation.  

The City of Sydney has registered a total of 7 
events between 2015-19. Attendance has 
ranged up to 30 people. 

 
 

 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment 

(source / reference) 

Recreation Centre incl indoor 
and outdoor courts 

Organised sports users Completed 2019 

Synthetic Sports Field Organised sports users 

General public access in non-
sports use times  

Planning in development 

Sports Field lighting Organised sports users Planning in development 

Field fencing n/a Planning in development 

Public toilets and amenity 
building 

Organised sports users 
General Public 

Planning in development 

Carpark Organised sports users 

General Public 
Planning in development 

In-ground water tank Field maintenance Planning in development 

Footpaths General Public Planning in development 

Park Furniture - seats General Public Planning in development 

Park Furniture - lighting General Public Planning in development 

Park Furniture - bins General Public Planning in development 

Park Furniture - Signage General Public Planning in development 

   

968



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 
Lease / licence Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

969



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Ownership and management 
Perry Park is a Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales. The City of Sydney 
is the Crown Land manager responsible for the 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 13 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Perry Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

970



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Perry Park is zoned RE1 – Public Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

971



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

 

972



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

973



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households.  

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City experiences 680,000 daily and 
overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

974



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

975



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

976



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

– . 

977



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Values and roles of Perry Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

- A visually enclosed park space 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected park to adjoining neighbourhoods 
and to district and regional users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear easy and safe to move around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A recreation destination accessible from cycle 
network connections 

- A place that is not compromised by parking and 
vehicle access 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent residents 

- Spaces and facilities support youth use of the park 

- Access to dog off leash areas 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all members of 
community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public amenities 

- A place of mixed active and passive recreation 
roles for the community 

- A place for organised sports 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Multi-purpose recreational facilities 

- Sports field for local and district use  

- Park elements support park use and create an 
attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the original 
natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support biodiversity 

- A highly modified landscape 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the park 
setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste management 
practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations People and 
living culture 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

6. Basis for 
management 

978



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

979



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Perry Park Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Perry Park in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Perry Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Perry Park there are no site characteristics 
that would justify Natural Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 

whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Perry Park, Section 2 describes the heritage 
characteristics of the land, and the applicable 
listings and controls. These will be considered in 
all management decisions related to the land. 
The additional layer of Area of Cultural 
Significance categorisation is not deemed to be 
required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Perry Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Perry Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

980



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Perry Park 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To playing field areas and supporting amenities  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

  

981



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

982



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Perry Park through past master 
planning (Feasibility Study 2008) and city-wide 
strategic planning documents (Open Space, 
Sports and Recreation Study 2016, 
“OSSRNS”). This PoM references the OSSRNS 
as the current planning direction for the reserve. 

Summarised following are the guiding strategic 
directions for planning and management of Perry 
Park as and this PoM.  Figure 8 over page 
illustrates the master planning concept for the 
sports field zone of the park in implementation in 
2021. 

Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 
A feasibility study was carried out in 2008 that 
looked at ways to improve the park. 
Development of indoor multi-purpose courts and 
upgrade of the playing field to a synthetic surface 
with supporting amenities were the major 
recommendations.   

The works below are included in the OSSRNS.  

10 Year Capital works program: 
– New separate building behind the existing 

basketball stadium with two practice courts 
with foundations and slab for future 
expansion additional 2 indoor courts 

– The slab will be used for outdoor practice 
courts as an interim measure  

– Synthetic turf playing surface  

Future Considerations: 
The OSSRNS identified further provision of two 
additional indoor courts subject to State and 
Federal and/or private funds becoming 
available. Ideally the future project should aim for 
holistic planning with the existing stadium to 
create an integrated 6 indoor court facility.  

Sports Field provision and usability 
The OSSRNS 2016 and Sports Facilities 
Demand Study (Volume 4) recommended an 
additional 20 sports fields would be required 
within the City of Sydney by 2031 to meet 
projected needs. 

In addition to providing new fields all councils 
across the Sydney metropolitan area are 
considering ways to increase the hours of use of 
existing fields to assist in addressing demand. 

One such approach is to enhance the resilience 
of field surfaces to wear and reduce post rain 
recovery time 
The City of Sydney is aiming to increase the 
capacity of the sports field resources by 16,000 
playing hours by 2030. This will involve 
constructing synthetic fields to strategic 
locations that can provide longer usage hours 
than traditional turf fields.  

There are limitations as to where the city can 
feasibly provide these facilities and cater to the 
implications of increased use (traffic and the 
like). Perry Park was identified as a suitable 
location which would complement the vision of 
developing Perry Park as an active sports park. 

The OORNS specifically outlined the need for: 

– provision of a multi-purpose synthetic field 
sized appropriately for competition sports for 
use all year round 

– level of synthetic field to reduce visual impact 
of height of any required sports fencing 

– consideration of the location and quantity of 
spectator to field and in relation to field and 
shade 

– location of facilities to maximise remaining 
space for passive recreation and protect 
significant vegetation where possible. 

 

 

983



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Figure 8. Master Plan – Sports Field Precinct 
 

 
  

984



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values  

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 
  

7. Review of the plan 

985



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

986



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Perry Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Perry Park. The outcomes seek 
to conserve and enhance the values of Perry 
Park and address management challenges and 
opportunities identified by the community and 
City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land. Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 
structures and spaces at Perry Park will be 

considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

987



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Perry Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments  

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City will notify and give an 
opportunity for comment from any representative 
Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander bodies, 
registered Native Title bodies corporate and 
registered Native Title claimants in relation to the 
land or waters covered by the reservation or 
lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Perry Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City may prohibit certain activities from time 
to time. Prohibited uses will be communicated 
via City bookings, lease and licence agreements, 
or otherwise communicated where prohibited 
activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Perry Park must 
consider the needs of and impacts on residents, 
workers and adjoining land uses in terms of 
accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Perry Park which may attract high numbers of 
people including organised sport activities and 
training, school sport competitions, commercial 

988



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

activities and one-off community events and 
performances. 

The allocation of Perry Park for organised sport 
and school sport will comply with the City of 
Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Perry Park and settings will be 
determined by the community use of the site but 
will be managed to avoid undue impacts on park 
fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 

construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City’s ability to lease or licence Crown 
reserves managed as community land such as 
Perry Park is authorised by section 3.22 of the 
CLM Act, which requires the preparation of a 
community land PoM, adopted by Council, to 
authorise an occupancy or use agreement. 

989



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Perry Park. 

Access  
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

990



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City’s 
technical specifications and where required, 
relevant standards identified within the State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and 
Complying Development Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with City of Sydney  

– all necessary City of Sydney approvals have 
been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

991



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

 

992



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Perry Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which signposts 
and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

• To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the 
spaces historical identity and 
natural character 

Increased visibility of 
park identity 

1.3 A visually enclosed park 
space 

• To provide comfortable and 
safe park spaces across all 
seasons 

Recognise strong enclosure in 
planning design and 
management to ensure 
balance of shade / solar 
access  

Availability of shaded 
areas in summer and 
sunny places to sit in 
winter 
 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected parkland 
to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to 
district and regional users 

• To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to 
the park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work 
towards improving local 
access routes for workplace 
precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of 
public comments in 
relation to park access. 
Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

• To provide effective wayfinding 
and signage for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade 
wayfinding and signage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Where required, implement 
new wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of 
park, measured by 
observation 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

2.3 A place that is clear, easy 
and safe to move around 

• To provide functional, attractive 
and compliant internal 
circulation routes and path 
networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths 
and pavements in accordance 
with park service levels 
Where required, implement 
new pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance 
with Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

• To provide adequate lighting to 
support desired night access, 
recreational and leisurely use of 
open space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting 
issues and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with 
Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

993



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 
 
 

 

A recreation destination 
accessible from cycle 
network connections 

• To enable park to be effectively 
accessed from cycle network 
and encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of 
park access to adjoining and 
potential future cycle corridors 
Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities 
into park improvements  

Increased local use of 
park by cyclists, 
measured by surveys 
and observation 

 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 
 
 

• To provide a balanced 
approach to parking  

• To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing on and off-
street parking to ensure 
efficiency and equity 
Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated 
and do not affect community 
use of space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space 
areas 
Incorporate educational 
activities into ongoing 
management 

Reduced pedestrian, 
cyclist and vehicle 
conflicts 
Improved public safety 

Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park provides 
a range of flexible and informal 
use spaces that are attractive 
and comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use 
of spaces for broad community 
benefit 
 

Increased local use of 
park measured by survey 
and observation 

3.2 Spaces and facilities 
support youth use of the 
park 

• To optimise the parks role as a 
hub for local youth 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and 
activity 

Increased youth 
participation measured 
by survey and 
observation 

3.3 Access to dog off leash 
areas 

• To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access 
to spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  
Monitor to identify 
management issues and 
address as required 

Dog access maintained 
Reports of conflicts 
between dogs and other 
park users 

3.4 A place that recognises 
and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 
 

• To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising 
living culture’, work with the 
First Nations community to 
understand the processes and 
procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies 
and procedures  
 

3.5 A place for events • To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local activation 
and cultural and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event 
use that is appropriate to scale 
of spaces and in consideration 
of other park uses 
Develop guidelines for event 
use of park defining: 
- Usable area and capacity 
- Other specific event 

management and 
approval requirements 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to 
scale and intensity 
Developed framework 
Ongoing review and 
compliance 

994



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.6 A place that is open and 
usable by all members of 
community 

• That the park is managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of 
people sleeping rough in the 
park needs to be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s policy 
on homelessness in public 
spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the 
community to use public 
spaces’ (Homelessness Action 
Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be 
accessed and enjoyed by 
everyone, including people 
who are homeless 

Maintain records of 
public feedback in 
relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly 
review of register to 
guide future directions 

3.7 A safe place to visit day 
and night 

• To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and 
access in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety 
issues 
Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime 
Prevention through 
Environmental Design 
principles 

Percentage of people 
who feel safe in these 
spaces 
Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 
Sustained relationship 
with local police 
 

3.8 A place that provides 
access to public amenities 

• Maintain access and provision 
of public toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify 
management issues for public 
toilet facilities, address as 
required 

Maintain records of 
public comments in 
relation to public toilets. 
Regularly review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

Perry Park Recreation and Sports Fields 

3.9 A place of mixed active 
and passive recreation 
roles for the community 

• To provide multi-purpose indoor 
and outdoor spaces that cater 
for community needs  

Maintain and enhance the role 
of Perry Park Recreation 
Centre 
Regularly monitor for 
improvements to centre 
services and operations 
 

Venue bookings 
Centre user satisfaction 
surveys 

3.10 A place for organised 
sports 

• To ensure that management of 
access to designated sports 
use areas is clear and 
unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of adequate 
venue management services to 
facilitate bookings of sports 
fields and ovals 

Venue bookings 
 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Indoor centre and outdoor courts 

4.1 Multi-purpose recreational 
facilities 

• To maintain and manage the 
facility to service the park and 
community 

Facilitate final redeveloped 
works associated with the 
centre 
 

Fully operational 
recreation centre 
Measured against 
contract KPIs 

Synthetic sports field and amenities building 

4.2 Sports field for local and 
district use  

• To provide a field surface that 
meets community needs and 
compliments park character 

Plan and implement a new 
synthetic sports field and 
amenities building 
 

Operational synthetic 
field and amenities 
building 
Measured against 
contract KPIs 
 
 
 
 

995



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Park elements 

4.3 Park elements support 
park use and create an 
attractive character 

• To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while avoiding 
proliferation of elements 

Maintain and renew park 
furniture and other park 
elements in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against 
contract KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 
 

Underground infrastructure 

4.4 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services infrastructure 
requirements are effectively 
integrated into planning and 
design 

Liaise and coordinate with 
services authorities to identify 
amplification and renewal 
works that may impact spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use 
and facilitate effective make 
good / integration 

Sustained relationship 
with authorities 
 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green landscape for 
continued community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew 
horticulture, grass cover and 
plantings in accordance with 
park service levels and City 
guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 
Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 
Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and planting 
that reflects the original 
natural environment  

• To increase indigenous plantings 
within the park landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate 
the planting of indigenous 
species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse habitats • To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

• To protect and improve existing 
habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground  
Maintain and manage areas of 
bush restoration in accordance 
with Bush Restoration Service 
Levels 
Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat 
values 
Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels 

5.4  • To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology 
advisory role for proposed 
works associated with open 
space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and participation 
in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open 
space works 
Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are connected 
to support biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse connectivity 
within the site and surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key 
sites and species, as identified 
in the biodiversity corridor 
Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park 
Service Levels 

Monitoring of habitat 
values 
Compliance with 
Landscape Code and 
Park Service Levels 

5.6 A highly modified 
landscape 

• To effectively manage site 
contamination issues 

Implementation of remediation 
Action Plans (RAPs) to guide 
the development, construction 
and ongoing management of 
the sports field 
 

Site remediated 

996



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Shade and temperature management 

5.7 A place that is cool, calm 
and comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade tree 
canopy and to selectively extend 
to create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing 
tree canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree 
canopy shade in suitable 
locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.8 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

• To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health for 
their safe and practical lifespans 

• To effectively plan for succession 
planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or 
removal of trees and 
replacement planting in 
accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a 
succession planting program  

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment 
of new trees as 
measured by arborist’s 
survey  
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting  

Water management 

5.9 A place exhibiting water 
sensitive urban design 

• To effectively manage water use 
and runoff  

•  

Where feasible, implement 
water saving initiatives, 
alternative water sources and 
install metering to effectively 
manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive 
urban design to minimise 
environmental degradation and 
improve waterway quality 

Increased savings in 
water consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.10 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

• To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement 
energy management initiatives, 
renewable energy, investigate 
alternatives to temporary 
generators and install metering 
as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.11 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

• A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste 
measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that strengthens 
First Nations People and 
living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage values 
of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage 
values in ongoing planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

• To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent forms 
that compliments the park 
setting and adds to the range of 
experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, 
where appropriate 

Increased representation 
of public art in reserves 

   

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place which is clean, 
well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried 
out in accordance with City of 
Sydney Parks Maintenance 
Technical Specifications 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 
 

997



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for 
implementation) 

Performance Measures 

 

7.2 Facilities that continue to 
service and meet the 
community's needs 

• To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 

7.3 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences 
to meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1993, 
Crown Land Management Act 
2016 and Native Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

 
  

998



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Perry Park categorised 
as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

999

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use or 
occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Perry Park in accordance with Clause 116 
of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

1000



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

1001

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
  

1002



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Perry Park categorised 
as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 
Australian rules, track and field athletics, 
hockey, baseball, softball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

1003

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Perry Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

1004



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the City to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 

1005

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Perry Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active and passive recreational and sporting 
activities consistent with the nature of the 
relevant indoor recreational facilities, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Recreational facility (junior sports 
programs, sporting competitions, learn-to-
play classes, multipurpose court hire – 
basketball, netball, futsal, volleyball and 
badminton, sporting event hire, table tennis, 
wheelchair basketball, pickleball, roller-
skating, unicycling, training) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1006



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facility 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Perry Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

1007

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Management and operation of recreational facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational facility 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Kiosks 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

1008

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
  

1009



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures  

 

 

 
  

13. Appendices 

1010



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

References 
 

– Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 

– Feasibility Study 2008 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

  

 

 

 

 
  

1011



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1012



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, considering existing amenities 
nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1013



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1014



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1015



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1016



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1017



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

1018



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1019



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1020



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1021



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1022



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1023



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1024



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

1025



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1026



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1027



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1028



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1029



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Masterplan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Masterplan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Masterplan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1030



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1031



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
  

1032



Perry Park 
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

 

 

 

 

 

1033



Attachment N 

Prince Alfred Park 

 

 

 

1034



 

Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

1035



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 16 

3. Legislative context 27 

4. Strategic context 30 

5. Community guiding principles 33 

6. Basis for Management 35 

7. Review of the plan 42 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 43 

8. General requirements 44 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 51 

10. Park category - authorisations 57 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 61 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 64 

13. Appendices 69 

 

1036



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 16 

Figure 3. Site Plan 18 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 25 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 26 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 38 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 39 

Figure 8. Master Plan 41 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 57 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 58 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 61 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 62 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 64 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 66 

 

 

1037



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1038



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1039



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Prince Alfred Park (Crown Reserve 500038- 
Lots 21-22 DP 594873, Lot 24 DP 637261, Lot 1 
DP 874757) is classified as “community land” 
under the LG Act and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1040



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

1041



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

1042



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

1043



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event). 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business. 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces  

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

1044



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Prince Alfred Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1045



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1046



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

  

1047



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

1048



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1049



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Prince Alfred Park through past 
master planning and plans of management 
(PoMs adopted 1993 and 2005). This PoM 
references the Master Plan 2005 and 
subsequent design work in the park, as the 
current planning direction for the reserve and 
supersedes the PoM 2005. 

Location and description  
Prince Alfred Park is bounded by Chalmers 
Street to the east, Cleveland Street to the south, 
State Rail Authority railway lines and workshops 
to the north west, St Andrews Greek Orthodox 
Church in the south west corner, and the 
Intensive English Centre in the southern corner. 

 Additional focal points located near the park 
include Australia Post Head Quarters on 
Cleveland Street opposite the Intensive English 
Centre, Cleveland House on Chalmers Street 
opposite the pool and the entrance to the 
Devonshire Tunnel to the north of the Railway 
Institute Building. 

The park is a significant element of the city’s 
open space network and forms the southern 
extent of a north-south corridor between the site 
and the Botanic Gardens. Prince Alfred Park 
remains the only major park within Sydney 
generally unaffected by overshadowing from 
adjoining development. 

Refer to Figure 3. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Prince Alfred Park 

Address 103 Chalmers Street, Surry Hills 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No. 
purpose and gazetted 
date 

500038 Dedication, Public Recreation, 22/12/1865 

Zoning RE1 Public Recreation 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 72,604.18 m2 / 7.26 Ha 

Lot & DP Lots 21-22 DP 594873, Lot 24 DP 637261, Lot 1 DP 874757 

Restrictions / 
easements 

DP553858 

Easement for underground cables (3.048m wide & variable width) 
appropriated by Dept of Railways (at NW & N boundaries of park) 

DP626433 

Easement for Railway Transit (Eastern Suburbs Railway) 

2. Land description 

1050



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

item description 

Lot 25, DP847624 

Acquisition of interest in land – lease to State Rail Authority (Airport 
Line) 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

General Community Use / 
Park / Sportsground 

 

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

  

1051



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Figure 3. Site Plan
 

  

24 / DP 637261 22/ DP 594873

21/ DP 594873

1/ DP 874757

2/ 
DP 874757

Belvoir St

G
eo

rg
e 

S
t Cleveland Street

PLAYSPACE

PRINCE
ALFRED

PARK POOL

C
ha

lm
er

s 
S

tr
ee

t

Bedford S

CORONATION
CENTRE

PICNIC/BBQ
AREA

SWINGS

TENNIS
COURTS

BASKETBALL
COURTS

THE
GREEN

N

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

1052



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Heritage and culture 
Overview – recreational role and design 

The land Prince Alfred Park is situated upon was 
dedicated for Public Recreation in 1865. 

The park lies on the traditional lands of the 
Gadigal people and records indicate First 
Nations people continued to live here up until the 
1850s, prior to the development of the park.  

In pre-colonial times the park site was covered 
by native vegetation was traversed by a tributary 
of Black Wattle Creek that drained into Sydney 
harbour at Glebe.  

In 1865 the area was one of the first in the city to 
be dedicated for public purpose and was known 
as Cleveland Paddocks Reserve. 

The park is a significant example of a Victorian 
era park within the city and the first public open 
space in Australia laid out for holding large 
Exhibitions in the English style. 

The reserve became the location of Sydney’s 
first Agricultural Society Show in 1869, and as 
the place where the Intercolonial Exhibition took 
place in 1870. In the late 1860s the Reserve was 
renamed Prince Alfred Park, to commemorate 
the visit of the Duke of Edinburgh to the colonies 
in the late 1860s. 

During the life of the Exhibition Building (1870-
1954) the park performed a major public function 
as a venue for important events and exhibitions. 
In 1954 the exhibition building was demolished 
and the building of a series of public recreation 
facilities commenced.  

Trees and elements of the layout from the 
original 1870 plan of the park still exist on the site 
today including Moreton Bay Fig trees arranged 
as an informal row along the boundaries. Other 
tree plantings can be traced to the inter-war 
period. 

The current form of the park reflects many 
adaptations to meet the changing fashions and 
requirements of the local, city-wide and State 
communities. The core area of the park has 
successively hosted agricultural shows, 
intercolonial exhibitions, public celebrations, 
concerts and fairs, circuses, military uses and 
war museum storage and continues to be a 
place that hosts large community gatherings. 

Facilities established in the park have included 
children’s playgrounds, tennis courts, roller- and 
ice-skating rinks, and public swimming pools. 

A major refurbishment of the pool and general 
park facilities was undertaken in more recent 
times with works completed in 2013.  

Heritage Context 

Listed heritage item: 

Sydney LEP # I1406— ‘Prince Alfred Park 
including fence, tree planting, ground and 
coronation centre’. 

In the vicinity of multiple SHR items including: 

 Cathedral of the Annunciation of Our 
Lady (SHR No. 01881) 

 Cleveland House (SHR No. 00065) 
 Railway Institute Building (SHR No. 

01257) 
 Sydney Terminal and Central Railway 

Stations Group (SHR No. 01255) 

History  

The "Eora people" was the name given to the 
coastal Aborigines around Sydney. Central 
Sydney is therefore often referred to as "Eora 
Country". Within the City of Sydney Local 
Government Area, the Traditional Owners are 
the Gadigal and Wangal bands of the Eora. 
There is no written record of the name of the 
language spoken and currently there are 
debates as whether the coastal peoples spoke a 
separate language "Eora" or whether this was a 
dialect of the Dharug language.  

Prior to the arrival of Europeans in Australia, the 
area that was later to be known as Prince Alfred 
Park contained a tributary arm of Black Wattle 
Creek that drained into Sydney Harbour. The 
vegetation of the area was strongly influenced by 
topographic features and the presence of two 
distinct geologies: the Wianamatta Shales and 
Quaternary Sand Deposits. Early in the 19th 
century the park remained as undeveloped 
government paddocks surrounded by various 
land grants. The first house associated with the 
paddocks was Cleveland House (c. 1824, also 
a listed heritage item). The house addressed 
the paddocks from the east. 

Following colonisation, Sydney’s Aboriginal 
population had been pushed to the fringes of the 
fledgling colonial settlement as the land’s natural 
resources were appropriated as property of the 
Crown for the colonial enterprise.  Trees were 

1053



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

cleared, land was apportioned and fenced, new 
circulation patterns were established, and 
buildings and other infrastructure were 
constructed. The timber, water, stone, plants 
and animals that Aboriginal people had 
managed and relied up for millennia were 
suddenly being used for entirely different 
purposes. Where they could, Aboriginal people 
continued to access their resources and adapted 
their lives around the new arrivals. Aboriginal 
people found themselves having to move away 
from their traditional camping grounds around 
Sydney Cove at The Domain and 
Woolloomooloo. Displaced from their Country 
and impacted significantly by introduced 
diseases and violent encounters, communities 
formed new camps and communities. Cleveland 
Paddocks (also known as the government 
paddocks) offered a place where Aboriginal 
people could continue to camp until the mid-
19th century. Aboriginal people maintained 
their connections to their home country and lived 
here, west of the city centre, until the coming of 
the railway in 1850 and the subsequent use of 
the park as the showground for the Agricultural 
Society. On 12 June 1890, the Sydney Echo 
reported that the Cleveland Paddocks reserve 
was ‘a favourite camping place for the blacks’, 
but ‘by degrees the camps were driven back to 
Waterloo and Alexandria’. 

Towards the mid-19th century with the growth of 
the city, development began to surround the 
paddocks and the potential for the Cleveland 
Paddocks (as they had become known) as a 
significant urban park was increasing. The first 
major historical event associated with Cleveland 
Paddocks was the initiation of the first railway 
in Australia in 1850. The rail line to Parramatta 
with associated station and workshops was 
opened on the western portion of Cleveland 
Paddocks in 1855. The land grant to the 
Railways isolated an almost triangular portion of 
the paddocks to the east. This land was to 
become Prince Alfred Park. By 1856 St. Paul's 
Anglican Church was completed and the 
Cleveland Street Public School was initiated 
on portions of land resumed from the 
paddocks. 

On 22nd December 1865, the remaining 
portion of the paddocks was dedicated as a 
reserve for public purposes. At this time the 
reserve was an open field with a small handrail 
bridge that crossed the water course and an old 
timber fence that separated the reserve from 

Cleveland Street. The reserve was called Prince 
Alfred Park to commemorate the visit of the Duke 
of Edinburgh, Prince Alfred, to the Australian 
colonies in the late 1860s. The Albert Cricket 
Club, one of the city’s early cricket clubs, that 
had been located at Hyde Park from 1840s, 
moved to Prince Alfred Park by the 1860s.  

In 1869 the NSW Agricultural Society began 
planning an exhibition in Prince Alfred Park. 
In 1869, Benjamin Backhouse (1829-1904), 
ardent social reformer, politician, and the 
architect for the NSW Agricultural Society, laid 
out Prince Alfred Park and designed temporary 
buildings for the 1870 Agricultural Society 
Intercolonial Exhibition. The main exhibition hall 
designed by the City Engineer was 250 feet in 
length and 180 feet in width, with a gallery 
around the entire interior of the hall. The layout 
of the Park for the Exhibition was published in 
The Illustrated Sydney News on 6th July 1870 as 
a full page plan. Benjamin Backhouse's layout 
for the Park involved the use of large amounts of 
fill for the installation of curvaceous paths, 
terraces and shrubberies. The park’s landscape 
design reflected European influences and 
represented a significant shift in the civic 
aspirations for public open space as the city’s 
green lungs and for amusement, recreation and 
leisure.  Exhibitions were held yearly in the 
Park until 1881 when the Agricultural Society 
moved its shows to Moore Park. Various 
events continued to be held in the Exhibition 
building. From the 1880s Prince Alfred Park was 
often used for circus performances and a ‘Big 
Top’ was a familiar landmark on the site.  
Fitzgerald Bros Monster Combined Shows 
including Carl Hagenbeck's Famous 
Zoological Circus and Menagerie featured on 
the site over the festive season in 1897-98. 

The structure of park planting follows a typical 
late nineteenth century model using Moreton 
Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla) as the dominant 
park element, arranged as an informal row along 
the boundaries. This approach was promoted by 
Charles Moore (Director, Royal Botanic Gardens 
between 1848-1896). Prince Alfred Park has 
been overlayed with several other phases of 
planting throughout the twentieth century. The 
central avenue of London Planes (Platanus x 
acerifolia) and Brush Box (Lophostemon 
confertus) are likely to date from Inter-War 
period planting schemes (c. 1915-1940). 
Similarly, the mixed exotic palms located along 
the northern boundary of the park, including 

1054



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Washington Palms (Washingtonia robusta) and 
Canary Island Date Palms (Phoenix canariensis) 
would date from this period. This latter planting 
phase is generally supportive of the park’s 
contextual character and other scheduled 
significant trees. 

The park was in urgent need of maintenance by 
the beginning of the 20th century. Under the 
"City Beautifying Scheme" the part was 
upgraded, and new avenues of trees planted. In 
1907, the Sydney Exhibition Building was leased 
to Sydney Skating Rink Pty. Ltd. 

By the late 1920s public recreational facilities 
were being developed in the park to meet the 
needs of city residents and workers. These 
included tennis courts, a tennis pavilion and a 
children's playground, opened in 1937.  Images 
in the City of Sydney Archives depict workers 
constructing internal walls within the park in the 
1930s.  

The Sydney Exhibition Building fell into 
disrepair during the 1930s and was 
demolished in 1954. On the site a swimming 
pool and ice rink were erected in 1958. The rink 
was later enclosed by a substantial catenary 
structure. The ice rink became derelict after its 
closure in 1985 and demolished around the 
mid-1990s.  

In more recent years Prince Alfred Park has 
undergone an extensive upgrade.  In 2004 the 
pool and surrounding park were identified by the 
City of Sydney for major revitalisation. Architects 
Neeson Murcutt and landscape architect, Sue 
Barnsley Design, redesigned the pool upgrade 
to be enveloped within a reimagined contoured 
native grass landscape, re interpreting the 
historic vista from Cleveland House. The pool 
upgrade was the recipient of many design 
awards and prizes. 

 

Statement of Significance 

On First Nations Country, the area known as 
Cleveland Paddocks is recorded as being used by 
Aboriginal people as a camping place until the mid-
19th century. People camping there were 
dispossessed by the construction of the railway in 
1850. Aboriginal people at Cleveland Paddocks were 
depicted by John Rae, a self-taught artist and Town 
Clerk of Sydney 1843-53, and their relocation to 
adjacent suburbs was reported on in local media.   

The area today dedicated as Prince Alfred Park is 
historically significant as the location of the first 
Agricultural Society Show in 1869, and as the place 
where the Intercolonial Exhibition took place in 1870 
which was part of global phenomena of spectacle and 
display of industry, science, technology and produce. 
Aspects of the design and layout combined with 
mature vegetation evidence important historical 
events and influences. The park has aesthetic 
significance with remanent features of an early 
designed landscape and is also of social significance. 
The park has historical associations with the NSW 
Agricultural Society and with Benjamin Backhouse, 
architect. The collection of trees is considered to have 
group significance at the City/ LGA level in terms of 
aesthetic, historic, social and botanic values. There 
are also individual specimens which are significant at 
the local level. 

As a multi-award winning public project, the Prince 
Alfred Pool redevelopment has demonstrated its 
significance as an example of excellence in 
contextual design that interprets the history and spirit 
of the place.   

1055



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Key Features 

Key elements of the park include: 

 Swimming pool 
 Children’s play ground  
 Sports courts and equipment  

Elements of significance: 

 Victorian layout 
 Remnant extant sandstone and wrought 

iron palisade fence  
 Former Coronation building (Community 

tennis building) 
 Mature / early plantings including trees 

listed on the City of Sydney Significant 
tree register  

 15 Moreton Bay Fig (Ficus macrophylla) 
 2 Queensland Kauri Pine (Agathis 

robusta)  
 1 Coogera (Arytera divaricate) 
 1 Port Jackson Fig (f. glabrescens) 

(Ficus rubiginosa f. glabrescens) 
 6 Canary Island Date Palm  (Phoenix 

canariensis 
 16 Brush Box (Lophostemon confertus) 
 10 London Plane (Platanus x acerifolia 

 

Environment and landscape 
The following descriptions have been derived 
from the 2005 PoM and master plan. 

Pre-Existing Characteristics: 

The Pre 1788 the landscape supported native 
vegetation, and a small tributary of Blackwattle 
Creek which flowed into Black Wattle Bay. 
According to Benson and Howell (1990: 66), the 
area would have been typified by a Turpentine-
Ironbark forest prior to clearance on the shale 
slopes with the Eastern Suburbs Banksia Scrub 
on the sandy areas and sedgelands in poorly 
drained depressions. The original vegetation 
was likely to have been cleared before 1840. 

Physical Characteristics: 

Landform, soils and drainage 

The 1993 Plan of Management for Prince Alfred 
Park contained detailed information on the site’s 
physical geography, geology, and landscape 
history, which is summarised following 

The underlying bedrock of the park is the 
Ashfield Shale, a member of the Triassic 

Wianamatta group of sedimentary rocks. 
Covering this is a layer of windblown sand in the 
southern half of the park. 

The surface features of the park have been 
altered on a number of occasions, beginning in 
1870 with cutting and filling to create a level site 
for the exhibition building. 

After 1880, it is thought that the park may have 
become partly derelict and part of it was used as 
a tip. Low lying areas were prone to flooding, and 
fill was dumped into the hollow from construction 
of Central Railway around 1900. More filling was 
thought to have occurred during the construction 
of the railway tunnels, when there was a works 
office located in the southwest corner of the park. 
Later filling is associated with demolition of the 
exhibition building, construction of the swimming 
pool and construction of a retaining wall along 
the boundary with the railway. 

The result of filling is a largely artificial and 
inconsistent soil profile. The 1993 PoM identified 
that the surface soil (sandy to loamy top 
dressing) covers a patchwork array of other fills.  

The presence of an impermeable layer under 
topsoil is usually the main reason for poor 
drainage.  

Replacement of ageing trees, or new tree 
planting in the future may be a problem where 
subsoil conditions are unfavourable.  
Establishment in the surface top dressing should 
not be difficult, but the underlying fill is often 
unsuitable for root growth. Construction of 
additional pathways and/or buildings and related 
structural integrity is an issue to be considered. 
There has been past issues with subsidence of 
fill material, possibly caused by water movement 
or rotting trees at depth creating cavities. The 
area most likely at risk is the flat area south and 
west of the swimming pool. Bedrock lies at 
relatively shallow depths under the pool, and the 
area to the north, and the ridge along Cleveland 
Street is also less likely to be subsidence prone. 

Vegetation 

Prince Alfred Park is characterised by its mature 
tree plantings and open grassed areas with 
relatively few garden beds and formal gardens. 
The planting structure of the park broadly 
comprises boundary, avenue, grove and 
specimen planting with a strong component of 
exotic deciduous species. 

1056



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

The planting layout of the park dates back to 
1870, and the construction of the Exhibition 
Building. Substantial changes to the planting 
layout have occurred in the early 1900s, 1954 
and 1986-89.  

A detailed tree assessment was undertaken in 
2004 as outlined in the Adopted 2005 PoM and 
identified the general condition of the existing 
tree canopy and the preferred management and 
maintenance strategies. The assessment found 
the overall health and condition of the mature 
trees in the park was good, with the exception of 
a few of the mature Moreton Bay figs located 
along the Cleveland St boundary which are 
showing a decline in vigour. Recommendations 
included replacement plantings be undertaken 
between the existing figs to reduce the impact of 
their removal at the end of their safe useful life 
expectancy (10-20 years’ time). Creation of a 
mulch zones around significant trees was also 
recommended to reduce maintenance impacts 
on tree trunks and to help alleviate psyllid 
infestations. 

Landscape and visual character 

The park landscape is characterised by 
expansive grassed open spaces with mature 
trees planted in avenues and groves. 

The 2005 PoM identified and expressed the 
landscape in four main character areas: 
– The northern zone with the Chambers 

Street Entry, which has a cultural heritage 
character incorporating some formal park 
elements and mature palm trees 

– The swimming pool zone which 
incorporates a major built form constructed 
on a level pad (remodelled in 2012) and 
separate from the remainder of the park by 
fencing and landform 

– The utilitarian zone on the western border, 
which has a varied character related to the 
buildings, fences and enclosures for tennis 
and basketball courts 

– The southern formal park zone, which has 
formal park elements and is dominated by 
large trees with some historical character. 

Views into the park are available along two of the 
boundaries, those being on Chalmers Street and 
Cleveland Street. The Cleveland Street frontage 
is particularly attractive as part of the streetscape 
experience for traffic on this major corridor. 
Internal views through the park are available 
north-south along the pathway that extends past 

the tennis courts, and east west in various 
locations. The pool enclosure provides partial 
screening to views from adjoining areas and 
visual linking of the northern and southern 
zones. Significant views, notably to the city 
skyline are available from the southern boundary 
areas (Cleveland Street) looking north. 

A range of built forms within and adjoining the 
park influence its character. The low rise and 
heritage structures on Cleveland and Chalmers 
Streets provide a sense of containment along the 
eastern and southern sides of the park. The 
Intensive English School, St Andrews Greek 
Orthodox Church and the Railway Institute 
Building have frontages adjoining the park 
edges. 

The tennis courts along the western boundary 
provide a source of activity in the western area 
of the park. The SRA workshops and railway 
yards along the western boundary have no 
frontage onto the park, are set down in level and 
therefore have minimal effect on the parks 
character. Potential future aerial development of 
these adjoining sites could impact Prince Alfred 
Park. Of particular importance is the potential 
impact of overshadowing or impact on views to 
the city. 

Access and Circulation 

Prince Alfred Park is easily accessed by public 
transport, with Central Station located a short 
distance to the north and bus stops are located 
along Cleveland and Chalmers Street.  The park 
is surrounded by two busy road corridors with 
formal pedestrian crossings available at a 
number of intersections. 

There is a well-established pedestrian and cycle 
path network through the park. Upgrade works 
since 2005 have refurbished paths and 
rationalised circulation routes. The shared path 
route from Cleveland Street to the north end of 
the park at Chalmers Street is very well used by 
commuters from surrounding areas. The Park 
path network is commonly used by residents 
south of the park, who walk through on their way 
to the CBD or Central Station. 

Park regulations restrict vehicle access into the 
park to service and emergency vehicles. These 
vehicles can access the park from an entry on 
Chalmers Street opposite Belvoir Street. 

 

 

1057



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Reserve development 
Key Milestones: 
– Dedicated for Public Recreation in 1865 
– Exhibition building built 1870, park and 

initial plantings established 
– 1900s park upgrades and new plantings 
– 1920s public recreational facilities were 

being developed 
– First swimming pool in park built 1958 
– Major park refurbishment works 2012/13 

Recent capital works undertaken: 

– Major park upgrades and refurbishment of 
facilities completed in 2012/13 

Past studies and plans include: 

Prince Alfred Park PoM and Master Plan 2005 

Prince Alfred Park PoM 2001 

Sports Centre Feasibility Study 1996 

Prince Alfred Park PoM 1993 

Prince Alfred Park Recreation Feasibility Study 
1992 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Prince Alfred Park Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 

The park meets many of the criteria for being a 
well-used and much loved urban open space. It 
is central to well-populated residential and 
commercial precincts and provides swimming 
and sporting opportunities, places to sit in 
comfort, areas for socialising and places for 
children's play. It also provides contact with 
green space and spaciousness (essential in a 
highly built-up area) and provides a pleasant 
environment and experience for people just 
‘passing through'. 

The park attracts intensive sport use (tennis, 
basketball, swimming) and provides for informal 

active recreation; fitness training groups; ball 
games; off-leash dog walking; pedestrian and 
cycling access; picnics and BBQs; children's 
play.  

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– fitness training or classes 

– meeting with friends 

– walking through to get somewhere else 

– Walking or running for exercise 

– Sitting and relaxing 

– Attend sporting events 

75% of survey respondents were likely to live 
nearby the park and over half of respondents 
would visit the park on a weekly basis. While the 
majority of respondents would visit in the early 
morning (before 9am) the survey indicated the 
afternoon and evening were also popular times. 

Facilities 

Park upgrades and refurbishment of facilities 
completed in 2012/13 have improved the quality 
of visitor facilities – the provision of modern 
swimming facilities, improved pathways, 
furniture and lights, adequate cleanliness, 
maintenance and high levels of safety/security 
all contribute to provide an attractive and well 
used park. 

The pool, open year round is the City’s first 
heated outdoor pool that is fully accessible with 
a ramp into the water. Facilities include a splash 
deck for toddlers, new café, bleachers, 
umbrellas, sky-lit change rooms, shaded areas 
and landscaped space. The pool complex 
includes and native grass green roof and public 
art ‘chimneys’. 

Fitness stations can be found throughout the 
park, basketball players can shoot hoops on two 
courts and an extra half-court while the five new 
tennis courts are made of Plexicushion. 

The 7.5 hectare park offers plenty of green 
space, benches to sit and relax, an off-leash 
area for dogs, new barbecue and picnic areas 
have been built with custom-designed tables and 
seating. 

Two play spaces include playgrounds with 
seesaws, swings and custom-made equipment. 

1058



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

A 1km exercise circuit with an accessible path 
caters for joggers, walkers, prams and 
wheelchairs. 

An underground storm water reuse system aims 
to supply 95% of the park’s water.  

Event use of the park 

Prince Alfred Park has been a venue for a variety 
of events from small scale community focused 
events to larger scale gatherings and festivals. 
The types of events have included charitable 
fundraisers, community consultation, festival, 

filming - low impact, live performances, 
promotional events, and sporting events. There 
are a number of recurring events which include 
the Big Red Kidney Walk, May Day Parade and 
Family Fun Day. Attendance at these events can 
be up to 10,000 people. The City of Sydney 
registered a total of 41 events between 2015-19. 

The park has also been host to occasional 
significant community gatherings such as the 
2017 gathering of more than 30,000 people in 
the park to await the result of the Australian 
marriage equality postal survey.  

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

item Usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Heated Outdoor Swimming 
pool 

General public  Good (2)   

Swimming pool Amenities, 
café, toddler splash deck, 
bleachers, umbrellas, change 
rooms 

General public Good (2)   

Tennis courts (5 no. 
Plexicushion) 

General public Average (3)   

Basketball courts (2 plus half 
court) 

General public Good (2) 

Outdoor fitness stations General public Good (2) 

Coronation Recreation Centre  General public Average (3) 

Play spaces General public Good-Poor (2-4)  

1km exercise circuit General public Good   

Underground storm water 
reuse system and filtration 
system 

n/a Good   

Energy efficient park lighting n/a Good   

Public art – Shades of Green n/a Good (2) 

BBQ / picnic facilities General public Good   

Off-leash dog area General public Good 

Public Toilets General public Good 

1059



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

item Usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Park Furniture - drinking 
Fountains 

General public Good 

Park Furniture – seating General public Good 

Park Furniture – seating General public Good 

Footpaths General public Average - Good 

Shared Path General public Good 

(#) City of Sydney asset assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / license Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Short-term licence 

(part Lot 1 DP874757) 

Department of 
Education 

12 months Yet to be finalised –  

Organised sports during 
school hours 

1060



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Ownership and management 
Prince Alfred Park is a Crown reserve owned by 
the State of New South Wales. The City of 
Sydney is the Crown land manager responsible 
for the management of the reserve. Refer to 
Section 2, pages 16-17 for further property 
details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Prince Alfred Park is Clause 65 
that specifies that development for any purpose 
may be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

 

3. Legislative context 

1061



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Applicable planning controls for 
the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Prince Alfred Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City which is not covered by one of the Future 
Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 
to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 

1062



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City’s Native Title Manager has been and 
will continue to be consulted in all relevant 
aspects of Native Title pertaining to the land that 
is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

1063



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

1064



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this study area: 

 CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

 Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

 Oxford Street will have an increase in other 
families, followed by lone person households 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  

The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2.

1065



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

  

1066



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1067



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

1068



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Values and roles of Prince 
Alfred Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the park that the community 
wishes to protect, conserve, and enhance.  
These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates local, 

natural and cultural history 

- A centrally located regional park 

- A green oasis in a highly urbanised area 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected park to adjoining neighbourhoods 

and to district and regional users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear easy and safe to move around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A community destination accessible from the cycle 

network 

- A place that is not compromised by parking and 

vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of green respite for local workers and 

adjacent residents 

- Play spaces that support children and family use of 

park 

- Spaces and facilities that support youth use of the 

park 

- A place for daily fitness 

- A place for dog walking and exercise 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 

Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all members of 

community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public amenities 

- Important aquatic facilities for the city centre and its 

southern fringe  

- A place of mixed active and passive recreation 

roles for the community 

- Tennis courts that provide an active heart to the 

park 

- Outdoor courts that facilitate recreation and fitness 

- Multi-use of south-eastern park as school activity / 

break out space during day  

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Park elements support park use and create an 

attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 

greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the original 

natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support biodiversity 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 

summer heat 

6. Basis for 
Management 

1069



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

- Established plantings which contribute to the park 

setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste management 

practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations People and 

living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural and 

cultural heritage 

- A place that connects the community to the city’s 

past and present  

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- Potential future integration with Central Precinct 

Renewal Program 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 

carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet the 

community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1070



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for the Prince Alfred Park 
Crown reserve is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

Current / existing use 
The City has established initial categorisations 
for Prince Alfred Park in accordance with Crown 
Land requirements. The Council Crown Land 
Manager Fact Sheet identifies that councils 
should apply the initial categorisation based on 
existing/current use of the reserve only. The 
initial categorisation cannot be based on 
proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Prince Alfred Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Prince Alfred Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Prince Alfred Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Prince Alfred Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Prince Alfred Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1071



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Prince Alfred Park 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports court areas available for pay for use 
bookings 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

1072



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

24 / DP 637261 22/ DP 594873

21/ DP 594873

1/ DP 874757

2/ 
DP 874757

Belvoir St

G
eo

rg
e 

S
t Cleveland Street

C
ha

lm
er

s 
S

tr
ee

t

Bedford S

N
CATEGORY

Sportsground

Park

General Community Use

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

1073



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Prince Alfred Park through past 
master planning and plans of management 
(PoMs Adopted December 2005 and 1993). This 
plan of management references the Master Plan 
2005 as the current planning direction for the 
reserve. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of Prince Alfred Park as reflected in past 
planning and design and this PoM. 

Overall Vision: 

Prince Alfred Park is to be conserved and 
improved as a unique and significant place within 
the city’s public domain providing structured and 
unstructured recreation opportunities and 
access to a variety of users. 

Strategies and Planning Principles: 

Several key ‘planning principles’ were derived 
from the 2005 PoM and Master plan strategies 
and provide the basics for development of 
appropriate public domain planning, design, and 
materials strategies as follows: 

a) Reinforce and upgrade main pedestrian 
routes through park minimising impact on 
grassed open spaces 

 b) Reduce extent of pool complex to provide 
extended grassed open space in the north of 
the park and visually link south and north park 
areas 

c) Consolidate activities zone to railway (west) 
boundary to conserve informal use 

of grassed areas and promote access and use 
through the park (and thus improve security) 

d) Integrate interpretation of site history into park 
improvements including: 

– Creekline through the site 

– Native vegetation 

– Exhibition Hall and site use 

 

The Concept Master Plan: 

The Concept Master Plan represented three 
phases of park upgrading, itself representing 
Phase Three – Long Term.  Works implemented 
by the City of Sydney from 2005 onwards have 
implemented a major proportion of these. 

Phase One Priorities (generally complete) 

– Establishment of north south pedestrian link 
from the George and Pitt Street entries 

– Reduction of pool complex on western side 
to extend grassed parkland open space 

– Chalmers Street Plaza space adjoining 
Railway Institute as major entry to park 

– Partial implementation of playspace 
adjoining pool complex 

– Demolition of pool carpark and potential 
demolition of existing concrete hardstand 
(replacement with grass 

– Refurbish Coronation Centre for community 
use 

Phase Two Priorities (generally complete) 

– Develop new pool building complex 

– Implement toddlers / wading pool to pool 
complex 

– Relocate tennis court management to 
Coronation Centre 

Phase Three Priorities (partially complete) 

– Implement Exhibition Square public space 

– Creekline waterplay / sculpture 

– Seating areas (complete) 

– Implement fitness equipment and play area 
(complete) adjoining Exhibition Square  

– relocated basketball courts (complete) 

Figure 8 is the indicative master plan for Prince 
Alfred Park prepared for the PoM in 2005.  This 
was subject to refinement and development in 
the major works implemented in the park in 2005 
onwards. 

 

1074



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
  

 

 

 

1075



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

1076



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1077



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Prince Alfred Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided for in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Prince Alfred Park. The 
outcomes seek to conserve and enhance the 
values of Prince Alfred Park and address 
management challenges and opportunities 
identified by the community and City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Prince Alfred 

will be considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1078



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Prince Alfred Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City will notify and give an 
opportunity for comment from any representative 
Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander bodies, 
registered Native Title bodies corporate and 
registered Native Title claimants in relation to the 
land or waters covered by the reservation or 
lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Prince Alfred Park may also 
be prohibited by the applicable land use 
zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 
activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 
be communicated via City bookings, lease and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Prince Alfred 
Park must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Prince Alfred Park which may attract high 
numbers of people including organised sport 
activities and training, school sport 

1079



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

competitions, commercial activities and one-off 
community events and performances. 

The allocation of Prince Alfred Park for 
organised sport and school sport will comply with 
City of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

High Intensity use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Prince Alfred Park which may attract high 
numbers of people including one-off community 
events and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Prince Alfred Park and settings 
(such as playgrounds, fitness stations and park 
seating) will be determined by the community 
use of the site but will be managed to avoid 
undue impacts on park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 

1080



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City’s ability to lease or licence Crown 
reserves managed as community land such as 
Prince Alfred Park is authorised by section 3.22 
of the CLM Act, which requires the preparation 
of a community land PoM, adopted by Council, 
to authorise an occupancy or use agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence  

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Prince Alfred Park. 

1081



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 

undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

1082



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking group 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 

1083



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 

is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

  

1084



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Prince Alfred Park, 
including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the 
City of Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

 To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and 
description that captures the 
place’s connection to Country  

Consultation completed 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

 To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A centrally located 
regional park 

 To conserve the park for the 
use and enjoyment of future 
generations  

Protect and conserve the overall 
park open space as a legacy for 
future communities  

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park. 
Regularly review of register to 
guide future directions 

1.4 A green oasis in a 
highly urbanised 
area 

 

 To conserve the “green” and 
natural character of the park  

Management has regard for 
conserving green and natural 
character of the park 

Increased use of park measured 
by survey and observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district and 
regional users 

 To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to 
the park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work 
towards improving local access 
routes for workplace precincts 
and adjoining residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

 To provide effective wayfinding 
and signage for park users 
and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

 To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes and 
path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with 
park service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate lighting 
to support desired night 
access, recreational and 
leisurely use of open space 

  

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1085



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 

 

 

 

A community 
destination 
accessible from the 
cycle network 

 To enable park to be 
effectively accessed from 
cycle network and encourage 
cycle use 

Monitor and manage use of 
cycleways and shared pedestrian 
pathways 

Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities 
into park improvements  

Increased local use of park by 
cyclists, measured by surveys 
and observation 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
cycleways. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

 To provide a balanced 
approach to parking  

 To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

 Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing off-street parking 
to ensure efficiency and equity 

Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist and 
vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures carried 
out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent residents 

 To ensure that the park 
provides a range of flexible 
and informal use spaces that 
are attractive and comfortable 
to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community 
benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Play spaces that 
support children 
and family use of 
park 

To provide access to quality play 
environments that aid early 
childhood development and 
provide engaging play settings 

Ongoing provision of play 
experiences complimentary to 
park character and capacity 

Increased local use of play 
spaces measured by survey and 
observation 

3.3 Spaces and 
facilities that 
support youth use 
of the park 

To sustainably respond to youth 
needs for gathering and activity 
spaces 

Investigate opportunities to create 
greater activation of park for 
youth gathering and activity 

Community feedback  

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to youth 
activities. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

3.4 A place for daily 
fitness 

To support and manage a 
sustainable level of fitness 
activity in the park 

Support the role of the park for 
fitness activities in accordance 
with Council’s policy framework 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to fitness 
activities. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

3.5 A place for dog 
walking and 
exercise 

To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.6 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

 

To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First 
Nations community to understand 
the processes and procedures 
required to enhance access to 
spaces and facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.7 A place for events To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local activation 
and cultural and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 

Manage events in accordance 
with event’s guidelines for Prince 
Alfred Park 

Increased use of park for events 
appropriate to scale and 
intensity 

Ongoing review and compliance 
of guidelines 

   

 

 

 

 

 

1086



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.8 A place that is open 
and usable by all 
members of 
community 

 That the park is managed as 
part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park in 
accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which 
‘recognises the right of everyone 
in the community to use public 
spaces’ (Homelessness Action 
Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be 
accessed and enjoyed by 
everyone, including people who 
are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regular review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

3.9 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

 To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place 
to visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and 
access in park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are 
proposed, ensure that they are 
designed and maintained in 
accordance with Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 

Sustained relationship with local 
police 

 

3.10 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

 Maintain access and provision 
of public toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to public 
toilets. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

Prince Alfred Park Pool 

3.11 Important aquatic 
facilities for the city 
centre and its 
southern fringe  

 To maintain and enhance the 
value and role of the Aquatic 
Centre for the residential and 
workforce community 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
Prince Alfred Park Pool 

Regularly monitor for 
improvements to centre services 
and operations 

Usage and visitation of aquatic 
centre, measured by bookings 

Centre user satisfaction surveys 

 

Coronation Recreation Centre and Tennis Courts 

3.12 A place of mixed 
active and passive 
recreation roles for 
the community 

 To provide multi-purpose 
indoor and outdoor spaces 
that cater for community needs  

Maintain and enhance the role of 
Coronation Recreation Centre 

Regularly monitor for 
improvements to centre services 
and operations 

Increased use measured by 
surveys, observation and 
bookings 

 

3.13 Tennis courts that 
provide an active 
heart to the park 

 To maintain and enhance the 
role of the tennis courts for the 
residential, school and 
workforce community 

Maintain and enhance role of 
tennis courts 

Regularly monitor for 
improvements and refinements to 
services  

Increased use measured by 
surveys, observation and 
bookings 

 

3.14 Outdoor courts that 
facilitate recreation 
and fitness 

 To maintain and enhance role 
of outdoor courts in providing 
fitness and leisure for 
workforce and residents 

Enhance role of courts for a 
diverse range of uses 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Increased use measured by 
surveys and observation  

 

Inner Sydney High School 

3.15 Multi-use of south-
eastern park as 
school activity / 
break out space 
during day  

 To facilitate sustainable use of 
part of the park as a break out 
and activity area for school 
students limiting impacts on 
generally community use and 
access 

Finalise and implement licence 
agreement. 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Finalised licence 

Sustained relationship with 
Department Education 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1087



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Park elements 

4.1 Park elements 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive character 

 To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while 
avoiding proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

Infrastructure 

4.2 Underground 
infrastructure 

 To ensure services 
infrastructure requirements are 
effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with 
services authorities to identify 
amplification and renewal works 
that may impact spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use 
and facilitate effective make good 
/ integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 

 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green landscape 
for continued community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 

Measurement and monitoring of 
vegetation 

Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the original 
natural environment  

 To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

 To protect and improve 
existing habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to 
enhance habitat values through 
areas of built form and natural 
ground  

Maintain and manage areas of 
bush restoration in accordance 
with Bush Restoration Service 
Levels 

Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat values 

Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels  

 

5.4   To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works 
associated with open space 

Investigate opportunities to 
increase community 
understanding and participation in 
the preservation of greenspace 
and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation in 
open space works 

Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are 
connected to 
support biodiversity 

 Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the site and 
surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key 
sites and species, as identified in 
the biodiversity corridor 

Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park 
Service Levels 

Monitoring of habitat values 

Compliance with Landscape 
Code and Park Service Levels 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 A place that is cool, 
calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

 To conserve existing shade 
tree canopy and to selectively 
extend to create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing 
tree canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased shade 
cover 

Increased use of park measured 
by observation 

1088



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.7 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health 
for their safe and practical 
lifespans 

 To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal 
of trees and replacement planting 
in accordance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of new 
trees as measured by arborist’s 
survey  

Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree management 
plan 

Water management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

 To effectively manage water 
use and runoff  

  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative 
water sources and install 
metering to effectively manage 
water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve 
waterway quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water demand 
for park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

 To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement 
energy management initiatives, 
renewable energy, investigate 
alternatives to temporary 
generators and install metering as 
appropriate to effectively manage 
energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

 A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and audits 

 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People and 
living culture 

 To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage 
values of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values 
in ongoing planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

 To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of heritage 
significance 

 To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or 
fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

 To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the site and 
add to the experience and use 
of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework 
that recognises Strategies 6.1-6.2 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.4 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and culture 

 To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments the 
park setting and adds to the 
range of experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, 
where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in park 

   

 

 

 

  

1089



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Potential future 
integration with 
Central Precinct 
Renewal Program 

 To optimise the benefits of the 
Central Station precinct 
redevelopment for Belmore 
Park and the community 

Monitor and participate in ongoing 
planning for the Central Station 
precinct 

 

Sustained relationship with 
TfNSW and State Government 
regarding Central Precinct 
Renewal Program 

7.2 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

 To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried 
out in accordance with City of 
Sydney Parks Maintenance 
Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

 To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

7.4 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

 To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, 
cultural and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1993, 
Crown Land Management Act 
2016 and Native Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and compliance 
of leases and licences  

 

 

 

  

1090



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Prince Alfred Park 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1091



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Recreational and sporting activities consistent 
with an outdoor recreational facility, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton and netball) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Prince Alfred Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

1092



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

– Markets 

– Open space play area 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

1093



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

 
 
  

1094



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Prince Alfred Park 
categorised as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton, tennis and netball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

1095



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Prince Alfred Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

1096



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the City to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 

1097



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Prince Alfred Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active and passive recreational and sporting 
activities consistent with the nature of the 
relevant indoor recreational facilities, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Aquatic facility (learn to swim classes, 
squad training, fitness and health classes 
including aqua aerobics, recreational and 
competitive swimming and diving, 
organised water sports including water 
polo, diving, hydrotherapy facilities) 

o Recreational facility (junior sports 
programs, sporting competitions, learn-to-
play classes, multipurpose court hire – 
basketball, netball, futsal, volleyball and 
badminton, sporting event hire, table tennis, 
wheelchair basketball, pickleball, roller-
skating, unicycling, training) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1098



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Management and operation of community and 
recreational facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

1099



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and temporary approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Prince Alfred 
Park in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes) 

– Management and operation of community or recreational facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. concerts, dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community of recreational facility 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

1100



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the City to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

1101



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1102



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Glossary of terms 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures 

 

 

 

 

  

13. Appendices 

1103



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

References 
 

– Prince Alfred Park Plan of Management 
1993 

– Prince Alfred Park Plan of Management Plan 
of Management 2005 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

  

1104



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1105



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1106



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1107



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1108



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1109



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1110



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

respected as such. 
 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

1111



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1112



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1113



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1114



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1115



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1116



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1117



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

1118



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1119



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1120



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1121



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1122



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1123



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1124



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 
  

1125



Prince Alfred Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1126



Attachment O 

Rushcutters Bay Park 

 

 

 

1127



 

Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 1128



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 28 

4. Strategic context 31 

5. Community guiding principles 34 

6. Basis for Management 36 

7. Review of the plan 44 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 45 

8. General requirements 46 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 53 

10. Park category - authorisations 59 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 63 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 66 

13. Appendices 71 

 

1129



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

3 

Table of figures 
Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 15 

Figure 3. Site Plan 17 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 26 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 27 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 39 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 40 

Figure 8. Master Plan 43 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 59 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 60 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 63 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 64 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 66 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 68 

 

 

1130



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1131



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 
  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1132



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils 

Rushcutters Bay Park (Crown Reserve 500097 
- Part Lot 7321 DP 1165813) is classified as 
“community land” under the LG Act and 
managed accordingly. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1133



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 
Purpose of the consultation program 
The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

 
  

1134



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 
The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 
The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

1135



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 
A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were advised during 
the conversations.  These included: 
• Access to land as a human right of 

Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  
• Talking about Country helps bring the 

community together  
• The environment as living culture  
• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 

rivers tell stories  
• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 

economic benefit  
• First Nations design principles that 

recognise:  
– local cultural knowledge  
– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 
Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 
The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 
We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 
 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 
Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

1136



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 
– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 

Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 
– Importance of cultural ownership and 

intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event). 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 
– Encourage the City to take on the hard 

issues and use position to influence other 
organisations including other councils and 
government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 
Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles.  

1137



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Rushcutters Bay Park 
The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

1138



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1139



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 
 

1140



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

 
 

1141



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Rushcutters Bay Park through 
past master planning (2006) and plans of 
management (1999).  This PoM references the 
Master Plan 2006 as the current planning 
direction for the reserve and supersedes the 
PoM 1999. 

Location and description  
Rushcutters Bay Park is located in Rushcutters 
Bay on Waratah Street.  The park is a stunning 
harbourside park that features outdoor tennis 
courts, fenced sports oval (Reg Bartley Oval) 
and cafe. A children's playground is located in 
the neighbouring Waratah Street Reserve. 

The park forms part of a series of linked 
parklands that provide a valuable open space 
resource for the neighbouring communities. 

Rushcutters Bay Park as a whole is managed by 
two councils. The area that is the subject of this 
PoM is land managed by the City of Sydney 
situated to the west of the drainage canal, 
Rushcutters Creek, that runs in a north-south 
direction and dissects the overall park. 

The northern boundary of the study area is 
marked by the mean high-water mark marked by 
the frontal edge of the sea wall. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information
item description 

Site Name Rushcutters Bay Park 

Address 6 Waratah Street, Rushcutters Bay 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

500097 Reserve, Public Recreation, 11/12/1885 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 49000 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Part Lot 7321 DP 1165813 

City-owned community 
land 

Lots 1-2 DP 554114 

Restrictions / 
easements 

Sydney Water Sewer Pump Station 

2. Land description 

1142



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

item description 

Community land 
categorisation 
Crown Reserves 

City-owned community 
land 

Existing 

General Community 
Use/Park/Sportsground 

Sportsground / General 
Community use 

 

Condition of land  
 

refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

 
 
 

  

1143



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 
  

1144



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Heritage and culture 
Overview – recreational role and design 
Rushcutters Bay Park was dedicated for Public 
Recreation in 1885. 

The land the park lies on is within the traditional 
lands of the Gadigal people and the area was 
previously known to First nations peoples as 
“Kogerah”. Land reclamation works have 
removed or covered over many of the physical 
traces of First Nations occupation, but historical 
documents confirm Aboriginal people had a 
presence in the area after European arrival and 
continued to do so up until the late nineteenth 
century. 

Prior to European arrival marshlands extended 
for nearly a kilometre from the edge of Sydney 
harbour, encompassing the entirety of the 
reserve. A freshwater creek, (Rushcutters 
Creek) ran through the marshlands, with several 
small streams and their tributaries running 
through the surrounding area. The land around 
was thickly covered with immense mahogany 
trees, blackbutts, blood tree and red gums. An 
abundance of tall strong rushes grew in the 
swampy reaches of the area, providing habitat 
for many aquatic bird and Kangaroo rats, brush 
wallabies and dingoes.  

The marshlands where the park is now located 
was used by the first European settlers to collect 
rushes, hence the name Rushcutters Bay.  

The first land grant in the area was to Thomas 
West in 1810 to establish a water mill. 

The area surrounding the reserve was used for 
market gardens from the 1830s to the 1870s with 
the marshlands largely unchanged until 1875. 
Following the Land reclamation Act of 1878, 
which reserved 6 acres to be set aside for a park, 
reclamation works commenced and were 
completed in 1883. 

The park was proclaimed in 1885 and almost 
immediately encroachments began to occur. In 
1892 a tram depot and powerhouse were built to 
winch the cable trams up the steep ascent to 
Edgecliff. In 1897 a fountain was erected on the 
south-western side of the oval to commemorate 
Queen Victoria’s diamond jubilee. 

With the construction of the Bondi ocean outfall 
sewer, low-lying suburbs needed pumping 
stations and one was constructed here in 1899. 

Rushcutters Bay Park is typical of parks on 
reclaimed land from the 1880s. It involved major 
public works requiring the reclamation of a large 
area of marsh, the channelling of the creek and 
the construction of a ballast dyke sea wall. The 
channel divides the park between the City of 
Sydney and Woollahra municipality, which is 
responsible for the eastern zone. 

Recreation related additions to the park included 
croquet lawns in the 1900s, which were 
converted to tennis courts in 1923. In 1951 the 
kindergarten was built on the western side of 
Waratah Street.  

Reg Bartley Oval was constructed in the area of 
the former foundations of the Old General Post 
Office. This building was demolished in the 
1860s and the site levelled with fill. The oval was 
completed and fenced by 1889, and the original 
grandstand was built by 1894 on the north side 
of the oval. In 1926 another grandstand was 
built, which was damaged by fires in 1956 and 
1957. The oval was named in 1959 in recognition 
of Reg Bartley’s 18 years as alderman and 5 as 
Lord Mayor. The grandstand was renovated in 
1992 and has been featured in Australian films. 

A commemoration of early European settlement 
was made with the planting of a swamp 
mahogany tree and plaque to commemorate 
Thomas West near the sea wall in 1982. 

The park provides a close-up view of the 
Cruising Yacht Club and especially of the 
assembled competitors for the annual Sydney-
Hobart yacht race.  

The dominant trees are paperbarks, Moreton 
Bay figs and Port Jackson figs. 

 

Heritage Context 
– SHR Item # 02041 – ‘Rushcutters Bay and 

Yarranabee Parks’ 

– SHR Item #01339 – ‘Sewerage Pumping 
Station 18’  

– Sydney LEP #C20 – ‘Elizabeth and 
Rushcutters Bays Heritage Conservation 
Area’  

– Sydney LEP #I1403 – ‘Rushcutters Bay 
Park and pumping station’ 

 

 

1145



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

History 

The following summary is taken from the 2001 
Conservation management Plan for the reserve 
and the book Hidden in Plain View by Paul Irish. 

The area now known as Rushcutters Bay was 
known as Kogarah to First Nations people. 
Marshlands extended for nearly a kilometre from 
the edge of Sydney harbour, encompassing the 
entirety of the reserve. A freshwater creek, 
(Rushcutters Creek) ran through the 
marshlands, with several small streams and their 
tributaries running through the surrounding area. 
The land around was thickly covered with 
immense mahogany trees, blackbutts, blood tree 
and red gums. An abundance of tall strong 
rushes grew in the swampy reaches of the area, 
providing habitat for many aquatic bird and 
Kangaroo rats, brush wallabies and dingoes.  

For the early Europeans, the rushes provided a 
valuable supply of thatch for the first buildings of 
the settlement and for bedding in horse stables. 
Gangs of convicts were sent to the march by the 
Government to cut rushes for such purposes. 
Consequently, the cove became known to 
settlers, including Surveyor Meehan, as the 
Rush Cutting Bay, with the name ‘Rush Cutter’s 
Bay’ being formalised by 1868. 

Most of the harbourside bays of Sydney’s 
eastern suburbs contained Aboriginal 
settlements at different periods throughout the 
19th century. Bayside reclamation works since 
that time have removed or covered over many of 
the physical traces of this occupation, but 
historical documents confirm Aboriginal people 
had a presence there. 

Rushcutters Bay was most likely used by 
Aboriginal people from the early 19th century, 
but it is from the 1850s that records have 
survived. There appear to have been several 
different Aboriginal settlements at different 
times, on either side of a small creek winding 
through the mudflats of what is now Rushcutters 
Bay Park, and on the higher ground at Edgecliff. 

Most of the Aboriginal residents of the 
Rushcutters Bay settlement were connected to 
Sydney. They included Jack Harris (1810s-
1863), who engaged regularly with Europeans in 
town, and was renowned for emphatically 
retorting ‘this is my country’ when anyone 
annoyed him. 

The best documented settlements were those in 
the bush, close to the South Head Road tollbar 
(around the corner of today’s Neild Avenue and 
William Street). The population ranged from a 
few people to two dozen residents there at 
different times. Local European residents later 
described ceremonies taking place there until at 
least the 1870s, and men spearfishing in the bay. 
Aboriginal women bailed up the carriages of rich 
passers-by by standing in front of them, in order 
to ask for money or gifts for their children, just 
as William Warrell had extracted a kind of ‘toll’ 
from travellers further down the road. 

In the 1890s, the settlement at Rushcutters Bay 
consisted of several gunyahs made of slabs of 
wood leaning against a fence and covered with 
iron, sheets and other materials, around a 
central campfire. By this time the settlement had 
a few permanent residents who survived by 
fishing and gathering shell and by selling 
boomerangs and shell ornaments in the city. 

They were often visited by Aboriginal people 
from other areas who ‘brought birds and honey 
with them and exchanged them for fish.’ At one 
time in 1895, there were several dozen 
Aboriginal people from La Perouse, Vaucluse, 
the Shoalhaven district and the mid-north coast 
living there. This group attracted complaints from 
European residents, but the authorities had little 
power at this time to move Aboriginal people 
permanently away, and Aboriginal people 
continued to live there until the end of the 19th 
century. 

The owners of the neighbouring Mona Estate at 
Darling Point allowed Aboriginal people to camp 
in the ruins of an old chapel on the property. The 
family’s governess, Harriet Baker, was involved 
in the evangelical Christian Endeavour 
movement, which was by then active at the 
Aboriginal settlement at La Perouse. It seems 
that Baker, perhaps with the assistance of 
Aboriginal people at La Perouse, persuaded the 
last of the Rushcutters Bay residents to move to 
La Perouse in around 1900, and there are no 
further references to the settlement after this 
time. 

A large area of land, including the area now 
occupied by Rushcutters Bay Park, was granted 
to convict Thomas West 1810, with the intent to 
establish a water mill at the upper level of the 
Rushcutters Creek, approximately 200m from 
where the marshland commenced, outside the 
boundaries of the reserve. The mill was the 

1146

https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/ricketty-dick/


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

successful attempt in Sydney, with the mill site 
located south of the reserve, on the western side 
of Rushcutters Creek. Near the mill, a house was 
constructed with garden and orchard.  

The area surrounding the reserve was used for 
market gardens from the 1830s to the 1870s. 
The marshlands at Rushcutters Bay were not 
suitable for agriculture or other significant 
enterprises which were growing necessity to 
support the growing colony. The meant that the 
marshlands were largely unchanged until 1875 
when it was declared by Thomas Garrett, 
Minister for Lands, that actions be taken to 
reclaim the marshland at Rushcutters Bay. This 
was approved and an act of parliament was 
passed in 1878 which made provisions for the 
reclamation works as well as reserving 6 acres 
of land for recreation.  

Reclamation work along the south head and east 
side of the bay began in 1878. It included the 
construction of the sandstone channel through 
which the former Rushcutters Bay Creek 
emptied into the bay. The marshland, which 
extended to Queen’s avenue, was drained and 
filled, with the irregular shoreline rounded out. 
These works were completed in 1883, 7 years 
after Rushcutters’s Bay Park was proclaimed.  

By c1890 a cricket ground (or oval) was installed 
in the park, with a grandstand erected on the 
eastern side of the oval in 1894. surrounded by 
plantings and the sandstone sea wall was built 
soon after construction of the oval.   

As small portion of the park in the southeast was 
resumed in 1892 as the site for a power house 
and tram depot, which were built in 1894. The 
cables trams in Edgecliff were operated by the 
powerhouse, which was then later sed as a 
garage for trolley buses. 

In 1899 the Department of Public Works 
constructed a sewerage pumping station on the 
south eastern side of the oval. The station was 
one of several low-level sewerage pumping 
stations that formed part of the great Bondi 
Ocean Outfall Sewer. 

Other works at the turn of the century were 
relatively minor in comparison. The Queen 
Victoria jubilee fountain was installed on the 
southwest side of the oval in 1897, and a horse 
trough installed by the Sydney Council in 1902. 
Croquet lawns were established in the early 
twentieth century however were converted to 
tennis courts by 1923 as the popularity of 

croquet was replaced by tennis. Additional court 
were constructed in 1929. 

A second grandstand, replacing the original, was 
constructed on the north western side of the oval 
in the 1920s.  

The depression years of the 1930s and through 
WWII saw a decline in the numerous upgrades 
and improvements to the reserve with the 
exception of the air raid shelters (1942-45) and 
the toilet block (1941). 

1951 the kindergarten was built on the west side 
of Waratah Street. A commemoration of early 
European settlement came with the planting of a 
swamp mahogany tree and plaque to 
commemorate Thomas West near the sea wall 
in 1982. 

The air raid shelter was converted to the council 
depot in 1952. The 1920s grandstand was 
substantially rebuilt in the 1950s following 
extensive fire damage. It was then used for the 
movie ‘Babe’ in 1996. 

Statement of Significance 

The following Statement of Significance has 
been taken from the SHR listing for Rushcutters 
Bay Park and Yarranabee Park  

Rushcutters Bay Park (and Yarranabee Park) are 
state significant examples of the reservation of 
land for public recreation by Councils in response 
to community lobbying. Both demonstrate the 
importance placed on inalienable and accessible 
public lands in Sydney from the mid to late-19th 
century and among the largest harbour 
reclamation schemes for public recreation 
undertaken in the history of NSW. This broad 
expanse of open foreshore land, punctate with 
rows of huge Morten Bay figs form a magnificent 
southern boundary to this bay-side common, 
located besides the most densely populated area 
of Sydney, a place of respite from city life, and an 
opportunity to enjoy sweeping views of inner 
Sydney.  

Both parks of historical significance marking the 
second wave of municipal park creation, part of 95 
public parks created between 1863 and 1902 in 
Sydney and of 50 created in the four year lead up 
to the 1888 centenary of the English Colony. They 
reflect the influence of James Jones, Overseer for 
the Domains, who laid out Victoria Park, then 
Wentworth Park, incorporating sports ovals, 
greens and pathways with lines or avenues of 
trees into the design, which was innovative and 

1147



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

reflected practice in England and France I the 
1870s. Rushcutters Bay Park was designed by 
engineer Frederick Augustus (F.A) Franklin, who 
also designed Sydney’s Centennial Park. Both 
parks retain their structure and layout, edged by 
the distinctive late nineteenth-century sandstone 
seawall, divided in two by the storm-water canal, 
which formalised a natural water course in the late 
nineteenth century, and framed by mature Hills 
and Moreton Bay figs.  

Both Parks have played a central role in the 
evolving landscape of leisure, sports and sports 
spectating in this densely-populated quarter of the 
city over the past 150 years and have strong, state 
significant associations with several spiring 
events, including the start of the Sydney to Hobart 
Yacht Race since 1945 and the international boing 
events hosted in the adjacent Sydney Stadium 
from 1908. The western half of Rushcutters Bay 
Park is dominated by the Grandstand and Reg 
Bartley Oval, which has provided an important 
recreational facility since 1894, and is a rare 
surviving example of a grandstand associated with 
a suburban park.  

Rushcutters Bay Park and Yarranabee Park have 
research potential to inform our knowledge over 
Aboriginal-settler contact and possible conflict in 
the early colonial period and 19th century cultural 
interaction in inner Sydney, shifting camps and 
settlement, interactions with colonists and 
increasing suburbanisation. Both have research 
potential on early and ongoing Aboriginal 
resistance to colonialization, lobbying for equal 
rights and for better living condition. The role of 
visiting World Champion heavyweight boxer, 
African American Jack Johnson in 1908, his 
winning fight in the adjacent Sydney Stadium in 
front 20,000 people, his meeting with Sydney 
Aboriginal activists and advocates and influence is 
but one topic. Rushcutters Bay Park east may 
retain important archaeological remnants of early 
colonial rush-cutting skills and implements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key heritage features 

The following key elements and features of 
heritage significance have been identified in the 
2001 CMP prepared for Rushcutters Bay Park.  

High Heritage Values: 

– Parkland and trees 

– Oval 

– Stone kerbs and steps generally 

– Seawalls 

– Fence 

– Grandstand 

– Sewerage pumping station  

– Waratah Street Cottages Nos 21,21,25 

– Altered Air raid Shelter 
Medium Heritage Values: 

– Paths 

– Park Furniture 

– Fence 

Low Heritage value 

– Kiosk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
1148



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Environment and landscape 
Rushcutters Bay Park is a harbourside open 
space located in the north eastern corner of the 
City of Sydney Local Government Area (“LGA”).  
It forms part of a series of linked / potentially 
linked parklands that provide a key open space 
resource for communities in Potts Point, 
Elizabeth Bay and Rushcutters Bay.  

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 
The land on which Rushcutters Bay Park is 
situated prior to European arrival and 
colonisation would have consisted of extensive 
marshlands. A freshwater creek, (Rushcutters 
Creek) ran through the marshlands, with several 
small streams and their tributaries running 
through the surrounding area. The land around 
was thickly covered with immense mahogany 
trees, blackbutts, blood tree and red gums. An 
abundance of tall strong rushes grew in the 
swampy reaches of the area, providing habitat 
for many aquatic bird and Kangaroo rats, brush 
wallabies and dingoes. 

Reclamation work to drain and fill the land, 
construction of the seawall formed the basis for 
the park that exists today. 

The following descriptions have been 
summarised from the Master Plan 2006 and City 
of Sydney background information. 

Existing Physical Characteristics: 
Landform, Soil, Drainage 
– The park is generally level throughout, with 

gently rise towards the western boundary 
reflecting the street topography. The harbour 
edge is bounded by a stone seawall 

– The Sydney stormwater channel dissects the 
larger park areas 

– Water quality in Rushcutters Bay continues 
to be an issue and the bay has been 
impacted by sewerage overflow events 
particularly after heavy rainfall and 
blockages within the Sydney Water sewer 
network 

– Rushcutters’s Bay is not a well-flushed 
locality within the overall Sydney Harbour 
due its location away from the estuary mouth 

– Past identification on the eastern side of the 
bay, of seagrass beds of eel grass and 
paddle weed plus algae colonies provide 
important habitat within Sydney Harbour 

Vegetation / Planting 
– The tree plantings within the park represent 

layers of cultural heritage.  

– New plantings and management of the 
existing trees aims to maintain and allow 
significant visual connections to the two 
portions of the overall park (City of Sydney 
and Woollahra managed sides) 

– The park contains an outstanding collection 
of trees, many of which have significance as 
individual specimens including a London 
Plane (Platanus x acerifolia) near the rear 
boundary of the Kindergarten, an American 
Cottonwood (Populus deltoides) in the 
adjoining reserve, a very large specimen 
River Red Gum (Eucalyptus camaldulensis), 
Small-leaved Fig (Ficus obliqua), 
Queensland Kauri Pine (Agathis robusta) 
and Blackbean (Castanospermum australe). 
One of the Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus 
macrophylla) in the north-eastern corner of 
the park is a particularly outstanding 
specimen with an expansive low-branching 
pattern (28 metres in diameter).  

– Furthermore, these significant trees provide 
high visual, amenity and biodiversity values 
in this urban foreshore setting.  

– An arboriculture survey undertaken for the 
1999 PoM outlined the vegetation in the Park 
is dominated by mature trees in a generally 
good state of health. The most common tree 
is Paperbark (Melaleuca quinquenervia), 
situated mostly along the foreshore. The 
most visually dominant trees are the Moreton 
Bay Figs and Port Jackson Figs. Some 
newer plantings have struggled due to 
excess shade including overshadowing by 
mature tree canopies. 

Habitats and Biodiversity 
In 2020, a new ‘living seawall’ consisting of 90 
habitat panels along two 12-metre stretches of 
the foreshore providing local marine life with 
nooks and crevices to live in and encouraging 
more seaweed and animal species to return was 
installed. The panels were installed by Sydney 
Institute of Marine Science and supported by 
City of Sydney.  
The aim is to encourage marine life to the 
manmade seawalls that make up half of Sydney 
Harbour’s shoreline, increase biodiversity and 
improve water quality. 

1149



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Nest boxes have also been installed on trees 
within the park and there is a standing dead tree 
providing habitat. 
The City has previously recorded fauna sightings 
in the park. There is potential for some small 
improvements to the understorey plant species 
in the park that would assist in providing a more 
diverse habitat. 

Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 
Landscape character is typical of Sydney’s 
foreshore parks to reclaimed lands, with a 
foreshore promenade, large swathes of open 
grass with mature tree plantings defined by 
pedestrian circulation paths. The park is large 
enough to accommodate formal recreation 
facilities including sports oval, tennis court and 
associated facilities including grandstand and 
cafe. 

The park is visually secluded from passing 
motorists on New South Head Road and 
contains a range of important visual elements 
contributing to park character.  

Mature Fig trees are a strong visual presence as 
are open maintained grasslands.  There heritage 
grandstand to Reg Bartley Oval is a local 
landmark 

Access and Circulation 
The park has a number of entry points for 
pedestrians and cyclists from the surrounding 
street network. Waratah Street provides direct 
access for vehicles with time restricted on-street 
parking available either side. Waratah Street is 
one-way from Bayswater Road and Roslyn 
Gardens.  

Pedestrian crossings have been installed at 
either end of the park precinct on Waratah Street 
to improve the connectivity between Rushcutters 
Bay Park and Waratah Reserve and access 
between the facilities. 

The internal path network is generally in good 
condition and provides circulation routes around 
the park and to the facilities. The foreshore 
promenade is a popular route and connects via 
bridge to the Woollahra side of the park. 

A shared path route from Waratah Street 
provides a direct connection to the Woollahra 
side of the park to/from the city’s cycle route 
network. 

Recent upgrade works completed in 2013 have 
improved overall pedestrian movement and 

implemented the path hierarchy outlined in the 
2006 Master Plan. The improvements also 
included upgrades to the general park lighting as 
well to the sports oval to meet current 
compliance standards. 

 

Reserve development 
Rushcutters Bay Park was born out of the 
Nineteenth Century Parks Movement in Sydney. 
Urbanisation increased the need to maintain 
public health for city residents by providing 
spaces people could gain fresh air, contact with 
nature, exercise, rest and relaxation. Public 
Parks were also seen as symbols of modern 
democracy where people of all levels of society 
could freely mix. 

Key milestones in the park development include: 

– Land Reclamation Act 1878 and reservation 
of 6 acres of land for recreation 

– 1883 land reclamation works completed 

– 1890 a cricket ground was installed, and 
sandstone seawall constructed soon after 

– Croquet lawns were converted to tennis 
courts by 1923 

– A new grandstand built in 1920s replaced an 
original structure 

– 1951 Kindergarten was built west of Waratah 
Street 

Capital Works upgrades since 2006 include: 
– Waratah Reserve Playground and lighting 

upgraded in 2006 

– Reg Bartley Oval refurbishment 2013/14 

In March 2013, the City of Sydney Council 
unanimously endorsed the upgrade of the 
lighting and fencing in Reg Bartley Oval and 
the lights in Rushcutters Bay Park. The 
installation of new lights was completed in 
October 2014. The new lights will provide 
better lighting over the sports oval, especially 
during winter. 

The new lights have been designed and 
positioned to give more even light coverage 
across the oval, improving player safety in 
line with Australian standards. The lights will 
operate mainly during winter hours and will 
coincide with bookings of the oval. 

1150



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

The timber picket fence to the oval has been 
replaced with a timber replica with metal 
supports, which will reduce the fence's long-
term maintenance needs while retaining 
original design. 

The cricket practice net has been replaced 
with permanent nets to improve safety and 
access. 

– Reg Bartley Oval grandstand refurbishment, 
Tennis and Kiosk 2011 

This work included the provision of new 
public amenities, ground staff facilities, a 
kiosk, reconfigured tennis courts and new 
plantings and pathways. Three small two-
storey buildings are placed directly behind 
the grandstand and contain public amenities 
on the ground floor and Ground-staff facilities 
on the upper level. They are lightly 
connected to the Grandstand on the first floor 
via a steel mesh walkway. The kiosk is 
situated adjacent to the tennis courts next to 
the oval with views to the bay.  

These works are largely based on the outcomes 
of the 2006 Master Plan with the exception that 
the existing Kiosk on the west side of Waratah 
Street was removed and the new kiosk/café build 
beside the two existing tennis courts adjacent 
the oval/grandstand. 

The tennis court configuration is based on 
adopted PoM 1999/2000. 

 

Past studies and master plans: 
– Rushcutters Bay Park - Design Report – 

2006 

– Reg Bartley Oval Grandstand - Rushcutters 
Bay Park – Conservation Management Plan 
- 2005 

– Rushcutters Bay Park – PoM and Master 
Plan – 1999/2000 

– Rushcutters Bay Park - Conservation 
Management Plan – 2001 

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 
Crown Reserve Purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Rushcutters Bay Park 
Crown reserve is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 
Rushcutters Bay park is a harbourside park for 
active and passive recreation including sport, 
dog walking, jogging, cycling, kayaking, 
picnicking and play. 

The park offers both recreation and community 
facilities, accommodating a broad range of user 
groups. 

The park includes outdoor tennis courts, fenced 
sports oval and a cafe. A local level children's 
playground is located at the neighbouring 
Waratah Street Reserve.  

A larger play space is available in the Woollahra 
managed side of the park. 

Other facilities which support park usage 
include: 

– Public toilets 
– Exercise equipment 
– Path network 
– Water access stairs to the harbour and living 

seawalls 
– Cricket practice net, free to use no booking 

required 

Tennis centre 

– The Open Space, Sports and Recreational 
Needs Study 2016 (“OSSNRS”) noted the 
courts are well used and are at 60% 
occupancy, more than twice the national 
average. 

– 5 courts available  

– Rushcutters Bay Park Tennis operates under 
a lease and offers tennis programs, 
coaching, competitions, social tennis, 
holiday camps and court hire. Caters to 
children, beginner, professional and visitors. 

1151



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

– The currently hosts many local schools, 
providing coaching programs or court hire for 
inter school training/ competition/ 
tournaments 

– Café is open regularly throughout the week 
and weekends. 

Reg Bartley Oval 
– Utilised by cricket, football codes by 

community clubs and schools 

– The oval and grandstand facilities are used 
by sporting codes throughout the year for 
sporting fixtures 

These active precincts are complemented by 
unstructured open grassed areas for passive 
recreation along the foreshore and in Waratah 
Reserve. It is one of few places where public 
access to the harbour/water is possible in the 
area. The park is also used by spectators to view 
various yacht events and competitors such as 
the line-up for the annual Sydney to Hobart 
Yacht race. 

As one of the largest parks, on the east side of 
the city the park is a popular place for dog 
exercise. Dogs can be off leash between the 
hours of 3.30pm to 10.30am with prohibited 
areas, Reg Bartley Oval and Waratah 
Playground. 

Users 
The park attracts a range of users including 
walkers, joggers, dog walkers, sports people and 
organised school groups.  

Recent user intercept surveys indicate that the 
most popular activities undertaken in the park by 
the majority of respondents include  

– Walking or running for exercise 

– Sitting and relaxing 

– Walking through to get somewhere else  

– Meeting with friends 

– Other activities included using the park for 
mediation and a place for respite 

Majority of the survey respondents were more 
likely to live nearby the area with approximately 
two thirds of respondents visiting the area on a 
daily basis. 

Members of the local community mostly use the 
park as a respite from dense inner-city living. 

The Park does attract regional users who live 
beyond the local area and travel by car. Users 
are also attracted to the Park for its harbour 
location without the crowds of tourists present in 
places like Darling Harbour. 

Event use of the park 
The park has been a location for promotional 
events and films. The café and a space within 
the grandstand can be hired out for private and 
or community functions.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

1152



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   
facilities usage condition assessment (source / 

reference) 

Reg Bartley Oval Organised sports users 

General public 

Good 

Reg Bartley Oval – 
Fencing 

N/a Good 

Reg Bartley Oval - 
Lighting 

Organised sports users Good 

Reg Bartley Grandstand Organised sports users Average (3) 

Tennis Centre  

– 5 courts 

Club members and pay for use 
users 

Fair 

Tennis Centre  

– Cafe 

General public Good (2) 

Public Toilets General public Fair 

Cricket Practice net Organised sports users 

General public 

Fair 

Playground (Waratah 
Reserve) 

General public Good (2) 

KU Rushcutters Bay 
Preschool (Waratah 
Reserve) 

Clients Average (3) 

Footpaths General public Fair to Good 

Stone seawalls and 
water access stairs 

General public Fair 

Park Furniture - seating General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - lighting General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - bins General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - signage General public Fair 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

1153



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 
Lease / license Lease / licence 

holder 
Date commenced 

Date expiring 
Comments 

AGP Lease -  

Part Lot 1 DP 554114 
(City-owned land) and 
part Lot 7321 DP 
1165813 (Crown land) 

KU Children’s 
Services 

3 years, 01/07/2018 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Childcare and Pre-
school 

Retail Lease - Tennis 
Centre and Kiosk 

Barbara Ann 
Sportsware 

3 years, 04/01/2014 
Expiry 03/01/2017 
(Holdover) 

 

Sports goods and cafe 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1154



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Ownership and management 
Rushcutters Bay Park is Crown reserve owned 
by the State of New South Wales.  The City of 
Sydney is the Crown land manager responsible 
for the management of the reserve.  Refer to 
Section 2, page 15 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 
Crown Land Management Act 2016 
Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 
The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Rushcutters Bay Park is Clause 
65 that specifies that development for any 
purpose may be carried out without consent if 
the development is for the purposes of 
implementing an adopted PoM. The clause also 
lists a range of ancillary developments permitted 
without consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

1155



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 
Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 
Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Rushcutters Bay Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   
1 Objectives of zone 
– To enable land to be used for public open 

space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 
Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 
Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 
Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City which is not covered by one of the Future 
Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 
to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 

1156



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City’s Native Title Manager has been and 
will continue to be consulted in all relevant 
aspects of Native Title pertaining to the land that 
is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

1157



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 
The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 
In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 
Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 
The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 
The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high-
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 
City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  
Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 
While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 
 

4. Strategic context 

1158



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 
The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 
The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 
The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

− Macleay Street – Woolloomooloo will have an 
increase in other families, followed by one 
parent families 

− Oxford Street will have an increase in other 
families, followed by lone person households 

Overnight and daily visitors 
The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City experiences 680,000 daily and 

overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

− shopping 
− health and education 
− recreation and entertainment 
− accommodation 
− personal business 
− Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 
Cultural diversity 
47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 
18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 
City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

1159



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 
  

1160



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
this place we now call our local 
area, and we acknowledge 
their continued connection to 
Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 

 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 
Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 

workshop participant 
 

Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1161



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

1162



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Values and roles of 
Rushcutters Bay Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- A green refuge on the harbours edge 

- A place of harbour views 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A harbourside location  

- A well-connected parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and 
use 

- A park that is clear easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

 

3.0   Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Play spaces that support children and 
family use of park 

- Spaces and facilities support youth use of 
the park 

- A place for daily fitness 

- A place dog walking and exercise 

- A place that recognises and celebrates 
First Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

- A place for organised sports 

- Community spaces for hire 

- A valued childcare facility 

- Tennis courts that provide an active heart 
to the park 

- Kiosk facilities that compliment and add to 
the park amenity 

 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Rushcutters Bay Sewage Pumping Station 
and Sydney Water channel 

- Park elements support park use and create 
an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0   Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support 
biodiversity 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

6. Basis for 
Management 

1163



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

- Established plantings which contribute to 
the park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting sustainable water 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0 Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations 
People and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0   Management and Maintenance 

- Cohesive management of a significant park 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

  

1164



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Rushcutters Bay Park   
Crown reserve is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

 

Current / existing use 
The City has established initial categorisations 
for Rushcutters Bay Park in accordance with 
Crown Land requirements. The Council Crown 
Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that councils 
should apply the initial categorisation based on 
existing/current use of the reserve only. The 
initial categorisation cannot be based on 
proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Rushcutters Bay Park have 
been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 

other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Rushcutters Bay Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Rushcutters Bay Park, Section 2 describes 
the heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Rushcutters Bay Park. Under the guidelines for 
each category, their interpretation and 
application to Rushcutters Bay Park is 
explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1165



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 
Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Rushcutters Bay Park 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports field areas  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses including sports 
courts 

 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

1166



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

1167



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Rushcutters Bay Park through 
past master planning (2006) and plans of 
management (1999).  This PoM references the 
Master Plan 2006 as the current planning 
direction for the reserve and supersedes the 
PoM 1999. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of Rushcutters Bay Park. As reflected in the 
Master Plan (refer Figure 8 on page 43) and this 
PoM. 

Master Plan 2006 
The Master Plan 2006 was commissioned to 
undertake design development and 
documentation works within Rushcutters Bay 
Park based on the adopted PoM 2000 and City 
of Sydney design issues 2005. 

The following is a summary of the key items 
addressed in the revised Refined Master Plan 
2006. Note that many of these items have either 
now had design issues resolved and works fully 
implemented.  

Pedestrian and Service circulation 
– Establish pedestrian circulation hierarchy. 

The primary pedestrian route is lit and is 3m 
wide other paths are 1.8m wide 

– Paths, which currently terminate abruptly 
have been connected into the system 

– An additional pedestrian and cycle bridge 
connection to be provided across Sydney 
Water Channel (replacement bridge near 
foreshore recently implemented) 

– Waratah Street has been modified to calm 
traffic speed through the park and denote the 
street as a shared zone 

– Cricket net relocation  

– Council Depot access and circulation around 
Grandstand 

Traffic management and parking 
– Carriageway reduced in width 

– Flush roughened thresholds introduced 

– Reduction in number of car spaces by 4 
 

Lighting upgrades – to appropriate 
standards and compliance  
– The primary shared pedestrian route is to be 

lit  

– No change proposed to Oval lighting 

– Waratah Street lit to P2  
– It is possible if the street is nominated as a 

Shared Zone and light to P8 
– Feature lighting to the Fig adjacent to 

harbour side of the bridge and Sewerage 
Pump Station, possibly also around 
upgraded kiosk 

– A further review of the Tennis Courts will be 
lighting will need to be  

– In the new playground only pathway access 
next to Childcare Centre to be lit 

Tree management and Planting 
– Tree Strategy seeks to achieve the following 

objectives 

1. Maintain and manage the existing tree 
stock within the park 

2. Respect and interpret the layers of cultural 
heritage represented by the tree plantings 

3. Maintain and allow significant visual 
connection between the City of Sydney and 
Woollahra Municipal Council portions of the 
park 

– Reinforce or complete major tree planting 
elements that provide the structure of the 
park these being: 

– Line of single species trees to the edge 
of the Harbour 

– Avenue of Brush Box to Waratah Street 

– Mixed Australian rainforest species 
avenue to major path from the canal to 
the western end of Waratah Street 

– “L” shaped planting of Camphor Laurels 
and Norfolk Island Hibiscus dating from 
early 20th century 

Public Domain Furniture 
– Seating - locations to be rationalised and will 

also be located to achieve equal access 
criteria 

– Seats will be as supplied by Town and Park 
with aluminium frame and oiled timber states 

1168



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

to match those used in the Woollahra 
Municipal Council section of the park 

– Bins are to be provided in limited located on 
primary routes at entry/exist points only. Bins 
to be 240 litre Sulo type with surround and 
dog waste bags dispenser attached to side 

– Bubblers are to be located on equal access 
route and meet access standards 
requirements such as Commercial Systems 
Australia with dog watering attachment– in 
stainless steel 

– Bollards to match Woollahra Municipal 
Council Master plan or City standards 

– Community signpost to be provided in 
northern orientation space on Waratah 
Street 

Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016: 
Further to the ongoing implementation of the 
2006 Master Plan recommendation planning will 
have regard for the strategic directions included 
in the OSSRNS of direct reference to 
Rushcutters Bay Park: 

– Green Street / Liveable Green Network links 
- from Boundary / Neild Ave location to 
Rushcutters Bay Park and Trumper Park  

– Partnership and coordination with Woollahra 
Municipal Council  

o Support Woollahra Municipal Council in 
objective of gaining community access to 
White City open space and recreation 
facilities in a future site redevelopment and 
a continuum of open space between 
Rushcutters Bay Park and Trumper Park  

o to improve district level playground and 
potential skate facilities within Woollahra 
Municipal Council managed side of park.  

o Coordinate recreation facility and amenity 
improvements between City managed and 
Woollahra managed sides of Rushcutters 
Bay Park 

Figure 8 on the following page is the approved 
Master Plan for Rushcutters Bay Park prepared 
in 2006.  

 

 

 

1169



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
 

Approved Master Plan for Rushcutters Bay Park prepared in 2006 

 

1170



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values  

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 
  

7. Review of the plan 

1171



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

 

 
  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1172



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Rushcutters Bay Park and is applicable to 
all community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 
The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Rushcutters Bay Park. The 
outcomes seek to conserve and enhance the 
values of Rushcutters Bay Park and address 
management challenges and opportunities 
identified by the community and City. 

Means of implementation 
In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 
A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Rushcutters 

Bay Park will be considered on merit and 
benefits to the community and balanced 
against physical constraints, the amenity of 
adjoining residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 
The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 
Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 
Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  
Express authorisation 
This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1173



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Rushcutters Bay Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City will notify and give an 
opportunity for comment from any representative 
Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander bodies, 
registered Native Title bodies corporate and 
registered Native Title claimants in relation to the 
land or waters covered by the reservation or 
lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Rushcutters Bay Park may 
also be prohibited by the applicable land use 
zoning. The City may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Rushcutters Bay 
Park must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Rushcutters Bay Park which may attract high 
numbers of people including organised sport 
activities and training, school sport 

1174



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

competitions, commercial activities and one-off 
community events and performances. 

The allocation of Rushcutters Bay Park for 
organised sport and school sport will comply with 
City of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

High Intensity use 
This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Rushcutters Bay Park which may attract high 
numbers of people including one-off community 
events and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 
The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Rushcutters Bay Park and 
settings (such as playgrounds, fitness stations 
and park seating) will be determined by the 
community use of the site but will be managed to 
avoid undue impacts on park fabric and 
environment. 

Commercial uses  
Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures; 
and 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 

1175



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City’s ability to lease or licence Crown 
reserves managed as community land such as 
Rushcutters Bay Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Rushcutters Bay Park. 

1176



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Access 
Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  
Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with City 

– all necessary City approvals have been 
obtained 

– The City is in receipt of proof of suitable 
insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 
Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  
The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 

undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  
The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

1177



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Bookings and events 
Temporary events 
Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s temporary event approval process and in 
line with existing applicable guidelines, policies 
and legislative requirements, both locally and at 
a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 
The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 
The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  
The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement. In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 

1178



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 

of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.  

1179



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Rushcutters Bay Park, 
including means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the 
City of Sydney. 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

• To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects connection 
to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and description 
that captures the place’s connection 
to Country  

Consultation completed 
Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and 
cultural history 

• To contribute to the spaces identity 
and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 
 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A green refuge 
on the harbours 
edge 

• To conserve the “green” and 
natural character of the park 

Management has regard for 
conserving green and natural 
character of the park 

Increased use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

1.4 A place of 
harbour views 

 

• To conserve and enhance views 
and vistas to the Harbour 

Conserve and maintain existing 
Harbour views and vistas from 
within park 

Monitoring of views and 
vistas 
 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A harbourside 
location  
 

• To maintain access to engage with 
the harbour waters  

Conserve and maintain existing 
Harbour Steps in accordance with 
asset management plan 
 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

2.2 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district 
and regional 
users 

• To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to the 
park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
park access. Regular 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

2.3 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

• To provide effective wayfinding and 
signage for park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 
Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of 
park, measured by 
observation 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

2.4 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

• To provide functional, attractive 
and compliant internal circulation 
routes and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 
Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance 
with Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1180



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 An appropriately 
lit environment 

• To provide adequate lighting to 
support desired night access, 
recreational and leisurely use of 
open space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with 
Australian Standards 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 
 

2.6 A place that is 
not compromised 
by parking and 
vehicle access 

• To provide a balanced approach to 
parking  

• To provide and manage functional 
maintenance and emergency 
access mitigating adverse impacts 
on park and uses 

• Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing off-street parking 
to ensure efficiency and equity 
Ensure that permitted use of 
vehicles in park are regulated and 
do not affect community use of 
space 
Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 
Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, 
cyclist and vehicle 
conflicts 
Improved public safety 
Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent 
residents 

• To ensure that the park provides a 
range of flexible and informal use 
spaces that are attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 
 

Increased local use of 
park measured by survey 
and observation 

3.3 Play spaces that 
support 
community and 
family use of 
park 

• To provide access to quality play 
environments that aid early 
childhood development and provide 
engaging play settings 

Ongoing provision of play 
experiences complimentary to park 
character and capacity 

Increased local use of play 
spaces measured by 
survey and observation 

3.4 Spaces and 
facilities support 
youth use of the 
park 

• To optimise the parks role as a hub 
for local youth 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth 
participation measured by 
survey and observation 

3.5 A place for daily 
fitness 

• To support and manage a 
sustainable level of fitness activity in 
the park 

Support the role of the park for 
fitness activities in accordance with 
Council’s policy framework 
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Community feedback  
Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
fitness activities. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.6 A place for dog 
walking and 
exercise 

• To provide for effective dog exercise 
in accordance with Companion 
Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  
Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 
Reports of conflicts 
between dogs and other 
park users 

3.7 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 
 

• To celebrate First Nations heritage 
and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies 
and procedures  
 

3.5 A place for 
events 

• To sustainably encourage temporary 
event use that contributes to local 
activation and cultural and 
community outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 
Manage events in accordance with 
event’s guidelines for Rushcutters 
Bay Park 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to 
scale and intensity 
Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

1181



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.6 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members 
of community 

• That the park is managed as part of a 
coordinated compassionate 
approach across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park in 
accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regular review of register 
to guide future directions 

3.7 A safe place to 
visit day and 
night 

• To ensure the park and park facilities 
provide a safe place to visit and pass 
through, appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities and 
access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 
Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 
Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with 
Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 
Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 
Sustained relationship 
with local police 
 

3.12 A place that 
provides access 
to public 
amenities 

• Maintain access and provision of 
public toilet facilities for all park users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
toilets. Regularly review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

Reg Bartley Oval 

3.13 A place for 
organised sports  

• To ensure that management of 
access to designated sports use 
areas is clear and unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of adequate 
venue management services to 
facilitate bookings of sports fields 
and ovals 
 

Venue bookings 
 

Reg Bartley Grandstand 

3.14 Community 
spaces for hire 

• To maintain and enhance the role of 
the grandstand for the residential, 
school and workforce community 

Maintain and enhance role of the 
role of Reg Bartley Grandstand 

Targeted user surveys 
Increase use measured 
by surveys, observations 
and bookings 

Childcare 

3.15 A valued 
childcare facility 
 

• To maintain and enhance the 
childcare role for the locality 
compatible with other park values 

Regularly monitor services and 
management under lease  

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

Tennis Centre and Kiosk 

3.16 Tennis courts 
that provide an 
active heart to 
the park 

• To maintain and enhance the role 
of the tennis courts for the 
residential, school and workforce 
community 

Maintain and enhance role of tennis 
courts 
Regularly monitor services and 
management under lease 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

3.17 Kiosk facilities 
that compliment 
and add to the 
park amenity 

• To maintain and enhance the role 
of kiosk facilities which compliment 
recreation and leisurely use 

Maintain café/kiosk using current 
footprint  
Ensure operations and offerings 
integrate with and compliment 
ongoing park usage 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Sydney Water Infrastructure 

4.1 Rushcutters Bay 
Sewage 
Pumping Station 
and water 
channel 
 

• To cater for Sydney Water 
requirements without undue impact 
on park use or character 

Monitor operational and access 
issues related to facility and water 
channel  

Sustained relationship 
with Sydney Water 

1182



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Park elements 

4.8 Park elements 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive 
character 

• To support recreational and leisure 
use of park while avoiding 
proliferation of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 
Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 
Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 
Routine surveys, audits 
and inspections 

Underground infrastructure 

4.10 Underground 
infrastructure 

• To ensure services infrastructure 
requirements are effectively 
integrated into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 
Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Maintained relationship 
with authorities 
 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

• To sustain a green landscape for 
continued community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 
Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 
Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the 
original natural 
environment  

• To increase indigenous plantings 
within the park landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of 
diverse habitats 

• To increase habitat value of natural 
and built features 

• To protect and improve existing 
habitat areas 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  
Maintain and manage areas of bush 
restoration in accordance with Bush 
Restoration Service Levels 
Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat 
values 
Compliance with bush 
restoration service levels 

5.4  • To enhance ecological importance in 
open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 
Investigate opportunities to 
increase community understanding 
and participation in the preservation 
of greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open 
space works 
Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are 
connected to 
support 
biodiversity 

• Increase biodiverse connectivity 
within the site and surrounds 

• To provide a cohesive “riparian” 
amenity along the channel margins 

Increase habitat value for key sites 
and species, as identified in the 
biodiversity corridor 
Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park Service 
Levels 
Liaise with adjoining authorities and 
coordinate unified approach to 
managing biodiverse areas 

Measurement and 
monitoring of habitat 
values 
Compliance with 
Landscape Code and Park 
Service Levels 
Sustained relationship 
with Woollahra Municipal 
Council and Sydney Water 
 
 
 
 

1183



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 A place that is 
cool, calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

• To conserve existing shade tree 
canopy and to selectively extend to 
create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  
Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 
Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.7 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

• To effectively maintain and manage 
the existing tree resources at 
optimum health for their safe and 
practical lifespans 

• To effectively plan for succession 
planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 
Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment 
of new trees as measured 
by arborist’s survey  
Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 
Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.8 A place 
exhibiting water 
sensitive urban 
design 

• To effectively manage water use 
and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 
Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 
Reduced potable water 
demand for park 
Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.9 A place 
exhibiting 
sustainable 
energy 
management 

• To effectively manage energy use Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 
Increased savings in 
energy consumption 
Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 A place 
exhibiting 
sustainable 
waste 
management 
practices 

• A place that maximises the diversion 
of waste away from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste 
measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 
 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People 
and living culture 

• To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage values of 
the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 
Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 A place which is 
a conservatory of 
natural and 
cultural heritage 

• To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of heritage 
significance 
• To guide management and design 

decision making to achieve 
optimum heritage management 
outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 
 

6.3 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

To enable park users to understand 
the rich and complex layering of 
natural and cultural values 
represented on the site and add to 
the experience and use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.2 
 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

1184



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  
(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.4 
 
 
 

A place that 
provides a 
canvas for arts 
and culture 

• To facilitate public art in temporary 
and permanent forms that 
compliments the park setting and 
adds to the range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation 
of public art in park 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 Cohesive 
management of 
a significant park 

• To encourage ongoing and 
coordinated management between 
all land managers within the 
precinct 

Liaise with Woollahra to pursue a 
collaborative and coordinated 
approach to precinct management 

Sustained relationship 
with Woollahra Municipal 
Council 

7.2 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully 
managed 

• To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 
 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to 
service and meet 
the community's 
needs 

• To provide well-maintained facilities Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 
 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.4 Appropriate 
leases and 
licences 

• To ensure that tenure and permitted 
use arrangements allow the widest 
possible community access to open 
space and are orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, cultural and 
social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  
 

     

 

 

  

1185



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Rushcutters Bay Park 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1186

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Rushcutters Bay Park in accordance 
with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

1187



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

1188

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 
 
 
  

1189



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Rushcutters Bay Park 
categorised as Sportsground subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton, tennis and netball) 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 
Australian rules, track and field athletics, 
hockey, baseball, softball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

1190

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
area or facilities  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals short-term casual 
use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Rushcutters Bay Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

1191



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

− Management and operation of recreational facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

1192

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Rushcutters Bay Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1193

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030
https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Management and operation of community and 
recreational facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

1194



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Rushcutters 
Bay Park in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes) 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Commercial activities ancillary to community, cultural and recreational use 
(e.g. hire or sale of recreational equipment, physiotherapist, dietician, social 
enterprise) 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Cultural purposes (e.g. concerts, dramatic productions and galleries) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Markets 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

1195



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Short-term uses – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 

1196

https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/act-1993-030


Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1197



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Glossary of terms 
Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

• Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

  

13. Appendices 

1198



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

References 
 

– Rushcutters Bay Park Conservation 
Management Plan 2001 

– Rushcutters Bay Park Master Plan 2006 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

 
  

1199



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1200



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
plays paces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1201



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 
– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 

and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1202



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1203



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1204



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1205



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10-kilometre radius must be 
avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

1206



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1207



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 
– An increase in extreme heat days 
– An increase in air particulates and 

pollution 
– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 

events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 
– An increase in drought conditions 
– An increase in sea levels and the extent 

of coastal inundation 
The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 
4. Able to harness natural environmental 

systems 
5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 

effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1208



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 
1. Provide infrastructure and services to 

sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 
– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 

and being open to change 
– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 
– Creating partnerships 
Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 
– Use art to make the city more legible and 

easier to navigate 
– Try a variety of art types and approaches 
– Share initiatives with government 

agencies, arts groups, and other 
– countries and leading cities 
– Develop local public-private initiatives 
– Consider other opportunities 
 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1209



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 
– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 

and a connected city 
– Align development and growth with 

supporting infrastructure 
– Supporting community wellbeing with 

social infrastructure 
Liveability 
– A creative and socially connected city 
– Creating great places 
– New homes for a diverse community 
– Productivity 
– Growing a stronger, more competitive 

Central Sydney 
– Developing innovative and diverse 

business clusters in City Fringe 
– Protecting industrial and urban services 

in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 
– Protecting and enhancing the natural 

environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1210



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 
– Open, accountable and collaborative 

planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 
Principles 
– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 

commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 
1. Address climate emergency priorities in 

our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1211



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 
Safe streets and spaces 
– Increase actual and perceived public 

safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 
– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 

occur 
– Contribute to reducing domestic and 

family violence and sexual assault 
– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 

supporting effective responses 
Ready and resilient 
– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 

prepare for, respond  
– to and recover from emergencies 
– Build resilient and connected 

communities to increase safety 
– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 
A safe global destination 
– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 

Sydney 
– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  
– Help international students to live, study 

and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 
– Creativity in Sydney is visible 
– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 

community 
– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 

history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1212



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 
– New avenues for creative participation 
– Sector sustainability: surviving and 

thriving 
– Improving access, creating markets 
– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 
1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

1213



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 
1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 

demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 
– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 

contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 
– Design for low water demand and 

drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1214



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 
– Protect existing healthy trees 
– Plant well located canopy tree that 

provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 
– Select local provenance, hardy and 

resilient plant species 
– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 

plant stock/advice 
– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 

areas designated for landscaping 
– Create spaces for community gardens – 

community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 
A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 
Greener streets 
– Create a liveable green network of 

streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 
– Central landscaped medians, replacing 

paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 
– Acquire more land for public open 

space, and tree and landscape planting 
– Balance recreational and functional 

requirements of parks 
– Build habitat parks and landscape City 

streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 
– Establish guidelines and standards for 

provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 
– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 

pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1215



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 
Empowering the community to green our 
city 
– Building social capital by empowering 

the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 
– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 

enhance cultural ribbon connections 
– Strengthen local communities and 

support local economies 
The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 
– Continue to implement the City’s 

Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1216



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 
– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 

equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1217



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 
– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 

retain 
– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 

facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 
– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 
– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 

facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 
– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 

Equipment Program 
– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 

expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 
Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 
– Protect, expand and improve condition of 

naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 
– Protect and enhance sites that provide 

habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1218



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

92 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 
– Improve habitat connectivity across the 

LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 
– Urban forests play a vital role in the 

health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 
– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 

existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 
– Water use is variable 
– Expectation – Maintenance and water 

use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1219



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

93 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  
– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 

noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  
– Specialised technology and consistency 

of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 
  

1220



Rushcutters Bay Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

94 

 

 

 

 

 

1221



Attachment P 

Victoria Park 

 

 

 

1222



 

Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

1223



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 15 

3. Legislative context 32 

4. Strategic context 35 

5. Community guiding principles 38 

6. Basis for Management 40 

7. Review of the plan 47 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 48 

8. General requirements 49 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 56 

10. Park category - authorisations 61 

11. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 65 

12. Appendices 69 

 

1224



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

 
 
 
Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 15 

Figure 3. Site Plan 17 

Figure 4. Heritage Significance of Victoria Park 24 

Figure 5. Timeline of reserve development 28 

Figure 6. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 30 

Figure 7. Existing leases and licences 31 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation table 43 

Figure 9. Community land categorisation map 44 

Figure 10. Master Plan 46 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 61 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 62 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 65 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 67 

 

 

1225



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1226



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1227



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Victoria Park (Crown Reserve 1003029 - Lot 1 
DP 179964, Crown Reserve 500443 – Lot 7035 
DP 1051257, Lot 7046 DP 1051316, Crown 
Reserve 100262 – Lot 552 DP 752049) is 
classified as “community land” under the LG Act 
and managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1228



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

1229



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

1230



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country etc) 

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

1231



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

10 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning, etc. 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

 

 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

1232



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

11 

  

Specific feedback related to Victoria Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1233



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

12 

  

1234



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

13 

 

 

  

1235



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

14 

 

 

   

1236



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

15 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Victoria Park through past master 
planning (Master Plan Study 2006) and plans of 
management (draft plan prepared in 1992 and 
revised in 1993 and Gardeners Lodge Victoria 
Park PoM 2010).   

This PoM references the Master Plan Study 
2006 as the current planning direction for the 
reserve and supersedes the PoM1993. 

Location and description  
The Victoria Park occupies approximately 9 
hectares of open space and is located at the  

 

junction of City Road and Parramatta 
Road/Broadway and adjacent to Sydney 
University in Chippendale.  

The park’s location and size and the nature of 
the surrounding land use establishes Victoria 
Park as an important recreational resource. 

The park plays an important role in the 
continuation of recreation opportunities for local 
residents, workers, and university students, 
heritage landscape and visual amenity for the 
local urban environment. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Victoria Park 

Address 1 Parramatta Road, Camperdown 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

500484 Dedication, Public Recreation, 21/10/1884 

1003029 Public Park, Public Park, 12/12/1924 

100262 Reserve, Community Purposes; Public Recreation, 
15/3/1996 

Zoning RE1, Public Recreation 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) Victoria Park – 49,983.42 m2 

Victoria Park (Part) – 28,690.82 m2 

Victoria Park (R100262) Reserve - 5,761.25 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 7035 DP 1051257 (Victoria Park) 

Lot 1 DP 179964 (Victoria Park Part) 

Lot 7046 DP 1051316 (Victoria Park) 

2. Land description 

1237



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

16 

item description 

City-owned 

community land 

Lot 12 DP1171806  

 

Restrictions / 
easements 

n/a 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing  

Victoria Park General Community Use/Park  

Victoria Park (Part) General Community Use/Park  

Victoria Park (R100262) 
Reserve 

Park  

City-owned land Park  

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 6 for Condition Summary 

 
 

  

1238



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

17 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

  

1/ DP 179964

1/ DP
1171808

552/ \
DP 752049

7046/ DP 
1051316

7035/ 
DP 1051257

12/ 
DP 1171806

Myrtle St

City Road

PLAYSPACE

VICTORIA
PARK POOL

LAKE
NORTHAM GARDENERS

LODGE

Cleveland Street

C
ity

 R
oa

d

Paramatta Road

U
ni

ve
rs

it y
 A

ve

CARPARK

N

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

1239



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

18 

Heritage and culture 
Overview – recreational role and design 

Victoria Park is a significant Victorian-era park 
dedicated in 1870. The park retains substantial 
components of its formative 19th-century 
planning and design, including the grand avenue 
linking City Road and the remaining original gate 
lodge to the tower of the Main Building of the 
University. 

Today’s Victoria Park has evolved and adapted 
since 1870 with land being excised from the park 
area for other purposes and various 
developments providing recreational facilities for 
the community. 

The land on which the park lies is within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. Prior to 
the arrival of European settlers in 1788, the 
Victoria Park area was a heavily treed, sheltered 
area with temperate rainforest vegetation with a 
watercourse that would have drained into 
Blackwattle Bay.   

Its most likely the walking tracks that have 
become major city roads either side of the park 
were on the same alignment used by First 
Nations people to move between areas within 
the Sydney Basin. 

Victoria Park continues to have significant 
connections to First Nations people, and in the 
21st century has been the site for gatherings, 
celebrations and protests including annual 
events in the park. 

The land was the site of some of the earliest land 
grants in the colony when, in 1789, 1000 acres 
were reserved for farmlands and pasture for 
church, government and school officials.  

It became Grose Farm in 1792 and in the 
following years the land had various roles and 
uses related to the developing colony. In 1855 
the site was granted to the University of Sydney 
and Victoria Park was proclaimed in 1870. 

Victoria Park has been a place for sport, leisure, 
relaxation, theatrical performances and 
concerts.  For many years, the park has hosted 
the Sydney Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras Fair 
Day. In 2000, the southern part of the park was 
the site of an Aboriginal Tent embassy to 
highlight Indigenous issues during the Sydney 
Olympics. More recently, the park has hosted the 
Yabun Festival, the nation’s largest showcase of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures.  

Consultation conducted in 2020 with First 
Nations stakeholders has also unearthed a 
range of significant aspects associated with the 
site and local area which should be further 
investigated and acknowledged, including: 

– The original landscape was marshland 
populated by kangaroos  

– The site was used as an old teaching ground 
for hunting  

– A place for maintaining the kangaroo 
population, agricultural and animal 
husbandry  

– A site of a women’s birthing place 

– Many of the local educational institutions are 
built on grounds used by the Gadigal for 
teaching 

– This location and the landscape was the 
original source for the name of Redfern  

– The site of Victoria Park is a place of protests 
and community gathering 

– Recognition of the importance that Victoria 
Park is the home of Yabun Festival  

Heritage Context 

– Victoria Park – I39 Sydney LEP 

– The University of Sydney. University 
Colleges and Victoria Park – SHR item No. 
01974 

History 

The land which Victoria Park now occupies was 
part of the territory of the Gadigal people, whose 
territory stretched from Port Jackson to around 
Petersham. The land was heavily wooded and 
contained a small pond and the tributary stream 
of Blackwattle Creek which drained into 
Blackwattle Swamp (now Wentworth Park and 
Blackwattle Bay). The Aboriginal people who 
used and lived in this area subsisted on the wide 
resource base of the local area, including 
terrestrial, estuarine and marine resources. 
Food was obtained through fishing, shellfish 
collection, hunting and gathering of small plants 
and animals.  The routes of the colonists that 
would become Parramatta Road and City Road 
were most likely along the same alignment that 
the Gadigal people had used to access 
resources and move through Country from 
Botany Bay to Parramatta.   

1240



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

19 

The Victoria Park land was part of a 30-acre (12 
hectare) lease given to Lieutenant-Governor 
Francis Grose in 1792, which became known 
as Grose Farm. During this phase the land was 
used for a period as a military camp and a farm 
which educated convicts into English land 
husbandry.  

The land was heavily wooded and contained a 
small pond and stream which drained into 
Blackwattle Swamp (now Wentworth Park and 
Blackwattle Bay). Grose’s grant was bounded to 
the north by a track that eventually became 
Parramatta Road. The pond became known as 
the Horse Pond, as it was a convenient place for 
travellers along the road to stop and water their 
horses. The land was purchased by the 
Crown in 1838 and stayed in government 
hands, being used to support the Female 
Orphan Institute, in attempts at agriculture, as 
pasturage for horses and cattle employed in 
government works, and later as pasturage let to 
the butchers of Sydney.  

A watch house had been constructed at the 
corner of Parramatta Road and City Road by 
1836.    

In the early 1850s, Grose Farm was granted 
to the University of Sydney for the university 
and its affiliated colleges, together with an 
allowance for ‘the formation of a park and 
garden in connection therewith’. The design 
and development of Victoria Park was closely 
related to that of the university, with a wide strip 
of land along Parramatta Road dedicated in 
1865 as a formal approach to the university.  
Victoria Park was formally proclaimed as a 
park in 1870.    

The park and approach reserve originally had 
two very distinct landscape designs.  The 
approach reserve, designed by Charles Moore, 
Director of the Botanic Gardens in was 
essentially a linear corridor which led from City 
Road to the university, with a bridge over the 
Horse Pond.  The corridor was defined by a 
substantial triple avenue of shrubs, figs and 
stone pines. By 1885, this grand entrance was 
emphasised with two sandstone gate lodges—a 
Messengers Lodge (removed in 1939) and a 
Gardeners Lodge (which remains)—on either 
side of the entrance at City Road.  These 
elements were probably designed by Colonial 
Architect James Barnet in keeping with the neo-
Gothic style of the university.   

The park itself was formally laid out in 1885 
in the picturesque style popular in the late 
nineteenth century, with curving paths, garden 
beds at path junctions and large specimen trees.  
By this time, construction of the Anderson Stuart 
building (the university medical school) was 
underway, and the path layout in the park was 
designed to provide an approach to this 
building— connecting to a new road between the 
new medical school and the Great Hall.   

In essence the park was designed to provide a 
verdant entrance and setting for the university 
buildings, as well as to provide for open and 
enclosed views which would have provided 
variety for people within the park.    

Plants for the park and approach reservice were 
provided by the Botanic Gardens under the 
design direction of Charles Moore. James 
Jones, Overseer of the Botanic Gardens and 
Domains, was involved in its management.  

A lease to construct a local bowling club was 
granted in 1892, which marked the 
commencement of more formal recreation in the 
park. The bowling club and lawn were 
established in the eastern area of the park, near 
City Road and south of the approach reserve. A 
tennis court had been added to the north, 
between the green and the Messengers Lodge 
by 1912. In 1912 a children’s playground was 
completed to the south of the bowling club, and 
its opening was remarked upon in the Sunday 
Times.  The first children’s playground in Sydney 
had been built in the Domain in 1901.)  A 
kindergarten had also been established there by 
1913.  By this time the park was enclosed by a 
strong border of mature trees, which had been 
part of the 1885 design.  These trees had been 
removed in the area of the bowling club and 
green.      

The current size and layout of Victoria Park is the 
result of a number of excisions and 
developments that occurred during the twentieth 
century.  In 1919, the university and City of 
Sydney Council negotiated a land swap which 
saw the approach reserve handed over to the 
council in exchange for a wide strip of land along 
the park’s western side for the university.  This 
land swap was agreed in 1927.  In the interim, 
the council had widened Parramatta Road, 
necessitating removal of a number of mature fig 
trees along the approach reserve’s northern 
boundary—these works were met with 
community outrage and protest, to no avail.    

1241



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

20 

In 1929 vocal public resistance put a stop to 
what would have been a more “egregious 
incursion” —a proposed extension of Cleveland 
Street through the park to Parramatta Road.  A 
flurry of letters to the editor in the Sydney 
Morning Herald defined a debate familiar to 
Sydneysiders, with those for the road citing the 
primacy of improving traffic flow over all other 
consideration, and those against citing the 
importance of the inviolability of public space.  
Those against won the day and the proposal was 
dropped.    

During the Great Depression, relief labour was 
employed to clean up the Horse Pond.  The 
fence along the new University of Sydney 
boundary to the park was commenced in 
1933, comprising iron palisade railings with a 
concrete base. The area at the corner of City 
Road and Parramatta Road was regraded and 
planted with grass and the outlet in the lake was 
reconstructed.  In 1937, the small pond to the 
south of the Horse Pond was filled in and a 
Victorian fountain (erected in 1892 at the small 
pond) appears to have been removed at this 
time.    

The Messengers Lodge was demolished and the 
sandstone piers that marked the City Road 
entrance to the approach reserve were relocated 
in 1939. During World War II, numerous zig-zag 
air raid shelters were dug in the park. Aerial 
photographs from 1943 show that the design of 
the approach reserve had been eroded by this 
time, with the bridge over the Horse Pond 
removed and the avenues of trees considerably 
reduced. The emphasis instead is on the new 
curved road to the Great Hall from Parramatta 
Road.  

After the war, in 1946, the council proposed a 
swimming pool for Victoria Park.  This 
proposal was viewed by some as another 
unwelcome incursion in the parklands.  The pool 
was one of two proposed by the council after the 
war—the other being an Olympic pool and ice-
skating rink in Prince Alfred Park. The pool in 
Victoria Park went ahead and was completed in 
1955.  Its size and siting in the centre of the park 
further reduced the clarity of the park’s design—
it cut across what had been the approach 
reserve to the university and required the 
remodelling and reduction of the Horse Pond. 
The pool proved to be popular, was used by local 
schools for swimming lessons and included a 
sunbathing roof. It was visited by the Duke of 
Edinburgh not long after its opening—he arrived 

in the park by helicopter, a dramatic entrance 
well-received by the waiting crowd. The 
completion of the pool cemented the park’s 
recreation focus, with the park now containing an 
expanded bowling club, a swimming pool and a 
children’s playground. 

A bronze sculpture was installed in the Horse 
Pond and the pond renamed Lake Northam in 
honour of Alderman Northam’s participation in 
the Olympic Games in 1961. The pond was also 
remodelled. A totem pole was erected in 1964, 
near the Gardeners Lodge. It was later moved to 
its current location near the Cleveland Street 
entrance to the park.    

Major development along the university eastern 
boundary in the 1960s saw the further erosion of 
the physical and visual connections between it 
and Victoria Park.  The construction of the Fisher 
Library in 1963, the Carslaw building in 1965 and 
the library’s nine-storey ‘stack’ in 1967 had the 
effect of further obscuring the park and approach 
avenue’s original purpose of providing a verdant 
setting and views to the university’s sandstone 
Gothic Revival buildings 

Not much changed for Victoria Park in the 
ensuing decades. It continued to be a popular 
place for recreation and events. In the 1970s a 
series of free rock concerts organised by Sydney 
radio station 2SM were held on the roof of the 
pool, attracting crowds of up to 40,000 people. 
The concerts featured big names in Australian 
rock music at the time.  In 1998, the Sydney Gay 
and Lesbian Mardi Gras Fair Day was held at 
Victoria Park, attracting crowds of 40,000–
45,000 people. It has been held there every year 
since and has included events such as the Ms 
Fair Day competition, live music, community 
stalls and a dog show.  It now attracts yearly 
attendance of about 70,000 people. 

While under its control, South Sydney Council 
commissioned a conservation plan for the park 
(completed in 1990) and listed it as a heritage 
item in 1998. The late 1990s and early 2000s 
saw a concentration of effort by the university 
and council to reinstate important elements of 
the park’s design. By 1998 the bowling club 
had been demolished and replaced with an 
asphalt carpark, and a new bridge constructed 
over Lake Northam, aligned with the original 
approach avenue.  By 2003 the university had 
constructed a wide staircase along the axis of 
the approach avenue, and by 2007, the 
sandstone gate piers were reinstated at the 
avenue’s City Road entrance. The design for the 

1242



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

21 

new Faculty of Law building at the university, 
completed 2009, included a grand staircase 
down to the university’s boundary with the park.  
A new children’s playground was installed 
c2010.    

Victoria Park also has significant connections to 
Aboriginal people, and has been the site for 
gatherings, celebrations and protests.  In 2000, 
an Aboriginal tent embassy was established in 
the park.  The embassy was established around 
a Sacred Fire of Peace and Justice and a spear 
was placed ceremonially in the ground nearby.  
The tent embassy was re-established in 2002, 
2004 and 2007.  In 2001 activist Isabel Coe and 
others involved in the tent embassy planted 18 
trees in the park near the location of the 
embassy, many of which appear to remain. In 
2002 a commemorative plaque—an engraved 
metal plaque set in stone—was unveiled by 
Isabel Coe and Deputy Police Commissioner 
Lola Scott. The Yabun festival has been held 
in the park annually on 26 January since 
2007, and in recent years Victoria Park has 
become the end point for protest marches for 
Aboriginal rights. 

Statement of Significance 

The following statement of significance has 
largely been taken from the NSW State Heritage 
Register inventory for The University of Sydney, 
University Colleges and Victoria Park.  

Victoria Park is the traditional country of the 
Gadigal people the fresh water and other natural 
resources that the park landscape supported the 
First Nations’ people. Given that many of 
Sydney’s roads are overlaid on Aboriginal 
people’s walking tracks, it is likely that Victoria 
Park was a place where Aboriginal people may 
have congregated or camped as they moved 
across Country from Botany Bay to Parramatta 
for collecting food, trading, ceremony, family and 
other business.  

The University of Sydney, University Colleges 
and Victoria Park are of state historical 
significance.  This relates to their role as a 
vestige of Governor Phillip's original 1,000 acres 
(404 ha) 'Kanguroo Ground' Crown reserve of 
1790, and for their connection to the 18th century 
British government's approach to colonialism 
and its concept of 'terra nullius' as the foundation 
for dispossession of Aboriginal land in the 
immediate area of Sydney. 

The cultural landscape is of state heritage 
significance for its ability to demonstrate 

activities of the colonial era (1792-1855) 
associated with Grose Farm, convict stockade, 
and female orphan school. 

The University of Sydney is of state historical 
significance as the first and oldest university in 
Australia, dating from 1850. Reflecting in the 
cultural landscape changes in tertiary education, 
landscape design, institutional architecture, 
economic development and social attitudes; 
including pioneering university education for 
women in NSW (1881) and the establishment of 
the first university college for women in Australia, 
Women's College in 1892. 

The cultural landscape is aesthetically significant 
at a state level reflecting directly the influence of 
E.T. Blacket (1850s), W.L. Vernon (1890s), W.B. 
Griffin (1910s), Professor L. Wilkinson (1920s) 
and the Government Architect's Office (1960s) in 
shaping the place. In particular, Blacket's 
location of the Great Hall and East Range of the 
Quadrangle (1854-1862) utilised the site's 
topography to provide a dramatic presentation of 
the University on approach from the city, a 
setting with planning axis that still remains. 

The University of Sydney and Victoria Park as 
connected landscapes have tangible links to 
Charles Moore, Director of the Royal Botanic 
Gardens (1848-1896) and subsequent 
designers using prevalent 19th century theories 
of landscape design, plant material and 
horticultural techniques. 

The University grounds, more than any other 
site, reflect Professor Leslie Wilkinson 's work in 
beautifying and unifying buildings and their 
settings, along with major contributions to the 
planning and planting of gardens by Professor E. 
G. Waterhouse. 

Victoria Park is a significant Victorian-era park 
dedicated in 1870. The park retains substantial 
components of its formative 19th-century 
planning and design, including the grand avenue 
linking City Road and the remaining original gate 
lodge to the tower of the Main Building of the 
University. 

The Main Quadrangle Building, the Anderson 
Stuart Building and the Gate Lodges, together 
with St Paul's, St John's and St Andrew's 
Colleges, as a rare composition, comprise what 
is the most important group of Gothic and Tudor 
Revival style architecture in New South Wales 
and potentially Australia. Together they 
deliberately evoke the academic traditions and 
standards of Oxford and Cambridge, as 

1243



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

22 

expressed in the University motto ("Sidere Mens 
Eadem Mutato", meaning, "though the 
constellation has changed, the spirit remains the 
same.").  

The landscape and grounds features associated 
with these buildings, including Victoria Park, 
contribute to its values of civic virtue and support 
the existence and appreciation of their state 
aesthetic significance. 

The University of Sydney, University Colleges 
and Victoria Park has been a major landmark of 
Sydney and NSW since its inception. they hold 
substantial social values and associations and 
are held in high esteem for a range of affiliated 
communities and groups as an iconic place of 
historic, academic, cultural, sporting, 
recreational and social pursuits and events. 

The intactness of the groupings of buildings and 
landscapes across the history of the 
development of the site represents a microcosm 
of the development of architectural design, town 
planning and landscape design in New South 
Wales and Australia. 

Key heritage features 

The park is a triangular site sloping from the 
University of Sydney Campus down towards the 
swimming pool and Lake Northam at the centre 
of the park. This topography reflects the early 
landscape of the area, which sloped down to a 
spring and creek that ran north toward 
Blackwattle Bay.  

The Victorian layout of the park formerly 
provided for a series of enclosed spaces and 
open views that provided a variety of spatial 
experiences cross the park. Although many of 
these elements have been removed over time 
through the progressive and continued 
modification of the park, some directed views 
remain, particularly in relation to the landscaping 
around the lake.  

There are also a series of broad views which 
remain from the early planning and landscape of 
Victoria park. These significant views include: 

– the approach avenue east and west, which is 
a long straight vista framed by the mature 
trees and with the University of Sydney Great 
Hall providing a focal point to the west, and 

– the views along the tree-lined paths to the 
south-eastern area of the park, which 
provide enclosed views along the paths and 
framed views out across the park 

– the high topography of the southwestern 
area of the park provides broad views 
extending outside the boundary of the site to 
the north and the Sydney CBD 

The setting of the park, defined by its urban 
location, with a backdrop of nineteenth century 
and early twentieth century terrace houses, 
shops, warehouses of Chippindale and Glebe, 
and connection to the university of Sydney are 
key elements to the significance of the site 
overall. 

The 2017 Conservation Management Plan for 
the Grounds of the University of Sydney, 
Camperdown and Darlington campuses 
identified a moderate to low potential for 
historical archaeological remains in Victoria 
Park.  

These remains would be associated with the 
1898 Messengers Lodge formerly located on 
City Road. 

Two sites within the boundaries of Victoria Park 
have been listed in the NSW Aboriginal Heritage 
Information Management System. 

Several plantings are listed on the City of Sydney 
significant tree register, including: 

– 37 Moreton Bay Fig 

– 17 Port Jackson Fi 

– 1 Deciduous Fig 

– 1 Norfolk Island Pine 

–  1 Queensland Kauri Pine 

– 1 Indian Chir Pine 

– 1 Holm Oak 

– 5 Canary Island Date Palm 

– 1 Sawtooth Oak 

– 1 River Bushwillow 

– 1 Pin Oak 

Previous heritage assessments have identified 
the following gradings of significance for the 
components of Victoria Park: 

High (Demonstrates the key attributes of the 
early years of the park and its major c1855 and 
1885 designs, including layout and plantings): 

– Reinstated approach avenue to Sydney 
University from City Road, including avenue 
of Port Jackson figs (Ficus rubiginosa) and 
small-leaved figs (Ficus obliqua), reinstated 
gate piers and bridge over Lake Northam 

1244



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

23 

– Gardener’s Lodge 

– Lake Northam as a generous water body 
with a small island 

– (excluding current hard-edged form and 
fabric) and bridge 

– Perimeter plantings of Moreton Bay figs 
(Ficus macrophylla) and Port Jackson figs 
(Ficus rubiginosa) 

– Avenue planting of Canary Island date palms 
(Phoenix canariensis) 

– Stand-alone plantings of Norfolk Island pine 
(Araucaria heterophylla), chir pine (Pinus 
roxburghii), kauri pine (Agathis robusta), 
Cook pine (Araucaria columnaris), Norfolk 
Island pine 

– (Araucaria heterophylla), sawtooth oak 
(Quercus acutissima), holm oak (Quercus 
ilex), Senegal date palm (Phoenix reclinata), 
river bushwillow (Combretum 
erythrophyllum) and Cordyline terminalis 

Moderate (Demonstrates later phases of the 
parks development and does not detract from 
significance): 

– Brush box (Lophostemon confertus) 
avenues 

– General topography of park, including slopes 
to Lake Northam 

– Small island in Lake Northam 

– Altered path along Parramatta Road 

– Plaque commemorating the Aboriginal Tent 

– Totem pole and interpretation 

 

Low (demonstrates later phases of the park’s 
development which detract from significance) 

– Post-1885 paths 

– Totem pole and interpretation 

– Northam yacht sculpture in Lake Northam 

– Seating area next to the Gardener’s Lodge 

– Victoria Park signs and interpretation near 
Gardener’s Lodge 

– Fabric of the Lake Northam bridge 

– Recent children’s playground, basketball 
hoop and flying fox 

– Park benches, picnic benches 

– Park lighting 

Intrusive (Later alterations which detract from 
the clarity of the 1885 park design and 
character): 

– Concrete dwarf wall and palisade fence 
between the park and the university 

– Swimming pool and associated elements 

– Carpark and square hedges 

– Hard-edged treatment to Lake Northam and 
islands 

– Planting around Northam yacht sculpture 

– Garden bed at eastern end of Lake Northam 

– Square hedges along the approach avenue 

– Barbecue which blocks the brush box 
avenue near the children’s playground 

– Asphalt topping to paths 

 

Figure 4 on the following page illustrates the 
items of key heritage significance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1245



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

24 

Figure 4. Heritage Significance of Victoria Park 

 

Source GML 2015 

 
 

1246



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

25 

Environment and landscape 
The following descriptions have been derived 
from the Master Plan Study 2006 and the draft 
PoM 1993 and integrated with known current 
conditions. 

Pre-Existing Natural Characteristics: 

The land on which Victoria Park is located was 
once traversed by a creekline known as 
Blackwattle Creek. The tidal creek extended 
from its marshy headwaters at Glebe towards 
the suburbs of Redfern and Waterloo to the 
south. Lake Northam within Victoria Park is a 
remnant of the Blackwattle Creek system. 

Physical Characteristics: 

Landform, Topography, Soil 
The Park topography can be described as “bowl 
or basin shaped” with the higher park boundaries 
falling towards the centre of the park, pool 
complex and Lake Northam. The park 
topography provides for a range of views and 
long vistas from within the park and from many 
areas surrounding.   

The topography creates some significant level 
changes at the park’s edges which impact 
accessibility and enable traffic noise generated 
by adjacent busy roads to infiltrate most areas of 
the park. 

The park is substantially covered in a thin layer 
of fill. The nature of fill is generally satisfactory 
for plant growth consisting of a loamy soil.  In 
areas north of the swimming pool and south of 
the Lake Northam the fill quality varies, and is 
comprised of building rubble, fragments of 
concrete, bitumen, broken stone and conditions 
are more disturbed (Lawrie, 1990). 

The old watercourse draining into Lake Northam 
from the south sections of the park has caused 
waterlogged conditions in the past Upgrade 
works in 2018 sought to rectify this issue with 
installation of a new bio-retention zone and a 
new wetland designed with macrophytic planting 
to clean and filter stormwater runoff into the lake. 

 
Vegetation 

Tree and garden planting in Victoria Park are a 
key influence on the park’s landscape character 
and setting. Existing trees are of varied quality 
and reflect different stages in the park’s 
development.  

Generally, large scale trees around the 
perimeters of the park, are typical of Victorian 

era planting including Moreton Bay figs, Port 
Jackson figs, Brush Box, Holly Oak and Canary 
Island Palms. 

The vegetation structure across the park can be 
described in the following zones: 

1. Northern Park and Sydney University Axis 

– established Fig tree planting along 
Parramatta Road and Sydney University axis 
provide spatial definition 

– the Sydney University Avenue contains 
recent Fig planting in an attempt to reinforce 
the axis 

2. Lake Northam 

– planting around the Lake includes large 
scale trees, ornamental garden beds and 
water plants within the Lake 

– richness and diversity in the tree planting 
provide shelter and a unique destination 
within the Park 

3. City Road Perimeter 

– Fig planting around the perimeter of the Park 
defines the Park character and edge for 
passers-by 

– trees extend into Sydney University as part 
of the former combined land parcel 

– trees are of varied quality and recent works 
have been undertaken to restore health 

– new fig tree plantings east of the car park are 
recent additions, and continue the perimeter 
tree planting 

4. Pathway Avenues 

– fragmented avenue tree plantings with Brush 
Box, Canary Island Palms and Turpentines 
lack legibility 

5. Mixed Tree Plantings 

– areas of mixed species typical of a Victorian 
planting palette i.e., Figs, Norfolk Island 
Pine, Date Palm, Cypress Pine 

– mix of tree species create a different planting 
character to the internal Park and not readily 
perceived from Park edges 

– trees are within the grass however previous 
information suggests trees were arranged in 
a gardenesque planting 

– some trees are remnants of former avenues 
i.e. that from the Cleveland St entry toward 
the Library and Quadrangle 

1247



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

26 

6. Native Tree Woodland 

– groupings of large, native tree planting 
areas including Eucalypts and Casuarinas 

– planting groups are dense with a mulched 
surface beneath 

– native ‘bush’ planting theme 

Landscape Character and visual amenity 

Views of the park can be gained from most 
boundaries and adjoining areas. The park 
provides a pleasant viewing experience for road 
users along Parramatta and City Roads. 

The corner of Parramatta Road and City Road is 
one of the key entrances to the park and also an 
important orientation and viewing point. From 
this location, extensive views of the park and 
many of its elements are available. Within the 
park, sweeping views are available from many 
areas. The swimming pool complex is central to 
most of these views. Lake Northam occupies a 
natural low point and is an important landmark in 
the northern zone of the park. Mature trees and 
grassy slopes are the key features of the 
southern zone of the park. 

The park has previously been attributed with a 
series of landscape character areas (masterplan 
2006). These areas are distinguished through 
their physical attributes (aspect, topography, 
vegetation) and usage.   

Broadly, these fall into two areas:  

– the northern more formal,  

– and the southern, less formal.  

The University Axis is generally the demarcation 
of these character areas. 

Northern Formal Area  

More intensively developed landscape including 
paths, garden beds and tree planting (shade). 
The Lake, surrounding kerbed-footways and 
planting beds with seasonal plantings form a 
focal point and identity and are well maintained. 
The historic building at the University of 
Sydney’s Quadrangle has a strong visual 
presence as it is higher and visible from many 
areas in the northern portion of the park. 

Southern Informal Area 

Less intensively developed with expansive open 
grassed areas. Many of the existing footpaths 
are kerb-less and the pavement is less 
favourable condition.   

Trees are generally located to the fringes 
enabling greater sun exposure than in the 
northern area. There is limited garden planting in 
the southern areas aside from the pool kiosk 
area. 

Sub-character Areas: 

The two main character areas can be further 
divided into sub-character areas based on 
physical attributes and use. 

1. Northern Area - Consisting of Lake Northam, 
the University Axis, the Gate House (Gardener’s 
Cottage) 

– the Lake and surrounding gardens form a 
Park focal point 

– both natural and formal elements 

– strong visual and physical links to the 
University and Quadrangle Tower 

– traditional arrangement of plantings, furniture 
and lighting 

– mature trees and formal garden/flower beds 
with kerbing 

– detailed and gardenesque 

2. Parramatta and City Road Edges 

– highly urban with significant vehicular noise 

– mature trees along perimeter 

– dilapidated bitumen paths 

– boundary sandstone wall, columns and 
picket fence are in poor condition 

– exposed at northern end and shaded at 
southern end 

3. Pool complex and facilities 

– enclosed, secured space with poor physical 
relationship to rest of Park 

– pool building entry has poor address to the 
Park 

– dilapidated bitumen paths, picnic shelters 
and landscape dated and require upgrade 

4. Central Open Space 

– large open grass areas with strong sun 
exposure 

– less formal character 

– informal sports recreation and relaxation 
areas 

 

1248



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

27 

5. Sydney University Edge 

– lacks relationship with Victoria Park except at 
University stair axis 

– significant views to the city 

– mix of mature shade tree types along 
boundary 

Access and Circulation 

Access to the park: 

Parramatta and City Roads are major road 
corridors on the north and east perimeters of the 
park that carry heavy traffic volumes in and out 
of the CBD. The width of the roads and volume 
of traffic restricts pedestrian access to key 
crossing and nodal points. There are a number 
of formal and informal entry points to the park 
from footway of these street corridors 

Vehicles are able to gain access to the public 
carpark (2-hour time limit) on the southern 
boundary from City Road. Two accessible car 
spaces are provided at the southern end of the 
carpark.  

Service and maintenance vehicles are able to 
access in a number of locations around the park 
boundary. There have been past issues with 
control of vehicle access into the park and 
conflicts with cars and pedestrians at the carpark 
entry.  

Circulation within the park: 

There is a well-established path network which 
caters to large volumes of pedestrians both 
accessing the park’s facilities and as through 
traffic.  This includes movement from the 
University to Parramatta Road and Central 
Station. 

Recent works completed in 2018 include 
upgraded path and park lighting improvements, 
improved and more accessible park entries. 

Landscape Elements - Lighting 

There are two main types of lighting in Victoria 
Park with another specifically at the pool building 
entry. The existing lighting through the park 
comprises heritage style lanterns reflect the 
park’s heritage character. Area lights are used to 
light larger open space areas. The age of the 
area lights is not known but they are evident in 
photographs prior to 1990. 

Light spill is generated by road lighting on both 
Parramatta and City Roads. This provides 

additional low-level illumination around the 
northern and eastern edges of the park. 

Upgrades to park lighting, proposed in the 
Master Plan Study 2006, have been completed 
in 2018 to meet current City standards. 

 

Reserve development 
The following summary of reserve development 
has been summarised from past studies and City 
of Sydney background information. 

Victoria Park was proclaimed in 1870 and its 
earliest developments were designed in the 
picturesque style by Charles Moore, director of 
the Botanic Gardens 

These works were focused on the formal 
connections between the University and the 
surrounding areas to the east.  The most 
significant element of this was the axial link 
between the University Quadrangle Tower and 
City Road. 

Much of the early development in the park 
sought to reinforce this axis including 
construction of a bridge over the Lake, tree 
plantings, and two gate houses.  Subsequent 
Park developments progressively de-
emphasised the axis, until the 1990’s-2000’s 
when it was re-established through replacement 
of the bridge, new furniture, lighting, and a grand 
stair link access from the University. 

Development in Victoria Park became 
increasingly separated from the University in the 
early to middle 1900’s. Fragmented footpaths, 
tree avenue remnants and the western boundary 
fence are an indication of this.   

Most of the significant park facilities were 
developed between the 1930’s and 1960’s. 
Major developments included expansion of the 
bowling club and construction of new swimming 
pools, building, supporting facilities and 
landscape. Siting of the pool and former bowling 
club appears to have responded to the flatter 
topography in these areas of the park with less 
emphasis being given to overall park planning 
and design integrity.  

Since the 1960’s, development has focused on 
the redevelopment of the pool, Lake Northam 
and northern areas of the park. This has 
contributed to the two distinct identities of the 
formal northern area and the less-formal, 
southern areas of the park.  

1249



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

28 

Since the draft PoM 1993 was prepared major 
changes to the park include the removal of the 
former bowling and the carpark for bowling club 
has been relocated further south.  

Recent capital works upgrades 

Works most recently completed in 2018 
included: 

– a new active recreation space with a netball 
practice court and table tennis tables 

– path and park lighting improvements 

– improved and more accessible park entries 
on City Road 

– new concrete path connections from 
Cleveland Street to the University of Sydney 
and Barff Road entry to Victoria Park Pool 

– a new decomposed granite path to the park's 
perimeter from Cleveland Street entry to 
University Avenue to improve accessibility 
and provide a new recreation loop 

– new seating, water bubblers and park signs 

– installing 2 new stormwater pollution traps for 
Lake Northam 

– removing existing sediment and installing a 
new recirculation system, pump and weir to 
improve water quality 

– installing a new bio-retention zone and a new 
wetland designed with reed plants to clean 
and filter stormwater runoff in the lake. 

– improved water quality of Lake Northam in 
the centre of the park.  

Past studies or master plans: 

Past studies and plans which have sought to 
guide park development have included: 

– Victoria Park Gardeners Lodge PoM 2010 

– Victoria Park Master Plan Study 2006 

– Victoria Park Draft PoM 1993 

 

Figure 5. Timeline of reserve development 
From 2006 Master Plan Study

 

1.1 TIME LINE 

Victoria Park’s history and development is well documented in a “History and Conservation Plan” 
prepared in 1990 by Helen Proudfoot. The following generalised historical time line is based on the 
Proudfoot report as well as the 1993 Plan of Management. 

1855 University lands allocated and area set aside for formation of a park and garden 

1865 An approach reserve to the University is dedicated to provide a formal axis to the 
Quadrangle Tower 

1870 Victoria Park formally dedicated and named 

1870’s-90’s Formal axis constructed and includes; gatehouses/stone piers and gates, road, wooden 
footbridge over Lake 

1890 Original bowling club and green constructed 

1911 Sydney City Council takes over management of Victoria Park 

1920’s Sydney University Development Scheme by Wilkinson.   
Approach Reserve exchanged between Council and University to turn it into public land 

1930’s Remodelling scheme including; landscape upgrade, new pathways, Messenger Gatehouse 
removed 

1950’s Swimming pool constructed 

1960’s Lake reshaped (smaller) and bridge removed, totem pole gift from the Canadian 
Government, bowling club expansion and clubhouse replaced 

1990’s History and Conservation Plan, Plan of Management/Masterplan, bowling club and greens 
removed 

2000’s Pool upgrade and building extension 

 

1250



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

29 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purposes for the Victoria Park Crown 
reserves are Public Park, Public Recreation 
and Community Purposes. 

Community usage 

Victoria Park is bordered by the suburbs of 
Chippendale and Glebe and by a variety of land 
uses including institutional, residential and 
commercial.  This context is reflected in the 
variety of user groups to be found in the park 
including residents, students, workers and 
visitors.  

The park offers a range of both active and 
informal recreation opportunities to these 
groups. It is intensively used as a thoroughfare 
and link, for children’s play, for exercise, for 
passive recreation, dog walking, swimming and 
major events. Its shaded pockets and open 
grassed areas provide space for socialising, 
picnics, relaxation and a place to enjoy the 
outdoors. 

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020, 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

– walking through on the way elsewhere  

–  walking or running for exercise,  

– sitting and relaxing and enjoying nature.  

– going to the pool. 

The majority of the survey respondents were 
more likely to live nearby the area with just over 
half visiting the park weekly and approximately a 
quarter would visit daily. Morning and afternoon 
are the most popular times respondents would 
visit the park.  

During semester times University students 
would comprise a large portion of park users, 
particularly pedestrians. 

Schools use the swimming pool on a regular 
basis and would represent a significant portion 
of recreational users and pedestrians. 

The park is accessible to dogs off-leash between 
the hours of 6pm to 8.00am with prohibited 
areas, the pool, Lake Northam, barbecue areas 
and play spaces. 

Facilities 

Key facilities in the park drive use and activation: 

– The pool is the main focal activity in the Park 
and includes the Pool building with 
kiosk/café, gym, changerooms, toilets, 
plantroom, office and creche.  

– The pool complex surrounds include both a 
50m outdoor pool, heated toddlers pool, 
open grassed, garden, deck area and 
shelters. 

– The playground and informal recreation 
elements, refurbished and upgraded in 2018 
and include a new active recreation space 
with a ball practice court and table tennis 
tables, path and park lighting improvements, 
improved and more accessible park entries, 
new seating, water bubblers and park signs. 

– Adaptive reuse of the Gardener’s Lodge 
(proposed in the PoM 2010) provides for a 
licensed cafe to operate on the site, which 
also makes use of an outdoor dining area. 

Event use of the park 

Victoria Park has been an important venue for a 
variety of events from small scale community 
focused events to large scale theatrical 
performances, concerts such as NYE in the park 
and fair days. Other events have included 
promotional events, charitable fundraising, 
public assembly and filming.  

For many years, the park has hosted the Sydney 
Gay and Lesbian Mardi Gras Fair Day. In 2000, 
the southern part of the park was the site of an 
Aboriginal Tent embassy to highlight First 
Nations issues during the Sydney Olympics. 
More recently, the park has hosted the Yabun 
Festival, the nation’s largest showcase of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures 
which has been an annual event since 2007. 

Attendance at these events can be up to 80,000 
people. The City registered 26 events between 
2015-19. 

1251



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

30 

Figure 6. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Aquatic building and pool General public, pass holders 
and school groups 

Good (2) 

Gardeners Lodge Under lease as cafe – 
patronised by general public  

Good (2) 

Lake Northam 

– Recirculation system, 
pump and weir 

– Bio-retention zone and 
wetland 

Viewing 

Access across bridge 

Water quality management 

Fair to Good 

Victoria Park Gates n/a Good (2) 

Carpark General public Fair to Good 

Playground General public Good (2) 

Park Furniture - seats General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - signage General public Fair to Good 

Park Furniture - Lighting General public Fair to Good 

Path network General public Fair to Good 

Recreation facilities – ping 
pong table 

General public Fair to Good 

Recreation facilities – ping 
pong table 

General public Fair to Good 

Recreation facilities – 
Basketball practice area 

General public Fair to Good 

Public Art - The Totem 
Pole 

n/a Good (2) 

Public Art - Barrenjoey 
Memorial Fountain 

n/a Good (2) 

Public Art - Swimming a 
Line 

n/a Good (2) 

(#) City of Sydney asset assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

1252



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

31 

Figure 7. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / license Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Retail Lease - 
Gardeners Lodge 

Ethical Ventures 5 Years, 01/12/2018 
Expiry 30/11/2023 

Café and eat-in and 
take away restaurant 

    

1253



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

32 

Ownership and management 
Victoria Park is Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales. The City of Sydney 
is the Crown land manager responsible for the 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
pages 15-16 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Victoria Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

1254



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

33 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Victoria Park is zoned RE1 – Public Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City which is not covered by one of the Future 
Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 
to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 

1255



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

34 

for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City’s Native Title Manager has been and 
will continue to be consulted in all relevant 
aspects of Native Title pertaining to the land that 
is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

 

1256



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

35 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

1257



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

36 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year old 
people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

 Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

 Glebe point road will have an increase in lone 
person households and a decrease in group 
households 

 King Street will have a high increase in other 
families, group households and couples 
without dependants 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 

via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City experiences 680,000 daily and 
overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

1258



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

37 

City of Sydney policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 

 

  

1259



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

38 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1260



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

39 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

 

1261



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

40 

Values and roles of Victoria 
Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

– A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

– A place which signposts and celebrates local, 
natural and cultural history 

– An iconic park character  

– A valued water feature 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

– A well-connected parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

– Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

– A place that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

– An appropriately lit environment 

– A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

– A place that is not compromised by parking and 
vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

– A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

– Space and facilities support youth use of the 
park 

– Play spaces that support children and family 
use of park 

– Outdoor courts that facilitate recreation and 
fitness 

– A place for dog walking and exercise 

– A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

– A place for events 

– A place that is open and usable by all members 
of community 

– A safe place to visit day and night 

– A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

– Important aquatic facilities for the city’s western 
fringe 

– A quality café in a heritage building 

 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

– Park elements support park use and create an 
attractive character 

– Underground infrastructure 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

– Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

– Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

– A place of diverse habitats 

6. Basis for 
Management 

1262



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

41 

– A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

– Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

– A place exhibiting water sensitive urban design 

– A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

– A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

6.0  Culture and Heritage    

– A place that strengthens First Nations People 
and living culture 

– A place which is a conservatory of natural and 
cultural heritage 

– A place that provides the community access to 
cultural expression and awareness through arts 
and culture 

– A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present  

– A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

– A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

– Facilities that continue to service and meet the 
community's needs 

– Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1263



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

42 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purposes for the Victoria Park Crown 
reserves are Public Park, Public Recreation 
and Community Purposes. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 9 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserves. 

 

Current / existing use 
Council has established initial categorisations for 
Victoria Park in accordance with Crown Land 
requirements. The Council Crown Land 
Manager Fact Sheet identifies that councils 
should apply initial categorisation based on 
existing/current use of the reserve only. The 
initial categorisation cannot be based on 
proposed or future use. These initial 
categorisations for Victoria Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 

other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Victoria Park there are no site characteristics 
that would justify Natural Area categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Victoria Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 8) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Victoria Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Victoria Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1264



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

43 

Figure 8. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Victoria Park 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses 

 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

 

 

1265



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

44 

Figure 9. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

1/ DP 179964

1/ DP
1171808

552/ \
DP 752049

7046/ DP 
1051316

7035/ 
DP 1051257

12/ 
DP 1171806

Myrtle St

City Road

Cleveland Street

C
ity

 R
oa

d

Paramatta Road

U
n

iv
e

r s
ity

 A
ve

N
CATEGORY

Park

General Community Use

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

1266



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

45 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Victoria Park through past master 
planning (2006) and plans of management (1992 
revised in 1993).  

This PoM references the Open Space Sports 
Recreation Needs Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”), as 
the current planning direction for the reserve and 
supersedes the PoM 1993. 

Summarised following are the guiding strategic 
directions for planning and management of 
Victoria Park as reflected in the strategic plan 
(refer Figure 10) and this PoM. 

Strategic Directions from Open Space Sports 
Recreation Needs Study OSSRNS 2016  

Recommended works generally seek to 
complete those works identified within the PoM 
and Master Plan 1994.   

Note, some of these items have already been 
undertaken in the 10-year Capital Works 
Program and completed in 2018. 

Landscape  

– Full lighting upgrade 

– New stormwater recycling and storage 
system for onsite reuse 

– Measures for improving the water quality of 
Lake Northam 

– Strengthen the relationship between the park 
and University through the alignment of 
paths, planting, boundary and entry 
treatments 

– Review and upgrade perimeter planting  

– Emphasise the historical North-South and 
East-West axes through planting and vistas 

– Preserve open lawn areas; maintain avenue 
plantings in keeping with the original design 

– Restore heritage fencing 

– New park furniture 

– Additional BBQ facilities 

 

 

 

 

 

Access  

– Improve park entry points 

– Perimeter pathway loop 

– Establish hierarchy of access routes 

– Upgrade path finish to provide equal access 
across the site 

– Review and improve service access 

Events  

– Provide infrastructure for events and improve 
event management 

– Provide 3 phase power outlet at southern 
end and install more water points throughout 
park 

Future Considerations  

– Review opportunities to locate a new public 
toilet within the Victoria Park Pool building  

– Environmental performance to contribute to 
the City and LGA’s environmental targets 

 

Figure 10 is the approved principles plan for 
Victoria Park prepared in 2016 (source: 
OSSRNS 2016) 

 

1267



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

46 

Figure 10. Master Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

  

1268



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

47 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

1269



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

48 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1270



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

49 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Victoria Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Frameworks 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Victoria Park. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Victoria Park and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Victoria Park 

will be considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1271



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

50 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Victoria Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments  

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City will notify and give an 
opportunity for comment from any representative 
Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander bodies, 
registered Native Title bodies corporate and 
registered Native Title claimants in relation to the 
land or waters covered by the reservation or 
lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”). 

 

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 
proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Victoria Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Victoria Park 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Victoria Park which may attract high numbers 

1272



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

51 

of people including one-off community events 
and performances. 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Victoria Park which may attract high numbers 
of people including organised sport activities 
and training, school sport competitions, 
commercial activities and one-off community 
events and performances. 

The allocation of Victoria Park for organised 
sport and school sport will comply with the City 
of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Victoria Park and settings will be 
determined by the community use of the site but 
will be managed to avoid undue impacts on park 
fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 

1273



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

52 

part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Victoria Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land  

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-11 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Victoria Park. 

1274



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

53 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature  

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 

maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City’s 
technical specifications and where required, 
relevant standards identified within the State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Exempt and 
Complying Development Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney  

– all necessary approvals have been obtained  

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

1275



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

54 

The City is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances Bookings 
and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising; and 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 

outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land  

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 

1276



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

55 

creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

1277



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

56 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Victoria Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

 To implement a meaning and 
description that reflects 
connection to place 

Work with the community to 
establish a meaning and description 
that captures the place’s connection 
to Country  

Community consultation 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

 To contribute to the spaces 
identity and character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural 
character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 An iconic park 
character  

 To conserve and enhance the 
unique character of the park  

Management has regard for 
conserving green and natural 
character of the park 

Increased use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

1.4 A valued water 
feature 

 To conserve and maintain lake 
as a key element within the park 

Maintain Lake Northam in 
accordance with asset 
management plan and heritage 
requirements 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Inspections and audits 

Heritage elements retained 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to 
adjoining 
neighbourhoods 
and to district and 
regional users 

 To provide functional, inviting, 
accessible and safe routes to the 
park from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

 To provide effective wayfinding 
and signage for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

 To provide functional, attractive 
and compliant internal circulation 
routes and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance with 
Australian Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate lighting to 
support desired night access, 
recreational and leisurely use of 
open space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues 
and address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1278



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

57 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 

 

 

 

A community 
destination 
accessible from the 
cycle network  

 To enable park to be effectively 
accessed from cycle network 
and encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of park 
access to adjoining and potential 
future cycle corridors 

Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities into 
park improvements  

Increased local use of park 
by cyclists, measured by 
surveys and observation 

 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

 To provide a balanced approach 
to parking  

 To provide and manage 
functional maintenance and 
emergency access mitigating 
adverse impacts on park and 
uses 

 Prevent unauthorised vehicle 
access 

Manage existing on and off-street 
parking to ensure efficiency and 
equity 

Ensure that the use of vehicles, 
when permitted in parks are 
regulated and do not affect the 
normal functioning of these spaces 
for community use 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities 
into ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent residents 

 To ensure that the park provides 
a range of flexible and informal 
use spaces that are attractive 
and comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Space and facilities 
support youth use 
of the park 

 To sustainably respond to youth 
needs for gathering and activity 
spaces  

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth 
participation measured by 
survey and observation 

3.3 Play spaces that 
support community 
and family use of 
park 

 To provide access to quality play 
environments that aid early 
childhood development and 
provide engaging play settings 

Ongoing provision of play 
experiences complimentary to park 
character and capacity 

Increased local use of play 
spaces measured by survey 
and observation 

3.4 Outdoor courts that 
facilitate recreation 
and fitness 

 To maintain and enhance role of 
outdoor courts in providing 
fitness and leisure for workforce 
and residents 

Enhance role of courts for a diverse 
range of uses 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Increased local use of courts 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.5 A place for dog 
walking and 
exercise 

 To provide for effective dog 
exercise in accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.6 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

 

 To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required 
to enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.7 A place for events  To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local activation 
and cultural and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use 
that is appropriate to scale of 
spaces and in consideration of 
other park uses 

Manage events in accordance with 
event’s guidelines for Victoria Park 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of guidelines 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

1279



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

58 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.8 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members of 
community 

 That the park is managed as part 
of a coordinated compassionate 
approach across the city to 
assisting homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness 
in public spaces, which ‘recognises 
the right of everyone in the 
community to use public spaces’ 
(Homelessness Action Plan 2019) 
and aims to ensure that public 
space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions 

3.9 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

 To ensure the park and park 
facilities provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to intended (and 
varied) usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access 
in park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to 
identify and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with 
Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design principles 

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 

Sustained relationship with 
local police 

 

3.10 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

 Maintain access and provision of 
public toilet facilities for all park 
users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
public toilets. Regular review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

Victoria Park Pool 

3.11 Important aquatic 
facilities for the 
city’s western 
fringe  

 To maintain and enhance the 
value and role of the Aquatic 
Centre for the residential and 
workforce community 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
Victoria Park Pool 

Regularly monitor for improvements 
to centre services and operations 

Usage and visitation of 
aquatic centre, measured by 
bookings 

Centre user satisfaction 
surveys 

Gardeners Cottage 

3.12 A quality café in a 
heritage building 

 

 To ensure that the cafe continues 
to meet the needs of the 
community 
 

Maintain current use within existing 
footprint  

Ensure operations and offerings 
integrate with and compliment 
ongoing park usage 

Ongoing monitoring and 
compliance of lease 

 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Park elements 

4.1 Park elements 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive character 

 To support recreational and 
leisure use of park while avoiding 
proliferation of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture 
and other park elements in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, 
where required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Inspections and audits 

 

 

Underground Infrastructure 

4.2 Underground 
infrastructure 

 To ensure services infrastructure 
requirements are effectively 
integrated into planning and 
design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Maintained relationship with 
authorities 

Limited disruption to park 
usage 

    

 

 

 

 

1280



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

59 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green landscape for 
continued community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 

Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 

Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the original 
natural 
environment  

 To increase indigenous plantings 
within the park landscape 

Where appropriate and site 
conditions allow, investigate the 
planting of indigenous species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat value of 
natural and built features 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  

Monitoring of natural habitat 

5.4   To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory 
role for proposed works associated 
with open space 

Investigate opportunities to 
increase community understanding 
and participation in the preservation 
of greenspace and ecological 
elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open space 
works 

Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is cool, 
calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

 To conserve existing shade tree 
canopy and to selectively extend 
to create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across 
site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively maintain and 
manage the existing tree 
resources at optimum health for 
their safe and practical lifespans 

 To effectively plan for succession 
planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance 
with tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

 To effectively manage water use 
and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

 To effectively manage energy 
use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to 
effectively manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

 A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and 
support of best practice waste 
management activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

1281



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

60 

Ref Values / Roles Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People 
and living culture 

To identify and interpret First 
Nations cultural heritage values 
of the local area 

Consult with the First Nations 
People on how to interpret and 
integrate cultural heritage values in 
ongoing planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of 
processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

 To appropriately manage and 
conserve elements of heritage 
significance 

 To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that 
provides the 
community access 
to cultural 
expression and 
awareness through 
arts and culture 

 To provide a canvas for public 
art and artistic and creative 
expression that is sustainable in 
the context of existing character 
and use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 

Conserve and manage in 
accordance with asset 
management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public 
art. Regular review to guide 
future directions 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Inspections and audits 

6.4 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

 To enable park users to 
understand the rich and complex 
layering of natural and cultural 
values represented on the site 
and add to the experience and 
use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and culture 

 To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent forms 
that compliments the park setting 
and adds to the range of 
experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to 
implement temporary and 
permanent art installations, where 
appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

 To provide well-maintained 
parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out 
in accordance with City of Sydney 
Parks Maintenance Technical 
Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

 

7.2 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

 To provide well-maintained 
facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset 
management plans 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.3 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

 To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use arrangements 
allow the widest possible 
community access to open 
space and are orientated to 
mutually compatible 
recreational, sporting, 
community, educational, cultural 
and social activities 

All future leases and licences to 
meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 

  

1282



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

61 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Victoria Park 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1283



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

62 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Recreational and sporting activities consistent 
with an outdoor recreational facility, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton and netball) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Naturalisation works including ongoing 
management (e.g. wetlands, dredging of salt 
marsh)  

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Victoria Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

1284



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

63 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Management and operation of outdoor court facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

1285



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

64 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

 

 
 
  

1286



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

65 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Victoria Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and 
booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active and passive recreational and sporting 
activities consistent with the nature of the 
relevant indoor recreational facilities, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Aquatic facility (learn to swim classes, 
squad training, fitness and health classes 
including aqua aerobics, recreational and 
competitive swimming and diving, 
organised water sports including water 
polo, diving, hydrotherapy facilities) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Centre-based education and care (e.g. long 
day care, pre-school, occasional care and 
outside school hours care) 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

11. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1287



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

66 

Uses and Activities Developments 

recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

–  

 

 

  

1288



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

67 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Victoria Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care  

– Commercial activities ancillary to recreational use (e.g. hire or sale of 
recreational equipment) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes) 

– Management and operation of recreational facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Centre-based education and care 

– Commercial activities ancillary to recreational use (e.g. hire or sale of 
recreational equipment) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of recreational facility 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Recreational purposes (e.g. fitness and dance classes, games) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to recreational use) 

Short-term uses – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

1289



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

68 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 
 

1290



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

69 

Glossary of terms 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach, and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups.  

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space  

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed, or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction, or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths, and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 

  

12. Appendices 

1291



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

70 

References 
– Victoria Park Draft Plan of Management 

1993 

– Victoria Park Master Plan Study 2006  

– Gardeners Lodge Victoria Park Plan of 
Management 2010  

– NSW State Heritage Register inventory for 
The University of Sydney, University 
Colleges and Victoria Park 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

  

1292



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

71 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision making.  A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should guide 
reserve planning and management at all times 
having regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1293



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1294



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1295



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1296



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

1297



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1298



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

1299



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

78 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focussed on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management.  While 
strategies are higher level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1300



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1301



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

   

1302



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1303



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   
10. Substantially increase the number of 

existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1304



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1305



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 
4. Leadership and advocacy 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 
Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 

1306



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1307



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1308



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1309



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1310



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

89 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

   

1311



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

90 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1312



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

91 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

 

 

 

 

  

1313



Victoria Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

92 

 

 

 

 

 

1314



Attachment Q 

Waterloo Oval 

 

 

 

1315



 

Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

1316



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 13 

3. Legislative context 23 

4. Strategic context 26 

5. Community guiding principles 29 

6. Basis for Management 31 

7. Review of the plan 38 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 39 

8. General requirements 40 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 46 

10. Park category - authorisations 52 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 56 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 59 

13. Appendices 63 

 

1317



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 13 

Figure 3. Site Plan 14 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 22 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 22 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 34 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 35 

Figure 8. Master Plan 37 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 52 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 53 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 56 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 57 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 59 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 60 

 

 

1318



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1319



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1320



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Waterloo Park (Crown Reserves 500484 – Lot 1 
DP 136176, Lot 2 DP 136177) is classified as 
“community land” under the LG Act and 
managed accordingly. 

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

 

 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1321



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

. 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

1322



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

1323



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning Country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

1324



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning, etc. 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business  

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1325



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Waterloo Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1326



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1327



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Waterloo Park through past 
master planning (Open Space Sports Recreation 
Needs Study 2016, “OSSRNS”).  This PoM 
references the OSSRNS as the current planning 
direction for the reserve. 

 

Location and description  
Waterloo Park is bounded by Elizabeth, Allen, 
Pitt and Kellick Streets in the suburb of Waterloo. 
The reserve consists of two land parcels split by 
McEvoy Street. Waterloo Oval and skatepark are 
on the south side of McEvoy Street. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site. 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Waterloo Park 

Address 1B and 2B Elizabeth Street, Waterloo 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

500484 Public Park 

Additional Purpose: Community Purposes, 25/1/1887  

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 28845.16 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 1 DP 136176, Lot 2 DP 136177 

Restrictions / 
easements 

n/a 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

General Community 
Use/Park/Sportsground 

 

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

 

 

2. Land description 

1328



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

  

1 / DP 136176

2 / DP 136176

Allen Street

WATERLOO
OVAL

P
itt S

treet

SKATE
PARK

McEvoy Street

P
itt S

tre
et

FITNESS
EQUIPMENT

PLAY
SPACE

Kellick Street

SPECTATOR
STAND

PUBLIC
TOILETS

PRIMARY
SCHOOL

E
liz

ab
et

h 
S

tr
ee

t

YOUTH/
COMMUNITY

SERVICES

Powell Street

MOUNT
CARMEL
CHURCH

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary
N

1329



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

Waterloo Park was gazetted in 1887 and at the 
time was the only public reserve in the 
municipality of Waterloo. The park was originally 
known as Mount Carmel Park, the name being 
associated with Our Lady of Mount Carmel 
Church and School (built in 1858) adjacent the 
park to the north.  The name was changed to 
Waterloo Park in 1892. 

The land the park is situated on is within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. Prior to 
colonisation the land consisted of a diverse 
wetland comprising lowland, swamps and 
streams, along with ‘undulating land, sandy soil 
covered with low scrub’.  

The area now known as the suburb of Waterloo 
formed part of an initial land grant. Over 
subsequent years the land was subdivided as 
the city expanded and the land transformed from 
rural enterprises to larger scale industry and 
rows of terrace housing. The district saw 
enormous growth after 1870 and land for the 
park was set aside by the government in 1886. 

The site has been heavily modified with the park 
laid out on ‘hilly ground’, formed on a sand heap, 
terraced and filled with waste. The initial park 
area was subsequentially extended to allow 
space for an oval which was formed in 1912. 

A pavilion for the oval was replaced in the early 
1960s by the current grandstand building. Two 
of the parks most well-known elements today, 
are the skate park south of the oval and the 
youth/community services centre housed in an 
award winning adapted and renovated toilet 
block.  

Of contemporary social relevance is the park’s 
relationship to the Lady of Mount Carmel Primary 
School at Waterloo. Today about half of the 
students are from an Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander background. (Source: Barani Barrabugu 
yesterday tomorrow Sydney’s Aboriginal History 
booklet). 

The park and reserve are of social significance 
as they have been in continuous use for leisure, 
recreation and sports since the 1880s, and 
reflect the changing patterns of public recreation 
in the inner-city. 

 

 

Heritage Context 

Sydney LEP #I2079 – ‘Waterloo Park and Oval 
including grounds and landscaping’    

Sydney LEP #C70 – Waterloo Heritage 
conservation Area 

Sydney LEP #  

NSW SHR Item #01630 – Pressure tunnels and 
shaft (Underground Item) 

History 

The land on which the current day park is sited 
was a diverse wetland, comprising lowland, 
swamps and streams, along with ‘undulating 
land, sandy soil covered with low scrub’. The 
Gadigal would have had various walking routes 
though this landscape as they moved freely 
across the landscape accessing resources, 
camp sites and for ceremonial purposes.     

After colonisation Waterloo was important as an 
industrial water supply, the area also irrigated 
numerous market gardens that produced 
vegetables for the city. 

The land that today comprises Waterloo was first 
granted to John Thomas Campbell, who 
received a grant of 185 acres in 1825. He called 
it Mount Lachlan Estate after Governor Lachlan 
Macquarie. 

The suburb was named after the nearby 
Waterloo Estate which encompasses the 
suburbs of Zetland, Alexandria and Rosebery. 

Housing development was at first limited to the 
high ground surrounding the Waterloo swamp, 
the Waterloo dam and Sheas Creek. 

In 1858 one of Sydney’s earliest Catholic 
schools was built on Hungry Hill, said to have 
been named because it was a barren sandhill 
and non-productive land. The following year the 
church was built and named Our Lady of Mount 
Carmel. Mount Carmel is a hill in Palestine which 
was occupied by Christian hermits in the first 
centuries after Christ. The Church was painted 
by artist, Conrad Martens in 1836.  The picture 
shows the church crowning a large hill 
surrounded by scrubby sandy land.  A row of 
three cottages with fenced allotments is depicted 
low on the rise of the hill in front of the church 
with a nearby road.  

1330



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Waterloo Council was formed in 1860, and the 
district saw enormous growth in the 30 years 
after 1870. Waterloo was transformed from a 
small fringe suburb of Sydney, with some small 
industry mixed with market gardens, dairies and 
mills, to a suburb where larger scale industry, 
rows of terrace housing and areas of workers’ 
cottages filled the landscape.  

About 7½ acres of land was resumed by the 
State Government in late 1886 and Waterloo 
Council appointed trustees of the ‘Mount Carmel 
Park’. The Minister for Education, Dr Renwick, 
dedicated the new park at Mount Carmel in 
December 1886 and afterwards attended a 
banquet at the Waterloo Town Hall. One year 
later the park was being formed and laid out on 
the ‘hilly ground, formed from a sand heap, 
terraced and filled in with garbage. At this time 
Mount Carmel Park was the only public reserve 
in the municipality of Waterloo. Plantings in the 
new park were most likely supplied by J 
McLachlan of the Botanic Gardens after October 
1888. The park was fenced by 1889 and the 
Council sought rubbish to be deposited In Mount 
Carmel Park to consolidate the making of the 
terraces and the general formation of the park. 
The Council also sold sand from the site as part 
of development of the park. 

The park was renamed ‘Waterloo Park’ in 
1892. Coinciding with the name change, the 
Waterloo Council lobbied the minister to extend 
the area of the public park as far as Mt Carmel 
Park as there was insufficient area for a cricket 
pitch of football ground. The Council requested 
an additional 3½ acres of low-lying swampy land 
adjoining the existing parkland.  

A portion of the present park was dedicated for 
public recreation in November 1892 and the 
other portion was proclaimed as public park in 
September 1912. In the intervening period an 
oval was formed in the park in 1912. That year 
tennis courts were laid in the southern end of the 
park and the oval pavilion was extended. The 
pavilion was replaced by a new grandstand 
in 1963/1964. 

Port Jackson figs dominate the planting structure 
with 37 specimens forming an avenue along 
McEvoy Street which runs through the centre of 
the park. There is another specimen in the 
adjoining grounds of Mount Carmel School. 
Other trees in Waterloo Park include 10 Moreton 
Bay figs and 2 deciduous figs along with coral 
trees, paperbarks and brush box. 

In 2006, as part of a collaborative design process 
with street skaters, including Chad Ford, 
Fernside skate park was the first street style 
skate park constructed in the city at the southern 
end of Waterloo Park.  

In 2013 Sydney based architects, Collins and 
Turner were commissioned to design a new 
youth centre.  The same year the centre was 
announced as the winner of the 2013 Australian 
Institute of Architects (NSW Chapter) Sulman 
Award.   

Statement of Significance 

The following statement of significance has been 
taken from the inventory sheet for Waterloo Park 
and Oval:  

The land now known as Waterloo Park is within the 
traditional lands of the Cadigal.  Its sandy, scrubby and 
swampy nature would have influenced how the First 
Australians interacted with the area.  Mt Carmel 
Reserve and Waterloo Park are of historical 
significance as part of Mount Lachlan Estate dating 
from 1825 and related to the early housing 
development surrounding Waterloo Swamp.  The 
establishment of Mt Carmel Reserve dates from 1886 
and Waterloo Park from 1892.  Our Lady of Mount 
Camel located on ‘Hungry Hill’ is one of Sydney’s 
earliest Catholic Schools.  

The park and reserve are of aesthetic significance as 
large urban green spaces fringed by gracious rows of 
mature Moreton Bay Figs.  

The park and reserve are of social significance as they 
have been in continuous use as for leisure, recreation 
and sports since 1880s and reflect the changing 
patterns of public recreation in the inner city.  

 

 

  

1331



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Key heritage features 

The reserve includes several trees which are 
listed on the City of Sydney Significant Tree 
register.  

The planting of Waterloo Park south is of 
aesthetical significance as a large green area 
between the residential and industrial 
establishments. Some individual specimen figs 
are considered to have significance at the local 
level due to their substantial size, scale and 
representative values. Moreover, the collection 
has group significance at the city/local 
government area level in terms of its combined 
aesthetic, visual, historic and social values. 

These trees are a vital part of the historic fig 
collections which define the broader public open 
space of the City of Sydney. Waterloo Park is 
scheduled in City of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

The entries are split into three entries on the 
register: 

Our Lady of Mount Carmel Primary School 

– 1 Port Jackson Fig (f. glabrescens) 

Waterloo Park North  

– 27 Port Jackson Fig (f. glabrescens) 

– 2 Port Jackson Fig (f. rubiginosa) 

–  6 Moreton Bay Fig; 1 Silky Oak 

Waterloo Park South 

– 7 Port Jackson Fig (f. glabrescens) 

– 1 Port Jackson Fig (f. rubiginosa) 

– 4 Moreton Bay Fig 

–  2 Deciduous Fig 

The southern section of Waterloo Park is made 
up primarily of Waterloo Oval and Skate Park.  

The sports field at Waterloo oval has been 
expanded slightly and reconfigured away from 
its oval shape present in 1943 aerials. with the 
original grandstand removed.  

The southern end of the site also has the 
Waterloo Community Centre (Weave Building). 
Designed by Collins Turner and opened in 2012, 
this building was the 2013 winner of the Sir John 
Sulman medal for public architecture, and an AIA 
NSW award for sustainability, and national 
awards for public architecture, sustainability and 
steel architecture. 

Environment and landscape 
Waterloo Park and Oval is an important green 
space in the southern part of the City of Sydney’s 
Local Government Area (“LGA”). With 
significant increase in the surrounding 
residential density the Park and Oval is 
functioning both as a local community park as 
well as a venue for organised sport.  

The park is divided into two distinct zones by 
McEvoy Street. The northern area is located on 
steeply rising ground adjoining Our Lady of Mt 
Carmel Primary School and Church. The park is 
characterised by the distinctive landscape, grass 
hill slopes with mature fig planting and local 
playground facility. 

The southern Park area includes Waterloo Oval, 
a sporting field used for cricket and football 
codes as well as skateboard facilities and the 
award-winning South Sydney Youth Services 
building. 

Pre-Existing Natural Characteristics: 

Pre colonisation the park site formed part of a 
diverse wetland, comprising lowland, swamps 
and streams, along with ‘undulating land, sandy 
soil covered with low scrub’. 

Physical Characteristics:  

Landform, soil, drainage 
The park site was significantly modified through 
filling and levelling prior to its landscaping. 

Waterloo Park north was modified with sand fill 
and imported rubbish to form a series of terraces 
on the sloping landform. 

Waterloo Park south was modified to form the 
level playing field by cut and fill, and integration 
of retaining wall structures and grassed 
embankments to the western and northern 
peripheries of the park. 

Drainage to the Oval has been progressively 
upgraded to improve the resilience of the 
grassed surface. (Source: Open Space Sports 
and Recreation Study 2016). 

Vegetation 

Port Jackson Figs dominate the planting 
structure in particular the avenue along McEvoy 
Street. The northern south sloping site and land 
adjoining McEvoy Street was originally planted 
with a mix of common native Fig species 
including Port Jackson Figs (F. rubiginosa, F. 

1332



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

glabrescens and F. rubiginosa) and Moreton Bay 
Figs (Ficus macrophylla) sourced from the 
Illawarra region, north coast of NSW and south-
eastern Queensland.  The figs are arranged in 
informal groups or clusters along the northern 
slope creating a contiguous evergreen canopy. 

Other trees in Waterloo Park include Moreton 
Bay Figs and two Deciduous Figs along with 
Coral Trees, Paperbarks and Brush Box.  

There is very little understorey planting 
throughout either the north or south park areas. 
The base of the mature figs generally has large 
areas of exposed root systems with mulched 
areas needing renewal. 

The mature street trees, Paperbarks (Melaleuca 
species) on Elizabeth Street and Figs within the 
verge on McEvoy Street provide shade and a 
leafy green edge to the parks. 

The Community building at the southern end of 
the park has a vine clad trellis system which sits 
independently of the building. Overtime the vine 
growth has merged the building visually with its 
landscape setting. 

Landscape Character and Visual Amenity 

The two park areas north and south of McEvoy 
Street have very distinct landscapes defined 
through landform and use.  The mature fig tree 
canopy provides a unifying theme. Mature street 
trees on Elizabeth Street and McEvoy Street 
contribute to the street frontage of the park. 

There are limited views into and out of Waterloo 
Park North due to topography and the mature 
tree canopy coverage. Waterloo Park South’s 
more open boundaries provide more 
opportunities for views into and out of the park to 
the surrounding streetscape.  

Access and Circulation 

The park is generally well connected to the local 
area and neighbouring suburbs via the street 
network, public footpaths, cycle routes and 
access to public transport.  

A separated off-street cycleway is located on 
Allan Street on the south side of the park which 
provides a connection between Alexandria and 
Zetland and a direct link to the Bourke Street 
cycleway to the city.  

Waterloo Park North – can be accessed at 
formal path entries from the surrounding streets 
on all sides. Two internal stepped path routes 
provide access through the park from Mount 

Carmel Way to McEvoy Street, and to the 
play/fitness and basketball practice area 
adjacent Pitt Street. Pitt Street on the western 
side of park is a no-through road, with a public 
footpath connection linking the end of Pitt Street 
to McEvoy Street. There is a through-site 
pedestrian path link from John Street to Pitt 
Street which provides local residents direct 
access to the park from the west. 

90-degree angle parking is provided opposite 
the playground on Pitt Street. This area is not 
line marked and no accessible spaces are set 
aside. 

Mount Carmel Way on the east/north side forms 
a boundary between the park and Mount Carmel 
Church/primary school and is a no through road. 
A small parking area is provided with one 
marked accessible parking space. Cars are seen 
to use a partially level area within the park 
beyond the asphalt to both turn around in and 
use as a waiting area. 

Waterloo Park South - Public footpaths on 
three sides of the park provide direct access to 
facilities via concrete steps or concrete/asphalt 
footpaths. Currently the public toilets situated 
within the grandstand can only be accessed from 
the driveway access on Pitt Street, the public 
footpath on McEvoy St does not connect to this 
accessway.  

The only non-stepped pedestrian access onto 
the sportsfield is from a sloping footpath link from 
McEvoy Street footpath or over grass from the 
south end of the field via the youth centre. 

The park side of Pitt Street has limited verge 
width due to the retaining structures for the 
sports oval so there is no space within the verge 
for footpath at street level. There is a section of 
concrete footpath along the top of the retaining 
structure at the oval level. Street trees have been 
planted within the street to allow for greening and 
shade along this frontage. 

Service vehicle access to the oval and the 
WEAVE centre is from gated access points on 
the Elizabeth Street frontage. 

Service access to the Grandstand is from gated 
access on Pitt Street. 

On-street parking is available on Pitt Street, 
Allan Street, and clearways on Elizabeth Street, 
McEvoy Streets and Kellick Streets. 

The park is well connected via public transport 
with bus stops on Elizabeth Street located on the 

1333



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

park boundary or near park entries. The park is 
located 550 metres from Green Square Station. 
(Park is a 15-minute bus or train trip from Central 
Station). 

 

Reserve development 
Little has changed in terms of the overall layout 
of the park since it was established in the late 
1800’s. Park upgrades and refurbishment over 
the years have included redevelopment of some 
existing facilities to meet the changing needs of 
users, and new or expanded facilities such as 
the skatepark play space and fitness facilities. 

Capital works undertaken since the start of 
the 21st century include: 

– Major renewal of Skatepark 2006 and 
installation of new half-pipe in 2014, 
improved surface to half-pipe 2016. 

– Weave Youth and community service 
building replaced an old decommissioned 
toilet block – centre built 2012/2013 

– Small park upgrades with installation of park 
fitness equipment area 2019 which included: 

– outdoor exercise equipment and 
furniture, including bars, poles and 
benches 

– bike racks and water bubblers 

– new softfall paving, concrete walls and 
stairs 

– new plants, landscaping and drainage. 

Council’s Open Space Sports and Recreation 
Study 2016 identified desirable / potential 
actions and capital works improvements as 
including  

– Development of a coordinate master plan for 
the site 

– Consideration of synthetic sports field 
surfacing to Waterloo Oval.  Proposal to 
install synthetic sports field and upgrade of 
existing grandstand - additional landscaping 
works currently being scoped. Target 
timeframe for completion by 2024.  

 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Waterloo Park Crown 
reserve are Public Park and with an additional 
purpose stated as Community Purposes. 

Community usage 

The park offers two different zones areas of 
green space with distinct recreational roles.  

The northern park area offers a distinctive 
landform of grass hill slopes with mature fig 
planting, a playground facility, an adjacent 
basketball practice area, outdoor fitness 
equipment and footpath connections.  

The southern area features a sporting field used 
for cricket and rugby league, grandstand with 
public toilets, skateboard facilities with half pipe, 
viewing areas and the award-winning WEAVE 
(South Sydney Youth Services) building.  

As part of the City of Sydney’s park fitness 
equipment plan, a new outdoor fitness area was 
installed in 2019 to the north Park which included 
refurbishment of the existing basketball practice 
area. 

Drinking fountains are provided adjacent 
facilities in both park areas. 

The park is a dog off-leash area at all times, with 
the exception of prohibited areas: playground, 
oval, courts and skate park. 

Adjoining roadway contains bus shelter within 
scrolling/static advertising, City of Sydney and 
JCDecaux seating 

The parks are intensively used for sport (football 
codes, cricket); informal active and passive 
recreation; skateboarding; fitness training 
groups; local children's playground; basketball 
practice; and pedestrian access. 

 

 

1334



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

Skatepark – ‘Fernside Skate Park’ 

Fernside, is a 920sqm concrete skate park and 
was the first of its kind in the area when it opened 
in mid-2006. At this time, it was the first full street 
style skate plaza in Sydney. Features include 
blocks, ledges, banked ledges, manual pads, 
stairs, rails, flat bar, fly-out, corner bank, steep 
wall and mini ramp.  
The park’s design was brought to life by local 
skaters to ensure its structure resulted in the 
best skatepark in the region. 

Over the years, Fernside Skatepark has 
undergone renovations to ensure that the skate 
ramp is of the best quality and is safe to use for 
skateboarders of all ages. As such, there are 
periods where the park is closed for 
maintenance procedures that usually include 
repairing cracks and joints, as well as sealing 
and smoothing the surfaces. (Source 
https://www.sydneypoint.com.au/attractions/fern
side-skatepark) 

Upgrade works have included: 

2014 – A 1.5m-high half pipe addition to 
Fernside skate park - Designed by Fernside’s 
creator, Chad Ford, and built by Hargraves 
Landscapes, the 11m by 11m concrete 
structure. 

2016 – Surface of the half-pipe at Waterloo Oval 
has been improved to help ensure a safe and 
high-quality skate ramp for skateboarders to 
enjoy. 

Works included: 

– repairing the joins and cracks in the surface 

– grinding and sealing the surface to make it 
smoother and protect it 

– resealed the main skate ramp's surface. 

Weave Youth and Community Services 

The organisation was established in 1976 as a 
local youth service and since then has evolved 
in response to what the local community needs, 
providing responsive, collaborative and 
consistent support with strong connections to the 
Aboriginal community. The centre offers a 
diverse range of services and programs for youth 
and the community and has been located in the 
park since 2012. 

The building was previously a utilitarian toilet 
block, constructed as a single-story brick 
structure and was decommissioned in the early 
1990s, and subsequently utilised by South 

Sydney Youth Services (now Weave) as a 
workspace prior to its renovation in 2012. 

Features: 

– the refurbishment sought to provide an 
inviting, safe, light-filled environmentally 
responsible space for young people to meet 
staff, and the caseworkers who provide a 
variety of services to assist with a wide range 
of social issues 

– External vine covered steel trellis which sits 
independently of the building. Overtime the 
with the growth of the plants, the abstract 
green form has merged the building visually 
with its landscape setting. 

– 200 square metre roof terrace with small 
bush tucker garden which is used in cooking 
classes for the centre 

– Designed by Architects, Collins and Turner, 
and Terragram Landscape Architects 

(Source: https://urbannext.net/weave-youth-
and-community-services) 

Users 

Recent park user intercept surveys indicate the 
most popular activities undertaken in the park 
include  

– a place to meet with friends 

– walking through 

– walking or running for exercise 

– sitting contemplatively  

– attending sporting events. 

More than half of the survey respondents live 
nearby Waterloo Park and would visit the park 
weekly. 

Active Stakeholders include: 

– WEAVE 

– Housing NSW 

– sporting groups 

– skateboard groups 

 

 

 

 

 

1335



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

Event use of the park 

WEAVE supported by other organisations hold 
and the Annual Fernside Festival and Skate 
Competition in conjunction with Youth Week in 
the City – now running for 21 years at the park. 
It’s a free event open to anyone and everyone 

The oval and grandstand facilities are used by 
sporting codes throughout the year for sporting 
fixtures. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  

1336



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Grandstand Organised sports users Average (3) 

Public toilets (part of 
stand) 

General public Good (2) 

Kiosk building Organised sports users Average 

Sports oval Organised sports users 

General Public 

Good 

Oval lighting Organised sports users Good 

Basketball practice area General public Good (2) 

Playground General public Average-Good (2-3) 

Fitness Station General public Good (2) 

Skatepark plaza General public Good (2 

Youth/Community 
Services centre / 
WEAVE – (South 
Sydney Youth Centre)  

General public Good (2) 

Park Signage General public Average 

Park shelter with tables General public Average 

Path network (south) General public Average 

Path network (north) General public Average 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / licence Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Assisted Grant  WEAVE Youth Centre 5 years, 01/07/2016 
Expiry 30/06/2021 

Youth Centre 

1337



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Ownership and management 
Waterloo Park Crown reserve is owned by the 
State of New South Wales.  The City of Sydney 
is the Crown land manager responsible for the 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 13 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Waterloo Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

1338



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Applicable planning controls for 
the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Waterloo Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

1339



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

 

1340



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high-
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high-
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

1341



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 
old people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

 Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

1342



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

 

  

1343



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1344



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

 

 

1345



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Values and roles of Waterloo 
Park  
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing 
the Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates 
with Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- A park of two distinct areas and 
characters 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and 
Accessibility 

- A well-connected park to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and 
regional users 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and 
use 

- A park that is clear easy and safe to 
move around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A place that is not compromised by 
parking and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- Outdoor courts that facilitate recreation 
and fitness 

- Play spaces that support children and 
family use of park 

- A place for daily fitness 

- Access to dog off leash areas 

- A place that recognises and celebrates 
First Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

- A place for organised sports 

- Spaces and facilities support youth use 
of the park 

- WEAVE - providing for important 
community services 
 

4.0  Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A heavily used sports turf facility 

- An integrated building servicing multiple 
community uses 

- Park elements support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 

 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects 
the original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- A place that is cool, calm and 
comfortable in summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute 
to the park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting sustainable water 
management 

6. Basis for 
Management 

1346



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 

 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that strengthens First Nations 
People and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of 
natural and cultural heritage 

- A place that connects the community to 
the city’s past and present 

- Places that provides a canvas for arts 
and culture 

 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place that recognises and addresses 
its future urban context 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained 
and carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and 
meet the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

  

1347



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Waterloo Park Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation with an additional 
purpose of Community Purposes. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Waterloo Park in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Waterloo Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 
categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Waterloo Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Waterloo Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Waterloo Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
the Waterloo Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1348



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Waterloo Park 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports field areas and supporting amenities  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide social 
recreational and community uses 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

  

1349



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

1 / DP 136176

2 / DP 136176

Allen Street

P
itt S

treet

McEvoy Street

P
itt S

treet

Kellick Street

E
liz

ab
et

h 
S

tre
et

Powell Street

N
CATEGORY

Sportsground

Park

General Community Use

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

1350



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Waterloo Park through past open 
space planning (Open Space Sports Recreation 
Needs Study 2016, “OSSRNS”). This PoM 
references the OSSRNS as the most applicable 
current planning direction for the reserve. 

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for the planning and management 
of Waterloo Oval, as reflected in the OSSRNS 
(refer Figure 8 following page). 

Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016: 

The OSSRNS proposes preparation of a Master 
Plan to coordinate the range of upgrades and 
improvements that are required across both park 
zones south and north of McEvoy Street.  It 
identifies that a master plan for Waterloo Park 
and Oval should consider:  

– Provision of safe pedestrian crossing points 
at McEvoy Street and Elizabeth Street 

– Upgrade boundary definition of Oval and 
Park that includes oval fencing, perimeter 
circuit pathway for walking and exercise 

– Upgrade grandstand / toilet / change room 
facilities. Shade provision for grandstand 
spectators 

– Tree management of existing mature fig 
trees 

– Address any proposed edge impacts from 
RMS widening on McEvoy Street 

– Investigate option to co-locate additional 
youth recreational facilities next to skate park 

– Environmental performance to contribute to 
the City of Sydney’s environmental targets. 

The City of Sydney has also identified in its 10-
year capital works program capital works 
program a proposal to provide a synthetic sports 
field surface to Waterloo Oval.  This project 
addresses the ongoing challenges with wet 
weather recovery and over use of the field area 

This project would include: 

–  install synthetic sports field  

– upgrade of existing grandstand  

– additional landscaping works currently being 
scoped 

The proposed timeframe for completion is by 
2024. 

 

 

 

1351



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
 

 

Waterloo Oval improvement recommendations 
Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

 

 

 

1352



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

1353



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1354



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Waterloo Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Waterloo Park. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Waterloo Park and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land. Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 
structures and spaces at Waterloo Park will be 

considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1355



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Waterloo Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments  

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Waterloo Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Waterloo Park 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Waterloo Park which may attract high numbers 
of people including organised sport activities 
and training, school sport competitions, 

1356



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

commercial activities and one-off community 
events and performances. 

The allocation of Waterloo Park for organised 
sport and school sport will comply with the City 
of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City’s booking process and 
associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Waterloo Park and settings 
(such as playgrounds, fitness stations and park 
seating) will be determined by the community 
use of the site but will be managed to avoid 
undue impacts on park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the parks. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the parks need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 

facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the parks is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the parks. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Waterloo Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

1357



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence  

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Waterloo Park. 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

1358



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

1359



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirement 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 

train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land. 

 

 

1360



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Waterloo Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that resonates 
with Country 

 To implement a 
meaning and 
description that 
reflects connection to 
place 

Work with the community to establish 
a meaning and description that 
captures the place’s connection to 
Country  

Community consultation 

Adopted meaning and description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

 To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive elements 
that reflect the spaces historical 
identity and natural character 

 

Increased visibility of park identity 

1.3 A park of two distinct 
areas and 
characters  

 To recognise the two 
distinct park areas 
while providing 
appropriate unifying 
threads 

Planning and management to 
recognise the varied usage roles 
while unifying public domain fabric as 
appropriate 

Increased use of park measured 
by survey and observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and 
to district and 
regional users 

 To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible 
and safe routes to 
the park from 
adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of register 
to guide future directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

 To provide effective 
wayfinding and 
signage for park 
users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.3 A place that is clear, 
easy and safe to 
move around 

 To provide functional, 
attractive and 
compliant internal 
circulation routes and 
path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements managed in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate 
lighting to support 
desired night access, 
recreational and 
leisurely use of open 
space 
 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues and 
address as require 

Lighting maintained in accordance 
with Australian Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

   
 

  

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1361



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.5 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

 

 

 To provide a 
balanced approach 
to parking 

 To provide and 
manage functional 
maintenance and 
emergency access 
mitigating adverse 
impacts on park and 
uses  

 Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Manage existing off-street parking to 
ensure efficiency and equity 

Ensure that the use of vehicles, when 
permitted in parks are regulated and 
do not affect the normal functioning of 
these spaces for community use 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities into 
ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist and 
vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures carried 
out 

 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

 To ensure that the 
park provides a range 
of flexible and informal 
use spaces that are 
attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 Outdoor courts that 
facilitate recreation 
and fitness 

 To maintain and 
enhance role of 
outdoor courts 

Enhance role of courts for a diverse 
range of uses 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Increased local use of courts 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.3 Play spaces that 
support children and 
family use of park 

 To provide access to 
quality play 
environments that aid 
early childhood 
development and 
provide engaging play 
settings 

Ongoing provision of play 
experiences complimentary to park 
character and capacity 

Increased local use of courts 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.4 A place for daily 
fitness 

 To support and 
manage a sustainable 
level of fitness activity 
in the park 

Support the role of the park for fitness 
activities in accordance with Council’s 
policy framework 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to fitness 
activities. Regular review of 
register to guide future directions 

3.5 Access to dog off 
leash areas 

 To provide for 
effective dog exercise 
in accordance with 
Companion Animals 
Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between dogs 
and other park users 

3.6 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

 

 To celebrate First 
Nations heritage and 
living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.7 A place for events  To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use that 
is appropriate to scale of spaces and 
in consideration of other park uses 

Develop guidelines for event use of 
park defining: 

- Usable area and capacity 
- Other specific event 

management and approval 
requirements 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increased use of park for events 
appropriate to scale and intensity 

Developed events guidelines 

Ongoing review and compliance 

1362



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.8 A place that is open 
and usable by all 
members of 
community 

 That the park is 
managed as part of a 
coordinated 
compassionate 
approach across the 
city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness in 
public spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the community to 
use public spaces’ (Homelessness 
Action Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be accessed 
and enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly review of 
register to guide future directions 

3.9 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

 To ensure the park 
and park facilities 
provide a safe place to 
visit and pass through, 
appropriate to 
intended (and varied) 
usage times of 
facilities and access 
routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access in 
park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to identify 
and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design principles 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 

Sustained relationship with local 
police 

 

3.10 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

 Maintain access and 
provision of public 
toilet facilities for all 
park users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to public 
toilets. Regular review of register 
to guide future directions 

Waterloo Oval 

3.11 A place for 
organised sports 

 To ensure that 
management of 
access to designated 
sports use areas is 
clear and 
unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of adequate venue 
management services to facilitate 
bookings of oval 

Venue bookings 

 

Fernside Skate Park 

3.12 Spaces and facilities 
support youth use of 
the park 

 To optimise the park’s 
role as a hub for local 
youth 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

Youth and community 

3.13 WEAVE - providing 
for important 
community services 

 To enhance the youth 
and community role 
for the local area and 
district 

Maintain and enhance the role of 
WEAVE 

 

Ongoing review and compliance of 
lease 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Waterloo Oval 

4.1 A heavily used 
sports turf facility 

 To provide a field 
surface that meets 
community needs and 
compliments park 
character 

Plan and implement a synthetic sports 
field including associated sports 
infrastructure 

 

Operational synthetic field and 
infrastructure 

Measured against contract KPIs 

 

Grandstand and amenities building 

4.2 

 

 

 

An integrated 
building servicing 
multiple community 
uses 

 To provide a suitable 
multi-use building to 
serve park use  

Plan and implement works to upgrade 
the grandstand and amenities building  

 

Upgrade works completed 

Measured against contract KPIs 

 

   
 
 
 
 

  

1363



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Park elements 

4.3 Park elements 
support park use 
and create an 
attractive character 

 To support 
recreational and 
leisure use of park 
while avoiding 
proliferation of 
elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture and 
other park elements in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Measured against contract KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Underground infrastructure 

4.4 Underground 
infrastructure 

To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated 
into planning and 
design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Maintained relationship with 
authorities 

Limited disruption to reserve’s 
usage 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green 
landscape for 
continued 
community 
enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 

Measurement and monitoring of 
vegetation 

Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment  

 To increase 
indigenous plantings 
within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site conditions 
allow, investigate the planting of 
indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat 
value of natural and 
built features 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  

Monitoring of natural habitat 

5.4   To enhance 
ecological 
importance in open 
space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory role 
for proposed works associated with 
open space 

Investigate opportunities to increase 
community understanding and 
participation in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation in 
open space works 

Increased community participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is cool, 
calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

 To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy 
and to selectively 
extend to create new 
shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across site 

Preserved and increased shade 
cover 

Increased use of park measured 
by observation 

5.6 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively 
maintain and 
manage the existing 
tree resources at 
optimum health for 
their safe and 
practical lifespans 

 To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance with 
tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of new 
trees as measured by arborist’s 
survey  

Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Implemented succession planting 
and tree management plan 

1364



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Water management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

 To effectively 
manage water use 
and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water demand for 
park 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

 To effectively 
manage energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event activities 

Waste management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

 A place that 
maximises the 
diversion of waste 
away from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and support 
of best practice waste management 
activities 

Minimised waste measured against 
contract KPI's and audits 

 

 

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People and 
living culture 

 To identify and 
interpret First 
Nations cultural 
heritage values of 
the local area 

Consult with the First Nations People 
on how to interpret and integrate 
cultural heritage values in ongoing 
planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and cultural 
heritage 

 To appropriately 
manage and 
conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

 To guide 
management and 
design decision 
making to achieve 
optimum heritage 
management 
outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present 

 To enable park users 
to understand the 
rich and complex 
layering of natural 
and cultural values 
represented on the 
site and add to the 
experience and use 
of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.2 

 

Adoption of supporting framework 

6.4 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and culture 

 To facilitate public art 
in temporary and 
permanent forms that 
compliments the park 
setting and adds to 
the range of 
experiences provided 

 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of public 
art in park 

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place that 
recognises and 
addresses its future 
urban context 

To provide a 
coordinated and 
integrated direction to 
guide ongoing 
improvement of the park 

Develop a master plan for Waterloo 
Park and Oval to reflect evolving and 
growing role  

 

Adopted master plan 

1365



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.2 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

To provide well-
maintained parklands 

Maintenance programs carried out in 
accordance with City of Sydney Parks 
Maintenance Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

7.3 Facilities that 
continue to service 
and meet the 
community's needs 

To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 

 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Measured against contract KPI's 
and audits 

7.4 Appropriate leases 
and licences 

To ensure that tenure 
and permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural 
and social activities 

All future leases and licences to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and compliance of 
leases and licences  

 

 

 

  

1366



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Waterloo Park 
categorised as Park subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1367



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Recreational and sporting activities consistent 
with an outdoor recreational facility, for 
example but not limited to: 

o Marked courts (basketball, volleyball, 
badminton and netball) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Waterloo Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

1368



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

1369



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 

 

 
 
  

1370



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Waterloo Park 
categorised as Sportsground subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 
Australian rules, track and field athletics, 
hockey, baseball, softball) 

o Skate facilities (skateboarding, scootering, 
roller skating/blading)  

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

1371



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 
 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences for short-term casual use or occupation 
for a range of uses may also be granted for Waterloo Park in accordance with Clause 116 of the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

1372



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 

1373



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Waterloo Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Concerts and other live performances, 
including both live performances and film 
(cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1374



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
libraries) 

– Management and operation of community 
facilities 

Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 
 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use. Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Waterloo Park 
in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

1375



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community purposes (e.g. community services) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, information centre) 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community facility 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community purposes (e.g. community meetings) 

– Educational purposes (e.g. libraries, education classes, workshops) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Health or Social Support services (e.g. medical practitioner) 

– Management and operation of community of facility 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to community or recreational use) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

1376



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

1377



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 

 

  

13. Appendices 

1378



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

References 
– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs 

Study 2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

  

1379



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1380



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15-minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
playspace will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on-
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities near 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1381



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1382



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1383



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1384



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1385



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

respected as such. 
 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10-kilometre radius must be 
avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

1386



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focussed on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management.  While 
strategies are higher level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1387



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1388



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost-
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1389



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1390



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1391



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero-
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1392



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

1393



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
address the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1394



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1395



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1396



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1397



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1398



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1399



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1400



Waterloo Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

 

 

 

 

 

1401



Attachment R 

Wentworth Park 

 

 

 

1402



 

Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

1403



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 25 

4. Strategic context 28 

5. Community guiding principles 31 

6. Basis for Management 33 

7. Review of the plan 41 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 42 

8. General requirements 43 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 49 

10. Park category - authorisations 55 

11. Sportsground category - 
authorisations 59 

12. General Community Use 
category - authorisations 62 

13. Appendices 66 

 

1404



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 16 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 23 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 24 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 36 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 37 

Figure 8. Master Plan 40 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 55 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 56 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – 
Sportsground Category 59 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 60 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 62 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – General Community Use 
Category 63 

 

 

1405



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1406



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1407



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Wentworth Park (Crown Reserve 1002206 - Lots 
677, 678 and PT 679 DP 729635) is classified as 
“community land” under the LG Act and 
managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land  

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1408



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

1409



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

1410



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

1411



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning etc 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event). 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 
MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 

of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 

 
 
  

1412



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Wentworth Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1413



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1414



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

1415



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Wentworth Park through past 
master planning and plans of management (PoM 
1991).  This PoM references the City of Sydney 
Open Space Sports and Recreation Needs 
Study 2016 (“OSSRNS”) as the current 
planning direction for the reserve and 
supersedes the PoM 1991. 

Location and description  
Wentworth Park is located in Ultimo, bounded by 
Bridge Road, Wattle Street, William Henry Street 
and Wentworth Park Road. It’s northern end is in 
close proximity to Blackwattle Bay and the 
Sydney Fishmarkets. 

The park is approximately 15 hectares in size 
and is located 1.5km to the west of the city CBD.  

The Wentworth Park Sporting Complex also 
known as the Greyhound Complex is situated in 
the middle of the park. The complex is managed 
by the Wentworth Park Sporting Complex and is 
not subject to this PoM. However, due to the 
inter-related nature of the park it is necessary to 
consider the influence of the complex in the 
development of this PoM and review of past 
master planning. 

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site. 

 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Wentworth Park 

Address 1 and 9 Wentworth Park Road, Ultimo 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., 
purpose and gazetted 
date  

1002206 Dedication, Public Park, 10/11/1885 

Zoning RE1   Not in Sydney LEP – Under: SREP 26 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 86753.08 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lot 677 DP 729635, Lot 680 DP 729635 and part Lot 679 DP 729635 

NOTE: The Wentworth Park Sporting Complex Crown reserve is not 
part of this PoM 

Other Community land n/a 

Miscellaneous land Lot 8 DP 1033151 – Viaducts and Light Rail Line owned by RailCorp 

2. Land description 

1416



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

item description 

Restrictions / 
easements 

n/a 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

General Community 
Use/Park/Sportsground 

 

 

Condition of land  

 

refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

 
 
 

  

1417



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Figure 3. Site Plan 
 

 

  

677 / DP729635

677 / DP729635

8 / DP1033151

680 /
DP729635

679 / DP729635

678 / DP729635

Part 679 / 
DP729635

Fig St

GREYHOUND
COMPLEX

VIADUCT

Brid
ge R

oad

W
entw

orth P
ark R

oad

BLACKWATTLE
BAY

PLAY
SPACE

SCHOOL

W
attle S

treet

Wentworth
Park Station

(LR)

Quarry St

Willia
m Henry St

B
ay S

t

Lyndhurst S
t

St Johns Rd

M
itc

he
ll 

St

C
ow

pe
r S

t

W
at

tle
 C

re
sc

en
t

Public
Toilets

NLEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

Railcorp owned land

1418



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

Wentworth Park was dedicated for a Public Park 
in 1885. The original park layout was in the 
Gardenesque style which was hugely influential 
during this era. 

The land the park is sited on lies within the 
traditional lands of the Gadigal people. 

This area was originally the swampy mouth of 
the creekline known as Blackwattle Creek. The 
creek would have been a source of fresh water 
and used as a resource for food by the Gadigal 
people prior to European arrival in 1788. 

By the middle of the nineteenth century the area 
had been highly modified with the expanding city 
population and the establishment of various 
noxious industries. Abattoirs and boiling down 
works located along the shore of the creek and 
Blackwattle Bay had polluted the swamp. The 
council lobbied to have the swamp filled due to 
the stench from the polluted water and mud. 

Following the Blackwattle Land reclamation Act 
of 1873 filling of the creek and head of the 
swamp commenced in 1876 and continued until 
1880 using silt dredged from the harbour.  

When the area was filled trustees were 
appointed to manage the new park and a 
competition was announced to design the new 
facility. 

By 1882 ovals, greens, paths, lakes and other 
facilities were completed, and the park was 
named after NSW statesman William Charles 
Wentworth (1790–1872). 

During the 1880s and 1890s the park came to 
serve as a focus for community activities 
including concerts, celebrations, moving picture 
shows and in particular sport – cricket and 
football. The early years of the 20th century saw 
the removal of the lakes, and the establishment 
of a kindergarten in 1914. 

Parts of the park were used during both World 
War 1 and 2 for warehouses to store wool for the 
war effort. 

In 1919 the high-level railway viaduct was built, 
which now carries the inner west light rail line. 

In October 1932 greyhound racing began in the 
park and as time went on the dog racing facilities 
grew to dominate the park.  

In 1979 the National Coursing Association 
applied to construct a large new grandstand 
which was eventually completed in 1985. 

The park continues to be a large and important 
area of valuable open space in a densely 
populated part of Sydney, which relates well 
visually to historic Glebe and Ultimo. 

Heritage Context 

Listed heritage items within the Wentworth park 
Crown reserve lands includes: 

– Glebe and Wentworth Park Railway 
Viaducts SHR 01034 

– Glebe Viaducts (Jubilee Park/Wentworth 
Park) SRA104  

– Glebe/Ultimo (Wentworth Park Rd) 
Underbridge s.170 Register 

– NCA Entry Tower, Wentworth Park—City 
West REP No 26 – Sch 4, No. 15 

– NCA Steward’s Building, Wentworth Park—
City West REP No 26 – Sch 4, No. 13 

– Store Building, Wentworth Park—City West 
REP No 26 – Sch 4, No. 14 

– Wentworth Park—City West REP No 26 – 
Sch 4, No. 16 

– Wentworth Park – Tower and Kennels—City 
West REP No 26 – Sch 4, No. 16 

– Wentworth Park, excluding Stadium—No. 
168 

– Street trees, Wentworth Park Road—No. 
I816 

Multiple heritage items in the vicinity including: 

– No I816 

– No I800 

– No I2059 

– No I2060 

– No I257 

– No I670 

 

1419



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

History 

If you stood on the sandstone spine of the 
Pyrmont peninsula in the early 1800s you would 
have seen an ancient antipodean landscape 
sprawled out below. The land was forested with 
smooth bark apples, red bloodwoods, grey and 
peppermint gums with an understorey of wattle, 
cheesewood and mock orange. The Blackwattle 
Creek fed into the swamp subsequently 
reclaimed for Wentworth Park. Small streams 
formed a delta at Cockle Bay where later streets 
would be built over land normally only seen at 
low tide.  Port Jackson fig trees clustered on two 
high headlands which tumbled down to sandy 
bays edged by caves and freshwater springs. 

Before the colonists arrived, the creek was a 
source of fresh water for Aboriginal people, and 
a place for fishing and other activities.  

Some archaeological traces of Aboriginal people 
living along the creek have survived to the 
present day and have been recorded nearby the 
Park around Mountain Street. Aboriginal 
Campsites have been identified on what would 
have been the original banks of the swamp at the 
head of Blackwattle Bay with evidence found 
during archaeological excavations undertaken 
prior to the redevelopment in the early 2000s. 
(summarised from 
https://www.sydneybarani.com.au/sites/blackwa
ttle-creek/) 

During the early decades of colonisation, the 
creek was located at the edge of town, but by the 
middle of the 19th century, the course of the 
creek was highly modified and densely inhabited 
by some of Sydney’s poorest residents. 

Between the 1830s and 1860 various noxious 
industries were established along the creekline, 
including abattoirs and boiling down works. The 
waste from these works polluted the swamp. 
Even after the removal of these establishments 
from the area in 1860, the local council lobbied 
to have the area filled in because of the stench 
from the water and mud. 

In 1873 the Blackwattle Reclamation Act was 
passed.  Filling the creek and head of the 
swamp commenced in 1876 and continued until 
1880. Silt dredged from the harbour was used 
and numerous sea walls and dykes were 
constructed as part of the program. When the 
area was filled trustees were appointed to 
manage the new park and a competition was 
announced to design the new facility. 

By 1882 ovals, greens, paths, lakes and other 
facilities were completed, and the park was 
named after NSW statesman William Charles 
Wentworth (1790–1872).  The park was 
dedicated as public reserve in November 
1885. 

James Jones, the overseer of Domains, was 
responsible for the layout of laid Wentworth Park 
in the Gardenesque style.  This included a 
curving path system accompanied by plantings 
of evergreen and deciduous trees.   

The central focus was the enclosed cricket 
ground, an ornamental lake with islands, and an 
unenclosed football ground. The bowling green 
and pavilion of the Glebe Bowling Club was 
located on the north-eastern comer of the park. 
Later an elegant rotunda, where the Pyrmont 
and Glebe brass bands played on summer 
evenings, was constructed on the park’s western 
edge. 

During the 1880s and 1890s the park came to 
serve as a focus for community activities 
including concerts, celebrations, moving picture 
shows and in particular sport, especially Rugby. 
The Glebe District Cricket Club included well-
known Australian players such as Tibby Cotter, 
Warren Bardsley, Charlie Kelleway and Bert 
Oldfield.  These sportsmen played their home 
game fixtures at Wentworth Park from 893. At 
the end of the 1922/23 season the Glebe District 
Cricket Club had played their last first grade 
game at Wentworth Park relocating to Jubilee 
Oval, Glebe their new home ground. 

The early years of the 20th century saw the 
removal of the lakes, and the establishment 
of a kindergarten in 1914. 

During World War 1 a large number of timber 
sheds were erected on the northern sports 
ground to store wool for the war effort. These 
sheds remained extant for several years after the 
end of the war. In 1919 the high-level railway 
viaduct was built, which now carries the inner 
west light rail line. 

In October 1932 greyhound racing began in 
the park and as time went on the dog racing 
facilities grew to dominate the park. These 
interventions evolved from brick walls to 
grandstands, to Tote buildings and kiosks.  

During World War 2 the American troops 
established a camp in Wentworth Park and more 

1420



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

wool stores were built, although these were 
eventually demolished in the 1950s. 

In 1979 the National Coursing Association 
applied to construct a large new grandstand 
which was eventually completed in 1985. As 
well as greyhound racing, the complex is used 
for soccer, rugby league, rugby union, public 
exams, functions and community events. Local 
schools also have access to the facilities. 

Statement of Significance 

Wentworth Park has aesthetic, historic, 
archaeological and social significance.   
Comprising the traditional land and fresh water 
resources belonging to the First Australians.  

Known as Black Wattle Swamp Cove, following 
colonisation is today called Wentworth Park 
became the location for noxious industry needing 
access to fresh water. This evidences significant 
early shaping forces in the growth and 
development of Sydney as well as colonial 
attitudes to the environment. The area of the 
existing park and its configuration are significant 
historically as they confirm the boundary of the 
headwaters of Black Wattle Swamp Cove.  

The park demonstrates historical significance 
through government reclamation and changing 
attitudes towards landscape design, public open 
space and recreation. Designed in the 
gardenesque style, by James Jones, the overseer 
of Domains, the park has been used for various 
forms of sport and public recreation including 
cricket, rugby, greyhound racing, soccer, fun 
parks, a speedway, since the late nineteenth 
century and has contemporary social values as a 
recreational facility for the community.  

The park evidences mature plantings, especially 
of Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla), which 
have considerable historic and aesthetic 
significance. The park includes several built 
elements which are individual significant. 
Wentworth park provides a large and importance 
area of valuable open space in a densely 
populated part of Sydney, which relates well 
visually to historic Glebe and Ultimo.  

– The Park is associated with Australia’s war 
effort during WW1. A series of large timber sheds 
were erected within the park to store wool. 
Wentworth park is dissected by a brick-arched 
railway viaduct which is a fine industrial structure 
in its own right which evidences the growth in trade 
and the movement of goods. The park has 

potential for unknown subsurface features, which 
may yield information which can contribute to an 
understanding of the history, structure and use of 
the park. 

 

Key heritage features 

Key elements of the park include: 

– Children’s play ground  

– Sports fields  

– Greyhound complex 

Elements of significance: 

– Railway viaduct 

– NCA Steward’s Office 

– NCA Entry Tower 

– Cold Store (former toilet) 

– Brick retaining wall 

– 41 Moreton Bay Fig (Ficus macrophylla) 

– 15 Hills Weeping Fig (Ficus microcarpa var. 
hillii) 

– 1 River Red Gum (Eucalyptus camaldulesis) 

 

Environment and landscape 
Wentworth Park is an historic park and has 
played a significant role in catering for major 
sporting and other recreational pursuits on the 
city fringe for over 100 years. The Park is an 
important large open space resource set within 
a high density residential and commercial area. 

Pre-existing Natural Characteristics: 

This area was originally the swampy mouth of 
the creek variously known as Black Wattle or 
Blackwattle Creek. Subsequent pollution, after 
colonisation, of the adjoining bay by noxious 
industries severely impacted the swamp land 
and it was subsequently filled and levels raised 
to form the level landform that exists today. 

Physical Characteristics: 

Landform, Soil, Drainage 

The park area was originally filled with silt 
dredged from the harbour. The park is currently 
flat and can remain very wet for considerable 
periods after rain. Past problems with drainage 
and soil compaction are still relevant.  

1421



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

A 1991 soils study highlighted the cause to be 
crusting and compaction of the topsoil causing 
low infiltration, surface ponding, poor profile 
drainage and reduced wear tolerance of turf. 
These issues were attributed to the result of 
carparking in the southern and central sections 
and to a lesser extent regular sporting fixtures in 
the central section of the Park. Carparking has 
been largely removed from the park apart from 
occasional use in the southern section related to 
Greyhound racing use. 

Vegetation/ Planting 

The park has a mature tree canopy to the 
periphery. The double row plantation (avenue) of 
Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla), located 
along the northern boundary adjoining Bridge 
Road have a broad range of sizes ranging 
between 10-18 metres in height with a combined 
canopy of 25-30 metres in diameter extending 
over the roadway and parkland. 

The two Moreton Bay Figs (Ficus macrophylla) 
near the children’s playgrounds have achieved 
extraordinary proportions in this protected site 
(22-25 metres in height, 35 metres individual 
canopy spread and 2.0-2.5m base diameters). 
Their massively spreading canopies create a 
distinctive cloistered landscape character and 
dramatic sense of place. 

Council Ecology team has recorded known 
priority fauna sightings of microbat species 
within the Park. The park has been identified with 
potential to provide a habitat linkage corridor 
between other open spaces. 
 
Landscape Character and visual amenity 

The park is currently dominated by the 
Greyhound complex. The complex effectively 
divides the Park into two separate areas. The 
section to the north of the complex is further 
divided by the railway viaduct now used by the 
light rail. Three recreational settings have 
previously been defined for the park as follows: 

– The north-western section – a regional park 
emphasising a link with Blackwattle Bay 

– The central section – active sporting use 

– The south-east section – a local park focus 

Segregation of the park by the railway viaduct 
and Greyhound complex means the full extent of 
the park is not apparent from with either end. 
While long views within the park are interrupted 
by built facilities the views to the city/cbd skyline 

are available from the northern portions of the 
park. 

The large fig trees are visually significant 
elements along the north and eastern 
boundaries of the park. 

Access and Circulation 

Access to the park - The park is surrounded by 
major city roads, Bridge Road, Wattle Street and 
Wentworth Park Road.  

The volume of traffic restricts pedestrian access 
to key crossing and nodal points. There are 
traffic lights at the intersections of Bridge 
Road/Wattle Street, Wattle Street/Quarry Street, 
Wattle Street/William Henry Street and 
Wentworth Park/Bay Street plus a dedicated 
pedestrian light crossing for Wentworth Park 
light rail station. There is also one zebra crossing 
across Wentworth Park Road near Cowper 
Street. 

There are a number of access points into the 
park from the adjacent public footpath, but these 
are not always associated with formalised 
footpaths. Many of these points provide stepped 
access only due to the level difference from the 
public footpath and park level. There are a 
number of openings within the brick boundary 
wall to provide informal access into the park. 

The main visitor entry and vehicle service entry 
to the Greyhound complex is located on 
Wentworth Park Road. An entry on Wattle Street 
provides access to on-site visitor parking area for 
the complex. There is no visitor parking available 
within the park for park users, but on-street time 
restricted parking is available on Wattle Street 
and Wentworth Park Road. 

Circulation within the park - With the Greyhound 
complex dividing the park, in order to move 
between the northern and southern areas, users 
must leave the Park to walk along the public 
footpaths on either side, Wentworth Park Road 
or Wattle Street.  

The only formal paths within the park are in the 
south-eastern portion and are heavily used by 
local commuters and schools children.  

Movement through the northern sections of the 
park, where there are few formal paths, can be 
severely restricted after major rain events. 

Park upgrade works in 2007 and 2010 included 
improving the boundary treatments and entries 
to the Greyhound complex to improve the visual 

1422



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

and physical street and park frontages. 
 

Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown lands are to be used for the original 
purpose for which they were dedicated or 
reserved. Multiple uses of reserves are 
encouraged, where those uses are consistent 
with the original purpose of the reserve. 

The public purpose for Wentworth Park crown 
reserve is Public Park. 

Community usage 

Wentworth Park serves as a regional park which 
attracts many users from outside the local area 
due to the sportsfield facilities and central 
location. Since the 1991 Plan of Management, 
nearly 30 years ago, there have been major 
residential and commercial developments in the 
suburbs adjoining the park – Pyrmont, Ultimo 
and Glebe that have significantly increased the 
local residential and the working populations. 
Reuse of the railway viaduct for the light rail and 
new stations has allowed easier access to the 
park and key destinations such as the Fish 
Market via public transport. Demands on 
Wentworth Park as an open space have 
increased and future planned developments will 
add further pressure. 

The park provides a variety of recreational 
opportunities ranging from active sport, a 
pedestrian and cycling thoroughfare, children’s 
playspace, fitness stations, a place for walking 
and simply the appreciation of open space. The 
local community and visitors enjoy the many 
sport fields and picnic areas with lots of seating 
and water bubblers available.  

The sportsfields are used for soccer, touch 
football, rugby and cricket throughout the year 
for social and club competitions. (Note the 
Sportsfield within the greyhound track is also 
used for community sport but is not part of this 
plan of management). 

The north-east corner of the park is increasingly 
popular with informal picnics by visitors to the 
Fish Markets. 

Other amenities the park provides for users 
include: 

– Cricket nets (2no) – free to use and no 
booking required 

– Public toilets/accessible  

– Playground with shade covers, picnic 
facilities, fitness equipment nodes  

– Sportsfields are lit enabling evening use. 

– The main path and play area have lighting 

– The park allows dogs off-leash at all times 
with prohibited areas the sports field during 
games, barbecue area and playground. 

Users  

Recent user intercept surveys indicate that the 
most popular activities in the park are: 

– walking through  

– walking or running for exercise.  

– sitting and relaxing  

– a place walk the dog. 

The majority of the survey respondents were 
more likely to live nearby the park followed by 
respondents who visit the area. Nearly half of the 
respondents were likely to visit the park on a 
weekly basis. The most popular time to visit the 
park was in the afternoon followed by early 
morning, before 9am. 

Schools usage 

– Temporary building use by NSW Department 
of Education within the southern portion of 
the park to accommodate students whilst 
renovation/ rebuilding works are undertaken 
at city/cbd schools. 

– Park open space is utilised by a number of 
nearby local schools during the school day 
which have limited if any green space on site.  

 
Greyhound racing 

– The Greyhound complex currently utilises an 
area within the park on the western side of 
the complex for parking on race days/nights. 
Access is via swing gates and a driveway on 
Wentworth Park Road on the south-western 
side of the complex. 

Event use of the park 

The park is regularly used for various sporting 
codes events and fixtures through the year, 
weekdays, weekends and evening use. Other 

1423



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

types of events held by schools, casual users, 
filming, promotional events, festivals. 

Attendance has ranged up to 500 people. The 
City of Sydney registered 14 events 2015-19. 

 

1424



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Temporary public 
school 

Public school occupation Good (2) 

Public toilets General public Average (3) 

Sports fields Organised sports users 

General public 

Average 

Cricket practice nets Organised sports users 

General public 

Average 

Wattle Street lift + 
overpass 

General public Average (3) 

Footpaths General public Poor 

Playground General public Poor (4) 

Fitness equipment 
stations 

General public Good (2) 

Picnic furniture General public Poor 

BBQ General public Average 

Park Furniture – seats General public Average 

Park furniture - lighting General public Poor 

Park furniture – water 
bubblers 

General public Poor 

Park furniture - bins General public Average 

Light Rail Viaduct Sydney Light Rail Average 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

1425



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / licence Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

Land Lease Department Education 5 years, 20/01/2018 
Expiry 01/01/2024 

Lease issued by Crown 
Lands for temporary 
school occupation of 
park 

Head Lease 

RailCorp Viaducts 

City of Sydney 1 year, 01/11/1956 
Expiry 01/11/1956 
(holdover) 

City of Sydney 
management of 
Wentworth Park 
Viaducts 

1426



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

Ownership and management 
Wentworth Park Crown reserve is owned by the 
State of New South Wales.  The City of Sydney 
is the Crown land manager responsible for the 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 14 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Wentworth Park is Clause 65 
that specifies that development for any purpose 
may be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

1427



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Wentworth Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

1428



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings. 

1429



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic and recreational 
context of the subject reserve which provides 
useful background to ongoing planning and 
management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

The majority of population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 

interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 
space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the LGA. The villages with the most significant 
change in this age group proportion will be King 
Street (-5%), Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris 
Street (-4%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-
4%) and Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

1430



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 
old people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

 Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

 Glebe point road will have an increase in lone 
person households and a decrease in group 
households 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  

The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 
and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2)

1431



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

 
City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 

  

1432



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1433



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

1434



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Values and roles of Wentworth 
Park 
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- A precinct earmarked for significant 
activation 

 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected park to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to district and regional 
users 

- A community destination accessible from the 
cycle network 

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 
 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents 

- A place for organised sports 

- Play spaces that support children and family 
use of park 

- A place for daily fitness 

- Spaces and facilities support youth use of 
the park 

- A place that supports local schools with 
limited access to open green space 

- A place for dog walking and exercise 

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 

 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- A heavily used sports turf facility 

- Temporary school structures and facilities 

- Heritage Viaducts are a distinct feature of 
northern precinct 

- Park elements support park use and create 
an attractive character 

- Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- Places that are connected to support 
biodiversity 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

6. Basis for 
Management 

1435



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting sustainable water 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place strengthens First Nations People 
and living culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present  

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 
 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place that recognises and addresses its 
future urban context 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

  

1436



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Wentworth Park Crown 
reserve is Public Park. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by DPIE Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown Reserve 
Purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure the land is used for the purpose for which 
it was originally set aside by its dedication or 
reservation. 

Figure 7 maps out the community land 
categorisations in the context of the Crown 
reserve. 

 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Wentworth Park in 
accordance with Crown Land requirements. The 
Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
identifies that councils should apply the initial 
categorisation based on existing/current use of 
the reserve only. The initial categorisation 
cannot be based on proposed or future use. The 
initial categorisations for Wentworth Park have 
been approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Wentworth Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Wentworth Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Wentworth Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
the Wentworth Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1437



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Wentworth Park 

Core objectives for management 

Sportsground 

Land should be categorised as a sportsground 
under section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is used 
or proposed to be used primarily for active 
recreation involving organised sports or the 
playing of outdoor games. 

Application 

To sports field areas and supporting amenities 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a sportsground are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational 
pursuits in the community involving organised and 
informal sporting activities and games, and 

(b)  to ensure that such activities are managed having 
regard to any adverse impact on nearby residences. 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces  

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

General Community Use 

Land should be categorised as general 
community use under section 36 (4) of the Act if 
the land: 

(a)  may be made available for use for any 
purpose for which community land may be used, 
whether by the public at large or by specific 
sections of the public, and 

(b)  is not required to be categorised as a natural 
area under section 36A, 36B or 36C of the Act and 
does not satisfy the guidelines under clauses 
102–105 for categorisation as a natural area, a 
sportsground, a park or an area of cultural 
significance. 

Application 

To building facilities that provide for social 
recreational and community uses  

 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as general community use are to 
promote, encourage and provide for the use of the 
land, and to provide facilities on the land, to meet the 
current and future needs of the local community and of 
the wider public: 

(a)  in relation to public recreation and the physical, 
cultural, social and intellectual welfare or development 
of individual members of the public, and 

(b)  in relation to purposes for which a lease, licence or 
other estate may be granted in respect of the land 
(other than the provision of public utilities and works 
associated with or ancillary to public utilities). 

 

1438



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

677 / DP729635

677 / DP729635

8 / DP1033151

680 /
DP729635

679 / DP729635

678 / DP729635

Part 679 / 
DP729635

Fig St

Brid
ge R

oad

W
entw

orth P
ark R

oad

BLACKWATTLE
BAY

SCHOOL
(temporary)

W
attle S

treet

Quarry St

Willia
m Henry St

B
a

y S
t

Lyndhurst S
t

St Johns R
d

M
itc

he
ll 
St

C
ow

pe
r 

S
t

W
at

tle
 C

re
sc

en
t

PUBLIC 
TOILETS

N

CATEGORY

Sportsground

Park

General Community Use

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

Existing building/structure 
in park

Railcorp owned land

1439



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Wentworth Park through past 
master planning and plans of management 
(Wentworth Park PoM and Master Plan 1991).  
This plan of management references the Open 
Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 2016 
(“OSSRNS”), as the current planning direction 
for the reserve and supersedes the PoM 1991. 

Summarised following are the guiding strategic 
directions for planning and management of 
Wentworth Park as reflected in the OSSRNS 
2016 (refer Figure 8) and this PoM. 

The Wentworth Park PoM 1991 and Master Plan 
established the following guiding principles: 

– Reinforce the heritage of the park 

– Develop consistency of design style and 
detailing throughout the park 

– Provide physical and visual links between all 
parts of the park and to surrounding areas 

– Develop a strong defining edge 

– Make the Park more attractive and useable 

– Ensure that no further public alienation of the 
park occurs 

These remain appropriate to the ongoing 
management of the park with a key evolution 
being that rather than merely avoiding any 
further encroachment – that potential to win back 
lands for open space is pursued. 

As such the recommended strategic directions 
outlined in the OSSRNS 2016 are summarised 
following: 

Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016  

The City of Sydney has long advocated the 
removal of greyhound racing from Wentworth 
Park and creation of a new harbour side park for 
residents, providing much needed passive and 
active recreation facilities.  

Increased population density arising from Bays 
Precinct development makes it imperative that 
all existing available open space is used for 
optimal benefit for the community.  

To enable this project State Government must 
secure the agreement of the greyhound clubs to 
relocate appropriate to a location in western or 
greater Sydney.  

Removal of greyhound racing from Wentworth 
Park will allow reunification of the grounds and 
establishment of new sporting fields and passive 
recreation areas.  

Future Considerations: 

– Transform the park from a fragmented space 
dominated by greyhound racing stadium to a 
major new city and district park with a 
combination of active and passive recreation 
facilities.  

– Upon vacation of greyhound racing, prepare 
a master plan for the whole site that includes 
conservation plans for heritage items on site 
including entry tower, stewards office and 
cold store with a view of adaptation to new 
beneficial uses.  

– Reinforce St Johns Road as a green street 
link from Wentworth Park to Forest Lodge / 
Camperdown.  

– Include environmental performance 
initiatives to contribute to the City of 
Sydney’s environmental targets.  

Past planning directions: 

The strategies developed for the park within the 
Wentworth Park PoM 1991 and Master Plan are 
still relevant and have been included to assist 
with future planning for the park.  

Desired Outcomes 

Drainage and Soils: To improve drainage and 
soil conditions so as to allow full recreational use 
of the park in all but the most adverse weather 
conditions and to promote healthy plant growth. 

Landscape Character: An identifiable character 
and design for the whole park with a clearly 
defined boundary, using components of the 
formal nineteenth century parkland within the 
constraints imposed by the more recent 
developments within the park. 

Heritage and archaeology: To identify, 
maintain and manage items of heritage 
significance and to provide interpretative 
material so as to inform the public of the park’s 
significant history. 

 

1440



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

Recreational Use: To provide a variety of high 
quality recreational experiences, relevant to 
community needs and to avoid one-off 
decisions, over time, diluting the overall 
recreational significance of the park. 

Traffic and noise: To develop safe access to 
the park and to provide areas within the park 
where the influence of traffic noise is reduced, so 
as enhance the experience of being removed 
from the noise and traffic of the inner-city. 

Footpaths and access: – to improve access to 
the park from the residential area of Glebe and 
Ultimo through local area traffic management 

Pedestrian and dedicated cycleways provide 
safe, all-weather pedestrian and cyclist access 
both to and within the Park. 

Develop safe and convenient access to 
Blackwattle Bay 

Lighting and safety: To increase the sense of 
security in the park at night by providing 
appropriate lighting which would also serve to 
highlight heritage items within the park. 

Playgrounds: to provide safe yet exciting 
playground equipment that is relevant to the 
needs of the young people of the area. 

Relationship with adjoining land users: To 
encourage adjacent developments and 
administrative relationships that complement the 
park, particularly in relation to access to the 
foreshore and to adjoining suburbs. 

Figure 8 is the approved strategic plan for 
Wentworth Park provided in the OSSRNS 2016. 

 

 

 

 

1441



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1442



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

1443



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1444



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Wentworth Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Wentworth Park. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Wentworth Park and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City of Sydney. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land.  

Any proposal for the development and use of 
buildings, structures and spaces at Wentworth 

Park will be considered on merit and benefits 
to the community and balanced against 
physical constraints, the amenity of adjoining 
residents and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City of Sydney policies as at the date 
of adoption of this plan are identified in the 
Appendices. The goals and strategies outlined 
in these documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1445



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Wentworth Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Wentworth Park may also 
be prohibited by the applicable land use 
zoning. The City of Sydney may prohibit certain 
activities from time to time. Prohibited uses will 
be communicated via City bookings, lease, and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Wentworth Park 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

Organised sports use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Wentworth Park which may attract high 
numbers of people including organised sport 
activities and training, school sport 

1446



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

competitions, commercial activities and one-off 
community events and performances. 

The allocation of Wentworth Park for organised 
sport and school sport will comply with the City 
of Sydney’s seasonal allocations process. 
Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by-case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Wentworth Park and settings 
(such as playgrounds, fitness stations and park 
seating) will be determined by the community 
use of the site but will be managed to avoid 
undue impacts on park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the parks. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the parks need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 

facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the parks is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the parks. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Wentworth Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

1447



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 
compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category, and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Sections 10-12 
detail the specific authorisations and purposes 
for which tenure may be granted in accordance 
with the individual community land categories for 
Wentworth Park. 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 

1448



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

1449



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, wellbeing 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 
Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.

1450



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Wentworth Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City. 

 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the place 
that resonates with 
Country 

 To implement a 
meaning and description 
that reflects connection 
to place 

Work with the community to establish 
a meaning and description that 
captures the place’s connection to 
Country  

Community consultation 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and cultural 
history 

 To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of 
informative and interpretive elements 
that reflect the spaces historical 
identity and natural character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 A precinct earmarked 
for significant 
activation 

 To enhance visual and 
access connections to 
Blackwattle Bay 

Liaise with State Government 
regarding opportunities to integrate 
park with major precinct 
developments 

Sustained relationship with 
State Government 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to adjoining 
neighbourhoods and to 
district and regional 
users 

 To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and 
safe routes to the park 
from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for 
workplace precincts and adjoining 
residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 

 

 

 

A community 
destination accessible 
from the cycle network 

 To enable park to be 
effectively accessed 
from cycle network and 
encourage cycle use 

Investigate the integration of park 
access to adjoining and potential 
future cycle corridors 

Where required, integrate 
enhancement of cycle facilities into 
park improvements  

Increased local use of park 
by cyclists, measured by 
surveys and observation 

 

2.3 Wayfinding seamlessly 
aids access and use 

 To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage 
for park users and 
cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding 
and signage in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by surveys and 
observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 A place that is clear 
easy and safe to move 
around 

To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation 
routes and path 
networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater 
connectivity in park 

Path and pavements 
managed in accordance with 
Australian Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

 

2.5 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate 
lighting to support 
desired night access, 
recreational and 
leisurely use of open 
space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues and 
address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1451



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

2.6 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and vehicle 
access 

 

 

 To provide a balanced 
approach to parking  

 To provide and manage 
functional maintenance 
and emergency access 
mitigating adverse 
impacts on park and 
uses 

 Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Manage existing off-street parking to 
ensure efficiency and equity 

Ensure that the use of vehicles, when 
permitted in parks are regulated and 
do not affect the normal functioning of 
these spaces for community use 

Ongoing surveillance and 
enforcement of open space areas 

Incorporate educational activities into 
ongoing management 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures 
carried out 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite for 
users and adjacent 
residents 

 To ensure that the park 
provides a range of 
flexible and informal use 
spaces that are 
attractive and 
comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and 
enhances flexible informal use of 
spaces for broad community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 A place for organised 
sports 

 To ensure that 
management of access 
to designated sports use 
areas is clear and 
unambiguous 

Ongoing provision of adequate venue 
management services to facilitate 
bookings of sports fields  

 

Venue bookings 

 

3.3 Play spaces that 
support community 
and family use of par 

 To provide access to 
quality play 
environments that aid 
early childhood 
development and 
provide engaging play 
settings 

Ongoing provision of play 
experiences complimentary to park 
character and capacity 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.4 A place for daily fitness   To support and manage 
a sustainable level of 
fitness activity in the 
park 

Support the role of the park for fitness 
activities in accordance with Council’s 
policy framework 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
fitness activities. Regular 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.5 Spaces and facilities 
support youth use of 
the park 

 To optimise the parks 
role as a hub for local 
youth 

Manage spaces and facilities to 
support youth gathering and activity 

Increased youth participation 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.6 A place that supports 
local schools with 
limited access to open 
green space  

 To support local schools 
in provision of access to 
open space where other 
opportunities are 
unavailable 

Support the role of the park for local 
school use 

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Sustained relationship with 
local schools 

 

3.7 A place for dog 
walking and exercise 

 To provide for effective 
dog exercise in 
accordance with 
Companion Animals Act 

Manage off leash dog access to 
spaces as defined by City’s 
Companion Animals Policy  

Monitor to identify management 
issues and address as required 

Dog access maintained 

Reports of conflicts between 
dogs and other park users 

3.8 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

 To celebrate First 
Nations heritage and 
living culture 

For the pursuit of ‘practising living 
culture’, work with the First Nations 
community to understand the 
processes and procedures required to 
enhance access to spaces and 
facilities 

Review existing policies and 
procedures  

 

3.9 A place for events  To sustainably 
encourage temporary 
event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural 
and community 
outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use that 
is appropriate to scale of spaces and 
in consideration of other park uses 

Develop guidelines for event use of 
Wentworth Park defining: 

- usable area and capacity 

- other specific event management 
and approval requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale 
and intensity 

Development events 
guidelines 

Ongoing review and 
compliance 

1452



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

3.10 A place that is open 
and usable by all 
members of 
community 

That the park is managed 
as part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to 
be in accordance with the City of 
Sydney’s policy on homelessness in 
public spaces, which ‘recognises the 
right of everyone in the community to 
use public spaces’ (Homelessness 
Action Plan 2019) and aims to ensure 
that public space can be accessed 
and enjoyed by everyone, including 
people who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to 
people sleeping rough. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future directions 

3.11 A safe place to visit 
day and night 

 To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and 
pass through, 
appropriate to intended 
(and varied) usage 
times of facilities and 
access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access in 
park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to identify 
and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with Crime 
Prevention through Environmental 
Design principles  

Percentage of people who 
feel safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no 
reported incidents 

Sustained relationship with 
local police 

 

3.12 A place that provides 
access to public 
amenities 

 Maintain access and 
provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park 
users 

Monitor to identify management 
issues for public toilet facilities, 
address as required 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
public toilets. Regular review 
of register to guide future 
directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Northern sports fields 

4.1 

 

A heavily used sports 
turf facility 

 To provide a field 
surface that meets 
community needs and 
compliments park 
character 

Maintain and renew sports fields in 
accordance with park service levels 

Where feasible, investigate the 
inclusion of a synthetic sports field in 
master planning exercise 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Temporary school facilities 

4.2 Temporary school 
structures and facilities  

 Renew park spaces 
currently in utilisation by 
school 

Removal of temporary school 
structures 

Coordinated make good of park area  

Renewed park space 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of lease 

Viaducts 

4.3 Heritage Viaducts are 
a distinct feature of 
northern precinct 

 To conserve and 
maintain heritage 
structure and visual 
relationships 

Coordinate with Railcorp the 
undertaking of maintenance and 
renewal works  

Where feasible, investigate activation 
of Viaducts in master planning 
exercise 

Sustained relationship with 
RailCorp 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Park elements 

4.4 Park elements support 
park use and create an 
attractive character 

 To support recreational 
and leisure use of park 
while avoiding 
proliferation of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture and 
other park elements in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

Underground infrastructure 

4.5 Underground 
infrastructure 

 To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated 
into planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification 
and renewal works that may impact 
spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Maintained relationship with 
authorities 

Limited disruption to 
reserve’s usage 

1453



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient landscaping 
to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, 
grass cover and plantings in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover 
condition 

Measurement and 
monitoring of vegetation 

Compliance with park 
service levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that reflects 
the original natural 
environment 

 To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site conditions 
allow, investigate the planting of 
indigenous species 

Increased indigenous 
plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat 
value of natural and built 
features 

  

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  

Monitor sites for species and 
conservation values 

Monitoring of habitat values 

 

5.4   To enhance ecological 
importance in open 
space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory role 
for proposed works associated with 
open space 

Investigate opportunities to increase 
community understanding and 
participation in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal 
participation in open space 
works 

Increased community 
participation  

5.5 Places that are 
connected to support 
biodiversity 

 Increase biodiverse 
connectivity within the 
site and surrounds 

Increase habitat value for key sites 
and species, as identified in the 
biodiversity corridor 

Implement in accordance with 
Landscape Code and Park Service 
Levels 

Monitoring of habitat values 

Compliance with park 
service levels 

 

Shade and temperature management 

5.6 A place that is cool, 
calm and comfortable 
in summer heat 

 To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy and 
to selectively extend to 
create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.7 Established plantings 
which contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively maintain 
and manage the existing 
tree resources at 
optimum health for their 
safe and practical 
lifespans 

 To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management 
including pruning and/or removal of 
trees and replacement planting in 
accordance with park service levels 
and City guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance with 
tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park 
service levels and City 
guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree 
management plan 

Water management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive urban 
design 

 To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  

  

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

Improved water quality 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

1454



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Energy management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable energy 
management 

 To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.10 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management practices 

 A place that maximises 
the diversion of waste 
away from landfill 

Ongoing implementation and support 
of best practice waste management 
activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

   

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
strengthens First 
Nations People and 
living culture 

 To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the 
local area 

Consult with the First Nations People 
on how to interpret and integrate 
cultural heritage values in ongoing 
planning of improvements  

Consultation completed 

Implementation of processes 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

 To appropriately 
manage and conserve 
elements of heritage 
significance 

 To guide management 
and design decision 
making to achieve 
optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that connects 
the community to the 
city’s past and present 

 To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of 
natural and cultural 
values represented on 
the site and add to the 
experience and use of 
the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.2 

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.4 A place that provides a 
canvas for arts and 
culture 

 To facilitate public art in 
temporary and 
permanent forms that 
compliments the park 
setting and adds to the 
range of experiences 
provided 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in reserves 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place that 
recognises and 
addresses its future 
urban context 

 To provide a 
coordinated and 
integrated direction to 
guide ongoing 
improvement of the park 

Develop a master plan for Wentworth 
Park to address: 

- adjoining developments and 
influences 

- identified pressures and 
opportunities to reflect evolving 
and growing role of the park 

Adopted master plan 

7.2   To promote and 
facilitate a more 
consolidated and 
integrated 

Investigate, monitor and explore 
opportunities to integrate the 
Wentworth Park Greyhound track 
area into a consolidated park 

Maintained relationship with 
Crown Lands 

7.3 A place which is clean, 
well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

 To provide well-
maintained open space 

Maintenance programs carried out in 
accordance with City of Sydney Parks 
Maintenance Technical Specifications 

 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

1455



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Ref Values / Roles   Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.4 Facilities that continue 
to service and meet 
the community's needs 

 To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 

Regular visitation and 
condition assessments 
Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

7.5 Appropriate leases and 
licences 

 To ensure that tenure 
and permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural and 
social activities 

All future leases and licences to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native 
Title Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 

  

1456



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Wentworth Park 
categorised as Park subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Community gardening 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1457



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Passive and active recreational activities 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Wentworth Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

1458



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Management and operation of community garden 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of community garden 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Hiring of equipment 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

1459



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of park) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 
 
  

1460



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Figure 11. Permissible uses and developments – Sportsground 
Category 
Table 11 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Wentworth Park 
categorised as Sportsground subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 
consistent with a recreational area or outdoor 
facility, for example but not limited to: 

o Oval (cricket, football, rugby, soccer, 
Australian rules, track and field athletics, 
hockey, baseball, softball) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of 
opening and closing ceremonies, cheer 
squads) 

– Broadcasting of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social 
uses (e.g. events, gatherings and public 
meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational 
facilities  

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the recreational area or outdoor 
facility (e.g. seating, shelters, shade structures, 
drinking fountains) 

– Development for the purposes of conducting and 
facilitating organised sport (both amateur and 
professional) 

– Development for the purposes of improving 
access including disability access and facilities, 
amenity and the visual character of the 
recreational area or outdoor facility (e.g. 
landscaping, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development of outdoor recreational facilities that 
support the permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
sports fields, skateparks, courts, goal posts, sight 
screens and fencing) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

11. Sportsground 
category - 
authorisations 

1461



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities 
(including fixtures and events) 

– Seating embankment for spectators along 
edge of playing field 

– Shade structures, storage ancillary to 
recreational uses, community events or 
gatherings, and public meetings 

– Shelters, seating and drinking fountains 
associated with path around perimeter of 
playing fields 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the 
promotion or enhancement of sporting groups, 
fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for 
juniors, gala days, club meetings) 

– Venue hire 

panels, water storage vessels, irrigation and 
water reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Promotion of organised and unstructured 
recreation activities 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 

Figure 12. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Sportsground Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 12 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Sportsground.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term 
casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Wentworth Park in 
accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

1462



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Licence Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Management and operation of recreational area or outdoor facility 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active recreational and sporting activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purpose (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Ancillary ceremonies (e.g. rehearsal of opening and closing ceremonies, 
cheer squads, etc.) 

– Broadcasting or filming of sporting fixtures 

– Casual or informal recreation 

– Community, cultural, educational and social uses (e.g. events, gatherings 
and public meetings) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage  

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Uses reasonably associated with the promotion or enhancement of sporting 
groups, fixtures and events (e.g. “guest” events for juniors, gala days, club 
meetings) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 

1463



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Figure 13. Permissible uses and developments – General 
Community Use Category 
Figure 13 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Wentworth Park 
categorised as General Community Use subject to City assessment, approvals and booking/hire 
systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, 
concert, or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Commercial uses ancillary to community and 
indoor recreational facilities (e.g. sale or hire of 
recreational equipment, sports tuition, health-
related services) 

– Community gardening 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session and filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Amenities that facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the facility (e.g. kitchens and 
toilets) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

o Provision of ancillary areas to facilitate use 
and enjoyment by the community (e.g. 
storage, waste rooms and change 
rooms/showers) 

12. General Community 
Use category - 
authorisations 

1464



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Information and education facilities (e.g. 
school) 

– Management and operation of community and 
recreational facilities 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community 
gatherings) 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of 
community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue for hire 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 
panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
irrigation and reticulation systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

Figure 14. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – General Community Use Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 14 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as General Community Use.  Licences and statutory approvals for 
short-term casual use or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Wentworth 
Park in accordance with Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

1465



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include but are not limited to: 

 Information and education facilities (e.g. school) 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Active and passive recreational activities 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert, or public speech 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session and filming (as defined in 
the Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets  

– Organised and unstructured sporting activities (including fixtures and 
events) 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playgroups 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Seasonal, one-off, and irregular sporting competitions and training  

– Signage 

– Social events (e.g. weddings and community gatherings) 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

1466



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Storage hire (e.g. ancillary to use of community or recreational facility) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 

 
 
 

 

  

1467



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Glossary of terms 
 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

  

13. Appendices 

1468



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

References 
 

– Wentworth Park Draft Plan of Management 
and Master Plan 1991 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

  

 

  

1469



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1470



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, taking into account existing 
amenities nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1471



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1472



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1473



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1474



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 
respected as such. 
 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1475



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

 

1476



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focussed on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management.  While 
strategies are higher level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

   

1477



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

   

1478



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1479



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1480



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

79 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1481



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

80 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

10. Substantially increase the number of 
existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1482



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

81 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 
attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Priorities 

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the actions of the Cycle 

1483



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

82 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

4. Leadership and advocacy Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1484



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

83 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1485



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

84 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1486



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

85 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1487



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

86 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Perry Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1488



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

87 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1489



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

88 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

 

  

1490



Wentworth Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

89 

 

 

 

 

 

1491



Attachment S 

Wynyard Park 

 

 

 

1492



 

Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

Document Type 
March 2021  
 

1493



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

2 

Contents 
Reconciliation Statement 4 

Part A Management Framework 5 

1. Introduction 6 

2. Land description 14 

3. Legislative context 23 

4. Strategic context 26 

5. Community guiding principles 29 

6. Basis for Management 31 

7. Review of the plan 38 

Part B Management of community 
land categories 39 

8. General requirements 40 

9. Management targets and 
strategies 46 

10. Park category - authorisations 51 

11. Appendices 55 

 

  

1494



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

3 

Table of figures 

Figure 1. PoM process 7 

Figure 2. Summary land information 14 

Figure 3. Site Plan 15 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements 21 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 22 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 34 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map 35 

Figure 8. Master Plan 37 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park 
Category 51 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-
term uses and other estates – Park Category 52 

 

 

1495



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

4 

Our vision for reconciliation is a 
Sydney that values the living 
cultures of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, 
embraces the truthful reflection 
of the history and experiences 
of First Nations peoples, and is 
dedicated to equity, 
opportunity and respect for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities. 
 
In taking action, the City strives 
to reflect the needs and 
aspirations of Sydney’s First 
Nations communities and 
recognise their impact and 
contribution. The City will listen 
to and elevate the voices of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples. 
 
Source:   
City of Sydney Stretch Reconciliation Plan 
November 2020 – November 2023 
  

Reconciliation 
Statement 

1496



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

  

Part A 
Management 
Framework 

1497



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

6 

What is a PoM 
A Plan of Management (“PoM”) is a document 
which provides a clear set of guidelines for the 
short and long-term management of a parcel of 
community land owned by Council or Crown 
Land under Council’s care, control and 
management.   

A PoM outlines how a park, facility or civic space 
will be used, improved and managed in the 
future. It identifies Council’s goals and objectives 
for the land, and establishes the overall direction 
for its planning, resource management and 
maintenance. 

 

Need for the PoM 
The Crown Land Management Act 2016 (“CLM 
Act”) commenced on 1 July 2018, introducing a 
consolidated, modern piece of legislation to 
govern the management of Crown Land in New 
South Wales, further implementing reforms 
identified through the comprehensive review of 
Crown land management. 

The CLM Act introduces significant changes to 
the management of Crown land by councils. 
Specifically, councils are now required to 
manage dedicated or reserved Crown land as if 
it were public land under the Local Government 
Act 1993 (“LG Act”). These requirements are 
outlined in Division 3.4, Crown Land managed by 
Councils. 

Wynyard Park (Crown Reserve 500505 - Lots 
7301-7302 DP 1164920) is classified as 
“community land” under the LG Act and 
managed accordingly.  

This means that Council is required to have a 
PoM in place for the associated land. Further, 
the changes to the CLM Act also require that a 
council Crown land manager must ensure that 
the first PoM applicable to the land is adopted 
as soon as practicable. 

 

Purpose of the PoM 
Under section 36 of the Local Government Act 
1993, a PoM must: 

– categorise the land in accordance with the 
legislation 

– contain objectives and performance targets 
for the management of the land 

– specify the means by which Council 
proposes to achieve the objectives and 
performance targets 

– Specify how achievement of the objectives 
and performance targets are to be assessed. 

Under section 37 of the Local Government Act 
1993, the PoM must also: 

– describe the condition of the land, any 
buildings or other improvements on the land 
as at the adoption of the plan 

– describe the use of the land 

– State the purposes for which the land will be 
used.  

If there is any further development proposed of 
the community land other than that authorised by 
this PoM, or a change in the categorisation of an 
area is proposed, amendment and re-exhibition 
of the PoM is required. 

This PoM has been prepared in accordance with 
and seeks adoption under the LG Act and CLM 
Act. 

Process for preparing the PoM 
Figure 1 on the following page illustrates the 
process for preparing the PoM that has been 
undertaken by the City of Sydney. 

The process has integrated extensive 
consultation with the general community, First 
Nations stakeholders and other authority 
stakeholders. 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1498



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

7 

Figure 1. PoM process 
 

 

Consultation 

Purpose of the consultation program 

The purpose of the community engagement was 
to understand the community’s vision for Crown 
land spaces, how the community use the land 
now and how they would like to use the land in 
the future.  

An important aspect of the engagement program 
was to recognise the important relationship that 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples 
have to these spaces, strengthen the 
relationship with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities and use the PoMs as an 
opportunity to further recognise and foster 
Aboriginal people’s custodianship, living culture 
and connection to these places. 

 

 

 

 

The opportunity to participate in the engagement 
program was communicated to the community 
via: 

– a letter to all residents from the City of 
Sydney 

– Sydney Your Say web page 

– notification signs in parks 

– decals with QR code on footpaths in parks, 
reserves and civic spaces 

– E-newsletter sent to targeted stakeholder 
list. 

  

Review and Investigation

Basis for Management
- Legislative context
- Strategic Context
- First nations guiding 

principles
- Values and roles
- Influ

e
nces  on management

Draft Plan of Management
- Management Targets
- Management Strategies / 

Actions 
- Authorisations 
 -  use 
 - development
 -  leases and licenses

Stage 1 - 
Research and review of past 

consultation

Consultation Plan development

               Stage 2 - 
Stakeholder Consultation
-City wide survey
-Discussion Guides
Internal Staff Workshops
-On site pop-ups
-Intercept Surveys
Interviews
-First Nations Liaison

PUBLIC EXHIBITION

Final Plan of Management

1499



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

8 

The Engagement program 

The engagement program consisted of an online 
survey, intercept surveys and pop-ups at some 
of the Crown land spaces, a conversation guide 
and community and staff workshops.  

The surveys and pop-up boards sought to gather 
statistical data around community values and 
uses of Crown lands, and the workshops 
provided an opportunity for more in depth 
discussions around Crown lands within different 
locations across the city and specifically with the 
First Nations community.  

Children’s activity kits were also sent to schools 
in the area and provided an opportunity for 
children in years 3-6 to participate. 

Detailed findings of the engagement program 
are outlined in the separate Crown Reserves 
Plan of Management Engagement Report 
February 2021. 

What we heard – community engagement 

The community engagement report noted the 
following highlights: 

– Strong support for the recognition and 
practice of First Nations people’s 
continuous connection to Country and 
important role as caretakers and 
knowledge holders of these spaces 

– Public open spaces are important for 
mental health, wellbeing and provide a 
place of refuge and sanctuary for all 

– Open, green and natural public spaces in 
the city are highly valued and should 
accommodate the needs of the growing 
population 

– Accessible, safe and inclusive open 
spaces are important for everyone to 
enjoy 

– Diverse and unique open spaces that 
manage our shared spaces fairly 

– Open spaces that support wildlife and 
biodiversity 

– Preserving our open spaces and 
safeguarding their history for the future 

– Improving amenities in our open spaces 
to increase accessibility and support 
community use 

  

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
specific

 

plans of 
management 

Engagement 
tools to 
inform 
general 
plans of 
management 

City-wide survey: seek to understand 
community values and visions for their 
open spaces (informs both generic and 
specific

 
Pl ans of  Ma nageme nt )

City-wide survey: opportunity to comment 
on general issues in addition to specific
parks according to preference.

On-site pop-ups/intercept surveys: pop-
ups/intercept surveys in the specific

 

par ks 
at specific

 
time s to capt ur e a wi de var iet y 

of feedback. 

Interviews with key stakeholders: We 
will conduct interviews with key external 
stakeholders.

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Work in partnership with local First 
Nations leaders and groups:  liaison 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
stakeholders. 

Discussion guides: guided opportunity 
for regular user groups (e.g schools, 
sporting clubs) to map values, and places 
of signific

a
nce.

Internal staff workshop: internal City 
of Sydney staff workshop 

1500



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

9 

What we heard – First Nations engagement 

A series of general principles for the integration 
of First Nations input into management of Crown 
Lands in the City of Sydney were identified 
during the conversations.  These included: 

• Access to land as a human right of 
Indigenous peoples (UN Convention on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples)  

• Recognition and respect for sacred sites 
and places 

• Truth telling  

• Talking about Country helps bring the 
community together  

• The environment as living culture  

• Importance of waterways and wetlands- 
rivers tell stories  

• Creating opportunities for Aboriginal 
economic benefit  

• First Nations design principles that 
recognise:  

– local cultural knowledge  

– sustainability and resilience 

Putting the principles into action – potential 
ways that these principles can be followed 
through by Council and others were also 
discussed: 

The environment as living culture 

Imagine having a space like this in Sydney that 
is real and permanent, not just digital (in 
response to Brett Leavy’s animation 

– Respecting ancestral sites  

– Connecting places by Songlines (these 
include many main roads in Sydney) 

– Returning country to how it was (pre-
invasion) 

– A holistic approach: not just land but also 
water, sky, seasons, cultural calendar, plants 
and animals 

– Implement ‘Caring for Country’ principles 
(including maintenance, planting, holistic 
understanding of Country, etc.)  

– Important to return the knowledge of 
waterways and wetlands. Rivers tell stories 
and are an historical link that have been 
covered up over time 

– Commitment to healing Country 

– Designing with Country – a number of 
participants referred to the work of the State 
Government Architect 

Language and naming 

The use of language needs to go beyond naming 

– Dual naming in local language based on a 
geographical feature 

– Incorporating Gadigal language into 
descriptions will help the community better 
understand the meaning of these places 

– Recognising that the first language of this 
place is the authentic language 

– Removal of colonial names of parks 

Decolonising spaces and truth-telling 

We need a different way of looking at 
‘monuments’ – as significant, empowering, 
culturally correct markers of the truth 

– Trees of significance as monuments 

– Sites of significance as monuments 

– Take leadership on dealing with colonial 
artefacts 

– Gadigal artists creating new markers of truth 

Visibility 

 We are here - this land was never ceded 

– The need to make this more visible in Sydney 

– Participants referenced how New Zealand is 
Indigenous culture, practices and 
perspectives visible to international visitors 

– The potential to push digital notifications 
when walking on different bits of land (i.e. a 
notification to acknowledge/welcome to 
country, when you are close to a sacred site 
or a burial ground, etc.) 

– Permanent acknowledgement in each space 
that enlivens and engages - not just 
commemorative 

Significance of Sydney as the site of invasion 
and first contact 

Make these important places recognisable to 
Aboriginal people 

– Sydney as the first frontier means it is a 
critical place for truth-telling and healing 
trauma  

1501



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

10 

– Recognise the cultural disruption and 
diaspora in Sydney 

– Burial grounds and should be part of truth-
telling 

– Recognise places of protest 

Practicing and sharing culture and 
supporting community 

– Returning cultural fishing (e.g. 
Woolloomooloo & Pyrmont) 

– Dedicated spaces to practice culture and 
interact with the community  

– Dedicated ceremonial spaces practical for 
events  

– Maker-spaces (places for creating) that are 
culturally correct  

– Locations to busk, make things, be social 
and demonstrate culture 

– Importance of community festivals – Yabun 
at Victoria Park 

Economic and cultural ownership and 
management 

– Importance of cultural ownership and 
intellectual property rights 

– Ongoing employment and business 
opportunities at all levels 

– Making, markets, food, trading, learning, etc. 
should be able to be practiced somewhere 
permanently (not a one-off event) 

– There are effective working examples of 
shared arrangements with State 
Government (DPIE) who work with 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land Council 
on protecting and managing places 

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council sought that the City of Sydney 
provides Crown Land or City-owned sites to 

MLALC for local Aboriginal community needs 
of culture, health wellbeing, housing and 
business.  

– The Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council asked that the City of Sydney 
support addressing the issue of 
underpayment of NSW Aboriginal Land 
Rights fund of $500 Million in perpetuity for 
all Freehold, Leasehold, Pastoral, National 
Parks, State Forests, Reserves and Parks as 
well as mineral and water 

Advocacy/leadership/influence 

– Encourage the City of Sydney to take on the 
hard issues and use position to influence 
other organisations including other councils 
and government departments 

– Work with other authorities who have 
ownership over Crown Land parcels 

– Advocate and work at local, state and federal 
levels 

Barriers 

Several existing barriers to First Nations 
people’s cultural and spiritual use of Crown land 
were raised that the community want to see 
resolved. These include: 

– red-tape constraints to the economic use of 
spaces 

– Barriers to the practice of living culture. 

It is proposed that the City of Sydney continue to 
engage with the First Nations community to 
explore avenues to pursue the above principles 
and actions. 

Section 5 of this plan details a series of 
“Community Guiding Principles”.  It is proposed 
that ongoing management of Crown and 
community land pursue these principles. 
  

1502



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

11 

Specific feedback related to Wynyard Park 

The engagement report identifies the following outcomes specifically related to the subject site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1503



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1504



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1505



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

14 

Past planning and 
management 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Wynyard Park through past 
master planning (1996) and plans of 
management (Adopted PoM 1997, Draft PoM 
1993).  

Location and description  
Wynyard Park is located within the Sydney 
Central Business District above Wynyard  

 

 

Station. It is bounded by York, Carrington, 
Margaret and Wynyard Streets. Surrounded by 
high-rise buildings, it is one of the most 
intensively used parks in Sydney. 

The park is 0.7 hectares in area overall of which 
a small section has been excised by the State 
Rail Authority.  

Refer to Figure 3 Site Plan. 

The table below summarises key land 
information for the subject site: 

 

Figure 2. Summary land information

item description 

Site Name Wynyard Park 

Address 2A York Street, Sydney 

Ownership Crown (The State of New South Wales) 

Crown Reserve No., purpose 
and gazetted date  

500505 Dedication, Public Recreation, 1/7/1887 

Zoning RE1 

Refer to LEP for allowable uses 

Area (Crown Reserves) 3699.06 m2 

Lot & DP  

Crown Reserves Lots 7301-7302 DP 1164920, unidentified Crown land 

Miscellaneous land Stratum land, not at ground level within DP 869573 remains 
part of Wynyard Park 

Restrictions / easements Parts of Wynyard Park are affected by stratum subdivision 
above and below ground level 

Community land 
categorisation 

Existing 

Park 

 

Condition of land  refer to Figure 4 for Condition Summary 

 

2. Land description 

1506



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

15 

Figure 3. Site Plan
 

  

7302/ DP 
1164920

7301/ DP 
1164920

1/ DP 
596634

8/ DP 
853331

1/ DP 
909451

25/ DP 
869573

26/ DP 
869573

21

22 20
15

18

27

14

9

8

19

23

24

13

11

12

5

64

3

2

1

2/ DP 
909451

6/ DP 
853331

6/ DP 
853331

6/ DP 
853331

6

6/ DP 
853331

WYNYARD
STATION
ENTRIES

Y
ork S

tree
t

S
tre

et

C
a
rr

in
g
to

n
 S

tr
e
et

Margaret Street

G
e
o
rg

e 
S

tr
e
et

Wynyard Street

W
yn

ya
rd

 L
a
ne

LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary
N

1507



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

16 

Heritage and culture 
Overview  

The following overview has been adapted from 
the Development Control Plan Character 
statement for Wynyard Park / Lang Park Special 
Character Areas: 

Situated on the traditional lands of the Gadigal 
people, Wynyard Park is an important public 
open space within the City of Sydney. The site is 
one of Australia’s oldest parks to be continuously 
set aside as open space for public use in an 
urban context.  

The site was formerly used as a military barracks 
and military parade ground from 1792 to 1848.  It 
was known as Wynyard Square from 1848-1887 
and was officially dedicated as a park and open 
space for public recreation in 1887. 

The space’s association with public transport 
began in the 1880s when a bus terminus was 
established adjoining and later Wynyard Station 
was constructed opening in 1932. 

More recently, in 1996 significant interventions 
related to transport have occurred in Wynyard 
Park with the new pedestrian entrance structure 
to Wynyard Station constructed in the centre of 
the park.   

In 1998 a restoration program began including 
conservation of the John Dunmore Lang Statue 
and the ornate underground men’s lavatory. This 
program set out to reinstate the character of a 
‘well-proportioned urban square’ reflective of its 
original Victoria era layout. It was during the 
Victorian period that the park attained its peak in 
character and style and as such this has been 
used as the reference period for refurbishment 
works undertaken. 

The park plantings are reflective of the various 
periods of its development, and are a key shaper 
of its current day its Victorian character 

The park continues to sustain an important role 
in the CBD as an open square for public 
meetings, activism, entertainment, and informal 
recreation reflecting its dedication as a public 
park in 1887. 

Heritage Context 

Listed heritage item: 

– Sydney LEP # I1971— ‘Wynyard Park’ 

The park is also located in the vicinity of multiple 
SHR and SLEP2012 items including: 

– Former ‘Shell House’ including interiors (2-
12 Carrington Street)—SLEP # I1691 

– Bank of NSW former head office including 
interiors (341 George Street)—SLEP # I1769 

– Regimental Square (339A George Street)—
SLEP # I1768 

– Former warehouse ‘John Frazer and Co’ 
including interiors (63 York Street)—SLEP # 
I1984 

– Scots Church including interior (42-44 
Margaret Street and 2 York Street)—SLEP # 
I188 

– Former ‘Lisgar House’ including interiors (30-
32 Carrington Street)—SLEP # I1692  

– Former Railway House (part of Transport 
House) including interiors (11-31 York 
Street)—SHR # 01271 and SLEP # I1975 

– Occidental Hotel including interior (43 York 
Street)—SLEP # I1980 

– Former “AWA’ Building including interiors 
and tower (46-48 York Street)—SHR # 
00665 and SLEP # I1981 

– Former Bank of Australasia including 
interiors (354-160 George Street)—SLEP # 
I1772 

History  

The original inhabitants of the Sydney area are 
the Gadigal people. The territory of the Gadigal 
people stretched along the southern side of Port 
Jackson (Sydney Harbour) from South Head to 
around what is now known as Petersham. Their 
southern boundary is the area that now forms 
the Alexandra canal and Cooks River. 

There are about 30 clan groups of the Sydney 
metropolitan area referred to collectively as the 
Eora Nation. The ‘Eora people’ was the name 
given to the coastal Aboriginal peoples around 
Sydney. The Gadigal are one of the clans of the 
Eora Nation. 

Following the arrival of the First Fleet in 1788, 
the British encountered First Nations people 
around the coves and bays of Port Jackson.  

Many places around the harbour remained 
important hunting, fishing and camping grounds 
long after settlement, and continue to be 
culturally significant today. 

1508



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

17 

Despite the impacts of first contact, Gadigal 
people and their ways of life and culture 
survived. As the town of Sydney developed into 
a city, the Gadigal were joined by other 
Aboriginal people from around NSW to live, work 
and forge relationships with the urban Aboriginal 
community. Sydney’s inner suburbs have long 
been home to Aboriginal peoples seeking 
employment, housing and connections with 
community and family.  

During archaeological excavations associated 
with the construction of the nearby Wynyard 
Walk pedestrian link in mid-2014, a small 
Aboriginal campsite was located (to the west of 
Wynyard Park). The campsite consisted of 
several Aboriginal stone artefacts located in 
natural soil underneath layers of European 
occupation. The Wynyard Walk campsite was 
located on the ridge between Cockle Bay 
(Darling Harbour) and Sydney Cove (Circular 
Quay). (source: Sydney Barani) 

Military barracks were erected between 1792 
and 1818 on the eastern, southern and western 
sides of the site, leaving a large open square in 
the centre. This became known as Barracks 
Square or the Parade Ground. It was from here 
that the New South Wales Corps marched to 
arrest Governor Bligh in 1808, an event later 
known as the Rum Rebellion. 

Following the completion of the new Victoria 
Barracks in Paddington in 1848, the former 
military barracks land was subdivided, and 
private dwellings and shops erected in this 
locality. Provision was made for a square to 
remain on the higher part of the former Barrack 
Square. It was named Wynyard Square after 
General Edward Buckley Wynyard, 
commander of British forces in Australia from 
1848 to 1853.  

The square was dedicated as a recreation 
ground in 1875 and fenced and landscaped. 
Like similar squares in England its use was 
confined to residents who held keys to the gates. 
By 1907 the American trend of removing fences 
around parks had been copied here.  In design 
terms the park is Victorian in style and is 
associated with the work of Colonial Architect, 
Mortimer Lewis, and Charles Moore, a former 
Director of the Sydney Botanic Gardens.  

In the 1880s a bus terminus was established for 
passengers from the southern suburbs, 
beginning the area’s long association with public 

transport. The building of a railway station here 
was first suggested in 1881 but it was 1932 
before Wynyard Station opened. 

The square was dedicated as a public park in 
1887 and the following year a bandstand was 
erected in the centre of the park.  

In 1893 Canary Island palm trees were 
planted and a memorial statue to John 
Dunmore Lang was erected and sculpted by 
Giovanni Fontana. The park was almost 
completely dug up in 1925 to build the city 
circle rail line, with reconstruction beginning 
in 1933. From this time the train station created 
a demand for bus parking which came to 
dominate the streets surrounding the park. 

Major changes to Wynyard Park occurred in 
1996 when the new entrance to Wynyard 
Station was built in the centre of the park, and 
in 1998 when a new restoration program began 
including conservation of the statue and 
men’s lavatory. 

The former ornate underground men’s 
lavatory with a domed glass roof was built in 
1912 and is similar to others at Hyde Park, 
Taylor Square and Macquarie Place. It has been 
de-commissioned and is filled with sand. This 
material will allow for removal and re-use in the 
future. 

 

1509



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

18 

Statement of Significance 

The following statement of significance has been 
summarised from the NSW SHI database entry 
for ‘Wynyard Park including Parkland, Mature 
Trees, Remnant Fences, underground…’: 

Wynyard Park is of historic, cultural and aesthetic 
significance at a state level, and historically at a 
national level. Wynyard Park has a history of 
consistent use as open space from the first 
development as a military parade ground in 1792 to 
its present urban public recreation use. It is significant 
for its earlier dedication in 1887 as an open space 
square for public recreation, a role which it has 
maintained to the present day. This late Victorian 
period related to its peak period from 1880-1910. The 
park contains important planting's and monuments 
reflective of its periods of development.  

The area has become a major townscape element by 
virtue of the exceptional quality and the uniformity of 
the buildings that define the surrounding streets. The 
street edges facing the park are of aesthetic 
significance for their strong sense of urban enclosure 
created by the uniformity of buildings lining the 
streets, resulting in the effect of an ‘urban room’. The 
majority of these buildings are of a consistent height 
and street alignment and exhibit similar architectural 
themes. The surrounding predominant development 
is characterised by facades of strong visual depth, a 
high degree of architectural modelling and 
articulation, and changes in architectural treatment 
with height and level. 

The following statement of significance has been 
summarised from the NSW SHI database entry 
for ‘Archaeological Item-Wynyard Park’: 

Wynyard Park is the site of the first military barracks 
in Australia, the present park having its location, form 
and dimensions from the space of the original parade 
ground that the barracks occupied. The site is one 
Australia’s oldest parks to be continuously set aside 
as open space for public use in an urban context. The 
park has maintained its role as an open square for 
public meetings, political protests, entertainment, 
assembly and passive recreation since its dedication 
as a public park in 1887. The park is held in high 
esteem by visitors, workers, and commuters to the 
city as a place of public assembly, passive recreation 
and a transport interchange and as a green corridor 
space within the built fabric of the city. Wynyard park 
is a landmark place an contributes significantly to the 
ambience within the city. The park remains one of the 
most recognisable and well known of Sydney’s open 
spaces and is highlighted as a city attraction. Its 

inclusion on several registers underscores its 
widespread acceptance as an important heritage item 
and public amenity. 

Key Features 

Wynyard Park, although historically one of the 
earlier parks to be reserved for public recreation, 
has undergone several major phases of 
redevelopment and construction, particularly 
with the construction of the trainline to Wynyard 
station in the 1920s.  

Subsequently, almost all of the park was 
removed or significantly altered in the 1920s and 
rebuilt in the 1930s following the completion of 
the station. Overtime the Victorian layout of the 
park has been progressively changed with the 
existing layout, including paths, entrance to the 
station and furniture been added over time. 

What remains from the 1930s recreation of the 
park include: 

– Edwardian Underground conveniences 
(former) 

– Sandstone retaining walls 

– John Dunmore Lad Statue 

Also significant of the park is the open space and 
grass lawns, which provide a green space in the 
urban corridors surrounding the park. While their 
layout within the park is not original, the concept 
of the opens space and recreation ground 
remains significant. 

Several trees within the park are also listed on 
the City of Sydney Significant Tree register, 
including: 

– 2 Hoop Pine 
– 1 Port Jackson Fig (f. glabrescens) 
– 2 Crows Ash 
– 1 Holm Oak 
– 2 American Cotton Palm 
– 1 Pin Oak 
– 1 English Oak 
–  1 White Oak 
– 1 American Bull Bay Magnolia 
– 2 Hills Weeping Fig 

 

 

1510



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

19 

Environment and landscape 

Pre-Existing Natural Characteristics 

Wynyard is situated on a ridge between Cockle 
Bay (Darling Harbour) and Sydney 
Cove/Circular Quay. The ridgeline would have 
formed part of the Tank Stream valley. The Tank 
Stream now runs underneath the city in a 
drain/tunnel, along one end of Martin Place, near 
George Street to the east of Wynyard Park. 

Existing Physical Characteristics 

The following characteristics of the park are 
summarised from the adopted PoM 1997 and 
supplemented with the present status of the 
park: 

Topography – The original levels of the park 
were significantly altered by the excavations for 
the railway station and subsequent backfill. As a 
result, the surface level is 1-2 metres above the 
original. 

The 1870’s perimeter sandstone walls which 
served to enclose the park have now become 
retaining walls. In addition, an extra 300mm or 
so of rockwork has been added to the ground 
surface adjacent to the top of the walls with soil 
behind mounded further. 

Drainage – The high point of the site is situated 
at the corner of Margaret and York Streets. The 
cross-fall from York to Carrington Streets is 
significant, varying from 1:12 near the Margaret 
Street end to 1:10 at the Wynyard Street end. 
This crossfall has been reduced by the infill 
behind the old sandstone retaining wall along the 
Carrington Street boundary, moderating the 
slope to 1:14 at the Margaret Street end to 1:12 
at the Wynyard Street end.  

Soils – Most of the natural soil was replaced by 
fill in 1933 after the railway excavations were 
completed. The increased soil depth has 
permitted large and ornamental trees to succeed 
than would otherwise have been possible. 

Microclimate 
Overshadowing – Overshadowing at the 
northern end of the park is substantial. The 
maximum degree of overshadowing that occurs 
in mid-winter (June 21) is between 12 noon and 
2pm (the lunchtime period of highest 
recreational use). 

The presence of tall, evergreen trees also 
increases overshadowing in some areas of the 

park, with subsequent limitation of lawn, shrub, 
groundcover growth. This problem is less acute 
around deciduous species from May-
September. 

Aspect – On a north-south axis and enclosed by 
tall buildings the park received less direct 
sunlight than east-west axis would provide. The 
park area is still substantial enough for all 
corners of the park to receive adequate light. 
Early morning and late afternoon glare are 
screened by surrounding buildings, however 
some glazing on adjacent buildings does reflect 
impacting the park. 

Wind – The surrounding buildings screen or 
reduce the impacts of wind in the park. The 
north-south axis of York Street does channel 
northerly winds from the harbour into the area, 
but these are rarely strong enough to create 
discomfort. 

Noise – The common impression for users is 
that the general noise level of the area is 
relatively high.  This is mostly generated by 
vehicle traffic along York Street. Bus movements 
along York and Carrington Streets are frequent 
and also generate significant noise, particularly 
at peak hours. Seating in the park faces inwards 
and is set back from the boundary perimeter 
planting.  While not blocking noise there is some 
physical separation from the noise source 
provided. 

Landscape Character – Wynyard Park is a 
linear open space enclosed on all sides by 10-14 
storey buildings to form a distinctive urban 
square. Tall mature trees and some shrubbery 
around the perimeter reinforce, but also soften 
the strong sense of enclosure. The planting also 
assists in the creation of a human scale 
ameliorating the height of the built form relative 
to that of park users.  
 
Visual Analysis – the 1996 concept master plan 
referenced the park’s Victorian period (1890-
1910) for the development of the concept and 
reinstatement of the character of a ‘well-
proportioned urban square’.  

It was during this period that the park attained its 
peak in character and style.  

Works since the 1993/1997 PoMs and 1996 
Master Plan have rationalised the lawn spaces 
to reduce clutter, improve circulation and 
reintegrate three distinct spaces into one visual 
space. Sightlines or vistas along the Park and 
through to the streetscape outside have been 

1511



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

20 

improved. The works aimed to reinstate the key 
characteristics of the park from the Victorian 
period as set out in the PoM 1997. 
 
Park Character and Elements 

Park Planting 

The park has a very mixed and eclectic planting 
palette. Trees and mass planting beds are 
positioned along the boundaries leaving the 
central grass areas open. The original tree 
plantings were strongly influenced by the advice 
of Charles Moore, then Director of the Botanic 
Gardens.  

The late nineteenth century planting structure 
has been compromised by successive phases of 
development and major upgrades to Wynyard 
Station.  

The planting today along the York Street 
boundary mostly comprises Plane trees with a 
mass planting bed of low shrubs and 
groundcovers beneath. The Planes allow winter 
sun through to the space.  

The Carrington Street boundary contains a 
greater mix of species, Plane trees intermingled 
with Robinia, Ficus, Gleditisa, Magnolia and 
Erythrina.  

The Wynyard Street frontage is characterised by 
two mature cabbage tree palms either side of the 
adapted men’s toilet entry steps and understorey 
planting highlighted with Strelitzias 

Understorey planting is mix of species and has 
been improved to allow views in and out to the 
park. The species include Clivea, 
Philodendrons, native grasses and Gymea. The 
northern end of the park is characterised by 
mixed plantings of palms, large philodendrons 
and cordylines highlight the corner of 
York/Margaret Streets. 

Built Elements 

The dwarf sandstone wall along Carrington 
Street and Margaret Streets, the circular 
Edwardian-period male toilet are the only 
elements retained and that survived the 
excavation for the railway in 1925-29. Park 
upgrades since 1997 have improved and unified 
park pavement and path elements, kerbing, 
street furniture - seats, bins and lighting 
elements. 
 
 
 

Urban Planning and development context 

Overshadowing 

Past studies to understand the impacts of 
overshadowing within the city open spaces have 
been undertaken for Wynyard Park. These 
indicated existing overshadowing between 12-
2pm on the winter solstice, the time when 
overshadowing is at its maximum. Subsequent 
city DCP’s (1996) included ‘Special Area 
Setbacks’ for street frontage heights which 
included reference to Wynyard Park.  

The current Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 (“LEP”) includes sun access protection 
maps with Wynyard Park a specified site. 

Transport 

The construction of the access entry to Wynyard 
Station has had significant impact on the park 
visually by obscuring sight lines across the park, 
by changing grades around the entry point and 
the installation of vent services. 

 
Reserve purpose and 
community use 

Crown Reserve Purpose 

Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve. 

The public purpose for Wynyard Park Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

Community usage 

Located in the city centre above Wynyard train 
station, the park is well used. 

People visit to eat their lunch, relax or, walk 
through to get to the Wynyard Train Station 
during peak hours morning and evening. 

The park is a major transport hub during peak 
hours with entrances under the glass dome to 
Wynyard Train Station. Buses to the northern 
beaches of Sydney also terminate adjoining the 
park.  

Recent user intercept surveys undertaken for the 
Crown Reserves Plan of Management in 2020 
indicate that the most popular activities 
undertaken in the park by respondents were: 

1512



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

21 

– eat lunch 

– meet with friends 

– walking 

– through to get somewhere else 

– Sitting and relaxing. 

The survey respondents were more likely to work 
nearby to the park, followed by respondents who 
visit the area.  

The respondents were more likely to visit the 
park on a weekly basis (39%) or daily (28%). The 
most popular times to visit the park were in the 
afternoon (12pm-4pm). 

Event use of the Park 

The park has been used for a variety of events 
including charitable fundraising, commemoration 
events, community consultation, live 
performance, promotional and commercial 
events of varying scale, public assembly, and 
casual sporting events. 

The City of Sydney registered 119 events 
between 2015-19. Attendance levels have 
ranged up to 9000 people. 

Most events occur on the hardstand area of the 
park. 

Figure 4. Usage and condition of facilities and improvements   

facilities usage condition assessment (source / 
reference) 

Public Toilets (Kiosk on 
road) 

General public Average 

Public Toilets (in Park) Closed General Asset Condition - Very Poor 
(5) 

John Dunmore Lang 
Statue 

n/a General Asset Condition - Excellent 
(1) 

Low sandstone 
perimeter walling 

n/a Good 

Boundary fencing n/a Good 

Footpaths General public Good 

Park furniture - seating General public Good 

Park furniture - lighting General public Good 

Park furniture - bins General public Good 

(#) City of Sydney Asset Assessment - other assessments by general observation for PoM 

 

1513



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

22 

Figure 5. Existing leases and licences 

Lease / licence Lease / licence 
holder 

Date commenced 

Date expiring 

Comments 

    

    

1514



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

23 

Ownership and management 
Wynyard Park is a Crown reserve owned by the 
State of New South Wales. The City of Sydney 
is the Crown land manager responsible for 
management of the reserve.  Refer to Section 2, 
page 14 for further property details. 

 

Relevant legislation 

Crown Land Management Act 2016 

Crown land is governed by the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 (“CLM Act”). The CLM 
Act abolished reserve trusts and reserve trust 
managers (previously recognised under former 
legislations) and provided for the appointment of 
local councils (and others) as ‘Crown land 
managers’ in respect of land which was 
previously held by the reserve trusts. 

The Objectives of the Crown Land Management 
Act 2016 under section 1.3 are identified as:  

– provide for the ownership, use and 
management of the Crown land of NSW 

– provide clarity concerning the law applicable 
to Crown land 

– require environmental, social, cultural 
heritage and economic considerations to be 
considered in decision-making about Crown 
land 

– provide for the consistent, efficient, fair and 
transparent management of Crown land for 
the benefit of the people of NSW 

– facilitate the use of Crown land by the 
Aboriginal people of NSW because of the 
spiritual, social, cultural and economic 
importance of land to Aboriginal people and, 
where appropriate, to enable the co-
management of dedicated or reserved 
Crown land 

– Provide for the management of Crown land 
having regard to the principles of Crown land 
management. 

State Environmental Planning Policy – 
Infrastructure 2007 

The State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Infrastructure) 2007 (“ISEPP”) aims to facilitate 
the effective delivery of infrastructure across 
NSW. The Infrastructure SEPP assists local 
government and the communities they support 
by simplifying the process for providing essential 
infrastructure. 

The ISEPP has specific planning provisions and 
development controls for 25 types of 
infrastructure works or facilities including roads, 
emergency services, electricity delivery, parks 
and other public reserves and 
telecommunications networks. 

The ISEPP outlines the planning rules for such 
works and facilities, including: 

– where such development can be undertaken 

– what type of infrastructure development can 
be approved by a public authority under Part 
5 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act (“EP&A Act”) following an 
environmental assessment (known as 
‘development without consent’) 

– what type of development can be approved 
by the relevant local council, Minister for 
Planning or Department of Planning under 
Part 4 of the EP&A Act (known as 
‘development with consent’) 

– What type of development is exempt or 
complying development. 

Of relevance to Wynyard Park is Clause 65 that 
specifies that development for any purpose may 
be carried out without consent if the 
development is for the purposes of implementing 
an adopted PoM. The clause also lists a range 
of ancillary developments permitted without 
consent. 

Clause 66 provides for a range of exempt 
developments within a public reserve such as 
the construction, maintenance and repair of 
walking tracks, boardwalks, stairways, gates, 
seats shelters and shade structures. 

3. Legislative context 

1515



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

24 

Applicable planning controls 
for the reserve 

Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 2016 

Local Environmental Plans are statutory 
planning tools that set controls over 
development in the area to which they apply and 
are one of the main instruments for implementing 
the EP&A Act. They contain zoning controls as 
well as controls for heritage conservation areas 
and protected areas, amongst other matters.  
Refer to Section 2 for zoning information. 

Wynyard Park is zoned RE1 – Public 
Recreation.   

1 Objectives of zone 

– To enable land to be used for public open 
space or recreational purposes. 

– To provide a range of recreational settings 
and activities and compatible land uses. 

– To protect and enhance the natural 
environment for recreational purposes. 

– To provide links between open space areas. 

– To retain and promote access by members 
of the public to areas in the public domain 
including recreation facilities and waterways 
and other natural features. 

2 Permitted without consent 

Environmental protection works 

3 Permitted with consent 

Aquaculture; Boat launching ramps; Boat sheds; 
Charter and tourism boating facilities; Centre-
based child care facilities; Community facilities; 
Electricity generating works; Emergency 
services facilities; Environmental facilities; Food 
and drink premises; Horticulture; Information 
and education facilities; Jetties; Kiosks; Marinas; 
Markets; Recreation areas; Recreation facilities 
(indoor); Recreation facilities (major); Recreation 
facilities (outdoor); Registered clubs; Research 
stations; Respite day care centres; Roads; 
Roadside stalls; Signage; Water recreation 
structures; Water recycling facilities; Water 
supply systems 

4 Prohibited 

Any development not specified in item 2 or 3. 

Native Title 
On Crown land, Native Title rights and interests 
must be considered unless Native Title has been 
extinguished, surrendered, or determined by a 
court to no longer exist.  

Dealings in land or water that affect (impair or 
extinguish) Native Title are referred to as ‘Future 
Acts’ and these acts must be done in compliance 
with the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NT ACT”). 
The NT Act specifies procedures that must be 
followed before future acts can be done legally.   

Some examples of acts which may affect Native 
Title on Crown land managed by the City of 
Sydney include: 

– the construction of new buildings and other 
facilities such as toilet blocks, walking tracks, 
tennis courts, grandstands and barbecues 

– the construction of extensions to existing 
buildings 

– the construction of new roads or tracks 

– installation of infrastructure such as 
powerlines, sewerage pipes, etc. 

– the creation of an easement 

– the issue of a lease or licence 

– The undertaking of major earthworks. 

On Crown land, a future act undertaken by the 
City of Sydney which is not covered by one of the 
Future Act subdivisions of the NT Act will be 
invalid. 

Section 8.7 of the Crown Land Management Act 
2016 requires that written Native Title Manager 
advice is required before a council Crown land 
manager does any of the following: 

a. grants leases, licences, permits, forestry 
rights, easements or rights of way over the 
land 

b. mortgages the land or allows it to be 
mortgaged 

c. imposes, requires or agrees to covenants, 
conditions or other restrictions on use (or 
removes or releases, or agrees to remove or 
release, covenants, conditions, or other 
restrictions on use) in connection with 
dealings involving the land 

d. approves (or submits for approval) a plan of 
management for the land that authorises or 
permits any of the kinds of dealings referred 

1516



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

25 

to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c). Accordingly, 
Native Title Manager advice must be 
obtained prior to the approval (or submittal 
for approval) of a PoM that allows a dealing 
in (a)–(c) and the execution of any lease, 
licence, permit, etc. that may be authorised 
under that plan. 

The City of Sydney’s Native Title Manager has 
been and will continue to be consulted in all 
relevant aspects of Native Title pertaining to the 
land that is covered by this PoM. 

 

Heritage management 
Planning and management must recognise 
Local and State heritage listings.  

1517



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

26 

Demographic context 
As part of the PoM process Cred Consulting 
reviewed the demographic context of the subject 
reserve which provides useful background to 
ongoing planning and management. 

Key observations are summarised following: 

More residents 

The City of Sydney’s increasing resident 
population and density will result in more use 
and capacity pressures on all levels of the open 
space network, particularly the larger parks that 
offer opportunities for active sport. 

Most of the population growth will be 
accommodated in various urban renewal areas. 
This trend will continue over the next 10-15 
years. 

The planning of urban renewal areas will provide 
opportunities to increase the open space and 
recreation facility network provision and provide 
linkages to the established open space network. 

More workers and visitors 

In the city centre and other concentrations of 
workforce population and visitors the quality of 
public spaces to allow people to lunch sit and 
socialise as well as provision of larger spaces for 
lunch time sport and exercise needs to be an 
important consideration. 

Increasing density 

Open space provision will be critical to the 
liveability of higher density urban areas by 
supporting community well-being, physical 
activity, social interaction, and a sense of space 
within an otherwise intensive built environment. 

More lone persons 

The acceptance for high density housing in order 
to live close to the city centre and lone person 
households’ places importance on the 
distribution of the open space network to ensure 
people have convenient access to a park that 
serves as a “backyard” and facilitates social 
interaction and recreation opportunities. Open 

space planning and management is an important 
component of the liveability and quality of high 
density developments. 

More young and old people 

The age structure profiles increasing in the city 
of families with young children, young adults, 
and older people are expected to be heavy users 
of open space network.  

In 2041, 47% of the City of Sydney’s residents 
will be between 18 and 34 years of age. This age 
group has high participation rates in active sports 
and recreation, and many reside in new high 
density urban renewal areas which suggests 
higher density communities could potential be 
very active communities and will require 
opportunities for physical activity and social 
interaction. 

The open space network needs to be flexible and 
provide a diverse offer of recreational, social, 
cultural and creative activities and facilities to 
cater for various age, cultural and income 
groups. 

Total population 

City of Sydney is forecast to grow by 94,9824 
people or 37% in 2041. The highest growth will 
be in Green Square-City South, CBD-Harbour, 
Chinatown-CBD South and Redfern Street 
villages respectively.  

Service age structure  

Decrease in the proportion of 25 to 49 year 
old people 

While the working age population will remain the 
largest demographic group to 2041, the 
proportion of this age group decreases across 
the Local Government Area (“LGA”). The 
villages with the most significant change in this 
age group proportion will be King Street (-5%), 
Glebe Point Road (-4%), Harris Street (-4%), 
Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (-4%) and 
Oxford Street (-4%).  

 

 

4. Strategic context 

1518



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

27 

Increase in the proportion of 60 to 84 year 
old people 

The proportion of people aged between 60 and 
84 years is forecast to increase by 2% in2041. 
While the increase in proportion of 60to 69 year 
old people is consistent across all villages within 
the LGA, the increase in proportion of 70 to 84 
year old people varies. The villages with the 
highest increase in proportion of 70 to 84 year 
old people will be Glebe Point Road (+4%), 
Crown – Baptist Streets (+3%), Harris Street 
(+3%), Macleay Street-Woolloomooloo (+3%) 
and Oxford Street (+3%). 

Households 

The total number of dwellings in the LGA is 
forecast to increase by 35%. The villages that 
will see the highest increase in number of 
households are CBD-Harbour, Green Square – 
City South and Redfern Street. Villages including 
CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street with a high 
number of Crown lands will cater to an 
increasing number of households by 2041.  

Household type 

The overall LGA is forecast to see a high 
increase in households with one parent families 
and group households. However, there are 
variations in forecast household type across the 
villages including those within this PoM study 
area: 

 CBD-Harbour and Redfern Street will have a 
steep increase in one parent families 

 Chinatown – CBD South, Harris street and 
Crown – Baptist Streets will see a high 
increase in one parent families 

Overnight and daily visitors 

The City of Sydney is Sydney’s premier 
metropolitan core that contains regional and 
village level services including retail to health, 
education to entertainment. The Sydney CBD 
and surrounds are also attractive places for 
tourists to visit, explore and stay overnight. 

Given the diversity of offerings across the LGA, 
visitors are distributed to places such as Oxford 
Street, Kings Cross/Darlinghurst, Newtown, the 
Rocks, Chinatown and Central Station. 
Accommodation is provided throughout the LGA 
via short term rental accommodation as well as 
through traditional hotel and hostel services.  
The City of Sydney experiences 680,000 daily 

and overnight visitors for range of purposes and 
services including: 

 shopping 
 health and education 
 recreation and entertainment 
 accommodation 
 personal business 
 Work related business. 

It is forecast that this will grow to approximately 
860,000 by 2036. (Source: Infrastructure 
Baseline Assessment, City of Sydney, 2019) 

Social and cultural considerations  
(as per 2016 census data) 

Cultural diversity 

47.7% of City of Sydney population are born 
overseas with top countries of birth being China, 
United Kingdom and Thailand. Villages areas 
with highest born overseas rates include 
Chinatown and CBD South (76%), Harris Street 
(57.1%) and Green Square and City South 
(54.7%). 

36.1% of City of Sydney population speak a 
language other than English with top languages 
being Mandarin, Thai and Cantonese. Village 
areas with highest percentage of other language 
speakers include Chinatown and CBD South 
(71%), Harris Street (47.1%) and Green Square 
and City South (45.9%). 

Low-income households 

18.2% of households in City of Sydney LGA are 
characterised as low-income households. 
Village areas with highest percentage of low-
income households include Redfern Street 
(29.5%), Chinatown and CBD South (17.5%) 
and King Street (15.6%). 

Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas  
(SEIFA Index) 

City of Sydney has a SEIFA index 1,027. Village 
areas with lowest SEIFA scores being 
Chinatown and CBD South (940.2) and Redfern 
Street (970.2).

1519



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

28 

City of Sydney Policy and 
strategy framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
Council decision-making. A number of these 
influence planning and management decision-
making for open space and must be referred to 
in conjunction with this PoM.   

The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision-making for 
open space. 

Generally, policy guidance for management of 
specific issues shall take precedence where no 
guidance is provided in the plan and will be as 
provided in the individual policies. However, all 
decision-making, and ongoing management 
must also have regard for conservation of the 
specific park values and application of the core 
objectives of the applicable community land 
category/categories. 

A summary of the key policies and strategies is 
provided in the Appendices to this plan. 

 

Future Policy guidance 
In addition, it is intended that future policy and 
strategy development should also inform specific 
aspects of reserve planning and management as 
applicable.   

 
 
 
 
  

1520



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

29 

The City acknowledges the  
Gadigal of the Eora Nation as  
the Traditional Custodians of 
our local area, and we 
acknowledge their continued 
connection to Country.  
We pay respect to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Elders past, present and 
emerging. 
 

Community and place 
These are the principles for our plans of 
management for Crown and community land. 
They were developed by listening to our 
communities – Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people, community gardeners, 
bushcare contributors, local residents, school 
children, city workers and visitors. And they 
reflect their values. 
 
These principles are guided by the world view of 
Aboriginal people. They reframe our systemic 
relationship with the land. Since invasion, the 
relationship between people and land has been 
disrupted with little respect for the land, animals, 
waterways, and First Peoples. We’ve seen the 
extinction of plants and animals and damage to 
waterways and land. Aboriginal lives have been 
lost in trying to protect country. By challenging 
our approach in this way, we hope to cause no 
further harm and begin to heal. 
 
 

The City of Sydney has an important role as 
caretaker of these places. We will consciously 
consider these principles in the decisions we 
make for the Crown and community land we are 
responsible for. This includes how we maintain, 
change, and manage this land. 

Aboriginal world view of Country – First Nations 
workshop participant 

 
Country is our identity; spiritually, culturally, 
physically, and socially. We refer to Country as 
part of the family. We speak to Country; we sing 
to Country; and we dance for Country. 
  
Increasingly we worry for Country and seek 
greater protection measures to carry out our 
cultural obligations to the land and 
waterways. These are our fundamental rights 
and cultural responsibilities in protecting country 
as First Nations People.  

We are on Gadigal Country 
These principles are founded in the 
understanding of Country in the worldview of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
This understanding of Country includes the 
landscape – land, water and sky, the plants and 
animals, and the relationship between these. 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
responsibility for care of Country and the 
continuation of these relationships. Country has 
existed in this place for thousands of 
generations. Country precedes the colonial 
boundaries and definitions of ‘Crown land’. We 
acknowledge the responsibility that First Nations 
People have in the carriage of their living 
cultures including access to land for practising 
culture. Crown and community land should bring 
social, spiritual, and economic benefit to First 
Nations People. 

5. Community guiding 
principles 

1521



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

30 

We commit to truth-telling and 
decolonisation  
Gadigal Country was never ceded. In managing 
the Crown and Community land in Gadigal 
Country, we recognise the significance of this 
land as the site of invasion.  

We work towards telling the history of these 
places with honesty and acknowledge the 
negative impacts caused to Country and to the 
people.  

We endeavour to cause no further harm 
to Aboriginal people and the relationship they 
hold to the land. 

We challenge ourselves to decolonise our 
approach to managing Crown and community 
land. This is evident in the decisions we make as 
we manage these places.  

We value how important these 
places are to people’s 
wellbeing 
Crown and community land are a place of refuge 
and respite in an intensely urban environment. 
These places have cultural and community 
significance to many people. They are places of 
shared identity and pride, of community 
connection and celebration, and of protest and 
social transformation. They must be welcoming 
to all people and will provide equity of access to 
all to enjoy. We strengthen the connections 
between and within these places.  

We are guided by Country and 
strive to heal and care for it 
We learn about how this Country has been cared 
for thousands of generations. We respect the 
natural landforms, waterways, and endemic 
species. We work to heal places that have 
suffered degradation. We support these places 
to play their role in the health of the whole 
environment.  

We protect these places for 
future generations  
We accept our role as caretakers of these 
places. These places must benefit the 
community now and in the future. As we face a 
changing climate and growing population, we 
make decisions that prepare these places and 
ensure their continued health into the future.  

Guiding documents 
UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous 
Peoples 

Principles of Co-operation with Metropolitan 
Local Aboriginal Land Council 

City of Sydney Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Protocols 

City of Sydney Reconciliation Action Plan 2021 

City of Sydney Busking and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Cultural Practice Policy  

Design with Country – NSW State Architects  

 

 

 

1522



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

31 

Values and roles of Wynyard 
Park  
Community values and roles have guided the 
development of the PoM. Values are the 
qualities and roles of the parklands that the 
community wishes to protect, conserve, and 
enhance.  These have been identified through: 

- consideration of past plans of management 
and master planning for the site 

- past and current community engagement 

- liaison with City of Sydney staff 

- Site appraisal. 

In brief these are identified as: 

1.0  Identity Character and Experiencing the 
Place 

- A meaning of the place that resonates with 
Country 

- A place which signposts and celebrates 
local, natural and cultural history 

- One of the original “green squares” of the 
city and one of the few remaining 
 

2.0  Access, Connections and Accessibility 

- A well-connected parkland to the adjoining 
public domain  

- Wayfinding seamlessly aids access and use 

- A place that is clear, easy and safe to move 
around 

- An appropriately lit environment 

- A place that is not compromised by parking 
and vehicle access 

 

3.0  Community Use and Activation 

- A place of respite for users and adjacent 
residents  

- A place that recognises and celebrates First 
Nations living culture 

- A place for events 

- A place that is open and usable by all 
members of community 

- A safe place to visit day and night 

- A place that provides access to public 
amenities 
 

4.0 Facilities and Built Infrastructure 

- Park elements that support park use and 
create an attractive character 

- Integrated with major transport interchange  

- Underground infrastructure 
 

5.0  Environment and Sustainability 

- Resilient landscaping to future-proof our 
greenspaces 

- Landscaping and planting that reflects the 
original natural environment 

- A place of diverse habitats 

- A place that is cool, calm and comfortable in 
summer heat 

- Established plantings which contribute to the 
park setting and habitat 

- A place exhibiting water sensitive urban 
design 

- A place exhibiting sustainable energy 
management 

- A place exhibiting sustainable waste 
management practices 
 

6.0  Culture and Heritage 

- A place that reflects recognition and 
celebration of First Nations People and 
culture 

- A place which is a conservatory of natural 
and cultural heritage 

- A place that provides the community access 
to cultural expression and awareness 
through arts and culture 

- A place that connects the community to the 
city’s past and present  

6. Basis for 
Management 

1523



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

32 

- A place that provides a canvas for arts and 
culture 
 

7.0  Management and Maintenance 

- A place which is clean, well-maintained and 
carefully managed 

- Facilities that continue to service and meet 
the community's needs 

- Appropriate leases and licences 

 

 

 

  

1524



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

33 

Reflecting Crown reserve 
purpose 
Crown land is to be used for the original purpose 
for which it was dedicated or reserved. Multiple 
uses of reserves are encouraged, where those 
uses are consistent with the original purpose of 
the reserve and the use does not impact on 
Native Title rights and interests under the Native 
Title Act 1993. 

The public purpose for Wynyard Park Crown 
reserve is Public Recreation. 

The Council Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet 
developed by Department Planning, Industry 
and Environment - Crown Lands identifies that 
Council should consider the Crown reserve 
purpose when assigning categories under the 
LG Act. 

Council managers should evaluate how the 
application of community land categories would 
ensure that the land is used for the purpose for 
which it was originally set aside by its dedication 
or reservation. 

Figure 7 identifies community land 
categorisations in the context of the crown 
reserve purpose. 

Current / existing use 
The City of Sydney has established initial 
categorisations for Wynyard Park in accordance 
with Crown Land requirements. The Council 
Crown Land Manager Fact Sheet identifies that 
councils should apply the initial categorisation 
based on existing/current use of the reserve 
only. The initial categorisation cannot be based 
on proposed or future use. The initial 
categorisations for Wynyard Park have been 
approved by Crown Lands. 

Any change to the initial categorisation to 
support a future use should be altered via the 
PoM. 

Characteristics of the land 
The physical characteristics of the land must be 
considered in applying community land 
categorisations. Land that possesses a 
significant geological feature, geomorphological 
feature, landform, representative system or 
other natural feature should be considered for 
categorisation as one of the Natural Area 

categories. In such a case the plan should 
describe the related characteristics of the land. 

For Wynyard Park there are no site 
characteristics that would justify Natural Area 
categorisation. 

Likewise, where land is of Aboriginal or Historical 
heritage significance Council should consider 
whether Area of Cultural Significance is 
applicable. This should consider whether there 
are heritage listings or controls on the land that 
address heritage conservation. Where such 
protections are not afforded and a site warrants 
heritage significance, the Area of Cultural 
Significance category may be applicable. 

For Wynyard Park, Section 2 describes the 
heritage characteristics of the land, and the 
applicable listings and controls. These will be 
considered in all management decisions related 
to the land. The additional layer of Area of 
Cultural Significance categorisation is not 
deemed to be required. 

Proposed community land 
categorisations 
The following table (figure 6) outlines the 
Guidelines for Categorisation as listed in the 
Local Government (General) Regulation 1999 
Part 3 - categorisation, use and management of 
community land for the applicable categories to 
Wynyard Park. Under the guidelines for each 
category, their interpretation and application to 
Wynyard Park is explained. 

In addition, the core objectives and purpose (as 
outlined in the Local Government Act 
Regulations) are also listed. 

 

 

1525



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

34 

Figure 6. Community land categorisation table 

Guidelines for categorisation and 
application to Wynyard Park 

Core objectives for management 

Park 

Land should be categorised as a park under 
section 36 (4) of the Act if the land is, or is 
proposed to be, improved by landscaping, 
gardens or the provision of non-sporting 
equipment and facilities, for use mainly for 
passive or active recreational, social, educational 
and cultural pursuits that do not unduly intrude on 
the peaceful enjoyment of the land by others 

Application 

To informal use green spaces 

The core objectives for management of community 
land categorised as a park are: 

(a)  to encourage, promote and facilitate recreational, 
cultural, social and educational pastimes and activities, 
and 

(b)  to provide for passive recreational activities or 
pastimes and for the casual playing of games, and 

(c)  to improve the land in such a way as to promote 
and facilitate its use to achieve the other core 
objectives for its management. 

 

 

1526



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

35 

Figure 7. Community land categorisation map
 

 

 

 

 

 

7302/ DP 
1164920

7301/ DP 
1164920

1/ DP 
596634

8/ DP 
853331

1/ DP 
909451

25/ DP 
869573

26/ DP 
869573

21

22 20
15

18

27

14

9

8

19

23

24

13

11

12

5

64

3

2

1

2/ DP 
909451

6/ DP 
853331

6/ DP 
853331

6/ DP 
853331

6

6/ DP 
853331

Y
ork S

tre
e
t

S
tre

et

C
ar

rin
g
to

n
 S

tr
e
e
t

Margaret Street

G
e
o
rg

e 
S

tr
e
et

Wynyard Street

W
yn

ya
rd

 L
a
ne

N
LEGEND

Crown Land parcel  - 
managed by Council

PoM study area boundary

CATEGORY

Park

1527



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

36 

Key strategic directions 
Planning and management directions have been 
established for Wynyard Park through past 
master planning (1996 Concept Master Plan) 
and plans of management (Adopted PoM 1997, 
draft PoM 1993).  

The following guiding strategic directions are 
summarised for planning and management of 
Wynyard Park as reflected in this PoM (refer also 
Figure 8 1996 Concept Master Plan following 
page).  

1997 PoM objectives: 

– To ensure the conservation of the 
Park/Square as an important item of the City 
of Sydney’s cultural heritage 

– To retain the amenity of the Park/Square for 
its major functions, an open square within the 
city fabric, a place for passive recreation and 
active community use and a transport 
interchange. 

– To provide the guidance to enhance the 
appearance and presentation of the Park in 
response to its cultural significance and 
prominent urban setting. 

Principles 

The following principles were identified on the 
1997 Adopted PoM. Note that many of these 
have been acted on/followed in past capital work 
upgrade projects and are included here for 
ongoing reference (reference page 5 1997 
PoM). 

In recognition of the site’s former value as a 
square serving as a public meeting place, and 
current value for public recreation, as well as the 
transition space associated with a transport 
interchange, the following design concepts are 
recommended: 

– Rationalise the three distinct spaces that 
presently existing within the park and 
reintegrating them into one visual space  

– Reduce the range of materials used, 
retaining the best of the existing elements 
and removing all other materials which are 
not performing well, or which have limited 
serviceable life remaining or which are out of 
context 

– Simplify and improve the planting, in order to 
unify the edging of the park 

– Reinstate the early Victorian character 
through modern, sympathetic signage and 
furniture without giving the park a superficial 
‘historical’ character 

– Improve the quality of the entrances to the 
park so as to generate an experience of entry 
into a place of distinctive character 

– Rationalise circulation within the park so as 
to achieve ease of movement within the park 
without allowing the pathways to dominate 
the parks character 

– Provide space, amenity and functional 
components to enable Wynyard Park to 
serve as a place for contemporary public 
uses of passive recreation, assembly and 
pedestrian circulation 

– Ensure cost effective maintenance and 
events management. 

 

 

1528



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

37 

Figure 8. Master Plan 
 

 

Plan of Management Master Plan 1997  

 

 

 

1529



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

38 

Lifespan of the plan 
If the PoM is to remain relevant in the future it is 
essential that its implementation is reviewed on 
a regular basis to ensure any relevant changes 
are incorporated.  

Changes that may need to be addressed 
include: 

– new legislation 

– changes in community values 

– project priorities 

– funding resources 

– New opportunities for future upgrades. 

Given that community expectations and 
requirements change over time, this plan also 
needs to have some flexibility to adapt to any 
changes of circumstance.  

 

Process for review 
It is recommended that the plan be reviewed in 
the following sequences and time spans: 

Annually:  monitor progress of PoM 

Every five years:  undertake a review of all 
values based on revised 
analysis, issues and 
amended planning 
legislation 

review outcomes against 
survey information, 
photographic record and 
register of correspondence 

review and amend the PoM, 
where required 

Every ten years:  review of the PoM  

 

 

Other triggers for review / 
update 
Should a major development or works be 
proposed that is not represented in the 
authorised uses and developments listings, the 
PoM will require amending. 

Should changes in categorisation be proposed, 
the PoM will require amendment and the need to 
undertake a public hearing prior to adoption. 

 

  

7. Review of the plan 

1530



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

39 

 

 

  

Part B 
Management of 
community land 
categories 

1531



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

40 

This section sets out the specific requirements 
for the individual management areas located 
within Wynyard Park and is applicable to all 
community land categories, as outlined in 
Section 6 of this plan.   

Management Framework 
A Management Framework is provided in 
Section 9 of this PoM. It provides a decision-
making framework for future management of the 
reserves and addresses the requirements of 
section 36 of the LG Act. 

Management targets 

The framework sets out management targets 
that define a series of “desired outcomes” for the 
management of Wynyard Park. The outcomes 
seek to conserve and enhance the values of 
Wynyard Park and address management 
challenges and opportunities identified by the 
community and City. 

Means of implementation 

In response to the identified targets, means of 
implementation define recommended strategies 
to be implemented over the life of this PoM. 

Assessment indicators and measurement 

A means of assessing the achievement of the 
identified management targets is provided for 
ongoing monitoring and evaluation. 

Permitted development and 
use 
Section 36 of the LG Act states that a PoM must 
expressly authorise any proposed uses and 
developments on community land. Any proposal 
for the development and use of buildings, 
structures and spaces at Wynyard Park will be 

considered on merit and benefits to the 
community and balanced against physical 
constraints, the amenity of adjoining residents 
and land uses. 

Legislative requirements 

The Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
(“LEP”) specifies the range of uses and 
activities that may be permitted on the land, in 
accordance with the relevant zoning and 
associated objectives. Several uses are also set 
out in the Local Government Regulations. 

Guidelines and core objectives of the 
community land category 

Under the LG Act, uses and the development of 
community land must be consistent with the 
guidelines for categorisation, the core objectives 
of each category, and any other additional 
objectives that Council proposes to place on the 
community land categories. 

Consistency with City adopted policies 

Relevant City policies as at the date of adoption 
of this plan are identified in the Appendices. The 
goals and strategies outlined in these 
documents have been used to guide the 
outcomes of this PoM. 

Council’s adopted policies will continue to 
develop after the preparation of this PoM. 
Management of Council assets, and their 
development will consider the policy framework 
at the relevant time. 

Buildings and structures  

Express authorisation 

This PoM expressly authorises the development 
of new buildings, structures and civil 
infrastructure, and the 
redevelopment/refurbishment of buildings, 

8. General 
requirements 

1532



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

41 

structures and civil infrastructure which support 
the desired use of Wynyard Park. 

Such buildings, structures and civil infrastructure 
will be consistent with: 

– the core objectives of the categories that 
apply to the land 

– the Crown reserve purpose 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– applicable master plans, asset management 
plans and any subsequent detailed design 
plans 

– the LEP and any other applicable 
Environmental Planning Instruments 

– Design for Access and Mobility Standards 

– Disability Discrimination Act 

– The Building Code of Australia. 

Where possible, development activities must 
also consider: 

– Designing with Country (Government 
Architect NSW) 

– The inclusion of sustainable initiatives and 
measures. 

Where it is proposed to construct or establish a 
public work on reserved or dedicated Crown 
land, where Native Title is not extinguished, prior 
to approval, the City of Sydney will notify and 
give an opportunity for comment from any 
representative Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander 
bodies, registered Native Title bodies corporate 
and registered Native Title claimants in relation 
to the land or waters covered by the reservation 
or lease as required under the Native Title Act 
1993. 

 

Assessment and approval of 
permissible uses and 
developments 
The authorisation in a PoM gives ‘in principle’ 
support for activities, uses and developments 
consistent with the objectives for land 
categorisation to proceed to development 
assessment under the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979 (“EP&A Act”).  

This PoM does not in itself imply or grant consent 
for activities, uses or developments. Any 

proposed uses and developments which are 
consistent with this PoM must still be referred 
for development consent and where required, 
be advertised widely for information and 
invitation to comment. Any subsequent 
application for development consent would be 
supported by and assessed against this PoM. 

Prohibited activities 
Activities and uses that are inconsistent with the 
reserve purpose or core objectives associated 
with the applicable community land category are 
prohibited on the site.  

Certain activities at Wynyard Park may also be 
prohibited by the applicable land use zoning. 
The City of Sydney may prohibit certain activities 
from time to time. Prohibited uses will be 
communicated via City bookings, lease and 
licence agreements, or otherwise communicated 
where prohibited activities may be temporary. 

Managing impacts on adjoining 
land uses 
Uses and activities permitted at Wynyard Park 
must consider the needs of and impacts on 
residents, workers and adjoining land uses in 
terms of accessibility, noise, lighting, traffic and 
parking.   

 

Scale and intensity of use  
The scale and intensity of development and 
activities on Crown and community land is to be 
generally compatible with the scale and 
anticipated use of the park, reserve and 
associated facility. 

In particular, the scale and intensity of use will be 
consistent with the carrying capacity of the land, 
and any master plan or development consent 
relating to the land. 

High Intensity use 

This PoM specifically authorises activities at 
Wynyard Park which may attract high numbers 
of people including one-off community events 
and performances. 

1533



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

42 

Applications for permissible activities will be 
assessed on a case-by- case basis by Outdoor 
Venue Management. 

The scale and intensity of such activities will be 
managed by the City of Sydney’s booking 
process and associated conditions of use. 

Informal use 

The intensity of use for informal recreational 
activities across Wynyard Park and settings will 
be determined by the community use of the site 
but will be managed to avoid undue impacts on 
park fabric and environment. 

Commercial uses  

Commercial operations for cafes, markets and 
kiosks that support and encourage community 
use of the open space, and/or address a 
community need are to be assessed based on 
the proposed scale and intensity of use and are 
authorised subject to compatibility with the LEP, 
and the core objectives of the applicable land 
category. 

Funding 
Funding is integral to implementing the 
management targets identified with this PoM and 
is defined under two categories: 

– Capital works involving the construction and 
development of new facilities and structures 

– Maintenance and management of the park. 

The implementation of this PoM is achieved 
through its linkage with Council’s management 
plan, operational budget, and capital works 
program. 

Council currently funds management and 
maintenance costs through its annual budget 
allocation and uses capital funds and 7.11 
contributions for capital and nonrecurrent works.  

Funding arrangements for the park need to 
address recurrent costs of management and 
maintenance, together with capital costs for new 
facilities or upgrading works. Funding for 
construction of new facilities is generally through 
the annual budgeting process, but special 
projects may be partly funded through New 
South Wales Government grant allocations, 
which may involve matching funding from 
Council.  

Sources of funding include but are not limited to: 

– 7.11 contributions – utilised for new 
landscaping and/or facilities complimentary 
to the core management objectives. 

– Partnerships – there is an opportunity to 
develop further partnerships with residents 
and interested people in relation to park 
improvements and ongoing management, 
such as bush regeneration. 

– Park revenue – income from the park is 
generated by lease and licence fees, and 
from applicants for approved functions and 
events. 

– Grants – several state and federal 
government grants are available to assist 
with capital works in the park. 

What are leases and licences 
Leases and licences formalise the use of Crown 
and community land by groups such as sporting 
clubs, community groups and schools, or by 
commercial organisations and individuals 
providing facilities or services for public use. The 
occupation of Crown and community land not 
only applies to the surface of the land but also 
includes the airspace above and subsurface 
below. 

Licence allow multiple and non-exclusive use of 
an area. A licence may be required where 
intermittent or short-term use or control of all or 
part of the park, or associated facilities are 
proposed. Several licence for different users can 
apply to the same area at the same time, 
provided there is no conflict of interest. 

The City of Sydney’s ability to lease or licence 
Crown reserves managed as community land 
such as Wynyard Park is authorised by section 
3.22 of the CLM Act, which requires the 
preparation of a community land PoM, adopted 
by Council, to authorise an occupancy or use 
agreement. 

Authorisation of leases and 
licences 
Tenure may be granted for exclusive and non-
exclusive uses to any organisation for any 

1534



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

43 

compatible purpose, as determined by Council, 
on such terms as Council may provide.  

Under section 46 of the LG Act, a lease or 
licence may only be granted for a maximum term 
of 21 years, including options. A lease or licence 
for a term exceeding 5 years may be granted 
only by tender unless it is granted to a non-profit 
organisation. All leases and licence must be 
publicly notified for a minimum period of 28 days. 

To ensure that usage or occupation of the 
reserve is appropriate for the lease or licence, a 
council Crown land manager must always 
consider:  

– compatibility with the reserve purpose, 
category and core objectives for the land 

– compliance with relevant legislation, related 
policies and guidelines including zoning 
under the LEP 

– environmental and social impacts of the 
activities to be permitted by the lease or 
licence 

– appropriate term (period of occupation) of 
the lease or licence 

– land capability of the reserve to support the 
proposed lease or licence 

– current and future use of the land 

– Aboriginal land claims 

– If development consent is required and has 
been obtained (and other consents under the 
EP&A Act and LG Act 1993). 

In addition to the conditions provided within the 
authorisations, the granting of a lease, licence 
or other estate must also: 

– have no negative impact on historical 
heritage sites or significant fabric 

– not alienate the park or reserve 
unreasonably 

– be ecologically sustainable 

– have a component of community benefit 

– demonstrate a clear nexus between the 
activity and the park or reserve 

– not result in overuse of the area or conflict 
with community use of the area 

– ensure traffic, parking and essential or 
required vehicular access implications are 
considered 

– Be in accordance with all Council policies 
and procedures governing the use of open 
space. 

A use agreement (lease, licence, short-term use 
or other estate) on Crown land may impact 
Native Title rights and interests. A use 
agreement issued on Crown land must be issued 
in accordance with future act provisions of the 
Native Title Act 1993, and in accordance with 
Part 8 of the CLM Act unless Native Title is 
extinguished. For Crown land, which is not 
excluded land, this will require written advice 
from Council’s Native Title Manager that it 
complies with any applicable provisions of the 
Native Title legislation. 

Express authorisation of 
Leases, Licences, Short-term 
Uses and Other Estates under 
this Plan of Management 
The following outlines general authorisations 
applicable under this PoM. Section 10 details 
the specific authorisations and purposes for 
which tenure may be granted in accordance with 
the individual community land categories for 
Wynyard Park. 

Access  

Access for building-related activities 
including for construction or maintenance 
purposes  

Access across community land shall be 
authorised under this PoM provided that (but not 
limited to):  

– the access is of a temporary nature 

– in circumstances where proposed works 
require access and it is associated with an 
adjoining property, proponents must clearly 
demonstrate that there are no alternative 
means of access available to avoid access 
through community land to undertake the 
required development works 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

1535



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

44 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Temporary structures 
Land use planning controls 

Under the LEP, the temporary use of community 
land may be deemed as exempt development if 
the proposed activity can be authorised under 
the LG Act and is no more than 52 days in any 
12-month period (“the prescribed period”). 

Temporary structures for building-related 
activities including for construction or 
maintenance purposes  

The City of Sydney may authorise a short-term 
licence for the placement of temporary building-
related structures provided that (but not limited 
to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– in circumstances where the proposed works 
are associated with an adjoining property, 
proponents must clearly demonstrate that 
there are no alternative means of placement 
available to avoid use of community land to 
undertake the required development or 
maintenance works including satisfying any 
safety requirements under the Work, Health 
and Safety Act 2011 

– building-related structures comply with the 
City of Sydney’s technical requirements 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Proponents can refer to the following City of 
Sydney documents as a technical guide for 
temporary structures until such time as they are 
revised and adopted: 

– Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding 
2017 

– Draft Code of Practice for Hoisting and 
Construction Activities in Public Places. 

If the City of Sydney is unable to approve short-
term licence for these activities, applicants 
should consider an application under the 
provisions of the Access to Neighbouring Lands 
Act 2000. 

Temporary structures related to events  

The use of community land for the placement of 
temporary event structures shall be authorised 
under this PoM provided (but not limited to): 

– the use of community land is within the 
prescribed period 

– the event structures comply with the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications and where 
required, relevant standards identified within 
the State Environmental Planning Policy 
(Exempt and Complying Development 
Codes) 2008 

– a performance bond as prescribed in 
Council’s Schedule of Fees and Charges in 
respect of potential damage to City assets is 
lodged with the City of Sydney 

– all necessary approvals have been obtained 

– The City of Sydney is in receipt of proof of 
suitable insurances including public liability 
insurance. 

Bookings and events 

Temporary events 

Temporary events and activities are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with City 
of Sydney’s temporary event approval process 
and in line with existing applicable guidelines, 
policies and legislative requirements, both 
locally and at a State Government level. 

The following criteria is not an exhaustive list but 
provides guidance on how temporary events and 
activities are assessed: 

– location including permissible use and 
compatibility with the relevant land 

– scale and intensity 

– duration and date sensitivity 

– proposed operational times 

1536



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

45 

– required infrastructure and proposed 
production design 

– access and logistics requirements 

– environmental impacts 

– proposed signage and/or advertising 

– Addressing safety and security 
requirements. 

Venues for hire 

The City of Sydney offers a diverse range of 
indoor and outdoor venues for hire on a short-
term or hourly basis that service the community 
enabling cultural, recreational and social 
outcomes.  

Applications to use venues for hire are to be 
assessed and approved in accordance with 
City’s venue for hire approval process and in line 
with existing applicable guidelines, policies and 
legislative requirements. 

All applicable fees are outlined in Council’s 
adopted schedule of fees and charges. 

Banner Hire 

The City of Sydney banner network is used to 
promote events and activities which are of public 
interest. Banner campaigns are subject to 
approval and must comply with the City’s Banner 
Terms and Conditions. All applicable fees are 
outlined in Council’s adopted schedule of fees 
and charges. 

Personal trainers  

The City of Sydney encourages all members of 
its community to use parks and open space 
responsibly in meeting their health, well-being 
and fitness needs.  

The City of Sydney chooses not to charge for the 
use of its parks and open spaces for outdoor 
fitness training as it does not wish to create a 
barrier to participating in physical exercise. 

Personal fitness trainers including commercial, 
not-for-profit and community groups, wishing to 
train outdoors in Council’s local government 
area are expected to comply with the Outdoor 

Fitness Training Voluntary Code of Conduct and 
its criteria for use. 

Fitness training groups and activities that are 
exempt from this Code are:  

– walking groups 

– activities of schools under the supervision or 
a teacher 

– Hirers that have a current booking with the 
City of Sydney to use a sports field, oval or 
court and comply with the City’s Terms and 
Conditions of Use.  

Other Estates 
Easements across Crown and community land 
for the purpose of public utilities, providing pipes, 
conduits or other connections under the surface 
of the ground, for the connection of premises 
adjoining the community land to a facility on the 
community land shall be authorised by this PoM, 
and shall be subject to the following criteria:  

– there is no feasible alternative to connecting 
to a facility on the community land 

– there is no significant impact on the reserve 

– Where the proposal involves the creation of 
an easement and/or a restriction on the 
future development potential of the property, 
compensation is assessed.  

In instances where there is an encroachment 
(existing or proposed) upon public land by a 
permanent structure, and the structure does not 
significantly interfere with the functioning of the 
reserve, the City of Sydney may consider the 
creation of an easement.  In all cases, the 
applicant is to be responsible for all costs 
incurred by City of Sydney in the creation of the 
easement.  

An estate in respect of this land category is 
expressly authorised by this PoM for the purpose 
of a “public road” where the provision of that road 
is consistent with the core objectives stated 
herein and where the road is necessary for the 
enjoyment of that land.

1537



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

46 

The table below outlines the management targets or desired outcomes for Wynyard Park, including 
means and strategies for their realisation, and means of assessment and review by the City of 
Sydney. 

 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

1.0 IDENTITY CHARACTER AND EXPERIENCING THE PLACE 

1.1 A meaning of the 
place that 
resonates with 
Country 

 To implement a meaning 
and description that 
reflects connection to 
place 

Work with the community to establish a 
meaning and description that captures 
the place’s connection to Country  

Community consultation 

Adopted meaning and 
description  

1.2 A place which 
signposts and 
celebrates local, 
natural and 
cultural history 

 To contribute to the 
spaces identity and 
character 

Investigate the inclusion of informative 
elements that reflect the spaces 
historical identity and natural character 

 

Increased visibility of park 
identity 

1.3 One of the original 
and remaining 
“green squares” of 
the city  

 To conserve and maintain 
the park’s green square 
character and role 

Planning and management to conserve 
and maintain the park’s green square 
character and role 

Increased use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

     

2.0 ACCESS, CONNECTIONS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

2.1 A well-connected 
parkland to the 
adjoining public 
domain  

 To provide functional, 
inviting, accessible and 
safe routes to the park 
from adjoining areas  

Review, monitor and work towards 
improving local access routes for public 
transport, workplace precincts and 
adjoining residential areas 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to park 
access. Regularly review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

2.2 Wayfinding 
seamlessly aids 
access and use 

 To provide effective 
wayfinding and signage 
for park users and cyclists 

Maintain and upgrade wayfinding and 
signage in accordance with asset 
management plan 

Where required, implement new 
wayfinding and signage 

Increased local use of park, 
measured by observation 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.3 A place that is 
clear, easy and 
safe to move 
around 

 To provide functional, 
attractive and compliant 
internal circulation routes 
and path networks 

Maintain and upgrade paths and 
pavements in accordance with park 
service levels 

Where required, implement new 
pathways to create greater connectivity 
in park 

Path and pavements managed 
in accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.4 An appropriately lit 
environment 

 To provide adequate 
lighting to support desired 
night access, recreational 
and leisurely use of open 
space 

Maintain and renew lighting in 
accordance with asset management 
plan 

Monitor to identify lighting issues and 
address as require 

Lighting maintained in 
accordance with Australian 
Standards 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

2.5 A place that is not 
compromised by 
parking and 
vehicle access 

 To provide and manage 
functional maintenance 
and emergency access 
mitigating adverse impacts 
on park and uses 

Ensure that permitted use of vehicles in 
park are regulated and do not affect 
community use of space 

Ongoing surveillance and enforcement 
of open space areas 

Reduced pedestrian, cyclist 
and vehicle conflicts 

Improved public safety 

Management measures carried 
out 

9. Management targets 
and strategies 

1538



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

47 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

 Prevent unauthorised 
vehicle access 

Incorporate educational activities into 
ongoing management 

     

3.0 COMMUNITY USE AND ACTIVATION 

3.1 A place of respite 
for users and 
adjacent residents  

 To ensure that the park 
provides a range of 
flexible and informal use 
spaces that are attractive 
and comfortable to be in 

Ensure that park planning, and 
management maintains and enhances 
flexible informal use spaces for broad 
community benefit 

 

Increased local use of park 
measured by survey and 
observation 

3.2 A place that 
recognises and 
celebrates First 
Nations living 
culture 

 To celebrate First Nations 
heritage and living culture 

Work with First Nations community to 
understand existing barriers to 
practicing living culture 

Develop actions within existing policies 
to create greater accessibility to park 
spaces and facilities 

Policy actions developed 

Increased use of spaces 

3.3 A place for events  To sustainably encourage 
temporary event use that 
contributes to local 
activation and cultural and 
community outcomes 

To facilitate temporary event use that is 
appropriate to scale of spaces and in 
consideration of other park uses 

Develop guidelines for event use of 
Wynyard Park defining: 

- usable area and capacity 

- other specific event management and 
approval requirements 

Increased use of park for 
events appropriate to scale and 
intensity 

Development events guidelines 

Ongoing review and 
compliance 

3.4 A place that is 
open and usable 
by all members of 
community 

 

 That the park is managed 
as part of a coordinated 
compassionate approach 
across the city to assisting 
homeless persons 

Ongoing management of people 
sleeping rough in the park needs to be 
in accordance with the City of Sydney’s 
policy on homelessness in public 
spaces, which ‘recognises the right of 
everyone in the community to use 
public spaces’ (Homelessness Action 
Plan 2019) and aims to ensure that 
public space can be accessed and 
enjoyed by everyone, including people 
who are homeless 

Maintain records of public 
feedback in relation to people 
sleeping rough. Regularly 
review of register to guide 
future directions 

3.5 A safe place to 
visit day and night 

 To ensure the park and 
park facilities provide a 
safe place to visit and 
pass through, appropriate 
to intended (and varied) 
usage times of facilities 
and access routes 

Monitor ongoing safety and access in 
park and facilities 

Coordinate with local police to identify 
and act on safety issues 

Where improvements are proposed, 
ensure that they are designed and 
maintained in accordance with CPTED 
(Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design) principles 
including: 

-  Passive surveillance 

-  Good sight lines 

-  Territorial reinforcement and space 
management 

-  Lighting 

Percentage of people who feel 
safe in these spaces 

Safe spaces with no reported 
incidents 

 

3.7 A place that 
provides access to 
public amenities 

 Maintain access and 
provision of public toilet 
facilities for all park users 

Monitor to identify management issues 
for public toilet facilities, address as 
required 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to public 
toilets. Regular review of 
register to guide future 
directions 

     

4.0 FACILITIES AND BUILT INFRASTRUCTURE 

Park elements 

4.1 Park elements 
that support park 
use and create an 

 To support recreational 
and leisure use of park 
while avoiding proliferation 
of elements 

Maintain and renew park furniture and 
other park elements in accordance with 
asset management plan 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

1539



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

48 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

attractive 
character 

Monitor the appropriateness of 
placement 

Implement new improvements, where 
required 

 

Underground and adjoining infrastructure 

4.2 Integrated with 
major transport 
interchange  

 To ensure that transport 
infrastructure is 
accommodated 
sympathetically to the park 
and with clear 
maintenance requirements 
and responsibilities 

Monitor and manage RailCorp access 
to enable maintenance and renewal of 
their assets 

Monitor to identify management issues 
and address as required 

Sustained relationship with 
RailCorp 

 

4.3 Underground 
infrastructure 

 To ensure services 
infrastructure 
requirements are 
effectively integrated into 
planning and design 

Liaise and coordinate with services 
authorities to identify amplification and 
renewal works that may impact spaces 

Manage to limit impacts on use and 
facilitate effective make good / 
integration 

Sustained relationship with 
authorities 

 

     

5.0 ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY 

Vegetation management and urban ecology 

5.1 Resilient 
landscaping to 
future-proof our 
greenspaces 

 To sustain a green 
landscape for continued 
community enjoyment 

Maintain and renew horticulture, grass 
cover and plantings in accordance with 
park service levels and City guidelines 

Improved grass cover condition 

Measurement and monitoring 
of vegetation 

Compliance with park service 
levels 

5.2 Landscaping and 
planting that 
reflects the 
original natural 
environment 

 To increase indigenous 
plantings within the park 
landscape 

Where appropriate and site conditions 
allow, investigate the planting of 
indigenous species 

Increased indigenous plantings 

5.3 A place of diverse 
habitats 

 To increase habitat value 
of natural and built 
features 

Investigate the potential to enhance 
habitat values through areas of built 
form and natural ground  

Measurement and monitoring 
of habitat values 

5.4   To enhance ecological 
importance in open space 

Maintain urban ecology advisory role 
for proposed works associated with 
open space 

Investigate opportunities to increase 
community understanding and 
participation in the preservation of 
greenspace and ecological elements 

Ongoing internal participation 
in open space works 

Increased community 
participation  

Shade and temperature management 

5.5 A place that is 
cool, calm and 
comfortable in 
summer heat 

 To conserve existing 
shade tree canopy and to 
selectively extend to 
create new shade 

Maintain and manage existing tree 
canopy for ongoing health  

Plan for and integrate tree canopy 
shade in suitable locations across site 

Preserved and increased 
shade cover 

Increased use of park 
measured by observation 

5.6 Established 
plantings which 
contribute to the 
park setting and 
habitat 

 To effectively maintain 
and manage the existing 
tree resources at optimum 
health for their safe and 
practical lifespans 

 To effectively plan for 
succession planting 

Implement tree management including 
pruning and/or removal of trees and 
replacement planting in accordance 
with park service levels and City 
guidelines 

Plan and implement a succession 
planting program in accordance with 
tree management plan 

Improved tree health and 
successful establishment of 
new trees as measured by 
arborist’s survey  

Compliance with park service 
levels and City guidelines 

Implemented succession 
planting and tree management 
plan 

Water management 

5.7 A place exhibiting 
water sensitive 
urban design 

 To effectively manage 
water use and runoff  
 

Where feasible, implement water 
saving initiatives, alternative water 
sources and install metering to 
effectively manage water use 

Increased savings in water 
consumption 

Reduced potable water 
demand for park 

1540



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

49 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

Implement water-sensitive urban 
design to minimise environmental 
degradation and improve waterway 
quality 

Improved water quality 

Energy management 

5.8 A place exhibiting 
sustainable 
energy 
management 

To effectively manage 
energy use 

Where feasible, implement energy 
management initiatives, renewable 
energy, investigate alternatives to 
temporary generators and install 
metering as appropriate to effectively 
manage energy 

Sustainable initiatives 
implemented 

Increased savings in energy 
consumption 

Reduction in open space 
maintenance post event 
activities 

Waste management 

5.9 A place exhibiting 
sustainable waste 
management 
practices 

A place that maximises the 
diversion of waste away from 
landfill 

Ongoing implementation and support of 
best practice waste management 
activities 

Minimised waste measured 
against contract KPI's and 
audits 

     

6.0 CULTURE AND HERITAGE 

6.1 A place that 
reflects 
recognition and 
celebration of First 
Nations people 
and culture 

 To identify and interpret 
First Nations cultural 
heritage values of the 
local area 

Consult with the First Nations People 
on how best to interpret and integrate 
cultural heritage values in ongoing 
decision-making and planning of 
improvements  

Consultation completed 

Targeted user surveys 

6.2 A place which is a 
conservatory of 
natural and 
cultural heritage 

 To appropriately manage 
and conserve elements of 
heritage significance 

 To guide management and 
design decision making to 
achieve optimum heritage 
management outcomes 

Preparation and ongoing 
implementation of supporting 
documentation to guide the 
maintenance of sensitive and 
significant heritage assets or fabric   

Completed supporting 
documentation 

 

6.3 A place that 
provides the 
community access 
to cultural 
expression and 
awareness 
through arts and 
culture 

 To provide a canvas for 
public art and artistic and 
creative expression that is 
sustainable in the context 
of existing character and 
use 

Monitor existing art pieces for their 
ongoing role and fit within the park 

Conserve and manage in accordance 
with asset management plan 

Maintain records of public 
comments in relation to 
appropriateness of public art. 
Regular review of register to 
guide future direction 

Measured against contract 
KPIs 

Routine surveys, audits and 
inspections 

6.4 A place that 
connects the 
community to the 
city’s past and 
present  

 To enable park users to 
understand the rich and 
complex layering of 
natural and cultural values 
represented on the site 
and add to the experience 
and use of the park 

Develop a cohesive framework that 
recognises Strategies 6.1-6.3  

 

Adoption of supporting 
framework 

6.5 

 

 

 

A place that 
provides a canvas 
for arts and 
culture 

 To facilitate public art in 
temporary and permanent 
forms that compliments 
the park setting and adds 
to the range of 
experiences provided 

Consider opportunities to implement 
temporary and permanent art 
installations, where appropriate 

Increased representation of 
public art in parks 

     

7.0 MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE 

7.1 A place which is 
clean, well-
maintained and 
carefully managed 

 To provide well-
maintained parklands 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

 
Maintenance programs carried out in 
accordance with City of Sydney Parks 
Maintenance Technical Specifications 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

 

1541



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

50 

Ref Values / Roles  Management Target Means  

(strategies for implementation) 

Performance Measures 

7.2 Facilities that 
continue to 
service and meet 
the community's 
needs 

 To provide well-
maintained facilities 

Regular visitation and condition 
assessments 

Maintain and renew facilities in 
accordance with asset management 
plans 

Measured against contract 
KPI's and audits 

 

7.3 Appropriate 
leases and 
licences 

 To ensure that tenure and 
permitted use 
arrangements allow the 
widest possible 
community access to 
open space and are 
orientated to mutually 
compatible recreational, 
sporting, community, 
educational, cultural and 
social activities 

All future leases and licences to meet 
the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1993, Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 and Native Title 
Act 1993 

Ongoing review and 
compliance of leases and 
licences  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1542



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

51 

Figure 9. Permissible uses and developments – Park Category 
Figure 9 below outlines the, permitted uses and development of the areas of Wynyard Park 
categorised as Park subject to City of Sydney assessment, approvals and booking/hire systems. 

This is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed uses and developments may still be permitted 
subject to merit and compatibility with the core objectives and aims of this PoM. 

 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake 
building activities associated with adjoining 
property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes 
(e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert 
or public speech 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and 
tables 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering and coffee carts 

– Concerts and other performances, including 
both live performances and film (cinema and 
TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography 
session or filming (as defined in the Local 
Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, 
fashion parades, festivals and shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, 
preparedness, response and recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business 
(e.g. community auctions and similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book 
launches, film releases, balls, and similar 
activities) 

– Markets 

– Advertising structures and signage (e.g. banners 
and signage) that: 

o relate to approved uses/activities 

o are discrete and temporary 

o complies with Planning requirements 

o are approved by the City of Sydney 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Development that facilitates community, cultural, 
educational, recreational and social activities, 
including but not limited to: 

o Adaptive reuse of existing building/structures 
for a use compatible with the park 

o Amenities to facilitate the safety, use and 
enjoyment of the park (e.g. seating, shade 
structures, BBQ, picnic tables, toilets, bike 
rings) 

o Ancillary areas to facilitate use and enjoyment 
by the community (e.g. storage and change 
rooms, car parks) 

o Buildings and structures that facilitate the 
permissible uses and activities (e.g. 
grandstands, pavilions, fitness equipment, 
playgrounds, outdoor courts)  

o Improving access including disability access to 
facilities, amenity and the visual character of 
the general community area (e.g. fountains, 
pathways, lighting, paved areas, hard and soft 
landscaped areas) 

– Development that facilitates energy and water 
efficiencies (e.g. solar lighting and photovoltaic 

10. Park category - 
authorisations 

1543



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

52 

Uses and Activities Developments 

– Other community, cultural, educational and 
social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee 
or reward 

– Public art or other cultural installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, 
seminars and presentations, including 
educational programs 

– Publicly accessible ancillary areas (e.g. toilets) 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and 
community gatherings) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. 
building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

panels, stormwater harvesting and storage, 
swales, rain gardens, irrigation and reticulation 
systems) 

– Environmental management (e.g. remediation 
and flood mitigation work) 

– Heritage and cultural interpretation (e.g. 
memorials and public art) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Signage (cultural, educational, regulatory and 
wayfinding) 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction 
or events related) 

 

 

 
 

Figure 10. Express authorisation of leases, licences, short-term 
uses and other estates – Park Category 
The LG Act requires that any lease, licence or other estates over community land must be expressly 
authorised by a PoM. Figure 10 below outlines purposes for which tenure may be granted on 
community land categorised as Park.  Licences and statutory approvals for short-term casual use 
or occupation for a range of uses may also be granted for Wynyard Park in accordance with 
Clause 116 of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 

Any lease, licence or short-term proposal will be individually assessed and considered, including the 
community benefit, compatibility with this PoM and the capacity of the area to support the activity. 
The below is not an exhaustive list and other non-listed purposes may still be permitted subject to 
merit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1544



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

53 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

Lease Sympathetic, compatible uses may include: 

– Café/kiosk areas, including seating and tables 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

Licence – Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Café/Kiosk, including outdoor seating and tables 

– Coffee carts 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

Short-term uses (12 
months or less) 

– Access through a reserve (e.g. to undertake building activities associated 
with adjoining property) 

– Advertising consistent with reserve purposes (e.g. banners and signage) 

– Broadcasts associated with any event, concert or public speech 

– Casual and informal recreation 

– Catering  

– Concerts and other performances, including both live performances and 
film (cinema and TV) 

– Conducting a commercial photography session or filming (as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1993) 

– Decorations, displays, exhibitions, fairs, fashion parades, festivals and 
shows 

– Emergency occupation for prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery 

– Engaging in an appropriate trade or business (e.g. community auctions and 
similar activities) 

– Functions (e.g. commemorative services, book launches, film releases, 
balls, and similar activities) 

– Kiosks 

– Markets 

– Other community, cultural, educational and social uses and activities 

– Outreach services 

– Playing a musical instrument, or singing for fee or reward 

– Public art installations 

– Public speeches, meetings, workshops, seminars and presentations, 
including educational programs 

– Signage  

– Social events (e.g. weddings, picnics and community gatherings) 

1545



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

54 

Type of tenure 
arrangement 

Purpose for which tenure may be granted 

– Sports, fitness and leisure training or classes 

– Temporary structures (e.g. building/construction or events related) 

– Venue hire 

Other estates This PoM allows the council to grant ‘an estate’ over community land for the 
provision of public utilities and works associated with or ancillary to public utilities 
in accordance with the LG Act. 

Estates may also be granted across community land for the provision of pipes, 
conduits, or other connections under the surface of the ground for the connection 
of premises adjoining the community land to a facility of the council or other public 
utility provider that is situated on community land. 

Note: refer General Requirements for Express authorisation of leases 
licences and other estates under this PoM in Introduction to Part B for 
criteria for approval of Other Estates. 

 
 
  

1546



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

55 

Glossary of terms 

Term Definition 

Categorisation This informs the category for the specified land under the 
Local Government Act 1993 

Confined to Park, Sportsground or General Community Use 

Community Land Classification of land under the Local Government Act 1993 
requiring a Plan of Management 

Council Crown Land Manager City of Sydney’s appointed position under the Crown Land 
Management Act 2016 

Crown Land Land owned by the State of New South Wales 

Crown Reserve Crown land that has been dedicated or reserved in 
accordance with legislation 

Outreach Services Voluntary and Professional Services - a service, group or 
program that provides food and material support, social 
contact, clinical outreach and critical care to people who are 
homeless as well as other disadvantaged groups 

Mobile voluntary services are not provided from a building or 
other fixed place but are provided from vehicles or general 
‘pop up’ infrastructure within an outdoor public space 

Temporary Structure Is not designed, installed or constructed to be permanent; 
and 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate demolition, 
excavation, construction or maintenance work; and 
site safety/security fencing, scaffolding, cantilevered 
work platforms and other constructed-related 
temporary structures; or 

 Is erected on public land to facilitate events activities 
and involves the installation of stages, platforms, 
tents, marquees, booths and other events-related 
temporary structures.  

 

 

  

11. Appendices 

1547



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

56 

References 
 

– Draft Wynyard Park Plan of Management 
1993 

– Wynyard Park Concept Master Plan 1996 

– Adopted Wynyard Park Plan of Management 
1997 

– Open Space Sports Recreation Needs Study 
2016 

– Crown Reserves Plan of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 

 

Refer also to policies and strategies review in 
this Appendix. 

 

 

 

  

1548



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

57 

City of Sydney Policy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has developed an extensive 
range of policies which provide guidance to 
decision-making. A number of these influence 
planning and management decision making for 
open space.   

In some cases, these documents should always 
guide reserve planning and management having 
regard for the reserve purpose and core 
objectives of the community land category. 

A summary of the key policies and their 
relationship to open space planning and 
management are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All- youth action plan 2017-2027 

Articulates the outcomes that the 
City wants to achieve for young 
people, as well as a vision for 
ensuring that Sydney continues 
and strengthens its status as a 
youth-friendly city. 

This plan applies the framework of 
social sustainability, which puts 
people at the heart of cities and 
recognises that personal wellbeing 
impacts on, and is impacted by, 
the collective wellbeing of the 
community. 

– Inclusive: young people have 
opportunities to succeed 

– Connected: young people feel connected 
and welcomed in their community 

– Liveable: young people live safe and 
healthy lives 

– Engaged: young people have a voice 
and can influence change 

Planning and management of 
open space must recognise 
youth as a key existing and 
potential user of open space 
facilitating opportunities for youth 
gather and interact and to 
undertake activities relevant to a 
diverse demographic 

Asset Management Policy 2016 

To ensure that the City has 
information knowledge and 
understanding about the long-term 
and the cumulative consequences 
of being the custodian of public 
infrastructure.  

This is achieved by ensuring that 
the systems and processes are in 
place to enable people to 
determine the most effective and 
efficient options for delivering 
infrastructure related services 
while controlling exposure to risk 
and loss 

1. Take a lifecycle approach and apply a 
whole of life  

2. Sustainable environmental performance 

3. Best value – balance financial, 
environmental and social aspects to 
achieve best value 

4. Long-term financial plans s 

5. up to date infrastructure asset 
information to inform decisions 

6. Sharing of asset data through digital 
platforms 

7. Service levels – infrastructure asset 
service levels will be clearly defined 

8. Manage risks associated with 
infrastructure assets; and 

9. Continuous improvement of asset 
management practices 

Implementation of park 
improvements must use the 
City’s established materials and 
treatments systems where 
applicable.  Maintenance must 
be systematic and pro-active to 
optimise the safe useful lifespan 
of parks materials finishes and 
elements. 

1549



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

58 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Community Gardens Policy 2016 

Outlines a framework for 
community gardeners to grow 
fresh organic produce to 
supplement their groceries and to 
develop friendships, socialise with 
neighbours and to connect with 
residents in their local community 

Community gardens connect with 
vibrant local communities and 
economies to create a space for 
people to meet and share 
knowledge, learn new skills and 
harvest in a harmonious way. 
These activities encourage 
interaction between diverse people 
in passive recreation and 
gardening pursuits 

– Promote community gardens as 
demonstration sites where people can 
meet, work together, build stronger 
community relationships and learn about 
sustainability; 

– Document and standardise processes, 
procedures and criteria; 

– Help increase the number of community 
gardens according to the City's capacity; 
community need and availability of 
appropriate sites; 

– Clarify the rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders involved; 

– Support community gardens to become 
self-managed and encourage community 
ownership; 

– Recommend the development of new 
community gardens on land established 
for community use as part of proposed 
park upgrades and developments.  

– Ensure that there is potential for a 
community garden within a kilometre (a 
15 minute walk) of the dwellings of most 
city residents; 

– Promote access for the community to 
fresh, organic and locally produced 
herbs, vegetables and fruit; 

– Ensure gardens are well maintained by 
the garden members to demonstrate a 
high standard to the community 

Consideration and 
implementation of community 
gardens must be done in 
accordance with the Community 
Gardens Policy 2016 in particular 
the principles and site selection 
criteria.  Creation of a community 
garden to a specific site must 
also have regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Inclusive and accessible public domain policy 2019 

Outlines the City’s vision is for an 
inclusive and accessible public 
domain which: 

– provides equity of access in 
the public domain for people 
with disability, 

– provides people with disability 
with more equitable 
opportunities to participate in 
employment and social and 
cultural life in the City of 
Sydney, 

– enables people with disability 
to visit, travel through, explore 
and enjoy the City’s outdoor 
spaces with independence 
and dignity, and 

– enables people with disability 
to make informed decisions 
about their journey in the 
public domain. 

When planning parks and playgrounds, the 
City adopts a network approach to ensure 
that within a network of parks within each 
neighbourhood, a variety of experiences and 
amenities are provided.   

– All City parks, including pocket parks and 
playgrounds will be designed to include a 
continuous accessible path of travel to 
key elements in the park, and ensure 
that permanent furniture is accessible 
and inclusive of people with a range of 
disabilities.  Inclusive play elements and 
play spaces will be strategically located 
across the City’s networks of parks and 
play spaces. 

– The design of the City’s neighbourhood 
and iconic parks will consider the 
inclusion of socially supportive amenities, 
such as accessible public toilets and on 
site mobility parking spaces where 
feasible, considering existing amenities 
nearby 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the vision and 
principles of the Inclusive and 
accessible public domain policy 
2019, and relevant standards 
and design codes 

1550



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

59 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Markets Policy 2019 

Establishes the City of Sydney’s 
approach to approval of markets 
and the level of commitment it 
requires from market operators to 
achieve quality market operations. 
It aims to facilitate well managed 
markets that help to support and 
contribute to local communities, 
complementing the offerings of 
local businesses 

The City will: 

– apply a consistent assessment 
framework to the approval of Market Site 
Applications and Market Proposals 

– require Market Operators to demonstrate 
capacity to meet community needs, 
contribute to social cohesion, strengthen 
the local economy, and complement the 
offerings of local businesses 

– consult the community about new Market 
Proposals by providing consultation 
opportunities for the community to 
comment. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
community gardens policy 2019, 
having regard for conservation of 
the specific park values and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category  

Mobile Voluntary Services Policy 2020 

Recognises and values the 
contribution made by mobile 
voluntary services within the inner 
city in supporting people 
experiencing homelessness, food 
insecurity and disadvantage.   

The City will work with mobile 
voluntary services to facilitate the 
delivery of effective and 
responsible services that meet the 
needs and rights of service users, 
while using public places in a 
responsible and respectful manner 

The Policy seeks to guide the City’s role in 
assisting disadvantaged persons in: 

– ensuring equitable access to public 
places; 

– balancing the needs of all users of public 
places including mobile voluntary 
services, people experiencing 
homelessness, pedestrians, local 
residents and businesses; 

– providing public places that are clean, 
safe with high level amenity; 

– encouraging responsible behaviour by all 
people in our public places, whilst acting 
to ensure that disadvantaged people are 
not discriminated against and are treated 
with compassion and respect; 

– investigating and respond to community 
feedback and complaints about the 
improper use of public places, and; 

– considering appropriate action using the 
City’s regulatory powers and the City’s 
Compliance Policy to ensure that public 
places are safe and accessible to all 
users 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the principles of the 
mobile voluntary services policy 
2019, having regard for 
conservation of the specific park 
values and the core objectives of 
the applicable community land 
category 

Busking & Aboriginal & Torres Street Islander Policy 2019 

Outlines the criteria for exemptions 
for cultural practitioners as well as 
the criteria for giving or receiving 
an approval to busk, the conditions 
of the approval and regulations 
that apply to busking in the City of 
Sydney 

Key Principles: 

– Sydney has a strong tradition of busking 
and buskers contribute to a sense of 
place and the character of the city 

– Buskers make an important contribution 
to the cultural life of the city and help 
build a social city 

– Buskers contribute to the tourist 
experience of Sydney and drive foot-
traffic  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for busking 
specific to each site, and its 
related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

1551



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

60 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
professional artists and performers to 
make income. 

– Busking is a legitimate means for 
hobbyists, amateur performers, 
enthusiasts or anyone to express 
themselves creatively in the public 
domain. 

– Busking is an important part of the 
ecology of the creative industries.  

– The practice of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Heritage is a 
unique and important activity that takes 
place in the public domain.  

– Regulation of busking activity should 
expect nothing more or less of buskers 
than any other person or group of people 
using shared public space. 

– Other users of public space, residents, 
business owners and workers in the city 
have a right to quietly enjoy the city’s 
open spaces. 

Outdoor Dining Policy 2016 

To set out the circumstances and 
conditions under which Council will 
issue approvals for outdoor dining 
on the public footway and other 
similar public domain areas 

To promote public access and well managed 
outdoor dining on footways and in parks, 
Council will consider the following (summary 
of items relevant to open space): 

– promote accessibility on the footway by 
maintaining a consistent and predictable 
clear path of travel for all users; 

– manage neighbourhood amenity through 
minimising additional noise, visual, and 
other impacts; 

– consider the appropriateness of 
applications for approval against 
Council’s adopted guidelines; 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for outdoor 
dining specific to each site, and 
its related carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

Public Art Policy 2016 

To reflect the City’s commitment to 
the development of a tolerant, 
diverse, prosperous and 
sustainable city which values its 
rich natural, cultural and urban 
heritage  

 

As the most visible and accessible art form, 
public art plays a role of unprecedented 
importance in contributing to the poetic 
dimension of the city. Thriving art and culture 
are the great indicators of a city’s pulse and 
should have a palpable presence throughout 
the city.  Guiding Principles include: 

1. Align significant City Art projects with 
major Sustainable Sydney 2030 urban 
design projects 

2. Recognise and celebrate Aboriginal 
stories and heritage in public spaces 

3. Aboriginal artists will foster awareness in 
the local community of a history and 
histories of the local land and its original 
peoples.  

4. Support local artists and activate city 
places through temporary art projects 

5. Support vibrant places in Village Centres 
with community art and City Art projects 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations. 

Temporary installations may be 
preferred generally as these 
provide a greater level of 
flexibility and capacity to adapt 
and evolve the character of 
spaces 

This shall include consideration 
of the reserves carrying capacity, 
management of impacts on other 
park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 

1552



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

61 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

6. Promote high quality public art in private 
development 

7. Support stakeholder and government 
partners to facilitate public art 
opportunities 

8. Manage and maintain the City’s 
collection of permanent art works, 
monuments and memorials 

9. Initiate and implement programs to 
communicate, educate and engage the 
public about City Art 

Intended public art outcomes applicable to 
Crown Reserves include: 

– The integration of art into the fabric of the 
city in ways that will reflect, respond and 
give meaning to Sydney’s unique 
environment, history and culturally 
diverse society. 

– A commitment to excellence, innovation 
and diversity in keeping with the 
aesthetic and cultural significance of the 
city’s public domain and with the 
dynamic and experimental nature of 
contemporary art practice. 

– Nurturing the city as a creative 
environment in which opportunities for 
artists and their role in the community 
can flourish and expand. 

– Encouragement of a greater contribution 
by artists to the design and development 
of the public domain by implementing 
collaborations between artists, architects, 
landscape architects, urban designers 
and planners in relevant Council capital 
works projects. 

– Involvement of Sydney’s diverse 
communities in the creative planning 
process to encourage civic pride and 
developing the distinct local character of 
the city’s villages. 

– Increased understanding and enjoyment 
of public art and an awareness and 
appreciation of the significant benefits 
provided by a rich and diverse artistic 
environment. 

– Providing a sustainable framework for 
the care and conservation of the City’s 
unique cultural heritage. 

– Support/direct any temporary public art 
projects in accordance with the Public Art 
Strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

1553



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

62 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

Tree Management Policy 2013 

The purpose of this policy is to: 

– establish the City of Sydney’s 
commitment and future strategic 
direction for tree planting, 
protection, management and 
maintenance of its urban forest 

– address tree management and 
maintenance issues faced by 
the City of Sydney 

– provide a framework for decision 
making, documentation and 
standardised processes to 
ensure consistency in the 
management of the City of 
Sydney’s urban forest 

The objectives of the Tree Management 
Policy are to: 

– prioritise the maintenance and protection 
of the existing tree population 

– broaden the emphasis of urban tree 
management to include urban forestry 
principles, with trees managed as a 
collective asset, to maximise the benefits 
canopy cover provides 

– improve the quality and quantity of City 
of Sydney’s canopy cover 

– increase species diversity and improve 
the age spread of the urban forest 

– recognise and protect trees considered 
significant due to heritage, cultural, social 
and ecological criteria 

– increase awareness and educate the 
community, developers and Council staff 
on the value of trees in the urban 
landscape 

– enhance the City of Sydney’s reputation 
within the community as a steward and 
manager of trees. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
recognise the key priority of 
effective tree management, 
however where conflicts arise 
(e.g. poor tree health) decision 
making is to be guided by the 
policy. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Naming Policy 2018 

This policy provides clear direction 
for the naming of suburbs, roads, 
parks, open spaces, places and 
buildings that are owned, operated 
or managed by the City of Sydney 

1. Names must be meaningful, clear 
and concise, and can reflect the 
location and purpose. 

2. Names must have local or cultural 
relevance, reflecting the heritage 
and history of local people, events, 
the community or landscape. Names 
should not refer to or reflect current 
commercial businesses in that 
location. 

3. Dual naming to restore traditional 
Gadigal names to geographical 
features is strongly supported. 
Aboriginal names are encouraged 
and shall be in the local Gadigal 
language, chosen in consultation 
with the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council and the 
City’s Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Advisory Panel. 

4. Names acknowledging the 
multicultural nature of our society 
and gender diversity are 
encouraged. 

5. Place names assigned by the 
Geographical Names Board and 
road names should not be changed, 
except where necessary to avoid 
ambiguity or duplication. These 
names become part of the historical 
fabric of a community and should be 

Management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for dual 
naming to reflect Gadigal 
connections, and to contribute to 
First nations recognition and 
acknowledgment. 

 

1554



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

63 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

respected as such. 
 

6. Names that perpetuate the names of 
eminent persons, such as historical 
figures, prominent local residents or 
community identities, may be 
considered. These names will 
normally only be applied 
posthumously, however there may 
be occasions when a name is 
suggested which honours a living 
person. Such a person’s contribution 
to the local community should have 
been of outstanding benefit to the 
community. Ownership of the land is 
not sufficient reason for the 
application of the owner’s name to a 
geographical feature. 

7. The name of a person still holding 
public office will not be used. 

8. Long and clumsily constructed 
names and names composed of two 
or more words (for placenames) or 
more than three words (for roads) 
should be avoided except where 
culturally appropriate. 

9. Repetition of commonly used names 
will be avoided. 

10. Duplication of road names within the 
local government area, and within a 
10 kilometre radius must be avoided. 

11. Names for different parts of the 
same feature, such as a park or 
building, will be avoided whenever 
possible and the one name applied 
throughout its entire space unless 
there are very clearly defined 
boundaries between one space and 
another or distinct features 
warranting a separate name. 

12. Where names have been changed 
or corrupted by long established 
local usage, it is not usually 
advisable to attempt to restore the 
original form; that spelling which is 
sanctioned by general usage should 
be adopted. 

13. Names considered offensive or likely 
to give offence should not be used. 

14. Names must conform to the 
principles in the Place Naming 
Policy and the NSW Addressing 
User Manual endorsed by the 
Geographical Names Board, 
particularly in relation to language, 
grammar and duplication. 

15. The community will be consulted on 
all naming proposals through public 
exhibition 

1555



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

64 

 

City of Sydney Strategy 
framework 
The City of Sydney has also developed a range 
of strategies focused on specific issues and 
open space considerations relevant to open 
space planning and management. While 
strategies are high-level guideline documents 
and usually carry less influence than policies, 
they can provide important references for 
planning and management decision making for 
open space. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

A City for All - Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan 2017-2021 

This plan includes a series of 
actions designed to actively 
address barriers faced by people 
with disability in all age groups. 
They build on the success of 
previous plans, and harness new 
and emerging opportunities 

This Inclusion (Disability) Action Plan will set 
the framework and priorities for: 

– meeting the City’s responsibilities under 
the NSW Disability Inclusion Act 2014, 
the (Cth) Disability Discrimination Act 
1992 and the NSW Carers (Recognition) 
Act 2010 

– identifying barriers to inclusion, and 
developing strategies and actions that 
will respond to and address those 
barriers 

– continuous improvement in relation to 
inclusion and access for people with 
disability 

– achieving outcomes for people with 
disability and/or caring responsibilities in 
line with the City of Sydney’s Social 
Sustainability Policy - A City for All and 
forthcoming action plan. 

Four key directions 

The action plan focuses on four key 
directions: 

– the development of positive community 
attitudes and behaviours towards 
people with disability and carers 

– the creation of more liveable 
communities for people with disability 
and carers 

– the achievement of a higher rate of 
meaningful employment participation 
by people with disability and carers 
through inclusive employment practices 

– more equitable access to mainstream 
services for people with disability 
through better systems and processes.  

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
implement the relevant directions 
of the strategy and ensure 
design and implementation is 
undertaken in accordance with 
relevant standards and design 
codes. 

This shall include reference to 
the Inclusive and accessible 
public domain Policy 2019. 

 

   

   

1556



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

65 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

Adapting for Climate Change - A long term strategy for the City of Sydney 2019 

This strategy sets out the impacts 
the changing climate will have on 
our city, the risks these pose and 
the actions the City of Sydney, 
businesses and communities must 
take now, and in the decades to 
come. This is the City’s first 
adaptation strategy and has been 
written to raise the issues and 
opportunities that adapting to 
climate change will present. As our 
understanding of the risks and 
responses develops over time, so 
the adaptation strategy will evolve 
in the years to come. This will 
ensure that the City of Sydney 
continues to be a resilient and 
globally competitive place to work 
and live. 

In 2070 in Sydney, the changing climate will 
likely mean: 

– An increase in average temperatures 

– An increase in extreme heat days 

– An increase in air particulates and 
pollution 

– An increase in rainfall intensity and storm 
events – Continued variability in annual 
rainfall 

– An increase in bushfire conditions 

– An increase in drought conditions 

– An increase in sea levels and the extent 
of coastal inundation 

The plan describes five principles for 
management actions: 

1. Resilient and long-term: politically 
sustainable, economically efficient and 
socially inclusive 

2. Flexible and dynamic: able to evolve and 
respond to unexpected trends and 
consequences 

3. Based on the most up-to-date data 

4. Able to harness natural environmental 
systems 

5. Delivered via a comprehensive and 
effective communication strategy. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy and will monitor the 
ongoing development of climate 
science as applicable to open 
space management. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Wayfinding Strategy Report 2012 

A Wayfinding System that allows 
the delivery of a more legible 
public domain that encourages 
people to walk with comfort and 
confidence around the City of 
Sydney. 

The strategy provides a guiding 
document to inform future design 
and is supported by separate style 
guides and element manuals. 

For residents, visitors and commuters a 
coherent wayfinding system throughout the 
Sydney LGA is paramount. The system 
requires two conventions – i.e. naming and 
placement policies; and visual information 
such as maps and signs. 

The principal requirements are: 

– Enabling pedestrians to assess and plan 
(to “understand”) their journeys and find 
their way about at street level with ease 
and confidence; 

– To help build up and reinforce an 
effective and reliable cognitive map of 
Sydney for pedestrians; 

– To create a common and constantly 
updated central information system 
flexible enough to be applied in all 
relevant forms and media, such as maps, 
signs and websites; 

– Provide the information overlay to the 
Liveable Green Network across the City 
of Sydney local government area. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles of the 
strategy, and any implementation 
will be guided by the strategy 
and supported documentation. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

   

1557



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

66 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

   

Asset Management Plan 2020 

Asset management is the 
combination of management, 
financial, economic, and 
engineering and other practices 
applied to physical assets with the 
objective of providing the required 
level of service in the most cost 
effective manner.”  

It is a “whole of life” approach that 
includes planning, acquisition, 
operation, maintenance and 
disposal of assets. 

This report assessed the City’s 
current resources and evaluated 
the efficacy of current asset 
management. 

The policy objectives are: 

1. Provide infrastructure and services to 
sustain the City of Sydney communities 

2. Implement a life-cycle approach to the 
management of infrastructure and public 
assets 

3. Ensure that service delivery needs are 
the primary driver for infrastructure asset 
management practices 

4. Provide a sustainable funding model that 
provides assets aligned with the City’s 
long-term plans and community needs 

5. Develop and implement best value 
environmentally sustainable asset 
management practices 

6. Provide reliable asset and infrastructure 
data through supported digital platforms 

The plan identifies considerations for 
management of Parks and open spaces and 
Trees.  The Plan then assesses current 
performance against identified service levels 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the principles and systems 
of the strategy and the 
associated maintenance service 
levels as defined by the City. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Centre Public Art Plan 2013 

The City Centre Public Art Plan 
aims to bring inspiring public art 
with a permanent legacy to 
Sydney’s residents and visitors 

Guiding Principles 

– Transforming Sydney with a legacy of 
permanent public art works 

– Supporting events and temporary works 
of art 

– Allowing quality, diversity, inclusivity and 
fairness 

– Working with our history, our stories and 
our existing public art 

– Considering children 

– Looking to the future, remaining flexible 
and being open to change 

– Ensuring amenity and sustainability 

– Creating partnerships 

Opportunities 

– Use our distance as a chance to be 
original 

– Involve artists for successful outcomes 

– Use art to make the city more legible and 
easier to navigate 

– Try a variety of art types and approaches 

– Share initiatives with government 
agencies, arts groups, and other 

– countries and leading cities 

– Develop local public-private initiatives 

– Consider other opportunities 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
consider the potential for public 
art specific to each site including 
both temporary and permanent 
installations.  This shall include 
reference to the Public Art Policy 
2016. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

 

1558



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

67 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

 

   

City North Public Domain Plan 2015 

The Plan outlines ideas for 
improving City streets and open 
spaces which can be used as 
guidelines for future development. 
It forms part of the overall City 
Centre Public Domain Plan 

Guiding directions include: 

– Strengthen north-south streets and 
encourage east-west pedestrian 
permeability 

– Reinforce a connected public space at 
Circular Quay and create a unified 
square from the building edge to the 
water 

– Reinforce Martin Place as the City’s 
premier civic and public space 

– Create a linked series of park and 
garden spaces and upgrade existing 
open spaces 

– Support and encourage active building 
edges and high-quality activation of the 
public domain 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

City Plan LSPS 2036 

Since 2008, the City of Sydney has 
been working towards a vision of a 
green, global and connected city. 
Sustainable.   

Sydney 2030 captures this vision 
and the ambitious environmental, 
economic, social and cultural goals 
arising.  

The plan reinforces 10 villages, reflecting the 
historic growth of Sydney. Each has its own 
character and contributes to the wide 
diversity of housing, jobs, services and 
recreation available to residents. The village 
areas typically have a centre or high street 
which provides services, fresh food, 
entertainment options and infrastructure for 
the community within a 5 to 10-minute walk 
for most people. 

The plan identifies the following planning 
priorities 

Infrastructure 

– Movement for walkable neighbourhoods 
and a connected city 

– Align development and growth with 
supporting infrastructure 

– Supporting community wellbeing with 
social infrastructure 

Liveability 

– A creative and socially connected city 

– Creating great places 

– New homes for a diverse community 

– Productivity 

– Growing a stronger, more competitive 
Central Sydney 

– Developing innovative and diverse 
business clusters in City Fringe 

– Protecting industrial and urban services 
in the Southern Enterprise Area and 
evolving businesses in the Green 
Square-Mascot Strategic Centre 

Sustainability 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
strategies of the LSPS. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1559



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

68 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment for a resilient city 

– Creating better buildings and places to 
reduce emissions and waste and use 
water efficiently 

– Increasing resilience of people and 
infrastructure against natural and urban 
hazards 

Governance and implementation 

– Open, accountable and collaborative 
planning 

Climate Emergency Response 2020 

The City of Sydney Council 
declared a climate emergency in 
June 2019, stating that climate 
change poses a serious risk to the 
people of Sydney. 

The plan sets science-based 
targets that guided its work to 
reduce carbon emissions and 
make operations more resilient to 
climate-related hazards 

Generally, the City seeks to take bold steps 
to reduce the city’s environmental footprint 
and promoting transformative change in 
energy production, resource consumption, 
water use and climate adaptation in a way 
that is inclusive and supports a just transition 
across all communities. 

Principles 

– City actions are at a pace and magnitude 
commensurate with science-based 
climate observations and models to limit 
global heating to less than 1.5°C above 
pre industrial levels 

– Actions are inclusive and acknowledge 
the First Peoples of Australia and the 
need for a just transition 

– All City functions, activities and decision-
making will address the climate 
emergency 

– The City can influence others through its 
networks, functions and activities 

– Staff across the organisation are 
champions of change 

– Pro-active, timely communication and 
reporting are essential to influence and 
mobilise action 

– An empowered community will take 
positive climate actions and be more 
resilient to future challenges 

Goals 

1. Address climate emergency priorities in 
our major strategies, projects and service 
delivery   

2. Decarbonise the City’s procurement of 
products, services and assets 

3. Empower staff to act more sustainably 
and become more resilient 

4. Streamline governance processes to 
support significant climate action 

5. Use the planning system to support 
climate emergency priorities    

6. Develop, prioritise and embed 
communications about the climate 
emergency     

7. Support the community to take further 
action to address the climate emergency    

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified principles and 
goals for the climate action plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

1560



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

69 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

8. Help the community access onsite and 
offsite renewables, including   

9. 100 per cent GreenPower   
10. Substantially increase the number of 

existing buildings that achieve net zero 
energy use and switch to recycled water 
within 10 years 

11. Share resources and work 
collaboratively with other councils     

12. Collaborate with allies to drive change 
to state and federal policies and 
regulations to transition to a zero 
carbon economy, and ensure 
sustainable waste and water policies   

Community Safety Action Plan 2019-2023 

Sets out the City of Sydney’s 
contribution to making Sydney a 
safe and resilient place to live, 
visit, work and study. It describes 
the commitment to safety and our 
areas of focus for the next five 
years. 

Priority areas are as listed 

Safe streets and spaces 

– Increase actual and perceived public 
safety in city streets and spaces and 
ensure they are well lit and attractive 

– Promote a creative and vibrant night life 
to reduce alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour 

– Improve road, public transport and 
pedestrian safety 

Crime prevention and response 

– Reduce the opportunities for crime to 
occur 

– Contribute to reducing domestic and 
family violence and sexual assault 

– Contribute to preventing child abuse and 
supporting effective responses 

Ready and resilient 

– Ensure Sydney knows how to prevent, 
prepare for, respond  

– to and recover from emergencies 

– Build resilient and connected 
communities to increase safety 

– Reduce harm from drugs and alcohol 

A safe global destination 

– Ensure visitors feel safe and welcome in 
Sydney 

– Promote Sydney’s Safety Globally  

– Help international students to live, study 
and work safely in Sydney 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the identified priority areas 
of the Community safety Action 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cultural Policy-and-Action-Plan 2014-2024 

Plan for how the City of Sydney 
can unlock the creative potential of 
its city and its creative community 

Vision 

– Creativity in Sydney is visible 

– Innovation is central to Sydney’s creative 
community 

– Sydney takes pride in its Aboriginal 
history, culture and its contemporary 
expression   

– Cultural experiences and creative 
opportunities are valued and accessible 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the vision, strategic 
priorities, and founding principles 
of the Action Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 

1561



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

70 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Sydney’s diversity is prized and 
promoted 

– Sydney welcomes bold ideas, new 
visions and unexpected connections 

– Curiosity is encouraged and 
opportunities for discovery are 
everywhere 

Strategic Priorities 
– Precinct distinctiveness and creativity in 

the public domain 

– New avenues for creative participation 

– Sector sustainability: surviving and 
thriving 

– Improving access, creating markets 

– Sharing knowledge 

– Global engagement 
Foundation principles 
– Culture and creativity are central to all 

our lives and to our community’s sense 
of identity and confidence. 

– Creativity is part of the human condition, 
and its expression defines and reflects 
our culture and our community. 

– Culture reflects, reinforces, and shapes 
our identity: individual identity, 
identification with a community and our 
connections to place. 

– Aboriginal culture, now globally 
recognised as the world’s oldest 
continuous living culture, is our city’s 
most unique and enduring asset. 

– Sydney’s citizens and visitors have the 
right of access and contribute to the 
city’s cultural and creative life and its 
history and heritage.   

– Sydney’s cultural riches arise from a 
plethora of diverse activity at all scales, 
arising from the 200 nationalities that 
make up our city, and the many   diverse 
communities that form bonds around 
identity, interests, and place. 

– Cultural and creative activity contribute to 
many community concerns and priorities 
including economic, social, behavioural 
and environmental objectives through 
catalysing civic participation, promoting 
stewardship of place, preserving cultural 
heritage, exploring the challenges of 
climate change and supporting economic 
development. 

– Initiative, experimentation and enterprise 
is the bedrock of fermenting a creative 
culture.  Creative risk is a pre-condition 
of innovation and industry growth. 

community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

Plan for making bicycle transport 
easier and safer, so it is an 

Priorities Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 

1562



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

71 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

attractive and feasible option for 
more people.  

Recognises a 2030 target for 10 
per cent of all trips in the city to be 
made by bike.  

1. Connecting the network 
2. Supporting people to ride 
3. Supporting businesses 
4. Leadership and advocacy 

apply the actions of the Cycle 
Plan in particular with regard to 
Connecting the Network 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Cycling Strategy and Action Plan 2018-2030 

The master plan proposes to utilise 
local water resources in a way that 
represents a radical departure from 
current practice. The proposed 
decentralised water system can 
provide immediate and significant 
reductions in mains water 
consumption by using recycled water 
to cool and green the City 
contributing towards climate change 
adaptation 

Priorities 

1. Reducing 10 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030 

2. Reducing 25 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney’s own 
buildings and operations by 2030 

3. Replacing 30 per cent of mains water 
demand within the City of Sydney LGA 
with recycled water for non-drinking uses 
by 2030 

4. Reducing 50 per cent of sediments and 
suspended solids and 15 per cent of 
nutrients currently discharged into the 
waterways from stormwater run-off 
generated within the City of Sydney LGA 
by 2030. 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the Master 
Plan. 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

Environmental Sustainability Strategy 2016-2021 

The strategy and action plan 
addresses the areas of impact, 
including low-carbon city, water 
sensitive city, climate resilient city, 
zero waste city, active and 
connected city and green and cool 
city 

Issue and Opportunities 

– Energy efficiency – existing buildings 
contribute around 80% of our city’s 
emissions - Improving energy efficiency 
will lower energy bills and emissions 

– Renewable energy at building-scale 
alone is insufficient to reach our city’s 
renewable energy target of at least 33 
000 gigawatt hours of electricity to be 
produced from renewable sources -The 
City is exploring opportunities to facilitate 
Environmental Innovation grants, 
supporting proponents of community 
renewable energy projects 

– Energy storage – batteries have been 
too expensive for most homes and 
businesses - The city is looking at 
opportunities for energy storage on our 
properties and to support its uptake 
across the city 

– Low-carbon technology - Waste heat can 
be converted into cooling via a heat-
driven chiller system, and cogeneration 
and trigeneration low-carbon technology 
provide opportunities to reduce 
emissions 

Strategies 

– Design for low water demand and 
drought resilience 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the priorities of the 
Strategy 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1563



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

72 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Employ water sensitive urban design 
techniques 

– Select low water demand plant species 

– Protect existing healthy trees 

– Plant well located canopy tree that 
provides summer shade and light in 
winter 

– Supply of quality tree stock 

– Select local provenance, hardy and 
resilient plant species 

– Engage with local Bushcare groups for 
plant stock/advice 

– Avoid disturbing existing soil profiles in 
areas designated for landscaping 

– Create spaces for community gardens – 
community gardens are ‘enablers’ 
creating social connection opportunities 
for residents, neighbours, businesses 

– Select residential development plants 
from BASIX to assist BASIX Water score 

Greening Sydney Plan 2012 

A greener Sydney can assist: 

– To filter and improve the air 
we breathe 

– Provide shade for our houses 
and streets 

– Regulate sunlight to our 
houses and streets 

– Reduce urban run-off and 
stormwater pollution 

– Improve the appearance, 
economic value and liveability 
of our Cities 

– Provide a connection to nature 
in our Cities 

Establishes a target for expanding the urban 
forest – increasing canopy cover in the City of 
Sydney by 50% in the tear 2030 and by 70% 
in the year 2050 

Greener streets 

– Create a liveable green network of 
streets by planting all footpath location 
with trees 

– Plant trees in unused road space 

– Central landscaped medians, replacing 
paving with trees and landscape 
planting 

More parks and open space 

– Acquire more land for public open 
space, and tree and landscape planting 

– Balance recreational and functional 
requirements of parks 

– Build habitat parks and landscape City 
streets to promote and support 
biodiversity 

Greening new development and private 
land 

– Establish guidelines and standards for 
provision of open space, landscaping 
and urban canopy in new development 

– Promote use of green roofs and green 
walls on new buildings and development 

– Investigate provision of a grant program 
to provide funding for residents and 
businesses to plant and maintain large 
canopy trees on their property 

Green links and urban wildlife corridors 

– Building wildlife corridors and habitat 
pockets in residential suburbs 

Planning design and 
management of reserves shall 
apply the targets and strategies 
priorities of the Greening Sydney 
Plan in particular with regards to: 

- Conservation and 
consolidation of tree canopy 

- Supporting within reserves 
the continuation broader 
habitat corridors 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1564



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

73 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Planting on stormwater, gas and power 
easements main road and rail corridors 
to create green links 

– Undergrounding and aerial bundle 
cabling (ABC) of electricity services to 
expand and improve the quality of the 
urban forest 

 

Empowering the community to green our 
city 

– Building social capital by empowering 
the community to work together to 
protect and strengthen the urban forest 
and landscape. 

– Supporting volunteer groups to 
revegetate and maintain green space 
and urban habitat 

– Developing a Junior Ranger program to 
encourage children to assist in the 
maintenance, monitoring and managing 
of the City’s urban parks and landscape 

– Building community gardens to support 
residents in sustainable food production 
and community building 

– Establishing a City Farm Sustainability 
Learning Centre 

Harbour North Public Domain Study 2012 

Ideas for improving the public 
areas of the Harbour Village North 
precinct of the City which are to be 
used as guidelines for future 
development 

Guiding directions include: 

– Improve access connectivity and 
wayfinding 

– Create a network of linked parks and 
upgrade existing open spaces 

– Respect and celebrate heritage, 
conserve and restore Observatory Hill 

– Celebrate landform and harbour views 

– Support Walsh Bay cultural precinct and 
enhance cultural ribbon connections 

– Strengthen local communities and 
support local economies 

The study notes a series of recommended 
projects which have been integrated into the 
PoM as applicable 

Planning design and 
management of reserves in the 
plan area shall apply the 
identified principles and 
strategies (note these have been 
included where applicable in 
management targets and 
Strategies in the PoM). 

Management shall also consider 
impacts on other park values, 
uses, and neighbours, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

 

Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan 2015-2017 

A RAP is the strategic framework 
developed by Reconciliation 
Australia for organisations to 
document and progress the aims 
of reconciliation within their sphere 
of influence.  The RAP 
demonstrates practical actions 
toward reconciliation. By improving 
the City’s work with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people, the 
City can become a more 
innovative, courageous and 
respectful organisation. 

Key Actions 

– Continue to implement the City’s 
Principles of Cooperation with the 
Metropolitan Local Aboriginal Land 
Council. 

– Engage Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in the City’s 
projects and decision-making process. 

– Contribute to and strengthen networks 
within the local government sector to 
promote reconciliation. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the RAP in particular 
providing a voice for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people 
in Crown reserve management 

 

1565



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

74 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Strengthen networks within the RAP 
community and promote collaboration 
and knowledge sharing on reconciliation. 

– Investigate opportunities to support 
Recognise: the campaign to create 
constitutional recognition for Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 

– Recognise Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander histories, cultures and 
achievements in Sydney through the 
Eora Journey: Recognition in the Public 
Domain. 

– Promote cultural knowledge and 
understanding by establishing a local 
cultural centre. 

– Celebrate and share Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultures through an 
annual significant event. 

– Acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander cultures and histories 
through the naming of places within the 
City. 

– Increase knowledge within the broader 
community of the history, heritage, 
cultures and social values of the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities of Sydney. 

– Show respect to traditional custodians by 
continuing to implement the City’s 
Protocols for working with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
including Acknowledgement of Country 
and Welcome to Country protocols. 

– Promote economic prosperity for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples in Sydney. 

– Explore opportunities to increase 
supplier diversity 

– Respond to the needs of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander communities 
through local programs and services. 

– Increase the effectiveness of the City’s 
grant and sponsorship program for 
Torres Strait Islander groups, 
organisations and businesses. 

Park Fitness Equipment Plan 2015 

Reflects the Council’s commitment 
to establishing a network of 
outdoor fitness equipment facilities 
in the local government area, 
complementing existing 
installations. The plan identifies 
sites and equipment for future 
facilities 

Objectives 

– Increase provision of outdoor fitness 
equipment, so all members of the 
community are within 800m of outdoor 
fitness equipment 

– Encourage greater participation in 
physical activity to help the public reach 
their recommended levels of physical 
activity 

– Prioritise installation of outdoor fitness 
equipment to ensure areas with the least 
fitness equipment are provided for in the 
next 5 years 

Investigation and potential for 
fitness equipment in reserves 
shall be done in consideration of 
plan recommendations for siting 
and equipment. 

Provision of fitness equipment 
shall also consider impacts on 
other park values, uses, and 
neighbours, and the core 
objectives of the applicable 
community land category in 
considering actions. 

1566



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

75 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Engage the community, promoting 
greater social inclusion 

– Ensure best practice planning and 
design of outdoor fitness equipment 
facilities 

Recommendations 

– Bourke Street Park, Woolloomooloo - 
retain 

– Embarkation Park, Potts Point - new 
facility, Parks Fitness Equipment 
Program 

– Waterloo Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Turruwul Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

– Gunyama Park - new facility, Master plan 
/ Capital Upgrade Works. 

– Alexandria Park - new facility, Park 
Fitness Equipment Program. 

– Sydney Park, St Peters - retain. 

– Wynyard Park, Alexandria - removal. 

– South Sydney Rotary Park - upgrade 
facility, Park Fitness Equipment 
Program. 

– Victoria Park - new facility, Master plan / 
Capital Works Upgrade. 

– Johnstons Creek Parklands - new facility, 
Master plan / Capital Works Upgrade. * 

– Bicentennial Park - removal, replaced by 
new facility at Johnstons Creek 
Parklands. * 

– Wentworth Park, Glebe – retain 

– Pirrama Park - new facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program 

– Observatory Hill Park, Millers Point - 
expanded facility, Park Fitness 
Equipment Program. 

Urban Ecology Strategic Action Plan 2014 

A vision for the Plan is to restore 
and conserve resilient urban 
ecosystems that support a diverse 
range of locally indigenous flora 
and fauna species, and in so doing 
to create a liveable City for all of its 
inhabitants 

Strategic Action Plan 

Objectives and targets are identified for the 
following: 

Locally indigenous vegetation 

– Protect, expand and improve condition of 
naturally occurring locally indigenous 
vegetation, including possible remnants. 

– Increase the extent of bush restoration 
sites across the LGA and maintain sites 
in good condition. 

– Re-establish representative patches of 
the likely original vegetation 
communities. 

Fauna 

– Protect and enhance sites that provide 
habitat for priority fauna species. 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Ecology related actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

1567



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

76 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Increase the distribution and abundance 
of priority fauna species across the LGA 

Habitat connections 

– Improve habitat connectivity across the 
LGA, particularly between priority sites, 
and between identified habitat areas in 
adjoining LGAs. 

   

Urban Forest Strategy 2013 

Plan for development and 
protection of the City’s urban forest 

Motivations 

– Urban forests play a vital role in the 
health, social framework and economic 
sustainability of a city 

– Trees improve our air, soil and water 
quality, while also improving mental 
health and wellbeing  

– Canopy coverage over paved surfaces is 
a cost-effective means of mitigating 
urban heat islands 

– This will also reduce emissions of 
hydrocarbons involved in ozone 
depletion, while increasing pavement 
longevity 

– An Urban Forest Strategy will assist the 
City in managing the conceptual shift 
from dealing with trees individually, to 
managing vegetation as a collective and 
integrated canopy 

Key Initiatives and Objectives 

– Prioritise maintenance and protection of 
existing tree population – maximise 
benefits received from this asset 

– Increase average total canopy cover 
from current 15/5% to 23.35% by 2030, 
and then to 27.13% by 2050, through 
targeted programs for trees in streets, 
parks and private property 

– Improve age spread of street and park 
trees by increasing species diversity, 
while also ensuring the population does 
not compromise more than 40% for any 
particular family, 30% for any particular 
genus, and 10% for any one species 

– The City will engage and educate the 
community on the benefits of trees and 
their management requirements, 
assisting community participation in the 
greening of Sydney 

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Strategy where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 
park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category. 

 

Water Savings Action Plan 2012 

Identifies the actions required to 
sustainably manage potable water 
consumption while delivering high 
quality parks and urban landscape 

Key Issues 

– Water use is variable 

– Expectation – Maintenance and water 
use are directly influenced by 
expectations for parkland presentation.   

Management of reserves shall 
seek to implement the key 
Actions of the Plan where 
possible 

Tree canopy actions shall also 
consider relationship to other 

1568



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

77 

Purpose Key principles Implications for the plan 
of management 

– Demand – Parks are maintained for the 
enjoyment and use of the community.  
Management of parklands and the 
subsequent water use is influenced by 
the demands on use for parklands.   

– Increase in irrigated area  

– Timing of water restrictions – It should be 
noted that in 2006 when base line figures 
for 2030 were taken, Sydney Water had 
rigorous restrictions on water use in 
parklands. 

– Accuracy of information-  

– Specialised technology and consistency 
of information – Progression in water 
management has seen the development 
of a number of tools for managing water 
use, and subsequently managing data.  
Consistency in information is essential 
when measuring water efficiency.   

Key actions to be delivered: 

– Exceeding the Sustainable Sydney 2030 
target of 10% recycled water usage in 
the City’s Parks; 

– Change of water consumption 
measurement from an absolute target to 
a water efficiency measure of litres per 
square metre; 

– Installation of smart meters to improve 
the measurement of non-potable water 
use at 30 sites; 

– Set water budgets for the City’s top 30 
water using parks which allow for 
average, dry and wet years; 

– Construct storm water harvesting and 
treatments systems at Alexandria Park, 
Waterloo Oval and Pirrama Park (old 
part); 

– Connect Erskineville Oval to the Sydney 
Park water re-use project; 

– Upgrade irrigations systems at 
Alexandria Park, Waterloo Oval, Jubilee 
Oval and Pirrama Park (old part); and, 

– Implement an irrigation testing and 
efficiency program on the top 10 water 
using parks. 

park values and uses, and the 
core objectives of the applicable 
community land category 

 

 

 

  

1569



Wynyard Park   
Draft Plan of Management 

 

78 

 

 

 

 

 

1570



Attachment T 

Summary of Past Consultations 

 

 

 

1571



 

Summary of past 
consultations  

Crown Land Plans of Management 

 
June 2020 

  
 

1572



Summary of past consultations 

2 

Table of Contents  
Overview 3 

Documents provided and reviewed 3 

Stakeholders 4 

Approach to engagement 5 

Key themes 6 
 
 

1573



Summary of past consultations 

3 

Overview 
 
This Stage 1 of the Engagement Plan for the Crown Lands Plan of Management 
includes a review of consultations that have taken place for the parks listed below and 
in regard to parks in general over the last 5-10 years. These include: 

 Masterplans (The Crescent/Johnstons Creek) 
 Park upgrades (Shannon Reserve, Victoria Park, Clyne Reserve, Hollis Park) 
 New playgrounds (Cook + Phillip Park) 
 Naming proposals (Equality Green in Prince Alfred Park, Robyn Kemmis 

Reserve)  
 Public domain plans (Observatory Hill/Harbour Village North)  

As well as the regular park user surveys and Sydney 2050 community engagement.  
 
The review details what the community has told us about these parks in the past - how 
they use them and what they value about them.  
 
This analysis will help inform the section of the plans that document: 

 What the community values about the site 
 The community and cultural history of the site 
 How it is currently used 
 Aspirations for future uses 

It will help identify key stakeholders to be included in stage 2 consultations. It will also 
identify potential gaps in our knowledge.  

Documents provided and reviewed 
 

 Clyne Reserve, Millers Point (Including Heritage Impact Statement) (194 
pages)  

 Cook and Phillip Park, Sydney (including 1997 Heritage Assessment) (246 
pages)  

 Hollis Park, Newtown (including 1990 Plans of Management) (59 pages)  
 Johnstons Creek (Including 2011 Aboriginal Archaeological and Cultural 

Heritage Report) (396 pages)  
 Observatory Hill (including 1997 Plans of Management) (306 pages)  
 Prince Alfred Park, Surry Hills (263 pages)  
 Robyn Kemmis Reserve, Glebe (13 pages)  
 Shannon Reserve, Surry Hills (65 pages)  
 Victoria Park, Camperdown (including 1993 Plans of Management, 2012 and 

2015 Heritage Impact Statements and 2015 Aboriginal Heritage Report) (235 
pages)  

1574



Summary of past consultations 

4 

 Schools engagement relating to parks, play and open space 2012 – 2018 (19 
pages)  

 Community Engagement Strategy 2019 (24 pages) 
 Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs Study 2016 (504 pages) 
 Sydney 2050 – Community Insights Report (32 pages) 

Stakeholders 
 
The City of Sydney engages an extensive range of stakeholders through consultations 
and engagement activities. Through these varying activities there is a good indication 
of what the City of Sydney community’s aspirations are and what they value.  
 
As outlined under major themes, there were some common topics that arose out of 
these consultations dating back to the 1990s.   

The Sydney 2050 Community Insights Report was one of the reports reviewed to get 
an indication of the overall aspirations of community members. Almost 10,000 
participants were engaged in that process. 

The engagement was open to the City of Sydney’s community and included:  

 Residents 
 Workers  
 Visitors 
 Students 
 Property owners 
 Business owners 
 Multicultural community  
 Resident Action Groups 
 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities 
 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander advisory panel 
 Children and young people  
 Retail advisory panels 
 Disability (inclusion) advisory panel 
 Design advisory panel 
 Public art advisory panel 
 Nightlife & creative sector advisory panel 
 Curatorial Advisory panels 
 Small to medium business community - retail, property, finance and services, 

tech start-ups, tourism and hospitality, creative, social enterprise, education 
and government 

Further to this, the park consultations included groups listed above, as well as:  
 

 Crown Lands NSW  
 Cultural institutions  
 Primary Schools  
 Non-Profit organisations  

1575



Summary of past consultations 

5 

 Childcare Centres  
 Peak inclusivity groups  
 Pop-up consultations  
 Intercept surveys  
 Sporting and community groups  
 Park users 
 Universities 
 Community care and bush care groups 

Other potential stakeholders to include in Crown Lands engagement activities:  
 Secondary schools 
 Youth groups 
 Aboriginal organisations and groups 
 University students 
 Primary schools 

Approach to engagement 
The City offers an extensive range of opportunities for residents, workers, community 
groups, business, government and industry stakeholders to share their ideas, insight 
and feedback on projects and policies to help inform council decisions.  

The 2019 “Our approach to engaging the community” strategy outlines the City of 
Sydney’s Community Engagement Principles and approach to engagement. 
 
For each park project the City provided numerous avenues for the community to 
access information on the ongoing projects, as well as opportunities to provide 
feedback.  
 
The broad messages on engagement demonstrated in the engagement reports 
analysed are:  

– The residents, visitors, workers, businesses and students of Sydney value the 
opportunity to engage with the City. 

– Our communities have high expectations when the City engages with them. 
– People want to co-design, collaborate and take responsibility for creating 

change. 

Community members expressed a strong desire for local solutions for local problems. 
There is a clear view that challenging issues cannot be solved alone and that 
partnerships deliver better results. There is also growing interest in co-created 
solutions particularly at a neighbourhood level.  
 
Government and industry groups are increasingly seeing the benefits of collaboration 
to define and deliver initiatives that can reshape our city. There is a strong desire for 
decision making to be as transparent and local as possible. Business and residents 
have indicated that they value face-to-face events. The community wants the City to 
use digital channels for sharing real-time information and data. 
 

1576



Summary of past consultations 

6 

Review of the engagement activities indicates there is a strong interest from the 
community to be involved in the decision-making around the Crown Lands.  
 
Overall, the review of the consultations shows that the community is eager to engage 
with the City of Sydney, there is a level of trust in the projects that the city is committed 
to, and the City often responds to community feedback by reviewing and altering the 
plans. 

Key themes 
Across all the reviewed parks documents there were common and key themes that 
arose.  

GREEN AND OPEN SPACES 
 
The consultations consistently mentioned the desire for a “green city”, a “city for the 
people” that is “sustainable” and “environmentally conscious”. And one that allows for 
“open spaces” that provides room for recreation, relaxation, exercise and sporting 
activities. 
 
The City of Sydney community wants to see:  

 a city that is green with trees, plants and flowers 
 quality public spaces  
 The opportunity for action activities away from play equipment (running, water 

play, sand play, role play, bike tracks, skate, obstacle courses) 
 Sport facilities (especially for older ager groups, including table tennis, 

basketball, fields) 
 Incorporation and preservation of native plants and trees  
 Places which respond to the natural environment (incorporates and enhances 

natural greenery, natural habitat for fauna, cliffs and waterways, connection to 
water) 

PRESERVATION OF HERITAGE 

Feedback was consistently given around preserving, celebrating and displaying 
information around the historical significance of the parks.  

Community ideas included: 

 A lively, cultural and creative city 
 A vibrant city, weaving its culture and heritage through the workings of the 

city.  
 Playing up the City’s unique character, such as local architecture and 

beautiful public spaces, as well our unique heritage which includes First 
Peoples of Australia.  

 Preserving heritage landmarks and structures 
 Parks displaying information about the Indigenous history of the area and 

any other culturally significant information 
 Children wanting to learn from Indigenous community members and through 

authentic practical activities – making, dancing, eating, sharing culture.  

1577



Summary of past consultations 

7 

 Links and stories that connect with the traditional owners of the land and 
also colonial history.  

 Incorporating native local flora, bush tucker and even prehistoric elements 
such as megafauna. 

 Children identified possibilities opened up by virtual reality and video games 
for exploring places and cultures.  

 A cultural place, celebrating local heritage (a place which signposts and 
celebrates local history, public art, heritage interpretation, space with 
opportunity for community/cultural activities) 

 

SAFETY  

Often mentioned in relation to parks was the desire for safety. This was talked about 
in a number of ways including: 

 Improved lighting  
 Addressing homelessness  
 Regular cleaning and maintenance of parks (particularly in relation to 

needles and other dangerous items) 
 Improved fencing and boundaries 
 Play equipment that is safe and suitable for all ages from infancy to adults 

 

IMPROVED AMENITIES AND MAINTENANCE 

Most consultations mentioned improved amenities and continued or increased 
maintenance of parks. 

This feedback included: 

- More seating and shade 
- More bubblers and bins 
- Increased amount of routinely cleaned toilets 

- BBQs, places for picnics, cafes 

- Well maintained and carefully managed (better and properly maintained 
facilities, appropriate treatment of water features and grass areas) 

 
PUBLIC TRANSPORT AND PARKING 

Feedback varied when it came to public transport, parking and car use. Some 
community members feel there needs to be more parking available, some less, and 
that promoting car use should be minimised. Most community members called for 
better public transport connections, but others were hesitant to establish any new bus 
stops, or other public transport hubs. 

Some of the most common feedback included: 

 People want to be using public transport, walking and bikes to move around.  
 A reduction of cars, where streets and public spaces are easily accessible to 

people. 

1578



Summary of past consultations 

8 

 Integrated and efficient transport system to use throughout the city with the 
possibility of less cars leading to more open public space. 

 Accessible and well-connected parklands (Within the park, with the 
neighbourhoods around it, including parking and public transport) 

 Encouraging people to find alternative modes of transport to the parks, while 
allowing enough parking to provide easy access for people with mobility issues, 
small children or who live outside the area 

 the need for balance between pedestrian use, parking, public transport, cycling 
and traffic 

 Parking to cater for less mobile individuals and disability parking 
 

IMAGINATIVE SPACES 

Consultations showed a desire for imaginative play spaces, that wasn’t necessarily 
just conventional play equipment.  

Ideas included: 

- play experiences that were physically challenging and exciting – giant slides, 
tunnels, climbing walls, pits of foam to fall in  

- interesting combinations of technology and nature – animatronics, arcades 
alongside apple trees, butterflies, long grass 

- water play features and nature play experiences 

- More playgrounds where children can use their imaginations 

- More things to climb / obstacle courses / challenges 

- emotional and creative connections with spaces 
- Children value the quality of play equipment and different experiences it offers 

(to climb, slide, swing, hide, balance, jump) 
- Incorporating cultural and educational elements 

Some of the most commonly mentioned playground/play ideas across consultations 
included: 

1) slides  

2) water play 

3) swinging  

4) tree house  

5) climbing  

6) cubbies  

7) pools 

8) sand play 

9) spinning  

10)  flying fox 

11)  jumping 

12)  running 

 

INCLUSIVE 

Inclusivity was consistently mentioned and referred to ideas such as: 

- places with multiple activities for different ages, abilities and interests  

- Better disability access 

1579



Summary of past consultations 

9 

- Social / community elements to provide children with a place to connect with 
their peers, families and other members  

 

BALANCING DIFFERENT USES 

With a diverse community, comes diverse needs. The consultations consistently 
showed a need for a balance in the different uses of the parks. 

The community consultations showed: 

- There are competing priorities for larger parks and that community members 
talked about a range of uses to meet different needs that serve different 
purposes. 

- Parks need to be a space for everyone (appropriate for all ages, flexible spaces, 
diversity of use, distinct spaces for active and passive recreation) 

- Conflicting views on what large parks should prioritise, such as support for off-
leash areas for dogs or on-leash/banning of dogs, sporting facilities or requests 
for more open recreational spaces.  

- Often the conflicting views are based on feedback from locals and residents 
versus those visiting the parks from other areas.  

- Young people often advocate for more skating facilities, basketball hoops, 
sporting areas or fields, whereas residents are often opposed to these.  

 

1580



Attachment U 

Crown Land Plans of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 – Part 1  

1581



1582



1583



1584



1585



1586



1587



1588



1589



1590



1591



1592



1593



1594



1595



1596



1597



1598



1599



1600



1601



1602



1603



1604



1605



1606



1607



1608



1609



1610



1611



1612



1613



1614



1615



1616



1617



1618



1619



1620



Attachment U 

Crown Land Plans of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 – Part 2  

1621



1622



1623



1624



1625



1626



1627



1628



1629



1630



1631



1632



1633



1634



1635



1636



1637



1638



1639



1640



1641



1642



1643



1644



1645



1646



1647



1648



1649



1650



1651



1652



Attachment U 

Crown Land Plans of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 – Part 3  

1653



1654



1655



1656



1657



1658



1659



1660



1661



1662



1663



1664



1665



1666



1667



1668



1669



1670



1671



1672



1673



1674



1675



1676



1677



1678



1679



1680



1681



1682



1683



Attachment U 

Crown Land Plans of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 – Part 4  

1684



1685



1686



1687



1688



1689



1690



1691



1692



1693



1694



1695



1696



1697



1698



1699



1700



1701



1702



1703



1704



1705



1706



1707



1708



1709



Attachment U 

Crown Land Plans of Management 
Engagement Report February 2021 – Part 5  

1710



1711



1712



1713



1714



1715



1716



1717



1718



1719



1720



1721



1722



1723



1724



1725



1726



1727



1728



1729



1730



1731



1732



1733



1734



1735



1736



1737



1738



1739



1740



1741



1742



1743



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Lease Approval - Basement, Ground Floor and Level 1, 295 Pitt Street, Sydney 

File No: S099062 

Summary 

The City owns the property known as "Park House" at 295 Pitt Street (corner of Park Street), 
Sydney.   

The property is part of the City's Commercial Investment Portfolio and has been a key 
income asset for the City along with the adjoining Pitt Street properties owned by the City. 

This property, along with 303, 307 and 309 Pitt Street, the Coronation Hotel, and 540 and 
546 George Street, all form part of the City's vision for the future Town Hall Square.  

This report seeks Council's approval to grant a retail lease to Pharmacy 4 Less Pty Ltd 
(Pharmacy 4 Less ) for the basement, ground floor and Level 1 of 295 Pitt Street, Sydney, 
for a term of five years with a further lease option term of 10 years, commencing 1 June 
2021. 

Essential terms and conditions of the proposed lease are shown in Confidential Attachment 
A. 

As the annual rent is above $500,000 per annum and the option lease term exceeds five 
years, Council approval is required to grant this lease. 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve a five-year lease with a 10-year option with Pharmacy 4 Less Pty 
Limited for the premises known as Basement, Ground Floor and First Floor, 295 Pitt 
Street, Sydney, on the terms contained in Confidential Attachment A to the subject 
report; and 

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, finalise and 
administer the lease.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Essential Lease Terms and Conditions (Confidential) 

  

1

Item 4.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. The property known as "Park House" at 295 Pitt Street, Sydney, is located on the 
corner of Park Street and comprises three retail levels, being the basement, ground 
floor and first floor area (subject of this report). The building also has four upper levels 
which are leased to commercial tenants.  

2. This property along with 303, 307 and 309 Pitt Street, the Coronation Hotel, and 540 
and 546 George Street, all form part of the City's vision for the proposed Town Hall 
Square.  

3. The retail premises were vacated by Lowes - Manhattan on 30 December 2020.  

4. The premises comprise a retail basement area of 237.2 sqm, a ground floor retail area 
of 198.0 sqm and a first-floor retail area of 200.6 sqm. The total net lettable area is 
635.8 sqm. 

5. Council approval is sought to grant a retail lease to Pharmacy 4 Less for the 
basement, ground floor and Level 1 of 295 Pitt Street, Sydney, for a term of five years 
with a further lease option term of 10 years, commencing 1 June 2021. 

6. Pharmacy 4 Less is a discount chemist chain, operating since 2007, with a network of 
over 100 stores Australia wide. 

7. The lease terms have been negotiated to include the Green Lease clauses now 
required by Council in all leases within this group of buildings. The additional clauses 
will provide a commitment from both parties to proactively improve the sustainable 
performance of the building. 

8. The lease also contains a demolition clause that will allow the City to obtain vacant 
possession of the site at any time from November 2026 onwards.  Further detail on 
this is contained in Confidential Attachment A. 

Rental Determination 

9. The City appointed independent valuers, Rawlinsons Corporate Real Estate Pty Ltd, to 
undertake an assessment of the rental value of the premises. The proposed lease 
terms are in line with the independent valuation. 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

10. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This report is aligned with the 
following Sustainable Sydney 2030 strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 10 - Implementation through Effective Governance and Partnerships - 
Specifically, Action 10.5.1 - Expand revenues from commercial operation, 
property portfolio and other income generating assets. 

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Financial Implications 

11. The new lease will have a favourable impact on the 2021/22 Operating Budget as 
there is an uplift in rent. 

Relevant Legislation 

12. Local Government Act 1993 - Section 10A provides that a council may close to the 
public so much of its meeting as comprises the discussion of information that would, if 
disclosed, confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council is 
conducting (or proposes to conduct) business.  

13. Attachment A contains confidential information and details which, if disclosed, would 
confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom Council is conducting (or 
proposes to conduct) business.  

14. Discussion of the matter in an open meeting would, on balance, be contrary to the 
public interest because it would compromise Councils ability to negotiate fairly and 
commercially to achieve the best outcome for its ratepayers.   

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Matthew Woodroffe, Commercial Portfolio Manager 

3



Document is Restricted

4

CONFIDENTIAL 
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Lease Variation - Former Haymarket Library - Museum of Chinese in Australia 

File No: S098960 

Summary 

On 27 February 2020, the Museum of Chinese in Australia (the Museum) and the City of 
Sydney signed Heads of Agreement for the lease of the former Haymarket Library under the 
Accommodation Grants Program. 

The Heads of Agreement itemised Conditions Precedent (preconditions of the lease the 
Museum needs to satisfy before the lease commences). These included the achievement of 
the First Target for fundraising by 1 August 2020, the receipt of Development Consent for 
the Permitted Use, and undertaking fit-out works.  

In August 2020, the Chief Executive Officer approved the deferment of the above Conditions 
Precedent to 1 February 2021 following a request from the Museum due to the impacts of 
Covid-19.  

On 7 January 2021, the Museum wrote to the City formally requesting further changes to the 
Conditions Precedent. This report seeks Council approval to endorse the revised Conditions 
Precedent in the Heads of Agreement, as outlined in confidential Attachment A. 

  

1

Item 5.



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) Council approve the revised Conditions Precedent as outlined in Confidential 
Attachment A to the subject report; and 

(B) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate, execute and 
administer relevant agreements to give effect to the revised Conditions Precedent with 
the Museum of Chinese in Australia, in accordance with the Grants and Sponsorship 
Policy, including an agreement for lease and accommodation grants lease conditional 
on the criteria outlined in Confidential Attachment A to the subject report.  

Attachments 

Attachment A. Revised Conditions Precedent (Confidential)  

  

2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Background 

1. On 27 February 2020, the Museum of Chinese in Australia (the Museum) and the City 
of Sydney signed Heads of Agreement after the Museum was awarded the lease of 
the former Haymarket Library under the Accommodation Grants Program following an 
Expression of Interest process run by the City.  

2. The Heads of Agreement included conditions that were to be met by 1 August 2020 
including:  

(a) the Tenant obtaining development consent to: 

(i) use the premises for the Permitted Use; and 

(ii) undertake approved fit-out works in accordance with the site Conservation 
Management Plan, any conditions imposed by the statutory authority under 
the terms of the development consent and in accordance with the City’s 
requirements as Landlord; and  

(b) the Tenant providing the City with evidence demonstrating the Tenant has 
achieved the agreed funding target (First Target). 

3. The City had the option to terminate the Agreement for Lease if these preconditions 
were not met before 1 August 2020.   

4. In July 2020, the Museum wrote to the City seeking deferment of the conditions to 1 
February 2021, citing the impact of Covid-19 on fundraising efforts. This was approved 
by the Chief Executive Officer in August 2020.  

5. In January 2021, the Museum provided an update on progress to satisfy these 
conditions and requested a further review of the conditions noting:  

(a) the Development Application for the permitted use and fit-out works was lodged 
in December 2020 and approved 3 March 2021; and 

(b) despite the current Covid-19 related economic downturn, 85 per cent of the First 
Target funds had been raised, along with commitment for in-kind contributions 
from consultants and architectural services. While in-kind contributions currently 
do not form part of amounts to be considered towards the First Target, their 
value if considered, does bring the total commitments to the First Target. 

6. The Museum is now requesting the City approve in-kind commitments secured as a 
valid contribution to achieve the First Funding Target and amend the Conditions 
Precedent as outlined in the confidential attachment. 

7. The proposed amendments to the Conditions Precedent due date will result in a delay 
to the opening of the Premises by the Museum. However, interim activation of the site 
will commence once approved, along with an online activation campaign via the 
Museum of Chinese in Australia website. 

3



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

Key Implications 

Strategic Alignment - Sustainable Sydney 2030 

8. Sustainable Sydney 2030 is a vision for the sustainable development of the City to 
2030 and beyond. It includes 10 strategic directions to guide the future of the City, as 
well as 10 targets against which to measure progress. This sponsorship is aligned with 
the following strategic directions and objectives: 

(a) Direction 6 - Vibrant Local Communities and Economies - the provision of 
accommodation to a varied group of community and cultural organisations 
contributes to the diverse range of services and support that the City provides for 
our community. The diversity of these groups contributes to the vibrancy of the 
city's villages and the communities within them.  

(b) Direction 7 - A Cultural and Creative City - approximately one third of the 
Accommodation Grant tenants are cultural / arts organisations. These 
organisations support cultural development through the support of artists, and 
the delivery of culturally stimulating activities that engage our communities. 

Risks 

9. The Museum of Chinese in Australia failing to meet fund raising targets. This risk has 
been mitigated by the Museum with the appointment of a Fundraising Committee who 
are currently developing a Fundraising Plan targeted at the corporate market.  

Social / Cultural / Community 

10. The contribution of the community and cultural organisations that are part of the 
Accommodation Grants Program to support the development, coordination and 
management of the many services and activities available to our community is 
invaluable.  In this way, the City and the community act collaboratively to bring to life 
the City of Villages.  

Financial Implications 

11. There are sufficient funds allocated for this grant as part of the Accommodation Grant 
Program included in the City's operational plan for 2020/21 financial year. Subsidy 
rates relating to future financial years will be incorporated into future budgets.   

Relevant Legislation 

12. The original Expression of Interest has been conducted in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1993, the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 and the 
City's Contracts Policy and an independent probity advisor has been involved for 
oversight of the Expression of Interest process. 

13. Local Government Act 1993 - Section 10A provides that a council may close to the 
public so much of its meeting as comprises the discussion of information that would, if 
disclosed, confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom the council is 
conducting (or proposes to conduct) business.  

  

4



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

 

14. Attachment A contains confidential commercial information of lease terms that have 
been negotiated with the Museum, which, if disclosed, would:  

(a) confer a commercial advantage on a person with whom Council is conducting (or 
proposes to conduct) business; and  

(b) prejudice the commercial position of the person who supplied it.  

15. Discussion of the matter in an open meeting would, on balance, be contrary to the 
public interest because it would compromise Council's ability to negotiate fairly and 
commercially to achieve the best outcome for its ratepayers.  

16. The terms and conditions of the lease agreement between the Museum and the City 
set out specific Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and performance measures that the 
Head Tenant's activity will be measured against.   

17. All grants are recommended on the condition that any required approvals, permits and 
development consents are obtained by the applicant.  

Critical Dates / Time Frames 

18. The Museum has confirmed that the Development Consent for the fit-out works and 
permitted use was approved on 3 March 2021. 

19. The Museum of Chinese in Australia is planned to be open in early 2022.  

AMIT CHANAN 

Director City Projects and Property 

Tracey Hargans, Portfolio Manager Community 

5



Document is Restricted

6

CONFIDENTIAL 
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2



Corporate, Finance, Properties and Tenders Committee 22 March 2021 
 

Contract Variation – Green Square Town Centre Infrastructure – Head Design 
Consultant and Head Construction Contractor 

Document to Follow 

1

Item 6.


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Investments Held as at 28 February 2021
	2 Investments Held as at 28 February 2021
	Attachment A - Register of Investments and Cash as at 28 February 2021
	ATTACHMENT A COVER - INVESTMENTS_February 2021
	Register of Investments and Cash as at 28 February 2021


	2 Investments Held as at 28 February 2021
	Attachment B - Investment Performance as at 28 February 2021
	ATTACHMENT B COVER - INVESTMENTS_February 2021
	Investments Graph


	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment A - Identification Plan - Local Government Area

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment B - Identification Plan - Warrane Crown Lands Map

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment C - CBD Civic Spaces
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to the CBD Civic Spaces


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City of Sydney acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of the CBD Civic spaces
	Open space classification and rationale for this plan
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	City North Public Domain Plan 2015 – Guiding Directions (relevant to the spaces within this PoM)
	Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 2016


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. General Community Use category - authorisations
	12. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	Reserve Information Sheets
	CUSTOM HOUSE SQUARE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	FARRER PLACE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	LANG PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	MACQUARIE PLACE PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	QUEENS SQUARE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	Heritage summary information for CBD Civic Spaces
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment D - Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of the Millers Point Precinct Crown Reserves
	Open space classification and rationale for this plan
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions

	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. General Community Use category - authorisations
	12. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	Reserve Information Sheets
	ARGYLE PLACE PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	CLYNE RESERVE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	DAWES POINT FOUNTAIN GARDEN
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	MILLERS POINT RECREATION & COMMUNITY RESERVE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	MUNN RESERVE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	WATSON ROAD PUBLIC TOILETS
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	Heritage Summary information for General Crown Reserves
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment E - General Crown Reserves
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to City of Sydney General Crown Reserves


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of RE1 Public Recreation zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of the General Crown Reserve open spaces
	Open space classification and rationale for this plan
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	Open Space, Sports and Recreation Study 2016 - 27 Small Parks Upgrade Program


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. General Community Use category - authorisations
	12. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	Reserve Information Sheets
	ANDREW (BOY) CHARLTON POOL (Crown reserve)
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	BEARE PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	DR H J FOLEY REST PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	FRANKYLN PARK COMMUNITY SPACE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	GLEBE FORESHORE WALK EAST
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	GREEN PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	HOLLIS PARK
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	ROBYN KEMMIS RESERVE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	SHANNON RESERVE
	park details at a glance
	heritage and cultural values

	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment F - Belmore Park
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Belmore Park


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Pre-existing Natural Characteristics:
	Physical Characteristics:
	Landscape and visual character

	Reserve development
	Pre 1900

	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage
	Event use of the park
	Future role in the context of city evolution and development


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of Belmore Park
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions

	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment G - Cook and Phillip Park

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment H - Erkskineville Oval and Harry Noble Reserve

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment I - Hyde Park
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Hyde Park


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Pre-existing Natural Characteristics:
	Planting:
	Access and Circulation:

	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage
	Event use of the park


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City of Sydney acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of Hyde Park
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	Entries, Paths and Circulation
	Paving, Walls and Fences
	Planting Concept
	Lighting Concept
	Stormwater, Water Harvesting and Irrigation
	Services and Infrastructure
	Archaeology and Historic Monuments
	Buildings and Facilities
	Events Infrastructure
	Wayfinding, Interpretation and Public Art
	Sustainable Design
	Safe Design
	Management and Maintenance
	Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs Study 2016 – guiding directions


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. General Community Use category - authorisations
	12. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	History – Time Line Date Description
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment J - Johnstons Creek Parklands
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Johnstons Creek Parklands


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Pre-Existing Natural Characteristics:
	Existing Physical Characteristics:

	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City of Sydney acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of Johnstons Creek Parklands
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	Master Plan principles:


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	Organised sports use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. Sportsground category - authorisations
	12. General Community Use category - authorisations
	13. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment K - Martin Place
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Martin Place


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of Martin Place
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	City North Public Domain Plan 2015:
	Guiding Directions:
	Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016:


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. General Community Use category - authorisations
	11. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment L - Observatory Hill

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment M - Perry Park
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Perry Park


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for management
	Values and roles of Perry Park
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions

	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	Organised sports use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. Sportsground category - authorisations
	12. General Community Use category - authorisations
	13. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment N - Prince Alfred Park

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment O - Rushcutters Bay Park
	Table of figures
	Reconciliation Statement
	Our vision for reconciliation is a Sydney that values the living cultures of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, embraces the truthful reflection of the history and experiences of First Nations peoples, and is dedicated to equity, opportunit...
	In taking action, the City strives to reflect the needs and aspirations of Sydney’s First Nations communities and recognise their impact and contribution. The City will listen to and elevate the voices of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.

	Part A Management Framework
	1. Introduction
	What is a PoM
	Need for the PoM
	Purpose of the PoM
	Process for preparing the PoM
	Consultation
	Purpose of the consultation program
	The Engagement program
	What we heard – community engagement
	What we heard – First Nations engagement
	Barriers
	Specific feedback related to Rushcutters Bay Park


	2. Land description
	Past planning and management
	Location and description
	Heritage and culture
	Environment and landscape
	Reserve development
	Reserve purpose and community use
	Crown Reserve Purpose
	Community usage


	3. Legislative context
	Ownership and management
	Relevant legislation
	Crown Land Management Act 2016
	State Environmental Planning Policy – Infrastructure 2007

	Applicable planning controls for the reserve
	Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 2016
	1 Objectives of zone
	2 Permitted without consent
	3 Permitted with consent
	4 Prohibited

	Native Title
	Heritage management

	4. Strategic context
	Demographic context
	More residents
	More workers and visitors
	Increasing density
	More lone persons
	More young and old people
	Total population
	Service age structure
	Households
	Household type
	Overnight and daily visitors
	Social and cultural considerations  (as per 2016 census data)
	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
	(SEIFA Index)

	City of Sydney Policy and strategy framework
	Future Policy guidance

	5. Community guiding principles
	The City acknowledges the
	Gadigal of the Eora Nation as
	the Traditional Custodians of this place we now call our local area, and we acknowledge their continued connection to Country.
	We pay respect to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders past, present and emerging.
	Community and place
	We are on Gadigal Country
	We commit to truth-telling and decolonisation
	We value how important these places are to people’s wellbeing
	We are guided by Country and strive to heal and care for it
	We protect these places for future generations
	Guiding documents

	6. Basis for Management
	Values and roles of Rushcutters Bay Park
	Reflecting Crown reserve purpose
	Current / existing use
	Characteristics of the land
	Proposed community land categorisations
	Key strategic directions
	Master Plan 2006
	Strategic Directions from OSSRNS 2016:


	7. Review of the plan
	Lifespan of the plan
	Process for review
	Other triggers for review / update

	Part B Management of community land categories
	8. General requirements
	Management Framework
	Management targets
	Means of implementation
	Assessment indicators and measurement

	Permitted development and use
	Legislative requirements
	Guidelines and core objectives of the community land category
	Consistency with City adopted policies

	Buildings and structures
	Express authorisation

	Assessment and approval of permissible uses and developments
	Prohibited activities
	Managing impacts on adjoining land uses
	Scale and intensity of use
	Organised sports use
	High Intensity use
	Informal use
	Commercial uses

	Funding
	What are leases and licences
	Authorisation of leases and licences
	Express authorisation of Leases, Licences, Short-term Uses and Other Estates under this Plan of Management
	Access
	Access for building-related activities including for construction or maintenance purposes

	Temporary structures
	Temporary structures related to events

	Bookings and events
	Temporary events
	Venues for hire
	Banner Hire
	Personal trainers

	Other Estates

	9. Management targets and strategies
	10. Park category - authorisations
	11. Sportsground category - authorisations
	12. General Community Use category - authorisations
	13. Appendices
	Glossary of terms
	References
	City of Sydney Policy framework
	City of Sydney Strategy framework



	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment P - Victoria Park

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment Q - Waterloo Oval

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment R - Wentworth Park

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment S - Wynyard Park

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment T - Summary of Past Consultations - Stage 1 Engagement Plan

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment U - Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report - February 2021 - Part 1

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment U - Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report - February 2021 - Part 2

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment U - Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report - February 2021 - Part 3

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment U - Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report - February 2021 - Part 4

	3 Public Exhibition - Crown Land Draft Plans of Management
	Attachment U - Crown Land Plans of Management Engagement Report - February 2021 - Part 5

	4 Lease Approval - Basement, Ground Floor and Level 1, 295 Pitt Street, Sydney
	4 Lease Approval - Basement, Ground Floor and Level 1, 295 Pitt Street, Sydney
	Attachment A - Essential Lease Terms and Conditions (Confidential)

	5 Lease Variation - Former Haymarket Library - Museum of Chinese in Australia
	5 Lease Variation - Former Haymarket Library - Museum of Chinese in Australia
	Attachment A - Revised Conditions Precedent (Confidential)

	6 Contract Variation - Green Square Town Centre Infrastructure - Head Design Consultant and Head Construction Contractor



